# ISAIAH WORD-LINK CONCORDANCE A LIMITED ENGLISH CONCORDANCE TO THE BOOK OF ISAIAH Paul Lancaster



Copyright © 2022 by Paul Lancaster

First Edition: October 2022

Independently published. ISBN: 9798355994457

All rights reserved.

The author gives permission to use any part of this book for personal use and quotations, but not for republication without permission.

To request permission, contact the author at <a href="mailto:seeking@greaterlight.net">seeking@greaterlight.net</a>.

The content within this book is the opinions and beliefs of the author alone and does not reflect the opinions or beliefs of any other person, group, or organization.

Please visit the author's website for more information at www.greaterlight.net

Cover photo by Aaron Buden on Unsplash.com

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	
Word-Links "A"	
Word-Links "B"	2
Word-Links "C"	5:
Word-Links "D"	8
Word-Links "E"	11
Word-Links "F"	13
Word-Links "G"	17
Word-Links "H"	19
Word-Links "I"	22
Word-Links "J"	23
Word-Links "K"	25
Word-Links "L"	26
Word-Links "M"	28
Word-Links "N"	30
Word-Links "O"	31
Word-Links "P"	32
Word-Links "Q"	359
Word-Links "R"	36
Word-Links "S"	39
Word-Links "T"	46
Word-Links "U"	483
Word-Links "V"	48
Word-Links "W"	49
Word-Links "Y"	519
Word-Links "Z"	52
Index	524

# INTRODUCTION

Perhaps one of the most eloquent literary prophets, Isaiah's divine vision is an awe-inspired work of genius. His prophetic calling was to deliver a message to you and me, living more than 3000 years after his time on a different continent with a different culture, language, and belief system. Over those millennia his writings have remained a sealed book to us. Yet, the significance of his writings has not diminished over time but is more valuable now than ever.

His book comprises a depth and breadth of symbolism and parallel meaning that is mind-boggling. Isaiah intertwines a profound network of imagery and symbolism to illustrate his prophetic vision in an attempt to cascade that hidden meaning to you and me. And now that we begin to see his prophecies unfolding, Isaiah's vision becomes clearer. What better time than now to study Isaiah and deeply drink from his complex literary work.

# CREATING THE CONCORDANCE

Isaiah's prophetic vision is one of the most difficult texts to understand. Isaiah was a masterful writer and composed his book in one entire chiasmus. He also embedded symbolic meaning throughout his book that expands and deepens the message of his vision. Some of these symbolic interpretations are only derived through deep study of inter-linking words and ideas intricately placed throughout his book. In many ways, it is like a giant puzzle. The full extent of the mysteries therein is only beginning to come to light.

One key to comprehend Isaiah's wirings is to understand his use of symbolism and word-links. Isaiah uses several words in an intricately interlaced pattern throughout his book that creates compounding meaning and defines his symbolic intent. As I began to investigate these word-links, I realized the magnitude of his inspired composition.

In studying Isaiah's work, I quickly found that linking words based on the English translations did not provide accurate interpretation of Isaiah's intended meaning. Isaiah did not write in English, but in Hebrew. To truly identify word-links throughout his book, it was important to isolate the Hebrew words and derivations to see how he intertwined meaning and symbolism in his native tongue.

I tried unsuccessfully to find a resource that would help to isolate these critical word-links, so I decided to create one for my own personal study. I do not speak Hebrew, though I have gained an appreciation and love for this language. Please know that there may be errors in the Hebrew portions of this book due to the limitations in my Biblical Hebrew. I have done my best with resources I have and what I have learned about the nuances of this language.

The base text used for the concordance comes from the *Joseph Smith Inspired Version of the Bible*. This resource was chosen instead of other translations because I believe it reflects to most accurate version of the Bible as revealed through the prophet Joseph Smith.

The resources used for the Hebrew root words comes from the *Biblia Hebraica Stuttgartensia*. To create this concordance, I compared the Hebrew from the *Biblia Hebraica Stuttgartensia* to the *King James Version of the Bible*, using it as a reference to analyze the root words. I then referenced those words to the *Joseph Smith Inspired Version of the Bible*. Almost all of Joseph Smith's version of Isaiah is exactly as found in the King James version, though there are some changes in word-use, punctuation, and occasional additions or redactions.

Unfortunate, there is no Hebrew correlate to Joseph Smith's version of the Bible. This means that there are some changes made by Joseph Smith compared to the King James version that do not show up in this concordance as there is no Hebrew root word to compare. Inferences could be made, but to avoid misinterpretation, those additions from Joseph Smith are not present here.

# How To Use This Concordance

This concordance is listed by word alphabetically in English. It is not a full list of words found in Isaiah, but only a selection of words. The concordance contains over 905 English words as they appear in the King James Version of the Bible apart from any variations made in the Joseph Smith Inspired Version of the Bible. Not all the words listed in this

word-link concordance were intended by Isaiah to convey his hidden message. Yet as I compiled words, I found that it helped in my overall understanding of Isaiah's writings to be able to compare various English translations used for the Hebrew root words.

Each English word is listed in the headings alphabetically. Underneath each English word appears a primitive Hebrew root word that describes the etymology of the Hebrew word. This is not necessarily the meaning of the Hebrew word, but from where the word was derived historically.

Under each Hebrew primitive root word follows the Hebrew word used by Isaiah in his book, and the chapters and verses that follow are from the *Joseph Smith Inspired Version of the Bible* with the English translation bolded as it appears in the verse. References found in brackets correlate to the chapter or verse differences in the *King James Version of the Bible* where they deviate from the *Joseph Smith Inspired Version of the Bible*.

An example of the concordance is shown below:

# ACCOUNTED

Primitive Root: חַשֶּׁב | hä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

חשב hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

See Esteem

#### ACKNOWLEDGE

Primitive Root: יָדָע 'yä-dä': to know

ידע /yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Declare, Learn, Show, Teach, Tell

33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.

Primitive Root: וַבָּר nä-här': to scrutinize

רבר (v.) to dissimulate, feign, dissemble; to recognize, know, acknowledge; to contemplate

61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall **acknowledge** them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed.

63:16 Doubtless thou art our <u>Father</u>, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel **acknowledge** us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.

In this example, the English word "Accounted" shows only one Hebrew word Isaiah used in his book. That word was translated into English as Accounted. This word is a wire hä-shäv, which is a verb that could mean 1) to think or meditate, 2) to devise or invent, 3) to esteem or prize, or 4) to impute. To see the list of scriptures associated with that root word, you would need to reference the English word "Esteem" within the concordance.

The second English word "Acknowledge" has two Hebrew root words. This means that the translators used the English word acknowledge to translate both יָדֶע | yä-dä' and יְבָּר | nä-ḥār' in those respective verses. In some cases, as in the first Hebrew word יְדָע | yä-dä' under the heading "Acknowledge," there are so many references in Isaiah's book that only a partial list is provided. To illustrate this point, the Hebrew verb יְדַע | yä-dä', meaning to know, is found throughout Isaiah 64 times. To limit the scope of this project, I did not add many of the more commonly used words. Additionally, adding them for the most part did not add to the intent of the word-link search as many do not carry a symbolic meaning.

The second root word יְבֶּרְ | nä-ḥär' is a verb meaning 1) to dissimulate, feign, or dissemble, 2) to recognize, know or acknowledge, or 3) to contemplate. There are only two verses in Isaiah's writings that use this Hebrew verb, both translated in this case as "acknowledge."

It is unlikely that either of the above two examples carry symbolic word-link meaning within Isaiah's text. For an example of a word-link that does provide meaning within Isaiah's writings, please see the example below. Throughout Isaiah's book, various aspects are used symbolically to convey an idea. These may include references to people, places, items, elements, directions, colors, numbers, vegetation, animals, etc. One symbol commonly used in Isaiah's writing to describe people and their character is a tree. The example below is one of those variety of trees, an oak, which represents powerful or strong people or leaders.

# OAK

Primitive Word: אול jül; from an unused root meaning to twist

איַל ä'-el (n.) ram, strong tree, oak, pilaster (pl.) mighty men, nobles

See Ran

אֶלָה [ā-l̪ä̞' (n.) strong hardy tree, oak, terebinth

1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.

6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a **teil tree**, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; <u>so</u> the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.

אַלוּן <u>äl-lōn</u>' (n.) oak, terebinth

2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;

6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.

44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the **oak**, which he <u>strengtheneth</u> for himself among the trees of the forest; he <u>planteth</u> an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

You can see in Isaiah's writings there is only one primitive Hebrew root word for "oak." However, there are three different Hebrew words that were translated into English as "oak," each having a slightly different meaning. The first word also means *ram* and you will need to reference "Ram" in the concordance to see how Isaiah uses that word. Comparing each use of the word helps to better understand how Isaiah weaves together a tapestry of symbolic meaning.

# PRONUNCIATION GUIDE

This is not an guide to Hebrew pronunciation. There are many other options available to learn how to speak or read Biblical Hebrew. However, to provide some sense of pronunciation for the Hebrew words within this concordance, each Hebrew word is followed by the English pronunciation. Note that I did not use standardized pronunciation symbols as most of those are unknown to the common English speaker. Instead, I used a method I believe would be easier for non-linguistic readers.

Several resources are available on the internet for the pronunciation of Biblical Hebrew. I have created a limited pronunciation guide on GreaterLight.net at <a href="https://greaterlight.net/home/isaiah/symbols/pronounce">https://greaterlight.net/home/isaiah/symbols/pronounce</a>. The guide provides information on pronunciation of Hebrew consonants and vowels.

In this concordance, the Hebrew word is followed by a vertical line and the English pronunciation. As an example, the Hebrew word בְּבָוֹן zä-kān' would be said /zä/ as in "father" and /kān/ as in "plane." This word has two syllables separated by a hyphen. The apostrophe signifies the stress or emphasis of the word.

All consonants in the English pronunciation make the same sounds as the English letters listed. In the above example of |z| |z - k | |z

The Hebrew root word [7] | lä-ḥäts' has both the ¬ and the ¬, which is represented in the final form as ¬. The Hebrew letters ¬ and ¬ are represented in English by the "ḥ" letter, the letter /h/ with a dot underneath. This represents a hard /h/ sound, as in the word "Ba**ch**." It is a very common guttural sound used in Hebrew. The Hebrew letter ¬ is represented by a /ts/ letter as in the word "pits."

The Hebrew vowels are not written like the consonants. They are most commonly depicted by marks above or below each Hebrew word. To take the example above, the word  $\Tilde{\Pi}$  hats' has three consonants,  $\Tilde{\Pi}$  or the hard guttural /h/, and  $\Tilde{\Pi}$  or /ts/. The symbols under the  $\Tilde{\Pi}$  are the vowels. Vowels are pronounced as follows in the English pronunciation:

ä as in father

ā as in game

 $\varepsilon$  as in send

ē as in keep

ō as in rope

ü as in food

# ENJOY THE JOURNEY

As you seek to find meaning in Isaiah, I hope this tool will provide help in that journey. Please use it freely as a reference. It is my intent to provide information freely as it is given freely to me within copyright laws. I dedicate the hours and years spent on this project to you as you seek to find God through Isaiah. Pray earnestly as you study and search, and let revelation fill your heart and mind as you come to understand Isaiah. May God always bless you on your journey.

Paul Lancaster
<a href="mailto:seeking@greaterlight.net">seeking@greaterlight.net</a>
<a href="mailto:www.GreaterLight.net">www.GreaterLight.net</a>

# **WORD-LINKS "A"**

#### **ABHOR**

Primitive Word: דְּרָאוֹן/ $d^{\varepsilon}$ -rä-ōn': derived from an unused root meaning to repulse

# 7ן $d^{\epsilon}$ -rä-ōn' (n.) aversion, object of aversion; abhorring, abomination, contempt

66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an **abhorring** unto all flesh.

Primitive Root: אָקוּץ/küts: to be (or make) disgusted or anxious

# אָלן küts (v.) to loathe, have disgust; to feel displeasure, horror, or fear; to terrify, alarm

See Vex

#### **ABOMINABLE**

Primitive Word: פְּגוּל pēg-gül': an unused root meaning to stink

# pēg-gül' (adj.) fetid, unclean, abominable; filth, that which is putrid

65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of **abominable** beasts, and pollute their vessels;

Primitive Root: שָׁקֵץ/shä-käts': to be filthy

# שְׁקּוֹץ shēk-küts' (n.) an abomination, something abominable, disgust; idol

66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their **abominations**.

# שֶׁקֶץ she-kets' (n.) abomination, loathing; abominable, unclean thing

66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the **abomination**, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: תַּעָב/tä-äv': to loathe

# תועבה tō-ā-vä' (n.) abomination, abominable thing; idolatry, idols

- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an **abomination** unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 41:24 Behold, ye are of nothing, and your work of naught; an abomination is he that chooseth you.
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an **abomination**? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?

#### למעב tä-äv' (v.) to be abhorred, be detested, be held in abomination

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an **abominable** branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation **abhorreth**, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.

#### ABOVE

Primitive Word: בַּמָה/bä-mä': from an unused root meaning to be high

#### במה bä-mä' (n.) height, high place; stronghold, fortress, castle

See High

Primitive Root: עֵלָה'/ä-lä': to ascend

# mä'-äl (n.) faithlessness, treachery, perfidy; the upper part, the higher part, higher

See Upward

#### Abraham

Primitive Word: אַב/äv: father

# אַבְרָהָם äv-rä-häm' (prop. n.) Abraham

- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the LORD, who redeemed **Abraham**, concerning the house of Jacob, Jacob shall not now be ashamed, neither shall his face now wax pale.
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough **Abraham** be ignorant of us, and Israel acknowledge us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.

#### Abundant

Primitive Root: \(\mathbf{Y}\)\|z\bar{e}z: from an unused root apparently meaning to be conspicuous

# לְּיִלּ | zēz (n.) fulness, a full breast, abundance of milk

66:11 That ye may suck, and be satisfied with the breasts of her consolations; that ye may milk out, and be delighted with the **abundance** of her glory.

Primitive Root: אָיַרִץ/yä-räd': to descend

## לדי yä-räd' (v.) to descend, go down; to fall down, be cast down; to throw down, subdue

See Down

Primitive Root: יְתֵר/yä-thär': to jut over or exceed

#### יְתְּרָה /yēth-rä' (n.) residue, abundance, wealth

15:7 Therefore the abundance they have gotten, and that which they have laid up, shall they carry away to the brook of the willows.

Primitive Root: עֲצֵם/ä-tsäm': to bind fast

# עצמה | äts-mä' (n.) strength, multitude

40:29 He giveth power to the faint; and to them that have no might he increaseth strength.

47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great **abundance** of thine enchantments.

Primitive Root: מְפַרַח /pä-räḥ': to break forth as a bud

# pä-räḥ' (v.) to break out; to sprout, blossom, bud forth, flourish; to thrive, prosper

See Blossom

Primitive Root: רֲבַב/rä-väv: to cast together

# רֹב |rōv (adj.) multitude, abundance, number; greatness, largeness, fulness, totality

See Multitude

Primitive Root: רָבָה/rä-vä': to increase

# קבה rä-vä' (v.) to become many, increase, multiply; to become great, large, or mighty

See Increase

#### ACCEPT

Primitive Root: רֲצָה/rä-tsä': to be pleased with

# רְצׁוֹן [rä-tsōn' (n.) delight, satisfaction, pleasure; goodwill, favor, grace, kindness, willfulness

- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an **acceptable** time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be **accepted** upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an **acceptable** day to the Lord?
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with **acceptance** on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 61:2 To proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;

#### ACCOMPLISH

Primitive Root: מֵלֵא /mä-lā': to fill or be full of

# mä-lä' (v.) to be or become full; to overflow, be filled; to fill; to be completed; to fulfil, satisfy

See Fill

Primitive Root: עֲשֵׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

# עַשִּׁה (v.) to work, labor, toil; to make, create; to acquire; to prepare; to keep; to appoint

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Bear, Prepare, Perform

55:11 So shall my word be that goeth forth out of my mouth; it shall not return unto me void, but it shall **accomplish** that which I please, and it shall prosper in the thing whereto I sent it.

#### ACCOUNTED

Primitive Root: חֵשֶׁב /ḥä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

#### בּשְׁבֶּן hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

See Esteem

#### ACKNOWLEDGE

Primitive Root: אַיַרַע/yä-dä': to know

#### ידע vä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Declare, Learn, Show, Teach, Tell

33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.

Primitive Root: נְבֵר/nä-ḥär': to scrutinize

# nä-ḥär' (v.) to dissimulate, feign, dissemble; to recognize, know, acknowledge; to contemplate בְּבֹר

- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall **acknowledge** them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel **acknowledge** us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.

# ACT

Primitive Root: עֲבַד/ä-väd': to work

# ייְבֹּדְה" a-vō-dä' (n.) work, labor; service, employment; worship; implements, instrument, furniture

- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the hard **bondage** wherein thou wast made to serve.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.

Primitive Root: פֵעֵל /fä-äl': to do or make

## שְׁלֵּל (n.) deed, action, business, work; product, achievement; wages, gain reward

See Work

#### ADD

Primitive Root: יְסֵץ/yä-säf': to add or augment

# יַסַף yä-säf' (v.) to add, increase; to do again, do after, do further or longer

See Increase

Primitive Root: סְבָּה/sä-fä': to scrape

# סְבּה |sä-fä' (v.) to take off, scrape off, shave; to destroy; to perish; to add, augment

- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the king of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also **consume** the beard.
- 13:15 Everyone that is proud shall be thrust through; and everyone that is joined to the wicked shall fall by the sword.
- 29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where David dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may **add** sin to sin;

#### Adorn

Primitive Root: עַדָה/ä-dä': to advance

# אָדה |ä-dä' (v.) to veil, cover; to put on (ornaments), adorn oneself; to go on, march along

61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride **adorneth** herself with her jewels.

#### **ADVERSARY**

Primitive Root: בַּעַל|bä'-äl: to be master of

#### בעל bä'-äl (n.) master, lord; possessor, owner, husband; Baal

See Master

Primitive Root: צְרֵר/tsä-rär': to cramp

נבר (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

See Enemy

# **A**FAR

Primitive Root: רָחַק/rä-ḥäk': to widen

רְחוּק |rä-ḥōk' (adj.) far, distant; remote (place); unattainable; (subst.) distance, future, past

See Far

#### **AFFLICT**

Primitive Root: יָגֵה'/yä-gä': to grieve

# יגה'|yä-gä' (v.) to be afflicted, be grieved; to make sad

51:23 But I will put it into the hand of them that **afflict** thee; which have said to thy soul, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy body as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.

Primitive Root: לֶחַץ/lä-ḥäts': to press

## לחץ lä'-häts (n.) oppression, distress, affliction; calamity

30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the water of **affliction**, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy teachers;

Primitive Root: עָנָה'/ä-nä': to depress

## ä-nä' (v.) to be bowed down, be depressed, be miserable; to oppress, afflict; to toil, labor

- 27:2 In that day sing ye unto her, A vineyard of red wine.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor **abase** himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.
- 53:7 He was oppressed, and he was **afflicted**, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we **afflicted** our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and exact all your labors.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to **afflict** his soul? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the **afflicted** soul; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 60:14 The sons also of them that **afflicted** thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 64:12 Wilt thou refrain thyself for these things, O Lord? wilt thou hold thy peace, and afflict us very sore?

# אָנִי |ä-nē' (adj.) oppressed, afflicted; poor, retched, miserable, helpless

See Poor

#### יוֹעְנִי -nē' (n.) affliction, misery, suffering, oppression; poverty

48:10 Behold, I have refined thee, but not with silver; I have chosen thee in the furnace of affliction.

Primitive Root: אָכָלל/kä-läl': to be or make light

# אָלַל (v.) to be small, be light; to be swift; to esteem lightly; to revile, curse

- 8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and **curse** their king and their God, and look upward.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly **afflicted** the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously **afflict** her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 30:16 But ye said, No; for we will flee upon horses; therefore shall ye flee; and, We will ride upon the swift; therefore shall they that pursue you **be swift**.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a **light thing** that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be **accursed**.

Primitive Root: צַרַר/tsä-rär': to cramp

#### נאר (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

See Enemy

## צרה (n.) a female adversary, enemy or rival; distress, anguish

See Trouble

#### AFORETIME

Primitive Word: רֹאשׁ rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

# רְאשׁוֹן|rē-shōn' or רְאשׁיִת|rā-shēth' (n.) beginning, commencement, origin; former time; first, first fruit, firstling

See Former

#### Afraid

Primitive Root: בהל/bä-häl': to tremble inwardly

## bä-häl' (v.) to tremble; to be frightened; to strike with terror; to frighten, scare away

- 13:8 And they shall be **afraid**; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was **dismayed** at the seeing of it.

Primitive Root: אַדַּאַג /dä-äg': to be anxious

# לְאַג |dä-äg' (v.) to fear, to be afraid; to be anxious, be troubled

57:11 And of whom hast thou **been afraid** or feared, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou fearest me not?

Primitive Root: חֲרֵד /ḥä-rād': to shudder with terror

# וְחָבֶּד |ḥä-rād' (v.) to tremble, be afraid, be anxious; to fear for someone

- 10:29 They are gone over the passage; they have taken up their lodging at Geba; Ramah is afraid; Gibeah of Saul is fled.
- 17:2 The cities of Aroer are forsaken; they shall be for flocks, which shall lie down, and none shall make them afraid.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be **afraid** and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 32:11 **Tremble**, ye women that are at ease; be troubled, ye careless ones; strip you, and make you bare, and gird sackcloth upon your loins.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.

Primitive Root: חַתַּת/ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

# חְתַּתּה |ḥä-thäth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

Primitive Root: יְרֵא'/yä-rā': to fear; morally to revere

# ייי yä-rā' (v.) to fear, be afraid; to fear, reverence; to tremble (for joy); to terrify, make afraid

See Fear

Primitive Root: עָרֵץ/ä-räts': to awe or to dread

# אָרַץ|ä-räts' (v.) to be afraid, fear; to frighten, terrify

- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to **shake terribly** the earth.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to **shake terribly** the earth.
- 8:12 Say ye not, A confederacy, to all them to whom this people shall say, A confederacy; neither fear ye their fear, nor be afraid.
- 8:13 Sanctify the Lord of hosts himself; and let him be your fear, and let him be your dread.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall **fear** the God of Israel.

47:12 Stand now with thine enchantments, and with the multitude of thy sorceries, wherein thou has labored from thy youth; if so be thou shalt be able to profit, if so be thou mayest **prevail**.

Primitive Root: יְםַקּרַן/pä-ḥād': a (sudden) alarm

# מְחַדּ |pä-ḥäd' (v.) to tremble, quake, be afraid; to palpitate with joy

See Fear

Primitive Root: רָהָה'/rä-hä': to fear

# רָהָה' (v.) to fear, tremble

44:8 Fear ye not, neither be **afraid**; have not I told thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.

#### AGATE

Primitive Word: בַּדְכֹּד /käd-kōd': from an unused root meaning to deepen

## |לַּדְכֹּד |käd-kōd' (n.) ruby or carbuncle, precious stone

54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.

#### Age

Primitive Root: דור /dür: to gyrate

# אוד dor (n.) generation, an age, a period of a man's life

See Generation

Primitive Root: וְלֵקוֹן/zä-kān': to be old

# זְּקְנֵּה zēk-nä' (n.) old age

See Old

#### AGREEMENT

Primitive Root: חַלֵּה 'to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

#### חֹלֵה | h̄ō-zɛ' (n.) seer, prophet, astrologer; covenant

See Seer

# מְאַתְּן hä-züth' (n.) appearance, aspect; a vision (prophetic); a revelation, law, covenant

See Vision

#### AHAZ (POSSESSOR)

Primitive Root: אָחַאְ'ä-ḥäz': to seize (often with the idea of holding in possession)

# אָתְז |ä-ḥäz' (prop. n.) Ahaz

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, **Ahaz**, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of **Ahaz** the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet **Ahaz**, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 7:10 Moreover the Lord spake again unto Ahaz, saying,
- 7:12 But Ahaz said, I will not ask, neither will I tempt the Lord.
- 14:28 In the year the king Ahaz died was this burden.
- 38:8 Behold, I will bring again the shadow of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of **Ahaz**, ten degrees backward. So the sun returned ten degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.

#### ALONE

Primitive Root: בְּדַד /bä-däd': to divide

# דְּלַם bä-däd' (v.) to disjoin, separate, divide; to separate oneself, be solitary or alone

14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.

# Amazed

Primitive Root: תְּמָה/tä-mä: to be in consternation

# תְּמֵה (v.) to be astonished, be amazed, be terrified; to marvel, wonder

See Wonder

#### Ambassador

Primitive Word: מֵלְאָדְ /mäl-äḥ': from an unused root meaning to dispatch as a deputy

# מלאד mäl-äk' (n.) messenger, herald; angel; prophet, priest

See Messenger

Primitive Root: צוֹר/tsür: to cramp

# ציר (n.) hinge; pains, labor in childbirth; messenger

- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; **pangs** and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 18:2 That sendeth **ambassadors** by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; **pangs** have taken hold upon me, as the **pangs** of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy **messengers** far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.

# AMOZ (STRONG)

Primitive Root: אָבֵעץ/ä-mäts': to be alert, physically or mentally

# אָמוֹץ |ä-mōts' (prop. n.) Amoz

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of **Amoz**, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 2:1 The word that Isaiah the son of **Amoz** saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of **Amoz**, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of **Amoz**.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of **Amoz** sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of **Amoz** came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.

#### ANCIENT

Primitive Root: וְקֵן/zä-kān': to be old

#### zä-kān' (adj.) old, aged

3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,

- 3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the child shall behave himself proudly against the **ancient**, and the base against the honorable.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the **ancients** of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and **old**, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the **elders** of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the **ancient** hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an **old man** that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.

Primitive Root: עַלִם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

# עוֹלָם |o-läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

Primitive Root: קַּדָם/kä-däm': to project

## קדַם ke'-dem (n.) what is in front; east, eastern lands; ancient times, things of old

- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the **east**, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 9:12 The Syrians **before**, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the **east** together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of **ancient** kings?
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 37:26 Hast thou not heard long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed cities into ruinous heaps.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 46:10 Declaring the end from the beginning, and from **ancient times** the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall stand, and I will do all my pleasure;
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the **ancient** days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?

#### ANGEL

Primitive Word: מֵלְאַדְ /mäl-äḥ': from an unused root meaning to dispatch as a deputy

# mäl-äk' (n.) messenger, herald; angel; prophet, priest

See Messenger

# Anger

Primitive Root: אַנף/ä-näf': to breath hard

#### אנף ä-näf' (v.) to breath heavily; to be angry

12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O Lord, I will praise thee; though thou wast **angry** with me, thine anger is turned away, and thou comfortedst me.

# אָן af (n.) nostril, nose, face; anger, wrath

2:22 Cease ye from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?

- 3:21 The rings, and nose jewels,
- 5:25 Therefore is the **anger** of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his **anger** is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce **anger** of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his **anger** is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his **anger** is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:21 Manasseh, Ephraim; and Ephraim, Manasseh; and they together shall be against Judah. For all this his **anger** is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his **anger** is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:5 O Assyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:25 For yet a very little while, and the indignation shall cease, and mine anger in their destruction.
- 12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O Lord, I will praise thee; though thou wast **angry** with me, thine **anger** is turned away, and thou comfortedst me.
- 13:3 I have commanded my sanctified ones, I have also called my mighty ones, for mine **anger** is not upon them that rejoice in my highness.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce **anger**, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his **anger**, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy **nose**, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.
- 42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his **anger**, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 48:9 For my name's sake will I defer mine anger, and for my praise will I refrain for thee, that I cut thee not off.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine **anger**, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine **anger**, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the earth.
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, come not near to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a smoke in my **nose**, a fire that burneth all the day.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his **anger** with fury, and his rebuke with flames of fire.

Primitive Root: בַּעָס/kä-äs': to trouble

# בְּעֶס |kä-äs' (v.) to irritate, provoke; to be angry; to vex, grieve, excite

65:3 A people that **provoketh me to anger** continually to my face; that sacrificeth in gardens, and burneth incense upon altars of brick;

Primitive Root: נָאַן/nä-äts': to scorn

#### אָצְ|nä-äts' (v.) to deride, despise, revile, scorn; to reject

See Despise

#### Anoint

Primitive Root: מָשַׁח/mä-shäḥ': to rub with oil

# מְשַׁת mä-shäḥ' (v.) to spread over, paint, besmear; to anoint, consecrate

- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath **anointed** me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;

## מְשִׁיתַ mä-shē'-äḥ (adj.) besmeared, anointed; (n.) Messiah

45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his **anointed**, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;

Primitive Root: שֶׁבֵּען shä'-män: to shine

# שֶׁמֵּע |she'-men (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

See Fat

#### **Answer**

Primitive Root: עַנֵה /ä-nä': to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

## ä-nä' (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth **witness** against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall **cry** in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 14:10 All they shall speak and say unto thee, Art thou also become weak as we? art thou become like unto us?
- 14:32 What shall then **answer** the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he **answered** and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be **brought low**.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will **answer** thee.
- 36:21 But they held their peace, and answered him not a word; for the king's commandment was, saying, Answer him not.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not **answer**, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I **heard** thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to **answer**. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall **answer**; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity;
- 59:12 For our transgressions are multiplied before thee, and our sins **testify** against us; for our transgressions are with us; and as for our iniquities, we know them;
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not **answer**; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.
- 65:24 And it shall come to pass, that before they call, I will answer; and while they are yet speaking, I will hear.
- 66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their fears upon them; because when I called, none did **answer**; when I spake, they did not hear; but they did evil before mine eyes, and chose that in which I delighted not.

Primitive Root: שוב/shüv: to turn back or away

# אוש (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

#### Apparel

Primitive Root: חָלַץ/ḥä-läts': to pull off

# mä-ḥ<sup>ä</sup>-lä-tsōth' (n.) splendid or costly garments, festive garments

3:22 The changeable suits of apparel, and the mantles, and the wimples, and the crisping pins,

Primitive Root: לֶבַשׁ /lä-väsh': to wrap around

# לבוש |l<sup>ε</sup>-vüsh' (n.) garment, clothing; spouse, wife

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the **remnant** [KJV **raiment**] of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his **apparel**, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.
- 63:2 Wherefore art thou red in thine apparel, and thy garments like him that treadeth in the winefat?

Primitive Word: perhaps derived from קְּמֵל rese, derived from an unused root meaning to resemble

# שֹׁמְלָה |sēm-lä' (n.) garment, dress, mantle, cloak

See Cloth

#### Appear

Primitive Root: רָאָה/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See in See

# APPOINT

Primitive Root: יַעִּד/yä-äd': to fix upon

# מועד mō-äd' (n.) an assembly; a troop (of soldiers)

See Time

# מועד mō-ād' (n.) fixed or appointed time, season, or festival; assembly, meeting, festive gathering

See Feast

Primitive Root: סְמֵן/sä-män': to designate

# אָמַן |sä-män' (v.) to be marked, be appointed; to be determined

28:25 When he hath made plain the face thereof, doth he not cast abroad the fitches, and scatter the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the **appointed** barley and the rye in their place?

Primitive Root: שׁוּם/süm: to put

# שוּכו (v.) to put, set, place, dispose, set in array; to plant, beget; constitute, erect; to lay down; to appoint

See Put

Primitive Root: שִׁית shēth: to place

# אית shēth (v.) to put, set in place, lay; to direct, turn, appoint; to make, render, establish; to give

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will **bring** more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; **make** thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 22:7 And it shall come to pass, that thy choicest valleys shall be full of chariots, and the horsemen shall **set** themselves in array at the gate.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.

שֶׁמֶן Primitive Root: שָׁמֵן|shä'-män: to shine

## |she'-men (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

See Fat

# ARABIA(N)

Primitive Root: ערב/ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

# אַרַב|<sup>a</sup>-räv' (prop. n.) Arabia, Arab; Arabian

- 13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the **Arabian** pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.
- 21:13 The burden upon Arabia. In the forest in Arabia shall ye lodge, O ye traveling companies of Dedanim.

#### ARCHER

Primitive Root: קָּשָׁה/kä-shä': to be dense

# קשׁת kä-sheth' (n.) bow (for shooting); bowman, archer; rainbow

See Bon

# ARISE

Primitive Root: קוּם:küm: to rise

# | küm (v.) to arise, stand up, appear, rise against; to exist, subsist, endure; to erect, raise up

See Rise (Up)

Primitive Root: שֶׁׁכֶם/shä-ḥäm': to incline

#### אַכּם shä-ḥäm' (v.) to rise early in the morning; to do urgently, do earnestly

See Rise (Up)

#### ARM

Primitive Root: בָּלִעל, zä-rä': to sow

# וְרוֹעֵ $|z^\epsilon-rar{o}'-\ddot{a}|$ (n.) arm, shoulder (of an animal); strength, mighty, power

- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat every man the flesh of his own arm;
- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the corn, and reapeth the ears with his **arm**; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his **arm**, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their **arm** every morning, their salvation also in the time of trouble.

- 40:10 Behold, the Lord God will come with strong hand, and his **arm** shall rule for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 40:11 He shall feed his flock like a shepherd; he shall gather the lambs with his **arm**, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his **arm** shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine **arms** shall judge the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine **arm** shall they trust.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy **arm** in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 53:1 Who hath believed our report? and to whom is the arm of the Lord revealed?
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his **arm** brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it sustained him.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the **arm** of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 63:5 And I looked, and there was none to help; and I wondered that there was none to uphold; therefore mine own **arm** brought salvation unto me; and my fury, it upheld me.
- 63:12 That led them by the right hand of Moses with his glorious **arm**, dividing the water before them, to make himself an everlasting

Primitive Word: מָּנֵוֹן/ḥä'-zɛn: from an unused root meaning to hold firmly

# אָמָלֵן hä'-zɛn (n.) bosom, arm, forearm

49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their **arms**, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.

#### ARMY

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

# וְחַיִּל (n.) strength, power, might, valor; ability, wealth, riches; forces, host, army

#### לְיֵּחֶל or בְּיִּהְוֹחֶל (n.) army, host; defense, outer fortification, bulwark, wall, rampart

- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great **army**. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.

Primitive Root: צבא/tsä-vä': to mass

# צְבָא ˈts²-vä' (n.) host, army, troop

See Host

#### ARROGANCE

Primitive Root: אַאַק'gä-ä': to mount up

# וְצְּאַוֹן (n.) highness, excellency, majesty (of God); splendor, glory; pride, arrogance

See Pride

#### Arrow

Primitive Root: מְצֵץ/hä-tsäts': to chop into, pierce, or sever

# אָהֶן/hāts (n.) arrow; lightning; wound, punishment, plague; point of a spear

- 5:28 Whose **arrows** shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 7:24 With arrows and with bows shall men come thither; because all the land shall become briers and thorns.
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an **arrow** there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.

#### Ash

Primitive Root: רָנֵן/rä-nän': to creak

# אֹרֶל o'-rɛn (n.) ash, elder, or species of pine (a tree of which idols were commonly carved)

44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

#### ASHAMED

Primitive Root: בוּשׁ/büsh: to pale

# שניש bush (v.) to be or feel ashamed; to be troubled, confounded, confused

- 1:29 For they shall be ashamed of the oaks which ye have desired, and ye shall be confounded for the gardens that ye have chosen.
- 19:9 Moreover they that work in fine flax, and they that weave networks, shall be confounded.
- 20:5 And they shall be afraid and ashamed of Ethiopia their expectation, and of Egypt their glory.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall **be** confounded, and the sun **ashamed**, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and **be ashamed** for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the LORD, who redeemed Abraham, concerning the house of Jacob, Jacob shall not now **be ashamed**, neither shall his face now wax pale.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they **were** dismayed and **confounded**; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 41:11 Behold, all they that were incensed against thee shall **be ashamed** and confounded; they shall be as nothing; and they that strive with thee shall perish.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall **be** greatly **ashamed**, that trust in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 44:9 They that make a graven image are all of them vanity; and their delectable things shall not profit; and they are their own witnesses; they see not, nor know; that they may be **ashamed**.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be **ashamed**; and the workmen, they are of men; let them all be gathered together, let them stand up; yet they shall fear, and they shall be **ashamed** together.
- 45:16 They shall be ashamed, and also confounded, all of them; they shall go to confusion together, that are makers of idols.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 45:24 Surely shall one say, In the Lord have I righteousness and strength; even to him shall men come; and all that are incensed against him shall be **ashamed**.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be **ashamed** that wait for me.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath **appointed** mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be **ashamed**, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be **ashamed**; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be put to shame; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy widowhood anymore.

- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be **ashamed**.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be **ashamed**.

Primitive Root: תְּפֵר /ḥä-fār': to blush

# וְחַבֵּר hä-fār' (v.) to turn red, be ashamed; to be disappointed

See Confounded

Primitive Root: יְבֵשׁ/yä-vāsh': to be ashamed, confused or disappointed

# יבשׁ yä-vāsh' (v.) to be or become dry, dry up, be parched, wither; to be drained

See Wither

#### Asp

Primitive word: בְּתָּנְיִן/pɛ'-thɛn:from an unused root meaning to twist

# שָּהֵן |pe'-then (n.) viper, asp, adder, poisonous snake

11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.

#### Ass

Primitive Root: חְמֵר /ḥä-mär': to boil up

# חֲמוֹר |hā-mōr' (n.) ass; heap, load

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of horsemen, a chariot of **asses**, and a chariot of camels; and he hearkened diligently with much heed;
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.

Primitive Root: עוּר ito wake

#### עיִר ä'-yēr (n.) ass, young ass

- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of **young asses**, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 30:24 The oxen likewise and the **young asses** that ear the ground shall eat clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.

Primitive Root: מְלַבְאֹ /pä-rä': to bear fruit

#### פרא |pe'-re (n.) wild ass

32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of **wild asses**, a pasture of flocks;

#### **ASSEMBLE**

Primitive Root: אָסֶן/ä-säf: to gather for any purpose

# אָסַף|ä-säf' (v.) gather, assemble (people), collect (harvest); to close a march or bring up the rear, protect

See Gather

Primitive Root: קבֶץ/kä-väts': to grasp

#### לבצׁ|kä-väts' (v.) to grasp, gather, assemble; to seize, take with the hand, receive

See Gather

#### **ASSEMBLY**

Primitive Root: עָצֶר/ä-tsär': to enclose

# אַצְרָה<sup>a</sup>-tsä-rä' (n.) assembly, festival assembly, festival

1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the **solemn meeting**.

Primitive Root: קרא/kä-rä': to call out to

## mēk-rä' (n.) av calling together, convocation, assembly, congregation; meeting place

- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of **assemblies**, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her **assemblies**, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.

#### Assyria(n)

Primitive Root: אָשִׁר/ä-shär': to be straight

# אַשׁוּר |äsh-shür' (n.) Assyria, Assyrian

- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from Judah; even the king of **Assyria**.
- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall hiss for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the land of **Assyria**.
- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the king of **Assyria**, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of **Assyria**.
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, strong and many, even the king of **Assyria**, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 10:5 O Assyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of **Assyria**, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the **Assyrian**; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from **Assyria**, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his people, which shall be left from **Assyria**; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the land of Egypt.
- 14:25 That I will break the **Assyrian** in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 19:23 In that day shall there be a highway out of Egypt to **Assyria**, and the **Assyrian** shall come into Egypt, and the Egyptian into **Assyria**, and the Egyptians shall serve with the **Assyrian**.
- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the third with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and **Assyria** the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 20:1 In the year that Tartan came unto Ashdod, (when Sargon the king of Assyria sent him,) and fought against Ashdod, and took it;
- 20:4 So shall the king of **Assyria** lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be delivered from the king of **Assyria**; and how shall we escape?
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the **Assyrian** founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of **Assyria**, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.

- 31:8 Then shall the **Assyrian** fall with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of **Assyria** came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.
- 36:2 And the king of **Assyria** sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:4 And Rabshakeh said unto them, Say ye now to Hezekiah, Thus saith the great king, the king of **Assyria**, What confidence is this wherein thou trustest?
- 36:8 Now therefore give pledges, I pray thee, to my master the king of **Assyria**, and I will give thee two thousand horses, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and cried with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of **Assyria**.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of **Assyria**.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of **Assyria**, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of **Assyria**?
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of **Assyria** his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of **Assyria** have blasphemed me.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and found the king of **Assyria** warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the king of **Assyria**.
- 37:11 Behold, thou hast heard what the kings of **Assyria** have done to all lands by destroying them utterly; and shalt thou be delivered?
- 37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of **Assyria**;
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of **Assyria**, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the **Assyrians** a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.
- 38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the **Assyrian** oppressed them without cause.

#### ASTRAY

Primitive Root: תַּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

# תְּעָה |tä-ä' (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

See Err

# AWAKE

Primitive Root: עוֹר: to wake

# עוֹר (v.) to awake, wake, be astir; to rouse, stir up; to raise up; to stir up, arouse

- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall **stir up** a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it **stirreth up** the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.

- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall **raise up** a cry of destruction.
- 41:2 Who **raised up** the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 41:25 I have **raised up** one from the north, and he shall come; from the rising of the sun shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon princes as upon mortar, and as the potter treadeth clay.
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall **stir up** jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He **waketh** morning by morning, he **waketh** mine ear to hear as the learned.
- 51:9 **Awake**, **awake**, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; **awake**, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 51:17 **Awake**, **awake**, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast drunk at the hand of the Lord the cup of his fury; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 52:1 **Awake**, **awake**, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that **stirreth up** himself to take hold of thee; for thou hast hid thy face from us, and hast consumed us, because of our iniquities.

Primitive Root: אָקוּץ/küts: to awake

# אָלוּץ küts (v.) to be aroused

- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. **Awake** and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he **awaketh**, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he **awaketh**, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.

# AXE

Primitive Root: גְּרָא/gä-räz': to cut off

# אַרְאַן gär-zɛn' (n.) axe, hatchet

10:15 Shall the **axe** boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.

# WORD-LINKS "B"

#### BABYLON

Primitive Root: בָּלֶל/bä-läl': to fodder

# |bä-vɛl' (n.) confusion; Babel, Babylon|בְּבֵל

- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 13:19 And **Babylon**, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this proverb against the king of **Babylon**, and say, How hath the oppressor ceased! the golden city ceased!
- 14:22 For I will rise up against them, saith the Lord of hosts, and cut off from **Babylon** the name, and remnant, and son, and nephew, saith the Lord.
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, **Babylon** is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of **Babylon**, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from **Babylon**.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to **Babylon**; nothing shall be left, saith the Lord.
- 39:7 And of thy sons that shall issue from thee, which thou shalt beget, shall they take away; and they shall be eunuchs in the palace of the king of **Babylon**.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to **Babylon**, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of **Babylon**, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on **Babylon**, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of **Babylon**, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.

#### Back(ward)

Primitive Word: derived from יְּאַחִירְע /ä-hē-rä': Achira (an Israelite name meaning "brother of wrong"). Combination of primitive roots: אַ (brother) and איַ (bad or evil)

# אַחוֹר (n.) back, backside; west, westward; (adv.) backward, behind

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away **backward**.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines **behind**; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 28:13 But the word of the Lord was unto them precept upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and fall **backward**, and be broken, and snared, and taken.
- 44:25 That frustrateth the tokens of the liars, and maketh diviners mad; that turneth wise men **backward**, and maketh their knowledge foolish;
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come **hereafter**, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and behold it together.
- 42:17 They shall be turned **back**, they shall be greatly ashamed, that trust in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the **time to come?** and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my **back** to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.

# אַחרַנּית a-ḥō-rän-nēth' (adv.) (prolonged form of אָחוֹר |ä-ḥōr') backward

38:8 Behold, I will bring again the shadow of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of Ahaz, ten degrees **backward**. So the sun returned ten degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.

Primitive Root: אָאָה'/gä-ä': to mount up

## אַן gāv (n.) the back

- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy **back**.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away **back**. I gave my **back** to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 51:23 But I will put it into the hand of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy soul, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy **body** as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.

# Banner

Primitive Root: נַסָּט/nä-säs': to gleam from afar

## משׁ |nas (n.) signal, banner, ensign; standard, flag

See Ensign

#### BARE

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

# hְּוֹו (v.) to twist, twirl; to writhe; to be in labor; to be afraid, tremble; to wait, hope

See Pain

Primitive Root: חַשִּׁף/ḥä-säf': to strip off

# קשף hä-säf' (v.) to strip off, bare, uncover, defoliate; to draw or take off (water)

- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks **uncovered**, to the shame of Egypt.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to **take** water withal out of the pit.
- 47:2 Take the millstones, and grind meal; uncover thy locks, make bare the leg, uncover the thigh, pass over the rivers.
- 52:10 The Lord hath **made bare** his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.

Primitive Root: יֵלֶד /yä-läd': to bear young, beget

#### ילֶד'|yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: מֵשֶׁל/mä-shäl': to rule

# מְשֵׁל |mä-shäl' (v.) to rule, reign, govern; to rule over, manage; to give dominion

See Rule

Primitive Root: נָטֵל/nä-täl': to lift

# וְמַטְל nä-täl' (v.) to lift up, raise; to lay upon; to take up, bare

- 40:15 Behold, the nations are as a drop of a bucket, and are counted as the small dust of the balance; behold, he **taketh up** the isles as a very little thing.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.

Primitive Root: נְשֵׂא /nä-sä': to lift

# וְנְשִׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: עָרַר/ä-rär': to bare

# אָרַר (v.) to be naked, make bare; to be helpless; to lay bare, demolish

See Rise (Up)

#### BATTLE

Primitive Root: לָחַם/lä-ḥām': to feed on

# מְלְחַמָּה mēl-ḥä-mä' (n.) war, fight, battle; weapons, victory

See War

Primitive Root: אָסֶאַן/sä-än': to shoe, with implication of a shod soldier

# קאוֹן |sɛ-ōn' (n.) shoe, boot; armor

9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire.

#### BEAR

Primitive Root: דְּבַב /dä-väv': to move slowly

#### לב |dov (n.) bear; she-bear

11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.

59:11 We roar all like **bears**, and mourn sore like doves; we look for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from us.

Primitive Root: יָלֵד/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

# יבלד |yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: נְשֵׂא /nä-sä': to lift

# וְבְשֵׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: סֶבַל/sä-väl': to carry

# sä-väl' (v.) to bear, carry, suffer; to be pregnant

See Carry

Primitive Root: עָמַס/ä-mäs': to load

#### שְׁמַס |ä-mäs' (v.) to lift up, heave; to bear, carry; to lay upon, bestow; to load up

See Heavy

Primitive Root: עֲשֵׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

# צְשָׂה sa' (v.) to work, labor, toil; to make, create; to acquire; to prepare; to keep; to appoint

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Accomplish, Prepare, Perform

37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;

#### BEAST

Primary Root: probably derived from אָנַה'ä-vä': to wish for

# אָל short form of אוֹל o'-ē (n.) howler, jackal, any solitary wild creature

- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the **wild beasts of the island**, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.

Primitive Word: בְּהֵמָה /bɛ-hā-mä': from an unused root probably meaning to be mute

## בהמה |b<sup>ε</sup>-hā-mä' (n.) domestic animal, cattle, beast

- 18:6 They shall be left together unto the fowls of the mountains, and to the **beasts** of the earth; and the fowls shall summer upon them, and all the **beasts** of the earth shall winter upon them.
- 30:6 The burden of the **beasts** of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the **cattle**; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a burden to the weary beast.
- 63:14 As a **beast** goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.

Primitive Root: חֵיֵה/hä-yä': to live

# 'n|hä'-ē (adj.) alive, living, lively, vigorous; fresh, running (water); (subs. pl.) life, refreshment

See Life

Primitive Root: בְּרֵר /kä-rär': to dance

#### |בּרְכַּרְהֹ |kär-kä-rä' (n.) dromedary, swift or fleet camel

66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon **swift beasts**, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

Primitive Root: מֵרָא/mä-rä': to rebel

#### מְרָיא [m<sup>ε</sup>-rē' (n.) fat, fattened, well fed; (subst.) fattened beast

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of **fed beasts**; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the **fatling** together; and a little child shall lead them.

Primitive Word: צְיַה tsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

#### tsē-ē' (n.) dweller of the desert, nomad; Jackal, ostrich, wild beast or bird!

- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall lie there; and their houses shall be full of doleful creatures; and owls shall dwell there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for **them that dwell in the wilderness**; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.

# BEAT

Primitive Root: אַדַּכָא/dä-ḥä': to crumble

# לָבָא dä-ḥa' (v.) to be oppressed, be broken; to break in pieces, crush; to be bruised, be smitten

See Bruise

Primitive Root: דָּקַק/dä-käk': to crush

## דָקק dä-käk' (v.) to crush, pound, grind; to crush, bruise, destroy, beat small

See Bruise

Primitive Root: חבט/hä-vät': to knock out or off

# מָבַט hä-vät' (v.) to beat off, to strike; to beat out or thresh

- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall **beat off** from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a threshing instrument, neither is a cartwheel turned about upon the cummin; but the fitches are **beaten out** with a staff, and the cummin with a rod.

Primitive Root: חַתַּת/ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

# ְחַתְּת (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

Primitive Root: בַּתַת /kä-thäth': to bruise or strike violently

#### |kä-thäth' (v.) to beat, hammer, forge; to break, break to pieces; to rout

See Break

Primitive Root: מְבַּיֵּן/nä-fäts': to dash to pieces or scatter

#### אָבַן nä-fäts' (v.) to be dispersed; to scatter, smash, dash to pieces

See Scatter

#### BEAUTY

Primitive Root: יָבָּה'/yä-fä': to be bright

# יַבְּי' (n.) beauty, splendor

- 3:24 And it shall come to pass, instead of sweet smell there shall be stink; and instead of a girdle a rent; and instead of well-set hair, baldness; and instead of a stomacher a girding of sackcloth, burning instead of **beauty**.
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his **beauty**; they shall behold the land that is very far off.

Primitive Root: נֵאַה/nä-ä': to be at home

# וגאַה' nä-ä' (v.) to be convenient, be suitable; to be becoming, be lovely, be plesant

52:7 And then shall they say, How **beautiful** upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!

Primitive Root: אָבּיִן/pä-är': to gleam

#### pä-är' (v.) to adorn, beautify, glorify

See Glory

# בְּאֵר [pɛ-ār' (n.) headdress, turban, chaplet, tiara

- 3:20 The bonnets, and the ornaments of the legs, and the headbands, and the tablets, and the earrings,
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with **ornaments**, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.

Primitive Root: צַבַּה/tsä-vä': to amass

# אָבִי (n.) splendor, glory, beauty, ornament; gazelle, antelope, roe(buck)

See Glory

Primitive Root: רֵאַה/rä-ä': to see

## מֵלְאֵה mär-ε' (n.) appearance, look, aspect; vision, sight; form appearance

- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the **sight** of his eyes, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;
- 52:14 As many were astonished at thee; his visage was so marred more than any man, and his form more than the sons of men;
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no **beauty** that we should desire him.

#### BEGINNING

Demonstrative Adverb: אָאֹן/äz

#### אוֹ (adv.) then, at that time, therefore; (with prep מ) formerly, therefore

See Time

 $Primitive\ Word$ : הַלְאָה /hä-lɛ-ä': from the primitive form of the article ה')

# הְלְאָה |hä-lɛ-ä' (adv.) thither, yonder; further, far off; thus far (of time)

- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their **beginning hitherto**; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their **beginning hitherto**; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.

# רֵאשִׁית ˈrā-shēth' (adv.) beginning

46:10 Declaring the end from the **beginning**, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall stand, and I will do all my pleasure;

Primitive Root: חֲלֵל, ḥä-läl': to bore

# תְּחְלָה |tɨ-ḥēl-lä' (n.) beginning, commencement

1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the **beginning**; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.

Primitive Root: עַלִם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

# עולבם |o-läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

Primitive Root: פְּנָה /pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

# pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (w/ prefixes) before, etc.

See Face

Primitive Root: רֹאשׁ |rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

#### ראשון rē-shōn' or איירוי rā-shēth' (n.) beginning, commencement, origin; first, first fruit

- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the **first**, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the **first** he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.

- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and show us what shall happen; let them show the **former things**, what they be, that we may consider them, and know the latter end of them; or declare us things for to come.
- 41:27 The first shall say to Zion, Behold, behold them; and I will give to Jerusalem one that bringeth good tidings.
- 42:9 Behold, the former things are come to pass, and new things do I declare; before they spring forth I tell you of them.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us **former things**? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 43:18 Remember ye not the **former things**, neither consider the things of old.
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of Israel, and his Redeemer the Lord of hosts; I am the **first**, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 48:3 I have declared the **former things** from the beginning; and they went forth out of my mouth, and I showed them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.
- 48:12 Hearken unto me, O Jacob and Israel, my called; I am he; I am the first, I also am the last.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down **aforetime** into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the **former** desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their **former** work into their bosom.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the **former** troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.
- 65:17 For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth; and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind.

#### BEHIND

Primitive Word: derived from אֲחַרְער (an Israelite name meaning "brother of wrong"). Combination of primitive roots: אַ (brother) and אך (bad or evil)

# אָחוֹר (n.) back, backside; west, westward; (adv.) backward, behind

See Back(ward)

Primitive Root: אֲחֵר/ä-ḥär': to loiter

## אַמָּר or אַמּוֹב - adj.) hinder, part, back part, extremity; (adv.) behind, afterward, then

- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; **afterward** thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 30:21 And thine ears shall hear a word **behind** thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her head **at thee**.
- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins **behind** thy back.
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be **after** me.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come **after** thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 57:8 **Behind** the doors also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou sawest it.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing **away from** our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a people who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they walk after their own thoughts.

66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens **behind** one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

#### BELIEVE

Primitive Root: אַבַּץ/ä-män': to build up or support

#### אַמֵּן |ä-män' (v.) to be firm, support, nurse; to lean upon, hold fast

- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the **faithful** city.
- 7:9 And the head of Ephraim is Samaria, and the head of Samaria is Remaliah's son. If ye will not **believe**, surely ye shall not be **established**.
- 8:2 And I took unto me faithful witnesses to record, Uriah the priest, and Zechariah the son of Jeberechiah.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the **sure** place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that **believeth** shall not make haste.
- 33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and **believe** me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is **faithful**, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy **nursing fathers**, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me
- 53:1 Who hath **believed** our report? and to whom is the arm of the Lord revealed?
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be **nursed** at thy side.

#### BELOVED

Primitive Root: אוֹן/düd: from an unused root meaning to boil

#### יָדִיין/yä-dēd' (adj.) beloved; pleasant, lovely

5:1 And then will I sing to my **well-beloved** a song of my beloved touching his vineyard. My **well beloved** hath a vineyard in a very fruitful hill;

# BEND

Primitive Root: קֿרַדְּ /dä-räḥ': to tread

ኘ፲፱/dä-räḥ' (v.) to tread, walk, go; to wander; to tread down or trample on; to bend (a bow)

See Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: שַׁחַח/shä-ḥäḥ': to sink or depress

מַחַתּ shä-ḥāḥ' (v.) to sink down, crouch; to be bowed down, be depressed; to be cast down

See Bow

#### BESIEGE

Primitive Root: נָצַר/nä-tsär': to guard

nä-tsär' (v.) to watch, guard, protect; to inspect, keep, preserve; to observe; to besiege; to hide

See Keep

Primitive Root: צוּר /tsür: to cramp

# tsür (v.) to bind together, straighten, compress; to besiege, assail; to instigate, urge

- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; **besiege**, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 29:3 And I will camp against thee round about, and will lay siege against thee with a mount, and I will raise forts against thee.

# mä-tsōr' or מְצוּר mä-tsür' (n.) distress, embarrassment; siege; wall, bulwark, fortress

19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of **defense** shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither. 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the **besieged places**.

#### BESTOW

Primitive Root: אָמַל /gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

gä-mäl' (v.) to do, perform, accomplish; to repay; to wean; to ripen

See Reward

#### BETTER

Primitive Root: טוֹב tōv: to be good

לוס (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

See Good

## BEWRAY

Primitive Root: אֵלָה /gä-lä': to denude

gä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

## BEYOND

Primitive Root: עַבַר/ä-vär': to cross over

#### אַבֵּר (n.) what is beyond, region or land beyond; opposite side, flank

- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them **beyond** the river, by the king of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, **beyond** Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 18:1 Woe to the land shadowing with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;
- 47:15 Thus shall they be unto thee with whom thou hast labored, even thy merchants, from thy youth; they shall wander everyone to his **quarter**; none shall save thee.

## BIND (UP)

Primitive Root: אָסֵר/ä-sär': to yoke or hitch

# אַסָּר (v.) to bind (up), fetter, seize, imprison; to yoke, fasten; to join (in battle)

22:3 All thy rulers are fled together, they are **bound** by the archers; all that are found in thee are **bound** together, which have fled from far.

- 49:9 That thou mayest say to the **prisoners**, Go forth; to them that are in darkness, Show yourselves. They shall feed in the ways, and their pastures shall be in all high places.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to **bind up** the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are **bound**;

Primitive Root: חֲבֵשׁ/hä-väsh': to wrap firmly

# חַבשׁ hä-väsh' (v.) to bind on or to, wrap around; to bind a wound

- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither **bound up**, neither mollified with ointment.
- 3:7 In that day shall he swear, saying, I will not be a **healer**; for in my house there is neither bread nor clothing; make me not a ruler of the people.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord **bindeth up** the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to **bind up** the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;

Primitive Root: קשׁר/kä-shär': to tie

# קשׁר kä-shär' (v.) to bind, tie; to conspire

49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and **bind** them on thee, as a bride doeth.

#### **BITTERN**

Primary Root: קַפַר/kä-fäd': to contract

# קּפֹד |kēp-pōd' (n.) hedgehog, porcupine; bittern

34:11 But the cormorant and the **bittern** shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.

#### **BLACK**

Primitive Root: קַּדְר /kä-där': to be ashy (or to mourn)

#### קדרות käd-rüth' (n.) darkness, obscurity

50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with **blackness**, and I make sackcloth their covering.

#### **BLASPHEME**

Primary Root: אָדַף/gä-däf': to hack (with words)

# אָדַן gä-däf' (v.) to reproach, revile, blaspheme

- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have **blasphemed** me.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and **blasphemed**? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.

Primary Root: חֲרַף/ḥä-räf': to pull off

# אָרַף|ḥä-räf' (v.) to winter; to scorn, reproach, insult

See Reproach

Primitive Root: נָאַץ/nä-äts': to scorn

# מאַ |nä-äts' (v.) to deride, despise, revile, scorn; to reject

See Despise

#### נאצה |n<sup>ε</sup>-ä-tsä' (n.) reproach, reviling, contempt

37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of trouble, and of rebuke, and of **blasphemy**; for the children are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.

#### BLAST

Primitive Root: רוֹח 'rü'-äh: to blow

#### rü'-äḥ (n.) breeze, wind, breath, air, blowing; mind, soul, intellect, passion; spirit, ghost

See Spirit

Primitive Word: שַׂדֶה /sä-dɛ': from an unused root meaning to spread out

# שְׁדֶּה |sä-dɛ² (n.) plain, field; open or cultivated field, piece or parcel of land; open country, territory, district

See Field

#### **BLESS**

Primitive Root: אָשִׁר/ä-shär': to be straight

# אֵשֵׁר sher (n.) happiness, bliss

- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a God of judgment; **blessed** are all they that wait for him.
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.
- 56:2 **Blessed** is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.

Primitive Root: בַּרָדְ /bä-räḥ': to kneel

# בְּרַדְּ |bä-räḥ' (v.) to bend the knee; to bless, praise

- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath **blessed**.
- 65:16 That he who **blesseth** himself in the earth shall **bless** himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.
- 65:23 They shall not labor in vain, nor bring forth for trouble; for they are the seed of the **blessed** of the Lord, and their offspring with them.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he **blessed** an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

# בְּרָכָּה |b<sup>ε</sup>-rä-ḥä' (n.) blessing, benediction; gift, present

- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the third with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a **present**, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground; I will pour my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 65:8 Thus saith the Lord, As the new wine is found in the cluster, and one saith, Destroy it not; for a **blessing** is in it; so will I do for my servants' sake, that I may not destroy them all.

#### BLOOD

Primitive Root: דָּמַם/dä-mäm': to be dumb, and by implication to be astonished

# םֹלֵו däm (n.) blood; (pl.) blood(shed); blood or juice from a grape

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the **blood** of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of **blood**.
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the **blood** of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.
- 9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of **blood**; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her **blood**, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of **blood**, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be cast out, and their stink shall come up out of their carcasses, and the mountains shall be melted with their blood.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with **blood**, it is made fat with fatness, and with the **blood** of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with **blood**, and their dust made fat with fatness.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own **blood**, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with **blood**, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken lies, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent **blood**; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's **blood**; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

Primitive Root: וְצַבּח '-tsäḥ: to glitter from afar

#### וֹצְעֵח / nā'-tsäḥ (n.) juice (of the grape), liquor; blood, gore

- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their **blood** shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their **strength** to the

# BLOSSOM

Primitive Root: מְלֵבְרֹח ': to break forth as a bud

#### בְּרַח pä-räḥ' (v.) to break out; to sprout, blossom, bud forth, flourish; to thrive, prosper

- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to **flourish**; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 35:2 It shall **blossom abundantly**, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall **flourish** like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.

# אַרַח (n.) sprout, shoot; blossom, flower, bud

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their **blossom** shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the **bud** is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.

Primitive Root: צוּץ/tsüts: to twinkle

## צוּץ tsüts (v.) to shine, bloom

27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.

# **BLOT OUT**

Primitive Root: מֶחֶה /mä-ḥä': to stroke or rub

# מַמָּה mä-ḥä' (v.) to wipe, wipe off or away, blot out; to strike upon; to be full of marrow

- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 43:25 I, even I, am he that blotteth out thy transgressions for mine own sake, and will not remember thy sins.
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.

#### BLOW

Primitive Root: מֵלֵחֹ /nä-fäh': to puff

#### וְבַּח nä-fäḥ' (v.) to blow, breathe out; to blow on, blow away; to exhale

54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that **bloweth** the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the waster to destroy.

Primitive Root: נָשַׁב/nä-shäv': to blow

# נְשַׁב nä-shäv' (v.) to blow upon, breathe

40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.

Primitive Root: נָשָׁר/nä-shäf': to breeze

# וְנַשֵּׁף nä-shäf' (v.) to blow upon, breathe

40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also **blow** upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.

Primitive Root: תַּקע/tä-kä': to clatter

# תַּקע |tä-kä' (v.) to strike, smite; to drive in (nails), fix; to blow (horn), thrust; to be struck

See Fasten

# BOAST

Primitive Root: יְמֵר /yä-mär': to exchange

#### ימר yä-mär' (v.) to change, exchange; to take one's place

61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall eat the riches of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye **boast yourselves**.

Primitive Root: פָּאַר/pä-är': to gleam

# pä-är' (v.) to adorn, beautify, glorify

See Glory

#### BODY

Primitive Root: בָּשֵׂר/bä-sär': to be fresh

#### בשר bä-sär' (n.) flesh, body, living creature

See Flesh

Primitive Root: אָלֵּאָה'/gä-ä': to mount up

# אַן gāv (n.) the back

See Back(ward)

Primitive Root: נבֶל/nä-väl': to wilt

# וְבֶּלָת (n.) carcass, corpse

See Carcass

#### BONDAGE

Primitive Root: עַבַד/ä-väd': to work

יעבֹדָה" a-vō-da' (n.) work, labor; service, employment; worship; implements, instrument, furniture

See Act

#### BORDER

Primitive Root: גַבֶּל/gä-väl': to twist as a rope

# $|\mathbf{g}^{\varepsilon}$ -vül' (n.) boundary, limit; edge, extremity; the space within a border

15:8 For the cry is gone round about the borders of Moab; the howling thereof unto Eglaim, and the howling thereof unto Beer-elim.

19:19 In that day shall there be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.

54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.

60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy **borders**; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.

#### גבולה |g<sup>ε</sup>-vü-lä' (n.) border, margin, territory

See Place

Primitive Root: קְצֵץ/kä-tsä': to chop off

# אָקא (n.) end, extremity, limit; fulfillment; death, destruction

See End

# Bough

Primitive Root: אָמֵר/ä-mär': to say

# אָמִיר (n.) top (of a tree), summit (of a mountain)

See Branch

Primitive Root: חֲרֵשׁ/ḥä-räsh': to scratch

#### חרֵשׁ |hō'-rɛsh (n.) thicket, forest

17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a forsaken **bough**, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the children of Israel; and there shall be desolation.

Primitive Root: פָּאַר/pä-är': to gleam

#### pō-rä' (n.) green branch, bough, top branch, foliage

10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the **bough** with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be humbled.

Primitive Root: קצר/kä-tsär': to dock off or curtail

## קּצִיר[kä-tsēr' (n.) a harvest, cutting, reaping; harvest time, cut grain; cut bough or branch

See Harvest

#### BOUNTIFUL

Primitive Root: שַׁנֵע/shä-vä': to be free

# שוע shō'-ä (adj.) opulent, rich; liberal, noble, generous; cry for help

See Cry

#### Bow

Primitive Root: אָבֶּטְ/kä-fäf': to curve

## לְבַּף/kä-fäf' (v.) to curve, to bend down; to bow; to submit, humble oneself

58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to **bow down** his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?

Primitive Root: בָּרֵע/kä-rä': to bend the knee

# בְּרַע|kä-rä' (v.) to bend (knees), bow; to sink, cover; to write in pain

- 10:4 Without me they shall **bow down** under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 45:23 I have sworn by myself, the word is gone out of my mouth in righteousness, and shall not return, That unto me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall swear.
- 46:1 Bel **boweth down**, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a burden to the weary beast.
- 46:2 They stoop, they bow down together; they could not deliver the burden, but themselves are gone into captivity.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all **bow down** to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.

Primitive Root: עוָה/ä-vä': to crook, or make crooked

#### "ä-vä' (v.) to act perversely, sin; to be bent, write, be distorted; to pervert, overturn

- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was **bowed down** at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 24:1 Behold, the Lord maketh the earth empty, and maketh it waste, and **turneth** it upside down, and scattereth abroad the inhabitants thereof.

Primitive Root: קַּשָּׁה/kä-shä': to be dense

#### קשׁת kä-sheth' (n.) bow (for shooting); bowman, archer; rainbow

- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their **bows** bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 7:24 With arrows and with bows shall men come thither; because all the land shall become briers and thorns.
- 13:18 Their **bows** also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the womb; their eye shall not spare children.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of **archers**, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 22:3 All thy rulers are fled together, they are bound by the **archers**; all that are found in thee are bound together, which have fled
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his **bow**.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the **bow**, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

Primitive Root: שׁחַה/shä-hä': to depress

# אַחָה shä-ḥa' (v.) to bow down; to sink down, be depressed; to worship, adore; to prostrate oneself

See Worship

Primitive Root: שְׁחַח /shä-häh': to sink or depress

# שְׁחָתוּ shä-ḥaḥ' (v.) to sink down, crouch; to be bowed down, be depressed; to be cast down

- 2:9 And the mean man boweth not down, and the great man humbleth himself not; therefore forgive them not.
- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be **bowed down**, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be **bowed down**, and the haughtiness of men shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 25:5 Thou shalt **bring down** the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 26:5 For he **bringeth down** them that dwell on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy speech shall **be low** out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the ground, and thy speech shall whisper out of the dust.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come **bending** unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.

#### Box

Primitive Root: אַשִׁר/ä-shär': to be straight

# אָאַשׁוּר $t^{\epsilon}$ -äsh-shür' (n.) erectness, tallness; species of cedar, box tree

- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the **box tree** together;
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the **box** together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.

# Bozrah

Primitive Root: בְּצַר/bä-tsär': to clip off

#### בצרה' (prop. n.) Bozrah, capital city of Edom

- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in **Bozrah**, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from **Bozrah**? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

# **BRANCH**

Primitive Root: אַמֵר/ä-mär': to say

#### אַמִיר |ä-mēr' (n.) top (of a tree), summit (of a mountain)

- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost **bough**, four or five in the outmost fruitful **branches** thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost **branch**, which they left because of the children of Israel; and there shall be desolation.

Primitive Root: מָלֵל,/zä-mär': to trim

#### zä-mēr' (n.) vine-cutting, time of pruning of vines

25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the **branch** of the terrible ones shall be brought low.

Primitive Root: מָבֵּע/kä-fäf': to curve

## אַפְּהֹ (n.) palm, palm-branch; branch; high, noble

9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.

19:15 Neither shall there be any work for Egypt, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.

Primitive Root: נָטָשׁ/nä-täsh': to pound

#### נטישה |nº-tē-shä' (n.) tendril, twig

18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the **branches**.

Primitive Root: נֵצֶר/nä-tsär': to guard

#### וְצֵּבֹר (n.) sprout, shoot, branch; descendant

11:1 And there shall come forth a rod out of the stem of Jesse, and a branch shall grow out of his roots;

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable **branch**, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the **branch** of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.

Primitive Root: סָעף/sä-äf': to divide up

# 

- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the **tops** of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful **branches** thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the **branches** thereof.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

Primitive Root: צְׁמַח/tsä-mäḥ': to sprout

#### אַמָּח (n.) sprout, fruit; descendant

- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the **branch** of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her **bud**, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.

Primitive Root: שַׁלֵח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

#### שׁלְחַה she-lü-ḥä' (n.) shoot, sprout

16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her **branches** are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.

#### BRASS

Primitive גָחַשׁ/nä-ḥäsh': to hiss

#### נחושה |nº-ḥü-shä' (n.) copper

- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the crooked places straight; I will break in pieces the gates of **brass**, and cut in sunder the bars of iron;
- 48:4 Because I knew that thou art obstinate, and thy neck is an iron sinew, and thy brow brass;

# וְּמִשְׁתּ (n.) brass, copper, bronze; something made from those metals (money, fetters)

60:17 For **brass** I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood **brass**, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

#### BRAVERY

Primitive Root: פָּאַר/pä-är': to gleam

תְּבְאָרָת tēph-ɛʾ-rä or תְּבְאֶּרֶת lēph-ɛʾ-rɛth (n.) ornament, splendor, beauty, magnificence; glory, honor See Glory

#### Breach

Primitive Root: בַּקע/bä-kä': to cleave

#### bä-kä' (v.) to cleave, sever; to hatch; to split, rend; to open; to break through

See Hatch

#### בְּקִיעְ |bɛ-kē'-ä (n.) chink, fissure, cleft, rent, breach

22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.

Primitive Root: אָם/pä-räts': to break out

# אֱבֵרֶצ (n.) rupture, breach, gap, fissure; break through, attack, defend

- 30:13 Therefore this iniquity shall be to you as a **breach** ready to fall, swelling out in a high wall, whose breaking cometh suddenly at an instant.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the **breach**, The restorer of paths to dwell in.

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵר/shä-vär': to burst

# שֶׁבֵּר (n.) a breach, fracture; destruction, misfortune, injury

See Destroy

#### **BREAK**

Primitive Root: בַּקע/bä-kä': to cleave

#### בָּקע |bä-kä' (v.) to cleave, sever; to hatch; to split, rend; to open; to break through

See Hatch

Primitive Root: אָדַרָא' /dä-hä': to crumble

# רָבָּא dä-ḥä' (v.) to be oppressed, be broken; to break in pieces, crush; to be bruised, be smitten

See Bruise

Primitive Root: הָלִם/hä-läm': to strike down

#### הַלְּם |hä-läm' (v.) to beat, smite, strike, stamp; to smite to pieces, break; to be broken up, scattered

- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have **broken down** the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are **overcome** with wine!
- 41:7 So the carpenter encouraged the goldsmith, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that **smote** the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be moved.

Primitive Root: הְמַם/hä-mäm': to put in commotion

# hä-mäm' (v.) to impel, drive; to agitate, trouble; to disturb, put to flight; to utterly destroy

28:28 Bread corn is bruised; because he will not ever be threshing it, nor **break** it with the wheel of his cart, nor bruise it with his horsemen.

Primitive Root: חַתַּת/hä-thäth': to prostrate

## מתת hä-thäth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

- 7:8 For the head of Syria is Damascus, and the head of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall Ephraim be **broken**, that it be not a people.
- 8:9 Associate yourselves, O ye people, and ye shall be **broken in pieces**; and give ear, all ye of far countries; gird yourselves, and ye shall be **broken in pieces**; gird yourselves, and ye shall be **broken in pieces**.
- 9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.
- 20:5 And they shall be afraid and ashamed of Ethiopia their expectation, and of Egypt their glory.
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be **afraid** of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be **afraid** of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were **dismayed** and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be **abolished**.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye **afraid** of their revilings.

Primitive Root: בַּתַת /kä-thäth': to bruise or strike violently

#### בתת kä-thäth' (v.) to beat, hammer, forge; to break, break to pieces; to rout

- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall **beat** their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is **smitten** with destruction.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is **broken in pieces**; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.

Primitive Root: מָתַצְ/nä-thäts': to tear down

#### מדץ |nä-thäts' (v.) to destroy, break down, pull down; to break out, knock out (teeth); to smash

22:10 And ye have numbered the houses of Jerusalem, and the houses have ye broken down to fortify the wall.

Primitive root: נָתַק/nä-thäk': to tear off

# וְמַקּק |nä-thäk' (v.) to tear away, cut away; to castrate; to be broken off; to be separated, torn away

- 5:27 None shall be weary nor stumble among them; none shall slumber nor sleep; neither shall the girdle of their loins be loosed, nor the latchet of their shoes be **broken**;
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be **broken**.
- 58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye **break** every yoke?

Primitive Root: פְצַח/pä-tsäḥ': to break out (in a joyful sound)

# pä-tsäḥ' (v.) to break out into joy, rejoice; to break (bones), break into pieces

- 14:7 The whole earth is at rest, and is quiet; they break forth into singing.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; **break forth** into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and **break forth** into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 52:9 **break forth into joy**, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath comforted his people, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; **break forth** into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.

55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall **break forth** before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.

Primitive Root: אָםְ/pä-räts': to break out

# pä-räts' (v.) to break, demolish, tear down, scatter; to spread, rush upon; to increase, overflow

- 5:5 And now go to; I will tell you what I will do to my vineyard; I will take away the hedge thereof, and it shall be eaten up; and I will **break down** the wall thereof, and it shall be trodden down;
- 54:3 For thou shalt **break forth** on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.

Primitive Root: מְם /pä-rär': to break up

# pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

- 8:10 Take counsel together, and it shall come to naught; speak the word, and it shall not stand; for God is with us.
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 24.5 The earth also is defiled under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, **broken** the everlasting covenant.
- 24:19 The earth is utterly broken down, the earth is clean dissolved, the earth is moved exceedingly.
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath **broken** the covenant, he hath despised the cities, he regardeth no man.
- 44:25 That **frustrateth** the tokens of the liars, and maketh diviners mad; that turneth wise men backward, and maketh their knowledge foolish;

Primitive Root: קוּר/kür: to trench

# אוֹקוּר (v.) to dig, dig up; to subvert, undermine; to destroy

See Dig

Primitive Root: רַעַע/rä-ä': to spoil

# רצעע |rä-ä' (v.) to be bad, be evil; to do evil, act badly or wickedly; to break to pieces, destroy

See Evil

Primitive Root: רַצִץ/rä-tsäts': to crack in pieces

## רְצַץ rä-tsäts' (v.) to break, crack, crush; to bruise; to be broken, be feeble; to oppress

- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this **broken** reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the **oppressed** go free, and that ye break every yoke?

Primitive Root: חַתַת/hä-thäth': to prostrate

# מתח hä-thäth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

- 8:15 And many among them shall stumble, and fall, and be broken, and be snared, and be taken.
- 14:5 The Lord hath **broken** the staff of the wicked and the scepters of the rulers.
- 14:25 That I will **break** the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is **broken**; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath **broken** unto the ground.
- 24:10 The city of confusion is **broken down**; every house is shut up, that no man may come in.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be **broken off**; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 28:13 But the word of the Lord was unto them precept upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and fall backward, and be **broken**, and snared, and taken.

- 30:14 And he shall **break** it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.
- 38:13 I reckoned till morning, that, as a lion, so will he break all my bones; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the crooked places straight; I will **break in pieces** the gates of brass, and cut in sunder the bars of iron;
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the **brokenhearted**, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;
- 66:9 Shall I bring to the birth, and not cause to bring forth? saith the Lord; shall I cause to bring forth, and shut the womb? saith thy God.

# אַבֵּר (n.) a breach, fracture; destruction, misfortune, injury

See Destroy

Primitive Root: שַׂרָד/sä-däd': to abrade

#### שַׁדָּד |sä-däd' (v.) to harrow, level

28:24 Doth the ploughman plough all day to sow? doth he open and break the clods of his ground?

# BREATH

Primitive Root: נֵשָׁם/nä-shäm': to blow away

# וְנְשְׁמָה [n-shä-mä' (n.) breath, breathing, pant; living soul, animal

- 2:22 Cease ye from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the **breath** of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth **breath** unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 57:16 For I will not contend forever, neither will I be always wroth; for the spirit should fail before me, and the **souls** which I have made.

Primitive Root: רוֹחַ 'rü'-äḥ: to blow

# רוֹלִי -äḥ (n.) breeze, wind, breath, air, blowing; mind, soul, intellect, passion; spirit, ghost

See Spirit

## Brier

Primitive Root: סְרֵף/sä-räf': to cremate

#### קרְפַּד |sēr-päd' (n.) prickly plant, nettle

55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the **brier** shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be cut off.

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

#### שְׁמֵיר (n.) a sharp point, thorn, thorn bush; diamond

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up **brier** and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.
- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every place shall be, where there were a thousand vines at a thousand silverlings, which shall even be for **brier** and thorns.
- 7:24 With arrows and with bows shall men come thither; because all the land shall become brier and thorns.
- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of **brier** and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the **brier** and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his **brier** in one day;

- 27:4 Fury is not in me; who would set the **brier** and thorns against me in battle; I would go through them, I would burn them together.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and brier; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.

#### **BRIGHTNESS**

Primitive Root: נֵגָה/nä-gä': to glitter

# אָלה'-gä (n.) brightness; shining splendor, glory

- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the **shinning** of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no **light**? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 60:3 And the Gentiles shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for **brightness** shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy glory.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as **brightness**, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.

#### נגהה וי<sup>ε</sup>-gō-hä' (n.) brightness, splendor

59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for **brightness**, but we walk in darkness.

#### BRIMSTONE

Primitive Word: גפר: from an unused root probably meaning to house in

# אַבְּרִית gäf-rēth' (n.) brimstone, pitch, sulphur

- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of **brimstone**, doth kindle it.
- 34:9 And the streams thereof shall be turned into pitch, and the dust thereof into **brimstone**, and the land thereof shall become burning pitch.

#### Bring Up

Primitive Root: אַדַל/gä-däl': to twist

gä-däl' (v.) to become great, grow up; to be mighty, important; to cause to grow

See Nourish

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rüm: to be high, or to raise or rise

## רום (v.) to be high, be elevated; to be lofty, be exalted, be glorified

See Exalt

#### Brook

Primitive Root: אר'/yɛ-ōr': of Egyptian origin

יאר'|y<sup>ε</sup>-ōr' (n.) river, channel; Nile, Tigris

See River

Primitive Root: נַחַל/nä-häl': to inherit

# nä-häl' (n.) river, stream, brook, torrent; valley, ravine, gorge; mine

See Stream

#### **BRUISE**

Primitive Root: אָדָּכָא'/dä-ḥä': to crumble

# רָבָּא dä-ḥä' (v.) to be oppressed, be broken; to break in pieces, crush; to be bruised, be smitten

- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 19:10 And they shall be broken in the purposes thereof, all that make sluices and ponds for fish.
- 53:5 But he was wounded for our transgressions, he **was bruised** for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his stripes we are healed.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to **bruise** him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a **contrite** and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the **contrite** ones.

Primitive Root: דָּקָק/dä-käk': to crush

# לַקק dä-käk' (v.) to crush, pound, grind; to crush, bruise, destroy, beat small

- 28:28 Bread corn is **bruised**; because he will not ever be threshing it, nor break it with the wheel of his cart, nor **bruise** it with his horsemen.
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and **beat them small**, and shalt make the hills as chaff.

Primitive Root: תַּבַר/ḥä-vär': to join

# מְבּוּרָה /häb-bü-rä' (n.) stripe, bruise, wound

- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and **bruises**, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.
- 53:5 But he was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his **stripes** we are healed.

Primitive Root: רַצִץ/rä-tsäts': to crack in pieces

# רַצְּעֻ |rä-tsäts' (v.) to break, crack, crush; to bruise; to be broken, be feeble; to oppress

See Break

# BUD

Primitive Root: פַּרַחְ/pä-räḥ': to break forth as a bud

# pä-räḥ' (v.) to break out; to sprout, blossom, bud forth, flourish; to thrive, prosper

See Blossom

בּרֵם:pe'-räḥ (n.) sprout, shoot; blossom, flower, bud

See Blossom

Primitive Root: צַמָּח/tsä-mäh': to sprout

#### אַבְּמַח (v.) to spring up or forth, to grow; to turn out; to sprout

See Spring

# אַמָּח (n.) sprout, fruit; descendant

See Branch

# BULL(OCK)

Primitive Root: מְפַרֵר /pä-rär': to break up

#### pär (n.) bull, young bullock; victim, offering

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of **bullocks**, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the **bullocks** with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust made fat with fatness.

#### Bulrush

Primitive Word: אֲלֵם -gäm': from an unused root meaning to bind

# אַגמון äg-mōn' (n.) rush, reed, bulrush

See Rush

Primitive Root: אַמֵּא/gä-mä': to absorb

# אֹמֵא |gō'-mɛ (n.) marsh rush, papyrus plant, papyrus reed

See Rush

# Bulwark

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

## וְחֵל or יַּהְוֹּחְל (n.) army, host; defense, outer fortification, bulwark, wall, rampart

See Army

#### BURDEN

Primitive Word: אַגַּדָה|a-güd-dä': from an unused root meaning to bind

# אגדָה a-güd-dä' (n.) band, burden, bundle

58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy **burdens**, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye break every yoke?

Primitive Root: נָשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

#### מְשַׂא |mäs-sä' (n.) burden, load; tribute, present, gift

- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 14:28 In the year the king Ahaz died was this burden.
- 15:1 The **burden** of Moab. Because in the night Ar of Moab is laid waste, and brought to silence; because in the night Kir of Moab is laid waste, and brought to silence;
- 17:1 The burden of Damascus. Behold, Damascus is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.
- 19:1 The **burden** of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 21:1 The burden of the desert of the sea. As whirlwinds in the south pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the terrible land.
- 21:11 The burden of Dumah. He calleth to me out of Seir, Watchman, what of the night? Watchman, what of the night?
- 21:13 The burden upon Arabia. In the forest in Arabia shall ye lodge, O ye traveling companies of Dedanim.
- 22:1 The burden of the valley of vision. What aileth thee now, that thou art wholly gone up to the housetops?
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the **burden** that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 23:1 The **burden** of Tyre. Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 30:6 The **burden** of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.

- 46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a **burden** to the weary beast.
- 46:2 They stoop, they bow down together; they could not deliver the burden, but themselves are gone into captivity.

#### משאה mäs-sä-ä' (n.) burning; rising smoke, conflagration

30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the **burden** thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;

Primitive Root: סְבַל/sä-väl': to carry

## sō'-vɛl (n.) burden, load

- 9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.
- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his **burden** shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed because of the anointing.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his **burden** depart from off their shoulders.

#### Burn

Primitive Root: בַּעֶר/bä-är': to kindle

# בּעֵל |bä-är' (v.) to burn up, consume; to be brutish, be stupid; to kindle, burn

- 1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have **eaten up** the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of **burning**.
- 5:5 And now go to; I will tell you what I will do to my vineyard; I will take away the hedge thereof, and it shall be **eaten up**; and I will break down the wall thereof, and it shall be trodden down;
- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be **eaten**; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.
- 9:18 For wickedness **burneth** as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall **burn** and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become **brutish**; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient kings?
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, **burning** with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth **kindle** it.
- 34:9 And the streams thereof shall be turned into pitch, and the dust thereof into brimstone, and the land thereof shall become **burning** pitch.
- 40:16 And Lebanon is not sufficient to burn, nor the beasts thereof sufficient for a burnt offering.
- 42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it **burned** them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame **kindle** upon thee.
- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to **burn**; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have **kindled**; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that **burn**eth.

Primitive Root: חַרַר/hä-rär': to glow

# וְחַרֵּר (v.) to burn, glow; to be parched; to free or be freeborn

24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the earth, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are **burned**, and few men left.

Primitive Root: יצֵת'/yä-tsäth': to burn or set on fire

#### יצות yä-tsäth' (v.) to set on fire, kindle, burn

See Kindle

Primitive Root: יָקד/yä- käd': a burning

#### yä- käd' (v.) to glow, burn, blaze

See Kindle

# יקוד |yº-kōd' (n.) a burning

10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the **burning** of a fire.

#### מוקד mō-kād' (n.) heat, burning, conflagration; dry wood

33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting **burnings**?

Primitive Root: בָּוָה/kä-vä': to prick or penetrate

# kä-vä' (v.) to be burned, be scorched

43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be **burned**; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.

# kē (n.) mark, burn, brand

3:24 And it shall come to pass, instead of sweet smell there shall be stink; and instead of a girdle a rent; and instead of well-set hair, baldness; and instead of a stomacher a girding of sackcloth, **burning** instead of beauty.

Primitive Root: צוּת/tsüth: to blaze

#### צות tsüth (v.) to burn, kindle, set on fire

27:4 Fury is not in me; who would set the briers and thorns against me in battle; I would go through them, I would **burn** them together.

Primitive Root: קַּדַרח/kä-däḥ': to inflame

# |אָקַדַת|kä-däḥ' (v.) to kindle, glow, burn; to be kindled

- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that **kindleth** fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 64:2 As when the melting fire **burneth**, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may tremble at thy presence!

Primitive Root: שָׂרֵף/sä-räf': to be on fire

# אַבְר |sä-räf' (v.) to burn, consume; to destroy by fire; to be burnt

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are **burned** with fire; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 44:16 He **burneth** part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the fire;
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have **burned** part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall **burn** them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.

#### שֹׁרֶפַּה |sɛ-rā-fä' (n.) a burning, conflagration

9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with **burning** and fuel of fire.
64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is **burned** up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid waste.

#### Buy

Primitive Root: קָנָה/kä-nä': to erect

# |kä-nä' (v.) to acquire, procure, gain; to buy, purchase; to create, possess, redeem; (part.) owner

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to **recover** the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 24:2 And it shall be, as with the people, so with the priest; as with the servant, so with his master; as with the maid, so with her mistress; as with the **buyer**, so with the seller; as with the lender, so with the borrower; as with the taker of usury, so with the giver of usury to him.
- 43:24 Thou hast **bought** me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.

Primitive Root: שָׁבַר/shä-vär': to burst

# שבר shä-vär' (v.) to rend, tear off; to measure off, define; to buy or sell grain or food

55:1 Ho, everyone that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, **buy**, and eat; yea, come, **buy** wine and milk without money and without price.

# WORD-LINKS "C"

# Calf

Primitive Root: עג'ל 'ä-gōl': from an unused root meaning to revolve

# אַגֵּל|ā'-gɛl (n.) calf; calf image

- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall lead them.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the **calf** feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.

#### CAMEL

Primitive Root: גְּמֵל/gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

# אַמֵּל' gä-mäl' (n.) camel

- 21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of horsemen, a chariot of asses, and a chariot of camels; and he hearkened diligently with much heed;
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 60:6 The multitude of **camels** shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.

#### CAMP

Primitive Root: חֵנָה/hä-nä': to incline

# ְּחְנָּה hä-nä' (v.) to bend down, incline; to encamp; to settle, dwell, inhabit; to besiege, encamp against

See Dwell

#### מחנה mä-ḥa-ne (n.) camp, encampment; army, host, troop

37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the **camp** of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.

# CAPTIVE

Primitive Root: גָּלָה /gä-lä': to denude

#### gä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

#### אַלוּתל (n.) exile, captivity, deportation; captives, exiles

- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians **captives**, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my **captives**, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.

Primitive Root: טוּל/tül: to pitch over or reel

# טָלְטֶלֶה (n.) a casting forth, a throwing or hurling down

22:17 Behold, the Lord will carry thee away with a mighty captivity, and will surely cover thee.

Primitive Root: צַּעָה /tsä-ä': to tip over

#### צְּעָה |tsä-ä' (v.) to bend downward, incline; to be bent (by fetters); to lie down; to walk proudly

- 51:14 The captive exile hasteneth that he may be loosed, and that he should not die in the pit, nor that his bread should fail.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, **traveling** in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

Primitive Root: שַׁבַה/shä-vä': to transport into captivity

## שְׁבַה shä-vä' (v.) to take or lead away captive, to hold captive, to lead into exile

- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall **take** them **captives**, whose **captives** they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the **captives**, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;

Primitive Word: אָשָׁבוֹ/sh<sup>ɛ</sup>-vō': from an unused root meaning to flame

# שְׁבִי |sh-vē' (n.) captivity, exile, leading away; captives

- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians **prisoners**, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 46:2 They stoop, they bow down together; they could not deliver the burden, but themselves are gone into captivity.
- 49:24 Shall the prey be taken from the mighty, or the lawful captive delivered?
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the **captives** of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; arise, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.

# CARBUNCLE

Primitive Root: בַּנָה /bä-nä': to build

#### אֶבֶּן ε'-vɛn (n.) stone, rock; ore

See Stone

# **C**ARCASS

Primitive Root: נָבַל/nä-väl': to wilt

# וְבְּלָת nε-vā-lä' (n.) carcass, corpse

- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their **carcasses** were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my **dead body** shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.

Primitive Root: פְגַר/pä-gär': to relax

## בְּגֵר (n.) carcass, corpse, dead body

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a **carcass** trodden under feet.
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be cast out, and their stink shall come up out of their **carcasses**, and the mountains shall be melted with their blood.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead **corpses**.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the **carcasses** of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

# **CARPENTER**

Primitive Word: חַרֵשׁ/hä-räsh': to scratch

# אָרָשׁ|ḥä-räsh' (n.) an engraver, a cutter in wood, metal, or stone; a smith, workman, artisan, artificer, artist

See Smith

# Carriage

Primitive Root: בָּלָה'/kä-lä': to end

# ְּבְּלִי (n.) utinsel, vessel (of gold or silver); clothing; implement, tool; arms, weapon

See Vessel

Primitive Root: צַּשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

# נשואָה |ne-sü-ä' (n.) load, burden

46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your **carriages** were heavy laden; they are a burden to the weary beast.

#### **CARRY**

Primitive Root: איל tül: to pitch over or reel

# tül (v.) to prostrate; to cast forth, throw about, fling about

22:17 Behold, the Lord will carry thee away with a mighty captivity, and will surely cover thee.

Primitive Root: יַבַל/yä-väl': to flow

#### yä-väl' (v.) to lead, bring; to bear, carry; to produce, bring forth, present, offer

See Lead

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

#### בְּשִׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: סָבַל/sä-väl': to carry

#### אַבַל sä-väl' (v.) to bear, carry, suffer; to be pregnant

- 46:4 And even to your old age I am he; and even to hoar hairs will I carry you; I have made, and I will bear; even I will carry, and will deliver you.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they **carry** him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall **bear** their iniquities.

Primitive Root: פָלט/pä-lät': to slip out

# pä-lät' (v.) to slip away, escape; to deliver, save, rescue; to bring forth

5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.

# **C**AST

Primitive Root: אָרֵשׁ/gä-räsh': to drive out from a possession

#### נֵרשׁ gä-räsh' (v.) to expel, drive away; to be driven, be agitated

See Trouble

Primitive Root: זְרָה /zä-rä': to toss about

#### זְלֵּמֹ zä-rä' (v.) to scatter, disperse; to winnow; to spread out

- 30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven images of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt **cast** them **away** as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.
- 30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that ear the ground shall eat clean provender, which hath been **winnowed** with the shovel and with the fan.

41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.

Primitive Root: אָיַן/yä-näḥ: to deposit

# yä-näḥ (v.) to rest, settle down; to set down, deposit, place; to let remain, leave, abondon

See Leave/Left

Primitive Root: לוּט/lüt: to wrap up

## לוט lüt (v.) to cover over, hide, wrap up; to do secretly

25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.

Primitive Root: מַאַס/mä-äs': to spurn

## mä-äs' (v.) to reject, refuse; to despise, contemn, repudiate; to melt away, dissolve

See Refuse

Primitive Root: מַדָּה/nä-dä': to toss

## וְנְדָּה nä-dä' (v.) to remove; to cast out, expel

66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that **cast** you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.

Primitive Root: נְפֵל/nä-fäl': to fall

# וְבַּבל nä-fäl' (v.) to fall; to fall down, prostrate; to be born; to fall away, sink

See Fall

Primitive Root: סֶלֵל /sä-läl': to mound up

# sä-läl' (v.) to heap up, pile up, cast up; to move to and fro, waver; to extol

57:14 And shall say, Cast ye up, cast ye up, prepare the way, take up the stumbling block out of the way of my people.

62:10 Go through, go through the gates; prepare ye the way of the people; **cast up**, **cast up** the highway; gather out the stones; lift up a standard for the people.

Primitive Root: מוֹשׁן/püts: to dash in pieces

#### אָשְׁ puts (v.) to scatter, disperse; to overflow; to spread out

See Scatter

Primitive Root: אָרַף/tsä-räf': to fuse (metal)

#### צֵרֶף (v.) to melt, smelt, refine; to prove, test, examine; to be purified

See Gold

Primitive Root: רוּד/rüd: to tramp about

#### mä-rüd' (n.) persecution, expulsion; homeless, fugitive

58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are **cast** out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?

Primitive Root: שֵׁלֵח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

## אַלת send out, stretch out, extend; to dismiss, let go, send away; to send word

See Send

Primitive Root: שָׁלַךְ shä-läḥ': to throw out, down or away

# שָׁלַדְּ shä-läḥ' (n.) to throw, cast, cast off; to overthrow, expel

2:20 In that day a man shall **cast** his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which he hath made for himself to worship, to the moles and to the bats;

- 14:19 But thou art **cast out** of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 19:8 The fishers also shall mourn, and all they that **cast** angle into the brooks shall lament, and they that spread nets upon the waters shall languish.
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be **cast out**, and their stink shall come up out of their carcasses, and the mountains shall be melted with their blood.
- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast **cast** all my sins behind thy back.

#### שׁלֶבֶת shäl-le'-ḥeth (n.) a cutting down, felling (of a tree)

6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they **cast** their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.

Primitive Root: שַׁפַּךְ/shä-fäḥ': to spill forth

# אָפַרְּ shä-fäḥ' (v.) to pour, pour out; to shed, spill; to cast up, cast down

See Pour

#### **CEASE**

Primitive Root: חַדַל/hä-däl': to be flabby

# וְחַדֵּל |hä-däl' (v.) to cease, leave off; to refrain, desist, abstain; to quiet, resign

- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 2:22 Cease ye from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?
- 24:8 The mirth of tabrets ceaseth, the noise of them that rejoice endeth, the joy of the harp ceaseth.

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶה /kä-lä': to end

# |kä-lä' (v.) to complete, finish, be ready; to cease; to consume, spend, destroy

See Fail

Primitive Root: שָׁבַת/shä-väth': to repose

# שְׁבַת |shä-väth' (v.) to desist, cease, rest, come to an end; to keep the Sabbath

- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to **cease**, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this proverb against the king of Babylon, and say, How hath the oppressor **ceased**! the golden city **ceased**!
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to **cease**.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall **cease** from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to **cease**.
- 24:8 The mirth of tabrets ceaseth, the noise of them that rejoice endeth, the joy of the harp ceaseth.
- 30:11 Get you out of the way, turn aside out of the path, cause the Holy One of Israel to cease from before us.
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man **ceaseth**; he hath broken the covenant, he hath despised the cities, he regardeth no man.

Primitive Root: תְּמֶם/tä-mäm': to complete

# לְּמֵם |tä-mäm' (v.) to complete, finish; to consume, spend, be gone, perish; to complete, perfect

See Consume

#### **CEDAR**

Primitive Root: אָרָאֹן/ä-räz': to be firm

#### אביז (n.) cedar

- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the **cedars** of Lebanon, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;
- 9:10 The bricks are fallen down, but we will build with hewn stones; the sycamores are cut down, but we will change them into cedars.
- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saving, Since thou art laid down, no feller is come up against us.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall **cedars** thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the **cedar**, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 44:14 He heweth him down **cedars**, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

#### **CHAFF**

Primitive Root: מוּץ/müts: to press

# אָשׁ|mōts (n.) chaff, husk

- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the **chaff** of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 29:5 Moreover the multitude of thy strangers shall be like small dust, and the multitude of the terrible ones shall be as **chaff** that passeth away: yea, it shall be at an instant suddenly.
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt make the hills as **chaff**.

Primitive Root: קַשְׁשׁ /kä-shäsh: to become sapless through drought

#### חשש hä-shäsh' (n.) dry grass, hay, stubble

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the **chaff**, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive **chaff**, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.

# CHAIN

Primitive Root: צָלָכָק zä-näk': to draw together the feet, as in an animal about to spring

# זיקות |zē-kōth' (n.) fetters, chains; burning darts, fiery arrows

See Spark

Primitive Root: נָטְף/nä-täf': to ooze

# נְּטִיפַה |nº-tē-fä' (n.) earrings, pendant of the ear

3:19 The chains, and the bracelets, and the mufflers,

Primitive Root: רָתַק/rä-thäk': to fasten

#### רְתְּקָה |r-thü-kä' (n.) chain

40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.

#### CHALDEA

Primitive Root (patronymically): בְּשֶׂד /kɛ-sɛd': Kesed, a relative of Abraham

# בְּשׁדְּיִם käs-dēm' (prop. n.) Chaldea; (n.) Chaldeans, astrologers, stargazers

- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the **Chaldees'** excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the **Chaldeans**; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the **Chaldeans**, whose cry is in the ships.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the **Chaldeans**; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the **Chaldeans**.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the **Chaldeans**, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.

# CHALKSTONE

Primitive Root: בוּר /kür: from an unused root meaning properly to dig through

#### gēr (n.) lime

27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as **chalkstones** that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.

#### CHANNEL

Primitive Root: אַפַק/ä-fäk': to contain

# אַפִּיק |ä-fēk' (n.) channel, riverbank, bottom; brook, stream

8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, strong and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his **channels**, and go over all his banks;

Primitive Word: שׁבֶּל shō '-vɛl: from an unused root meaning to flow

# אַבֹּלֶת |shē-bō-leth' (n.) ear (of corn), point; branch; stream, water-course

See Ear

# CHARGE

Primitive Root: צְוָה/tsä-vä': to constitute or enjoin

# נצָּוָה ˈtsä-vä' (v.) to constitute, make firm, establish, appoint, arrange; to command, charge, ordain

See Command

# **CHASE**

Primitive Root: גְּדַח,/nä-däḥ': to push off

# חַלַבְּה däḥ (v.) to thrust out, expel; to be driven out, banished; (part.) fugitive, outcast

See Outcast

Primitive Root: רַדָּק/rä-däk: to run after

# רְדָק |rä-däk (v.) to follow, pursue, run after; to chase, drive away, put to flight

See Follow

#### **CHILD**

Primitive Root: בָּנָה/bä-nä': to build

# שבו (n.) son, male descendant; children (male and female)

See Son

Primitive Root: יָלֶד'/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

# יבלד |yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

- 7:14 Therefore the Lord himself shall give you a sign; Behold, a virgin shall conceive, and shall bear a son, and shall call his name Immanuel.
- 8:3 And I went unto the prophetess; and she conceived, and bare a son. Then said the Lord to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 9:6 For unto us a child is **born**, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a **woman that travaileth**; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a **woman that travaileth**; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor **bring forth** children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the **time of her delivery**, is in pain, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were **brought forth** wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive chaff, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.
- 37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of trouble, and of rebuke, and of blasphemy; for the **children** are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.
- 39:7 And of thy sons that shall issue from thee, which thou shall beget, shall they take away; and they shall be eunuchs in the palace of the king of Babylon.
- 42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a **travailing woman**; I will destroy and devour at once.
- 45:10 Woe unto him that saith unto his father, What begettest thou? or to the woman, What hast thou brought forth?
- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my **children**, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?
- 51:18 And there is none to guide her among all the **sons whom she hath brought forth**; neither is there any that taketh her by the hand of all the **sons that she hath brought up**.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with **child**; for more are the **children** of the desolate than the **children** of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it **bring forth** and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they **conceive** mischief, and bring forth iniquity.
- 65:23 They shall not labor in vain, nor **bring forth** for trouble; for they are the seed of the blessed of the Lord, and their offspring with them.
- 66:7 Before she travailed, she brought forth; before her pain came, she was delivered of a man-child.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her **children**.
- 66:9 Shall I bring to the birth, and not cause to bring forth? saith the Lord; shall I cause to bring forth, and shut the womb? saith thy God.

#### יבלד (n.) one born, a child (male); young one; (pl.) children

- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the **children** of strangers.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the **children** whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in mount Zion.

- 9:6 For unto us a **child** is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his **children**, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and draw out the tongue? are ye not **children** of transgression, a seed of falsehood.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaving the **children** in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

Primitive Root: יַנֵק/yä-näk': to suck

#### yä-näk' (v.) to suck, enjoy; to give suck, suckle; (part.) suckling babe; (part.) wet-nurse

See Suck

Primitive Root: גער /nä-är': meaning to growl or tumble about

#### נֵעֶר |nä'-är (n.) child, boy, youth (male); servant

- 3:4 And I will give children unto them to be their princes, and babes shall rule over them.
- 3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the **child** shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.
- 7:16 For before the **child** shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her kings.
- 8:4 For behold, the **child** shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 10:19 And the rest of the trees of his forest shall be few, that a **child** may write them.
- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little **child** shall lead them.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the **young men** to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the womb; their eye shall not spare children.
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, **young** and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the **servants** of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 40:30 Even the youths shall faint and be weary, and the young men shall utterly fall;
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the **child** shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.

Primitive Root: עול (giving milk)

#### עול (v.) to suckle, give milk

- 49:15 Can a woman forget her **sucking child**, that she should not have compassion on the son of her womb? yea, they may forget, yet will I not forget thee.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an **infant** of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.

#### עוֹלל o-lāl' (n.) child, infant, boy

13:16 Their children also shall be dashed to pieces before their eyes; their houses shall be spoiled, and their wives ravished.

Primitive Root: אֶלֵל' ; to effect thoroughly, to glean

# |ä-läl' (v.) to glean; to be petulant; to vex, maltreat; (part.) child, wanton boy

3:12 And as for my people, **children** are their oppressors, and women rule over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.

Primitive Root: שָׁכֹל/shä-ḥōl': to miscarry, and by analogy to bereave

#### אבל shä-hōl' (v.) to become childless; to bereave; to miscarry, be barren

49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have **lost** my **children**, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?

# שְׁכוֹל shº-hol' (adj.) bereavement, childlessness; abandonment

- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the **loss of children**;
- 47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the **loss of children**, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.

# CITY

Primitive Word: possibly from דְּהַב /dɛ-häv', an Aramaic derivation corresponding to אָהָב/zä-häv': an unused root meaning to shimmer

# mäd-hā-vä (n.) gold-making, exactness of gold; storehouse of gold

14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this proverb against the king of Babylon, and say, How hath the oppressor ceased! the **golden city** ceased!

Primitive Root: עור 'ir: to wake, the idea of opening the eyes

#### עִיר (n.) city, town, village, tower, hamlet, capital

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your **cities** are burned with fire; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his prisoners?
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 17:1 The burden of Damascus. Behold, Damascus is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.
- 17:2 The cities of Aroer are forsaken; they shall be for flocks, which shall lie down, and none shall make them afraid.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong **cities** be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the children of Israel; and there shall be desolation.
- 19:2 And I will set the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall fight everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; **city** against **city**, and kingdom against kingdom.
- 19:18 In that day shall five **cities** in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The **city** of destruction.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the **city**, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make sweet melody, sing many songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is smitten with destruction.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed **city** shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the **city** shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 32:19 When it shall hail, coming down on the forest; and the city shall be low in a low place.
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath broken the covenant, he hath despised the **cities**, he regardeth no
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this **city** shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:13 Where is the king of Hamath, and the king of Arpad? and the king of the city of Sepharvaim, Hena, and Ivah?

- 37:26 Hast thou not heard long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed **cities** into ruinous heaps.
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this **city**, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.
- 37:34 By the way that he came, by the same shall he return, and shall not come into this city, saith the Lord.
- 37:35 For I will defend this city to save it for mine own sake, and for my servant David's sake.
- 38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the **cities** thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the **cities** of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my **city**, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy **city**; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate **cities** to be inhabited.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The **city** of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall repair the waste **cities**, the desolations of many generations.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, Zion a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.

Primitive Root: קָרָה/kä-rä': to light upon

# קרְיַה kēr-yä' (n.) town, city

- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The **city** of righteousness the faithful **city**.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 24:10 The city of confusion is broken down; every house is shut up, that no man may come in.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong people glorify thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty **city** he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where David dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and briers; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the **city** of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.

#### **CLEAN**

Primitive Root: וְּכָה/zä-ḥä': to be translucent

# זְבָּה' [zä-ḥä' (v.) to be pure, be innocent, be clean; to be clear or transparent

1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;

Primitive Root: טָהֵר/tä-hār': to be bright

## מְהֹוֹר (n.) clear, pure, clear; unmixed, purified

66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a **clean** vessel into the house of the Lord.

Primitive Root: אֶמֵא /tä-mā': to be foul

# שְׁמֵא [tä-mā' (adj.) impure, unclean (morally or ritually)

See Unclean

Primitive Root: חֲמֵץ/ḥä-māts': to be pungent

# ֹחֲמִיץ hä-mēts' (adj.) salted (provender)

30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that ear the ground shall eat **clean** provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.

Primitive Root: פַרַר/pä-rär': to break up

# pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

See Break

#### **CLEAVE**

Primitive Root: בַּקע/bä-kä': to cleave

# | ļbä-kä' (v.) to cleave, sever; to hatch; to split, rend; to open; to break through

See Hatch

Primitive Root: กุจฺง/sä-fäḥ': to scrape out

#### מְּבֶּח sä-fäḥ' (v.) to be added, to join oneself; to pour out; to be gathered together, assembled

- 3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of Zion, and the Lord will discover their secret parts.
- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall **cleave** to the house of Jacob.

#### **CLOTH**

Primitive Root: בְּלֵד /bä-gäd': to cover (with garment)

# שָּגֶּד'-gɛd (n.) covering, cloth, garment, dress, robe

See Garment

Primitive Root: דָּוָה/dä-vä': to be sick

# לְּנֵה dä-ve' (adj.) languid, sick, unwell; sick of mind, sad; afflicted, wretched

30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven images of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous **cloth**; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.

Primitive Root: בָּסָה/kä-sä': to plump

# מְבַּסֵּה |m²-ḥä-sɛ (n.) covering, garment, clothing; omentum, caul (of intestines)

14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms **cover** thee. 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to eat sufficiently, and for durable **clothing**.

Primitive Root: לֶבֵשׁ /lä-väsh': to wrap around

#### tēl-bō'-sheth (n.) garment תלבשת

59:17 For he put on righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his head; and he put on the garments of vengeance for **clothing**, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.

Primitive Word: perhaps derived from ממל /se'-mel, derived from an unused root meaning to resemble

#### שֹׁמְלָה |sēm-lä' (n.) garment, dress, mantle, cloak

- 3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast **clothing**, be thou our ruler, and let not this ruin come under thy hand;
- 3:7 In that day shall he swear, saying, I will not be a healer; for in my house there is neither bread nor **clothing**; make me not a ruler of the people.
- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and **garments** rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire

#### **CLOTHE**

Primitive Root: לֶבַשׁ/lä-väsh': to wrap around

## לבשׁ lä-väsh' (v.) to wrap up, cover, put on; to dress or clothe oneself

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and **wear** our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 22:21 And I will **clothe** him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely **clothe** thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I **clothe** the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, **put on** strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 59:17 For he **put on** righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his head; and he **put on** the garments of vengeance for clothing, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath **clothed** me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.

#### **CLOUD**

Primitive Root: עוב 'iiv: to be dense or dark

#### שב' (n.) darkness (especially of a cloud); cloud; dark thicket (of wood)

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the **clouds** that they rain no rain upon it.
- 14:14 I will ascend above the heights of the **clouds**; I will be like the Most High.
- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a **cloud** of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift **cloud**, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a **cloud**; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.
- 60:8 Who are these that fly as a cloud, and as the doves to their windows?

Primitive Root: ענר /ä-nän': to cover or cloud over

#### אַנן ä-nän' (n.) cloud, morning cloud; crowd, host

- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a **cloud** and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.

#### COAL

Primitive Word: אַרֶּהֶלֶת /gä-ḥɛ 'lɛth: from an unused root meaning to glow or kindle

## אַקלת ˈgä-ḥɛ'lɛth (n.) burning coal; lightning

- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the **coals** thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a **coal** to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.

Primitive Word: ๒๓๑/pɛ-ḥäm': perhaps from an unused root probably meaning to be black

## pɛ-ḥäm' (n.) coal, live coal

- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the **coals**, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the **coals** in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the waster to destroy.

Primitive Root: שָׂרֵף/sä-räf': to be on fire

## רְצְפַּה /rēts-pä' (n.) baking stone

6:6 Then flew one of the seraphim unto me, having a live coal in his hand, which he had taken with the tongs from off the altar;

#### COCKATRICE

Primitive Wrod: צַבַּע/tsɛ'-fä: from an unused root meaning to extrude

## אַבְע (n.) poisonous serpent, basilisk, viper, adder

- 11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a **cockatrice**, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 59:5 They hatch **cockatrice** eggs, and weave the spider's web; he that eateth of their eggs dieth, and that which is crushed breaketh out into a viper.

#### Comfort

Primitive Root: לֶבֶב /lä-väv': to be enclosed

#### ולב (n.) heart; soul, life; senses, emotion, affection

See Heart

Primitive Root: נַחַם/nä-ḥäm': to sigh

## וֹנְחַם | nä-ḥäm' (v.) to lament, grieve, pity, be sorry; to feel repentant; to take vengeance;

- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will **ease** me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O Lord, I will praise thee; though thou wast angry with me, thine anger is turned away, and thou **comfortedst** me.
- 22:4 Therefore said I, Look away from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to **comfort** me, because of the spoiling of the daughter of my people.
- 40:1 **Comfort** ye, **comfort** ye my people, saith your God.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath **comforted** his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall **comfort** Zion; he will **comfort** all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that **comforteth** you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a man that shall die, and of the son of man which shall be made as grass;
- 51:19 These two sons are come unto thee; they shall be sorry for thee, thy desolation, and destruction, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I **comfort** thee?

- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath **comforted** his people, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not **comforted**, behold, I will lay thy stones with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.
- 57:6 Among the smooth stones of the stream is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou poured a drink offering, thou hast offered a meat offering. Should I receive **comfort** in these?
- 61:2 To proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;
- 66:13 As one whom his mother comforteth, so will I comfort you; and ye shall be comforted in Jerusalem.

## nē-ḥüm' (n.) consolation; pity, mercy

57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.

#### COMMAND

Primitive Root: צְּוָה/tsä-vä': to constitute or enjoin

## נצוֹה to constitute, make firm, establish, appoint, arrange; to command, charge, ordain

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also **command** the **clouds** that they rain no rain upon it.
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a **charge**, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 13:3 I have **commanded** my sanctified ones, I have also called my mighty ones, for mine anger is not upon them that rejoice in my highness.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a **commandment** against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath **commanded**, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in **order**; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the work of my hands **command** ye me.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created man upon it; I, even my hands, have stretched out the heavens, and all their hosts have I **commanded**.
- 48:5 I have even from the beginning declared it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath **commanded** them.
- 55:4 Behold, I have given him for a witness to the people, a leader and commander to the people.

#### מצוַה mēts-vä' (n.) command, precept, law; prohibition

- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the **precept** of men:
- 36:21 But they held their peace, and answered him not a word; for the king's commandment was, saying, Answer him not.
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my **commandments**! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea;

#### COMPANION

Primitive Root: תַּבַר/hä-vär': to join

## ְּחֲבֵּר [ḥä-vār' (n.) associate, companion, fellow

- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and **companions** of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 44:11 Behold, all his **fellows** shall be ashamed; and the workmen, they are of men; let them all be gathered together, let them stand up; yet they shall fear, and they shall be ashamed together.

#### Compare

Primitive Root: מַשָּׁל/mä-shäl': to liken

## מְשֵׁל|mä-shäl' (v.) to make like, assimilate; to use a proverb or parable; to compare, liken

14:10 All they shall speak and say unto thee, Art thou also become weak as we? art thou become like unto us?

46:5 To whom will ye liken me, and make me equal, and compare me, that we may be like?

Primitive Root: ערף/ä-räḥ': to set in a row

## אַרַדְ |ä-räḥ' (v.) to set in order, prepare, arrange; to draw together, muster; to estimate, compare

See Prepare

#### COMPASSION

Primitive Root: רָתַם/rä-ḥäm': to fondle

## רֶחֶם rä-ḥäm' (v.) to love; to have compassion, pity, tenderness, or love; to have mercy

See Mercy

## CONCEIVE

Primitive Root: הַרָה/hä-rä': to be or become pregnant

## הָּרָה |hä-rä' (v.) to conceive, be or become pregnant; to conceive (of mind), plan, devise

- 8:3 And I went unto the prophetess; and she **conceived**, and bare a son. Then said the Lord to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 26:18 We have **been with child**, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive chaff, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they **conceive** mischief, and bring forth iniquity.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, **conceiving** and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.

#### hä-rε' (n.) pregnant

See Woman

#### **CONFIRM**

Primitive Root: קוֹם:küm: to rise

#### קלם (v.) to arise, stand up, appear, rise against; to exist, subsist, endure; to erect, raise up

See Rise (Up)

## CONFOUNDED

Primitive Root: ป่าป/büsh: to pale

## שושלו bush (v.) to be or feel ashamed; to be troubled, confounded, confused

See Ashamed

Primitive Root: חֲבֶר/ḥä-fār': to blush

#### חַבֶּר |hä-fār' (v.) to turn red, be ashamed; to be disappointed

- 1:29 For they shall be ashamed of the oaks which ye have desired, and ye shall be confounded for the gardens that ye have chosen.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall **be confounded**, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is **ashamed** and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.

54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be ashamed; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be **put to shame**; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy widowhood anymore.

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶם/kä-läm': to wound

## kä-läm' (v.) to be insulted, be disgraced; to put to shame, feel shame; to reproach, chide, revile

- 41:11 Behold, all they that were incensed against thee shall be ashamed and **confounded**; they shall be as nothing; and they that strive with thee shall perish.
- 45:16 They shall be ashamed, and also confounded, all of them; they shall go to confusion together, that are makers of idols.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not **be confounded**; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be ashamed; neither be thou **confounded**; for thou shalt not be put to shame; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy widowhood anymore.

#### **CONFUSE**

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶם/kä-läm': to wound

## בְּלְמָּה kε-lēm-mä' (n.) shame, reproach

- 30:3 Therefore shall the strength of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.
- 45:16 They shall be ashamed, and also confounded, all of them; they shall go to confusion together, that are makers of idols.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from **shame** and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for **confusion** they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; everlasting joy shall be unto them.

Primitive Root: רְעִשׁ/rä-äsh': to undulate

## Confused Noise/Quaking/Earthquake (רְעָשׁ räʾ-äsh: derived from רְעָשׁ rä-äshʾ)

See Noise

Primitive Root: תֹהוֹן tō'-hü: from an unused root meaning to lie waste

## תהו (adv.) in vain tō'-hü (n.) wasteness, desolateness, desolation, desert; emptiness, vain; (adv.) in vain

See Vain

#### CONGREGATION

Primitive Root: יָעָד/yä-äd': to fix upon

## מועד |mō-ād' (n.) fixed or appointed time, season, or festival; assembly, meeting, festive gathering

See Feast

#### Consider

Primitive Root: בְּץ |bēn: to separate mentally, to distinguish

## שבין ben (v.) to discern, perceive, understand; to be prudent, be intelligent; to consider

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.
- 5:21 Woe unto the wise in their own eyes, and **prudent** in their own sight!
- 6:9 And he said, Go, and tell this people, Hear ye indeed, but they understood not; and see ye indeed, but they perceived not.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and **understand** with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.

- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am **prudent**, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall **consider** thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to tremble, that did shake kingdoms;
- 28:9 Whom shall he teach knowledge? and whom shall he make to **understand** doctrine? them that are weaned from the milk, and drawn from the breasts.
- 28:19 From the time that it goeth forth it shall take you; for morning by morning shall it pass over, by day and by night; and it shall be a vexation only to **understand** the report.
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their **prudent** men shall be hid.
- 29:16 Surely your turning of things upside down shall be esteemed as the potter's clay: for shall the work say of him that made it, He made me not? or shall the thing framed say of him that framed it, He had no **understanding**?
- 32:4 The heart also of the rash shall understand knowledge, and the tongue of the stammerers shall be ready to speak plainly.
- 40:14 With whom took he counsel, and who **instructed** him, and taught him in the path of judgment, and taught him knowledge, and showed to him the way of understanding?
- 40:21 Have ye not known? have ye not heard? Hath it not been told you from the beginning? have ye not **understood** from the foundations of the earth?
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and **understand** that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 43:18 Remember ye not the former things, neither consider the things of old.
- 44:18 They have not known nor **understood**; for he hath shut their eyes, that they cannot see; and their hearts, that they cannot **understand**.
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they **consider**.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never have enough, and they are shepherds that cannot **understand**; they all look to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none **considering** that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.

Primitive Root: גַבֶּט/nä-vät': to scan, look intently at

#### וֹבַט |nä-vät' (v.) to look; to behold, regard, see, respect

See Look

Primitive Root: רַאַה'/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

Primitive Root: שוֹרם/süm: to put

## שוּם |süm (v.) to put, set, place, dispose, set in array; to plant, beget; constitute, erect; to lay down; to appoint

See Put

#### **CONSUME**

Primitive Root: בֶּלָה/kä-lä': to end

בלה kä-lä' (v.) to complete, finish, be ready; to cease; to consume, spend, destroy

See Fail

Primitive Root: מוּגע/müg: to melt

## müg (v.) to melt, dissolve; to tremble, fear, shake; to cause to flow down, soften

See Dissolve

Primitive Root: ๆาป/süf: to snatch away

#### างประเภ (v.) to be at an end, cease, vanish, perish; to bring to an end, destroy

66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be **consumed** together, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: סֶבּה/sä-fä': to scrape

#### קצה sä-fä' (v.) to take off, scrape off, shave; to destroy; to perish; to add, augment

See Add

Primitive Root: רְפַה /rä-fä': to slacken

## רְבַּמָּה [ṛɑ̃-fa' (v.) to be slack, be weary, be feeble; to let fall, relax; to let alone, abandon

See Faint

## ְּלַבְּטֶם |tä-mäm' (v.) to complete, finish; to consume, spend, be gone, perish; to complete, perfect

- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are **consumed** out of the land.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is **perfect**, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.
- 33:1 Woe to thee that spoilest, and thou wast not spoiled; and dealest treacherously, and they dealt not treacherously with thee! when thou shalt **cease** to spoil, thou shalt be spoiled; and when thou shalt make an end to deal treacherously, they shall deal treacherously with thee.

#### CONTEND

Primitive Root: נֵצָה/nä-tsä': to go forth

#### mäts-tsüth' (n.) contention, quarrel, strife

41:12 Thou shalt seek them, and shalt not find them, even them that **contended** with thee; they that war against thee shall be as nothing, and as a thing of naught.

Primitive Root: רִיב|rēv: to toss

## רָנב |rev (v.) to contend, strive, plead; to quarrel, strive, contend

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, **plead** for the widow.
- 3:13 The Lord standeth up to **plead**, and standeth to judge the people.
- 27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.
- 45:9 Woe unto him that **striveth** with his Maker! Let the potsherd **strive** with the potsherds of the earth. Shall the clay say to him that fashioneth it, What makest thou? Or thy work, He hath no hands?
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will **contend** with them that **contend** with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will **contend** with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that **pleadeth** the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 57:16 For I will not **contend** forever, neither will I be always wroth; for the spirit should fail before me, and the souls which I have made.

#### CONTRITE

Primitive Root: אָדָּכָא/dä-ḥä': to crumble

#### לְּבָּא dä-ḥä' (v.) to be oppressed, be broken; to break in pieces, crush; to be bruised, be smitten

See Bruise

Primitive Root: גָּבֶה/nä-ḥɛ: unknown root

## nä-ḥɛ' (adj.) smitten, afflicted

66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a **contrite** spirit, and trembleth at my word.

#### Convert

Primitive Root: הַבּף/hä-fäḥ': to turn about or over

#### קבּף|hä-fäḥ' (v.) to turn or turn back, convert, change; to pervert; to overrun, overthrow

See Turn

Primitive Root: שׁוּב/shüv: to turn back or away

#### shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

## CORMORANT

Primitive Root: קיא kē or קוּא/קוּא; to vomit

## קאַת kä-äth' (n.) pelican; cormorant

34:11 But the **cormorant** and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.

#### CORN

Primitive Root: בָּנָה/bä-nä': to build

## שבן ben (n.) son, male descendant; children (male and female); corn

See Son

Primitive Root: דְּגָה'/dä-gä': to move rapidly

#### לְלֵן dä-gän' (n.) corn, grain

36:17 Until I come and take you away to a land like your own land, a land of corn and wine, a land of bread and vineyards.

62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy **corn** to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;

Primitive Root: קוֹם/küm: to rise

## קמָה |kä-mä' (n.) stalk, grain in the stalk, standing corn

See Grow

#### CORNER

Primitive Root: פְּבַף/kä-näf': to project laterally

## |לַנַף|kä-näf' (v.) to cover over oneself, to hide oneself away

See Remove

## לְּנָף kä-näf' (n.) wing; (dual) pair of wings

See Wing

Primitive Word: אָבוֹ pān: from an unused root meaning to turn

## pēn-nä' (n.) corner, cornerstone; pinnacle; prince, chief, pillar

See Stone

#### **CORPSE**

Primitive Root: פָּגַר/pä-gär': to relax

## שְגֵּר (n.) carcass, corpse, dead body

See Carcass

#### Corrupt

Primitive Root: בֶּלָה'/bä-lä': to fail

## בְּלִי [b<sup>ε</sup>-lē' (adv.) consumption, destruction, nothingness; failure, defect, nothing

14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and **none** hindereth. 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of **corruption**, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy back.

Primitive Root: שֶׁחַת/shä-ḥäth': to decay

## אֶּחַת |shä-ḥäth' (v.) to be spoiled, be corrupted, be marred; to be laid waste; to destroy, kill, corrupt, mar

See Destroy

#### COTTAGE

Primitive Root: לוּן/lün: to stop

## מְלוּנָה |m<sup>ε</sup>-lü-nä' (n.) booth, night hut; suspended bed, hammock

See Lodge

Primitive Root: סְחַרְּ /sä-ḥäḥ': to entwine as a screen

#### סבה |sük-kä' (n.) booth, hut, arbor, tent, house, covert; lair

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a **tabernacle** for a shadow in the daytime from the heat, and for a place of refuge, and for a covert from storm and from rain.

#### Counsel

Primitive Root: אֵבְעֹי /ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

#### אַלשׁ (n.) man; human, mankind; follower, companion; anyone, someone

See Man

Primitive Root: יָצֵץ/yä-äts': to advise

## יַצְץ /yä-äts' (v.) to advise, counsel, admonish; to decree, direct, resolve; to predict, declare

- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy **counselors** as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.
- 7:5 Because Syria, Ephraim, and the son of Remaliah, have taken evil counsel against thee, saying,
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, **Counselor**, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 14:24 The Lord of hosts hath sworn, saying, Surely as I have thought, so shall it come to pass; and as I have **purposed**, so shall it stand:
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is **purposed** upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise **counselors** of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient kings?

- 19:12 Where are they? where are thy wise men? and let them tell thee now, and let them know what the Lord of hosts hath **purposed** upon Egypt.
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of hosts, which he hath **determined** against it.
- 23:8 Who hath taken this **counsel** against Tyre, the crowning city, whose merchants are princes, whose traffickers are the honorable of the earth?
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he **deviseth** wicked devices to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 32:8 But the liberal deviseth liberal things; and by liberal things shall he stand.
- 40:14 With whom took he **counsel**, and who instructed him, and taught him in the path of judgment, and taught him knowledge, and showed to him the way of understanding?
- 41:28 For I beheld, and there was no man; even among men, and there was no **counselor**, that, when I asked of them, could answer a word.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take **counsel** together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.

## אַצַה (n.) counsel, advice; consultation; purpose, project, plan; wisdom, prudence

- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his work, that we may see it; and let the **counsel** of the Holy One of Israel draw nigh and come, that we may know it!
- 8:10 Take counsel together, and it shall come to naught; speak the word, and it shall not stand; for God is with us.
- 11:2 And the Spirit of the Lord shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of **counsel** and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord;
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is purposed upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 16:3 Take **counsel**, execute judgment; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the **counsel** thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the **counsel** of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient kings?
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the **counsel** of the Lord of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy **counsels** of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to hide their **counsel** from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take **counsel**, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;
- 36:5 I say, thy words are but vain when thou sayest, I have **counsel** and strength for war. Now, on whom dost thou trust that thou rebellest against me?
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the **counsel** of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 46:10 Declaring the end from the beginning, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My **counsel** shall stand, and I will do all my pleasure;
- 46:11 Calling a ravenous bird from the east, the man that executeth my **counsel** from a far country; yea, I have spoken it, I will also bring it to pass; I have purposed it, I will also do it.
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the multitude of thy **counsels**. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the monthly prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.

#### COUNT

Primitive Root: חֵשֶׁב/ḥä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

#### חַשְׁב hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

See Esteem

Primitive Root: קְבַּר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

## sä-fär' (v.) to write, inscribe; to number, count, measure; to tell; (part.) writer, scribe

See Scribe

#### COUNTENANCE

Primitive Root: פְּנָה/pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

## pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (with prefixes) before, etc.

See Face

#### COUNTRY

Primitive Root: אַרָץ -rɛts: an unused root probably meaning to be firm

## אָרֵץ (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See also Earth, Ground, Land, World (separated for convenience)

- 1:7 Your **country** is desolate, your cities are burned with fire; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 8:9 Associate yourselves, O ye people, and ye shall be broken in pieces; and give ear, all ye of far **countries**; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces.
- 13:5 They come from a far **country**, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 22:18 He will surely violently turn and toss thee like a ball into a large **country**; there shalt thou die, and there the chariots of thy glory shall be the shame of thy lord's house.
- 37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far **country** unto me, even from Babylon.
- 46:11 Calling a ravenous bird from the east, the man that executeth my counsel from a far **country**; yea, I have spoken it, I will also bring it to pass; I have purposed it, I will also do it.

## Courage

Primitive Root: חָזֵק/ḥä-zäk': to fasten upon

## ְחְיַּכְּק |hְä-zäk' (v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

See Take Hold

#### Court

Primitive Root: חֲצַר/ḥä-tsär': to surround with a stockade

## הְשֵּׁבּר' (n.) court, yard; village, hamlet, country village, enclosure, fence, camp

- 1:12 When ye come to appear before me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread my courts?
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the **villages** that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall eat it, and praise the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the **courts** of my holiness.

#### COVER

Primitive Root: יֵצְטִ'/yä-ät': to clothe

## יַעָט |yä-ät' (v.) to clothe

61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath **covered** me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.

Primitive Root: בַּּסֶה/kä-sä': to plump

## בּסָה kä-sä' (v.) to cover, conceal; to clothe; to cover skin, forgive; to keep secret

- 6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he **covered** his face, and with twain he **covered** his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters **cover** the sea.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more **cover** her slain.
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he **covered**.
- 37:1 And it came to pass, when king Hezekiah heard it, that he rent his clothes, and **covered** himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the Lord.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, **covered** with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have **covered** thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou **cover** him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become garments, neither shall they **cover** themselves with their works; their works are works of iniquity, and the act of violence is in their hands.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall **cover** the earth, and gross darkness the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall **cover** thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.

## בסות |k<sup>ε</sup>-süth' (n.) covering, veiling, cover over; garment

50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their **covering**.

#### מְבְּטֶּה |m<sup>ε</sup>-ḥä-se (n.) covering, garment, clothing; omentum, caul (of intestines)

See Cloth

Primitive Root: לוּט/lüt: to wrap up

#### לוֹט |lōt (n.) covering, veil

25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.

Primitive Root: מָּלֶרְתּ /nä-säḥ': to pour out

#### וְבַּקְרְ |nä-säḥ' (v.) to pour out, make libation; to cast (of metal); to anoint, consecrate, appoint

See Melt

#### מסכה mä-sā-ḥä' (n.) foundation, fusion, cast; molten or cast image

- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 28:20 For the bed is shorter than that a man can stretch himself on it; and the covering narrower than that he can wrap himself in it.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a **covering**, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;
- 30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven **images** of silver, and the ornament of thy **molten images** of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall be greatly ashamed, that trust in graven images, that say to the **molten images**, Ye are our gods.

Primitive Root: קֶּבֶּן/sä-ḥäḥ': to entwine as a screen

## מְסָדְ mä-säḥ' (n.) covering

22:8 And he discovered the covering of Judah, and thou didst look in that day to the armor of the house of the forest.

Primitive Root: עֲטָה/ä-tä': to wrap

## אָטָה' |ä-tä' (v.) to cover, veil; to wrap up, roll or fold up, put on; to clothe oneself

22:17 Behold, the Lord will carry thee away with a mighty captivity, and will surely cover thee.

59:17 For he put on righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his head; and he put on the garments of vengeance for clothing, and was **clad** with zeal as a cloak.

Primitive Root: צֶּבֶּה /tsä-fä': to sheet over

## צפּף (n.) overlay, metal laid over, coating

30:22 Ye shall defile also the **covering** of thy graven images of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.

## COVERT

Primitive Root: סֶתֵר/sä-thär': to hid (by covering)

## מסתור mēs-tōr' (n.) hiding place, refuge

4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a shadow in the daytime from the heat, and for a place of refuge, and for a **covert** from storm and from rain.

## |sā-ther' or סְתְּרָה |sēth-rä' (n.) a covering, veil; shelter, hiding place, protection; a secret

See Secret

#### **CRANE**

Primitive Word: סוֹס /süs: from an unused root meaning to skip (for joy)

## שוּס |süs (n.) horse, warhorse; crane, swallow

See Horse

## Crib

Primitive Root: אָבַס/ä-väs': to fodder

## אבוּס |ā-vüs' (n.) stable, stall, crib, manger

1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.

## Crimson

Primitive Root: יָלֵע/yä-lä': to blurt or utter without consideration

## תּוֹבְע |tō-lä' (n.) worm, insect, vermin, coccus worm; scarlet, scarlet color

See Worm

## CRUEL

Primitive Root: אַכָּזָר/aḥ-zär': derived from an unused root meaning to act harshly

## אַכְזָרִי aḥ-zär-rē' (adj.) harsh, cruel, hard

13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, **cruel** both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.

Primitive Root: קָּשָׁה/kä-shä': meaning to be dense

## קשׁת kä-shɛ' (adj.) hard, difficult, cruel, severe, unfeeling; firm, fast, hardened, inflexible

See Grieve

#### Cry

Primitive Root: זָעָק/zä-äk': to shriek

## zä-äk' (v.) to cry out, exclaim, lament; to implore; to call together, assemble

- 14:31 Howl, O gate; **cry**, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 15:4 And Heshbon shall **cry**, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 15:5 My heart shall **cry out** for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of destruction.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in pain, and **crieth out** in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy **cry**; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.
- 57:13 When thou **criest**, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

#### זְעָק |zä-äk' (n.) outcry, complaint, lamentation

- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a **cry** of destruction.
- 15:8 For the cry is gone round about the borders of Moab; the howling thereof unto Eglaim, and the howling thereof unto Beer-elim.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in Jerusalem, and joy in my people; and the voice of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the voice of **crying**.

Primitive Root: עְנֵה 'i to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

## "מועבה" (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

See Answer

Primitive Root: פָּעָה/pä-ä': to scream

## פְּעָה' pä-ä' (v.) to call, cry out, groan; to blow, pant

42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and devour at once.

Primitive Root: צַהַל/tsä-häl': to gleam

## נהל (v.) to shout for joy, cry out, rejoice, exult; to neigh; to make shrill

- 10:30 Lift up thy voice, O daughter of Gallim; cause it to be heard unto Laish, O poor Anathoth.
- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and **cry aloud**, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: צֵוֹח/tsä-väḥ': to screech (exultantly)

#### צוַחָה |ts<sup>ε</sup>-vä-ḥä' (n.) outcry, shout for joy or sorrow

24:11 There is a **crying** for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.

Primitive Root: צַעָק/tsä-äk': to shriek

## צְעַקּ |tsä-äk' (v.) to cry out, call out, complain, cry for help

- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall **cry** unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 33:7 Behold, their valiant ones shall **cry** without; the ambassadors of peace shall weep bitterly.
- 42:2 He shall not **cry**, nor lift up, nor cause his voice to be heard in the street.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall **cry** unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall **cry** for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

#### אַעָקה (n.) a cry, crying

5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a **cry**.

Primitive Root: קָרָא/kä-rä': to call out to

#### קרא |kä-rä' (v.) to cry out, proclaim, pronounce, preach, roar; to call, summon; to name; to recite

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete]

- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 6:4 And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that **cried**, and the house was filled with smoke.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge **to cry**, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 21:8 And he cried, A lion; My lord, I stand continually upon the watchtower in the daytime, and I am set in my ward whole nights;
- 30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall **cry** to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and **cried** with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and **cry** unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 40:3 The voice of him that **crieth** in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the desert a highway for our God.
- 40:6 The voice said, **Cry**. And he said, What shall I **cry**? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field; 58:1 **Cry** aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.

Primitive Root: רוּע/rü-ä': to mar

## רוּע ; rü-ä' (v.) to be evil; to shout with joy; to raise a cry, be noise; to sound a trump or alarm

See Shout

Primitive Root: רֵנֵן/rä-nän': to creak

## רְבָּה |rēn-nä' (n.) shouting for joy, rejoicing, exultation

See Sing

Primitive Root: שַׁנַע/shä-vä': to be free

## אוע shä-vä' (v.) to cry for help, implore help, ask for aid

58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt **cry**, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity;

## שׁוּעַ shō'-ä (adj.) opulent, rich; liberal, noble, generous; cry for help

- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of **crying** to the mountains.
- 32:5 The vile person shall be no more called liberal, nor the churl said to be bountiful.

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵע /shä-ä': to look upon (with complacency)

## שְׁעַע |shä-ä' (v.) to besmeared (on eyes), blind; to delight, make glad; to caress; to play

- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and **shut** their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.
- 29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be **dandled** upon her knees.

#### **CURSE**

Primitive Root: אָלָה'/ä-lä': to adjure

## אַלָה' |ä-lä' (n.) oath, swearing; imprecation, curse

24:6 Therefore hath the **curse** devoured the earth, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are burned, and few men left.

Primitive Root: חֲרֵם/ḥä-räm': to seclude

#### וֹחֵלְם (n.) enticement; curse, extermination, thing or person devoted to utter destruction

34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the people of my **curse**, to judgment.

43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.

Primitive Root: קלל/kä-läl': to be or make light

## |kä-läl' (v.) to be small, be light; to be swift; to esteem lightly; to revile, curse

See Afflict

Primitive Root: שָׁבַע/shä-vä': to be complete

## שבועה |sh<sup>ε</sup>-vü-ä' (n.) oath, swearing; curse

65:15 And ye shall leave your name for a **curse** unto my chosen; for the Lord God shall slay thee, and call his servants by another name;

#### **CUSH**

Primitive Word: בּוֹשׁ/küsh: probably of foreign origin

#### ี่ küsh (prop. n.) Cush, Ethiopia

See Ethiopia

#### **CUT**

Primitive Root: בַּצַע/bä-tsä': to break off

#### [Eä-tsä' (v.) to break, cut in pieces; to tear in pieces, spoil; to perfect, complete, finish

- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath **performed** his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will **cut** me **off** with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.

Primitive Root: גְּדַע/gä-dä': to fell a tree

#### gä-dä' (v.) to hew down, fell; to cut down; to destroy; to break into pieces

- 9:10 The bricks are fallen down, but we will build with hewn stones; the sycamores are **cut down**, but we will change them into cedars.
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be **hewn down**, and the haughty shall be humbled.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou **cut down** to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 15:2 He is gone up to Bajith, and to Dibon, the high places, to weep; Moab shall howl over Nebo, and over Medeba; on all their heads shall be baldness, and every beard **cut off**.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be **cut down**, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the crooked places straight; I will break in pieces the gates of brass, and **cut in sunder** the bars of iron;

Primitive Root: אַלַן /gä-zär': to cut down or off

## מַבּל |gä-zär' (v.) to cut, divide; to fell; to devour, consume; to decree

- 9:20 And he shall **snatch** on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat every man the flesh of his own arm;
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was **cut off** out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.

Primitive Root: דָּמָה'/dä-mä': to be dumb or silent

## לְּמִי (n.) quiet, rest, stillness

See Rest

Primitive Root: חֲצֵב, /ḥä-tsäv': to cut or carve

## ְּחַצְב |hä-tsäv' (v.) to cut, hew, split; to slay, kill

See Hew

Primitive Root: אַכַּעַרוֹ/kä-säḥ': to cut off

#### אַבַּקּאוֹ (v.) to cut off, to cut down

33:12 And the people shall be as the burnings of lime; as thorns cut up shall they be burned in the fire.

Primitive Root: בַּרַת /kä-räth': to cut (off, down or asunder)

#### בָּרָת |kä-räth' (v.) to cut, cut off; to maim, castrate; to kill, root out, destroy; to cut down, fell

- 9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.
- 10:7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to destroy and cut off nations not a few.
- 11:13 The envy also of Ephraim shall depart, and the adversaries of Judah shall be **cut off**; Ephraim shall not envy Judah, and Judah shall not vex Ephraim.
- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saying, Since thou art laid down, no feller is come up against us.
- 14:22 For I will rise up against them, saith the Lord of hosts, and **cut off** from Babylon the name, and remnant, and son, and nephew, saith the Lord.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both **cut off** the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be **cut off**; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have **made** a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will **cut down** the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 44:14 He **heweth** him **down** cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.
- 48:9 For my name's sake will I defer mine anger, and for my praise will I refrain for thee, that I cut thee not off.
- 48:19 Thy seed also had been as the sand, and the offspring of thy bowels like the gravel thereof; his name should not have been **cut off** nor destroyed from before me.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will **make** an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the brier shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be **cut off**.
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name better than of sons and of daughters; I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be **cut off**.
- 57:8 Behind the doors also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and **made** thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou sawest it.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will **make** an everlasting covenant with them.

Primitive Root: מָקָר/nä-käf': to strike with more or less violence

## אבקר nä-käf' (v.) to go round, move in a circle; to cut down, fell; to destroy

10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.

15:8 For the cry is **gone round about** the borders of Moab; the howling thereof unto Eglaim, and the howling thereof unto Beerelim.

29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where David dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.

Primitive Root: עָרַף/ä-räf': to bend downward

#### ערף ä-räf' (v.) to break the neck (of an animal)

66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he **cut off a** dog's **neck**; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

Primitive Root: קבּר/kä-fäd': to contract

## אָפְבּד |kä-fäd' (v.) to make shrink, roll up; to cut off

38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have **cut off** like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.

Primitive Root: אָדָן/tä-zäz': to lop off

#### לְּלֵאָן tä-zäz' (v.) to cut off

18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and **cut down** the branches.

#### **CYPRESS**

Primitive Root: רְזָה/rä-zä': to emaciate

#### תְּרְזָּה ter-zä' (n.) species of oak, possibly a cypress

44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the **cypress** and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

#### **CYRUS**

Primitive Word: בּוֹרָשׁ /kō'-rɛsh: from a Persian origin

## בּוֹרֶשׁ |kō'-rɛsh (prop. n.) Cyrus

- 44:28 That saith of **Cyrus**, He is my shepherd, and shall perform all my pleasure; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to **Cyrus**, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;

## WORD-LINKS "D"

#### **DAMASCUS**

Primitive Word: דַּמֶּשֶׂק/däm-me'-sɛk: of foreign origin

## דַּמֶּשֶׂק däm-me'-sek (prop. n.) Damascus

- 7:8 For the head of Syria is **Damascus**, and the head of **Damascus** is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall Ephraim be broken, that it be not a people.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of **Damascus** and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 10:9 Is not Calno as Carchemish? Is not Hamath as Arpad? is not Samaria as **Damascus**?
- 17:1 The burden of **Damascus**. Behold, **Damascus** is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from **Damascus**, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.

## DANDLE

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵעִע/shä-ä': to look upon (with complacency)

## שׁעַע shä-ä' (v.) to besmeared (on eyes), blind; to delight, make glad; to caress; to play

See Cry

#### Dark

Primitive Word: אֲפֵל /ä-fāl': from an unused root meaning to set as the sun

## אַפַלָה"-fā-lä' (n.) darkness, deep darkness

- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy **darkness** be as the noonday;
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.

Primitive Root: חַשְׁךְ /hä-shäḥ': to be dark, as in withholding light

#### חַשַּׁדְּ |hä-shäḥ' (v.) to be or grow dark; to be obscured

- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is **darkened** in the heavens thereof.
- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the sun shall be **darkened** in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to shine.

#### חשׁדָּ |hō-shɛk' (n.) darkness; misery, ignorance, falsehood

- 5:20 Woe unto them that call evil good, and good evil; that put darkness for light, and light for darkness; that put bitter for sweet, and sweet for bitter!
- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold **darkness** and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 9:2 The people that walked in **darkness** have seen a great light; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 29:18 And in that day shall the deaf hear the words of the book, and the eyes of the blind shall see out of obscurity, and out of darkness.
- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the prisoners from the prison, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.
- 45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of **darkness**, and hidden riches of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the God of Israel.
- 45:7 I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create evil; I the Lord do all these things.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a **dark** place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.

- 49:9 That thou mayest say to the prisoners, Go forth; to them that are in **darkness**, Show yourselves. They shall feed in the ways, and their pastures shall be in all high places.
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy light rise in **obscurity**, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold **obscurity**; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 60:2 For, behold, the **darkness** shall cover the earth, and gross **darkness** the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.

#### חַשְׁכַה |ha-sha-ḥa' (n.) darkness; misery, ignorance, falsehood

- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in **darkness**, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.

## מַחְשָׁדְ |mäḥ-shäḥ' (n.) darkness; obscure or dark place; realm of the dead

- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to hide their counsel from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 42:16 And I will bring the blind by a way that they knew not; I will lead them in paths that they have not known; I will make **darkness** light before them, and crooked things straight. These things will I do unto them, and not forsake them.

Primitive Root: עַרֶב'/ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

## בְּרָב" (v.) to be or grow dark, to obscure; to set (as in the sun); to do at evening

24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.

Primitive Root: עַתַם/ä-thäm': probably meaning to glow

## שְׁתַּם |ä-thäm' (v.) to be burnt; to be parched up

9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of hosts is the land **darkened**, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.

#### DASH

Primitive Root: רְטָשׁ /rä-täsh': to dash down

#### רְטָשׁ|rä-täsh' (v.) to dash to pieces, kill; to prostrate

- 13:16 Their children also shall be dashed to pieces before their eyes; their houses shall be spoiled, and their wives ravished.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall **dash** the young men **to pieces**; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the womb; their eye shall not spare children.

#### **DAUGHTER**

Primitive Root: בֵּנֶה/bä-nä': to build

#### מב bäth (n.) daughter, female descendant; maiden; owl, female offspring

- 10:30 Lift up thy voice, O daughter of Gallim; cause it to be heard unto Laish, O poor Anathoth.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall lie there; and their houses shall be full of doleful creatures; and **owls** shall dwell there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 16:2 For it shall be, that, as a wandering bird cast out of the nest, so the daughters of Moab shall be at the fords of Arnon.
- 22:4 Therefore said I, Look away from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to comfort me, because of the spoiling of the **daughter** of my people.
- 23:10 Pass through thy land as a river, O daughter of Tarshish; there is no more strength in thee.
- 23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more rejoice, O thou oppressed virgin, **daughter** of Zidon; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless **daughters**; give ear unto my speech.
- 34:13 And thorns shall come up in her palaces, nettles and brambles in the fortresses thereof; and it shall be a habitation of dragons, and a court for **owls**.

- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the **daughter** of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the **daughter** of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the south, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my **daughters** from the ends of the earth;
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the **owls**; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin **daughter** of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O **daughter** of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy **daughters** shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name better than of sons and of **daughters**; I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be cut off.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy **daughters** shall be nursed at thy side.

## |bäth-tse-on' (n.) daughter of Zion (separated for convenience)

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the **daughters of Zion** are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the **daughters of Zion**, and the Lord will discover their secret parts.
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the **daughters of Zion**, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the **daughter of Zion**, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the **daughter of Zion**, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the **daughter** of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; arise, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive **daughter of Zion**.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the **daughter of Zion**, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.

#### David

Primitive Root: Tit/düd: from an unused root meaning to boil

#### לוָלִן dä-ved' (prop. n.) David; beloved

- 7:2 And it was told the house of **David**, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 7:13 And he said, Hear ye now, O house of David; Is it a small thing for you to weary men, but will ye weary my God also?
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of **David**, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of **David**, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 22:22 And the key of the house of **David** will I lay upon his shoulder; so he shall open, and none shall shut; and he shall shut, and none shall open.
- 29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where **David** dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.
- 37:35 For I will defend this city to save it for mine own sake, and for my servant David's sake.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of **David** thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of **David**.

## DAY OF THE LORD

Primitive Root: บ่าง yōm: derived from an unused root meaning to be hot

#### יום-יהוָה /yōm ye-hō-vä' (n.) day of the Lord

- 2:12 For the day of the Lord of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and lofty, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be brought low.
- 2:13 Yea, and the **day of the Lord** shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan:
- 13:6 Howl ye; for the day of the Lord is at hand; it shall come as a destruction from the Almighty.
- 13:9 Behold, the **day of the Lord** cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 34:8 For it is the day of the Lord's vengeance, and the year of recompenses for the controversy of Zion.

#### **DEAD**

Primitive Root: מוּת müth': to die

#### müth' (v.) to die, wither, decay; to perish; to slay, kill

See Die

Primitive Root: רְפַא /rä-fä': to mend

## רְפַאִים |r<sup>ε</sup>-fä-ēm' (n.) (pl. only) the dead, the departed; departed spirits, shades

- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the **dead** for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are **deceased**, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou visited and destroyed them, and made all their memory to perish.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the **dead**.

## DEATH

Primitive Root: מוּת müth': to die

## muth' (v.) to die, wither, decay; to perish; to slay, kill

See Die

#### מוֶת mä'-veth (n.) death; Hades, Hell, realm of the dead

See Die

Primitive Roots: combination of צֵל (shadow, derived from צַלֶל) and מוּת (to die)

#### צלמות (n.) shadow of death

9:2 The people that walked in darkness have seen a great light; they that dwell in the land of the **shadow of death**, upon them hath the light shined.

#### **D**EBATE

Primitive Root: נָצָה/nä-tsä': to go forth

## מְצְּה|mäts-tsä' (n.) strife, contention, quarrel

58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and **debate**, and to smite with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high.

Primitive Root: רִיב |rēv: to toss

#### ריב |rev (v.) to contend, strive, plead; to quarrel, strive, contend

See Contend

#### DECEASED

Primitive Root: רְבָּא /rä-fä': to mend

## רְבָּאִים $|r^{\epsilon}$ -fä-ēm' (n.) (pl. only) the dead, the departed; departed spirits, shades

See Dead

#### DECLARE

Primitive Root: אַיַרַע'/yä-dä': to know

#### yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Acknowledge, Learn, Show, Teach, Tell

12:4 And in that day shall ye say, Praise the Lord, call upon his name, **declare** his doings among the people, make mention that his name is exalted.

Primitive Root: עַבֶּד /nä-gäd': to front, as in stand boldly in front

#### nä-gäd' (v.) to show, tell, declare, confess, explain; to proclaim, announce; to make known, betray إيرة

- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth **declare** their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 7:2 And it was **told** the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 19:12 Where are they? where are thy wise men? and let them tell thee now, and let them know what the Lord of hosts hath purposed upon Egypt.
- 21:2 A grievous vision is **declared** unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 21:6 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Go, set a watchman, let him declare what he seeth.
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have heard of the Lord of hosts, the God of Israel, have I **declared** unto you.
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and **told** him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 40:21 Have ye not known? have ye not heard? Hath it not been **told** you from the beginning? have ye not understood from the foundations of the earth?
- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and **show** us what shall happen; let them **show** the former things, what they be, that we may consider them, and know the latter end of them; or declare us things for to come.
- 41:23 **Show** the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and behold it together.
- 41:26 Who hath **declared** from the beginning, that we may know; and beforetime, that we may say, He is righteous? yea, there is none that **showeth**, yea, there is none that declareth, yea, there is none that heareth your words.
- 42:9 Behold, the former things are come to pass, and new things do I declare; before they spring forth I tell you of them.
- 42:12 Let them give glory unto the Lord, and declare his praise in the islands.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can **declare** this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 43:12 I have **declared**, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no strange god among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, that I am God.
- 44:7 And who, as I, shall call, and shall **declare** it, and set it in order for me, since I appointed the ancient people? and the things that are coming, and shall come, let them show unto them.
- 44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee from that time, and have **declared** it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I **declare** things that are right.
- 45:21 **Tell** ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath **told** it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 46:10 **Declaring** the end from the beginning, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall stand, and I will do all my pleasure;
- 48:3 I have **declared** the former things from the beginning; and they went forth out of my mouth, and I showed them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.

- 48:5 I have even from the beginning **declared** it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath commanded them.
- 48:6 Thou hast heard, see all this; and will not ye **declare** it? I have showed thee new things from this time, even hidden things, and thou didst not know them.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath **declared** these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing **declare** ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 57:12 I will **declare** thy righteousness, and thy works; for they shall not profit thee.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and **show** my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall **declare** my glory among the Gentiles.

Primitive Root: אָבֶר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

## סבר |sä-fär' (v.) to write, inscribe; to number, count, measure; to tell; (part.) writer, scribe

See Scribe

Primitive Root: שִׁיחַ sē-äḥ': to ponder

## שִׁיתֵ |sē-äḥ' (v.) to speak, talk; to sign, celebrate, lament, complain; to mediate, consider

53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall **declare** his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.

Primitive Root: שְׁמֵע shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## שמע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

#### DEEP

Primitive Root: הוֹם/hüm: to make an uproar

#### ותהום (n.) wave, water-chaos; great quantity of water, sea, ocean; gulf, abyss, deep

- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the sea, the waters of the great **deep** that hath made the depths of the sea a way for the ransomed to pass over?
- 63:13 That led them through the deep, as a horse in the wilderness, that they should not stumble?

Primitive Root: עָמֵק/ä-mäk': to be or make deep

## אָמֵקי|ä-mäk' (v.) to be deep, be unsearchable, be unfathomable; to deepen

- 7:11 Ask thee a sign of the Lord thy God; ask it either in the depth, or in the height above.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that **seek deep** to hide their counsel from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it **deep** and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 31:6 Turn ye unto him from whom the children of Israel have **deeply** revolted.

#### מַעמַקים mä-<sup>a</sup>-mäk-kēm' (n.) (pl. only) depths; deep places

51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the sea, the waters of the great deep that hath made the **depths** of the sea a way for the ransomed to pass over?

## עָמֵק |ä-māk' (adj.) deep; unintelligible

33:19 Thou shalt not see a fierce people, a people of a deeper speech than thou canst perceive; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.

Primitive Word: צוֹלָה /tsü-lä': from an unused root meaning to sink

#### צולָה (n.) depth of the sea, abyss

44:27 That saith to the deep, Be dry, and I will dry up thy rivers;

Primitive Root: רְדָם/rä-däm': to stun

#### תְּרְדֶּמָה tär-dā-mä' (n.) deep sleep; sleeping, lethargy

29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of **deep sleep**, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.

#### Defend

Primitive Root: בַּצִר/bä-tsär': to clip off

## שבער (v.) to cut off, prohibit; to diminish, shorten; to make steep, fortify

2:15 And upon every people, and upon every high tower, and upon every fenced wall,

- 22:10 And ye have numbered the houses of Jerusalem, and the houses have ye broken down to fortify the wall.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 27:10 Yet the **defensed** city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the **defensed** cities of Judah, and took them.
- 37:26 Hast thou not heard long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste **defensed** cities into ruinous heaps.

Primitive Root: צַּנֵעְ/gä-nän': to hedge about

## |gä-nän' (v.) to cover or cover over; to protect, guard

31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts **defend** Jerusalem; **defending** also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it. 37:35 For I will **defend** this city to save it for mine own sake, and for my servant David's sake.

38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.

Primitive Root: חֲפָה/ḥä-fä': to cover

## חְפַּה |hup-pa' (n.) covering, tent, canopy; bride-chamber

4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a **defense**.

Primitive Root: צוּר /tsür: to cramp

## מְצוֹר or מְצוֹר mä-tsūr' (n.) distress, embarrassment; siege; wall, bulwark, fortress

See Besiege

Primitive Root: שָׁגֶב /sä-gäv': to be lofty

## מְשְׁגְּב mēs-gäv' (n.) height, high place, rock; fortress, protection, refuge

See High

## Defer

Primitive Root: אָרָן/ä-räḥ': to be long

#### ארד |ä-räḥ' (v.) to stretch out, be long; to lengthen, prolong, extend, delay

See Prolong

## **DEFILE**

Primitive Root: אָאַל/gä-äl': to soil or desecrate

## gä-äl' (v.) to be polluted, be defined, be stained; to pollute, stain, make unclean

See Stain

Primitive Root: חֲבֵּף/ḥä-nāf': to soil

## מְנֵף hä-nāf' (v.) to profane, pollute, defile; to be wicked, sin

24:5 The earth also is **defiled** under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, broken the everlasting covenant.

Primitive Root: אָמֵא /tä-mā': to be foul

#### שְׁמֵא tä-mā' (v.) to be unclean (morally or ritually); to pollute, defile, profane

30:22 Ye shall **defile** also the covering of thy graven images of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.

#### DELIGHT

Primitive Root: מָחֶ/ḥä-fāts': to incline to

#### ְּחַבֵּץ[h̪ä-fāts' (v.) to bend, curve; to bow, incline, be favorable; to find pleasure, delight, desire

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I **delight** not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 42:22 [42:21] The Lord is not well **pleased** with such a people, but for his righteousness' sake he will magnify the law and make it honorable.
- 53:10 Yet it **pleased** the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 55:11 So shall my word be that goeth forth out of my mouth; it shall not return unto me void, but it shall accomplish that which I **please**, and it shall prosper in the thing whereto I sent it.
- 56:4 For thus saith the Lord unto the eunuchs that keep my sabbaths, and choose the things that **please** me, and take hold of my covenant:
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and **delight** to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and forsook not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take **delight** in approaching to God.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy land any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy land Union; for the Lord **delighteth** in thee, and thy land shall be married.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I **delighted** not.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul **delighteth** in their abominations.
- 66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their fears upon them; because when I called, none did answer; when I spake, they did not hear; but they did evil before mine eyes, and chose that in which I **delighted** not.

## הְפְצִי׳בָּה |ḥɛph-tsēʾ-bä (pron.) Hephzi-bah

Note: The King James' Version translates this as Hephzi-bah

62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy land any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called **Delightful**, and thy land Union; for the Lord delighteth in thee, and thy land shall be married.

Primitive Root: עָנֵג/ä-näg': to be soft or pliable

## |ä-näg' (v.) to be soft, be delicate; to be luxurious; to deride, mock

- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul **delight** itself in fatness.
- 57:4 Against whom **do** ye **sport** yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and draw out the tongue? are ye not children of transgression, a seed of falsehood.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou **delight** thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 66:11 That ye may suck, and be satisfied with the breasts of her consolations; that ye may milk out, and be **delighted** with the abundance of her glory.

#### ענגג|ō-nɛg' (n.) delights, delicate life, luxury

- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their **pleasant** palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a **delight**, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words;

Primitive Root: רְצַה/rä-tsä': to be pleased with

## רְצָּה' rä-tsä' (v.) to take pleasure in, be pleased, delight; to like, be kind, be gracious; to satisfy, pay off

- 42:1 Behold my servant, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my soul **delighteth**; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the Gentiles.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is **pardoned**; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.

## **DELIVER**

Primitive Root: יֵלֶד'/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

#### ילֵלד |yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: יָשׁע'/yä-shä': to be open

## ישועה /ˈyɛ-shü'-ä (n.) help, deliverance, salvation; victory; welfare

See Salvation

Primitive Root: מֵלַט/mä-lät': to be smooth

## מַלַט|mä-lät' (v.) to escape; to be delivered, be saved, be freed; to let slip, to lay (eggs); to emit (sparks)

- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be delivered from the king of Assyria; and how shall we **escape**?
- 31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts defend Jerusalem; defending also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it.
- 34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be gathered, everyone with her mate.
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the sword; and they **escaped** into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 46:2 They stoop, they bow down together; they could not deliver the burden, but themselves are gone into captivity.
- 46:4 And even to your old age I am he; and even to hoar hairs will I carry you; I have made, and I will bear; even I will carry, and will deliver you.
- 49:24 Shall the prey be taken from the mighty, or the lawful captive delivered?
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be **delivered**; for the mighty God shall **deliver** his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 66:7 Before she travailed, she brought forth; before her pain came, she was delivered of a man-child.

Primitive Root: גָצֵל/nä-tsäl': to snatch away

## nä-tsäl' (v.) to be plucked out, be delivered; to escape; to snatch, deliver

- 5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall **deliver** them.
- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be **delivered** from the king of Assyria; and how shall we escape?
- 31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts defend Jerusalem; defending also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it.
- 36:14 Thus saith the king, Let not Hezekiah deceive you; for he shall not be able to deliver you.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will **surely deliver** us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.

- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will **deliver** us. Hath any of the gods of the nations **delivered** his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:19 Where are the gods of Hamath and Arpad? where are the gods of Sepharvaim? and have they **delivered** Samaria out of my
- 36:20 Who are they among all the gods of these lands, that have **delivered** their land out of my hand, that the Lord should **deliver** Jerusalem out of my hand?
- 37:11 Behold, thou hast heard what the kings of Assyria have done to all lands by destroying them utterly; and shalt thou be delivered?
- 37:12 Have the gods of the nations **delivered** them which my fathers have destroyed, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the children of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none **delivereth**; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.
- 43:13 Yea, before the day was I am he; and there is none that can deliver out of my hand; I will work, and who shall let it?
- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a god, even his graven image; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, **Deliver** me; for thou art my god.
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived heart hath turned him aside, that he cannot **deliver** his soul, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not **deliver** themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away, wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to **deliver**?
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies **deliver** thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

Primitive Root: נְתַּן/nä-thän': to give

## וְאַנוֹן nä-thän' (v.) to give, hand over, yield; to set, place, put; to allow, permit; to make, render

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] see also Direct, Place, Plant

- 29:11 And the vision of all is become unto you as the words of a book that is sealed, which men **deliver** to one that is learned, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I cannot; for it is sealed:
- 29:12 And the book is delivered to him that is not learned, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I am not learned.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath **delivered** them to the slaughter.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be **delivered** into the hand of the king of Assyria.

#### DEPART

Primitive Root: מושׁ/müsh: to withdraw

#### mush (v.) to yield, give way, depart; to remove, take away

See Remove

Primitive Root: נַּסָג/nä-säg': to retreat

#### ונסג nä-säg' (v.) to draw back, depart; to remove, take away; to displace

See Turn

Primitive Root: נָסַע/nä-sä': to pull up

## וְלְסַע |nä-sä' (v.) to pull up, pluck out; to tear out, remove camp, break up (tent); to remove, depart, migrate

- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be **removed**, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and found the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was **departed** from Lachish.
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.

38:12 Mine age is **departed**, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.

Primitive Root: סור /sür: to turn off

## |sür (v.) to turn aside, go away, depart, apostatize; to forsake, to pass away, cease; to take away

See Take Away

#### Deprive

Primitive Root: אָפֶקּדּ /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

#### pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

## DEPTH

Primitive Root: עֲמֵק /ä-mäk': to be or make deep

## אָמֵק |ä-mäk' (v.) to be deep, be unsearchable, be unfathomable; to deepen

See Deep

#### מְעֵמְקּים mä-ä-mäk-kēm' (n.) (pl. only) depths; deep places

See Deep

#### DESCEND

Primitive Root: יֵרָד/yä-räd': to descend

#### ילין yä-räd' (v.) to descend, go down; to fall down, be cast down; to throw down, subdue

See Down

#### DESERT

Primitive Root: דְּבַר/dä-vär': to arrange (figurative, to speak)

## mēd-bär' (n.) pasture, grassland; sterile or sandy country, wilderness, desert

See Wilderness

Primitive Root: חָרֵב /ḥä-räv': to parch

## חָרְבָּה |h̄or-ba' (n.) dryness, dry places, desert; a desolation, a place laid waste, ruins

See Waste

Primitive Root: יָשַׁם/yä-shäm': to lie waste

#### ישימון |v<sup>ε</sup>-shē-mōn' (n.) desert, waste

- 43:19 Behold, I will do a new thing; now it shall spring forth; shall ye not know it? I will even make a way in the wilderness, and rivers in the **desert**.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the **desert**, to give drink to my people, my chosen.

Primitive Root: אָרֶב/ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

#### יבה "a-vä' (n.) arid land, sterile region, desert, wilderness, plain

- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is ashamed and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.
- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb sing; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and streams in the **desert**.

- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the **desert** a highway for our God.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the **desert** the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her **desert** like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.

Primitive Word: צְיַה !tsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

## יניי (n.) dweller of the desert, nomad; Jackal, ostrich, wild beast or bird

See Beast

#### **DESIRE**

Primitive Root: אַנָה/ä-vä': to wish for

## אָנָה' |ä-vä' (v.) to desire, covet, long for

26:9 With my soul have I **desired** thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.

## תֹאַוָה|tä-ä-vä' (n.) desire, longing, wish

26:8 Yea, in the way of thy judgments, O Lord, have we waited for thee; the **desire** of our soul is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee.

Primitive Root: חַמָּד/ḥä-mäd': to delight in

## חָמֵד |ḥä-mäd' (v.) to desire, covet; to delight; (part.) desirable; costly

- 1:29 For they shall be ashamed of the oaks which ye have desired, and ye shall be confounded for the gardens that ye have chosen.
- 44:9 They that make a graven image are all of them vanity; and their **delectable things** shall not profit; and they are their own witnesses; they see not, nor know; that they may be ashamed.
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should **desire** him.

## DESOLATE

Primitive Root: אַשִׁם/ä-shäm': to be guilty

#### אַשְׁם shäm' (v.) to become guilty, fail in duty; to destroy, inflict punishment

24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the earth, and they that dwell therein are **desolate**; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are burned, and few men left.

Primitive Root: בְּדַד /bä-däd': to divide

## שבָּדָד |bä-däd' (n.) separation; (adv.) solitary, separately, alone

27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be **desolate**, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.

Primitive Root: בַּתָּה'/bät-tä': from an unused root meaning to break in pieces

## |bät-tä' (n.) something cut off, precipice, cliff; desolation, ruin, end

7:19 And they shall come, and shall rest all of them in the **desolate** valleys, and in the holes of the rocks, and upon all thorns, and upon all bushes.

Primitive Root: אֵלֶם/gä-läm': to fold

#### גלסוד |gäl-müd' (n.) unfruitful, sterile, barren; desolate, famished

49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am **desolate**, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?

Primitive Root: בַּקָה/nä-kä':to be clean

## nä-kä' (v.) to be pure, be innocent; to let go unpunished, pardon; to be vacant, be empty, be destroyed

3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.

Primitive Root: שָׁאָה /shä-ä': to rush

#### שׁאה shä-ä' (v.) to become desolate; to make a noise; to be laid waste

- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be **wasted** without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly **desolate**.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the **rushing** of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 17:13 The nations shall **rush** like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.

Primitive Root: שׁוֹא /shō: from an unused root meaning to rush over

#### אוֹא shō (n.) roaring, crashing, tumult, storm, tempest; destruction, ruin, desolation

- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of visitation, and in the **desolation** which shall come from far? To whom will ye flee for help? And where will ye leave your glory?
- 47:11 Therefore shall evil come upon thee; thou shalt not know from whence it riseth; and mischief shall fall upon thee; thou shalt not be able to put it off; and **desolation** shall come upon thee suddenly, which thou shalt not know.

Primitive Root: שׁוּד/shüd: to swell up

## אלין shod (n.) violence, oppression; desolation, destruction, ruin

See Destroy

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵּם/shä-mām': to stun

## אַמֶּם shä-mām' (v.) to be astonished, be confounded; to be laid waste or destroyed

- 33:8 The highways lie **waste**, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath broken the covenant, he hath despised the cities, he regardeth no man.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the **desolate** heritages;
- 49:19 For thy waste and thy **desolate places**, and the land of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that swallowed thee up shall be far away.
- 52:14 As many were astonished at thee; his visage was so marred more than any man, and his form more than the sons of men;
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the **desolate** than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the **desolate** cities to be inhabited.
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and **wondered** that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it sustained him.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former **desolations**, and they shall repair the waste cities, the **desolations** of many generations.
- 63:5 And I looked, and there was none to help; and I **wondered** that there was none to uphold; therefore mine own arm brought salvation unto me; and my fury, it upheld me.

#### מְשְׁמֵה m<sup>ε</sup>-shäm-mä' (n.) stupor, astonishment; desolation, horror

15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.

#### שׁמה shäm-mä' (n.) astonishment, horror; desolation, ruin, wasting

- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land **desolate**; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is smitten with destruction.

#### אַמְמַה or שְׁמַמָּה ˈshē-mä-mä' (n.) astonishment, horror; desolation, devastation, waste

- 1:7 Your country is **desolate**, your cities are burned with fire; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is **desolate**, as overthrown by strangers.
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the children of Israel; and there shall be **desolation**.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy land any more be termed **Desolate**; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy land Union; for the Lord delighteth in thee, and thy land shall be married.
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, Zion a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵן shä'-män: to shine

## אַשְׁמֵנִים |äsh-män-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) fat or fertile fields; darkness, desolate place

59:10 We grope for the wall like the blind, and we grope as if we had no eyes; we stumble at noonday as in the night; we are in **desolate places** as dead men.

#### **DESPISE**

Primitive Root: בַּוֹה/bä-zä': to disesteem

## |בֿיַל |bä-zä' (v.) to despise, contemn

- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath **despised** thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 53:3 He is **despised** and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with grief; and we hid as it were our faces from him; he was **despised**, and we esteemed him not.

#### hä-zō' (n.) despise

49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man **despiseth**, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.

Primitive Root: מָאַס/mä-äs': to spurn

## mä-äs' (v.) to reject, refuse; to despise, contemn, repudiate; to melt away, dissolve

See Refuse

Primitive Root: נָאַץ/nä-äts': to scorn

#### אאן nä-äts' (v.) to deride, despise, revile, scorn; to reject

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have **provoked** the Holy One of Israel **unto anger**, they are gone away backward.
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and **despised** the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the Lord, that my people is taken away for naught? they that rule over them make them to howl, saith the Lord; and my name continually every day is **blasphemed**.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that **despised** thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.

#### DESTROY

Primitive Root: אַבַד/ä-väd': to wander away

#### אבד אוֹם אבין "a-väd" (v.) to wander away, to lose oneself; (causative) to perish, destroy, annihilate

See Perish

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶה'/bä-lä': to fail

## מבלית (n.) consumption, destruction

10:25 For yet a very little while, and the indignation shall cease, and mine anger in their destruction.

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶע /bä-lä': to make away with (by swallowing)

## שבלע |bä-lä' (v.) to swallow up, devour, eat up; to consume, destroy

- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their oppressors, and women rule over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and **destroy** the way of thy paths.
- 9:16 For the leaders of this people cause them to err; and they that are led of them are **destroyed**.
- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will **destroy** the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 25:8 He will **swallow up** death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he **eateth** it **up**.
- 28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are **swallowed up** of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.
- 49:19 For thy waste and thy desolate places, and the land of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that **swallowed** thee **up** shall be far away.

Primitive Root: הָרַס/hä-räs': to pull down or break in pieces

#### |hä-räs' (v.) to pull down, destroy; to tear, break through or in

- 14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his prisoners?
- 22:19 And I will drive thee from thy station, and from thy state shall he pull thee down.
- 49:17 Thy children shall make haste; thy destroyers and they that made thee waste shall go forth of thee.

## הַרִּיסוּת |hä-rē-sūth' (n.) destruction

49:19 For thy waste and thy desolate places, and the land of thy **destruction**, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that swallowed thee up shall be far away.

#### הרס |hë'-res (n.) destruction; lion; sun

19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of **destruction**.

Primitive Root: חָבַל/ḥä-väl': to wind tightly (like a rope)

## אָהְבַל '(v.) to tighten a cord, twist; to bind by pledge; to spoil, corrupt; to destroy, injure

- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be **destroyed** because of the anointing.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to **destroy** the whole land.
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to **destroy** the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the waster to **destroy**.

Primitive Root: חָרֵם/ḥä-räm': to seclude

#### מַנְם | hä-räm' (v.) to consecrate, devote, dedicate; to curse; to extirpate, utterly destroy

- 11:15 And the Lord shall **utterly destroy** the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath **utterly destroyed** them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 37:11 Behold, thou hast heard what the kings of Assyria have done to all lands by **destroying** them **utterly**; and shalt thou be delivered?

Primitive Root: נַשָּׁם/nä-shäm': to blow away

## נשׁם nä-shäm' (v.) to breathe, pant

42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will **destroy** and devour at once.

Primitive Word: קטֶב/kɛ'-tɛv: from an unused root meaning to cut off

#### אָקטב ke'-tev (n.) destruction, cutting off; pestilence

28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a **destroying** storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.

Primitive Root: שָׁאַה shä-ä': to rush

## שׁאָיִה |shë-ēy-yä' (n.) destruction; ruin

24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is smitten with destruction.

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵר/shä-vär': to burst

## אַבֵּר she'-ver (n.) a breach, fracture; destruction, misfortune, injury

1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.

- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of **destruction**.
- 30:13 Therefore this iniquity shall be to you as a breach ready to fall, swelling out in a high wall, whose **breaking** cometh suddenly at an instant.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the **breaking** of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the **breach** of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.
- 51:19 These two sons are come unto thee; they shall be sorry for thee, thy desolation, and **destruction**, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I comfort thee?
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and **destruction** are in their paths.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor **destruction** within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

Primitive Root: שׁוּד/shüd: to swell up

## אלין shod (n.) violence, oppression; desolation, destruction, ruin

- 13:6 Howl ye; for the day of the Lord is at hand; it shall come as a destruction from the Almighty.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the **spoiler** ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 22:4 Therefore said I, Look away from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to comfort me, because of the **spoiling** of the daughter of my people.
- 51:19 These two sons are come unto thee; they shall be sorry for thee, thy **desolation**, and destruction, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I comfort thee?
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.

Primitive Root: שֶׁחַת/shä-ḥäth': to decay

## אֶׁחַת |shä-ḥäth' (v.) to be spoiled, be corrupted, be marred; to be laid waste; to destroy, kill, corrupt,

1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are **corrupters**; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.

- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor **destroy** in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast **destroyed** thy land, and slain thy people; the seed of evildoers shall never be renowned.
- 36:10 And am I now come up without the Lord against this land to **destroy** it? the Lord said unto me, Go up against this land, and **destroy** it.
- 37:12 Have the gods of the nations delivered them which my fathers have **destroyed**, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the children of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to **destroy**? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the **waster** to destroy.
- 65:8 Thus saith the Lord, As the new wine is found in the cluster, and one saith, **Destroy** it not; for a blessing is in it; so will I do for my servants' sake, that I may not **destroy** them all.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor **destroy** in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵד/shä-mäd': to desolate

## שׁמֵד |shä-mäd' (v.) to be laid waste; to be destroyed, be cut off, be annihilated

- 10:7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to **destroy** and cut off nations not a few.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall **destroy** the sinners thereof out of it.
- 14:23 I will also make it a possession for the bittern, and pools of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of **destruction**, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to **destroy** the strongholds thereof.
- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou visited and **destroyed** them, and made all their memory to perish.
- 48:19 Thy seed also had been as the sand, and the offspring of thy bowels like the gravel thereof; his name should not have been cut off nor **destroyed** from before me.

## DEVOUR

Primitive Root: אַכַל/ä-häl': to eat

## ä-ḥäl' (v.) to eat, devour, consume

See Eat

Primitive Root: שְׁאַלִּי/shä-äf': to inhale eagerly

## שַׁאַף/shä-äf' (v.) to breathe hard, pant, blow, snort, snuff; to catch with open mouth; to be greedy

42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and **devour** at once.

#### DIE

Primitive Root: מות müth': to die

#### muth' (v.) to die, wither, decay; to perish; to slay, kill

- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a people seek unto their God? for the living to hear from the **dead**?
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he **slay** the wicked.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will **kill** thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.

- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall **die**.
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 22:18 He will surely violently turn and toss thee like a ball into a large country; there shalt thou **die**, and there the chariots of thy glory shall be the shame of thy lord's house.
- 26:14 They are **dead**, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou visited and destroyed them, and made all their memory to perish.
- 26:19 Thy **dead** men shall live, together with my **dead** body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all **dead** corpses.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto **death**. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt **die**, and not live.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they **die** because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall **die** in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a man that shall **die**, and of the son of man which shall be made as grass;
- 51:14 The captive exile hasteneth that he may be loosed, and that he should not die in the pit, nor that his bread should fail.
- 59:5 They hatch cockatrice eggs, and weave the spider's web; he that eateth of their eggs **dieth**, and that which is crushed breaketh out into a viper.
- 59:10 We grope for the wall like the blind, and we grope as if we had no eyes; we stumble at noonday as in the night; we are in desolate places as **dead** men.
- 65:15 And ye shall leave your name for a curse unto my chosen; for the Lord God shall **slay** thee, and call his servants by another name;
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

## mä'-veth (n.) death; Hades, Hell, realm of the dead

- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah **died** I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 14:28 In the year the king Ahaz died was this burden.
- 25:8 He will swallow up **death** in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with **death**, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 28:18 And your covenant with **death** shall be disannulled, and your agreement with hell shall not stand; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 53:9 And he made his grave with the wicked, and with the rich in his **death**; because he had done no violence, neither was any deceit in his mouth.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto **death**; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

## DIG

Primitive Root: נָקר/nä-kär': to bore

## ובקר nä-kär' (v.) to bore, pierce, hollow out; to be dug out

51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are **digged**.

Primitive Root: עַדֵר/ä-där': to arrange

# אַדָּע | a-dar' (v.) to set in order, arrange; to weed; to be wanting, be lacking; to be cultivated

See Fail

Primitive Root: קוּר/kür: to trench

# קאר (v.) to dig, dig up; to subvert, undermine; to destroy

22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the valley of vision, **breaking down** the walls, and of crying to the mountains.

37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.

#### DILIGENT

Primitive Root: קָשָׁב/kä-shäv': to prick up the ears

## קשׁב |ke'-shev (n.) attention, listening

21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of horsemen, a chariot of asses, and a chariot of camels; and he hearkened **diligently** with much **heed**;

Primitive Root: שַׁבְּעִע/shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## אמע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

#### DIM

Primitive Root: עוֹף/ iif: to cover (with wings or obscurity)

## מועָף mü-äf' (n.) darkness

9:1 Nevertheless the **dimness** shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.

## מָעוּף mä-üf' (n.) darkness

8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.

Primitive Root: שַׁעָה /shä-ä': to gaze at or about (for help)

#### שׁעַה shä-ä' (v.) to look, look about, look around; to observe, reserve; to look away from

See Look

#### DIRECT

Primitive Root: ישׁר/yä-shär': to be straight or even

# יְשֵׁר (v.) to be or go straight; to be level, be right; to make straight; to declare right, approve

See Straight

Primitive Root: נָתֵנן/nä-thän': to give

# |nä-thän' (v.) to give, hand over, yield; to set, place, put; to allow, permit; to make, render

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] see also Deliver, Place, Plantw

61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will **direct** their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.

Primitive Root: תָּכַן/tä-ḥän': to balance

## tä-ḥän' (v.) to make even, level; to poise, weigh, prove; to try, examine; to set up, fix

40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and **meted out** heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?

40:13 Who hath directed the Spirit of the Lord, or being his counselor hath taught him?

#### DISANNUL

Primitive Root: בְּבַר/kä-fär': to cover

kä-fär' (v.) to cover over, overspread; to be harry; to pardon, forgive, expiate

See Purge

Primitive Root: פַּרַר /pä-rär': to break up

|pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

See Break

#### DISCIPLE

Primitive Root: לַמִּד/lä-mäd': to goad

לְמֵּנִי |lēm-müd' (adj.) taught, trained, skilled, accustomed; (n.) disciple

See Learn

## DISCLOSE

Primitive Root: אֵלָה ˈgä-lä': to denude

|gä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

# DISCOURAGE

Primitive Root: רַצֹץ/rä-tsäts': to crack in pieces

רַצֵּץ|rä-tsäts' (v.) to break, crack, crush; to bruise; to be broken, be feeble; to oppress

See Break

# DISCOVER

Primitive Root: לֵּלָה /gä-lä': to denude

אָלָה (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

Primitive Root: ערה' to be or make bare

אַרַה' (v.) to be poured out; to make naked, uncover; to empty, pour out

See Pour

#### DISMAY

Primitive Root: בַּהַל/bä-häl': to tremble inwardly

lbä-häl' (v.) to tremble; to be frightened; to strike with terror; to frighten, scare away

See Afraid

Primitive Root: חְתַת /ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

חָתַּת (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵה /shä-ä': to gaze at or about (for help)

## שׁמַה |shä-ä' (v.) to look, look about, look around; to observe, reserve; to look away from

See Look

#### DISPERSE

Primitive Root: גְפַץ/nä-fäts': to dash to pieces or scatter

# אָבַץ nä-fäts' (v.) to be dispersed; to scatter, smash, dash to pieces

See Scatter

#### DISPLEASE

Primitive Root: יֵרֵע'/yä-rä': to be broken up (violently)

# יֵרְע |yä-rä' (v.) to tremble, be afraid; to be evil

See Grieve

#### DISSOLVE

Primitive Root: מוּג /müg: to melt

#### müg (v.) to melt, dissolve; to tremble, fear, shake; to cause to flow down, soften

- 14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art **dissolved**; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that stirreth up himself to take hold of thee; for thou hast hid thy face from us, and hast **consumed** us, because of our iniquities.

Primitive Root: מָקַק/mä-käk': to melt

## מָקק mä-käk' (v.) to be melted, be dissolved, vanish; to pine, pine away, flow, perish

34:4 And all the host of heaven shall **be dissolved**, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.

Primitive Root: פְּרֵר /pä-rär': to break up

#### pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

See Break

#### **DISTRESS**

Primitive Root: צוּק/tsük: to compress

## tsük (v.) to straighten, press upon, press hard, confine; to urge; to oppress, besiege

- 29:2 Yet I will distress Ariel, and there shall be heaviness and sorrow: and it shall be unto me as Ariel.
- 29:7 And the multitude of all the nations that fight against Ariel, even all that fight against her and her munition, and that **distress** her, shall be as a dream of a night vision.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the **oppressor**, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the **oppressor**?

Primitive Root: צרר/tsä-rär': to cramp

## צר (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

See Enemy

#### DIVIDE

Primitive Root: בָּקע/bä-kä': to cleave

# בָּקע |bä-kä' (v.) to cleave, sever; to hatch; to split, rend; to open; to break through

See Hatch

Primitive Root: חַלָּק/hä-läk': to be smooth

# מְלַקּ |hä-läk' (v.) to be smooth, hypocritical; to divide, distribute; to despoil, plunder

- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they **divide** the spoil.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil **divided**; the lame take the prey.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have **divided** it unto them by line; they shall possess it forever; from generation to generation they shall dwell therein.
- 41:7 So the carpenter encouraged the goldsmith, and he that **smootheth** with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be moved.
- 53:12 Therefore will I **divide** him a portion with the great, and he shall **divide** the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

Primitive Root: רְגֵע/rä-gä': to toss violently and suddenly

# רְגַע |rä-gä' (v.) to rest; to tremble; to be afraid, be terrified; to shrink in fear

See Rest

#### Doings

Primitive Rite: אָלֵלל/ä-läl': to effect through, to glean

#### מעלל mä-ä-läl' (n.) work, deed, action; great deed

- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 3:10 Say unto the righteous, that it is well with them; for they shall eat the fruit of their doings.

# אַלִּילָת |a-lē-lä' (n.) deed, work, exploit

12:4 And in that day shall ye say, Praise the Lord, call upon his name, declare his **doings** among the people, make mention that his name is exalted.

## **DOMINION**

Primitive Root: בַּעַל/bä-äl': to be master

#### בּעַל |bä-äl' (v.) to be master, rule; to marry, take a wife; to loath, reject

See Marry

Primitive Root: מָשֵׁל/mä-shäl': to rule

#### mem-shä-lä' (n.) dominion, rule, reign, jurisdiction; prince, chief, ruler

- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy **government** into his hand; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his **dominion**, that Hezekiah showed him not.

#### Door

Primitive Root: דָּלָה /dä-lä': to dangle

# דֵּלֶת (n.) folding door, leaf of a door; doorway, gate, opening

See Gate

Primitive Root: מְשַׁכֵּ/sä-fäf': to snatch away

## קל säf (n.) basin, bowl; threshold, entrance

6:4 And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.

#### DOVE

Primitive Word: יָיִין yä'-yēn: from an unused root meaning to effervesce

## יוֹנֵה yō-nä (n.) dove

38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a **dove**; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.

59:11 We roar all like bears, and mourn sore like **doves**; we look for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from

60:8 Who are these that fly as a cloud, and as the doves to their windows?

#### Down

[Note: Not all references to "down" are listed because of the excessive number]

Primitive Root: שוֹם/büs: to trample

# שניס |büs (v.) to tread down, crush; to trample upon, tread with feet

See Tread/Trod

#### מבוסה me-vü-sä (n.) a treading, trampling down; a subduing

See Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: לֵלל 'zä-läl': to shake

# zä-läl' (v.) to shake, make tremble; to pour out, shake out; to despise

See Flow

Primitive Root: חַתַּת/ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

## אָתְּתָּה häth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

Primitive Root: יְנֵח/yä-näḥ: to deposit

#### רייטן yä-näḥ (v.) to rest, settle down; to set down, deposit, place; to let remain, leave, abondon

See Leave/Left

Primitive Root: יָרָד/yä-räd': to descend

## רָבִין yä-räd' (v.) to descend, go down; to fall down, be cast down; to throw down, subdue

- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall **descend** into it.
- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have **put down** the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.
- 14:15 Yet thou shalt be brought down to hell, to the sides of the pit.

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that **go down** to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 30:2 That walk to **go down** into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of Egypt!
- 31:1 Woe to them that **go down** to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 15:3 In their streets they shall gird themselves with sackcloth; on the tops of their houses, and in their streets, everyone shall howl, weeping abundantly.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts **come down** to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 32:19 When it shall hail, **coming down** on the forest; and the city shall be low in a low place.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall **come down** upon Idumea, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.
- 34:7 And the reem shall **come down** with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust made fat with fatness.
- 38:8 Behold, I will bring again the shadow of the degrees, which is **gone down** in the sundial of Ahaz, ten degrees backward. So the sun returned ten degrees, by which degrees it was **gone down**.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that **go down** to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have **brought down** all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 47:1 **Come down**, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people **went down** aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 55:10 For as the rain **cometh down**, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will **bring down** their strength to the earth.
- 63:14 As a beast **goeth down** into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.
- 64:1 Oh that thou wouldest rend the heavens, that thou wouldest come down, that the mountains might flow down at thy presence,
- 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains flowed down at thy presence.

Primitive Root: פָבַּ/kä-fäf': to curve

## קבפ(kä-fäf' (v.) to curve, to bend down; to bow; to submit, humble oneself

See Bow

Primitive Root: בָּרֵע/kä-rä': to bend the knee

#### בֹּרֵע |kä-rä' (v.) to bend (knees), bow; to sink, cover; to write in pain

See Bon

Primitive Root: עַתֵץ/nä-thäts': to tear down

# מָתַץ |nä-thäts' (v.) to destroy, break down, pull down; to break out, knock out (teeth); to smash

See Break

Primitive Root: עוה' a-vä': to crook, or make crooked

## "מיס (v.) to act perversely, sin; to be bent, write, be distorted; to pervert, overturn

See Bow

Primitive Root: אָבְיֹף/pä-räts': to break out

#### pä-räts' (v.) to break, demolish, tear down, scatter; to spread, rush upon; to increase, overflow

See Break

Primitive Root: קוּר/kür: to trench

## קור (v.) to dig, dig up; to subvert, undermine; to destroy

See Dig

Primitive Root: רֶבֶּן/rä-väts': to crouch (on all four legs folded)

רְבַץ |rä-väts' (v.) to lie down, lie with; to recline, repose, rest; to make to lie down (flock), to lay stones

See Lay/Lie

## רְבֵּץ rā'-vɛts or רֶבֶּץ|rɛ'-vɛts (n.) couching place; quiet domicile, resting place

See Lay/Lie

Primitive Root: רֲמֵס /rä-mäs': to tread upon

## רַמַּס |rä-mäs' (v.) to tread, tread down, trample; to profane

See Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: שָׁבַר/shä-vär': to burst

# אַבּר shä-vär' (v.) to rend, tear off; to measure off, define; to buy or sell grain or food

See Break

Primitive Root: שֶׁחַח/shä-ḥäḥ': to sink or depress

## שְׁחַתּשׁ shä-ḥāḥ' (v.) to sink down, crouch; to be bowed down, be depressed; to be cast down

See Bon

Primitive Root: שַׁבֶב /shä-ḥäv': to lie down

#### אַפֿב shä-ḥäv' (v.) to lie down, rest, sleep; to lie dead; to lie with, sleep with; to be ravished

See Lay/Lie

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּל/shä-fāl': to depress or sink

# אָבֶל|shä-fāl' (v.) to sink, be felled; to become low, humbled, or subdued; to fell, overthrow; to depress, humble, cast down

See Low

#### Dragon

Primitive Word: אָדַן/tän: an unused root probably meaning to elongate

#### tän-nēm' or תְּנִים [tän-nēm' (n.) howling animal, jackal, wild dog

- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and **dragons** in their pleasant palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the **dragon** that is in the sea.
- 34:13 And thorns shall come up in her palaces, nettles and brambles in the fortresses thereof; and it shall be a habitation of **dragons**, and a court for owls.
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of **dragons**, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the **dragons** and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the **dragon**?

#### Draw

Primitive Root: מֲשַׁךְ /mä-shäḥ': to draw

# קשׁדָּ mä-shäḥ' (v.) to draw, pull; to extend, prolong; to sow; to wander, go; to cherish, preserve

5:18 Woe unto them that draw iniquity with cords of vanity, and sin as it were with a cart rope;

- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be **prolonged**; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation **scattered** and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people **scattered** and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that **draw** the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

Primitive Root: גַנִשׁ/nä-gäsh': to be or come near

## נגשׁ |nä-gäsh' (v.) to draw near; approach; to touch; to recede, draw back

See Near

Primitive Root: נֵטָשׁ/nä-täsh': to pound

# אָטֵשׁ|nä-täsh' (v.) to stretch, extend, spread; to scatter, disperse; to draw (sword), brandish; to be forsaken

See Forsake

Primitive Root: עתק/ä-thäk': to remove

# אָתִּיק |ä-tēk' (adj.) taken away, removed (from mother's breast), weaned; ancient, old

28:9 Whom shall he teach knowledge? and whom shall he make to understand doctrine? them that are weaned from the milk, and drawn from the breasts.

Primitive Root: piik: to issue

## pük (v.) to give out, furnish, supply; to get, obtain; to bring to an end, carry out

58:10 And if thou **draw out** thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;

Primitive Root: קָרֶב/kä-räv': to approach

# קרב kä-räv' (v.) to approach, draw near; to come near, advance; to bring near; to offer, present

See Near

Primitive Root: שָׁאַב /shä-äv': to bale up water

#### שׁאַב|shä-äv' (v.) to draw water

12:3 Therefore with joy shall ye draw water out of the wells of salvation.

#### Dread

Primitive Root: ערא/ä-räts': to awe or to dread

#### אַרַץ ä-räts' (v.) to be afraid, fear; to frighten, terrify

See Afraid

#### Dream

Primitive Root: חָלֵם/ḥä-läm': to bind firmly

# וְחָלַם |hä-läm' (v.) to be fat, become robust; to be strong; to dream; to cause to recover

29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man **dreameth**, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man **dreameth**, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.

38:16 Oh Lord, thou who art the life of my spirit, in whom I live; so wilt thou **recover** me, and make me to live; and in all these things I will praise thee.

# חַלום |ha-lōm' (n.) dream

29:7 And the multitude of all the nations that fight against Ariel, even all that fight against her and her munition, and that distress her, shall be as a **dream** of a night vision.

#### Drink

Primitive Root: מְּסֶן/mä-säḥ': to mix, especially wine

## מְמְסֶּדְ mēm-säḥ' (n.) mixed wine, spiced wine

65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my holy mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the **drink offering** unto that number.

Primitive Root: נָּסֶדְ/nä-säḥ': to pour out

# וְנֻסֶּדְ 'ne'-seḥ (n.) libation, drink offering; molten image

See Image

Primitive Root: אָבֶר/shä-ḥär': to become tipsy

## אַבֶּר shä-ḥär' (v.) to drink (wine); to be drunk, intoxicated; to make drunk, intoxicate

29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.

- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be **drunken** with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 51:21 Therefore hear now this, thou afflicted, and drunken, but not with wine;
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine anger, and make them **drunk** in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the

# שׁכּוֹר shē-kür' (adj.) drunk, intoxicated

- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every work thereof, as a **drunken** man staggereth in his vomit.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a **drunkard**, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the **drunkards** of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:3 The crown of pride, the drunkards of Ephraim, shall be trodden under feet;

## אַבּר shā-ḥär' (n.) strong drink, intoxicating

- 5:11 Woe unto them that rise up early in the morning, that they may follow **strong drink**, and that continue until night, and wine inflame them!
- 5:22 Who unto the mighty to drink wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;
- 24:9 They shall not drink wine with a song; strong drink shall be bitter to them that drink it.
- 28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through **strong drink** are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through **strong drink**, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through **strong drink**; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.
- 29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.
- 56:12 Come ye, say they, I will fetch wine, and we will fill ourselves with **strong drink**; and tomorrow shall be as this day, and much more abundant.

Primitive Root: שָׁקָה/shä-kä': to gulp down

# שְׁקֵּה shä-kä' (v.) to be watered, be moistened; to give drink; to water (cattle or land), irrigate

See Water

## משקה mäsh-ke' (n.) cup-bearer, butler; drink, wine; well-watered region

32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the **drink** of the thirsty to fail.

Primitive Root: שַׁתַה/shä-thä': to imbibe

## אַתָּה shä-thä' (v.) to drink; to drink together, banquet; to be drunk

- 5:22 Who unto the mighty to **drink** wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;
- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and **drinking** wine; let us eat and **drink**; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 24:9 They shall not drink wine with a song; strong drink shall be bitter to them that drink it.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and **drink** their own piss with you?
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and **drink** ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he **drinketh** no water, and is faint.
- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast **drunk** at the hand of the Lord the cup of his fury; thou hast **drunken** the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more **drink** it **again**;
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not **drink** thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall eat it, and praise the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall **drink** it in the courts of my holiness.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall **drink**, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.

#### Drive

Primitive Root: מְּלֵחָן/hä-däf': to push away or down

# אָדָרַן hä-däf' (v.) to thrust (down), push, prostrate; to repel, thrust away; to expel

22:19 And I will drive thee from thy station, and from thy state shall he pull thee down.

Primitive Root: גְּדַח/nä-däḥ': to push off

# רַתַּן nä-däḥ (v.) to thrust out, expel; to be driven out, banished; (part.) fugitive, outcast

See Outcast

Primitive Root: יְדַרַ/nä-däf': to shove asunder

#### חַבַּן/nä-däf' (v.) to dispel, drive away, expel; to beat; to scatter

- 19:7 The paper reeds by the brooks, by the mouth of the brooks, and everything sown by the brooks, shall wither, be **driven away**, and be no more.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as **driven** stubble to his bow.

## Dromedary

Primitive Root: בְּבַר/bä-ḥär': to burst the womb

## שׁבֶּל |bā-ḥɛr' (n.) young camel, dromedary

60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the **dromedaries** of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.

#### Dross

Primitive Root: סוגן/süg: to flinch

## אָינ |sēg (n.) refuse, scoria, dross, offal, base metal

1:22 Thy silver is become **dross**, thy wine mixed with water;

1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;

#### DRY

Primitive Root: חֲרֵב /ḥä-räv': to parch

## (Be/Make/Lie) Wasted/Dry (Up) (הַלָּב ḥä-räv': root)

See Waste

Primitive Root: יבֹשׁ/yä-vāsh': to be ashamed, confused or disappointed

## yä-vāsh' (v.) to be or become dry, dry up, be parched, wither; to be drained

See Wither

## yä-vāsh' (adj.) dry, dried up, parched

56:3 Neither let the son of the stranger, that hath joined himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a **dry** tree.

## יַבְּשָׁת /yäb-bä-shä' (n.) dry land

See Ground

Primitive Root: גָעֵל/nä-äl': to fasten up

## נֵעָל |nä'-äl (n.) shoe, sandal

See Shoe

Primitive Word: צָּחֵה tsē-ḥɛ':

#### צְּחָה (adj.) dry

5:13 Therefore my people are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable men are famished, and their multitude **dried up** with thirst.

Primitive Word: צְיֵה itsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

#### אַיָּה (n.) dryness, aridity, drought; desert, steppe

- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the **dry** land springs of water.
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a **dry** ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.

## נְצִיתן tsä-yōn' (n.) dryness, desert, arid land

See Place

#### **D**UMAH

Primitive Root: דָּמָה/da-ma': to compare

# דּוּמַה dü-mä' (n.) silence, place of silence; Dumah

21:11 The burden of **Dumah**. He calleth to me out of Seir, Watchman, what of the night? Watchman, what of the night?

#### Dumb

Primitive Root: אֵלֶם |ä-läm': to tie fast

## אַלֶם |ä-läm' (v.) to be dumb or mute, be bound (in tongue)

53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is **dumb**, so he openeth not his mouth.

## אָלֶם [ēl-lām' (n.) mute, dumb

35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the **dumb** sing; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and streams in the desert.

56:10 His watchmen are blind; they are all ignorant, they are all dumb dogs, they cannot bark; sleeping, lying down, loving to slumber.

#### Dust

Primitive Root: אָבַק/ä-väk': to bedust

## אַבַּק ä-väk' (n.) dust

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as **dust**; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:5 Moreover the multitude of thy strangers shall be like small **dust**, and the multitude of the terrible ones shall be as chaff that passeth away: yea, it shall be at an instant suddenly.

Primitive Root: עַפַר/ä-fär': to be dust

## אַפַר |ä-fär' (n.) dust, dry earth, soil, clay, lump, clod; gold dust

- 2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the **earth**, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 25:12 And the fortress of the high fort of thy walls shall he bring down, lay low, and bring to the ground, even to the dust.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the **dust**.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in **dust**; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy speech shall be low out of the **dust**, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the ground, and thy speech shall whisper out of the **dust**.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their **dust** made fat with fatness.
- 34:9 And the streams thereof shall be turned into pitch, and the **dust** thereof into brimstone, and the land thereof shall become burning pitch.
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the **dust** of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the **dust** to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the **dust**, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the **dust** of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the **dust**; arise, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.

65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and **dust** shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: שֶׁחֵק/shä-ḥäk': to comminate

## שְׁחַקּ |shä'-ḥäk (n.) dust; thin cloud; fault of heaven, sky

- 40:15 Behold, the nations are as a drop of a bucket, and are counted as the **small dust** of the balance; behold, he taketh up the isles as a very little thing.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the **skies** pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.

#### **DWELL**

Primitive Root: גוּר /gür: to turn aside from the road

## אור (v.) to tarry, sojourn, dwell (as strangers), to lodge

See Stranger

Primitive Root: חָנָה/ḥä-nä': to incline

## חַבָּה | ḥä-nä' (v.) to bend down, incline; to encamp; to settle, dwell, inhabit; to besiege, encamp against

29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where David dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.

29:3 And I will camp against thee round about, and will lay siege against thee with a mount, and I will raise forts against thee.

Primitive Root: יַשָּׁב/yä-shäv': to sit down

## יַשְׁב'/yä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

See Sit

Primitive Root: אָבוּן/בּוּן/cin: to be erect or stand

# מְבֹוֹן mä-ḥōn (n.) dwelling place, site; foundation, basis

See Place

Primitive Word: צְּיָה ˈtsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

#### יני (n.) dweller of the desert, nomad; Jackal, ostrich, wild beast or bird

See Beasi

Primitive Root: שָׁכֵן/shä-ḥān': to reside or permanently stay

#### אבן shä-hän' (v.) to lie down, settle down, rest; to abide, remain, dwell, inhabit

- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in mount Zion.
- 13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be **dwelt** in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.
- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall lie there; and their houses shall be full of doleful creatures; and owls shall **dwell** there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and **dwellers** on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that **dwell** in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall **dwell** in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by line; they shall possess it forever; from generation to generation they shall **dwell** therein.

- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that **inhabiteth** eternity, whose name is Holy; I **dwell** in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of Jacob, and out of Judah an inheritor of my mountains; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall **dwell** there.

# mēsh-kän' (n.) habitation, dwelling place, haunt; hut, tent; tabernacle, sanctuary, temple

See Habitation

## Dye

Primitive Root: חֲמֵץ/ḥä-māts': to be pungent

# אָבֶּעְ |ḥä-māts' (v.) to be sharp, be sour; to be of a bright color, be deep red or purple; to act violently

63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with **dyed** garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

# WORD-LINKS "E"

#### EAR

Primitive Root: אָזַן/ä-zän': to broaden out the ear

# |ä-zän' (v.) to prick one's ear, hearken, listen, attend; to answer (a prayer)

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 8:9 Associate yourselves, O ye people, and ye shall be broken in pieces; and **give ear**, all ye of far countries; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces.
- 28:23 Give ye ear, and hear my voice; hearken, and hear my speech.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will **give ear** unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and **give ear** unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a light of the people.
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor **perceived by the ear**, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.

## אַזָּן o'-zen (n.) ear

- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 30:21 And thine **ears** shall hear a word behind thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that see shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his **ears** from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 35:5 Then the eyes of the blind shall be opened, and the ears of the deaf shall be unstopped.
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.
- 42:21 [42:20] Thou art a people, seeing many things, but thou observest not; opening the ears to hear, but thou hearest not.
- 43:8 Bring forth the blind people that have eyes, and the deaf that have ears.
- 48:8 Yea, thou heardest not; yea, thou knewest not; yea, from that time that thine ear was not opened; for I knew that thou wouldest deal very treacherously, and wast called a transgressor from the womb.
- 49:20 The children which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine **ears**, The place is too strait for me; give place to me that I may dwell.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine **ear** to hear as the learned.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;

Primitive Word: שֹׁבֵל |shō'-vɛl: from an unused root meaning to flow

# אבלת shē-bō-leth' (n.) ear (of corn), point; branch; stream, water-course)

- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the corn, and reapeth the **ear** with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth **ear** in the valley of Rephaim.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the **channel** of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.

#### **EARLY**

Primitive Root: שֶׁחֵר/shä-ḥär': to dawn

## שַׁחַר |shä-ḥär' (v.) to be black; to seek early; to strive after, desire; to charm away

See Seek

Primitive Root: שָׁכַם/shä-ḥäm': to incline

## שׁבֹם shä-ḥäm' (v.) to rise early in the morning; to do urgently, do earnestly

See Rise (Up)

#### EARTH

Primitive Root: אַדַם /ä-däm': to show blood (in the face)

## אַדָּמָה |äd-ä-mä' (n.) earth (red or tawny), soil, ground, land, region, country

See Land

Primitive Root: אֶרֶץ '-rɛts: an unused root probably meaning to be firm

# אָרֶץ (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See also Country, Ground, Land, World (separated for convenience)

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the **earth**, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the **earth**.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the **earth**.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the **earth** shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that lay field to field, till there can be no place, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the **earth**; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the **earth**; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the **earth**; and he shall smite the **earth** with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the **earth** shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the **earth**.
- 12:5 Sing unto the Lord; for he hath done excellent things; this is known in all the earth.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the **earth** shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:7 The whole earth is at rest, and is quiet; they break forth into singing.

- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the **earth**; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the **earth** to tremble, that did shake kingdoms;
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is purposed upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the **earth**, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 18:6 They shall be left together unto the fowls of the mountains, and to the beasts of the **earth**; and the fowls shall summer upon them, and all the beasts of the **earth** shall winter upon them.
- 23:8 Who hath taken this counsel against Tyre, the crowning city, whose merchants are princes, whose traffickers are the honorable of the earth?
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 24:1 Behold, the Lord maketh the **earth** empty, and maketh it waste, and turneth it upside down, and scattereth abroad the inhabitants thereof.
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 24:5 The **earth** also is defiled under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, broken the everlasting covenant.
- 24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the **earth**, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the **earth** are burned, and few men left.
- 24:16 From the uttermost part of the **earth** have we heard songs, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.
- 24:17 Fear, and the pit, and the snare, are upon thee, O inhabitant of the earth.
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the **earth** do shake.
- 24:19 The earth is utterly broken down, the earth is clean dissolved, the earth is moved exceedingly.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the **earth**; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the **earth**, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.
- 26:15 Thou hast increased the nation, O Lord, thou hast increased the nation; thou art glorified; thou hadst removed it far unto all the ends of the **earth**.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the **earth**; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the **earth** shall cast out the dead.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the **earth** for their iniquity; the **earth** also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the **earth** with the hand.
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made strong; for I have heard from the Lord God of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole **earth**.
- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is ashamed and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the **earth** hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, God of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the **earth**; thou hast made heaven and **earth**.
- 37:20 Now therefore, O Lord our God, save us from his hand, that all the kingdoms of the **earth** may know that thou art the Lord, even thou only.
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the **earth** in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 40:21 Have ye not known? have ye not heard? Hath it not been told you from the beginning? have ye not understood from the foundations of the earth?
- 40:22 It is he that sitteth upon the circle of the **earth**, and the inhabitants thereof are as grasshoppers? that stretcheth out the heavens as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a tent to dwell in;

- 40:23 That bringeth the princes to nothing; he maketh the judges of the earth as vanity.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the **earth**; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.
- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the **earth**, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 41:9 Thou whom I have taken from the ends of the **earth**, and called thee from the chief men thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my servant; I have chosen thee, and not cast thee away.
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the **earth**, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the **earth**, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the south, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the ends of the earth;
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the **earth**; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 44:24 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the Lord that maketh all things; that stretcheth forth the heavens alone; that spreadeth abroad the **earth** by myself.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the **earth** open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.
- 45:12 I have made the **earth**, and created man upon it; I, even my hands, have stretched out the heavens, and all their hosts have I commanded.
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the heavens; God himself that formed the **earth** and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the **earth**; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 45:22 Look unto me, and be ye saved, all the ends of the earth; for I am God, and there is none else.
- 48:13 Mine hand also hath laid the foundation of the **earth**, and my right hand hath spanned the heavens; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the **earth**.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the **earth**, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the **earth**, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the **earth** beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the **earth** shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the **earth**; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the **earth**, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the **earth** shall see the salvation of our God.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of Israel; The God of the whole **earth** shall he be called.
- 54:9 For this is as the waters of Noah unto me; for as I have sworn that the waters of Noah should no more go over the **earth**; so have I sworn that I would not be wroth with thee, nor rebuke thee.
- 55:9 For as the heavens are higher than the earth, so are my ways higher than your ways, and my thoughts than your thoughts.

- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the **earth**, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the **earth**, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the **earth**, and gross darkness the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.
- 61:11 For as the **earth** bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.
- 62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a praise in the earth.
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the **earth** shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the **earth** shall swear by the God of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.
- 65:17 For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth; and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind.
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The heaven is my throne, and the **earth** is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the **earth** be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her children.
- 66:22 For as the new heavens and the new **earth**, which I will make, shall remain before me, saith the Lord, so shall your seed and your name remain.

Primitive Root: עֲבֵּר/ä-fär': to be dust

# אַפַר (n.) dust, dry earth, soil, clay, lump, clod; gold dust

See Dust

## EARTHQUAKE

Primitive Root: רַעִשׁ /rä-äsh': to undulate

רעשׁ|rä-äsh' (v.) to tremble, quake, wave; to be agitated; to be moved, be shaken

See Noise

#### EASE

Primitive Root: מָחָם/nä-ḥäm': to sigh

מוֹבְחַם |nä-ḥäm' (v.) to lament, grieve, pity, be sorry; to feel repentant; to take vengeance;

See Comfort

Primitive Root: שָׁאַן/shä-än': to loll

shä-ä-nän' (adj.) quiet, peaceful, easy, secure, tranquil; living at ease, careless, proud שְׁאַבַּנ

See Quiet

## EAST

Primitive Root: אַנֵרֹם/zä-räḥ': to irradiate

#### מְּזְרֵח mēz-räḥ' (n.) rising of the sun, sunrise; east

- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the **east**, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 41:25 I have raised up one from the north, and he shall come; from the **rising of the sun** shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon princes as upon mortar, and as the potter treadeth clay.
- 43:5 Fear not; for I am with thee; I will bring thy seed from the east, and gather thee from the west;
- 45:6 That they may know from the **rising of the sun**, and from the west, that there is none besides me. I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 46:11 Calling a ravenous bird from the **east**, the man that executeth my counsel from a far country; yea, I have spoken it, I will also bring it to pass; I have purposed it, I will also do it.

59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the **rising of the sun**. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.

Primitive Root: קַּדָם/kä-däm': to project

# |קּדִים|kä-dēm' (n.) part, in front; east, eastern quarter of the sky, east side, eastern wind

27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.

## קדַם |ke'-dem (n.) what is in front; east, eastern lands; ancient times, things of old

See Ancient

#### EAT

Primitive Root: אָכַל/ä-ḥäl': to eat

## אָבַל|ä-ḥäl' (v.) to eat, devour, consume

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are burned with fire; your land, strangers **devour** it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 1:19 If ye be willing and obedient, ye shall **eat** the good of the land;
- 1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 3:10 Say unto the righteous, that it is well with them; for they shall eat the fruit of their doings.
- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will **eat** our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire **devoureth** the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 7:15 Butter and honey shall he eat, that he may know to refuse the evil, and to choose the good.
- 7:22 And it shall come to pass, for the abundance of milk that they shall give, he shall **eat** butter; for butter and honey shall everyone **eat** that is left in the land.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall **devour** Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall **devour** the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall **eat** on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall **eat** every man the flesh of his own arm;
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and **devour** his thorns and his briers in one day:
- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to **eat** sufficiently, and for durable clothing.
- 24:6 Therefore hath the curse **devoured** the earth, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are burned, and few men left.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall **devour** them.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of **devouring** fire.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he **eateth**; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that ear the ground shall **eat** clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a **devouring** fire;

- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a **devouring** fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall **devour** him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive chaff, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.
- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the **devouring** fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may **eat** their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall **eat** this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and **eat** the fruit thereof.
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he **eateth** flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the fire;
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and **eaten** it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 49:26 And I will **feed** them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall **eat** them up.
- 51:8 For the moth shall **eat** them up like a garment, and the worm shall **eat** them like wool; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my salvation from generation to generation.
- 55:1 Ho, everyone that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, buy, and **eat**; yea, come, buy wine and milk without money and without price.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the **eater**;
- 56:9 All ye beasts of the field, come to **devour**, yea, all ye beasts in the forest.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and **feed** thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 59:5 They hatch cockatrice eggs, and weave the spider's web; he that **eateth** of their eggs dieth, and that which is crushed breaketh out into a viper.
- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall **eat** the riches of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall **eat** it, and praise the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the courts of my holiness.
- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which **eat** swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my servants shall **eat**, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.
- 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another **eat**; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their hands.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall **eat** straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.
- 66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, **eating** swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: בְּעֵר/bä-är': to kindle

# |בְּעַר |bä-är' (v.) to burn up, consume; to be brutish, be stupid; to kindle, burn

See Burn

#### **EDOM**

Primitive Root: אָדַם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face)

# אַדֹם -dōm' (prop. n.) Edom, Idumea

- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon **Edom** and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon **Idumea**, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of **Idumea**.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from **Edom**, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

#### **EFFECT**

Primitive Root: עֲבַד/ä-väd': to work

אֲבֹדָה $^{\rm a}$ -vō-dä' (n.) work, labor; service, employment; worship; implements, instrument, furniture

See Act

#### **EGYPT**

Primitive Root: צוּר /tsür: to cramp

# mä-tsōr' or מְצוּר |mä-tsūr' (n.) distress, embarrassment; siege; wall, bulwark, fortification, fortress

See Besiege

# מְצְרַיִם mēts-rä'-ēm (prop. n.) Egypt; Egyptians

- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall hiss for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of **Egypt**, and for the bee that is in the land of Assyria.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of **Egypt**.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of **Egypt**.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from **Egypt**, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the **Egyptian** sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his people, which shall be left from Assyria; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the land of **Egypt**.
- 19:1 The burden of **Egypt**. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into **Egypt**; and the idols of **Egypt** shall be moved at his presence and the heart of **Egypt** shall melt in the midst of it.
- 19:2 And I will set the **Egyptians** against the **Egyptians**; and they shall fight everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; city against city, and kingdom against kingdom.
- 19:3 And the spirit of **Egypt** shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 19:4 And the **Egyptians** will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 19:12 Where are they? where are thy wise men? and let them tell thee now, and let them know what the Lord of hosts hath purposed upon **Egypt**.
- 19:13 The princes of Zoan are become fools, the princes of Noph are deceived; they have also seduced **Egypt**, even they that are the stay of the tribes thereof.
- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused **Egypt** to err in every work thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his vomit.
- 19:15 Neither shall there be any work for **Egypt**, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.

- 19:16 In that day shall **Egypt** be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto **Egypt**, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of **Egypt** speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 19:19 In that day shall there be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of **Egypt**; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 19:21 And the Lord shall be known to **Egypt**, and the **Egyptians** shall know the Lord in that day, and shall do sacrifice and oblation; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the Lord, and perform it.
- 19:22 And the Lord shall smite **Egypt**; he shall smite and heal it; and they shall return even to the Lord, and he shall be entreated of them, and shall heal them.
- 19:23 In that day shall there be a highway out of **Egypt** to Assyria, and the Assyrian shall come into **Egypt**, and the **Egyptian** into Assyria, and the **Egyptians** shall serve with the Assyrians.
- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the third with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be **Egypt** my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon **Egypt** and upon Ethiopia;
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the **Egyptians** prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of **Egypt**.
- 20:5 And they shall be afraid and ashamed of Ethiopia their expectation, and of Egypt their glory.
- 23:5 As at the report concerning Egypt, so shall they be sorely pained at the report of Tyre.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of **Egypt**, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of **Egypt**, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 30:2 That walk to go down into **Egypt**, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of **Egypt**!
- 30:3 Therefore shall the strength of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.
- 30:4 For his princes were at Zoan, and his ambassadors came to Hanes.
- 30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to **Egypt** for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 31:3 Now the **Egyptians** are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on **Egypt**; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of **Egypt** to all that trust in him.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of one captain of the least of my master's servants, and put thy trust on **Egypt** for chariots and for horsemen?
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of **Egypt**, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into **Egypt** to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.

## ELIAKIM

Primitive Word: אֵלְיָקִים|εl-yä-kēm': derived from אֱל (the Almighty God) and קוֹם/küm (to rise)

## אֶלְיָקִים|ɛl-yä-kēm' (prop. n.) Eliakim

- 22:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that I will call my servant Eliakim the son of Hilkiah;
- 36:3 Then came forth unto him **Eliakim**, Hilkiah's son, which was over the house, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, Asaph's son, the recorder.

- 36:11 Then said **Eliakim** and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 36:22 Then came **Eliakim**, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:2 And he sent **Eliakim**, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.

#### Емрту

Primitive Word: בֹּהוֹ |bō'-hü: from an unused root meaning to be empty

# להו (n.) emptiness, voidness, chaos

34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of **emptiness**.

Primitive Root: בַּקַק/bä-käk': to pour out

## bä-käk' (v.) to empty, deprive; to depopulate

- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall **fail** in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 24:1 Behold, the Lord maketh the earth **empty**, and maketh it waste, and turneth it upside down, and scattereth abroad the inhabitants thereof.
- 24:3 The land shall be utterly **emptied**, and utterly spoiled; for the Lord hath spoken this word.

Primitive Root: וְדַלֵל /dä-läl': to slacken or be feeble

# dä-läl' (v.) to totter, wave, hang loose; to be poor, be humble; to be weak, be feeble, be languid

See Fail

Primitive Root: רוּק/rük: to pour out

#### רוק |rük (v.) to empty, pour out; to draw (a sword), lead to battle

32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.

#### rāk (adj.) empty, void, vain; hungry, poor, impoverished, wanton; idle, worthless, wicked

29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is **empty**: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.

## ENCOURAGE

Primitive Root: חַזַּק/hä-zäk': to fasten upon

## אָרָּקְיּם '(v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

See Take Hold

#### End

Primitive Root: אָחַר/ä-ḥär': to loiter

## אַחַרִית |ä-ḥä-rēth' (n). latter part, extreme part; future, end

- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the **last** days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and show us what shall happen; let them show the former things, what they be, that we may consider them, and know the latter **end** of them; or declare us things for to come.
- 46:10 Declaring the **end** from the beginning, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall stand, and I will do all my pleasure;
- 47:7 And thou saidst, I shall be a lady forever; so that thou didst not lay these things to thy heart, neither didst remember the latter **end** of it.

Primitive Root: אָפַס/ä-fäs'; to disappear

## אבס |ä-fäs' (v.) to cease, fail, come to an end; to disappear

16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.

29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:

## אַבֶּס (n.) end, extremity; (adv.) nothing, not, without, at an end

See Nothing

Primitive Root: חַדַל/hä-däl': to be flabby

## מְדַל | ḥä-däl' (v.) to cease, leave off; to refrain, desist, abstain; to quiet, resign

See Cease

Primitive Root: נֵלָה /nä-lä': to complete

# ובלה nä-lä' (v.) to finish, make an end, bring to an end

33:1 Woe to thee that spoilest, and thou wast not spoiled; and dealest treacherously, and they dealt not treacherously with thee! when thou shalt cease to spoil, thou shalt be spoiled; and when thou shalt **make an end** to deal treacherously, they shall deal treacherously with thee.

Primitive Root: עָדָה/ä-dä: to advance

## אָד |äd (n.) duration, advance, perpetuity, eternity

See Forever

Primitive Root: קֵצָה/kä-tsä': to cut off

## קצה kä-tsä' (n.) end, extremity, border; the whole, compass

- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the **ends** of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 41:9 Thou whom I have taken from the **ends** of the earth, and called thee from the chief men thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my servant; I have chosen thee, and not cast thee away.

# קצֵה |kä-tsɛ' (n.) end, extremity; the whole, sun

- 2:7 Their land also is full of silver and gold, neither is there any **end** of their treasures; their land is also full of horses, neither is there any **end** of their chariots;
- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the **end** of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the **end** of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall hiss for the fly that is in the **uttermost part** of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the land of Assyria.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the **end** of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the **end** of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the south, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the **ends** of the earth;
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the **end** of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the **end** of the earth.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never have enough, and they are shepherds that cannot understand; they all look to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the **end** of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.

## לצו |ke'-tsev (n.) ends, extremities

26:15 Thou hast increased the nation, O Lord, thou hast increased the nation; thou art glorified; thou hadst removed it far unto all the **ends** of the earth.

Primitive Root: קְצֵץ/kä-tsä': to chop off

## אָדֶן kāts (n.) end, extremity, limit; fulfillment; death, destruction

- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no **end**, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of one king; after the **end** of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a harlot.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the **end** of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his **border**, and the forest of his Carmel.

Primitive Root: שָׁלַם/shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

#### ENEMY

Primitive Root: אַיַב\"ä-yäv": to hate

# אֹיֵב |ō-yāv' (v.) to hate, be adversary; (part.) enemy, foe

- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 9:11 Therefore the Lord shall set up the adversaries of Rezin against him, and join his enemies together;
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his **enemies**.
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will repay, fury to his adversaries, recompense to his **enemies**; to the islands he will repay recompense.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine **enemies**; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his **enemies**.

Primitive Root: צַרַר/tsä-rär': to cramp

#### צר (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like **flint**, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 9:11 Therefore the Lord shall set up the adversaries of Rezin against him, and join his enemies together;
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his **distress**, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine **enemies** shall devour them.
- 26:16 Lord, in trouble have they visited thee; they poured out a prayer when thy chastening was upon them.

- 30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of **adversity**, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy teachers;
- 49:20 The children which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine ears, The place is **too strait** for me; give place to me that I may dwell.
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will repay, fury to his **adversaries**, recompense to his enemies; to the islands he will repay recompense.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the **enemy** shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was **afflicted**, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.
- 63:18 The people of thy holiness have possessed it but a little while; our adversaries have trodden down thy sanctuary.
- 64:2 As when the melting fire burneth, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine **adversaries**, that the nations may tremble at thy presence!

#### **ENOUGH**

Primitive Root: שַׂבַע/sä-vä': to sate or fill to satisfaction

# אַבַּע |sä-vä' (v.) to become satisfied, satiated, or full; to have abundance; to be weary, be tired; to satisfy, satiate

See Satisfy

#### **Ensign**

Primitive Root: נַסָּט/nä-säs': to gleam from afar

## ובס |nās (n.) signal, banner, ensign; standard, flag

- 5:26 And he will lift up an **ensign** to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an **ensign** of the people; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an **ensign** for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my **banner** upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an **ensign** on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an **ensign** on a hill.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the **ensign**, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the **sail**; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame take the prey.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my **standard** to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 62:10 Go through, go through the gates; prepare ye the way of the people; cast up, cast up the highway; gather out the stones; lift up a **standard** for the people.

## **E**PHRAIM

Primitive Root: פָּרָה '-rä: to bear fruit

# אֶבְרַיִם [ɛf-rä'-ēm (prop. n.) Ephraim

- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with **Ephraim**. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 7:5 Because Syria, Ephraim, and the son of Remaliah, have taken evil counsel against thee, saying,
- 7:8 For the head of Syria is Damascus, and the head of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall **Ephraim** be broken, that it be not a people.

- 7:9 And the head of **Ephraim** is Samaria, and the head of Samaria is Remaliah's son. If ye will not believe, surely ye shall not be established.
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that **Ephraim** departed from Judah; even the king of Assyria.
- 9:9 And all the people shall know, even Ephraim and the inhabitant of Samaria, that say in the pride and stoutness of heart,
- 9:21 Manasseh, **Ephraim**; and **Ephraim**, Manasseh; and they together shall be against Judah. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 11:13 The envy also of **Ephraim** shall depart, and the adversaries of Judah shall be cut off; **Ephraim** shall not envy Judah, and Judah shall not vex **Ephraim**.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from **Ephraim**, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of **Ephraim**, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:3 The crown of pride, the drunkards of Ephraim, shall be trodden under feet;

#### EQUITY

Primitive Root: יַשִּׁר /yä-shär': to be straight or even

# מִישׁוֹר mē-shōr' (n.) uprightness, justice, honesty, equity, righteousness; plain, level country

See Straight

Primitive Word: וֶבֶּחְ/nā-ḥäḥ': from an unused root meaning to be straightforward

# nä-ḥō'-äḥ or וְּכֹּחֶה 'në-ḥō-ḥä' (adj.) straight, lying ahead; right, righteous, upright, just

See Upright

#### Err

Primitive Root: שָׁגַה /shä-gä': to stray

## שְׁגָּה shä-gä' (v.) to wander, go astray, waver; to reel; to err, transgress; to lead astray, seduce

28:7 But they also have **erred** through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have **erred** through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they **err** in vision, they stumble in judgment.

Primitive Root: תָּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

## תַּעָה kä-ä' (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their oppressors, and women rule over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to **err**, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 9:16 For the leaders of this people cause them to err; and they that are led of them are destroyed.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they **wandered** through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 19:13 The princes of Zoan are become fools, the princes of Noph are deceived; they have also **seduced** Egypt, even they that are the stay of the tribes thereof.
- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to **err** in every work thereof, as a drunken man **staggereth** in his vomit.
- 21:4 My heart panted, fearfulness affrighted me; the night of my pleasure hath he turned into fear unto me.
- 28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are **out of the way**; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are **out of the way** through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.
- 29:24 They also that erred in spirit shall come to understanding, and they that murmured shall learn doctrine.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to **err**.

- 35:8 And a highway shall be there; for a way shall be cast up, and it shall be called the way of holiness. The unclean shall not pass over upon it; but it shall be cast up for those who are clean, and the wayfaring men, though they are accounted fools, shall not **err** therein.
- 47:15 Thus shall they be unto thee with whom thou hast labored, even thy merchants, from thy youth; they shall **wander** everyone to his quarter; none shall save thee.
- 53:6 All we like sheep have gone **astray**; we have turned every one to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on him the iniquity of us
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to **err** from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.

## תועה tō-ä' (n.) error, impiety; harm, calamity

32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter **error** against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.

# ESCAPE

Primitive Root: מֵלֵט/mä-lät': to be smooth

## מלט mä-lät' (v.) to escape; to be delivered, be saved, be freed; to let slip, to lay (eggs); to emit (sparks)

See Deliver

Primitive Root: פֵלַט/pä-lät': to slip out

# pä-lēt' (n.) figurative, one saved or escaped

- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are **escaped** of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that **escape** of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

# pä-lā-tä' (n.) deliverance, escape, remnant

- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are **escaped** of Israel.
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are **escaped** of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that **escapeth** of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a remnant; and they that **escape** out of Jerusalem shall come up upon mount Zion; the zeal of the Lord of hosts shall do this.

## **ESTABLISH**

Primitive Root: אַמֵּן/ä-män': to build up or support

#### אַמֵּן|ä-män' (v.) to be firm, support, nurse; to lean upon, hold fast

See Believe

Primitive Root: אָם/kün: to be erect or to stand

#### his kün (v.) to stand upright; to be established; to be firm, steadfast, faithful, sure; to be ready

- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be **established** in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to **order** it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 14:21 **Prepare** slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.

- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is **prepared**; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a tree that will not rot; he seeketh unto him a cunning workman to **prepare** a graven image, that shall not be moved.
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the heavens; God himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath **established** it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were **ready** to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 54:14 In righteousness shalt thou be **established**; thou shalt be far from oppression; for thou shalt not fear; and from terror; for it shall not come near thee.
- 62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a praise in the earth.

Primitive Root: סֵעֶד/sä-äd': to support

# סְעָד |sä-äd' (v.) to prop, uphold, support; to make firm, assist, help, refresh

9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to **establish** it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.

Primitive Root: קוּם:küm: to rise

## אָלים (v.) to arise, stand up, appear, rise against; to exist, subsist, endure; to erect, raise up

See Rise (Up)

#### **ESTEEM**

Primitive Root: חֵשֶׁב /hä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

## חַשְׁב |hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

- 2:22 Cease ye from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?
- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be **counted** like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 10:7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to destroy and cut off nations not a few.
- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 29:16 Surely your turning of things upside down shall be **esteemed** as the potter's clay: for shall the work say of him that made it, He made me not? or shall the thing framed say of him that framed it, He had no understanding?
- 29:17 Is it not yet a very little while, and Lebanon shall be turned into a fruitful field, and the fruitful field shall be **esteemed** as a forest?
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be poured upon us from on high, and the wilderness be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be **counted** for a forest.
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath broken the covenant, he hath despised the cities, he **regardeth** no man.
- 40:15 Behold, the nations are as a drop of a bucket, and are **counted** as the small dust of the balance; behold, he taketh up the isles as a very little thing.
- 40:17 All nations before him are as nothing; and they are counted to him less than nothing, and vanity.
- 53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with grief; and we hid as it were our faces from him; he was despised, and we **esteemed** him not.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.

## Етніоріа

Primitive Word: בּוֹשׁ/küsh: probably of foreign origin

## küsh (prop. n.) Cush, Ethiopia

- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 18:1 Woe to the land shadowing with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;

- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the **Ethiopians** captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 20:5 And they shall be afraid and ashamed of Ethiopia their expectation, and of Egypt their glory.
- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah king of **Ethiopia**, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of **Ethiopia** and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.

## **EVERLASTING**

Primitive Root: עָדָה/ä-dä: to advance

## מועד ad (n.) duration, advance, perpetuity, eternity

See Forever

Primitive Root: עַלֶם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

# עוֹלָם -läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even **forever**. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy people; the seed of evildoers shall **never** be renowned.
- 24:5 The earth also is defiled under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, broken the **everlasting** covenant.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 26:4 Trust ye in the Lord forever; for in the Lord JEHOVAH is everlasting strength.
- 30:8 Now go, write it before them in a table, and note it in a book, that it may be for the time to come forever and ever;
- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens **forever**, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with **everlasting** burnings?
- 34:10 It shall not be quenched night nor day; the smoke thereof shall go up **forever**; from generation to generation it shall lie waste; none shall pass through it **forever** and ever.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by line; they shall possess it **forever**; from generation to generation they shall dwell therein.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and **everlasting** joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 40:8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our God shall stand forever.
- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the **everlasting** God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 42:14 I have **long time** holden my peace; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and devour at once.
- 44:7 And who, as I, shall call, and shall declare it, and set it in order for me, since I appointed the **ancient** people? and the things that are coming, and shall come, let them show unto them.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an **everlasting** salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world **without**
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 47:7 And thou saidst, I shall be a lady **forever**; so that thou didst not lay these things to thy heart, neither didst remember the latter
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be **forever**, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.

- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the worm shall eat them like wool; but my righteousness shall be **forever**, and my salvation from generation to generation.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of **old**. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and **everlasting** joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with **everlasting** kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an **everlasting** covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the brier shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an **everlasting** sign that shall not be cut off.
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name better than of sons and of daughters; I will give them an **everlasting** name, that shall not be cut off.
- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or feared, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of **old**, and thou fearest me not?
- 57:16 For I will not contend **forever**, neither will I be always wroth; for the spirit should fail before me, and the souls which I have made.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the **old** waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy mouth, shall not depart out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy seed, nor out of the mouth of thy seed's seed, saith the Lord, from henceforth and **forever**.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an **eternal** excellency, a joy of many generations.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an **everlasting** light, and thy God thy glory.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine **everlasting** light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land **forever**, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 61:4 And they shall build the **old** wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; **everlasting** joy shall be unto them.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an **everlasting** covenant with them.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of **old**.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of **old**, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?
- 63:12 That led them by the right hand of Moses with his glorious arm, dividing the water before them, to make himself an **everlasting** name?
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel acknowledge us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from **everlasting**.
- 63:19 We are thine; thou **never** barest rule over them; they were not called by thy name.
- 64:4 For since the **beginning of the world** men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.
- 64:5 Thou meetest him that worketh righteousness, and rejoiceth him that remembereth thee in thy ways; in righteousness there is **continuance**, and such shall be saved.

#### EVIL

Primitive Root: רַעַע /rä-ä': to spoil

#### רצען rä-ä' (v.) to be bad, be evil; to do evil, act badly or wickedly; to break to pieces, destroy

1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of **evildoers**, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.

- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for each one of them is a hypocrite and an **evildoer**, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 11:9 They shall not **hurt** nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy people; the seed of **evildoers** shall never be renowned.
- 24:19 The earth is utterly broken down, the earth is clean dissolved, the earth is moved exceedingly.
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not call back his words; but will arise against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that work iniquity,
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and behold it together.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not **hurt** nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

# רָע (adj.) bad, evil, wicked, mischievous, malignant

- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded **evil** unto themselves.
- 5:20 Woe unto them that call **evil** good, and good **evil**; that put darkness for light, and light for darkness; that put bitter for sweet, and sweet for bitter!
- 7:5 Because Syria, Ephraim, and the son of Remaliah, have taken evil counsel against thee, saying,
- 7:15 Butter and honey shall he eat, that he may know to refuse the evil, and to choose the good.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the **evil**, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her kings.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not call back his words; but will arise against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that work iniquity,
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 45:7 I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create evil; I the Lord do all these things.
- 47:10 For thou hast trusted in thy **wickedness**; thou hast said, None seeth me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath perverted thee; and thou hast said in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me.
- 47:11 Therefore shall **evil** come upon thee; thou shalt now know from whence it riseth; and mischief shall fall upon thee; thou shalt not be able to put it off; and desolation shall come upon thee suddenly, which thou shalt not know.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the **evil** to come.
- 59:7 Their feet run to **evil**, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from **evil** maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.
- 66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their fears upon them; because when I called, none did answer; when I spake, they did not hear; but they did evil before mine eyes, and chose that in which I delighted not.

## רע |rō'-ä (n.) an evil condition, wickedness, wretchedness

1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;

#### EXACT

Primitive Root: גַנֵשׁ/nä-gäs': to drive (an animal, person, army, etc.)

אָבְעשׁ nä-gäs' (v.) to impel, urge, press, exact; to rule, reign; to demand; to be oppressed, be harrassed

See Oppress

## EXALT

Primitive Root: גַּבָּה /gä-vä': to soar

gä-vä' (v.) to be high; to be elevated, be exalted; to be proud, arrogant, high-minded

See Haughty

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

אָנְשָׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rüm: to be high, or to raise or rise

## רום rüm (v.) to be high, be elevated; to be lofty, be exalted, be glorified

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and **brought up** children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 2:12 For the day of the Lord of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and **lofty**, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be brought low.
- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are **high** and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;
- 2:14 And upon all the high mountains, and upon all the hills, and upon all the nations which are lifted up;
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that **lift** it **up**, or as if the staff should **lift up** itself, as if it were no wood.
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the **high ones** of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be humbled.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, **exalt** the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will **exalt** my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor **bring up** virgins.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will **exalt** thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is **lifted up**, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be **exalted**, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a God of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou **exalted** thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the **high** mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, **lift up** thy voice with strength; **lift it up**, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 49:11 And I will make all my mountains a way, and my highways shall be exalted.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and **set up** my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 52:13 Behold, my servant shall deal prudently, he shall be exalted and extolled, and be very high.
- 57:14 And shall say, Cast ye up, cast ye up, prepare the way, take up the stumbling block out of the way of my people.
- 57:15 For thus saith the **high** and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.

62:10 Go through, go through the gates; prepare ye the way of the people; cast up, cast up the highway; gather out the stones; **lift up** a standard for the people.

Primitive Root: רֲמֵם/rä-mäm': to rise

# רְמַם |rä-mäm' (v.) to be high, be loft, be lifted up; to exalt oneself, rise up; (part.) a lifting up

33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people fled; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.

33:10 Now will I rise, saith the Lord; now will I be exalted; now will I lift up myself.

Primitive Root: שָׁגַב /sä-gäv': to be lofty

# שֹׁנְב |sä-gäv' (v.) to life oneself up; to be lofty, asced; to be steep, be high; to exalt, make mighty

- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be **exalted** in that day.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of men shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be **exalted** in that day.
- 9:11 Therefore the Lord shall set up the adversaries of Rezin against him, and join his enemies together;
- 12:4 And in that day shall ye say, Praise the Lord, call upon his name, declare his doings among the people, make mention that his name is **exalted**.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the **lofty** city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 30:13 Therefore this iniquity shall be to you as a breach ready to fall, swelling out in a **high** wall, whose breaking cometh suddenly at an instant.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.

#### Excellent

Primitive Root: גָּאָה/gä-ä': to mount up

אָאוֹן gä-ōn' (n.) highness, excellency, majesty (of God); splendor, glory; pride, arrogance

See Pride

אַאות gā-üth' (n.) something lifted up; majesty; glory, splendor; pride, arrogance

See Pride

Primitive Root: גַּדַל/gä-däl': to twist

קלל gä-däl' (v.) to become great, grow up; to be mighty, important; to cause to grow

See Nourish

Primitive root: הַּדֵר /hä-där': to swell up (literally or figuratively)

הדר (n.) adorning, decoration, splendor, ornament; honor, glory; pride, highness

See Glory

#### Extend

Primitive Root: נְטָה /nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

וְנַטְת: (v.) to stretch out, extend, spread out; to unfold; to bend, decline; to turn, turn aside

See Stretch

#### Extol

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

רשא|nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

#### EYE

Primitive Word: עַיִּץ|ä'-yēn: an eye

# ייין a-yēn' (n.) eye; look, appearance, sight, face, surface; fountain, spring

- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty **looks** of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton **eyes**, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 5:21 Woe unto the wise in their own eyes, and prudent in their own sight!
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine **eyes** have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their **eyes**; lest they see with their **eyes**, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high **looks**.
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the **sight** of his **eyes**, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;
- 13:16 Their children also shall be dashed to pieces before their eyes; their houses shall be spoiled, and their wives ravished.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the womb; their **eye** shall not spare children.
- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have respect to the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your **eyes**: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 29:18 And in that day shall the deaf hear the words of the book, and the **eyes** of the blind shall see out of obscurity, and out of darkness.
- 30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine **eyes** shall see thy teachers;
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that see shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his **eyes** from seeing evil;
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine **eyes** shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 35:5 Then the eyes of the blind shall be opened, and the ears of the deaf shall be unstopped.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine **eyes** on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is good in thy **sight**. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.
- 40:26 Lift up your **eyes** on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the prisoners from the prison, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.
- 42:19 For I will send my servant unto you who are blind; yea, a messenger to open the **eyes** of the blind, and unstop the ears of the deaf:
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my **sight**, thou hast been honorable, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and people for thy life.
- 43:8 Bring forth the blind people that have eyes, and the deaf that have ears.

- 44:18 They have not known nor understood; for he hath shut their **eyes**, that they cannot see; and their hearts, that they cannot understand.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the **eyes** of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:18 Lift up thine **eyes** round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 51:6 Lift up your **eyes** to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the **eyes** of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 59:10 We grope for the wall like the blind, and we grope as if we had no **eyes**; we stumble at noonday as in the night; we are in desolate places as dead men.
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it **displeased** him that there was no judgment.
- 60:4 Lift up thine **eyes** round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine **eyes**, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine **eyes**.
- 66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their fears upon them; because when I called, none did answer; when I spake, they did not hear; but they did evil before mine **eyes**, and chose that in which I delighted not.

# WORD-LINKS "F"

#### FACE

Primitive Root: אַנף/ä-näf': to breath hard

## אַף af (n.) nostril, nose, face; anger, wrath

See Anger

Primitive Root: פֵּנֵה/pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

# pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (with prefixes) before, etc.

- 3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.
- 3:9 The show of their **countenance** doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 5:21 Woe unto the wise in their own eyes, and prudent in their own sight!
- 6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.
- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their **faces** shall be as flames.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the **face** of the world with cities.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the **face** of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his **presence** and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the **face** of the earth.
- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all **faces**; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in pain, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 28:25 When he hath made plain the **face** thereof, doth he not cast abroad the fitches, and scatter the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the appointed barley and the rye in their place?
- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the LORD, who redeemed Abraham, concerning the house of Jacob, Jacob shall not now be ashamed, neither shall his **face** now wax pale.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the **face** of one captain of the least of my master's servants, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 38:2 Then Hezekiah turned his face toward the wall, and prayed unto the Lord,
- 48:7 They are created now, and not from the **beginning**; even before the day when thou heardest them not; lest thou shouldest say, Behold, I knew them.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with grief; and we hid as it were our **faces** from him; he was despised, and we esteemed him not.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.

- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his **presence** saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.
- 64:1 Oh that thou wouldest rend the heavens, that thou wouldest come down, that the mountains might flow down at thy presence,
- 64:2 As when the melting fire burneth, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may tremble at thy **presence**!
- 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains flowed down at thy presence.
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that stirreth up himself to take hold of thee; for thou hast hid thy **face** from us, and hast consumed us, because of our iniquities.
- 65:3 A people that provoketh me to anger continually to my face; that sacrificeth in gardens, and burneth incense upon altars of brick;

#### FADE

Primitive Root: גָבַל/nä-väl': to wilt

## nä-väl' (v.) to pour over, to flow; to stain, soil; to fade away

- 1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a **fading** flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a **fading** flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 34:4 And all the host of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall **fall down**, as the leaf **falleth off** from the vine, and as a **falling** fig from the fig tree.
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our God shall stand forever.
- 64:6 [64:5-6] But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do **fade** as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.

#### FAIL

Primitive Root: בַּקֶּק/bä-käk': to pour out

#### שבקק |bä-käk' (v.) to empty, deprive; to depopulate

See Empty

Primitive Root: דָּלֵל,/dä-läl': to slacken or be feeble

## לְבֶּל dä-läl' (v.) to totter, wave, hang loose; to be poor, be humble; to be weak, be feeble, be languid

17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.

19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.

38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes **fail** with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.

Primitive Root: חַסֶּר/ḥä-sār': to lack

## ְחַׁמֶּר (v.) to want, lack; to fail; to lessen, decrease, be diminished

32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to **fail**.

51:14 The captive exile hasteneth that he may be loosed, and that he should not die in the pit, nor that his bread should fail.

Primitive Root: בָּהָה:kä-hä': to be weak

#### בּהָה:kä-hä' (v.) to be feeble, be faint or dim; to be timid, be despondent

42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.

Primitive Root: בּזֶב/kä-zäv': to lie

#### מלב איז (v.) to lie, speak falsehood, deceive; to be proven faithless or false

See Lie/Lying

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶה /kä-lä': to end

## |kä-lä' (v.) to complete, finish, be ready; to cease; to consume, spend, destroy

1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.

- 10:18 And shall **consume** the glory of his forest, and of his fruitful field, both soul and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 10:25 For yet a very little while, and the indignation shall cease, and mine anger in their destruction.
- 15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler **ceaseth**, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 21:16 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Within a year, according to the years of a hireling, and all the glory of Kedar shall fail;
- 24:13 When thus it shall be in the midst of the land among the people, there shall be as the shaking of an olive tree, and as the gleaning grapes when the vintage is **done**.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and **consume** the branches thereof.
- 29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall **fail** together.
- 32:10 Many days and years shall ye be troubled, ye careless women; for the vintage shall fail, the gathering shall not come.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have **spent** my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.

Primitive Root: נָשׁת /nä-shäth': to eliminate

#### וֹנְשַׁת nä-shäth' (v.) to be parched, dried up; to be drained

- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue **faileth** for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.

Primitive Root: עַדַר/ä-där': to arrange

#### ä-där' (v.) to set in order, arrange; to weed; to be wanting, be lacking; to be cultivated

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor **digged**; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.
- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be **digged** with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall **fail**; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one **faileth**.
- 59:15 Yea, truth **faileth**; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.

Primitive Root: אָטֵף/ä-täf': to shroud

## אָטַף|ä-täf' (v.) to cover, clothe; to languish, faint, be exhausted; to hide oneself

57:16 For I will not contend forever, neither will I be always wroth; for the spirit should **fail** before me, and the souls which I have made.

#### Faint

Primitive Root: דְּרָה /dä-vä': to be sick

#### "17|däv-vōy' (adj.) sick, severely ill

1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.

Primitive Root: יַעף/yä-äf': to tire (as if from flight)

## ינעף yä-äf' (v.) to go swiftly, run; to be fatigued, be wearied or exhausted, be faint

- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, **fainteth** not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 40:30 Even the youths shall faint and be weary, and the young men shall utterly fall;
- 40:31 But they that wait upon the Lord shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is **faint**.

Weary/Faint/Languid (יָעֵף yä-āf': derived from אָיעף yä-äf')

- 40:29 He giveth power to the faint; and to them that have no might he increaseth strength.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are **weary**. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to hear as the learned.

Primitive Root: מֲסֵס/mä-säs': to liquify

## מְשַׁס mä-säs' (v.) to waste away, perish; to melt, dissolve; to despond, despair, faint

See Melt

Primitive Root: עֵיֵף/ä-yāf': to languish

## אָיֵף|ä-yāf' (adj.) weary, exhausted, languid, faint

See Weary

Primitive Root: עֵלֶף/ä-läf': to veil or cover

## אַלף |ä-läf' (v.) to be covered; to languish, faint, be overcome

51:20 Thy sons have **fainted** save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.

Primitive Root: רְכַךְ /rä-ḥäḥ': to soften

## רְבַּקְי rä-ḥāḥ' (v.) to be tender, be soft; to be thin, be weak, be delicate; to be softened

- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither **mollified** with ointment.
- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be **fainthearted** for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.

Primitive Root: רֲבַּה /rä-fä': to slacken

#### רְבַּה |rä-fä' (v.) to be slack, be weary, be feeble; to let fall, relax; to let alone, abandon

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame **consumeth** the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 13:7 Therefore shall all hands be faint, and every man's heart shall melt;

#### FAIR

Primitive Root: טוֹב|tōv: to be good

# טוֹב (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

See Good

Primitive Word: קים/püḥ': from an unused root meaning to paint

## างอ|püḥ' (n.) pigment, dye, eye-paint; anonymity; mortar, cement

54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy stones with **fair colors**, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.

## FAITHFUL

Primitive Root: אָבוּץ/ä-män': to build up or support

## אָבֵּוֹן |ä-män' (v.) to be firm, support, nurse; to lean upon, hold fast

See Believe

## אַמוּנָה [-mü-nä' (n.) firmness, security; faithfulness, fidelity, honesty

- 11:5 And righteousness shall be the girdle of his loins, and faithfulness the girdle of his reins.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the **stability** of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for **truth**; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.

#### FALL

Primitive Root: בְּשֵׁל/kä-shäl': to totter or waver

## בַּשְׁל|kä-shäl' (v.) to totter, stumble, fail; to fall, faint; to become weak; to cause to fall, overthrow

See Stumble

Primitive Root: גָבַל/nä-väl': to wilt

## nä-väl' (v.) to pour over, to flow; to stain, soil; to fade away

See Fade

Primitive Root: גָּפַל/nä-fäl': to fall

## nä-fäl' (v.) to fall; to fall down, prostrate; to be born; to fall away, sink

- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is **fallen**; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 3:25 Thy men shall **fall** by the sword, and thy mighty in the war.
- 8:15 And many among them shall stumble, and fall, and be broken, and be snared, and be taken.
- 9:8 The Lord sent his word unto Jacob, and it hath lighted upon Israel.
- 9:10 The bricks are **fallen down**, but we will build with hewn stones; the sycamores are cut down, but we will change them into cedars.
- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall **fall** under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.
- 13:15 Everyone that is proud shall be thrust through; and everyone that is joined to the wicked shall fall by the sword.
- 14:12 How art thou **fallen** from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is **fallen**.
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is **fallen**, is **fallen**; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and **fall**; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall **fall** into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall **fall**, and not rise again.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world **fallen**.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall **cast out** the dead.

- 30:13 Therefore this iniquity shall be to you as a breach ready to fall, swelling out in a high wall, whose breaking cometh suddenly at an instant.
- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers **fall**.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall **fall down**, and they all shall fail together.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian **fall** with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 34:17 And I have **cast** the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by line; they shall possess it forever; from generation to generation they shall dwell therein.
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a blast upon him, and he shall hear a rumor, and return to his own land; and I will cause him to **fall** by the sword in his own land.
- 47:11 Therefore shall evil come upon thee; thou shalt not know from whence it riseth; and mischief shall **fall** upon thee; thou shalt not be able to put it off; and desolation shall come upon thee suddenly, which thou shalt not know.
- 54:15 Behold, they shall surely gather together against thee, but not by me; whosoever shall gather together against thee shall **fall** for thy sake.

Primitive Root: סָגַד/sä-gäd':

## סְגַּד |sä-gäd' (v.) to fall down; to bow down, to adore (an idol)

- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and **falleth** down thereto.
- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a god, even his graven image; he **falleth** down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my god.
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.

Primitive Root: שַׁחָה/shä-ḥä': to depress

# שְׁלֶּהְה' (v.) to bow down; to sink down, be depressed; to worship, adore; to prostrate oneself See Worship

#### **FALSEHOOD**

Primitive Root: שָׁקֵר/shä-kär': to cheat

## שָׁקֵר |she'-ker (n.) lie, falsehood, fraud, deceit; deceitful, vain

See Lie/Lying

#### FAMILIAR SPIRIT

Primitive Word: אָב /äv: father

#### סואונ (n.) mumble, soothsayer, conjuring ghost

- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have **familiar spirits**, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a people seek unto their God? for the living to hear from the dead?
- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have **familiar spirits**, and to the wizards.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy speech shall be low out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a **familiar spirit**, out of the ground, and thy speech shall whisper out of the dust.

#### FAN

Primitive Root: וְרָה/zä-rä': to toss about

## זְרָה' zä-rä' (v.) to scatter, disperse; to winnow; to spread out

See Cast

#### מְזָרֵה mēz-re' (n.) winnowing fan or shovel

30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that ear the ground shall eat clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.

#### FAR

Primitive Root: לַנֵּח /zä-näḥ': to push aside

## בְּבֵּל zä-näḥ' (v.) to reject, profane; to be abominable; to be dried up (as a river)

19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.

Primitive Root: רַחַק/rä-ḥäk': to widen

## מֵרְחָק |mer-ḥäk' (n.) remoteness, remote country, far distance, far off place

- 8:9 Associate yourselves, O ye people, and ye shall be broken in pieces; and give ear, all ye of **far** countries; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces.
- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of visitation, and in the desolation which shall come from far? To whom will ye flee for help? And where will ye leave your glory?
- 13:5 They come from a **far** country, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee **far off**, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from **far**, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 46:11 Calling a ravenous bird from the east, the man that executeth my counsel from a **far** country; yea, I have spoken it, I will also bring it to pass; I have purposed it, I will also do it.

## רְחוֹק |rä-ḥōk' (adj.) far, distant; remote (place); unattainable; (subst.) distance, future, past

- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 22:3 All thy rulers are fled together, they are bound by the archers; all that are found in thee are bound together, which have fled from far.
- 22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the water of the old pool; but ye have not looked unto the maker thereof, neither had respect unto him that fashioned it **long ago**.
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.
- 37:26 Hast thou not heard **long ago**, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed cities into ruinous heaps.
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a **far** country unto me, even from Babylon.
- 43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the south, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the ends of the earth;
- 46:12 Hearken unto me, ye stouthearted, that are far from righteousness;
- 49:1 Listen, O isles, unto me; and hearken, ye people, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 49:12 Behold, these shall come from far; and, lo, these from the north and from the west; and these from the land of Sinim.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.

66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles **afar** off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

## רְחַקּק |rä-ḥäk' (v.) to be far, be distant, be remote; to remove far away, move far off

- 6:12 And the Lord have removed men far away, for there shall be a great forsaking in the midst of the land.
- 26:15 Thou hast increased the nation, O Lord, thou hast increased the nation; thou art glorified; thou hadst **removed** it **far** unto all the ends of the earth.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have **removed** their heart **far** from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be **far off**, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.
- 49:19 For thy waste and thy desolate places, and the land of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that swallowed thee up shall be **far away**.
- 54:14 In righteousness shalt thou be established; thou shalt be **far** from oppression; for thou shalt not fear; and from terror; for it shall not come near thee.
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 59:11 We roar all like bears, and mourn sore like doves; we look for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is **far** off from us.

#### **FASTEN**

Primitive Root: חָזֵק/ḥä-zäk': to fasten upon

## אָרָהָ 'v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

See Take Hold

Primitive Root: תְּקֵע/tä-kä': to clatter

## לבקע |tä-kä' (v.) to strike, smite; to drive in (nails), fix; to blow (horn), thrust; to be struck

- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he **bloweth** a trumpet, hear ye.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is **fastened** in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be **blown**, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.

#### FAT

Primitive Root: דָּשֵׁן/dä-shān': to be fat

## לְשֵׁן dä-shān' (v.) to make fat, oily; to anoint; to be well fed, be made fat

- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is **made fat** with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust **made fat** with fatness.

Primitive Word: חֱלֶה ʾ-lɛv: from an unused root meaning to be fat

# וְחֵלֵב |ḥe'-lev or מְלֵב |ḥā'-lev (n.) fat, fatness, fat marrow; the best and most excellent part

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the **fat** of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with **fatness**, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the **fat** of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust made fat with **fatness**.

43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the **fat** of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.

Primitive Root: חַלֵץ/ḥä-läts': to pull off

# אָרַאַ |ḥä-läts' (v.) to draw off, pull off (shoes); to withdraw, depart; to equip, arm; (part.) warrior

- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the **armed** soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and **put off** thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and **make fat** thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.

Primitive Root: מֶּחָה/mä-ḥä': to stroke or rub

## מֶתְּ mā'-äḥ (n.) fat, marrowy; rich, noble

5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.

Primitive Root: מֵרָא/mä-rä': to rebel

## מְרִיא [mɛ-rē' (n.) fat, fattened, well fed; (subst.) fattened beast

See Beast

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּץ |shä'-män: to shine

# אָבּעָ shä'-män (v.) to be or become fat; to make fat, unfeeling; to be fattened; to cover

6:10 **Make** the heart of this people **fat**, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.

## מְשָׁמָן mēsh-män' (n.) fat, fatness, fat or fertile soil; fat or strong soldier, strong warrior

10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his **fat ones** leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.

17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.

## שֶׁבֵּעְ |shɛʾ-mɛn (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with **ointment**.
- 5:1 And then will I sing to my well-beloved a song of my beloved touching his vineyard. My well beloved hath a vineyard in a very **fruitful** hill;
- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed because of the **anointing**.
- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the **fat** valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made **fat** with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the **fat** of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust made **fat** with fatness.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious **ointment**, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with **ointment**, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.

61:3 To **appoint** unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the **oil** of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

#### FATHER

Primitive Word: אָב/äv: father

## |äv (n.) father

- 3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his **father**, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our ruler, and let not this ruin come under thy hand;
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy **father's** house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from Judah; even the king of Assyria.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My **father**, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting **Father**, The Prince of Peace.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their **fathers**; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a **father** to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 22:24 And they shall hang upon him all the glory of his **father's** house, the offspring and the issue, all vessels of small quantity, from the vessels of cups, even to all the vessels of flagons.
- 37:12 Have the gods of the nations delivered them which my **fathers** have destroyed, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the children of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy **father**, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 38:19 The living, the living, he shall praise thee, as I do this day; the father to the children shall make known thy truth.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy **fathers** have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; nothing shall be left, saith the Lord.
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.
- 45:10 Woe unto him that saith unto his father, What begettest thou? or to the woman, What hast thou brought forth?
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy **father**; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our **Father**, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel acknowledge us not; thou, O Lord, art our **Father**, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.
- 64:8 But now, O Lord, thou art our Father; we are the clay, and thou our potter; and we all are the work of thy hand.
- 64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our **fathers** praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid waste.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your **fathers** together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.

Primitive Root: אָמֵן/ä-män': to build up or support

# אְמַן |ä-män' (v.) to be firm, support, nurse; to lean upon, hold fast

See Believe

# FATHERLESS.

Primitive Word: יְתוּם/yä-thōm': from an unused root meaning to be lonely

#### vä-thōm' (n.) orphan, forsaken, fatherless

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the **fatherless**, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.

- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their **fatherless** and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the **fatherless**!

#### Favor

Primitive Root: מֵנֵן/ḥä-nän': to bend or stoop in kindness to an inferior

## ְּחְמַנְן ḥä-nän' (v.) to favor, be gracious or kind; to pity, have mercy; to give graciously

See Gracious

Primitive Root: רֵצָה/rä-tsä': to be pleased with

## ן צון |rä-tsōn' (n.) delight, satisfaction, pleasure; goodwill, favor, grace, kindness, willfulness

See Accept

#### FEAR

Primitive Root: גוּר /gür: to turn aside from the road

## מְגוֹר mä-gōr' (n.) fear, dread, terror

31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for **fear**, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.

## מגורָה |m<sup>ε</sup>-gü-rä' (n.) fear, object feared

66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their **fears** upon them; because when I called, none did answer; when I spake, they did not hear; but they did evil before mine eyes, and chose that in which I delighted not.

Primitive Root: אָרֵא'/yä-rā': to fear; morally to revere

#### אליא 'yä-rā' (v.) to fear, be afraid; to fear, reverence; to tremble (for joy); to terrify, make afraid

- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; **fear** not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 8:12 Say ye not, A confederacy, to all them to whom this people shall say, A confederacy; neither fear ye their fear, nor be afraid.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not **afraid** of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people **terrible** from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people **terrible** from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 21:1 The burden of the desert of the sea. As whirlwinds in the south pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the **terrible** land.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong people glorify thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful heart, Be strong, **fear** not; behold, your God will come with vengeance, even God with a recompense; he will come and save you.
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not **afraid** of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not **afraid**; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and **feared**; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 41:10 **Fear** thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy God; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my righteousness.
- 41:13 For I the Lord thy God will hold thy right hand, saying unto thee, Fear not; I will help thee.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.
- 43:1 But now thus saith the Lord that created thee, O Jacob, and he that formed thee, O Israel, **Fear** not; for I have redeemed thee, I have called thee by thy name; thou art mine.

- 43:5 Fear not; for I am with thee; I will bring thy seed from the east, and gather thee from the west;
- 44:2 Thus saith the Lord that made thee, and formed thee from the womb, which will help thee; **Fear** not, O Jacob, my servant; and thou, Jeshurun, whom I have chosen.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that **feareth** the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; **fear** ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be **afraid** of a man that shall die, and of the son of man which shall be made as grass;
- 54:4 **Fear** not; for thou shalt not be ashamed; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be put to shame; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy widowhood anymore.
- 54:14 In righteousness shalt thou be established; thou shalt be far from oppression; for thou shalt not **fear**; and from terror; for it shall not come near thee.
- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or **feared**, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou **fearest** me not?
- 59:19 So shall they **fear** the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains flowed down at thy presence.

#### יָרְאָה'|yēr-ä' (n.) fear, terror; reverence, awe

- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the **fear** of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 11:2 And the Spirit of the Lord shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the **fear** of the Lord;
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the **fear** of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.

#### מוֹרָא mō-rä' (n.) fear, reverence; object of fear; miracle, wonderous deed

8:12 Say ye not, A confederacy, to all them to whom this people shall say, A confederacy; neither fear ye their fear, nor be afraid.

8:13 Sanctify the Lord of hosts himself; and let him be your fear, and let him be your dread.

Primitive Root: עַרַץ/ä-räts': to awe or to dread

## ערץ ä-räts' (v.) to be afraid, fear; to frighten, terrify

See Afraid

Primitive Root: าาฏฺ /pä-ḥäd': a (sudden) alarm

## שְׁחַבּ |pä-ḥäd' (v.) to tremble, quake, be afraid; to palpitate with joy

- 2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the **fear** of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the **fear** of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will trust, and not be **afraid**; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my strength and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and **fear** because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be **afraid** in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 24:17 Fear, and the pit, and the snare, are upon thee, O inhabitant of the earth.
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the **fear** shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.

- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are **afraid**; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?
- 44:8 **Fear** ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be ashamed; and the workmen, they are of men; let them all be gathered together, let them stand up; yet they shall **fear**, and they shall be ashamed together.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast **feared** continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall **fear**, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.

Primitive Root: שְׁלֵץ/pä-läts': to rend

## päl-lä-tsüth' (n.) honor, trembling, terror

21:4 My heart panted, fearfulness affrighted me; the night of my pleasure hath he turned into fear unto me.

Primitive Root: אָרַלּגיי/rä-gäz': to quiver

## רְגֹּזְ ˈrä-gäz' (n.) commotion, perturbation, agitation, excitement; tumult, rage, disquiet; anger

14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy **fear**, and from the hard bondage wherein thou wast made to serve.

Primitive Root: רְעַד/rä-äd': to shudder

## רַעָד |rä-äd' (n.) trembling, terror, fear

33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; **fearfulness** hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?

#### **FEAST**

Primitive Root: יָעַד/yä-äd': to fix upon

## מועד mō-ād' (n.) fixed or appointed time, season, or festival; assembly, meeting, festive gathering

- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the **congregation**, in the sides of the north;
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our **solemnities**; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.

Primitive Root: שֶׁתֵה/shä-thä: to imbibe

#### מְשְׁתָּה mēsh-tɛ' (n.) drink, place of drinking; banquet, feast, drinking

- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their **feasts**; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a **feast** of fat things, a **feast** of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.

#### Feeble

Primitive Root: פָּבַר/kä-vär': to braid together

## לַבְּיִר (n.) great, large, mighty; much

See Mighty

Primitive Root: בְּשֵׁל/kä-shäl': to totter or waver

#### בשׁל (v.) to totter, stumble, fail; to fall, faint; to become weak; to cause to fall, overthrow

See Stumble

#### **FEED**

Primitive Root: אָכַל/ä-ḥäl': to eat

### אַכַל|ä-ḥäl' (v.) to eat, devour, consume

See Eat

Primitive Root: רְעָה' rä-ä': to tend a flock

## ן צמה' (v.) to feed a flock, pasture, tend; to lead to pasture, guide, protect; (part.) shepherd

- 5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.
- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the **shepherds** make their fold there.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall **feed**, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf **feed**, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle **feed** in large pastures.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of **shepherds** is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 40:11 He shall **feed** his flock like a **shepherd**; he shall gather the lambs with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.
- 44:20 He **feedeth** on ashes; a deceived heart hath turned him aside, that he cannot deliver his soul, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my **shepherd**, and shall perform all my pleasure; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 49:9 That thou mayest say to the prisoners, Go forth; to them that are in darkness, Show yourselves. They shall **feed** in the ways, and their pastures shall be in all high places.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never have enough, and they are **shepherds** that cannot understand; they all look to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.
- 61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your ploughmen and your vinedressers.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the **shepherd** of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall **feed** together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

#### **FELLER**

Primitive Root: בַּרָת /kä-räth': to cut (off, down or asunder)

# |kä-räth' (v.) to cut, cut off; to maim, castrate; to kill, root out, destroy; to cut down, fell

See Cut

#### FELLOW

Primitive Root: תַּבֶּר/ḥä-vär': to join

#### הְבֵּר (n.) associate, companion, fellow

See Companion

Primitive Root: רְעָה/rä-ä: to tend a flock

## rā-ä' (n.) companion, friend, fellow, associate, neighbor

See Neighbor

### **FENCE**

Primitive Root: בְּצַר/bä-tsär': to clip off

### בצר bä-tsär' (v.) to cut off, prohibit; to diminish, shorten; to make steep, fortify

See Defend

Primitive Root: עוַק'ä-zäk': to grub over

#### אָזָק |ä-zäk' (v.) to loosen with a mattock, dig, till

5:2 And he **fenced** it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.

#### FIELD

Primitive Word: בָּרֶם/kɛ'-rɛm: from an unused root of uncertain meaning

## |kär-mɛl' (n.) garden; garden fruits or grains; Mount Carmel

See Fruit(ful)

Primitive Word: שַׁדָה/sä-dɛ': from an unused root meaning to spread out

# אַיָּדֶּה |sä-dɛˀ (n.) plain, field; open or cultivated field, piece or parcel of land; open country, territory, district

- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that lay **field** to **field**, till there can be no place, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's **field**;
- 32:12 They shall lament for the teats, for the pleasant fields, for the fruitful vine.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's **field**.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the **field**, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 43:20 The beast of the **field** shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the **field** shall clap their hands.
- 56:9 All ye beasts of the **field**, come to devour, yea, all ye beasts in the forest.

## שְׁדֵמְה |sh-edā-mä' (n.) field, vineyard, cornfield

- 16:8 For the **fields** of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the **field**, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.

#### **FIERCE**

Primitive Root: חַרָה/hä-rä': to glow or grow warm

# ֹחְרוֹן hä-rōn' (n.) heat, anger, burning (of anger); combustible thing

- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and **fierce** anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his **fierce** anger.

## ֹחֲרֵל (n.) heat, anger heat of anger

7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the **fierce** anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.

Primitive Root: יַעַן/yä-äz: to be bold or obstinate

#### יעז vä-äz (v.) to be bold, be imprudent

33:19 Thou shalt not see a **fierce** people, a people of a deeper speech than thou canst perceive; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.

Primitive Root: אַנוֹא /ä-zäz': to be stout

## צין (adj.) strong, vehement, violent; strong, fortified, powerful, firm; harsh cruel, hard

See Mighty

#### FIG

Primitive Word: תְּאֵנָה/tɛ-ā-nä': perhaps of a foreign derivation

## תְּאֵנָה |t-ā-na' (n.) fig tree, fig

- 34:4 And all the host of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the **fig tree**.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his **fig tree**, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 38:21 For Isaiah had said, Let them take a lump of figs, and lay it for a plaster upon the boil, and he shall recover.

#### **FIGHT**

Primitive Root: לַחַם/lä-ḥäm': to feed on

#### |לַחָם |lä-ḥäm (v.) to eat, consume; to fight, make war, compress

- 19:2 And I will set the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall **fight** everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; city against city, and kingdom against kingdom.
- 20:1 In the year that Tartan came unto Ashdod, (when Sargon the king of Assyria sent him.) and fought against Ashdod, and took it;
- 30:32 And in every place where the grounded staff shall pass, which the Lord shall lay upon him, it shall be with tabrets and harps; and in battles of shaking will he **fight** with it.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and found the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.
- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah king of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.

Primitive Root: צְבָּא/tsä-vä': to mass

## נְצַבָּא ˈtsä-vä' (v.) to go forth (for war); to do military service; to do temple service; to muster

- 29:7 And the multitude of all the nations that **fight** against Ariel, even all that **fight** against her and her munition, and that distress her, shall be as a dream of a night vision.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that **fight** against mount Zion.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to **fight** for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.

#### FILL

Primitive Root: מֶּחָה/mä-ḥä': to stroke or rub

## מחה mä-hä' (v.) to wipe, wipe off or away, blot out; to strike upon; to be full of marrow

See Blot Out

Primitive Root: מֵלֵא/mä-lā': to fill or be full of

## mä-lä' (v.) to be or become full; to overflow, be filled; to fill; to be completed; to fulfil, satisfy

- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are **full** of blood.
- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be **replenished** from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 2:7 Their land also is **full** of silver and gold, neither is there any end of their treasures; their land is also **full** of horses, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 6:4 And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be **full** of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall lie there; and their houses shall be **full** of doleful creatures; and owls shall dwell there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be **full** of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins **filled** with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 22:7 And it shall come to pass, that thy choicest valleys shall be **full** of chariots, and the horsemen shall set themselves in array at the gate.
- 23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of Zidon, that pass over the sea, have replenished.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 28:8 For all tables are full of vomit and filthiness, so that there is no place clean.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are **full** of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is **filled** with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is **accomplished**, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are **full** of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.
- 65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my holy mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that **furnish** the drink offering unto that number.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not **filled** his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.

#### מלא |me-lo' (n.) fulness, that which fills up; multitude, crowd

- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall overflow and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a **multitude** of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the earth hear, and all that is **therein**; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is **therein**; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.

Primitive Root: סְבָּא/sä-vä': to guzzle to satiety

## אָבָא sä-vä' (v.) to drink, drink to excess, quaff; to be drunk

56:12 Come ye, say they, I will fetch wine, and we will **fill** ourselves with strong drink; and tomorrow shall be as this day, and much more abundant.

Primitive Root: רֵוָה/rä-vä': to quench thirst

#### rä-vä' (v.) to overflow, drink copiously; to be debauched; to enjoy; to water, refresh, satiate

See Water

Primitive Root: שַׂבֵע/sä-vä': to sate or fill to satisfaction

# אַבע |sä-vä' (v.) to become satisfied, satiated, or full; to have abundance; to be weary, be tired; to satisfy, satiate

See Satisfy

#### **FIND**

Primitive Root: יְסֵר /yä-säd': to set

## לְשָׁד 'yä-säd' (v.) to found, establish, set; to pile up, build up; to appoint, order, assign

See Lay/Lie

Primitive Root: מָצֵא/mä-tsä': to come forth

## מַצַא mä-tsä' (v.) to come in, arrive at, acquire; to find, discover; to reach, befall; to suffice

- 10:10 As my hand hath founded the kingdoms of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;
- 10:14 And my hand hath **found** as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 13:15 Everyone that is proud shall be thrust through; and everyone that is joined to the wicked shall fall by the sword.
- 22:3 All thy rulers are fled together, they are bound by the archers; all that are **found** in thee are bound together, which have fled from far.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be **found** in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and **find** for herself a place of rest.
- 35:9 No lion shall be there, nor any ravenous beast shall go up thereon, it shall not be found there; but the redeemed shall walk there;
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is **left**.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and **found** the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was **found** in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 41:12 Thou shalt seek them, and shalt not **find** them, even them that contended with thee; they that war against thee shall be as nothing, and as a thing of naught.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be **found** therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 55:6 Seek ye the Lord while he may be found, call ye upon him while he is near;
- 57:10 Thou art wearied in the greatness of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast **found** the life of thine hand; therefore thou wast not grieved.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye **find** pleasure, and exact all your labors.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor **finding** thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words:

- 65:1 I am **found** of them who seek after me, I give unto all them that ask of me; I am not **found** of them that sought me not, or that inquireth not after me.
- 65:8 Thus saith the Lord, As the new wine is **found** in the cluster, and one saith, Destroy it not; for a blessing is in it; so will I do for my servants' sake, that I may not destroy them all.

#### FIR

 $Primitive\ Root$ : לְבְּרוֹשׁ / $b^{\varepsilon}$ -rōsh': from an uncertain derivation

## ברוש |b<sup>ε</sup>-rōsh' (n.) cypress, pine

- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saying, Since thou art laid down, no feller is come up against us.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice **fir trees** thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the **fir tree**, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the **fir tree**, and instead of the brier shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be cut off.
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the **fir tree**, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.

#### FIRE

Primitive Root: אוֹר  $\bar{o}r$ : to be luminous (literally or metaphorically)

## אוֹר (v.) to shine, become light, enlighten

See Light

## אור (n.) flame, the East

- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose **fire** is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the **fire**; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the **fire**;
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the **fire** shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor **fire** to sit before it.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth **fire**, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your **fire**, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.

Primitive Word: אָשׁ āsh: fire

#### אַשׁ|āsh (n.) fire, heat; wrath; splendor, brightness

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are burned with **fire**; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming **fire** by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 5:24 Therefore as the **fire** devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the **fire**; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of hosts is the land darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the **fire**; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a **fire**.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a **fire**, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;

- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the **fire** of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring **fire**.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take **fire** from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring **fire**;
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring **fire**, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is **fire** and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive chaff, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.
- 33:12 And the people shall be as the burnings of lime; as thorns cut up shall they be burned in the fire.
- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the **fire**; for they were no gods, but the work of men's hands, wood and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the **fire**, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the **fire**; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the **fire**;
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the **fire**; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the **fire** shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor **fire** to sit before it.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth **fire**, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your **fire**, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the coals in the **fire**, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the waster to destroy.
- 64:2 As when the melting **fire** burneth, the **fire** causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may tremble at thy presence!
- 64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with **fire**; and all our pleasant things are laid waste
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, come not near to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a smoke in my nose, a **fire** that burneth all the day.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with **fire**, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his anger with fury, and his rebuke with flames of **fire**.
- 66:16 For by fire and by his sword will the Lord plead with all flesh; and the slain of the Lord shall be many.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their **fire** be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

Primitive Root: לָהַט/lä-hät': to lick

## לְהַט|lä-hät' (v.) to burn; to be furious; to kindle, set on fire, consume

42:25 For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on **fire** round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.

#### **FIRST**

Primitive Root: בְּבֶר/bä-ḥär': to burst the womb

#### בלול |be-hōr' (n.) firstborn (man or beast), eldest son

14:30 And the **first-born** of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.

Primitive Word: ראשׁ |rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

# רְאשׁוּן|rē-shōn' or רְאשׁיּת|rā-shēth' (n.) beginning, commencement, origin; former time; first, first fruit, firstling

See Former

#### **FISH**

Primitive Root: דָּגָה/dä-gä': to move rapidly

#### לְגָּה dä-gä' (n.) fish

50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their **fish** to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.

Primitive Root: נָפַשׁ /nä '-fäsh: to breathe

## וְבַּטִּע /ne'-fesh (n.) breath, respiration, life; soul, spirit, mind

See Soul

#### FIVE

Primitive Word: חֲמֵשׁ /ḥä-māsh': a primitive number

## חֲמֵשׁ hä-māsh' (n.) five; fifth part

- 7:8 For the head of Syria is Damascus, and the head of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and **five** years shall Ephraim be broken, that it be not a people.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or **five** in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 19:18 In that day shall **five** cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of **five** shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and **five** thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days **fifteen** years.

#### **FLAME**

Primitive Word: לַהַב |lä'-häv: from an unused root meaning to gleam

# |מַׁהַב|lä'-häv (n.) flame; flaming, glittering steel

- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as **flames**.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the **flame** of devouring fire.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the **flame** of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his anger with fury, and his rebuke with flames of fire.

## |בְּהַבָּת||la-ha-va' or לֵהֶבֶת||la-he-veth' (n.) flame; flaming, glittering steel

- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a **flaming** fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a **flame**; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the **flame** kindle upon thee.

47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the **flame**; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.

Primitive Root: לָשֵׁן/lä-shän': to lick

# אָלְשׁוֹן lä-shōn' (n.) tongue; speech, language; flame

See Tongue

#### FLAX

Primitive Word: פַשׁ/päsh: probably from an unused root meaning to disintegrate

#### בְּשֶׁת |pā'-sheth (n.) flax, linen

19:9 Moreover they that work in fine flax, and they that weave networks, shall be confounded.

# ףְּשִׁתְּה |pēsh-tɛ' (n.) flax, tow; wick

- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the army and the power; they shall lie down together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are quenched as **tow**.

#### FLEE

Primitive Root: בַּרָח/bä-räḥ': to bolt

## bä-räḥ' (v.) to flee, escape; to go or pass through

48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, **flee** ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.

Primitive Root: אוֹנְדָד /nä-däd': to wave to and fro

# רַדַּן nä-däd' (v.) to move about; to flap wings; to wander; to flee (away), escape, fly away; to be cast out

- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that **moved** the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 10:31 Madmenah is **removed**; the inhabitants of Gebim gather themselves to flee.
- 16:2 For it shall be, that, as a wandering bird cast out of the nest, so the daughters of Moab shall be at the fords of Arnon.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 21:14 The inhabitants of the land of Tema brought water to him that was thirsty, they prevented with their bread him that **fled**.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 22:3 All thy rulers are **fled** together, they are bound by the archers; all that are found in thee are bound together, which have **fled** from far.
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people **fled**; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.

Primitive Root: נוּס/nüs: to flit

#### nüs (v.) to flee, move quickly; to hasten; to escape; to chase, drive; to impel

- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of visitation, and in the desolation which shall come from far? To whom will ye **flee** for help? And where will ye leave your glory?
- 10:29 They are gone over the passage; they have taken up their lodging at Geba; Ramah is afraid; Gibeah of Saul is fled.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own people, and **flee** everyone into his own land.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall **flee** far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we **flee** for help to be delivered from the king of Assyria; and how shall we escape?
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who **fleeth** from the noise of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.

- 30:16 But ye said, No; for we will **flee** upon horses; therefore shall ye **flee**; and, We will ride upon the swift; therefore shall they that pursue you be swift.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye **flee**; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall **flee** from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall **flee** away.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall **flee away**.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall **lift up a standard** against him.

Primitive Root: ערא to be strong

## עוּא (v.) to flee, take refuge; to transport in haste

10:31 Madmenah is removed; the inhabitants of Gebim gather themselves to flee.

#### FLESH

Primitive Root: בַּשָׂר/bä-sär': to be fresh

## בְּשִׂר |bä-sär' (n.) flesh, body, living creature

- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat every man the **flesh** of his own arm;
- 10:18 And shall consume the glory of his forest, and of his fruitful field, both soul and **body**; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating **flesh**, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses **flesh**, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be revealed, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he eateth **flesh**; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the fire;
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted **flesh**, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own **flesh**; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all **flesh** shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own **flesh**?
- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which eat swine's **flesh**, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;
- 66:16 For by fire and by his sword will the Lord plead with all **flesh**; and the slain of the Lord shall be many.
- 66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's **flesh**, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one new moon to another, and from one sabbath to another, shall all **flesh** come to worship before me, saith the Lord.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all **flesh**.

#### FLOCK

Primitive Root: צֶּדֶר|ā'-dɛr: to arrange

#### עדר (n.) flock, herd

17:2 The cities of Aroer are forsaken; they shall be for flocks, which shall lie down, and none shall make them afraid.

- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of **flocks**;
- 40:11 He shall feed his **flock** like a shepherd; he shall gather the lambs with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.

Primitive Word: צֹאן tsōn: from an unused root meaning to migrate

## נאל (n.) flock; small cattle (usually sheep or goats); troop

See Sheep

#### FLOOD

Primitive Root: מֵלֵל zä-räm': to gush

### ze'-rem (n.) shower (of rain), storm, hailstorm, flood

See Tempest

Primitive Root: נָהַר/nä-här': to sparkle

### וְבַּהַר |nä-här' (n.) stream, river, current; Euphrates, Nile

See River

Primitive Root: צַזַל/nä-zäl': to drip or shed by trickling

## nä-zäl' (v.) to flow down, run down; to overflow, spread; to descend

See Pour

#### **FLOURISH**

Primitive Root: מְבֶּרָח/pä-räḥ': to break forth as a bud

# pä-räḥ' (v.) to break out; to sprout, blossom, bud forth, flourish; to thrive, prosper

See Blossom

#### **FLOW**

Primitive Root: לֵלל/zä-läl': to shake

## zä-läl' (v.) to shake, make tremble; to pour out, shake out; to despise

64:1 Oh that thou wouldest rend the heavens, that thou wouldest come down, that the mountains might **flow down** at thy presence, 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains **flowed down** at thy presence.

Primitive Root: נָהַר/nä-här': to sparkle

#### nä-här' (v.) to flow, flow together, run; to crowd to; to shine, give light; to be glad, rejoice

- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall **flow** unto it;
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and **flow together**, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.

Primitive Root: נְזֵל/nä-zäl': to drip or shed by trickling

## nä-zäl' (v.) to flow down, run down; to overflow, spread; to descend

See Pour

Primitive Root: างชุ่/shä-täf': to gush

## าง swiftly shä-täf' (v.) to gush out, flow out abundantly; to inundate, overwhelm; to rush swiftly

See Overflow

#### FLOWER

Primitive Root: גְצַץ/nä-tsäts': to glare

### וְצְּהֹ |nets-tsä' (n.) flower, blossom

18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the **flower**, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.

Primitive Root: צוּץ/tsüts: to twinkle

#### ציץ tests (n.) gold plate, shining plate, diadem; blossom, flower; wing

- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading **flower**, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the **flower** fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:8 The grass withereth, the **flower** fadeth; but the word of our God shall stand forever.

#### ציצַה (n.) flower

28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading **flower**, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.

#### FOLD

Primitive Root: מָרָה/nä-vä': to rest (as at home)

# nä-ve' (adj.) dwelling, abiding; (subst.) habitation, pasture; comely, beautiful, lovely

See Habitation

Primitive Root: רְבַץ/rä-väts': to crouch (on all four legs folded)

 $|r\ddot{a}$ -väts' (v.) to lie down, lie with; to recline, repose, rest; to make to lie down (flock), to lay stones

See Lay/Lie

## FOLLOW

Primitive Root: רֲדַק/rä-däk: to run after

## רַדִּק|rä-däk (v.) to follow, pursue, run after; to chase, drive away, put to flight

- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and **followeth** after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 5:11 Woe unto them that rise up early in the morning, that they may **follow** strong drink, and that continue until night, and wine inflame them!
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be **chased** as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 30:16 But ye said, No; for we will flee upon horses; therefore shall ye flee; and, We will ride upon the swift; therefore shall they that **pursue** you be swift.
- 41:3 He pursued them, and passed safely; even by the way that he had not gone with his feet.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that **follow after** righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.

## F00T/FEET

Primitive Root: בּוֹס/büs: to trample

## שניס |büs (v.) to tread down, crush; to trample upon, tread with feet

See Tread/Trod

#### מבּוּסֶה me-vü-sä (n.) a treading, trampling down; a subduing

See Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: אָרֵין/yä-ḥäf': from an unused root meaning to take off the shoes

## אָצַין/yä-ḥäf' (n.) unshod, barefoot

- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and **barefoot**.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and **barefoot** three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and **barefoot**, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.

Primitive Root: פֵּעֶם/pä-äm': to tap

## pä'-äm (n.) anvil, stroke; step, footstep, tread, pace

26:6 The foot shall tread it down, even the feet of the poor, and the **steps** of the needy.

37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.

Primitive Root: רֻגַל/rä-gäl': to lead about

## רְגֵל (n.) foot, leg; step, gait, pace, tread; pudenda

- 1:6 From the sole of the **foot** even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.
- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their **feet**;
- 6:2 Above it stood the scraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the king of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the **feet**; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy **foot**. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 26:6 The **foot** shall tread it down, even the **feet** of the poor, and the steps of the needy.
- 28:3 The crown of pride, the drunkards of Ephraim, shall be trodden under feet;
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his **foot**, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 41:3 He pursued them, and passed safely; even by the way that he had not gone with his feet.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy **feet**; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the **feet** of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy **foot** from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words:
- 59:7 Their **feet** run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my **feet** glorious.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy **feet**; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my **footstool**; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?

#### **FORCES**

Primitive Root: אָיוֹתוּל: to twist or whirl

## יַּיִל (n.) strength, power, might, valor; ability, wealth, riches; forces, host, army

See Rich

#### FOREST

Primitive Root: יצין צע' -är: from an unused root probably meaning to thicken with verdure

### יַעֵּר' yä'-är (n.) thicket, wood, forest; wild honey, honeycomb

- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the **wood** are moved with the wind.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the **forest**, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 10:18 And shall consume the glory of his **forest**, and of his fruitful field, both soul and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 10:19 And the rest of the trees of his **forest** shall be few, that a child may write them.
- 10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.
- 21:13 The burden upon Arabia. In the forest in Arabia shall ye lodge, O ye traveling companies of Dedanim.
- 22:8 And he discovered the covering of Judah, and thou didst look in that day to the armor of the house of the forest.
- 29:17 Is it not yet a very little while, and Lebanon shall be turned into a fruitful field, and the fruitful field shall be esteemed as a **forest**?
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be poured upon us from on high, and the wilderness be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be counted for a **forest**.
- 32:19 When it shall hail, coming down on the forest; and the city shall be low in a low place.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the **forest** of his Carmel.
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the **forest**; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 56:9 All ye beasts of the field, come to devour, yea, all ye beasts in the forest.

## Forever

Primitive Root: נְצַח 'rä'-tsäḥ: to glitter from afar

## וְצַצַּח: '-tsäḥ (n.) splendor, glory; truth, sincerity; faith, fidelity; perpetuity, duration; perfection

- 13:20 It shall **never** be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in **victory**; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall **ever** be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 34:10 It shall not be quenched night nor day; the smoke thereof shall go up forever; from generation to generation it shall lie waste; none shall pass through it **forever and ever**.
- 57:16 For I will not contend forever, neither will I be **always** wroth; for the spirit should fail before me, and the souls which I have made.

Primitive Root: עַרָה/ä-dä: to advance

#### מלן äd (n.) duration, advance, perpetuity, eternity

- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The **everlasting** Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 26:4 Trust ye in the Lord forever; for in the Lord JEHOVAH is everlasting strength.

- 30:8 Now go, write it before them in a table, and note it in a book, that it may be for the time to come forever and ever;
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth **eternity**, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember iniquity forever; behold, see, we beseech thee, we are all thy people.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.

Primitive Root: עַלֶם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

# עוֹלָם -läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

#### FORGIVE

Primitive Root: נָשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

# וְנְשָׂא|nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

## FORMER

Primitive Word: אָטי |rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

# רְאשׁוּן rē-shōn' or רְאשׁית rā-shēth' (n.) beginning, commencement, origin; former time; first, first fruit, firstling

- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the **first**, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the **first** he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.
- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and show us what shall happen; let them show the **former things**, what they be, that we may consider them, and know the latter end of them; or declare us things for to come.
- 41:27 The first shall say to Zion, Behold, behold them; and I will give to Jerusalem one that bringeth good tidings.
- 42:9 Behold, the former things are come to pass, and new things do I declare; before they spring forth I tell you of them.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us **former things**? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 43:18 Remember ye not the former things, neither consider the things of old.
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of Israel, and his Redeemer the Lord of hosts; I am the **first**, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 48:3 I have declared the **former things** from the beginning; and they went forth out of my mouth, and I showed them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.
- 48:12 Hearken unto me, O Jacob and Israel, my called; I am he; I am the first, I also am the last.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down **aforetime** into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the **former** desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their **former** work into their bosom.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the **former** troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.
- 65:17 For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth; and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind.

### FORSAKE

Primitive Root: נָטָשׁ/nä-täsh': to pound

# וְבֶּטִשׁ|nä-täsh' (v.) to stretch, extend, spread; to scatter, disperse; to draw (sword), brandish; to be forsaken

- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast **forsaken** thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are **stretched out**, they are gone over the sea.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be **forsaken**; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are **loosed**; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame take the prey.

Primitive Root: עָזַב/ä-zäv': to loosen

## |ä-zäv' (v.) to loosen, release, set free; to leave, forsake, abandon; to cease, omit, relax

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have **forsaken** the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be **forsaken** of both her kings.
- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of visitation, and in the desolation which shall come from far? To whom will ye flee for help? And where will ye **leave** your glory?
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are **left**, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 17:2 The cities of Aroer are forsaken; they shall be for flocks, which shall lie down, and none shall make them afraid.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a **forsaken** bough, and an uppermost branch, which they **left** because of the children of Israel; and there shall be desolation.
- 18:6 They shall be **left** together unto the fowls of the mountains, and to the beasts of the earth; and the fowls shall summer upon them, and all the beasts of the earth shall winter upon them.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation **forsaken**, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be **left** desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not **forsake** them.
- 42:16 And I will bring the blind by a way that they knew not; I will lead them in paths that they have not known; I will make darkness light before them, and crooked things straight. These things will I do unto them, and not **forsake** them.
- 49:14 But Zion said, The Lord hath forsaken me, and my Lord hath forgotten me.
- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a woman **forsaken** and grieved in spirit, and a wife of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy
- 54:7 For a small moment have I forsaken thee; but with great mercies will I gather thee.
- 55:7 Let the wicked **forsake** his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and **forsook** not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been **forsaken** and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an eternal excellency, a joy of many generations.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed **Forsaken**; neither shall thy land any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy land Union; for the Lord delighteth in thee, and thy land shall be married.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 65:11 But ye are they that **forsake** the Lord, that forget my holy mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that number.

Primitive Root: שַׁלֵח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

## שְׁלַח |shä-läḥ' (v.) to send out, stretch out, extend; to dismiss, let go, send away; to send word

See Send

#### FORTIFY

Primitive Root: בְּצַר/bä-tsär': to clip off

## bä-tsär' (v.) to cut off, prohibit; to diminish, shorten; to make steep, fortify

See Defend

#### FOUNTAIN

Primitive Word: עָיָן ä'-yēn: an eye

## מַענַן mä-yän' (n.) place of fountains; fountain, spring

12:3 Therefore with joy shall ye draw water out of the wells of salvation.

41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and **fountains** in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.

#### FOUR

Primitive Root: רֶבַע/rä-vä': to be four (sided)

#### אָרְבַּע|är-bä' (n.) four, fourth; fourfold; (pl.) forty

- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the **four** corners of the earth.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, **four** or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the **fourteenth** year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.

## FRUIT(FUL)

Primitive Root: בְּבֶר/bä-ḥär': to burst the womb

## שבנור | bek-kür' (n.) first fruits, firstlings; early grapes or corn

28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the **hasty fruit** before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.

Primitive Word: בֵּרֶם/kɛ'-rɛm: from an unused root of uncertain meaning

#### בְּרָמֵל|kär-mɛl' (n.) garden; garden fruits or grains; Mount Carmel

- 10:18 And shall consume the glory of his forest, and of his **fruitful field**, both soul and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the **plentiful field**; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 29:17 Is it not yet a very little while, and Lebanon shall be turned into a **fruitful field**, and the **fruitful field** shall be esteemed as a forest?
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be poured upon us from on high, and the wilderness be a **fruitful field**, and the **fruitful field** be counted for a forest.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.

Primitive Root: נוּב/nüv: to germinate

#### וֹנִיב |nēv (n.) produce, fruit; speech (praise)

57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.

### תנובה |t-nü-vä' (n.) produce, fruit

27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.

Primitive Root: בְּרָה 'pä'-rä: to bear fruit

### pä'-rä (v.) to break froth, bear fruit, be fertile; to bring forth (children)

- 11:1 And there shall come forth a rod out of the stem of Jesse, and a Branch shall grow out of his roots;
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost **fruitful** branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 32:12 They shall lament for the teats, for the pleasant fields, for the **fruitful** vine.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them **bring forth** salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.

### בְּרִי (n.) fruit; offspring; results, consequences

- 3:10 Say unto the righteous, that it is well with them; for they shall eat the fruit of their doings.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the **fruit** of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the **fruit** of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the **fruit** of the womb; their eye shall not spare children.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his **fruit** shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the **fruit** to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the **fruit** thereof.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.

Primitive Root: אָקוּץ/küts: to clip off

#### እንጀ/kä'-yēts (n.) harvest of fruits, summer, harvest summer fruits (figs); summer, warm season

See Summer

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵן shä'-män: to shine

#### שְׁמֵן she'-men (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

See Anoint

#### FRUSTRATE

Primitive Root: מְפַרָר /pä-rär': to break up

#### pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

See Break

#### Furnace

Primitive Root: אוֹבוּר: from an unused root meaning properly to dig through

#### לול |kür (n.) furnace, oven

48:10 Behold, I have refined thee, but not with silver; I have chosen thee in the furnace of affliction.

#### **FURNISH**

Primitive Root: מְלַא/mä-lā': to fill or be full of

מְלַא |mä-lä' (v.) to be or become full; to overflow, be filled; to fill; to be completed; to fulfil, satisfy

See Fill

#### **FURY**

Primitive Root: יַחַם/yä-ḥäm': probably to be hot

### חַמֵּה (n.) warmth, heat, anger, wrath; poison

- 27:4 **Fury** is not in me; who would set the briers and thorns against me in battle; I would go through them, I would burn them together.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his **fury** upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 42:25 [42:24-25] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the **fury** of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the **fury** of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the **fury** of the oppressor?
- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast drunk at the hand of the Lord the cup of his **fury**; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the **fury** of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my **fury**; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will repay, **fury** to his adversaries, recompense to his enemies; to the islands he will repay recompense.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my **fury**; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.
- 63:5 And I looked, and there was none to help; and I wondered that there was none to uphold; therefore mine own arm brought salvation unto me; and my **fury**, it upheld me.
- 63:6 And I will tread down the people in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his anger with **fury**, and his rebuke with flames of fire.

# WORD-LINKS "G"

#### GARDEN

Primitive Root: גְּנֵן/gä-nän': to hedge about

## gän (n.) garden, orchard, park

- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the **garden** of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered **garden**, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.

## |gän-nä' (n.) garden, grove

- 1:29 For they shall be ashamed of the oaks which ye have desired, and ye shall be confounded for the gardens that ye have chosen.
- 1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the **garden** causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.
- 65:3 A people that provoketh me to anger continually to my face; that sacrificeth in **gardens**, and burneth incense upon altars of brick;
- 66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the **gardens** behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

Primitive Word: קִּשָּׁא |kēsh-shū': from an unused root meaning to be hard

## מְקְשֵׁה mek-shä' (n.) field set with cucumbers

1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.

#### GARMENT

Primitive Root: בְּגַד /bä-gäd': to cover (with garment)

## שבנד |be'-ged (n.) covering, cloth, garment, dress, robe

- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their **clothes** rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:1 And it came to pass, when king Hezekiah heard it, that he rent his **clothes**, and covered himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the Lord.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a **garment**, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a **garment**, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a **garment**, and the worm shall eat them like wool; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my salvation from generation to generation.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful **garments**, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become **garments**, neither shall they cover themselves with their works; their works are works of iniquity, and the act of violence is in their hands.
- 59:17 For he put on righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his head; and he put on the **garments** of vengeance for clothing, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the **garments** of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed **garments** from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.
- 63:2 Wherefore art thou red in thine apparel, and thy garments like him that treadeth in the winefat?
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my **garments**, and I will stain all my raiment.

Primitive Word: perhaps derived from psp. se'-mel, derived from an unused root meaning to resemble

## שֹמֵלָה |sēm-lä' (n.) garment, dress, mantle, cloak

See Cloth

Primitive Root: עטה/ä-tä': to wrap

# מעטה mä-ä-te (n.) veil, garment, covering

61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

#### GATE

Primitive Root: דָּלָה'/dä-lä': to dangle

## לֶּתֹת (n.) folding door, leaf of a door; doorway, gate, opening

- 26:20 Come, my people, enter thou into thy chambers, and shut thy **doors** about thee; hide thyself as it were for a little moment, until the indignation be overpast.
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved **gates**; and the **gates** shall not be shut;
- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the crooked places straight; I will break in pieces the **gates** of brass, and cut in sunder the bars of iron:
- 57:8 Behind the **doors** also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou sawest it.

Primitive Root: פַתַח/pä-thäḥ: to open wide

## pe-thäh' (n.) opening, entrance, door; gate

- 3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the **gates** of the nobles.

Primitive Root: שַׁעֵר/shä-är': to split or open

#### שׁעֵל sha'-ar (n.) gate, entrance, forum; a measure

- 14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 22:7 And it shall come to pass, that thy choicest valleys shall be full of chariots, and the horsemen shall set themselves in array at the gate.
- 24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is smitten with destruction.
- 26:2 Open ye the gates, that the righteous nation which keepeth the truth may enter in.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 29:21 That make a man an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the **gate**, and turn aside the just for a thing of nought.
- 38:10 I said in the cutting off of my days, I shall go to the gates of the grave; I am deprived of the residue of my years.
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved **gates**; and the **gates** shall not be shut;
- 54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.
- 60:11 Therefore thy **gates** shall be open continually; they shall not be shut day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the forces of the Gentiles, and that their kings maybe brought.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.
- 62:10 Go through, go through the **gates**; prepare ye the way of the people; cast up, cast up the highway; gather out the stones; lift up a standard for the people.

#### GATHER

Primitive Root: ሳርጲ/ä-säf: to gather for any purpose

# אְשְׁלֵּאָ |ä-säf' (v.) gather, assemble (people), collect (harvest); to close a march or bring up the rear, protect

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to **take away** our reproach.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one **gathereth** eggs that are left, have I **gathered** all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall **assemble** the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations **gathered together**; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 16:10 And gladness is **taken away**, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman **gathereth** the corn, and reapeth the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 24:22 And they shall be **gathered** together, as prisoners are gathered in the pit, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 33:4 And your spoil shall be gathered like the gathering of the caterpillar; as the running to and fro of locusts shall he run upon them.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be **assembled**; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not **gathered**, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 52:12 For ye shall not go out with haste, nor go by flight; for the Lord will go before you; and the God of Israel will be your rearward.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful men are **taken away**, none considering that the righteous is **taken away** from the evil to come.
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy **rearward**.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon **withdraw** itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.
- 62:9 But they that have **gathered** it shall eat it, and praise the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the courts of my holiness.

## אָסֶר (n.) collection, gathering, harvest

32:10 Many days and years shall ye be troubled, ye careless women; for the vintage shall fail, the gathering shall not come.

33:4 And your spoil shall be gathered like the gathering of the caterpillar; as the running to and fro of locusts shall he run upon them.

#### אַלְפַה |ä-sā-fä' (n.) a gathering, assemblage; seizure, imprisonment

24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are **gathered** in the pit, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.

Primitive Root: גוֹר /gür: to turn aside from the road

#### אור (v.) to tarry, sojourn, dwell (as strangers), to lodge

See Stranger

Primitive Root: דָגר/dä-gär': to brood over eggs or young

#### לגר dä-gär'(v.) to gather; to hatch

34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and **gather** under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be gathered, everyone with her mate.

Primitive Root: לָקט/lä-kät': to pick up

## לקט lä-kät' (v.) to pick up, collect, glean; to gather, collect; to gather, assemble

- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the corn, and reapeth the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that **gathereth** ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be **gathered** one by one, O ye children of Israel.

Primitive Root: מָלֵה /nä-zä': to spurt

# nä-zä' (v.) to spurt, sprinkle, spatter; to exult

See Sprinkle

Primitive Root: סְקַל/sä-käl': to be weighty

## |sä-käl' (v.) to stone; to cover with stones; to clear from stones, remove stones from

See Stone

Primitive Root: עור to be strong

#### עני (v.) to flee, take refuge; to transport in haste

See Flee

Primitive Root: קבֹץ/kä-väts': to grasp

## לבץ kä-väts' (v.) to grasp, gather, assemble; to seize, take with the hand, receive

- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and **gather together** the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that **no man taketh up**; they shall every man turn to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be **gathered**, everyone with her mate.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath **gathered** them.
- 40:11 He shall feed his flock like a shepherd; he shall **gather** the lambs with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.
- 43:5 Fear not; for I am with thee; I will bring thy seed from the east, and gather thee from the west;
- 43:9 Let all the nations be **gathered together**, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be ashamed; and the workmen, they are of men; let them all be **gathered together**, let them stand up; yet they shall fear, and they shall be ashamed together.
- 45:20 **Assemble** yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 48:14 All ye, **assemble** yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these **gather themselves together**, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 54:7 For a small moment have I forsaken thee; but with great mercies will I gather thee.
- 56:8 The Lord God which **gathereth** the outcasts of Israel saith, Yet will I **gather** others to him, besides those that are **gathered** unto him.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and see; all they **gather** themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be **gathered together** unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their thoughts; it shall come, that I will **gather** all nations and tongues; and they shall come, and see my glory.

## GENERATION

Primitive Root: דור/dür: to gyrate

## לוֹל (n.) generation, an age, a period of a man's life

- 13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from **generation** to **generation**; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.
- 34:10 It shall not be quenched night nor day; the smoke thereof shall go up forever; from **generation** to **generation** it shall lie waste; none shall pass through it forever and ever.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by line; they shall possess it forever; from **generation** to **generation** they shall dwell therein.
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.
- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the worm shall eat them like wool; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my salvation from **generation** to **generation**.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the **generations** of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his **generation**? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many **generations**; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an eternal excellency, a joy of many **generations**.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many **generations**.

#### **GIFT**

Primitive Root: אָׁחַד/shä-ḥäd': to donate

#### שׁחַד shō'-ḥäd (n.) present, gift; bribe

- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth **gifts**, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of **bribes**, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor **reward**, saith the Lord of hosts.

## GLAD

Primitive Root: וְגִיל gēl: to spin around

## gēl (v.) to turn oneself around; to leap (for joy), rejoice, exult; tremble, shake for fear

Rejoice

Primitive Root: שׁוּשׁ/süs: to be bright

#### שוש süs (v.) to leap, rejoice, exult, be glad

See Rejoice

# שְׁשׁוֹן|sä-sōn' (n.) joy, gladness

See Joy

Primitive Root: שְׁמֵח/sä-mäḥ': possibly meaning to brighten up

## אַמח sä-mäḥ' (v.) to be glad, be cheerful, be joyful or merry, rejoice; to gladden, cheer

See Rejoice

## שֹׁמְחַה |sēm-ḥä' (n.) joy, gladness, rejoicing; feast, banquet

See Joy

## **G**LASSES

Primitive Root: אֵלָה'/gä-lä': to denude

## וְגְּלִיוֹן gēl-lä-yōn' (n.) tablet, polished plate, mirror

See Roll

#### **GLORY**

Primitive Root: אַבר/ä-vär': to soar

# אַבִּיר |a-vēr' (adj.) mighty, strong, powerful

See Mighty

Primitive root: הַדָר/hä-där': to swell up

## וְתַּדְר |hä-där' (v.) to be large, be swollen; to adorn, honor; to boast, act proudly

- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the **crooked places** straight; I will break in pieces the gates of brass, and cut in sunder the bars of iron:
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is **glorious** in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

## קרַ hä-där' (n.) adorning, decoration, splendor, ornament; honor, glory; pride, highness

- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the **glory** of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their **glory**, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the **excellency** of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the **excellency** of our God.
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor **comeliness**; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.

Primitive Root: הוֹד |hōd: from an unused root meaning grandeur

#### hōd (n.) majesty; splendor, freshness, beauty

30:30 And the Lord shall cause his **glorious** voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.

Primitive Root: הְלֵלל/hä-läl': to be clear (of sound or color)

# |hä-läl' (v.) to be clear, be brilliant or shine; to praise, glorify, celebrate; to be insolent, foolish, mad

- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not **give** their light; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to shine.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt **glory** in the Holy One of Israel.
- 64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid waste.
- 44:25 That frustrateth the tokens of the liars, and maketh diviners **mad**; that turneth wise men backward, and maketh their knowledge foolish;
- 45:25 In the Lord shall all the seed of Israel be justified, and shall glory.
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall eat it, and **praise** the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the courts of my holiness.

Primitive Root בָּבֶּר/kä-väd': to be heavy

## לבלן kä-väd' (v.) to be heavy, be weighty; to be honored; to make illustrious; to get renoun

See Honor

## לבבוֹד (kä-vōd' (n.) heaviness; honor, glory, majesty, splendor; abundant riches, wealth

- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his **glory**.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and **glorious**, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the **glory** of Zion shall be a defense.
- 5:13 Therefore my people are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their **honorable** men are famished, and their multitude dried up with thirst.
- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, strong and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his **glory**; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of visitation, and in the desolation which shall come from far? To whom will ye flee for help? And where will ye leave your **glory**?
- 10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his **glory** he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 10:18 And shall consume the **glory** of his forest, and of his fruitful field, both soul and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the people; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his rest shall be **glorious**.
- 14:18 All the kings of the nations, yea all of them, lie in glory, every one of them in his own house.
- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the **glory** of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the remnant shall be very small and feeble.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the **glory** of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.
- 21:16 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Within a year, according to the years of a hireling, and all the glory of Kedar shall fail;
- 22:18 He will surely violently turn and toss thee like a ball into a large country; there shalt thou die, and there the chariots of thy **glory** shall be the shame of thy lord's house.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 22:24 And they shall hang upon him all the **glory** of his father's house, the offspring and the issue, all vessels of small quantity, from the vessels of cups, even to all the vessels of flagons.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients **gloriously**.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the **glory** of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the **glory** of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be revealed, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 42:8 I am the Lord; that is my name; and my glory will I not give to another, neither my praise to graven images.
- 42:12 Let them give **glory** unto the Lord, and declare his praise in the islands.
- 43:7 Even everyone that is called by my name; for I have created him for my glory, I have formed him; yea, I have made him.
- 48:11 For mine own sake, even for mine own sake, will I do it; for how should my name be polluted? and I will not give my **glory** unto another.
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the **glory** of the Lord shall be thy rearward.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his **glory** from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the Lord is risen upon thee.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his **glory** shall be seen upon thee.
- 60:13 The **glory** of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.

- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall eat the riches of the Gentiles, and in their **glory** shall ye boast yourselves.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy righteousness, and all kings thy **glory**; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.
- 66:11 That ye may suck, and be satisfied with the breasts of her consolations; that ye may milk out, and be delighted with the abundance of her **glory**.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the **glory** of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my **glory**; and they shall declare my **glory** among the Gentiles.

Primitive Root: פְּאַר/pä-är': to gleam

# |pä-är' (v.) to adorn, beautify, glorify

- 10:15 Shall the axe **boast** itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and **glorified** himself in Israel.
- 49:3 And said unto me, Thou art my servant, O Israel, in whom I will be glorified.
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a nation that thou knowest not, and nations that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the Lord thy God, and for the Holy One of Israel; for he hath **glorified** thee.
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will **glorify** the house of my glory.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath **glorified** thee.
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to **beautify** the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be **glorified**.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of rightcoursess, the planting of the Lord, that he might be **glorified**.

# לְּבְּאֻרֵה tēph-ε'-rä or תְּבְאֵרֶת tēph-ε'-reth (n.) ornament, splendor, beauty, magnificence; glory, honor

- 3:18 In that day the Lord will take away the bravery of tinkling ornaments, and cauls, and round tires like the moon,
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and **comely** to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the **glory** of his high looks.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the **beauty** of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 20:5 And they shall be afraid and ashamed of Ethiopia their expectation, and of Egypt their glory.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious **beauty** is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the glorious **beauty**, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,
- 44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the **beauty** of a man; that it may remain in the house.
- 46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy **beautiful** garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my **glory**.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy **glory**.
- 62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the Lord, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.

- 63:12 That led them by the right hand of Moses with his **glorious** arm, dividing the water before them, to make himself an everlasting name?
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a **glorious** name.
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy **glory**; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?
- 64:11 Our holy and our **beautiful** house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid waste.

Primitive Root: צַבַּה/tsä-vä': to amass

## אַבִּי (n.) splendor, glory, beauty, ornament; gazelle, antelope, roe(buck)

- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be **beautiful** and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased **roe**, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the **glory** of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we heard songs, even **glory** to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose **glorious** beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the **glorious** beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,

#### GOAT

Primitive Root: אָתֵד/ä-täd': to prepare

# עתוד |ät-tüd' (n.) he-goat; leader

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the **chief ones** of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and **goats**, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.

#### God

Primitive Word: אוּל/ül: from an unused root meaning to twist

#### |āl: shortened form of אֵלִּל|ä-yēl (n.) God, strong one, mighty one

- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 8:10 Take counsel together, and it shall come to naught; speak the word, and it shall not stand; for God is with us.
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty **God**, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 10:21 The remnant shall return, yea even the remnant of Jacob, unto the mighty God.
- 12:2 Behold, **God** is my salvation; I will trust, and not be afraid; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my strength and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of **God**; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not **God**; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 40:18 To whom then will ye liken **God**? or what likeness will ye compare unto him?
- 42:5 Thus saith **God** the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;

- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no **God** formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no strange **god** among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, that I am **God**.
- 44:10 Who hath formed a god, or molten a graven image that is profitable for nothing?
- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a **god**, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.
- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a **god**, even his graven image; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my **god**.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely **God** is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 45:15 Verily thou art a God that hidest thyself, O God of Israel, the Savior.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just **God**, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a **god** that cannot save.
- 45:22 Look unto me, and be ye saved, all the ends of the earth; for I am God, and there is none else.
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a **god**; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

## אַלוּהַ | <sup>ε</sup>-lō'-äh (n.) God (meaning the one true God)

44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a **God** besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.

# בּלהִים (plural form of אֱלהִּים (ε-lō-hēm' (plural form of אֱלהַּים (n.) Gods

- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the **God** of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 7:11 Ask thee a sign of the Lord thy **God**; ask it either in the depth, or in the height above.
- 7:13 And he said, Hear ye now, O house of David; Is it a small thing for you to weary men, but will ye weary my God also?
- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a people seek unto their **God**? for the living to hear from the dead?
- 8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and curse their king and their **God**, and look upward.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when **God** overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord **God** of Israel.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the **God** of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her **gods** he hath broken unto the ground.
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have heard of the Lord of hosts, the **God** of Israel, have I declared unto you.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord **God** of Israel hath spoken it.
- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my **God**; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our **God**; we have waited for him, and he will save us; this is the Lord; we have waited for him, we will be glad and rejoice in his salvation.
- 26:13 O Lord our God, other lords besides thee have had dominion over us; but by thee only will we make mention of thy name.
- 28:26 For his **God** doth instruct him to discretion, and doth teach him.

- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the **God** of Israel.
- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a **God** of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our **God**.
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful heart, Be strong, fear not; behold, your **God** will come with vengeance, even **God** with a recompense; he will come and save you.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our **God**; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the **gods** of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:19 Where are the **gods** of Hamath and Arpad? where are the **gods** of Sepharvaim? and have they delivered Samaria out of my hand?
- 36:20 Who are they among all the **gods** of these lands, that have delivered their land out of my hand, that the Lord should deliver Jerusalem out of my hand?
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy **God** will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living **God**, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy **God** hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of Judah, saying, Let not thy **God**, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:12 Have the **gods** of the nations delivered them which my fathers have destroyed, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the children of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, **God** of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the **God**, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living **God**.
- 37:19 And have cast their **gods** into the fire; for they were no **gods**, but the work of men's hands, wood and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 37:20 Now therefore, O Lord our **God**, save us from his hand, that all the kingdoms of the earth may know that thou art the Lord, even thou only.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord **God** of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his **god**, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the sword; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the **God** of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 40:1 Comfort ye, comfort ye my people, saith your God.
- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the desert a highway for our God.
- 40.8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our  $\mathbf{God}$  shall stand forever.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your **God**!
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O Jacob, and speakest, O Israel, My way is hid from the Lord, and my judgment is passed over from my God?
- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting **God**, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy **God**; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my righteousness.
- 41:13 For I the Lord thy **God** will hold thy right hand, saying unto thee, Fear not; I will help thee.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the **God** of Israel will not forsake them.
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are **gods**; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and behold it together.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall be greatly ashamed, that trust in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our **gods**.
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of Israel, and his Redeemer the Lord of hosts; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no **God**.

- 45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of darkness, and hidden riches of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the **God** of Israel.
- 45:5 I am the Lord, and there is none else, there is no God besides me; I girded thee, though thou hast not known me;
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no **God**.
- 45:15 Verily thou art a God that hidest thyself, O God of Israel, the Savior.
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the heavens; **God** himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just **God**, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the **God** of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; I am the Lord thy **God** which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my **God**.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my **God** shall be my strength.
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty **God** shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his **God**.
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy **God**, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy **God**.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy **God** that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy **God** reigneth!
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our **God**
- 52:12 For ye shall not go out with haste, nor go by flight; for the Lord will go before you; and the God of Israel will be your rearward.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of Israel; The **God** of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a woman forsaken and grieved in spirit, and a wife of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a nation that thou knowest not, and nations that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the Lord thy **God**, and for the Holy One of Israel; for he hath glorified thee.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our **God**, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 57:21 There is no peace, saith my **God**, to the wicked.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and forsook not the ordinance of their **God**; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take delight in approaching to **God**.
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our **God**, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy **God**, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy **God** thy glory.
- 61:2 To proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;

- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our **God**; ye shall eat the riches of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my **God**; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the Lord, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.
- 62:5 For as a young man marrieth a virgin, so shall thy **God** marry thee; and as the bridegroom rejoiceth over the bride, so shall thy **God** rejoice over thee.
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O **God**, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the **God** of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the **God** of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.
- 66:9 Shall I bring to the birth, and not cause to bring forth? saith the Lord; shall I cause to bring forth, and shut the womb? saith thy **God**.

Primitive Root: הָּיָה/hä-yä': to be or exist

## יהוָה' y<sup>ε</sup>-hō'-vä (prop. n.) Jehovah, meaning the Existing One

See Jehovah

Primitive Root: צוּר /tsür: to cramp

## נאני (n.) stone, pebble; rock, refuge, protection; edge, sharpness; form, shape

See Rock

#### GOLD

Primitive Word: possibly from דְּהַב /de-häv', an Aramaic derivation corresponding to זְּהָב /zä-häv': an unused root meaning to shimmer

## mäd-hā-vä (n.) gold-making, exactness of gold; storehouse of gold

See City

Primitive Root: מָהַב /zä-häv': an unused root meaning to shimmer

## זָּהָב |zä-häv' (n.) gold; gold colored

- 2:7 Their land also is full of silver and **gold**, neither is there any end of their treasures; their land is also full of horses, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 2:20 In that day a man shall cast his idols of silver, and his idols of **gold**, which he hath made for himself to worship, to the moles and to the bats;
- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven images of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of **gold**; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall cast away his idols of silver, and his idols of **gold**, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the **gold**, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 46:6 They lavish **gold** out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring **gold** and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their **gold** with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring **gold**, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

Primitive Root: בַּתַּם kä'-thäm: to carve or engrave

## ke-them' (n.) gold, fine gold

13:12 I will make a man more precious than fine gold; even a man than the golden wedge of Ophir.

Primitive Root: ١١٥/pä-zäz': to refine (gold)

## päz (n.) refined gold, pure gold

13:12 I will make a man more precious than fine gold; even a man than the golden wedge of Ophir.

Primitive Root: צַרַן/tsä-räf': to fuse (metal)

## צרף tsä-räf' (v.) to melt, smelt, refine; to prove, test, examine; to be purified

1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;

- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 41:7 So the carpenter encouraged the **goldsmith**, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be moved.
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a **goldsmith**; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 48:10 Behold, I have refined thee, but not with silver; I have chosen thee in the furnace of affliction.

#### Gomorrah

Primitive Root: עָמֵר/ä-mär': to heap (figuratively to chastise)

## אַמרָה <sup>ä</sup>-mō-rä' (prop. n.) Gomorrah

- 1:9 Except the Lord of hosts had left unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto **Gomorrah**.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.

## GOOD

Primitive Root: בַּשֶׂר/bä-sär': to be fresh

## בְּשֵׂר |bä-sär' (v.) to announce, bear glad tidings, bring good news

See Tidings

Primitive Root: חַלָּק /ḥä-zäk': to fasten upon

#### אָרָקּיּם '(v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

See Take Hold

Primitive Root: חְסֵד /ḥä-säd': to bow (the neck only)

# מְשֵׁד '-sɛd (n.) zeal, love, kindness, benevolence, good-will, favor, benefit, mercy, grace, piety

See Kind

 $Primitive\ Root$ : viv $|t\bar{o}v$ : to be good

#### ווֹנב (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

- 3:10 Say unto the righteous, that it is well with them; for they shall eat the fruit of their doings.
- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 5:20 Woe unto them that call evil **good**, and **good** evil; that put darkness for light, and light for darkness; that put bitter for sweet, and sweet for bitter!
- 7:15 Butter and honey shall he eat, that he may know to refuse the evil, and to choose the **good**.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the **good**, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her kings.

- 39:8 Then said Hezekiah to Isaiah, **Good** is the word of the Lord which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and truth in my days.
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is **good** in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the **precious** ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 41:7 So the carpenter encouraged the goldsmith, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is **ready** for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be moved.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth **good** tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth **good** tidings unto them of **good**, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name **better** than of sons and of daughters; I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be cut off.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is **good**, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a people who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not **good**, and they walk after their own thoughts.

## נונע (n.) goodness, excellence; goods, wealth, property; gladness, cheerfullness

- 1:19 If ye be willing and obedient, ye shall eat the **good** of the land;
- 63:7 I will mention the loving kindnesses of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great **goodness** toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

Primitive Root: יָטֶב/yä-täv': to be or make well

## יַטָב |yä-täv' (v.) to do good, do well; to be beautiful, be pleasant, be lovely; to be glad, be cheerful

See Well

## GOVERNMENT

Primitive Root: מְשֵׁל/mä-shäl': to rule

## מְמִשְּׁלָה |mɛm-shä-lä' (n.) dominion, rule, reign, jurisdiction; prince, chief, ruler

See Dominion

Primitive Root: שַׂרָה/sä-rä': to prevail

#### מְשְׁרֵה mēs-rä' (n.) dominion, lordship

- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the **government** shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 9:7 Of the increase of his **government** and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.

## **GRACIOUS**

Primitive Root: חְיַנֵן/ḥä-nän': to bend or stoop in kindness to an inferior

## וְחַנַּן hä-nän' (v.) to favor, be gracious or kind; to pity, have mercy; to give graciously

- 26:10 Let **favor be showed** to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will **show** them no **favor**.
- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may **be gracious** unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a God of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will **be very gracious** unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.

33:2 O Lord, **be gracious** unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their salvation also in the time of trouble.

#### **GRASS**

Primitive Root: דָּשָׁא/dä-shä': to sprout

## לְּשֵׁא |de'-she (n.) first sprouts, tender grass, tender herb

See Herb

Primitive Root: חֲצֵר/ḥä-tsär': to surround with a stockade

## חַצִּיר (n.) grass, leek

15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.

- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be **grass** with reeds and rushes.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the **grass** on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:8 The **grass** withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our God shall stand forever.
- 44:4 And they shall spring up as among the grass, as willows by the watercourses.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a man that shall die, and of the son of man which shall be made as **grass**;

Primitive Word: עֵשֶׂב a'-sɛv: from an unused root meaning to glisten (or be green)

## עשׂב a'-sev (n.) green herb, greens, plant, vegetable

- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the **grass** of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.

## GRAPE

Primitive Root: בַּאַר/bä-ärz': to dig

#### בּאִשׁים |b<sup>ɛ</sup>-ü-shēm' (n.) (pl. only) bad grapes, unripe or useless grapes

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 5:4 What could have been done more to my vineyard, that I have not done in it? wherefore, when I looked that it should bring forth grapes, it brought forth wild grapes.

Primitive Word: בֹּטֵר |bō'-ser: from an unused root meaning to be sour

## בּסֶר (n.) sour or unripe grapes

18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the **sour grape** is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.

Primitive Root: אָלֵל' a-läl': to effect thoroughly, to glean

#### עללות |ō-lā-lōth' (n.) gleanings, gleaning time

- 17:6 Yet **gleaning grapes** shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 24:13 When thus it shall be in the midst of the land among the people, there shall be as the shaking of an olive tree, and as the **gleaning grapes** when the vintage is done.

Primitive Word: עָנֶב |ā-näv': from an unused root probably meaning to bear fruit

## אַנָב a-näv' (n.) cluster of grapes, berry, raisin

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth **grapes**, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 5:4 What could have been done more to my vineyard, that I have not done in it? wherefore, when I looked that it should bring forth grapes, it brought forth wild grapes.

#### **G**RAVE

Primitive Root: קבר/kä-vär': to inter

## קבר ke'-ver (n.) sepulcher, grave

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy **grave** like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast hewed thee out a **sepulcher** here, as he that heweth him out a **sepulcher** on high, and that graveth a habitation for himself in a rock?
- 53:9 And he made his **grave** with the wicked, and with the rich in his death; because he had done no violence, neither was any deceit in his mouth.
- 65:4 Which remain among the **graves**, and lodge in the monuments; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;

Primitive Root: שָׁאַל/shä-äl': to inquire

## שׁאוֹל|sh<sup>ε</sup>-ōl' (n.) depth, abyss, netherworld, realm of the dead, Hell, Hades

See Hell

## GREATNESS

Primitive Root: רֶבֶב /rä-väv: to cast together

## ארב קורב (adj.) multitude, abundance, number; greatness, largeness, fulness, totality

See Multitude

#### GREEN

Primitive Root: יֻרַק/yä-räk': to split

#### ירק |vä-räk' (n.) greens, herbs, vegetables

37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the **green herb**, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.

## יביק |ye'-rek (n.) greenness, green thing, verdure, foliage

15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.

Primitive Word: רְעַנֵן/rä-ä-nän': from an unused root meaning to be green

## רַעְצַנְן|rä-ä-nän' (adj.) green, succulent, fresh

57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

#### GRIEVE

Primitive Root: חַלָה/hä-lä': to be rubbed or worn

## חֲלָה' (v.) to wear down, be infirm; to be sick, be weak; to be pained, suffer

See Sick

#### חלי (n.) disease, sickness, illness; affliction, sadness, suffering

See Sick

Primitive Root: יֵרֵע/yä-rä': to be broken up (violently)

## יֵרְע /yä-rä' (v.) to tremble, be afraid; to be evil

- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be **grievous** unto him.
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it **displeased** him that there was no judgment.

Primitive Root בָּבֶר/kä-väd': to be heavy

# |לְבַּדּ|kä-väd' (v.) to be heavy, be weighty; to be honored; to make illustrious; to get renoun

See Honor

## |בּבֶּל kō'-ved (n.) heaviness, weight; vehemence, violence; multitude; grievousness

See Heavy

Primitive Root: עַמַל/ä-mäl': to toil

## |ä-mäl' (n.) heavy labor, toil; weariness, trouble, vexation, distress, misery, sorrow, suffering

See Travail

Primitive Root: עַצַב/ä-tsäv': to carve

## אַצב |ä-tsäv' (v.) to toil with pain, suffer, be grieved; to afflict, grieve

- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a woman forsaken and **grieved** in spirit, and a wife of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy God.
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.

Primitive Root: קַשָּׁר /kä-shä': meaning to be dense

## קשָׁת kä-shɛ' (adj.) hard, difficult, cruel, severe, unfeeling; firm, fast, hardened, inflexible

- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the **hard** bondage wherein thou wast made to serve.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a **cruel** lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 21:2 A **grievous** vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his **sore** and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.

## GROUND

Primitive Root: אָדַם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face), blush

## אַדָּמָה' (n.) earth (red or tawny), soil, ground, land, region, country

See Land

 $Primitive\ Root$ : אֵרֵץ  $\varepsilon$ '-rɛts: an unused root probably meaning to be firm

#### אָרֵץ (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See also Country, Earth, Land, World (separated for convenience)

- 3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the **ground**, which didst weaken the nations!
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the **ground**.
- 25:12 And the fortress of the high fort of thy walls shall he bring down, lay low, and bring to the ground, even to the dust.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the **ground**; he bringeth it even to the dust.

- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the **ground**, and thy speech shall be low out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the **ground**, and thy speech shall whisper out of the dust.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the **ground**; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 51:23 But I will put it into the hand of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy soul, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy body as the **ground**, and as the street, to them that went over.
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry **ground**; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.

Primitive Root: יְבֵשׁ /yä-vāsh': to be ashamed, confused or disappointed

## יַבְּשָׁת /yäb-bä-shä' (n.) dry land

44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the **dry ground**; I will pour my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;

Primitive Word: שָׁרֶב /shä-räv': from an unused root meaning to glare

## שׁרַב shä-räv' (n.) heat, mirage

- 35:7 And the **parched ground** shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the **heat** nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.

## Grow

Primitive Root: מַּבְּע/sä-fäḥ': to scrape out

## שבית |sä-fē-äh (n.) rain, flood, an inundation; spontaneous growth, something pouring out

37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as **groweth** of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.

Primitive Root: מְּןפֵּרָה '-rä: to bear fruit

# pä'-rä (v.) to break froth, bear fruit, be fertile; to bring forth (children)

See Fruit(ful)

Primitive Root: קוֹם/küm: to rise

## קמה |kä-mä' (n.) stalk, grain in the stalk, standing corn

- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the **corn**, and reapeth the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be **grown up**.

Primitive Root: שׁוּג/süg: to hedge in

## שוֹא |süg (v.) to hedge in, fence in; to cause to grow

17:11 In the day shalt thou **make** thy plant **to grow**, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.

#### GUIDE

Primitive Root: נַהַל/nä-häl': to run with a sparkle

#### |nä-häl' (v.) to lead, conduct, lead to water; to guard, provide for, sustain protect

- 40:11 He shall feed his flock like a shepherd; he shall gather the lambs with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall **gently lead** those that are with young.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he **guide** them.
- 51:18 And there is none to **guide** her among all the sons whom she hath brought forth; neither is there any that taketh her by the hand of all the sons that she hath brought up.

Primitive Root: נְחָה /nä-ḥä': to guide

# נְּחָה |nä-ḥä' (v.) to lead, guide

57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.

58:11 And the Lord shall **guide** thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.

# WORD-LINKS "H"

#### **HABITATION**

Primitive Root: זָבַל/zä-väl': to reside

## זבול |ze-vül' (n.) habitation, residence, dwelling-place

63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the **habitation** of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?

Primitive Root: מָנָה/nä-vä': to rest (as at home)

## nä-ve' (adj.) dwelling, abiding; (subst.) habitation, pasture; comely, beautiful, lovely

- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the **habitation** forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet **habitation**, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 34:13 And thorns shall come up in her palaces, nettles and brambles in the fortresses thereof; and it shall be a **habitation** of dragons, and a court for owls.
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the **habitation** of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a **fold** of flocks, and the valley of Achor a place for the herds to lie down in, for my people that have sought me.

Primitive Root: שֶׁבֶן/shä-ḥän': to reside or permanently stay

## mēsh-kän' (n.) habitation, dwelling place, haunt; hut, tent; tabernacle, sanctuary, temple

- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast hewed thee out a sepulcher here, as he that heweth him out a sepulcher on high, and that graveth a **habitation** for himself in a rock?
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 54:2 Enlarge the place of thy tent, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine **habitations**; spare not, lengthen thy cords, and strengthen thy stakes;

## HAILSTONE

Primitive Root: בָּנַה /bä-nä': to build

## אֶבֶּן ε'-ven (n.) stone, rock; ore

See Stone

## HAND

Primitive Root: מָלֵק /hä-zäk': to fasten upon

# ְחָיָּק |hä-zäk' (adj.) firm, hardened, sound, powerful, violent; strong, mighty, valiant

See Strong

Primitive Root: T/yäd: the open one, used in many applications both literally and figuratively

## 72|yäd (n.) hand; power, strength

- 1:12 When ye come to appear before me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread my courts?
- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;
- 2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.
- 3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our ruler, and let not this ruin come under thy **hand**;

- 3:11 Woe unto the wicked! for they shall perish; for the reward of their hands shall be upon them.
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his **hands**.
- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his **hand** against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his **hand** is stretched out still.
- 6:6 Then flew one of the seraphim unto me, having a live coal in his hand, which he had taken with the tongs from off the altar;
- 8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and instructed me that I should not walk in the way of this people, saying,
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his **hand** is stretched out still.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his **hand** is stretched out still.
- 9:21 Manasseh, Ephraim; and Ephraim, Manasseh; and they together shall be against Judah. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his **hand** is stretched out still.
- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his **hand** is stretched out still.
- 10:5 O Assyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:10 As my hand hath founded the kingdoms of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;
- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my **hand**, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 10:14 And my **hand** hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his **hand** on the cockatrice' den.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his **hand** again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their **hand** upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his **hand** over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the **hand**, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 13:7 Therefore shall all **hands** be faint, and every man's heart shall melt;
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is purposed upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 17:8 And he shall not look to the altars, the work of his **hands**, neither shall respect that which his fingers have made, either the groves, or the images.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the **hand** of a cruel lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the **hand** of the Lord of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my **hands**, and Israel mine inheritance
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his **hand**; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 23:11 He stretched out his **hand** over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 25:10 For in this mountain shall the **hand** of the Lord rest, and Moab shall be trodden down under him, even as straw is trodden down for the dunghill.
- 25:11 And he shall spread forth his **hands** in the midst of them, as he that swimmeth spreadeth forth his **hands** to swim; and he shall bring down their pride together with the spoils of their **hands**.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy **hand** is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the **hand**.

- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine **hands**, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his **hand**, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall cast away his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which your own **hands** have made unto you for a sin
- 35:3 Strengthen ye the weak **hands**, and confirm the feeble knees.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:19 Where are the gods of Hamath and Arpad? where are the gods of Sepharvaim? and have they delivered Samaria out of my
- 36:20 Who are they among all the gods of these lands, that have delivered their land out of my **hand**, that the Lord should deliver Jerusalem out of my **hand**?
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the **hand** of the king of Assyria.
- 37:14 And Hezekiah received the letter from the **hand** of the messengers, and read it; and Hezekiah went up unto the house of the Lord, and spread it before the Lord.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the work of men's **hands**, wood and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 37:20 Now therefore, O Lord our God, save us from his **hand**, that all the kingdoms of the earth may know that thou art the Lord, even thou only.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small **power**, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's **hand** double for all her sins.
- 41:20 That they may see and know, and consider, and understand together, that the **hand** of the Lord hath done this, and the Holy One of Israel hath created it.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine **hand**, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 43:13 Yea, before the day was I am he; and there is none that can deliver out of my hand; I will work, and who shall let it?
- 44:5 One shall say, I am the Lord's; and another shall call himself by the name of Jacob; and another shall subscribe with his **hand** unto the Lord, and surname himself by the name of Israel.
- 45:9 Woe unto him that striveth with his Maker! Let the potsherd strive with the potsherds of the earth. Shall the clay say to him that fashioneth it, What makest thou? Or thy work, He hath no **hands**?
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the work of my **hands** command ye me.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created man upon it; I, even my **hands**, have stretched out the heavens, and all their hosts have I commanded.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine **hand**; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the **power** of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.
- 48:13 Mine **hand** also hath laid the foundation of the earth, and my right **hand** hath spanned the heavens; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 49:2 And he hath made my mouth like a sharp sword; in the shadow of his **hand** hath he hid me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine **hand** to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 50:2 Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my **hand** shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine **hand**, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine **hand**, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.

- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast drunk at the **hand** of the Lord the cup of his fury; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 51:18 And there is none to guide her among all the sons whom she hath brought forth; neither is there any that taketh her by the **hand** of all the sons that she hath brought up.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine **hand** the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 51:23 But I will put it into the **hand** of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy soul, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy body as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his **hand**.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his **hand** from doing any evil.
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a **place** and a name better than of sons and of daughters; I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be cut off.
- 57:10 Thou art wearied in the greatness of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast found the life of thine **hand**; therefore thou wast not grieved.
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the Lord, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.
- 64:8 But now, O Lord, thou art our Father; we are the clay, and thou our potter; and we all are the work of thy hand.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my **hands** all the day to a people who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they walk after their own thoughts.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their **hands**.
- 66:2 For all those things hath mine **hand** made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the **hand** of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.

Primitive Root: יָמֵץ/yä-män': to be right (physically)

# אַמַן|ä-män' (v.) to turn to the right

See Right

#### ימין /yä-mēn' (n.) right hand, right side; south, southern part; prosperity

See Right

Primitive Root: ๆวฺว/kä-fäf': to curve

## לבוֹ (n.) hand, palm, paw; sole; hollow vessel, bowl, pan, dish

- 1:6 From the **sole** of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.
- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your **hands**, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his **hand** he eateth it up.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his **hands** from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his **hand**, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.
- 38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.
- 49:16 Behold, I have graven thee upon the palms of my hands; thy walls are continually before me.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their **hands**.

- 59:3 For your **hands** are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken lies, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become garments, neither shall they cover themselves with their works; their works are works of iniquity, and the act of violence is in their **hands**.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the **soles** of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the Lord, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.

Primitive Root: קרב/kä-räv': to approach

## קרב (v.) to approach, draw near; to come near, advance; to bring near; to offer, present

See Near

Primitive Root: שָׁמַאל/sä-mäl': to use the left hand or go in that direction

## שׁמַאל|sä-mäl' (v.) to turn oneself to the left; to use the left hand

See Left (Hand)

 $Primitive\ Word$ : שָׁמֵאל /se-mōl': properly, dark (as enveloped)

#### שָׁמֵאל |sɛ-mōl' (n.) left side; left hand; north, north quarter, northern side

See Left (Hand)

Primitive Word: שׁעֵל shō'-äl: from an unused root meaning to hollow out

## שׁעֵל shō'-äl (n.) hollow of the hand; handful

40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the **hollow of his hand**, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?

#### HARLOT

Primitive Root: וְנָה /zä-nä': to commit adultery

## חַצַּיִן zä-nä' (v.) to fornicate, commit adultery; to apostatize, commit idolatry; (part.) harlot

- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of one king; after the end of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a **harlot**.
- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the city, thou **harlot** that hast been forgotten; make sweet melody, sing many songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit **fornication** with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 57:3 But draw near hither, ye sons of the sorceress, the seed of the adulterer and the whore.

#### HARVEST

Primitive Root: קצר/kä-tsär': to dock off or curtail

#### קציר[kä-tsēr' (n.) a harvest, cutting, reaping; harvest time, cut grain; cut bough or branch

- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in **harvest**, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 17:5 And it shall be as when the **harvestman** gathereth the corn, and reapeth the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the **harvest** shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.
- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 18:5 For afore the **harvest**, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.

- 23:3 And by great waters the seed of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.
- 27:11 When the **boughs** thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.

#### Натсн

Primitive Root: בְּקֵע/bä-kä': to cleave

## בָּקַע |bä-kä' (v.) to cleave, sever; to hatch; to split, rend; to open; to break through

- 7:6 Let us go up against Judah, and vex it, and let us make a **breach** therein for us, and set a king in the midst of it, yea, even the son of Tabeal;
- 34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and **hatch**, and gather under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be gathered, everyone with her mate.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb sing; for in the wilderness shall waters **break out**, and streams in the desert.
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he led them through the deserts; he caused the waters to flow out of the rock for them; he **clave** the rock also, and the waters gushed out.
- 58:8 Then shall thy light **break forth** as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rearward.
- 59:5 They hatch cockatrice eggs, and weave the spider's web; he that eateth of their eggs dieth, and that which is crushed breaketh out into a viper.
- 63:12 That led them by the right hand of Moses with his glorious arm, **dividing** the water before them, to make himself an everlasting name?

#### HATE

Primitive Root: שֵׁנֵא/sä-nā': to hate

## שְׁנֵא |sä-nā' (v.) to hate; to be hated; to hate violently

- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and **hated**, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an eternal excellency, a joy of many generations.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that **hated** you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.

## HAUGHTY

Primitive Root: גְּאָה/gä-ä': to mount up

# אַאָרָה' (n.) elevation, magnificence, majesty (of God); pride, arrogancy, insolence

See Pride

Primitive Root: גַּבָּה/gä-vä': to soar

## gä-vä' (v.) to be high; to be elevated, be exalted; to be proud, arrogant, high-minded

- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretched forth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be **exalted** in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 7:11 Ask thee a sign of the Lord thy God; ask it either in the depth, or in the **height** above.
- 52:13 Behold, my servant shall deal prudently, he shall be exalted and extolled, and be very high.
- 55:9 For as the heavens are higher than the earth, so are my ways higher than your ways, and my thoughts than your thoughts.

#### אֲבֹהַ ˈgä-vō'-ä (n.) high, lofty, tall, elevated; proud, arrogant, haughty

- 2:15 And upon every people, and upon every high tower, and upon every fenced wall,
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the **haughty** shall be humbled.

- 30:25 And there shall be upon every **high** mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the **high** mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rüm: to be high, or to raise or rise

## רנם |rüm (n.) height, elevation; pride, haughtiness

- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be humbled, and the **haughtiness** of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the **haughtiness** of men shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his **high** looks.

#### HAY

Primitive Root: מְצֵר/ḥä-tsär': to surround with a stockade

## ּחָצִיר |ḥä-tsēr' (n.) grass, leek

See Grass

#### HEAD

Primitive Root: קַּרַד /kä-däd': to shrivel up

## קדָקד käd-kōd' (n.) to of the head, crown of the head, vertex

3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the **head** of the daughters of Zion, and the Lord will discover their secret parts.

Primitive Word: רֹאשׁ |rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

## רֹאשׁ|rōsh (n.) head; chief, highest, supreme, leader; point, top, summit; first foremost

- 1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.
- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the **head** there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.
- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the **top** of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 7:8 For the **head** of Syria is Damascus, and the **head** of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall Ephraim be broken, that it be not a people.
- 7:9 And the **head** of Ephraim is Samaria, and the **head** of Samaria is Remaliah's son. If ye will not believe, surely ye shall not be established.
- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the king of Assyria, the **head**, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.
- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the **head**; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 15:2 He is gone up to Bajith, and to Dibon, the high places, to weep; Moab shall howl over Nebo, and over Medeba; on all their heads shall be baldness, and every beard cut off.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the **top** of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 19:15 Neither shall there be any work for Egypt, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the **head** of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the **head** of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered

- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the **top** of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their **heads**; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her **head** at thee.
- 40:21 Have ye not known? have ye not heard? Hath it not been told you from the **beginning**? have ye not understood from the foundations of the earth?
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.
- 41:26 Who hath declared from the **beginning**, that we may know; and beforetime, that we may say, He is righteous? yea, there is none that showeth, yea, there is none that declareth, yea, there is none that heareth your words.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the **top** of the mountains.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the **beginning**; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their **heads**; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the **head** of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his **head** as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?
- 59:17 For he put on righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his **head**; and he put on the garments of vengeance for clothing, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.

## HEAL

Primitive Root: חֲבֵשׁ/hä-väsh': to wrap firmly

# מְבַשׁ hä-väsh' (v.) to bind on or to, wrap around; to bind a wound

See Bind (Up)

Primitive Root: רְפֵא /rä-fä': to mend

## רַבַּא |rä-fä' (v.) to bind (wound), heal, cure, restore, mend, help; comfort

- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be **healed**.
- 19:22 And the Lord shall smite Egypt; he shall smite and **heal** it; and they shall return even to the Lord, and he shall be entreated of them, and shall **heal** them.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and **healeth** the stroke of their wound.
- 53:5 But he was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his stripes we are **healed**.
- 57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.

## НЕАР

Primitive Root: גַּלֵל /gä-läl': to roll (literally or figuratively)

## gäl (n.) heap of stones, ruins; fountain, spring, wave

See Waves

Primitive Root: מו/נוּד /nüd: to nod

## מוֹן nād (n.) heap, pile, wall

17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a **heap** in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.

Primitive Root: עוַה'ä-vä': to crook or make crooked

## מְעֵי [m<sup>ε</sup>-ē' (n.) heap of ruins, ruins, rubbish

17:1 The burden of Damascus. Behold, Damascus is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.

#### HEAR

Primitive Root: עָנָה'a-nä': to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

## ä-nä' (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

See Answer

Primitive Root: קשׁב/kä-shäv': to prick up the ears

## קשׁב kä-shäv' (v.) to listen, hearken; to attend, listen; to make attentive

- 10:30 Lift up thy voice, O daughter of Gallim; cause it to be heard unto Laish, O poor Anathoth.
- 21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of horsemen, a chariot of asses, and a chariot of camels; and he **hearkened** diligently with much heed;
- 28:23 Give ye ear, and hear my voice; hearken, and hear my speech.
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that see shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the earth hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or **hearken** and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst **hearkened** to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea;
- 49:1 Listen, O isles, unto me; and **hearken**, ye people, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 51:4 **Hearken** unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a light of the people.

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵע /shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

#### אלמע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 1:19 If ye be willing and **obedient**, ye shall eat the good of the land;
- 6:8 Also I heard the voice of the Lord, saying, Whom shall I send, and who will go for us? Then said I, Here am I; send me.
- 6:9 And he said, Go, and tell this people, **Hear** ye indeed, but they understood not; and see ye indeed, but they perceived not.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 7:13 And he said, Hear ye now, O house of David; Is it a small thing for you to weary men, but will ye weary my God also?
- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be **heard** even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 16:6 We have **heard** of the pride of Moab; of his haughtiness and his pride, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, **hear** ye.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the **hearing** of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have **heard** of the Lord of hosts, the God of Israel, have I declared unto you.
- 24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we **heard** songs, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.
- 28:12 To whom he said, This is the rest wherewith ye may cause the weary to rest; and this is the refreshing; yet they would not hear.

- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made strong; for I have **heard** from the Lord God of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 28:23 Give ye ear, and hear my voice; hearken, and hear my speech.
- 29:18 And in that day shall the deaf **hear** the words of the book, and the eyes of the blind shall see out of obscurity, and out of darkness.
- 30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall **hear** it, he will answer thee.
- 30:21 And thine ears shall **hear** a word behind thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be **heard**, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that see shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from **hearing** of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 33:19 Thou shalt not see a fierce people, a people of a deeper speech than thou canst **perceive**; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to **hear**; and hearken, ye people; let the earth **hear**, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we **understand** it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and cried with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, **Hear** ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.
- 36:16 **Hearken** not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 37:1 And it came to pass, when king Hezekiah **heard** it, that he rent his clothes, and covered himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the Lord.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will **hear** the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath **heard**; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast **heard**, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a blast upon him, and he shall **hear** a rumor, and return to his own land; and I will cause him to fall by the sword in his own land.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and found the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had **heard** that he was departed from Lachish.
- 37:9 And he **heard** say concerning Tirhakah king of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he **heard** it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 37:11 Behold, thou hast **hear**d what the kings of Assyria have done to all lands by destroying them utterly; and shalt thou be delivered?
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:26 Hast thou not **heard** long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed cities into ruinous heaps.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have **heard** thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had **heard** that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 39:5 Then said Isaiah to Hezekiah, Hear the word of the Lord of hosts;
- 40:21 Have ye not known? have ye not **heard**? Hath it not been told you from the beginning? have ye not understood from the foundations of the earth?
- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not **heard**, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.

- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and show us what shall happen; let them show the former things, what they be, that we may consider them, and know the latter end of them; or **declare** us things for to come.
- 41:26 Who hath declared from the beginning, that we may know; and beforetime, that we may say, He is righteous? yea, there is none that showeth, yea, there is none that **declareth**, yea, there is none that **heareth** your words.
- 42:2 He shall not cry, nor lift up, nor cause his voice to be heard in the street.
- 42:9 Behold, the former things are come to pass, and new things do I declare; before they spring forth I tell you of them.
- 42:18 Hear, ye deaf, and look, ye blind, that ye may see.
- 42:20 [42:19] And they shall be made perfect notwithstanding their blindness, if they will **hearken** unto the messenger, the Lord's servant
- 42:21 [42:20] Thou art a people, seeing many things, but thou observest not; opening the ears to hear, but thou hearest not.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and **hear** thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they **obedient** unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and **show** us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them **hear**, and say, It is truth.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have saved, and I have **showed**, when there was no strange god among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, that I am God.
- 44:1 Yet now hear, O Jacob my servant; and Israel, whom I have chosen;
- 44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I **told** thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath **declared** this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 46:3 **Hearken** unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the remnant of the house of Israel, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;
- 46:12 **Hearken** unto me, ye stouthearted, that are far from righteousness;
- 47:8 Therefore **hear** now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;
- 48:1 **Hear** ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:3 I have declared the former things from the beginning; and they went forth out of my mouth, and I **showed** them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.
- 48:5 I have even from the beginning declared it to thee; before it came to pass I **showed** it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath commanded them.
- 48:6 Thou hast **heard**, see all this; and will not ye declare it? I have **showed** thee new things from this time, even hidden things, and thou didst not know them.
- 48:7 They are created now, and not from the beginning; even before the day when thou **heardest** them not; lest thou shouldest say, Behold, I knew them.
- 48:8 Yea, thou **heardest** not; yea, thou knewest not; yea, from that time that thine ear was not opened; for I knew that thou wouldest deal very treacherously, and wast called a transgressor from the womb.
- 48:12 Hearken unto me, O Jacob and Israel, my called; I am he; I am the first, I also am the last.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and **hear**; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, **hear** ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, **tell** this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 49:1 **Listen**, O isles, unto me; and hearken, ye people, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to **hear** as the learned.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that **obeyeth** the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 51:1 **Hearken** unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.

- 51:7 **Hearken** unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 51:21 Therefore hear now this, thou afflicted, and drunken, but not with wine;
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that **publisheth** peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that **publisheth** salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not **heard** shall they consider.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? **hearken diligently** unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to smite with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be **heard** on high.
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be **heard** in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath **proclaimed** unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not **heard**, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in Jerusalem, and joy in my people; and the voice of weeping shall be no more **heard** in her, nor the voice of crying.
- 65:24 And it shall come to pass, that before they call, I will answer; and while they are yet speaking, I will hear.
- 66:4 I also will choose their delusions, and will bring their fears upon them; because when I called, none did answer; when I spake, they did not **hear**; but they did evil before mine eyes, and chose that in which I delighted not.
- 66:5 **Hear** the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.
- 66:8 Who hath **heard** such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her children.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not **heard** my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

## משׁמע mēsh-mä' (n.) a hearing, report

11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither reprove after the **hearing** of his ears;

# HEART

Primitive Root: לֶבֶב /lä-väv': to be enclosed

## |dä-väv' (n.) heart; soul, life; senses, emotion, affection

- 1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his **heart** was moved, and the **heart** of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 9:9 And all the people shall know, even Ephraim and the inhabitant of Samaria, that say in the pride and stoutness of heart,
- 10.7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to destroy and cut off nations not a few.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout **heart** of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 13:7 Therefore shall all hands be faint, and every man's heart shall melt;
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine **heart**, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;

- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the **heart** of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 21:4 My heart panted, fearfulness affrighted me; the night of my pleasure hath he turned into fear unto me.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of **heart**, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 32:4 The heart also of the rash shall understand knowledge, and the tongue of the stammerers shall be ready to speak plainly.
- 44:18 They have not known nor understood; for he hath shut their eyes, that they cannot see; and their **hearts**, that they cannot understand.
- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine **heart**, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;
- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine **heart**, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine **heart** shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.

## וֹב (n.) heart; soul, life; senses, emotion, affection

- 6:10 Make the **heart** of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of destruction.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his **heart** will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.
- 33:18 Thine heart shall meditate in terror. Where is the scribe? Where is the receiver? where is he that counted the towers?
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful **heart**, Be strong, fear not; behold, your God will come with vengeance, even God with a recompense; he will come and save you.
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a perfect **heart**, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 40:2 Speak ye **comfortably** to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 42:25 For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 44:19 And none considereth in his **heart**, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived **heart** hath turned him aside, that he cannot deliver his soul, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 46:8 Remember this, and show yourselves men; bring it again to mind, O ye transgressors.
- 47:7 And thou saidst, I shall be a lady forever; so that thou didst not lay these things to thy **heart**, neither didst remember the latter end of it.
- 47:10 For thou hast trusted in thy wickedness; thou hast said, None seeth me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath perverted thee; and thou hast said in thine **heart**, I am, and none else besides me.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose **heart** I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to **heart**; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or feared, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy **heart**? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou fearest me not?
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the **heart** of the contrite ones.
- 57:17 For the iniquity of his covetousness was I wroth, and smote him; I hid me and was wroth, and he went on frowardly in the way of his heart.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the **heart** words of falsehood.
- 63:4 For the day of vengeance is in mine heart, and the year of my redeemed is come.

- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our **heart** from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.
- 65:17 For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth; and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind.
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your **heart** shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.

Primitive Root: שָׁמַח/sä-mäḥ: to brighten up

## שְׁמֵחַ |sä-mā'-äḥ (adj.) rejoicing, joyful, glad, cheerful

24:7 The new wine mourneth, the vine languisheth, all the merryhearted do sigh.

#### HEAT

Primitive Root: חֲמֵם/ḥä-mäm': to be hot

## חֹם hom (n.) heat, warmth

18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear **heat** upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the **heat** of harvest.

Primitive Root: חָרֶב /ḥä-räv': to parch

# חֹרֵב (n.) dryness, drought; desolation, laying waste

- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a shadow in the daytime from the **heat**, and for a place of refuge, and for a covert from storm and from rain.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the **heat**, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the **heat** in a dry place; even the **heat** with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall repair the **waste** cities, the desolations of many generations.

Primitive Word: שַׁרֶב /shä-räv': from an unused root meaning to glare

#### שרב shä-räv' (n.) heat, mirage

See Ground

#### HEAVEN

Primitive Root: ערף/ä-räf': to droop, or drip

#### עריפים |ä-rē-fem' (n.) clouds, heavens, darkness of clouds

5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the **heavens** thereof.

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵים/shä-mä'-yēm: an unused root meaning to be lofty

## אַמְיִם shä-mä-yēm' (n.) heaven, sky, height

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of **heaven**, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 13:10 For the stars of **heaven** and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to shine.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the **heavens**, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from **heaven**, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into **heaven**, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;

- 34:4 And all the host of **heaven** shall be dissolved, and the **heavens** shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in **heaven**; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, God of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made **heaven** and earth.
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out **heaven** with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 40:22 It is he that sitteth upon the circle of the earth, and the inhabitants thereof are as grasshoppers? that stretcheth out the **heavens** as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a tent to dwell in;
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the **heavens**, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 44:24 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the Lord that maketh all things; that stretcheth forth the **heavens** alone; that spreadeth abroad the earth by myself.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created man upon it; I, even my hands, have stretched out the **heavens**, and all their hosts have I commanded.
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the **heavens**; God himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 48:13 Mine hand also hath laid the foundation of the earth, and my right hand hath spanned the **heavens**; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the **heavens** with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the **heavens**, and look upon the earth beneath; for the **heavens** shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the **heavens**, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the **heavens**, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 55:9 For as the heavens are higher than the earth, so are my ways higher than your ways, and my thoughts than your thoughts.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from **heaven**, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 63:15 Look down from **heaven**, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?
- 64:1 Oh that thou wouldest rend the heavens, that thou wouldest come down, that the mountains might flow down at thy presence,
- 65:17 For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth; and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind.
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The **heaven** is my throne, and the earth is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?
- 66:22 For as the new **heavens** and the new earth, which I will make, shall remain before me, saith the Lord, so shall your seed and your name remain.

#### HEAVY

Primitive Root בָּבֶר/kä-vād': to be heavy

|בַּבַּל|kä-väd' (v.) to be heavy, be weighty; to be honored; to make illustrious; to get renoun

See Honor

## |בֹּבֶּל |kō'-ved (n.) heaviness, weight; vehemence, violence; multitude; grievousness

21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.

30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is **heavy**; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;

Primitive Root: מוֹט mōt: to waver

## מוטה mō-tä' (n.) bar, staff; yoke

See Yoke

Primitive Root: עַמֵּס/ä-mäs': to load

## שְׁמֵס |ä-mäs' (v.) to lift up, heave; to bear, carry; to lay upon, bestow; to load up

- 46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your carriages were **heavy laden**; they are a burden to the weary beast.
- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the remnant of the house of Israel, which are **borne** by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;

#### HEED

Primitive Root: קשׁב/kä-shäv': to prick up the ears

## קשׁב|ke'-shev (n.) attention, listening

See Diligent

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

# אָשְׁמֵּר (v.) to keep watch, guard, keep safe, preserve, retain; to observe, attend; to keep; to worship, honor

See Watchman

#### HEIFER

Primitive Root: אָגֹל'; from an unused root meaning to revolve

## צְגְּלָה (n.) cow, young cow, heifer

- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and two sheep.
- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a **heifer** of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of destruction.

## HEIGHT

Primitive Word: במה /bä-mä': from an unused root meaning to be high

## |בְּמָה |bä-mä' (n.) height, high place; stronghold, fortress, castle

See High

Primitive Root: גַּבַה/gä-vä': to soar

## gä-vä' (v.) to be high; to be elevated, be exalted; to be proud, arrogant, high-minded

See Haughty

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rüm: to be high, to rise or raise

## מרוֹם mä-rōm' (n.) height, high, lofty, sublime; loftiness of mind, pride

See High

#### HELL

Primitive Root: שָׁאַל/shä-äl': to inquire

## שׁאוֹל |sh<sup>ε</sup>-ōl' (n.) depth, abyss, netherworld, realm of the dead, Hell, Hades

- 5:14 Therefore **hell** hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 14:9 **Hell** from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.
- 14:15 Yet thou shalt be brought down to hell, to the sides of the pit.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with **hell** are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 28:18 And your covenant with death shall be disannulled, and your agreement with **hell** shall not stand; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.
- 38:10 I said in the cutting off of my days, I shall go to the gates of the grave; I am deprived of the residue of my years.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.

#### HERB

Primitive Root: אוֹר |or: to be luminous (literally or metaphorically)

## אוֹר (n.) light, morning light, illumination; herb

See Light

## אוֹרָה (n.) light; (pl.) herbs, green herbs, vegetables

- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon **herbs**, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of **herbs**, and the earth shall cast out the dead.

Primitive Root: דָּשָׁא /dä-shä': to sprout

#### ליטא de'-she (n.) first sprouts, tender grass, tender herb

- 15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.
- 37:27 Therefore their inhabitants were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the **green herb**, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an **herb**; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.

Primitive Word: אָשֶׂב '-sɛv: from an unused root meaning to glisten (or be green)

#### עשׂב [ā'-sɛv (n.) green herb, greens, plant, vegetable

See Grass

#### HEW

Primitive Root: אָרַע/gä-dä': to fell a tree

## אָדַע |gä-dä' (v.) to hew down, fell; to cut down; to destroy; to break into pieces

See Cut

Primitive Root: אָזָה/gä-zä': to cut off

# גְּיִית ˈgä-zēth' (n.) hewn stones

See Stone

Primitive Root: מֵצֶב /ḥä-tsäv': to cut or carve

## ְחַצְב |hä-tsäv' (v.) to cut, hew, split; to slay, kill

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also **made** a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that **heweth** therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast **hewed** thee out a sepulcher here, as he that **heweth** him out a sepulcher on high, and that graveth a habitation for himself in a rock?
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were **hewn**, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath **cut** Rahab, and wounded the dragon?

Primitive Root: בַּרַת/kä-räth': to cut (off, down or asunder)

# |kä-räth' (v.) to cut, cut off; to maim, castrate; to kill, root out, destroy; to cut down, fell

See Cut

Primitive Root: קמל/kä-mäl': to wither

## קמל |kä-mäl' (v.) to wither away, pine away, die

See Wither

# HEZEKIAH (STRENGTHENED OF GOD)

Primitive Word: combination of יְרוּשְׁא (great grandmother to Hezekiah), and יָה (Jah, the sacred name of Jehovah, a contraction from יְהוֹרָה)

## חַיָּקיָה |hēz-kēy-yä' (prop. n.) Hezekiah

1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and **Hezekiah**, kings of Judah.

Primitive Word: combination of אָזָהְ (to fasten upon or seize) and אָזָ (Jah, the sacred name of Jehovah, a contraction from יָהוֹף (נְהוֹיָה

## יְחָזְקְיָה /y-ɨpēz-kēy-yä' (prop. n.) Hezekiah

- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king **Hezekiah**, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king **Hezekiah** with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:4 And Rabshakeh said unto them, Say ye now to **Hezekiah**, Thus saith the great king, the king of Assyria, What confidence is this wherein thou trustest?
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars **Hezekiah** hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 36:14 Thus saith the king, Let not Hezekiah deceive you; for he shall not be able to deliver you.
- 36:15 Neither let **Hezekiah** make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 36:16 Hearken not to **Hezekiah**; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 36:18 Beware lest **Hezekiah** persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to **Hezekiah** with their clothes rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:1 And it came to pass, when king **Hezekiah** heard it, that he rent his clothes, and covered himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the Lord.
- 37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said **Hezekiah**, This day is a day of trouble, and of rebuke, and of blasphemy; for the children are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.
- 37:5 So the servants of King Hezekiah came to Isaiah.

- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah king of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to **Hezekiah**, saying,
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to **Hezekiah** king of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:14 And **Hezekiah** received the letter from the hand of the messengers, and read it; and **Hezekiah** went up unto the house of the Lord, and spread it before the Lord.
- 37:15 And Hezekiah prayed unto the Lord, saying,
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto **Hezekiah**, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 38:1 In those days was **Hezekiah** sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 38:2 Then **Hezekiah** turned his face toward the wall, and prayed unto the Lord,
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And **Hezekiah** wept sore.
- 38:5 Go, and say to **Hezekiah**, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 38:22 **Hezekiah** also had said, What is the sign that I shall go up to the house of the Lord?
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to **Hezekiah**; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 39:2 And **Hezekiah** was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that **Hezekiah** showed him not.
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto king **Hezekiah**, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And **Hezekiah** said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from Babylon.
- 39:4 Then said he, What have they seen in thine house? And **Hezekiah** answered, All that is in mine house have they seen; there is nothing among my treasures that I have not showed them.
- 39:5 Then said Isaiah to Hezekiah, Hear the word of the Lord of hosts;
- 39:8 Then said **Hezekiah** to Isaiah, Good is the word of the Lord which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and truth in my days.

#### Hide

Primitive Root: חַבַּא/hä-vä': to secrete

## תְּבָּא |hä-vä' (v.) to hide; to hide or conceal oneself, to be hidden

- 26:20 Come, my people, enter thou into thy chambers, and shut thy doors about thee; **hide** thyself as it were for a little moment, until the indignation be overpast.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have **hid** thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.
- 49:2 And he hath made my mouth like a sharp sword; in the shadow of his hand hath he **hid** me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;

#### mä-ḥ<sup>a</sup>-vā' (n.) hiding place

32:2 And a man shall be as a **hiding place** from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.

Primitive Root: טָמַן/tä-män': to hide

#### שְׁמֵל (v.) to hide, conceal, bury; to keep, preserve; to lay a snare

2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.

# מֵּטְמוֹן mä-t $^{\epsilon}$ -mōn' (n.) underground storehouse, hidden place; treasure, hidden treasure, hidden store

45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of darkness, and **hidden riches** of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the God of Israel.

Primitive Root: אָבֶׁחָד /kä-ḥäd': to secrete, by act or word

# לְּמֵל (v.) to hide oneself; to be destroyed; to hide, conceal; to deny, disown

3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot **hide** it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.

Primitive Root: נֵצֵר/nä-tsär': to guard

# וְצַער nä-tsär' (v.) to watch, guard, protect; to inspect, keep, preserve; to observe; to besiege; to hide

See Keep**5** 

Primitive Root: סָתַר/sä-thär': to hid (by covering), literally or figuratively

#### sä-thär' (v.) to hide; to be hidden, be concealed; to guard, defend

- 8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; **hide** the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we **hid** ourselves;
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be **hid**.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to **hide** their counsel from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O Jacob, and speakest, O Israel, My way is **hid** from the Lord, and my judgment is passed over from my God?
- 45:15 Verily thou art a God that hidest thyself, O God of Israel, the Savior.
- 49:2 And he hath made my mouth like a sharp sword; in the shadow of his hand hath he **hid** me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he **hid** me;
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I **hid** not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I **hid** my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 57:17 For the iniquity of his covetousness was I wroth, and smote him; I hid me and was wroth, and he went on frowardly in the way
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that stirreth up himself to take hold of thee; for thou hast **hid** thy face from us, and hast consumed us, because of our iniquities.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are **hid** from mine eyes.

#### מסתר mäs-tār' (n.) hiding place; object for hiding the face

53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with grief; and we **hid** as it were our faces from him; he was despised, and we esteemed him not.

# sā-ther' or סְתְּרָה |sēth-rä' (n.) a covering, veil; shelter, hiding place, protection; a secret

See Secret

Primitive Root: עַלִם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

#### עֵלֶם |ä-läm' (v.) to hide, conceal; (part.) secret sin

- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will **hide** mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou **hide** not thyself from thine own flesh?

#### High

Primitive Word: בְּמָה/bä-mä': from an unused root meaning to be high

## |bä-mä' (n.) height, high place; stronghold, fortress, castle

- 14:14 I will ascend above the heights of the clouds; I will be like the Most High.
- 15:2 He is gone up to Bajith, and to Dibon, the **high places**, to weep; Moab shall howl over Nebo, and over Medeba; on all their heads shall be baldness, and every beard cut off.
- 16:12 And it shall come to pass, when it is seen that Moab is weary on the **high place**, that he shall come to his sanctuary to pray; but he shall not prevail.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose **high places** and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the **high places** of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.

Primitive Root: צַּאַה/gä-ä': to mount up

## [אַאַן gä-ä-vä' (n.) elevation, magnificence, majesty (of God); pride, arrogancy, insolence

See Pride

Primitive Root: גַּבָּה /gä-ä': to mount up

#### gä-vä' (v.) to be high; to be elevated, be exalted; to be proud, arrogant, high-minded

See Haughty

## אֲבֹקּ (n.) high, lofty, tall, elevated; proud, arrogant, haughty

See Haughty

Primitive Root: נְשֵׂא/nä-sä': to lift

# וֹטֵא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: עַלָה'ä-lä': to ascend

#### עליון | sl-yōn' (adj.) high, higher, exalted; supreme, Most High

- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the **upper** pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 14:14 I will ascend above the heights of the clouds; I will be like the **Most High**.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the **upper** pool in the highway of the fuller's field.

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rim: to be high, or to raise or rise

#### רום |rüm (v.) to be high, be elevated; to be lofty, be exalted, be glorified

See Exalt

#### mä-rōm' (n.) height, high, lofty, sublime; loftiness of mind, pride

- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast hewed thee out a sepulcher here, as he that heweth him out a sepulcher on **high**, and that graveth a habitation for himself in a rock?
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on **high** are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall punish the host of the high ones that are on **high**, and the kings of the earth upon the earth.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be poured upon us from on **high**, and the wilderness be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be counted for a forest.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.

- 33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the **height** of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the **height** of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking **upward**; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on **high**, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the **high** and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to smite with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on **high**.

#### רוֹם |rüm (n.) height, elevation; pride, haughtiness

See Haughty

Primitive Root: שַׁגָב/sä-gäv': to be lofty

# מְשְׁגְב mēs-gäv' (n.) height, high place, rock; fortress, protection, refuge

25:12 And the fortress of the high fort of thy walls shall he bring down, lay low, and bring to the ground, even to the dust.

33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.

Primitive Root: שַׁבַּה/shä-fä': to abrade

#### אַפּה shä-fä' (v.) to be bald, be bare; to become naked; (part.) bare, bald, naked

13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the **high** mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.

## שׁבּי |sh-fe' (n.) baldness, bareness, bare place

- 41:18 I will open rivers in **high places**, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 49:9 That thou mayest say to the prisoners, Go forth; to them that are in darkness, Show yourselves. They shall feed in the ways, and their pastures shall be in all **high places**.

#### Нщ

Primitive Word: גַּבַע/gɛ-vä': from an unused root

# גְּבְעָה |gēv-ä' (n.) hill, height

- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the **hills**, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 2:14 And upon all the high mountains, and upon all the hills, and upon all the nations which are lifted up;
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt make the **hills** as chaff.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.

- 54:10 For the mountains shall depart, and the **hills** be removed; but my kindness shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the Lord that hath mercy on thee.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.

Primitive Root: הָרֶרְר/hä-rär': an unused root meaning to loom up

# |här (n.) mountain; range of hills

See Mountain

Primitive Root: קרן/kä-rän': to push or gore

## אָבֶּרֶן ke'-rɛn (n.) horn, horn-vessel, oil-horn, horn of the altar; point, corner, peak, summit

5:1 And then will I sing to my well-beloved a song of my beloved touching his vineyard. My well beloved hath a vineyard in a very fruitful hill;

#### Hiss

Primitive Root: שַׁרַק/shä-räk': to be shrill

#### שְׁרַקּ|shä-räk' (v.) to hiss, whistle; to pipe; to hiss at, mock

- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the nations from far, and will **hiss** unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall **hiss** for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the land of Assyria.

#### HOLY

Primitive Root: קְּדָשׁ kä-däsh': to be or make clean (ceremonially or morally)

# | kä-däsh' (v.) to be holy, be sacred, be consecrated; to declare holy; to keep holy

See Sanctify

#### אָקדוֹשׁ kä-dōsh' (n.) the holy one (e.g., God, angel, etc.); (adj.) holy, sacred, consecrated, pious

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the **Holy** One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are left in Zion, and he that remaineth in Jerusalem, shall be called **holy**, even everyone that is written among the living in Jerusalem;
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his work, that we may see it; and let the counsel of the **Holy** One of Israel draw nigh and come, that we may know it!
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the **Holy** One of Israel.
- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his **Holy** One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the **Holy** One of Israel, in truth.
- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have respect to the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the **Holy** One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 30:11 Get you out of the way, turn aside out of the path, cause the Holy One of Israel to cease from before us.
- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the **Holy** One of Israel, Because ye despise this word, and trust in oppression and perverseness, and stay thereon;

- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the **Holy** One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the **Holy** One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the **Holy** One of Israel.
- 40:25 To whom then will ye liken me, or shall I be equal? saith the **Holy** One.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the **Holy** One of Israel.
- 41:20 That they may see and know, and consider, and understand together, that the hand of the Lord hath done this, and the **Holy** One of Israel hath created it.
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the **Holy** One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 43:15 I am the Lord, your Holy One, the Creator of Israel, your King.
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the **Holy** One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the work of my hands command ye me.
- 47:4 As for our Redeemer, the Lord of hosts is his name, the Holy One of Israel.
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the **Holy** One of Israel; I am the Lord thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his **Holy** One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the **Holy** One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the **Holy** One of Israel; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a nation that thou knowest not, and nations that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the Lord thy God, and for the **Holy** One of Israel; for he hath glorified thee.
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is **Holy**; I dwell in the high and **holy place**, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my **holy** day; and call the sabbath a delight, the **holy** of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words:
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the **Holy** One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the **Holy** One of Israel.

#### קדַשׁ|kō'-dɛsh (n.) holiness, sanctity; holy thing, thing consecrated to God; temple, sanctuary

- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the **holy** seed shall be the substance thereof.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my **holy** mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be **holiness** to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to eat sufficiently, and for durable clothing.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the **holy** mount at Jerusalem.
- 35:8 And a highway shall be there; for a way shall be cast up, and it shall be called the way of **holiness**. The unclean shall not pass over upon it; but it shall be cast up for those who are clean, and the wayfaring men, though they are accounted fools, shall not err therein.
- 43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the **holy** city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his **holy** arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my **holy** mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.

- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my **holy** mountain;
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my **holy** day; and call the sabbath a delight, the **holy** of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words;
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall eat it, and praise the Lord; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the courts of my holiness.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, Zion a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.
- 64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid
- 65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my **holy** mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that number.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my **holy** mountain, saith the Lord.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my **holy** mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

#### Honor

Primitive Root: אַדַר/ä-där': to expand

#### אַדָר |ä-där' (v.) to be great or magnificent

42:22 [42:21] The Lord is not well pleased with such a people, but for his righteousness' sake he will magnify the law and make it honorable.

Primitive Root בֶּבֶר/kä-vād': to be heavy

#### |בַּבַּל|kä-väd' (v.) to be heavy, be weighty; to be honored; to make illustrious; to get renoun

- 3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the child shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the **honorable**.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears **heavy**, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more **grievously afflict** her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 23:8 Who hath taken this counsel against Tyre, the crowning city, whose merchants are princes, whose traffickers are the **honorable** of the earth?
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the **honorable** of the earth.
- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be **heavy** upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong people **glorify** thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 26:15 Thou hast increased the nation, O Lord, thou hast increased the nation; thou art **glorified**; thou hadst removed it far unto all the ends of the earth.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do **honour** me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my sight, thou hast been **honorable**, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and people for thy life.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall **honor** me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou **honored** me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor wearied thee with incense.

- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very **heavily** laid thy yoke.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be **glorious** in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, **honorable**; and shalt **honor** him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words:
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet **glorious**.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be **glorified**; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.

## לבוֹד |kä-vōd' (n.) heaviness; honor, glory, majesty, splendor; abundant riches, wealth

See Glor

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

# וְבְשָׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

#### Horse

Primitive Word: סוֹס/süs: from an unused root meaning to skip (for joy)

#### שולס süs (n.) horse, warhorse; crane, swallow

- 2:7 Their land also is full of silver and gold, neither is there any end of their treasures; their land is also full of **horses**, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their **horses**' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 30:16 But ye said, No; for we will flee upon **horses**; therefore shall ye flee; and, We will ride upon the swift; therefore shall they that pursue you be swift.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on **horses**, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their **horses** flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 36:8 Now therefore give pledges, I pray thee, to my master the king of Assyria, and I will give thee two thousand **horses**, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 38:14 Like a **crane** or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and **horse**, the army and the power; they shall lie down together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are quenched as tow.
- 63:13 That led them through the deep, as a horse in the wilderness, that they should not stumble?
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon **horses**, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

#### HORSEMAN

Primitive Root: בְּרַשׁ/pä-räsh': to separate

#### |pä-räsh' (n.) horseman; horse (upon which a man sits)

- 21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of **horsemen**, a chariot of asses, and a chariot of camels; and he hearkened diligently with much heed;
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of **horsemen**. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 22:6 And Elam bare the quiver with chariots of men and horsemen, and Kir uncovered the shield.
- 22:7 And it shall come to pass, that thy choicest valleys shall be full of chariots, and the **horsemen** shall set themselves in array at the gate.

- 28:28 Bread corn is bruised; because he will not ever be threshing it, nor break it with the wheel of his cart, nor bruise it with his horsemen.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in **horsemen**, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of one captain of the least of my master's servants, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for **horsemen**?

#### Host

Primitive Root: צֶבֶא/tsä-vä': to mass

#### אָבָא |ts<sup>ɛ</sup>-vä' (n.) host, army, troop

- 1:9 Except the Lord of **hosts** had left unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.
- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of **hosts**, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 2:12 For the day of the Lord of **hosts** soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and lofty, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be brought low.
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of **hosts**, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of **hosts** is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of **hosts**, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of **hosts**.
- 8:13 Sanctify the Lord of hosts himself; and let him be your fear, and let him be your dread.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the Lord of **hosts**, which dwelleth in mount Zion.
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of **hosts** will perform this.
- 9:13 For the people turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of **hosts** is the land darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of **hosts**, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 10:23 For the Lord God of hosts shall make a consumption, even determined, in all the land.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:26 And the Lord of **hosts** shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of **hosts**, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be humbled.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of **hosts** mustereth the **hosts** of the battle.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of **hosts**, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:22 For I will rise up against them, saith the Lord of **hosts**, and cut off from Babylon the name, and remnant, and son, and nephew, saith the Lord.
- 14:23 I will also make it a possession for the bittern, and pools of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the Lord of **hosts**.
- 14:24 The Lord of **hosts** hath sworn, saying, Surely as I have thought, so shall it come to pass; and as I have purposed, so shall it stand;

- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of **hosts**.
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of **hosts** of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of **hosts**, the mount Zion.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 19:12 Where are they? where are thy wise men? and let them tell thee now, and let them know what the Lord of **hosts** hath purposed upon Egypt.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of **hosts**, which he shaketh over it.
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of **hosts**, which he hath determined against it.
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of **hosts**; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of **hosts** in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of **hosts** shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have heard of the Lord of **hosts**, the God of Israel, have I declared unto you.
- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of **hosts** in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.
- 22:12 And in that day did the Lord God of hosts call to weeping, and to mourning, and to baldness, and to girding with sackcloth;
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of **hosts**, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of **hosts**.
- 22:15 Thus saith the Lord God of hosts, Go, get thee unto this treasurer, even unto Shebna, which is over the house, and say,
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of **hosts**, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall punish the **host** of the high ones that are on high, and the kings of the earth upon the earth.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of **hosts** shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of **hosts** make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made strong; for I have heard from the Lord God of **hosts** a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of **hosts** with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts defend Jerusalem; defending also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their **armies**; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 34:4 And all the **host** of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their **host** shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.
- 37:16 O Lord of **hosts**, God of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a remnant; and they that escape out of Jerusalem shall come up upon mount Zion; the zeal of the Lord of **hosts** shall do this.
- 39:5 Then said Isaiah to Hezekiah, Hear the word of the Lord of hosts;

- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their **host** by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of Israel, and his Redeemer the Lord of **hosts**; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created man upon it; I, even my hands, have stretched out the heavens, and all their **hosts** have I commanded.
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of **hosts**.
- 47:4 As for our Redeemer, the Lord of hosts is his name, the Holy One of Israel.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of **hosts** is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of Israel; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.

#### Howl

Primitive Root: יֵלֵל /yä-lal': to howl (with a wailing tone)

# yä-lal' (v.) to wail, lament, howl, cry; to shout triumphantly

- 13:6 Howl ye; for the day of the Lord is at hand; it shall come as a destruction from the Almighty.
- 14:31 **Howl**, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 15:2 He is gone up to Bajith, and to Dibon, the high places, to weep; Moab shall **howl** over Nebo, and over Medeba; on all their heads shall be baldness, and every beard cut off.
- 15:3 In their streets they shall gird themselves with sackcloth; on the tops of their houses, and in their streets, everyone shall **howl**, weeping abundantly.
- 16:7 Therefore shall Moab **howl** for Moab, everyone shall **howl**; for the foundations of Kir-hareseth shall ye mourn; surely they are stricken.
- 23:1 The burden of Tyre. **Howl**, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 23:6 Pass ye over to Tarshish; howl, ye inhabitants of the isle.
- 23:14 Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for your strength is laid waste.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the Lord, that my people is taken away for naught? they that rule over them make them to **howl**, saith the Lord; and my name continually every day is blasphemed.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

#### יללה |v<sup>ε</sup>-lä-lä' (n.) wailing, lamentation, howling, yelling

15:8 For the cry is gone round about the borders of Moab; the howling thereof unto Eglaim, and the howling thereof unto Beer-elim.

#### HUMBLE

Primitive Root: שַׁפֵּל/shä-fāl': to depress or sink

# אָפֵל |shä-fāl' (v.) to sink, be felled; to become low, humbled, or subdued; to fell, overthrow; to depress, humble, cast down

See Low

## אַפַל shä-fäl' (adj.) low, depressed, humble

57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and **humble** spirit, to revive the spirit of the **humble**, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.

# Hundred

Primitive Word: מֵאָה mā-ä': primitive number; a hundred

#### מָאַה mā-ä' (n.) hundred; hundred times; hundredth part

- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a **hundred** and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an **hundred** years old; but the sinner, living to be an **hundred** years old, shall be accursed.

# HURT

Primitive Root: אָפֶקֶר /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

Primitive Root: רַעַע/rä-ä': to spoil

רָעָע |rä-ä' (v.) to be bad, be evil; to do evil, act badly or wickedly; to break to pieces, destroy

See Evil

## Husband

Primitive Root: בַּעַל/bä-äl': to be master

|bä-äl' (v.) to be master, rule; to marry, take a wife; to loath, reject

See Marry

# WORD-LINKS "I"

#### IDOL

Primitive Word: אָנֵוְן/ä-vɛn': from an unused root perhaps meaning to pant

#### בּוֹלָ -vɛn' (n.) emptiness, vanity, nothingness; wickedness, sin, iniquity; falsehood idolatry

See Iniquity

Primitive Word: אֵל a negative particle

## אַלִּיל [ε-lēl' (adj.) nothing, null, vain; (pl.) idols

2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.

- 2:18 And the idols he shall utterly abolish.
- 2:20 In that day a man shall cast his **idols** of silver, and his **idols** of gold, which he hath made for himself to worship, to the moles and to the bats;
- 10:10 As my hand hath founded the kingdoms of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;
- 10:11 Shall I not, as I have done unto Samaria and her idols, so do to Jerusalem and to her idols?
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the **idols** of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the **idols**, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall cast away his **idols** of silver, and his **idols** of gold, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.

Primitive Root: עֲצֵב/ä-tsäv': to carve

#### עצב (n.) idol, image of an idol; sorrow, pain, affliction, labor

See Sorrow

#### אַצְבֵּים |ä-tsäb-bēm' (n.) (pl. only) idols, images of idols

46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their **idols** were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a burden to the weary beast.

57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

Primitive Root: צוֹר/tsür: to cramp

#### ציר (n.) idol, shape, form

45:16 They shall be ashamed, and also confounded, all of them; they shall go to confusion together, that are makers of idols.

## **I**DUMEA

Primitive Root: אַדַם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face)

#### אַד'ם -dōm' (prop. n.) Edom, Idumea

See Edom

#### **IMAGE**

Primitive Root: חֲמָם/ḥä-mäm': to be hot

# ַחְבְּּוֹן ḥām-män' (n.) sun-pillar; idol of Baal

- 17:8 And he shall not look to the altars, the work of his hands, neither shall respect that which his fingers have made, either the groves, or the **images**.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and **images** shall not stand up.

Primitive Root: נַסְדְ/nä-säḥ': to pour out

#### מְשֶׁכָה |mä-sā-ḥä' (n.) foundation, fusion, cast; molten or cast image

See Cover

## נסף |ne'-seh (n.) libation, drink offering; molten image

See Offering

Primitive Root: בְּסֵל/pä-säl': to carve

## |pä-sēl' (n.) grave image, idol, cast or carved image; stone quarry

- 10:10 As my hand hath founded the kingdoms of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of men, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the **graven images** of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy **graven images** of silver, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.
- 42:8 I am the Lord; that is my name; and my glory will I not give to another, neither my praise to graven images.

#### |pe'-sel (n.) graven or molten image, carved or cast idol

- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a tree that will not rot; he seeketh unto him a cunning workman to prepare a **graven image**, that shall not be moved.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall be greatly ashamed, that trust in **graven images**, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 44:9 They that make a **graven image** are all of them vanity; and their delectable things shall not profit; and they are their own witnesses; they see not, nor know; that they may be ashamed.
- 44:10 Who hath formed a god, or molten a graven image that is profitable for nothing?
- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a **graven image**, and falleth down thereto.
- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a god, even his **graven image**; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my god.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their **graven image**, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 48:5 I have even from the beginning declared it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my **graven image**, and my molten image, hath commanded them.

#### **INCENSE**

Primitive Root: לֶבֶן/lä-vän': to be white

#### לבונה l<sup>ε</sup>-vō-nä' (n.) frankincense; white resin

- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor wearied thee with **incense**.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and **incense**; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth **incense**, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

Primitive Root: קטר/kä-tär': to smoke

#### קטר kä-tär' (v.) to offer odors, burn incense; to sacrifice

- 65:3 A people that provoketh me to anger continually to my face; that sacrificeth in gardens, and burneth **incense** upon altars of brick:
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned **incense** upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.

## קטרָת $|\mathbf{k}^{\epsilon}$ -tō'-reth (n.) incense, offering of incense, fat parts of a sacrifice

1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; **incense** is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.

## **INCENSED**

Primitive Root: חֲרָה/ḥä-rä': to glow or grow warm

#### חַרָּה |hä-rä' (v.) to burn, glow with fire, be kindled; to be angry; to kindle anger

- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord **kindled** against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 41:11 Behold, all they that were **incensed** against thee shall be ashamed and confounded; they shall be as nothing; and they that strive with thee shall perish.
- 45:24 Surely shall one say, In the Lord have I righteousness and strength; even to him shall men come; and all that are **incensed** against him shall be ashamed.

#### **INCLINE**

Primitive Root: נָטָה/nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

## וְנַטָּה' (v.) to stretch out, extend, spread out; to unfold; to bend, decline; to turn, turn aside

See Stretch

#### **INCREASE**

Primitive Root: בּוֹא bō: to go or come

#### תבואה |t<sup>ε</sup>-vü'-ä (n.) produce; gain, profit; fruit, result

23:3 And by great waters the seed of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.

30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the **increase** of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.

Primitive Root: אַדַל/gä-däl': to twist

#### קוֹלֵל gä-däl' (v.) to become great, grow up; to be mighty, important; to cause to grow

See Nourish

Primitive Root: יְסֵף/yä-säf': to add or augment

#### יַשְׁף /yä-säf' (v.) to add, increase; to do again, do after, do further or longer

- 1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.
- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 7:10 Moreover the Lord spake again unto Ahaz, saying,
- 8:5 The Lord spake also unto me again, saying,
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall **set** his hand **again** the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring **more** upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no **more** rejoice, O thou oppressed virgin, daughter of Zidon; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 26:15 Thou hast **increased** the nation, O Lord, thou hast **increased** the nation; thou art glorified; thou hadst removed it far unto all the ends of the earth.

- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will **proceed** to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be hid.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will **add** unto thy days fifteen years.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no **more** be called tender and delicate.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no **more** drink it again;
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no **more** come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.

Primitive Root: רֶבָה/rä-vä': to increase

# rä-vä' (v.) to become many, increase, multiply; to become great, large, or mighty

- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make **many** prayers, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 9:3 Thou hast **multiplied** the nation, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the city, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make sweet melody, **sing many** songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and **much** wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 40:29 He giveth power to the faint; and to them that have no might he increaseth strength.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will **abundantly** pardon.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst **increase** thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.

## מַרְבֶּה mär-bɛ' (n.) multiplication, multitude, increase; plenty

- 9:7 Of the **increase** of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a **great** spoil divided; the lame take the prey.

#### **INDIGNATION**

Primitive Root: לֵעִם/zä-äm': to foam at the mouth

#### זעם zä-äm' (v.) to be very angry with, irritated; to curse, punish; to provoke to anger

66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his **indignation** toward his enemies.

# זְעֵמ |zä-äm' (n.) anger, indignation, wrath (of God); rage, insolence

- 10:5 O Assyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:25 For yet a very little while, and the indignation shall cease, and mine anger in their destruction.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his **indignation**, to destroy the whole land.
- 26:20 Come, my people, enter thou into thy chambers, and shut thy doors about thee; hide thyself as it were for a little moment, until the **indignation** be overpast.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of **indignation** and his tongue as a devouring fire;

Primitive Root: זֵעף/zä-äf': to boil up

#### זְעֵף zä'-äf (n.) anger, rage; raging (of the sea)

30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the **indignation** of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.

Primitive Root: קְצַף/kä-tsäf': to crack off

## קצף/ke'-tsef (n.) twig, splinter, chip, fragment of wood; anger, altercation, strife, wrath, furry, quarrel

- 34:2 For the **indignation** of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.

#### **INHABIT**

Primitive Root: יַשָּׁב/yä-shäv': to sit down

## ישׁב /yä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

See Sit

Primitive Root: שָׁבֶן/shä-ḥän': to reside or permanently stay

#### שׁבון shä-hān' (n.) inhabitant; neighbor; (adj.) dwelling, abiding

33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the people that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.

#### **INHERIT**

Primitive Root: יֵרָשׁ/yä-räsh': to occupy

## יֵרְשׁ yä-räsh' (v.) to seize, occupy; to possess, inherit; to drive away, take away, dispossess

See Possess

Primitive Root: נָחַל/nä-häl': to inherit

#### וֹמָתְל |nä-häl' (v.) to seize, take possession; to get, inherit

See Possess

## nä-h<sup>ä</sup>-lä' (n.) possession, domain, property; inheritance

- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine **inheritance**, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate **heritages**;
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the **heritage** of the servants of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the **heritage** of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine **inheritance**.

#### INIQUITY

Primitive Word: אָאַנִן/ä-vɛn': from an unused root perhaps meaning to pant

#### | ä-ven' (n.) emptiness, vanity, nothingness; wickedness, sin, iniquity; falsehood idolatry

- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is **iniquity**, even the solemn meeting.
- 10:1 Woe unto them that decree unrighteous decrees, and that write greivousness which they have prescribed;
- 29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not call back his words; but will arise against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that work **iniquity**,
- 32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work **iniquity**, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.
- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the **unrighteous** man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking **vanity**;
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become garments, neither shall they cover themselves with their works; their works are works of **iniquity**, and the act of violence is in their hands.
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of **iniquity**; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an **idol**. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

Primitive Root: אַמה': to crook, or make crooked (literally or figuratively)

#### אָלוּן "in-von' ( n.) perverseness, sin, guilt, crime; punishment, suffering, penalty (for sin)

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with **iniquity**, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 5:18 Woe unto them that draw iniquity with cords of vanity, and sin as it were with a cart rope;
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their **iniquity**; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the **iniquities** of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this **iniquity** shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their **iniquity**; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the **iniquity** of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 30:13 Therefore this **iniquity** shall be to you as a breach ready to fall, swelling out in a high wall, whose breaking cometh suddenly at an instant.
- 33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the people that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her **iniquity** is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine **iniquities**.
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your **iniquities** have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 53:5 But he was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our **iniquities**; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his stripes we are healed.

- 53:6 All we like sheep have gone astray; we have turned every one to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on him the **iniquity** of us all.
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their **iniquities**.
- 57:17 For the **iniquity** of his covetousness was I wroth, and smote him; I hid me and was wroth, and he went on frowardly in the way of his heart.
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with **iniquity**; your lips have spoken lies, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.
- 59:12 For our transgressions are multiplied before thee, and our sins testify against us; for our transgressions are with us; and as for our **iniquities**, we know them;
- 64:6 But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our **iniquities**, like the wind, have taken us away.
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that stirreth up himself to take hold of thee; for thou hast hid thy face from us, and hast consumed us, because of our **iniquities**.
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember **iniquity** forever; behold, see, we beseech thee, we are all thy people.
- 65:7 Your **iniquities**, and the **iniquities** of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.

#### INSTRUCT

Primitive Root: בּץ|bēn: to separate mentally, to distinguish

#### לין bēn (v.) to discern, perceive, understand; to be prudent, be intelligent; to consider

See Consider

Primitive Root: יַסֶר/yä-sär': to chastise

#### יַשְׁר / yä-sär' (v.) to chastise, reprove; to admonish, exhort, instruct

8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and **instructed** me that I should not walk in the way of this people, saying, 28:26 For his God doth **instruct** him to discretion, and doth teach him.

#### **INSTRUMENT**

Primitive Root: חַרֵץ/hä-räts': to point sharply

#### רְבְּץ (n.) ditch; incision; decision, judgment; threshing sledge; (adj.) sharp, pointed

- 28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a **threshing instrument**, neither is a cartwheel turned about upon the cummin; but the fitches are beaten out with a staff, and the cummin with a rod.
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new **sharp** threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt make the hills as chaff.

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶה /kä-lä': to end

# וְבְלִי (n.) utinsel, vessel (of gold or silver); clothing; implement, tool; arms, weapon

See Vessel

Primitive Word מוֹרָג mō-räg': from an unused root meaning to triturate

# מוֹרַג mō-räg' (n.) tribulum, threshing wain or sledge

41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp **threshing instrument** having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt make the hills as chaff.

Primitive Root: גָּגַן/nä-gän': to thrum

#### nä-gän' (v.) to touch the strings; to strike strings, play an instrument

- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the city, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make sweet **melody**, sing many songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 38:20 The Lord was ready to save me; therefore we will sing my songs to the **stringed instruments** all the days of our life in the house of the Lord.

#### Iron

Primitive Word: בַּרְזֵל/bär-zɛl': of an uncertain derivation

## bär-zel' (n.) iron, iron tool, fetter

- 10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.
- 44:12 The [iron] smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint. [see also Smith]
- 45:2 I will go before thee, and make the crooked places straight; I will break in pieces the gates of brass, and cut in sunder the bars of iron:
- 48:4 Because I knew that thou art obstinate, and thy neck is an iron sinew, and thy brow brass;
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for **iron** I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones **iron**; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

#### ISAIAH (GOD HAS SAVED)

Primitive Word: combination of יַשְׁע (to be open, wide or free) and יָם (Jah, the sacred name of Jehovah, a contraction from יְהוֹהָה)

#### ישַעיַהי |y-εshä-yä' or ישַעיַהוי |y-shä-yä-hü' (prop. n.) Isaiah

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 2:1 The word that **Isaiah** the son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto **Isaiah**, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by **Isaiah** the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant **Isaiah** hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto **Isaiah** the prophet the son of Amoz.
- 37:5 So the servants of King Hezekiah came to Isaiah.
- 37:6 And **Isaiah** said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 37:21 Then **Isaiah** the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And **Isaiah** the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 38:4 Then came the word of the Lord to Isaiah, saying,
- 38:21 For Isaiah had said, Let them take a lump of figs, and lay it for a plaster upon the boil, and he shall recover.
- 39:3 Then came **Isaiah** the prophet unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from Babylon.
- 39:5 Then said Isaiah to Hezekiah, Hear the word of the Lord of hosts;
- 39:8 Then said Hezekiah to **Isaiah**, Good is the word of the Lord which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and truth in my days.

#### **ISLAND**

Primitive root: אָנָה/ä-vä': to wish for

#### אל (n.) maritime land, seashore, island, coastal land

- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the **islands** of the sea.
- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this **isle** shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be delivered from the king of Assyria; and how shall we escape?
- 23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of Zidon, that pass over the sea, have replenished.
- 23:6 Pass ye over to Tarshish; howl, ye inhabitants of the isle.

- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 40:15 Behold, the nations are as a drop of a bucket, and are counted as the small dust of the balance; behold, he taketh up the **isles** as a very little thing.
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O **islands**; and let the people renew their strength; let them come near; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the **isles**, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 42:12 Let them give glory unto the Lord, and declare his praise in the islands.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.
- 49:1 Listen, O **isles**, unto me; and hearken, ye people, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the **isles** shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will repay, fury to his adversaries, recompense to his enemies; to the **islands** he will repay recompense.
- 60:9 Surely the **isles** shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the **isles** afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

Primary Root: probably derived from אָנָה/ä-vä': to wish for

#### אָל: short form of אוֹף o'-ē (n.) howler, jackal, any solitary wild creature

See Beast

## ISRAEL (HE WILL RULE AS GOD)

Primitive Word: combination of שַׂרָא (to prevail) and אֵל (God)

## יִשְׂרָאֵל|yēs-rä-āl' (prop. n.) Israel

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of **Israel** unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts, the Mighty One of **Israel**, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of **Israel**.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of **Israel**, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his work, that we may see it; and let the counsel of the Holy One of **Israel** draw nigh and come, that we may know it!
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of **Israel**.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of **Israel**, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a stone of stumbling and for a rock of offense to both the houses of **Israel**, for a gin and for a snare to the inhabitants of Jerusalem.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in **Israel** from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in mount Zion.
- 9:8 The Lord sent his word unto Jacob, and it hath lighted upon Israel.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour **Israel** with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.

- 10:17 And the light of **Israel** shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of **Israel**, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of **Israel**, in truth.
- 10:22 For though thy people **Israel** be as the sand of the sea, yet a remnant of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall overflow with righteousness.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of **Israel**, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his people, which shall be left from Assyria; like as it was to **Israel** in the day that he came up out of the land of Egypt.
- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose **Israel**, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of **Israel** shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of **Israel**, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of **Israel**.
- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have respect to the Holy One of Israel.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the children of **Israel**; and there shall be desolation.
- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the third with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have heard of the Lord of hosts, the God of **Israel**, have I declared unto you.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of **Israel** hath spoken it.
- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of **Israel**.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of **Israel**.
- 30:11 Get you out of the way, turn aside out of the path, cause the Holy One of Israel to cease from before us.
- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the Holy One of **Israel**, Because ye despise this word, and trust in oppression and perverseness, and stay thereon;
- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of **Israel**; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of **Israel**.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of **Israel**, neither seek the Lord.
- 31:6 Turn ye unto him from whom the children of Israel have deeply revolted.
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, God of **Israel**, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of **Israel**, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of **Israel**.
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O Jacob, and speakest, O **Israel**, My way is hid from the Lord, and my judgment is passed over from my God?
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.

- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of **Israel**.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of **Israel** will not forsake them.
- 41:20 That they may see and know, and consider, and understand together, that the hand of the Lord hath done this, and the Holy One of **Israel** hath created it.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 43:1 But now thus saith the Lord that created thee, O Jacob, and he that formed thee, O **Israel**, Fear not; for I have redeemed thee, I have called thee by thy name; thou art mine.
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of **Israel**; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 43:15 I am the Lord, your Holy One, the Creator of Israel, your King.
- 43:22 But thou hast not called upon me, O Jacob; but thou hast been weary of me, O Israel.
- 43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.
- 44:1 Yet now hear, O Jacob my servant; and Israel, whom I have chosen;
- 44:5 One shall say, I am the Lord's; and another shall call himself by the name of Jacob; and another shall subscribe with his hand unto the Lord, and surname himself by the name of **Israel**.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of **Israel**, and his Redeemer the Lord of hosts; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 44:21 Remember these, O Jacob and **Israel**; or thou art my servant; I have formed thee; thou art my servant; O **Israel**, thou shalt not be forgotten of me.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in **Israel**.
- 45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of darkness, and hidden riches of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the God of **Israel**.
- 45:4 For Jacob my servant's sake, and **Israel** mine elect, I have even called thee by thy name; I have surnamed thee, though thou hast not known me.
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the Holy One of **Israel**, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the work of my hands command ye me.
- 45:15 Verily thou art a God that hidest thyself, O God of Israel, the Savior.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 45:25 In the Lord shall all the seed of Israel be justified, and shall glory.
- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the remnant of the house of **Israel**, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;
- 46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.
- 47:4 As for our Redeemer, the Lord of hosts is his name, the Holy One of Israel.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of **Israel**, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of **Israel**, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 48:12 Hearken unto me, O Jacob and Israel, my called; I am he; I am the first, I also am the last.
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of **Israel**; I am the Lord thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 49:3 And said unto me, Thou art my servant, O Israel, in whom I will be glorified.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of **Israel**; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of **Israel**, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of **Israel**, and he shall choose thee.
- 52:12 For ye shall not go out with haste, nor go by flight; for the Lord will go before you; and the God of **Israel** will be your rearward
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of **Israel**; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a nation that thou knowest not, and nations that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the Lord thy God, and for the Holy One of **Israel**; for he hath glorified thee.

- 56:8 The Lord God which gathereth the outcasts of **Israel** saith, Yet will I gather others to him, besides those that are gathered unto him.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of **Israel**, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of **Israel**.
- 63:7 I will mention the lovingkindnesses of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of **Israel**, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and **Israel** acknowledge us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of **Israel** bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

# WORD-LINKS "J"

## JACOB (SUPPLANTER)

Primitive Root: עָקַב/ä-käv': to swell out or up

# יַעַקב |yä-<sup>ä</sup>-kōv (prop. n.) Jacob

- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of **Jacob**; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 2:5 O house of **Jacob**, come ye, and let us walk in the light of the Lord; yea, come, for ye have all gone astray, everyone to his wicked ways.
- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of **Jacob**, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.
- 9:8 The Lord sent his word unto Jacob, and it hath lighted upon Israel.
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of **Jacob**, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 10:21 The remnant shall return, yea even the remnant of Jacob, unto the mighty God.
- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on **Jacob**, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of **Jacob**.
- 17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of **Jacob** be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the LORD, who redeemed Abraham, concerning the house of **Jacob**, **Jacob** shall not now be ashamed, neither shall his face now wax pale.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of **Jacob**, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O **Jacob**, and speakest, O Israel, My way is hid from the Lord, and my judgment is passed over from my God?
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.
- 41:21 Produce your cause, saith the Lord; bring forth your strong reasons, saith the King of Jacob.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave **Jacob** for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?
- 43:1 But now thus saith the Lord that created thee, O **Jacob**, and he that formed thee, O Israel, Fear not; for I have redeemed thee, I have called thee by thy name; thou art mine.
- 43:22 But thou hast not called upon me, O Jacob; but thou hast been weary of me, O Israel.
- 43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.
- 44:1 Yet now hear, O Jacob my servant; and Israel, whom I have chosen;
- 44:2 Thus saith the Lord that made thee, and formed thee from the womb, which will help thee; Fear not, O **Jacob**, my servant; and thou, Jeshurun, whom I have chosen.
- 44:5 One shall say, I am the Lord's; and another shall call himself by the name of **Jacob**; and another shall subscribe with his hand unto the Lord, and surname himself by the name of Israel.
- 44:21 Remember these, O **Jacob** and Israel; or thou art my servant; I have formed thee; thou art my servant; O Israel, thou shalt not be forgotten of me.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed **Jacob**, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 45:4 For **Jacob** my servant's sake, and Israel mine elect, I have even called thee by thy name; I have surnamed thee, though thou hast not known me.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of **Jacob**, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of **Jacob**, and all the remnant of the house of Israel, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;

- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of **Jacob**, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:12 Hearken unto me, O Jacob and Israel, my called; I am he; I am the first, I also am the last.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant **Jacob**.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring **Jacob** again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of **Jacob**, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of **Jacob**.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of **Jacob** their sins.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of **Jacob** thy father; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 59:20 And the Redeemer shall come to Zion, and unto them that turn from transgression in Jacob, saith the Lord.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of **Jacob**.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of **Jacob**, and out of Judah an inheritor of my mountains; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall dwell there.

#### **JEHOVAH**

Primitive Root: הָּיָה/hä-yä': to be or exist

## אָל (prop. n.) Jah (the Lord, the sacred name)

26:4 Trust ve in the Lord forever; for in the Lord JEHOVAH is everlasting strength.

38:11 I said, I shall not see the **Lord**, even the **Lord**, in the land of the living; I shall behold man no more with the inhabitants of the world.

## יהוַה'y -hō'-vä (prop. n.) Jehovah, meaning the Existing One

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the **Lord** hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the **Lord**, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 1:9 Except the **Lord** of hosts had left unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the **Lord**; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the **Lord**; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.
- 1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the **Lord** of hosts, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.
- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the **Lord**'s house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the **Lord**, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the **Lord** from Jerusalem;
- 2:5 O house of Jacob, come ye, and let us walk in the light of the **Lord**; yea, come, for ye have all gone astray, everyone to his wicked ways.
- 2:6 Therefore, O **Lord**, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.
- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the **Lord** alone shall be exalted in that day.

- 2:12 For the day of the **Lord** of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and lofty, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be brought low.
- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the **Lord** shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of men shall be made low; and the **Lord** alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the **Lord** shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the **Lord** shall come upon them, and the majesty of the **Lord** shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the **Lord**, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 3:13 The **Lord** standeth up to plead, and standeth to judge the people.
- 3:14 The **Lord** will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 3:16 Moreover the **Lord** saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 3:17 Therefore the **Lord** will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of Zion, and the **Lord** will discover their secret parts.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the **Lord** be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be excellent and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 4:4 [4:5] And the **Lord** will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the **Lord** of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the **Lord**, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the **Lord** of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the **Lord** kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the Lord of hosts; the whole earth is full of his glory.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the **Lord** of hosts.
- 6:12 And the Lord have removed men far away, for there shall be a great forsaking in the midst of the land.
- 7:3 Then said the **Lord** unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 7:10 Moreover the Lord spake again unto Ahaz, saying,
- 7:11 Ask thee a sign of the Lord thy God; ask it either in the depth, or in the height above.
- 7:12 But Ahaz said, I will not ask, neither will I tempt the Lord.
- 7:17 The **Lord** shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from Judah; even the king of Assyria.
- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the **Lord** shall hiss for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the land of Assyria.
- 8:1 Moreover the word of the **Lord** said unto me, Take thee a great roll, and write in it with a man's pen concerning Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 8:3 And I went unto the prophetess; and she conceived, and bare a son. Then said the **Lord** to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 8:5 The Lord spake also unto me again, saying,
- 8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and instructed me that I should not walk in the way of this people, saying,
- 8:13 Sanctify the **Lord** of hosts himself; and let him be your fear, and let him be your dread.

- 8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the **Lord** hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the **Lord** of hosts, which dwelleth in mount Zion.
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the **Lord** of hosts will perform this.
- 9:11 Therefore the Lord shall set up the adversaries of Rezin against him, and join his enemies together;
- 9:13 For the people turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the **Lord** of hosts is the land darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the **Lord**, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 10:26 And the **Lord** of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be humbled.
- 11:2 And the Spirit of the **Lord** shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the **Lord**;
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the **Lord**, as the waters cover the sea.
- 11:15 And the **Lord** shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O **Lord**, I will praise thee; though thou wast angry with me, thine anger is turned away, and thou comfortedst me.
- 12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will trust, and not be afraid; for the **Lord JEHOVAH** is my strength and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 12:4 And in that day shall ye say, Praise the **Lord**, call upon his name, declare his doings among the people, make mention that his name is exalted.
- 12:5 Sing unto the **Lord**; for he hath done excellent things; this is known in all the earth.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the **Lord** of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of heaven, yea, the **Lord**, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 13:6 Howl ye; for the day of the Lord is at hand; it shall come as a destruction from the Almighty.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the **Lord** cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:1 For the **Lord** will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the **Lord** for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the **Lord** shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the hard bondage wherein thou wast made to serve.
- 14:5 The **Lord** hath broken the staff of the wicked and the scepters of the rulers.
- 14:22 For I will rise up against them, saith the **Lord** of hosts, and cut off from Babylon the name, and remnant, and son, and nephew, saith the **Lord**.
- 14:23 I will also make it a possession for the bittern, and pools of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the **Lord** of hosts.
- 14:24 The **Lord** of hosts hath sworn, saying, Surely as I have thought, so shall it come to pass; and as I have purposed, so shall it stand:
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the **Lord** hath founded Zion, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 16:13 This is the word that the **Lord** hath spoken concerning Moab since that time.

- 16:14 But now the **Lord** hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the remnant shall be very small and feeble.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the **Lord** of hosts.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the **Lord** God of Israel.
- 18:4 For so the **Lord** said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the **Lord** of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the **Lord** of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the **Lord** rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the **Lord** of hosts
- 19:12 Where are they? where are thy wise men? and let them tell thee now, and let them know what the **Lord** of hosts hath purposed upon Egypt.
- 19:14 The **Lord** hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every work thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his vomit.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the **Lord** of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 19:17 And the land of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the **Lord** of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the **Lord** of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 19:19 In that day shall there be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the **Lord** of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the **Lord** because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 19:21 And the **Lord** shall be known to Egypt, and the Egyptians shall know the **Lord** in that day, and shall do sacrifice and oblation; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the **Lord**, and perform it.
- 19:22 And the **Lord** shall smite Egypt; he shall smite and heal it; and they shall return even to the **Lord**, and he shall be entreated of them, and shall heal them.
- 19:25 Whom the **Lord** of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the **Lord** by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the corn of my floor; that which I have heard of the **Lord** of hosts, the God of Israel, have I declared unto you.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the **Lord** God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the **Lord** of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 22:17 Behold, the Lord will carry thee away with a mighty captivity, and will surely cover thee.
- 22:25 In that day saith the **Lord** of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the **Lord** hath spoken it.
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the **Lord** will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the **Lord**; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the **Lord**, to eat sufficiently, and for durable clothing.
- 24:1 Behold, the **Lord** maketh the earth empty, and maketh it waste, and turneth it upside down, and scattereth abroad the inhabitants thereof.
- 24:3 The land shall be utterly emptied, and utterly spoiled; for the **Lord** hath spoken this word.

- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the **Lord** shall punish the host of the high ones that are on high, and the kings of the earth upon the earth.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the **Lord** of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the **Lord** of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the **Lord** God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the **Lord** hath spoken it.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have waited for him, and he will save us; this is the **Lord**; we have waited for him, we will be glad and rejoice in his salvation.
- 25:10 For in this mountain shall the hand of the **Lord** rest, and Moab shall be trodden down under him, even as straw is trodden down for the dunghill.
- 26:4 Trust ye in the **Lord** forever; for in the Lord **JEHOVAH** is everlasting strength.
- 26:8 Yea, in the way of thy judgments, O **Lord**, have we waited for thee; the desire of our soul is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the **Lord**.
- 26:11 **Lord**, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 26:12 Lord, thou wilt ordain peace for us; for thou also hast wrought all our works in us.
- 26:13 O Lord our God, other lords besides thee have had dominion over us; but by thee only will we make mention of thy name.
- 26:15 Thou hast increased the nation, O **Lord**, thou hast increased the nation; thou art glorified; thou hadst removed it far unto all the ends of the earth.
- 26:16 Lord, in trouble have they visited thee; they poured out a prayer when thy chastening was upon them.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in pain, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 26:21 For, behold, the **Lord** cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 27:1 In that day the **Lord** with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 27:3 I the Lord do keep it; I will water it every moment; lest any hurt it, I will keep it night and day.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the **Lord** shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the **Lord** in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,
- 28:13 But the word of the **Lord** was unto them precept upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and fall backward, and be broken, and snared, and taken.
- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 28:21 For the **Lord** shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the **Lord** of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 29:10 For the **Lord** hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to hide their counsel from the **Lord**, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the Lord, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the **Lord**, who redeemed Abraham, concerning the house of Jacob, Jacob shall not now be ashamed, neither shall his face now wax pale.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the **Lord**, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;

- 30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;
- 30:18 And therefore will the **Lord** wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the **Lord** is a God of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the **Lord** bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the **Lord** cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the **Lord**, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 30:30 And the **Lord** shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.
- 30:32 And in every place where the grounded staff shall pass, which the **Lord** shall lay upon him, it shall be with tabrets and harps; and in battles of shaking will he fight with it.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the **Lord**, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the **Lord**.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the **Lord** shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 31:4 For thus hath the **Lord** spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the **Lord** of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts defend Jerusalem; defending also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the **Lord**, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the **Lord**, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.
- 33:2 O **Lord**, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their salvation also in the time of trouble
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 33:10 Now will I rise, saith the Lord; now will I be exalted; now will I lift up myself.
- 33:21 But there the glorious **Lord** will be unto us a place of broad rivers and streams; wherein shall go no galley with oars, neither shall gallant ship pass thereby.
- 33:22 For the **Lord** is our judge, the **Lord** is our lawgiver, the **Lord** is our King; he will save us.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the **Lord** is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 34:6 The sword of the **Lord** is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the **Lord** hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 34:8 For it is the day of the Lord's vengeance, and the year of recompenses for the controversy of Zion.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the **Lord**, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the **Lord**, and the excellency of our God.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the **Lord** shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the **Lord** our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 36:10 And am I now come up without the **Lord** against this land to destroy it? the **Lord** said unto me, Go up against this land, and destroy it.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the **Lord**, saying, The **Lord** will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The **Lord** will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:20 Who are they among all the gods of these lands, that have delivered their land out of my hand, that the **Lord** should deliver Jerusalem out of my hand?

- 37:1 And it came to pass, when king Hezekiah heard it, that he rent his clothes, and covered himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the **Lord**.
- 37:4 It may be the **Lord** thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the **Lord** thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the **Lord**, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 37:14 And Hezekiah received the letter from the hand of the messengers, and read it; and Hezekiah went up unto the house of the **Lord**, and spread it before the **Lord**.
- 37:15 And Hezekiah prayed unto the Lord, saying,
- 37:16 O **Lord** of hosts, God of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,
- 37:20 Now therefore, O **Lord** our God, save us from his hand, that all the kingdoms of the earth may know that thou art the **Lord**, even thou only.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the **Lord** God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 37:22 This is the word which the **Lord** hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a remnant; and they that escape out of Jerusalem shall come up upon mount Zion; the zeal of the **Lord** of hosts shall do this.
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the **Lord** concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.
- 37:34 By the way that he came, by the same shall he return, and shall not come into this city, saith the Lord.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the **Lord** went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the **Lord**, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 38:2 Then Hezekiah turned his face toward the wall, and prayed unto the Lord,
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O **Lord**, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 38:4 Then came the word of the Lord to Isaiah, saying,
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the **Lord**, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 38:7 And this shall be a sign unto thee from the **Lord**, that the **Lord** will do this thing that he hath spoken;
- 38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O **Lord**, I am oppressed; undertake for me.
- 38:20 The **Lord** was ready to save me; therefore we will sing my songs to the stringed instruments all the days of our life in the house of the **Lord**.
- 38:22 Hezekiah also had said, What is the sign that I shall go up to the house of the Lord?
- 39:5 Then said Isaiah to Hezekiah, Hear the word of the Lord of hosts;
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; nothing shall be left, saith the **Lord**.
- 39:8 Then said Hezekiah to Isaiah, Good is the word of the **Lord** which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and truth in my days.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the **Lord**'s hand double for all her sins.
- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the **Lord**, make straight in the desert a highway for our God.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be revealed, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:13 Who hath directed the Spirit of the **Lord**, or being his counselor hath taught him?
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O Jacob, and speakest, O Israel, My way is hid from the **Lord**, and my judgment is passed over from my God?

- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the **Lord**, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 40:31 But they that wait upon the **Lord** shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.
- 41:13 For I the Lord thy God will hold thy right hand, saying unto thee, Fear not; I will help thee.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the **Lord**, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the **Lord** will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 41:20 That they may see and know, and consider, and understand together, that the hand of the **Lord** hath done this, and the Holy One of Israel hath created it.
- 41:21 Produce your cause, saith the Lord; bring forth your strong reasons, saith the King of Jacob.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the **Lord**, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 42:6 I the **Lord** have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 42:8 I am the **Lord**; that is my name; and my glory will I not give to another, neither my praise to graven images.
- 42:10 Sing unto the **Lord** a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 42:12 Let them give glory unto the **Lord**, and declare his praise in the islands.
- 42:13 The **Lord** shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 42:20 [42:19] And they shall be made perfect notwithstanding their blindness, if they will hearken unto the messenger, the **Lord**'s servant.
- 42:22 [42:21] The **Lord** is not well pleased with such a people, but for his righteousness' sake he will magnify the law and make it honorable.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the **Lord**, he against whom they have sinned?
- 43:1 But now thus saith the **Lord** that created thee, O Jacob, and he that formed thee, O Israel, Fear not; for I have redeemed thee, I have called thee by thy name; thou art mine.
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the **Lord**, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 43:11 I, even I, am the **Lord**; and beside me there is no savior.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no strange god among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the **Lord**, that I am God.
- 43:14 Thus saith the **Lord**, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 43:15 I am the Lord, your Holy One, the Creator of Israel, your King.
- 43:16 Thus saith the Lord, which maketh a way in the sea, and a path in the mighty waters;
- 44:2 Thus saith the **Lord** that made thee, and formed thee from the womb, which will help thee; Fear not, O Jacob, my servant; and thou, Jeshurun, whom I have chosen.
- 44:5 One shall say, I am the **Lord**'s; and another shall call himself by the name of Jacob; and another shall subscribe with his hand unto the **Lord**, and surname himself by the name of Israel.
- 44:6 Thus saith the **Lord** the King of Israel, and his Redeemer the **Lord** of hosts; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the **Lord** hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the **Lord** hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 44:24 Thus saith the **Lord**, thy Redeemer, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the **Lord** that maketh all things; that stretcheth forth the heavens alone; that spreadeth abroad the earth by myself.
- 45:1 Thus saith the **Lord** to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;
- 45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of darkness, and hidden riches of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the **Lord**, which call thee by thy name, am the God of Israel.
- 45:5 I am the Lord, and there is none else, there is no God besides me; I girded thee, though thou hast not known me;

- 45:6 That they may know from the rising of the sun, and from the west, that there is none besides me. I am the **Lord**, and there is none else.
- 45:7 I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create evil; I the Lord do all these things.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the **Lord** have created it.
- 45:11 Thus saith the **Lord**, the Holy One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the work of my hands command ye me.
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the **Lord** of hosts.
- 45:14 Thus saith the **Lord**, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the **Lord** with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 45:18 For thus saith the **Lord** that created the heavens; God himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the **Lord**, and there is none else.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the **Lord** speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the **Lord**? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 45:24 Surely shall one say, In the **Lord** have I righteousness and strength; even to him shall men come; and all that are incensed against him shall be ashamed.
- 45:25 In the **Lord** shall all the seed of Israel be justified, and shall glory.
- 47:4 As for our Redeemer, the **Lord** of hosts is his name, the Holy One of Israel.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the **Lord**, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The **Lord** hath loved him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 48:17 Thus saith the **Lord**, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; I am the **Lord** thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The **Lord** hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 48:22 There is no peace, saith the Lord, unto the wicked.
- 49:1 Listen, O isles, unto me; and hearken, ye people, from far; The **Lord** hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the **Lord**, and my work with my God.
- 49:5 And now, saith the **Lord** that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the **Lord**, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:7 Thus saith the **Lord**, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the **Lord** that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:8 Thus saith the **Lord**, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the **Lord** hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 49:14 But Zion said, The Lord hath forsaken me, and my Lord hath forgotten me.
- 49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the **Lord**, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the **Lord**; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.
- 49:25 But thus saith the **Lord**; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the **Lord**, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the **Lord** am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.

- 50:1 [50:1] Yea, for thus saith the **Lord**, Have I put thee away, or have I cast thee off forever? For thus saith the **Lord**, Where is the bill of your mother's divorcement? To whom have I put thee away, or to which of my creditors have I sold you; yea, to whom have I sold you?
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the **Lord**, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the **Lord**, and stay upon his God.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the **Lord**, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.
- 51:3 For the **Lord** shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the **Lord**; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the **Lord**; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the **Lord** shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 51:13 And forgettest the **Lord** thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 51:15 But I am the **Lord** thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The **Lord** of hosts is his name.
- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast drunk at the hand of the **Lord** the cup of his fury; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the **Lord**, the rebuke of thy God.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the **Lord**, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 52:3 For thus saith the Lord, Ye have sold yourselves for naught; and ye shall be redeemed without money.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the **Lord**, that my people is taken away for naught? they that rule over them make them to howl, saith the **Lord**; and my name continually every day is blasphemed.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the **Lord** shall bring again Zion.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the **Lord** hath comforted his people, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 52:10 The **Lord** hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 52:11 Depart ye, depart ye, go ye out from thence, touch no unclean thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye clean, that bear the vessels of the **Lord**.
- 52:12 For ye shall not go out with haste, nor go by flight; for the Lord will go before you; and the God of Israel will be your rearward.
- 53:1 Who hath believed our report? and to whom is the arm of the Lord revealed?
- 53:6 All we like sheep have gone astray; we have turned every one to his own way, and the Lord hath laid on him the iniquity of us all.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the **Lord** to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the **Lord** shall prosper in his hand.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the **Lord**.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The **Lord** of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of Israel; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 54:6 For the **Lord** hath called thee as a woman forsaken and grieved in spirit, and a wife of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy God.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the **Lord** thy Redeemer.
- 54:10 For the mountains shall depart, and the hills be removed; but my kindness shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the **Lord** that hath mercy on thee.
- 54:13 And all thy children shall be taught of the Lord; and great shall be the peace of thy children.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the **Lord**, and their righteousness is of me, saith the **Lord**.
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a nation that thou knowest not, and nations that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the **Lord** thy God, and for the Holy One of Israel; for he hath glorified thee.
- 55:6 Seek ye the **Lord** while he may be found, call ye upon him while he is near;
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the **Lord**, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.

- 55:8 For my thoughts are not your thoughts, neither are your ways my ways, saith the Lord.
- 55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the brier shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the **Lord** for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be cut off.
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 56:3 Neither let the son of the stranger, that hath joined himself to the **Lord**, speak, saying, The **Lord** hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry tree.
- 56:4 For thus saith the **Lord** unto the eunuchs that keep my sabbaths, and choose the things that please me, and take hold of my covenant;
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the **Lord**, to serve him, and to love the name of the **Lord**, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the **Lord**; and I will heal him.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the **Lord**?
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the **Lord** shall be thy rearward.
- 58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the **Lord** shall answer; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity;
- 58:11 And the **Lord** shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the **Lord**, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words;
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the **Lord**; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the mouth of the **Lord** hath spoken it.
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the **Lord**, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the **Lord** saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the **Lord** from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the **Lord** shall lift up a standard against him.
- 59:20 And the Redeemer shall come to Zion, and unto them that turn from transgression in Jacob, saith the Lord.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the **Lord**; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy mouth, shall not depart out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy seed, nor out of the mouth of thy seed's seed, saith the **Lord**, from henceforth and forever.
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the **Lord** is risen upon thee.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people; but the **Lord** shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the **Lord**.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the **Lord** thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the **Lord**, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the **Lord** am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the **Lord** shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy glory.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the **Lord** shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.
- 60:22 A little one shall become a thousand, and a small one a strong nation; I the Lord will hasten it in my time.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the **Lord** hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;
- 61:2 To proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the **Lord**, that he might be glorified.

- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the **Lord**; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall eat the riches of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.
- 61:8 For I the **Lord** love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.
- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the **Lord** hath blessed.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the **Lord**, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy righteousness, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the **Lord** shall name.
- 62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the **Lord**, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy land any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy land Union; for the **Lord** delighteth in thee, and thy land shall be married.
- 62:6 I have set watchmen upon thy walls, O Jerusalem, which shall never hold their peace day nor night; ye that make mention of the **Lord**, keep not silence,
- 62:8 The **Lord** hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 62:9 But they that have gathered it shall eat it, and praise the **Lord**; and they that have brought it together shall drink it in the courts of my holiness.
- 62:11 Behold, the **Lord** hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 63:7 I will mention the lovingkindnesses of the **Lord**, and the praises of the **Lord**, according to all that the **Lord** hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the **Lord** caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel acknowledge us not; thou, O **Lord**, art our Father, our Redeemer; thy name is from everlasting.
- 63:17 O **Lord**, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.
- 64:8 But now, O Lord, thou art our Father; we are the clay, and thou our potter; and we all are the work of thy hand.
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember iniquity forever; behold, see, we beseech thee, we are all thy people.
- 64:12 Wilt thou refrain thyself for these things, O Lord? wilt thou hold thy peace, and afflict us very sore?
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the **Lord**, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.
- 65:8 Thus saith the **Lord**, As the new wine is found in the cluster, and one saith, Destroy it not; for a blessing is in it; so will I do for my servants' sake, that I may not destroy them all.
- 65:11 But ye are they that forsake the **Lord**, that forget my holy mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that number.
- 65:23 They shall not labor in vain, nor bring forth for trouble; for they are the seed of the blessed of the **Lord**, and their offspring with them.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the **Lord**.
- 66:1 Thus saith the **Lord**, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?
- 66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the **Lord**; but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the **Lord**, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the **Lord** be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.
- 66:9 Shall I bring to the birth, and not cause to bring forth? saith the **Lord**; shall I cause to bring forth, and shut the womb? saith thy God.
- 66:12 For thus saith the **Lord**, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the **Lord** shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.
- 66:15 For, behold, the **Lord** will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his anger with fury, and his rebuke with flames of fire.
- 66:16 For by fire and by his sword will the **Lord** plead with all flesh; and the slain of the **Lord** shall be many.
- 66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the **Lord**.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the **Lord** out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the **Lord**, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the **Lord**.
- 66:21 And I will also take of them for priests and for Levites, saith the Lord.
- 66:22 For as the new heavens and the new earth, which I will make, shall remain before me, saith the **Lord**, so shall your seed and your name remain.
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one new moon to another, and from one sabbath to another, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the **Lord**.

## יהוֹה |y--hō-vē (prop. n.) (variation from יהוֹה |y--hō-vä' and meaning the same) Jehovah (God)

- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 7:7 Thus saith the Lord **God**, It shall not stand, neither shall it come to pass.
- 10:23 For the Lord **God** of hosts shall make a consumption, even determined, in all the land.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord **God** of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord **God** of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.
- 22:12 And in that day did the Lord God of hosts call to weeping, and to mourning, and to baldness, and to girding with sackcloth;
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord **God** of hosts.
- 22:15 Thus saith the Lord God of hosts, Go, get thee unto this treasurer, even unto Shebna, which is over the house, and say,
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord **God** will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord **God**, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made strong; for I have heard from the Lord **God** of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord **God**, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 40:10 Behold, the Lord **God** will come with strong hand, and his arm shall rule for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord **God**, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord **God**, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 50:4 The Lord **God** hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to hear as the learned.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord **God** hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord **God** will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord **God** will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord **God**, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 56:8 The Lord **God** which gathereth the outcasts of Israel saith, Yet will I gather others to him, besides those that are gathered unto him.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord **God** is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;

- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord **God** will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord **God**, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.
- 65:15 And ye shall leave your name for a curse unto my chosen; for the Lord **God** shall slay thee, and call his servants by another name;

## JERUSALEM (A DUAL – ALLUDING TO ITS TWO MAIN HILLS)

Primitive Word: combination of יַנָלם (to flow as water) and שָׁלָם (to be safe)

#### ירושַלַם |y--rü-shä-lä'-ēm (prop. n.) Jerusalem

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and **Jerusalem** in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 2:1 The word that Isaiah the son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from **Jerusalem**;
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from **Jerusalem** and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 3:8 For **Jerusalem** is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are left in Zion, and he that remaineth in **Jerusalem**, shall be called holy, even everyone that is written among the living in **Jerusalem**;
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of **Jerusalem** from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward **Jerusalem** to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a stone of stumbling and for a rock of offense to both the houses of Israel, for a gin and for a snare to the inhabitants of **Jerusalem**.
- 10:10 As my hand hath founded the kingdoms of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;
- 10:11 Shall I not, as I have done unto Samaria and her idols, so do to Jerusalem and to her idols?
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of **Jerusalem**.
- 22:10 And ye have numbered the houses of Jerusalem, and the houses have ye broken down to fortify the wall.
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of **Jerusalem**, and to the house of Judah.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in **Jerusalem**, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at **Jerusalem**.
- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at **Jerusalem**; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.
- 31:5 As birds flying, so will the Lord of hosts defend Jerusalem; defending also he will deliver it; and passing over he will preserve it.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in **Jerusalem**.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see **Jerusalem** a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to **Jerusalem** unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 36:20 Who are they among all the gods of these lands, that have delivered their land out of my hand, that the Lord should deliver **Jerusalem** out of my hand?

- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, **Jerusalem** shall not be given into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of **Jerusalem** hath shaken her head at thee.
- 37:32 For out of **Jerusalem** shall go forth a remnant; and they that escape out of **Jerusalem** shall come up upon mount Zion; the zeal of the Lord of hosts shall do this.
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to **Jerusalem**, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O **Jerusalem**, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 41:27 The first shall say to Zion, Behold, behold them; and I will give to Jerusalem one that bringeth good tidings.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to **Jerusalem**, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my shepherd, and shall perform all my pleasure; even saying to **Jerusalem**, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O **Jerusalem**, which hast drunk at the hand of the Lord the cup of his fury; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O **Jerusalem**, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; arise, and sit down, O **Jerusalem**; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of **Jerusalem**; for the Lord hath comforted his people, he hath redeemed **Jerusalem**.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for **Jerusalem**'s sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.
- 62:6 I have set watchmen upon thy walls, O **Jerusalem**, which shall never hold their peace day nor night; ye that make mention of the Lord, keep not silence,
- 62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a praise in the earth.
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, Zion a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in **Jerusalem**, and joy in my people; and the voice of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the voice of crying.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;
- 66:13 As one whom his mother comforteth, so will I comfort you; and ye shall be comforted in Jerusalem.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain **Jerusalem**, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

#### **JOIN**

Primitive Root: אָיַחַד/yä-ḥäd': to be (or become) one

#### יָמִד |yä-ḥäd' (v.) to be attached, be united, join oneself; to join together

14:20 Thou shalt not **be joined** with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy people; the seed of evildoers shall never be renowned.

Primitive Root: לָוָה/lä-vä': to twine

## |לַוָּה vä' (v.) to adhere, be joined closely, cleave to; to borrow; to lend

- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be **joined** with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 24:2 And it shall be, as with the people, so with the priest; as with the servant, so with his master; as with the maid, so with her mistress; as with the buyer, so with the seller; as with the lender, so with the borrower; as with the taker of usury, so with the giver of usury to him.
- 56:3 Neither let the son of the stranger, that hath **joined** himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry tree.
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that **join** themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;

Primitive Root: גַגע/nä-gä': to touch

### nä-gä' (v.) to touch, reach unto; to come to, arrive at; to smite, strike; to punish

See Touch

Primitive Root: סֶּכֶרְ/sä-ḥäḥ': to entwine as a screen

## קבּן sä-ḥäḥ' (v.) to protect, cover up; to cover, hide oneself; to cover with armor, arm

9:11 Therefore the Lord shall set up the adversaries of Rezin against him, and join his enemies together;

19:2 And I will **set** the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall fight everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; city against city, and kingdom against kingdom.

Primitive Root: סֶבֶּה/sä-fä': to scrape

### סְבַּת |sä-fä' (v.) to take off, scrape off, shave; to destroy; to perish; to add, augment

See Add

## JOTHAM (JEHOVAH IS PERFECT)

Primitive Word: combination of חַ (Jah: the sacred name of Jehovah, a contraction from מָם do (נְהֹוֹהָ (complete)

## יוֹתַם /yō-thäm' (prop. n.) Jotham

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, **Jotham**, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of **Jotham**, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.

#### Joy

Primitive Root: גִּיל gēl: to spin around

#### אַלפֿן (v.) to turn oneself around; to leap (for joy), rejoice, exult; tremble, shake for fear

See Rejoice

## gēl (n.) exultation, joy, rejoicing

16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.

## גִּילַת ˈgē-lä' (n.) exultation, rejoicing

- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with **joy** and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.

Primitive Root: סוֹב to be good

#### טוב (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

See Good

Primitive Root: עָלֵין/ä-läz': to jump for joy

## אַלייז |al-lez (adj.) exulting, joyful; exulting, insolent; noisy, proud

- 13:3 I have commanded my sanctified ones, I have also called my mighty ones, for mine anger is not upon them that **rejoice** in my highness.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 24:8 The mirth of tabrets ceaseth, the noise of them that rejoice endeth, the joy of the harp ceaseth.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and briers; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.

Primitive Root: פְצַח/pä-tsäḥ': to break out (in a joyful sound)

## pä-tsäḥ' (v.) to break out into joy, rejoice; to break (bones), break into pieces

See Break

Primitive Root: שׁוֹשׁ/süs: to be bright

## שוש süs (v.) to leap, rejoice, exult, be glad

See Rejoice

## מְשׁוֹשׁ mä-sōs (n.) joy, gladness; object of joy

- 8:6 Forasmuch as this people refuseth the waters of Shiloah that go softly and rejoice in Rezin and Remaliah's son;
- 24:8 The mirth of tabrets ceaseth, the noise of them that rejoice endeth, the joy of the harp ceaseth.
- 24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and briers; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.
- 32:14 Because the palaces shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a **joy** of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an eternal excellency, a joy of many generations.
- 62:5 For as a young man marrieth a virgin, so shall thy God marry thee; and as the bridegroom rejoiceth over the bride, so shall thy God rejoice over thee.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;

#### שְׁשׁוֹן sä-sōn' (n.) joy, gladness

- 12:3 Therefore with joy shall ye draw water out of the wells of salvation.
- 22:13 And behold **joy** and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and **gladness**, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting **joy** and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain **gladness** and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of **joy** for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

Primitive Root: שָּׁמַח/sä-mäḥ': possibly meaning to brighten up

## אַמַח |sä-mäḥ' (v.) to be glad, be cheerful, be joyful or merry, rejoice; to gladden, cheer

See Rejoice

#### שמחה |sēm-ḥä' (n.) joy, gladness, rejoicing; feast, banquet

- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the **joy**; and they joy before thee, according to the **joy** in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 16:10 And **gladness** is taken away, **and joy** out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 22:13 And behold joy and **gladness**, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and **gladness** of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and **gladness** shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.

- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting **joy** and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and **joy**; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; everlasting **joy** shall be unto them.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.

## JUDAH (CELEBRATED)

Primitive Root: יָדָה'/yä-dä': to use (hold out) the hand

## יהודָה'|yɛ-hü-dä' (prop. n.) Judah

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning **Judah** and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of **Judah**.
- 2:1 The word that Isaiah the son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from **Judah** the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and **Judah** is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of **Judah** his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of **Judah**, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 7:6 Let us go up against **Judah**, and vex it, and let us make a breach therein for us, and set a king in the midst of it, yea, even the son of Tabeal;
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from **Judah**; even the king of Assyria.
- 8:8 And he shall pass through **Judah**; he shall overflow and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 9:21 Manasseh, Ephraim; and Ephraim, Manasseh; and they together shall be against **Judah**. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of **Judah** from the four corners of the earth.
- 11:13 The envy also of Ephraim shall depart, and the adversaries of **Judah** shall be cut off; Ephraim shall not envy **Judah**, and **Judah** shall not vex Ephraim.
- 19:17 And the land of **Judah** shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 22:8 And he discovered the covering of Judah, and thou didst look in that day to the armor of the house of the forest.
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of **Judah**.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of **Judah**; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of **Judah**, and took them.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to **Judah** and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of **Judah**, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of **Judah**, Behold your God!
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of **Judah**, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of **Judah**, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.

65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of Jacob, and out of **Judah** an inheritor of my mountains; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall dwell there.

#### JUDGE(MENT)

Primitive Root: דָּץ|dēn: to rule

## ן ליין den (v.) to rule, regulate; to judge, defend, punish; to contend with, litigate

3:13 The Lord standeth up to plead, and standeth to judge the people.

## לָּלִן den (n.) judgement, sentence; lawsuit, case; quarrel, strife, controversy

10:2 To turn aside the needy from **judgment**, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!

Primitive Root: פָלל/pä-läl': to judge

## פְּלִילָה |pɛ-lē-lä' (n.) right, judgment, decision of an umpire

16:3 Take counsel, execute **judgment**; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.

## pɛ-lē-lēy-yä' (n.) judgment

28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in **judgment**.

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּט/shä-fat': to judge

# אָבַט shä-fät' (v.) to judge, decide, condemn, vindicate, punish; to defend; to rule, govern; (part.) judge

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they **judge** not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 1:26 And I will restore thy **judges** as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 2:4 And he shall **judge** among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not **judge** after the sight of his eyes, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he **judge** the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, **judging**, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 33:22 For the Lord is our judge, the Lord is our lawgiver, the Lord is our King; he will save us.
- 40:23 That bringeth the princes to nothing; he maketh the judges of the earth as vanity.
- 43:26 Put me in remembrance; let us plead together; declare thou, that thou mayest be justified.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall **judge** the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any **pleadeth** for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.
- 66:16 For by fire and by his sword will the Lord plead with all flesh; and the slain of the Lord shall be many.

#### mēsh-pät' (n.) judgment, sentence; cause, suit, that which is just; law, statute, rule, right

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 1:27 Zion shall be redeemed with judgment, and her converts with righteousness.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into **judgment** with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.

- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of **judgment**, and by the spirit of burning.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for **judgment**, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with **judgment** and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from **judgment**, and to take away the **right** from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 26:8 Yea, in the way of thy **judgments**, O Lord, have we waited for thee; the desire of our soul is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy **judgment**s are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.
- 28:26 For his God doth instruct him to discretion, and doth teach him.
- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a God of **judgment**; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 32:1 Behold, a King shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh **right**.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.
- 40:14 With whom took he counsel, and who instructed him, and taught him in the path of **judgment**, and taught him knowledge, and showed to him the way of understanding?
- 40:27 Why sayest thou, O Jacob, and speakest, O Israel, My way is hid from the Lord, and my **judgment** is passed over from my God?
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O islands; and let the people renew their strength; let them come near; then let them speak; let us come near together to **judgment**.
- 42:1 Behold my servant, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my soul delighteth; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth **judgment** to the Gentiles.
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my **judgment** is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my **judgment** to rest for a light of the people.
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and forsook not the **ordinance** of their God; they ask of me the **ordinances** of justice; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 59:8 The way of peace they know not; and there is no **judgment** in their goings; they have made them crooked paths; whosoever goeth therein shall not know peace.
- 59:9 Therefore is **judgment** far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 59:11 We roar all like bears, and mourn sore like doves; we look for **judgment**, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from us.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.

- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no **judgment**.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love **judgment**, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.

## JUST(ICE)

Primitive Root: צְּדֵק;/tsä-däk': to be or make right

## נדַק (v.) to be just, be right, be true; to be upright; to render just, righteous; to justify

- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be **justified**; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 43:26 Put me in remembrance; let us plead together; declare thou, that thou mayest be justified.
- 45:25 In the Lord shall all the seed of Israel be justified, and shall glory.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he **justifieth** me.
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant **justify** many; for he shall bear their iniquities.

אָבֶּדֶּק |tsɛˀ-dɛk (n.) straightness, justice, justness, right, rectitude, honesty; liberation, welfare, felicity

See Righteous(ness)

אָבְּדְקּה ts<sup>ɛ</sup>-dä-kä' (n.) rectitude, right; justice, faithfulness, mildness; righteousness, virtue, piety, mercy

See Righteous(ness)

נְדְּיקים tsäd-dē-kēm' (adj.) (pl. only) just, righteous, honest right

See Righteous(ness)

## WORD-LINKS "K"

#### Kedar

Primitive Root: קַּרַר/kä-där': to be ashy (or to mourn)

#### קדַר kā-där' (prop. n.) Kedar

- 21:16 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Within a year, according to the years of a hireling, and all the glory of Kedar shall fail;
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the mighty men of the children of **Kedar**, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that **Kedar** doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 60:7 All the flocks of **Kedar** shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.

#### KEEP

Primitive Root: דְּמֵה /dä-mä': to be dumb or silent

## לְּמִי |dɛ-mē' (n.) quiet, rest, stillness

See Rest

Primitive Root: חַרָשׁ/hä-räsh': to scratch

## חַרְשׁ hä-räsh' (v.) to engrave, inscribe; to plow; to be deaf, be silent; to entangle, devise; to forge

See Plon

Primitive Root: חָשָׁה/ḥä-shä': to hush or keep quiet

#### חַשָּׁה |hä-shä' (v.) to be quiet, rest, be silent

See Peace

Primitive Root: בָּלָא/kä-lä': to restrict

#### |בְּלָא kä-lä' (v.) to restrain, hold in, bar; to close, shut up, hinder

43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the south, **Keep** not **back**; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the ends of the earth;

Primitive Root: נָצַר/nä-tsär': to guard

#### חַבְּצֵר '(v.) to watch, guard, protect; to inspect, keep, preserve; to observe; to besiege; to hide

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 26:3 Thou wilt keep him in perfect peace, whose mind is stayed on thee; because he trusteth in thee.
- 27:3 I the Lord do keep it; I will water it every moment; lest any hurt it, I will keep it night and day.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine hand, and will **keep** thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 48:6 Thou hast heard, see all this; and will not ye declare it? I have showed thee new things from this time, even **hidden** things, and thou didst not know them.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the **preserved** of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will **preserve** thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the **monuments**; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

# אָמֵר shä-mär' (v.) to keep watch, guard, keep safe, preserve, retain; to observe, attend; to keep; to worship, honor

See Watchman

#### Kill

Primitive Root: מוּת müth': to die

#### muth' (v.) to die, wither, decay; to perish; to slay, kill

See Die

Primitive Root: נְקַף/nä-käf': to strike with more or less violence

#### חבקף nä-käf' (v.) to go round, move in a circle; to cut down, fell; to destory

See Cui

Primitive Root: שֶׁחֵט/shä-ḥät': to slaughter

## שַׁחַט |shä-ḥät' (v.) to slay, kill, slaughter, massacre, murder; to hammer out, beat thin, sharpen

- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and **killing** sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?
- 66:3 He that **killeth** an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

#### Kind

Primitive Root: חֲסֶד/ḥä-säd': to bow (the neck only)

#### לתָּדְלּ (n.) zeal, love, kindness, benevolence, good-will, favor, benefit, mercy, grace, piety

- 16:5 And in **mercy** shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting **kindness** will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 54:10 For the mountains shall depart, and the hills be removed; but my **kindness** shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the Lord that hath mercy on thee.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure **mercies** of David.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and **merciful** men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 63:7 I will mention the **loving kindnesses** of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his **loving-kindnesses**.

## KINDLE

Primitive Root: בְּעֵר/bä-är': to kindle

## בּעַר bä-är' (v.) to burn up, consume; to be brutish, be stupid; to kindle, burn

See Burn

Primitive Root: חַרָה/hִä-rä': to glow or grow warm

#### חרה hä-rä' (v.) to burn, glow with fire, be kindled; to be angry; to kindle anger

See Incensed

Primitive Root: יצֵת'/yä-tsäth': to burn or set on fire

### יַצְת / yä-tsäth' (v.) to set on fire, kindle, burn

9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall **kindle** in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.

33:12 And the people shall be as the burnings of lime; as thorns cut up shall they be burned in the fire.

Primitive Root: יָקד/yä- käd': a burning

## yä- käd' (v.) to glow, burn, blaze

- 10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall **kindle** a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire **from the hearth**, or to take water withal out of the pit.
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, come not near to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a smoke in my nose, a fire that **burneth** all the day.

Primitive Root: נַשָּׂק/nä-säk': to catch fire

## יְנִשׁוּף yän-shüf' (v.) to be kindled; to kindle, set on fire

44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he **kindleth** it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.

Primitive Root: קַּדַר/kä-däḥ': to inflame

## |אָקַדַּת|kä-däḥ' (v.) to kindle, glow, burn; to be kindled

See burn

#### King

Primitive Root: מֶלֶךְ /mä-läḥ': to reign

## מֵלֶדְ me'-leḥ (n.) king

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the **King**, the Lord of hosts.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, **king** of Judah, that Rezin the **king** of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, **king** of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 7:6 Let us go up against Judah, and vex it, and let us make a breach therein for us, and set a **king** in the midst of it, yea, even the son of Tabeal;
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her **kings**.
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from Judah; even the **king** of Assyria.
- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the **king** of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the **king** of Assyria.
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, strong and many, even the **king** of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and curse their king and their God, and look upward.
- 10:8 For he saith, Are not my princes altogether kings?
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this proverb against the **king** of Babylon, and say, How hath the oppressor ceased! the golden city ceased!

- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the **kings** of the nations.
- 14:18 All the kings of the nations, yea all of them, lie in glory, every one of them in his own house.
- 14:28 In the year the king Ahaz died was this burden.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a fierce **king** shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient **kings**?
- 20:1 In the year that Tartan came unto Ashdod, (when Sargon the king of Assyria sent him.) and fought against Ashdod, and took it;
- 20:4 So shall the **king** of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 20:6 And the inhabitant of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be delivered from the **king** of Assyria; and how shall we escape?
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of one king; after the end of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a harlot.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall punish the host of the high ones that are on high, and the **kings** of the earth upon the earth.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the **king** it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 32:1 Behold, a King shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 33:22 For the Lord is our judge, the Lord is our lawgiver, the Lord is our King; he will save us.
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of **king** Hezekiah, the Sennacherib **king** of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.
- 36:2 And the **king** of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto **king** Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:4 And Rabshakeh said unto them, Say ye now to Hezekiah, Thus saith the great **king**, the **king** of Assyria, What confidence is this wherein thou trustest?
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 36:8 Now therefore give pledges, I pray thee, to my master the **king** of Assyria, and I will give thee two thousand horses, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and cried with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great **king**, the **king** of Assyria.
- 36:14 Thus saith the king, Let not Hezekiah deceive you; for he shall not be able to deliver you.
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you trust in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the **king** of Assyria.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the **king** of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:21 But they held their peace, and answered him not a word; for the king's commandment was, saying, Answer him not.
- 37:1 And it came to pass, when **king** Hezekiah heard it, that he rent his clothes, and covered himself with sackcloth, and went into the house of the Lord.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the **king** of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:5 So the servants of **King** Hezekiah came to Isaiah.
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your master, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the **king** of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh returned, and found the **king** of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.
- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah **king** of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah **king** of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou trustest, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the **king** of Assyria.

- 37:11 Behold, thou hast heard what the **kings** of Assyria have done to all lands by destroying them utterly; and shalt thou be delivered?
- 37:13 Where is the king of Hamath, and the king of Arpad? and the king of the city of Sepharvaim, Hena, and Ivah?
- 37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the **king** of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.
- 38:6 And I will deliver thee and this city out of the hand of the king of Assyria; and I will defend this city.
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, **king** of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto **king** Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from Babylon.
- 39:7 And of thy sons that shall issue from thee, which thou shalt beget, shall they take away; and they shall be eunuchs in the palace of the **king** of Babylon.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 41:21 Produce your cause, saith the Lord; bring forth your strong reasons, saith the King of Jacob.
- 43:15 I am the Lord, your Holy One, the Creator of Israel, your King.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the **King** of Israel, and his Redeemer the Lord of hosts; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of **kings**, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, **King**s shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:23 And **kings** shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the **kings** shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the **king** with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.
- 60:3 And the Gentiles shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their **kings** shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 60:11 Therefore thy gates shall be open continually; they shall not be shut day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the forces of the Gentiles, and that their **kings** maybe brought.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of **kings**; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy righteousness, and all **kings** thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.

#### KINGDOM

Primitive Root: מְלַךְּי/mä-läḥ': to reign

## מְלוּכָה mº-lü-ḥä' (n.) dominion, rule, reign

34:12 They shall call the nobles thereof to the kingdom, but none shall be there, and all her princes shall be nothing.

62:3 Thou shalt also be a crown of glory in the hand of the Lord, and a royal diadem in the hand of thy God.

## מְמְלָכָה mäm-lä-ḥä' (n.) kingdom, domain, realm; reign

9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his **kingdom**, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.

10:10 As my hand hath founded the **kingdoms** of the idols, and whose graven images did excel them of Jerusalem and of Samaria;

- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the **kingdoms** of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of **kingdoms**, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to tremble, that did shake **kingdoms**;
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the **kingdom** from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 19:2 And I will set the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall fight everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; city against city, and **kingdom** against **kingdom**.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he shook the **kingdoms**; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the **kingdoms** of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, God of Israel, that dwellest between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the **kingdoms** of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:20 Now therefore, O Lord our God, save us from his hand, that all the **kingdoms** of the earth may know that thou art the Lord, even thou only.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of **kingdoms**. 60:12 For the nation and **kingdom** that will not serve thee shall perish; yea, those nations shall be utterly wasted.

## WORD-LINKS "L"

#### Labor

Primitive Root: מוֹא/üts: to press

## אוץ |üts (v.) to urge, press, hasten, impel

22:4 Therefore said I, Look away from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to comfort me, because of the spoiling of the daughter of my people.

Primitive Root: צָגֵע/yä-gä': to gasp

## יַגַע yä-gä' (v.) to labor, toil, exert oneself; to be fatigued, be wearied

See Wear

## יָגִיען $y^{\varepsilon}$ -gē'-ä (n.) labor, toil; product of labor, produce, goods, wealth; (adj.) wearied, tired

- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The **labor** of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your **labor** for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.

Primitive Root: עֲצֵב/ä-tsäv': to carve

#### אַצב ä'-tsāv (n.) workman, servant, laborer, bondsman

58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and exact all your **labors**.

#### LAMB

Primitive Root: טָלָה/tä-lä': to cover with pieces

#### טָלַאִים |tɛ-lä-ēm' (n.) (pl. only) young lambs

- 40:11 He shall feed his flock like a shepherd; he shall gather the **lambs** with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.
- 65:25 The wolf and the **lamb** shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Word: בֶּבֶשׁ/kɛ-vɛs': from an unused root meaning to dominate

#### נבש |ke-ves' (n.) lamb, young lamb

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.
- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the **lamb**, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall lead them.

Primitive Root: בְּרַר /kä-rär': to dance

#### 12 kär (n.) lamb, sheep; meadow, pasture of lambs; camel's saddle or litter

- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in **large pastures**.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of **lambs** and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.

Primitive Root: שַׁאַה'/shä-ä': to rush

## אַלה or שֵׁה (n.) a (young) sheep or goat

- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of **lesser cattle**.
- 53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a **lamb** to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the **small cattle** of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor wearied thee with incense.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a **lamb**, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

#### LAMENT

Primitive Root: אַבַל/ä-väl': to bewail

## |ä-väl' (v.) to lament, mourn

See Mourn

Primitive Root: אָנָה/ä-nä': to groan

#### אַנָה' |ä-nä' (n.) sorrow, mourning, lamentation

3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.

19:8 The fishers also shall **mourn**, and all they that cast angle into the brooks shall lament, and they that spread nets upon the waters shall languish.

Primitive Root: קַבְּרְאַ /sä-fäd': to tear the hair and beat the breasts

## קפר |sä-fäd' (v.) to lament, mourn

32:12 They shall lament for the teats, for the pleasant fields, for the fruitful vine.

## LAND

Primitive Root: אָדַם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face)

## אַדָּמָה | ad-a-ma' (n.) earth (red or tawny), soil, ground, land, region, country

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are burned with fire; your **land**, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by strangers.
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the **land** that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her kings.
- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own **land**; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their **land** of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the **land** of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 19:17 And the **land** of Judah shall be a terror unto Egypt, everyone that maketh mention thereof shall be afraid in himself, because of the counsel of the Lord of hosts, which he hath determined against it.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shall turn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the **earth**.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall punish the host of the high ones that are on high, and the kings of the earth upon the earth.
- 28:24 Doth the ploughman plough all day to sow? doth he open and break the clods of his ground?
- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the **ground** withal; and bread of the increase of the **earth**, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.

- 30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that ear the **ground** shall eat clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and briers; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.
- 45:9 Woe unto him that striveth with his Maker! Let the potsherd strive with the potsherds of the **earth**. Shall the clay say to him that fashioneth it, What makest thou? Or thy work, He hath no hands?

Primitive Root: אָרֵץ'-rɛts: an unused root probably meaning to be firm

## אָרֶץ (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See also Country, Earth, Ground, World (separated for convenience)

- 1:19 If ye be willing and obedient, ye shall eat the good of the land;
- 2:7 Their **land** also is full of silver and gold, neither is there any end of their treasures; their **land** is also full of horses, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.
- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the **land**, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 6:12 And the Lord have removed men far away, for there shall be a great forsaking in the midst of the land.
- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall hiss for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the **land** of Assyria.
- 7:22 And it shall come to pass, for the abundance of milk that they shall give, he shall eat butter; for butter and honey shall everyone eat that is left in the land.
- 7:24 With arrows and with bows shall men come thither; because all the land shall become briers and thorns.
- 8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall overflow and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the **land** of Zebulun, and the **land** of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 9:2 The people that walked in darkness have seen a great light; they that dwell in the **land** of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of hosts is the **land** darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:23 For the Lord God of hosts shall make a consumption, even determined, in all the land.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his people, which shall be left from Assyria; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the **land** of Egypt.
- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the weapons of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy people; the seed of evildoers shall never be renowned.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the **land**, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 18:1 Woe to the land shadowing with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose **land** the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose **land** the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the **land** of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.

- 19:19 In that day shall there be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the **land** of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the third with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 21:1 The burden of the desert of the sea. As whirlwinds in the south pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the terrible land.
- 21:14 The inhabitants of the land of Tema brought water to him that was thirsty, they prevented with their bread him that fled.
- 23:1 The burden of Tyre. Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the **land** of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 23:10 Pass through thy land as a river, O daughter of Tarshish; there is no more strength in thee.
- 23:13 Behold the **land** of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 24:3 The land shall be utterly emptied, and utterly spoiled; for the Lord hath spoken this word.
- 24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.
- 24:13 When thus it shall be in the midst of the **land** among the people, there shall be as the shaking of an olive tree, and as the gleaning grapes when the vintage is done.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the **land** of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the **land** of Assyria, and the outcasts in the **land** of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the **land** of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary **land**.
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the **land** of Idumea.
- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be soaked with blood, and their dust made fat with fatness.
- 34:9 And the streams thereof shall be turned into pitch, and the dust thereof into brimstone, and the **land** thereof shall become burning pitch.
- 36:10 And am I now come up without the Lord against this **land** to destroy it? the Lord said unto me, Go up against this **land**, and destroy it.
- 36:17 Until I come and take you away to a land like your own land, a land of corn and wine, a land of bread and vineyards.
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 36:20 Who are they among all the gods of these **lands**, that have delivered their **land** out of my hand, that the Lord should deliver Jerusalem out of my hand?
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a blast upon him, and he shall hear a rumor, and return to his own land; and I will cause him to fall by the sword in his own land.
- 37:11 Behold, thou hast heard what the kings of Assyria have done to all **lands** by destroying them utterly; and shalt thou be delivered?
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the sword; and they escaped into the **land** of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the **land** of the living; I shall behold man no more with the inhabitants of the world
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 49:12 Behold, these shall come from far; and, lo, these from the north and from the west; and these from the land of Sinim.
- 49:19 For thy waste and thy desolate places, and the **land** of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that swallowed thee up shall be far away.
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the **land**, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the **land** forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their **land** they shall possess the double; everlasting joy shall be unto them.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy **land** any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy **land** Union; for the Lord delighteth in thee, and thy **land** shall be married.

Primitive Root: צַמֵא /tsä-mā': to thirst

## צְמֵאוֹן tsēm-mä-ōn' (n.) thirsty, parched; arid region

35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the **thirsty land** springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.

#### LANGUAGE

Primitive Word: אַרְמוֹן/är-mōn': from an unused root meaning to elevate

## אַרְמִיּת a-rä-mēth' (adv.) Armenian, Syrian language

36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the **Syrian language**; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.

Primitive Root: יְדָה'/yä-dä': to use (hold out) the hand

## יהודית |yº-hü-dēth' (n.) language of the Jews

- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the **Jews' language**, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and cried with a loud voice in the **Jews' language**, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.

 $Primitive\ Root:\ either\ from$  קְבָּה /sä-fä' (to scrape) or אָׁפָר /shä-fä': (to abrade)

#### שְׁבַּה |sä-fä' (n.) lip, mouth, speech, language; lip, edge, border

See Lips

#### LAW

Primitive Root: חֲקֵקׁן/hä-käk': to hack

## חָקקק |hä-käk' (v.) to carve out, engrave; to delineate, paint; to decree, establish, ordain, prescribe

- 10:1 Woe unto them that decree unrighteous decrees, and that write greivousness which they have prescribed;
- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast hewed thee out a sepulcher here, as he that heweth him out a sepulcher on high, and that **graveth** a habitation for himself in a rock?
- 30:8 Now go, write it before them in a table, and **note** it in a book, that it may be for the time to come forever and ever;
- 33:22 For the Lord is our judge, the Lord is our lawgiver, the Lord is our King; he will save us.
- 49:16 Behold, I have graven thee upon the palms of my hands; thy walls are continually before me.

Primitive Root: יָרָה/yä-rä': to flow as water

## תּוֹרָה' (n.) instruction, doctrine, regulation, direction, precept, law

- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the **law**, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the **law** of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 8:16 Bind up the testimony, seal the law among my disciples.
- 8:20 To the law and to the testimony; and if they speak not according to this word, it is because there is no light in them.

- 24:5 The earth also is defiled under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the **laws**, changed the ordinance, broken the everlasting covenant.
- 30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 42:22 [42:21] The Lord is not well pleased with such a people, but for his righteousness' sake he will magnify the law and make it honorable.
- 42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his **law**; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a light of the people.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my **law**; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.

Primitive Root: צַדַק/tsä-däk': to be or make right

## צְּדִּיקִים ˈtsäd-dē-kēm' (adj.) (pl. only) just, righteous, honest right

See Righteous(ness)

## LAY/LIE

Primitive Root: אַחַא' a-ḥaz': to seize (often with the idea of holding in possession)

## אָמָל (v.) to seize, take hold, lay hold of; to join, fasten

See Take Hold

Primitive Root: אַצַר/ä-tsär': to store up

## אַצַר |ä-tsär' (v.) to lay up, store, treasure up

See Treasure

Primitive Root: תְּסֵן/ḥä-sän': to compact or be compact

## וְחָשַׁן hä-sän' (v.) to bind together; to be wealthy, lay up, heap in store

23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor **laid up**; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to eat sufficiently, and for durable clothing.

Primitive Root: יָּטַן/yä-säd': to set

## יְסֵד |yä-säd' (v.) to found, establish, set; to pile up, build up; to appoint, order, assign

- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath **founded** Zion, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian **founded** it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.
- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my shepherd, and shall perform all my pleasure; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 48:13 Mine hand also hath **laid** the foundation of the earth, and my right hand hath spanned the heavens; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath stretched forth the heavens, and **laid** the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy stones with fair colors, and **lay** thy foundations with sapphires.

Primitive Root: גַגע/nä-gä': to touch

## nä-gä' (v.) to touch, reach unto; to come to, arrive at; to smite, strike; to punish

See Touch

Primitive Root: זְבֶּשַׁ/pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

## pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visi

## |pɛ-küd-dä' (n.) muster, enumeration, review; visitation, punishment; care, custody; charge, watch

See Visit

Primitive Root: רְבַץ/rä-väts': to crouch (on all four legs folded)

#### רְבַץ |rä-väts' (v.) to lie down, lie with; to recline, repose, rest; to make to lie down (flock), to lay stones

- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall **lie down** with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall lead them.
- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their **fold** there.
- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall **lie** there; and their houses shall be full of doleful creatures; and owls shall dwell there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall **lie down** in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 17:2 The cities of Aroer are forsaken; they shall be for flocks, which shall lie down, and none shall make them afraid.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he **lie down**, and consume the branches thereof.
- 54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will **lay** thy stones with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.

## רְבֵץ|rā'-vɛts or רֱבֵץ|re'-vɛts (n.) couching place; quiet domicile, resting place

- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of flocks, and the valley of Achor a place for the herds to **lie down** in, for my people that have sought me.

Primitive Root: שׁוֹם/süm: to put

# שוּם |süm (v.) to put, set, place, dispose, set in array; to plant, beget; constitute, erect; to lay down; to appoint

See Put

Primitive Root: שִׁית shēth: to place

#### אָלית shēth (v.) to put, set in place, lay; to direct, turn, appoint; to make, render, establish; to give

See Appoint

Primitive Root: שָׁכַב /shä-ḥäv': to lie down

## אָלַבּב shä-ḥäv' (v.) to lie down, rest, sleep; to lie dead; to lie with, sleep with; to be ravished

- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saying, Since thou art **laid down**, no feller is come up against us. 14:18 All the kings of the nations, yea all of them, **lie** in glory, every one of them in his own house.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the army and the power; they shall **lie down** together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are quenched as tow.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall **lie down** in sorrow.

- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they **lie** at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.
- 56:10 His watchmen are blind; they are all ignorant, they are all dumb dogs, they cannot bark; sleeping, **lying down**, loving to slumber.

Primitive Root: שָׁלַח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

## מְשְׁלוּתַ mēsh-lō'-äḥ (n.) a sending; seizure, possession; prey, booty

See Send

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּל/shä-fāl': to depress or sink

## אָפֵל |shä-fāl' (v.) to sink, be felled; to become low, humbled, or subdued; to fell, overthrow; to depress, humble, cast down

See Low

#### LEAD

Primitive Root: אַשִּׁר/ä-shär': to be straight

## אַשַּׁר |ä-shär' (v.) to be straight, be right; to guide, lead straight, direct rightly; (part.) leader

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their oppressors, and women rule over them. O my people, they who **lead** thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 9:16 For the leaders of this people cause them to err; and they that are led of them are destroyed.

Primitive Root: קֿרַךְּ /dä-räḥ': to tread

#### קדלן dä-räh' (v.) to tread, walk, go; to wander; to tread down or trample on; to bend (a bow)

See Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: יָבַל/yä-väl': to flow

#### yä-väl' (v.) to lead, bring; to bear, carry; to produce, bring forth, present, offer

- 18:7 In that time shall the present be **brought** unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is **brought** as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be **led forth** with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.

Primitive Root: יְלֵדְי /yä-läḥ': to walk

## יָלַדְי /yä-läḥ' (v.) to go, walk

See Walk

Primitive Root: גַּבְד/nä-gäd': to front

#### נגיד |nä-gēd' (n.) prince, leader, ruler, overseer; noble, honorable

55:4 Behold, I have given him for a witness to the people, a leader and commander to the people.

Primitive Root: נָהַג/nä-häg': to drive forth

#### וְבַּהַע (v.) to urge on, drive forward, lead or carry away; to act; to lead

- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall **lead** them.
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria **lead away** the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.

- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall **lead** them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 60:11 Therefore thy gates shall be open continually; they shall not be shut day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the forces of the Gentiles, and that their kings maybe **brought**.
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou **lead** thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.

Primitive Root: נַהַל/nä-häl': to run with a sparkle

## nä-häl' (v.) to lead, conduct, lead to water; to guard, provide for, sustain protect

See Guide

Primitive Root: נָחָה/nä-ḥä': to guide

## מְחָה nä-ḥä' (v.) to lead, guide

See Guide

#### **LEAF**

Primitive Root: עֵלָה /ä-lä: to ascend

#### עֵלֵה |ä-lɛ' (n.) leaf

- 1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.
- 34:4 And all the host of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the **leaf** falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.
- 64:6 [64:5-6] But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a **leaf**; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.

#### LEAN

Primitive Root: סְמַן /sä-mäḥ': to prop

#### קמקי |sä-mäh' (v.) to rest upon, support, press; to uphold, sustain, aid; to approach, draw near

See Stay

Primitive Root: רְצָה /rä-zä': to emaciate

## רְיַה (v.) to spread out, make thin, make lean; to consume, destroy

17:4 And in that day it shall come to pass, that the glory of Jacob shall be made thin, and the fatness of his flesh shall wax lean.

#### רָאֹלן rä-zōn' (n.) leanness, pining, consuming

10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones **leanness**; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.

#### רְאָי |rä-zē' (n.) destruction, consumption

24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we heard songs, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.

#### Learn

Primitive Root: יָדַע/yä-dä': to know

#### יַדְע 'yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Acknowledge; Declare, Show, Teach, Tell

- 29:11 And the vision of all is become unto you as the words of a book that is sealed, which men deliver to one that is **learned**, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I cannot; for it is sealed:
- 29:12 And the book is delivered to him that is not learned, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I am not learned.

Primitive Root: לֵמֶד /lä-mäd': to goad

## |בֹּמֵד |lä-mäd' (v.) to learn, study, be accustomed to; to train, practice; to teach, instruct

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they **learn** war anymore.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will **learn** righteousness.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is **taught** by the precept of men:
- 29:24 They also that erred in spirit shall come to understanding, and they that murmured shall learn doctrine.
- 40:14 With whom took he counsel, and who instructed him, and **taught** him in the path of judgment, and **taught** him knowledge, and showed to him the way of understanding?
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; I am the Lord thy God which **teacheth** thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.

## לְמֵּוֹד |lēm-müd' (adj.) taught, trained, skilled, accustomed; (n.) disciple

- 8:16 Bind up the testimony, seal the law among my disciples.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the **learned**, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to hear as the **learned**.
- 54:13 And all thy children shall be taught of the Lord; and great shall be the peace of thy children.

## LEAVE/LEFT

Primitive Root: אַיַעִר /yä-näḥ: to deposit

## אָנְצֵּח jyä-näḥ (v.) to rest, settle down; to set down, deposit, place; to let remain, leave, abondon

- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and **set** them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall **cast down** to the earth with the hand.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his **place**, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 65:15 And ye shall **leave** your name for a curse unto my chosen; for the Lord God shall slay thee, and call his servants by another name:

Primitive Root: יְתֵר/yä-thär': to jut over or exceed

## יָתִּר' yä-thär' (v.) to be left, to let remain; to excel, be superior; to spare, leave

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 1:9 Except the Lord of hosts had **left** unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.
- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are left in Zion, and he that **remaineth** in Jerusalem, shall be called holy, even everyone that is written among the living in Jerusalem;
- 7:22 And it shall come to pass, for the abundance of milk that they shall give, he shall eat butter; for butter and honey shall everyone eat that is **left** in the land.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be **left** as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; nothing shall be **left**, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: מֲצֵא/mä-tsä': to come forth

#### mä-tsä' (v.) to come in, arrive at, acquire; to find, discover; to reach, befall; to suffice

See Find

Primitive Root: עובר/ä-zäv': to loosen

## בּיבָּב" (v.) to loosen, release, set free; to leave, forsake, abandon; to cease, omit, relax

See Forsake

Primitive Root: שַׁאַר/shä-är': to swell up

## שׁאַר shä-är' (v.) to be left, to remain; to be left over; to survive

- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are **left** in Zion, and he that remaineth in Jerusalem, shall be called holy, even everyone that is written among the living in Jerusalem;
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be **left**, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his people, which shall be **left** from Assyria; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the land of Egypt.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be **left** in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the earth, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are burned, and few men left.
- 24:12 In the city is left desolation, and the gate is smitten with destruction.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was **left** alone; these, where had they been?

#### LEBANON

Primitive Root: לֶבֶב /lä-väv: to be enclosed

## לבנון l<sup>2</sup>-vä-nōn' (prop. n.) Lebanon; the white mountain

- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the cedars of **Lebanon**, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;
- 10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.
- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saying, Since thou art laid down, no feller is come up against us.
- 29:17 Is it not yet a very little while, and **Lebanon** shall be turned into a fruitful field, and the fruitful field shall be esteemed as a forest?
- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; **Lebanon** is ashamed and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of **Lebanon** shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of **Lebanon**; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 40:16 And Lebanon is not sufficient to burn, nor the beasts thereof sufficient for a burnt offering.
- 60:13 The glory of **Lebanon** shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.

## LEFT (HAND/SIDE)

Primitive Root: שַׁמַאל/sä-mäl': to use the left hand or go in that direction

## שׁמֵאל |sä-mäl' (v.) to turn oneself to the left; to use the left hand

30:21 And thine ears shall hear a word behind thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.

 $Primitive\ Word$ : שְׁמֹאֹל /s $^{\varepsilon}$ -m $\bar{o}l$ ': properly, dark (as enveloped)

## שְׁמֵאל |s⁵-mōl' (n.) left side; left hand; north, north quarter, northern side

9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the **left hand**, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat every man the flesh of his own arm;

54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the **left**; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.

#### LEG

Primitive Word: אָנוֹד|tsēn-nōd': from an unused root perhaps meaning to be hollow

#### אָעָדָה (n.) step, pace, march

3:20 The bonnets, and the ornaments of the legs, and the headbands, and the tablets, and the earnings,

Primitive Word: שֹׁבֵל shō'-vɛl: from an unused root meaning to flow

## shō'-vɛl (n.) train (of a robe)

47:2 Take the millstones, and grind meal; uncover thy locks, make bare the leg, uncover the thigh, pass over the rivers.

#### LEND

Primitive Root: לֵנה/lä-vä': to twine

## |dä-vä' (v.) to adhere, be joined closely, cleave to; to borrow; to lend

See Join

#### LENGTHEN

Primitive Root: אָרָדְ/ä-räḥ': to be long

#### אַרַדְּ |ä-räḥ' (v.) to stretch out, be long; to lengthen, prolong, extend, delay

See Prolong

#### LIBERAL

Primitive Root: בַּדָב/nä-däv': to impel

## יבְּדִיב |nä-dēv' (n.) willing, voluntary, ready; generous, liberal; (subst.) noble, prince, tyrant

- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the **nobles**.
- 32:5 The vile person shall be no more called liberal, nor the churl said to be bountiful.
- 32:8 But the liberal deviseth liberal things; and by liberal things shall he stand.

## LIE/LYING

Primitive Root: בְּדָא/bä-dä': to invent (figuratively)

#### bäd (n.) idle talk, prattle; liar, braggard

- 16:6 We have heard of the pride of Moab; of his haughtiness and his pride, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.
- 44:25 That frustrateth the tokens of the **liars**, and maketh diviners mad; that turneth wise men backward, and maketh their knowledge foolish;

Primitive Root: בְּוֹב /kä-zäv': to lie

## |kä-zäv' (v.) to lie, speak falsehood, deceive; to be proven faithless or false

- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or feared, that thou hast **lied**, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou fearest me not?
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.

## kä-zäv' (n.) falsehood, lie, deception; idolatry, idol

28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made **lies** our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;

28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of **lies**, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.

Primitive Root: בָּחֵשׁ/kä-ḥäsh': to be untrue

## בְּחֵשׁ kä-ḥäsh' (v.) to decrease, become lean; to lie; to fail; to deny, feign

59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.

#### בֹּחַשׁ kɛ-ḥäsh' (adj.) lying, false

30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;

Primitive Word: שׁוֹא shō: an unused root meaning to rush over

## אָשְׁ(shä'-v² (n.) wickedness, iniquity, sin; falsehood, lie; emptiness, vanity, nothingness

See Vain

Primitive Root: שָׁקֵר/shä-kär': to cheat

## שׁקֵר shä-kär' (v.) to lie, deceive; to act falsely

63:8 For he said, Surely they are my people, children that will not lie; so he was their Savior.

## שׁקר she'-ker (n.) lie, falsehood, fraud, deceit; deceitful, vain

- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under **falsehood** have we hid ourselves;
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the poor with **lying** words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived heart hath turned him aside, that he cannot deliver his soul, nor say, Is there not a **lie** in my right hand?
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and draw out the tongue? are ye not children of transgression, a seed of **falsehood**.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken **lies**, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of **falsehood**.

#### Life

Primitive Root: חָיָה/ḥä-yä': to live

#### יהׁ|hä'-ē (adj.) alive, living, lively, vigorous; fresh, running (water); (subs. pl.) life, refreshment

- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are left in Zion, and he that remaineth in Jerusalem, shall be called holy, even everyone that is written among the **living** in Jerusalem;
- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a people seek unto their God? for the **living** to hear from the dead?
- 35:9 No lion shall be there, nor any ravenous beast shall go up thereon, it shall not be found there; but the redeemed shall walk there;
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the **living** God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the **living** God.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the **living**; I shall behold man no more with the inhabitants of the
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my **life**; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 38:16 Oh Lord, thou who art the **life** of my spirit, in whom I live; so wilt thou recover me, and make me to live; and in all these things I will praise thee.
- 38:19 The living, the living, he shall praise thee, as I do this day; the father to the children shall make known thy truth.

- 38:20 The Lord was ready to save me; therefore we will sing my songs to the stringed instruments all the days of our life in the house of the Lord.
- 40:16 And Lebanon is not sufficient to burn, nor the beasts thereof sufficient for a burnt offering.
- 43:20 The **beast** of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the **beasts**, and upon the cattle; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a burden to the weary beast.
- 49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I **live**, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the **living**; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.
- 56:9 All ye beasts of the field, come to devour, yea, all ye beasts in the forest.
- 57:10 Thou art wearied in the greatness of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast found the **life** of thine hand; therefore thou wast not grieved.

Primitive Root: נָפַשׁ nä '-fäsh: to breathe

## ובפשׁ (n.) breath, respiration, life; soul, spirit, mind

See Soul

#### LIFT UP

Primitive Root: אָאָה/gä-ä': to mount up

## אַאות [gā-üth' (n.) something lifted up; majesty; glory, splendor; pride, arrogance

See Pride

Primitive Root: מו/nüs: to flit

## nüs (v.) to flee, move quickly; to hasten; to escape; to chase, drive; to impel

See Flee

Primitive Root: נָשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

## נְשַׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be **exalted** above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not **lift up** sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 2:9 And the mean man boweth not down, and the great man humbleth himself not; therefore forgive them not.
- 2:12 For the day of the Lord of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and lofty, and upon everyone who is **lifted up**, and he shall be brought low.
- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are high and **lifted up**; and upon all the oaks of Bashan;
- 2:14 And upon all the high mountains, and upon all the hills, and upon all the nations which are lifted up;
- 3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.
- 3:7 In that day shall he **swear**, saying, I will not be a healer; for in my house there is neither bread nor clothing; make me not a ruler of the people.
- 5:26 And he will **lift up** an ensign to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be **taken away** before the king of Assyria.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall **lift up** his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he **lift** it **up** after the manner of Egypt.

- 11:12 And he shall **set up** an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 13:2 **Lift** ye **up** my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt **take up** this proverb against the king of Babylon, and say, How hath the oppressor ceased! the golden city ceased!
- 15:7 Therefore the abundance they have gotten, and that which they have laid up, shall they carry away to the brook of the willows.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he **lifteth up** an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 22:6 And Elam bare the quiver with chariots of men and horsemen, and Kir uncovered the shield.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will **carry** their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every **high** hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.
- 33:10 Now will I rise, saith the Lord; now will I be exalted; now will I lift up myself.
- 33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the people that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore **lift up** thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and **lifted up** thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 38:21 For Isaiah had said, Let them take a lump of figs, and lay it for a plaster upon the boil, and he shall recover.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; nothing shall be left, saith the Lord.
- 40:4 Every valley shall be **exalted**, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;
- 40:11 He shall feed his flock like a shepherd; he shall gather the lambs with his arm, and **carry** them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall **take** them away as stubble.
- 40:26 **Lift up** your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall **carry** them **away**, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.
- 42:2 He shall not cry, nor lift up, nor cause his voice to be heard in the street.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof **lift up** their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that **set up** the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the remnant of the house of Israel, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;
- 46:4 And even to your old age I am he; and even to hoar hairs will I carry you; I have made, and I will bear; even I will carry, and will deliver you.
- 46:7 They **bear** him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 49:18 **Lift up** thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will **lift up** mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be **carried** upon their shoulders.
- 51:6 **Lift up** your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall **lift up** the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.

- 52:11 Depart ye, depart ye, go ye out from thence, touch no unclean thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye clean, that **bear** the vessels of the Lord.
- 52:13 Behold, my servant shall deal prudently, he shall be exalted and extolled, and be very high.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he **bare** the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.
- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall **carry** them all **away**; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and **lofty** One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to revive the spirit of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 60:4 **Lift up** thine eyes round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall **bring** gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and **carried** them all the days of old.
- 64:6 [64:5-6] But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have **taken** us **away**.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be **borne** upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

Primitive Root: צַהַל/tsä-häl': to gleam

### tsä-häl' (v.) to shout for joy, cry out, rejoice, exult; to neigh; to make shrill

See Cry

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rim: to be high, or to raise or rise

#### רום rüm (v.) to be high, be elevated; to be lofty, be exalted, be glorified

See Exalt

Primitive Root: רְמָם/rä-mäm': to rise

#### רמם |rä-mäm' (v.) to be high, be loft, be lifted up; to exalt oneself, rise up; (part.) a lifting up

See Exalt

#### LIGHT

Primitive Root: אוֹר  $\bar{o}r$ : to be luminous (literally or metaphorically)

#### סוֹאוֹר (v.) to shine, become light, enlighten

- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and **set them on fire**; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the Lord is risen upon thee.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting **light**, and thy God thy glory.

#### סוֹאוֹר (n.) light, morning light, illumination; herb

- 2:5 O house of Jacob, come ye, and let us walk in the **light** of the Lord; yea, come, for ye have all gone astray, everyone to his wicked ways.
- 5:20 Woe unto them that call evil good, and good evil; that put darkness for **light**, and **light** for darkness; that put bitter for sweet, and sweet for bitter!
- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the **light** is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 9:2 The people that walked in darkness have seen a great **light**; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the **light** shined.

- 10:17 And the **light** of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their **light**; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her **light** to shine.
- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon **herbs**, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 30:26 Moreover the **light** of the moon shall be as the **light** of the sun, and the **light** of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the **light** of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a **light** of the Gentiles;
- 42:16 And I will bring the blind by a way that they knew not; I will lead them in paths that they have not known; I will make darkness light before them, and crooked things straight. These things will I do unto them, and not forsake them.
- 45:7 I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create evil; I the Lord do all these things.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a **light** to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the **light** of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a **light** of the people.
- 58:8 Then shall thy **light** break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rearward.
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy **light** rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for **light**, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy **light** is come, and the glory of the Lord is risen upon thee.
- 60:3 And the Gentiles shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy **light** by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give **light** unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy glory.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting **light**, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.

Primitive Root: גַּוֹח /nä-gä': to glitter

#### וֹגְהֹי nō'-gä (n.) brightness; shining splendor, glory

See Brightness

Primitive Root: שָׁחֵר/shä-ḥär': to dawn

## שָׁחַר (n.) dawn, daybreak, early light; son of the dawn, the morning star

- 8:20 To the law and to the testimony; and if they speak not according to this word, it is because there is no light in them.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the **morning**! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 47:11 Therefore shall evil come upon thee; thou shalt not know from whence it **riseth**; and mischief shall fall upon thee; thou shalt not be able to put it off; and desolation shall come upon thee suddenly, which thou shalt not know.
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the **morning**, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rearward.

#### LIKEN

Primitive Root: דְּמָה /da-ma': to be dumb or silent

## קבְּתֹּם (v.) to be like, resemble; to make or become like; to intend, purpose, meditate; to remember

See also Silent

- 1:9 Except the Lord of hosts had left unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.
- 10:7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to destroy and cut off nations not a few.

- 14:14 I will ascend above the heights of the clouds; I will be like the Most High.
- 14:24 The Lord of hosts hath sworn, saying, Surely as I have **thought**, so shall it come to pass; and as I have purposed, so shall it stand:
- 40:18 To whom then will ye liken God? or what likeness will ye compare unto him?
- 40:25 To whom then will ye liken me, or shall I be equal? saith the Holy One.
- 46:5 To whom will ye liken me, and make me equal, and compare me, that we may be like?

#### Line

Primitive Root: קוֹה/kä-vä': to bind together

## אָקוֹ (n.) line, measuring, line; rope, cord, string; rule, norm, order

- 28:10 For precept must be upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little;
- 28:13 But the word of the Lord was unto them precept upon precept, precept upon precept; **line** upon **line**, **line** upon **line**; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and fall backward, and be broken, and snared, and taken.
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the **line**, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the **line** of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by **line**; they shall possess it forever; from generation to generation they shall dwell therein.
- 44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his **rule**; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.

Primitive Root: שָׂרַד/sä-räd': to puncture

## שׁרֵד |se-red' (n.) red chalk or pencil, stylus, awl

44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a **line**; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.

## Lion

Primitive Root: אָרָה/ä-rä': to pluck

## אַרִי <sup>ä</sup>-rē' (n.) lion

- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, **lions** upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 21:8 And he cried, A lion; My lord, I stand continually upon the watchtower in the daytime, and I am set in my ward whole nights;
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the **lion** and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 35:9 No lion shall be there, nor any ravenous beast shall go up thereon, it shall not be found there; but the redeemed shall walk there;
- 38:13 I reckoned till morning, that, as a lion, so will be break all my bones; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the **lion** shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: בְּבַר/kä-fär': to cover

#### לְפִיר |k<sup>ε</sup>-fer' (n.) young lion; young hero; village

- 5:29 [5:28-29] They shall roar like **young lions**; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.
- 11:6 The wolf also shall dwell with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall lead them.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the **young lion** roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.

Primitive Word: לֶבִיא /lä-vē': from an unused root meaning to roar

## לְבִיא lä-vē' (n.) lion, lioness

- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a **lion**.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the **young** and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.

Primitive Root: לוש /lüsh: to kneed

## לַיִּשׁ|lä-yēsh (n.) lion

30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and **old lion**, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.

#### Lips

Primitive Root: either from אָבֶר (to scrape) or שַׁבָּה /shä-fä': (to abrade)

## שְׁבַּה |sä-fä' (n.) lip, mouth, speech, language; lip, edge, border

- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean **lips**, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean **lips**; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his **lips** shall he slay the wicked.
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the **language** of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 28:11 For with stammering lips and another tongue will he speak to this people.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their **lips** do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his **lips** are full of indignation and his tongue as a devouring fire;
- 33:19 Thou shalt not see a fierce people, a people of a deeper **speech** than thou canst perceive; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.
- 36:5 I say, thy **words are but vain** when thou sayest, I have counsel and strength for war. Now, on whom dost thou trust that thou rebellest against me?
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy **lips**, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your **lips** have spoken lies, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.

## Listen

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵע /shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## אָמַע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

## LIVE

Primitive Root: חֵיָה/hä-yä': to live

#### חַבָּה |hä-yä' (v.) to live, exist; to live anew, revive; to recover health, be healed

- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and two sheep.
- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou visited and destroyed them, and made all their memory to perish.

- 26:19 Thy dead men shall **live**, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not **live**.
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 38:16 Oh Lord, thou who art the life of my spirit, in whom I live; so wilt thou recover me, and make me to live; and in all these things I will praise thee.
- 38:21 For Isaiah had said, Let them take a lump of figs, and lay it for a plaster upon the boil, and he shall recover.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall **live**; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble spirit, to **revive** the spirit of the humble, and to **revive** the heart of the contrite ones.

## יְהַׁי (adj.) alive, living, lively, vigorous; fresh, running (water); (subs. pl.) life, refreshment

See Life

Primitive Root: שָׂרַף/sä-räf': to be on fire

## רְצְפַה rēts-pä' (n.) baking stone

See Coal

#### LODGE

Primitive Root: לוֹן/lün: to stop

## |לון (v.) to lodge, pass the night, turn in; to abide, remain, tarry, dwell

- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 21:13 The burden upon Arabia. In the forest in Arabia shall ye lodge, O ye traveling companies of Dedanim.
- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and **lodge** in the monuments; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;

#### מְלוּנְהֹ |m<sup>ε</sup>-lü-nä' (n.) booth, night hut; suspended bed, hammock

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a **cottage**; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.

#### LOFTY

Primitive Root: גַּבָּה /gä-vä': to soar

## אָבֹהְי|gä-vō'-ä (n.) high, lofty, tall, elevated; proud, arrogant, haughty

See Haughty

## אַבְהוּת gäv-hüth' (n.) pride, haughtiness

- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the **lofty** looks of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:17 And the **loftiness** of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of men shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

## וְנְשָׂא|nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: שָׂגִב/sä-gäv': to be lofty

#### sä-gäv' (v.) to life oneself up; to be lofty, asced; to be steep, be high; to exalt, make mighty!

See Exalt

# Long (Ago)

Primitive Root: בָּלָה/bä-lä': to fail

בְּלָת |bä-lä' (v.) to be worn out, wasted, rotten; to consume, waste away, wear out

See Old

Primitive Root: עַלִם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

עוֹלַם |o-läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

#### LOOK

Primitive Root: חַנָּה/ḥä-zä': to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

חָלָּהְ (v.) to see in vision; to look up, contemplate; to see, look, gaze, behold

See See

Primitive Root: גַבָּט/nä-vät': to scan, look intently at

# ıä-vät' (v.) to look; to behold, regard, see, respect

- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they **regard** not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they **look** unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will **consider** in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.
- 22:8 And he discovered the covering of Judah, and thou didst look in that day to the armor of the house of the forest.
- 22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the water of the old pool; but ye have not **looked** unto the maker thereof, neither had respect unto him that fashioned it long ago.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the living; I shall **behold** man no more with the inhabitants of the world.
- 42:18 Hear, ye deaf, and look, ye blind, that ye may see.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, **look** unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and **look** upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 63:15 **Look down** from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?
- 63:5 And I **looked**, and there was none to help; and I wondered that there was none to uphold; therefore mine own arm brought salvation unto me; and my fury, it upheld me.
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember iniquity forever; behold, **see**, we beseech thee, we are all thy people.
- 66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I **look**, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.

Primitive Word: עֵיִן ä'-yēn: an eye

# ייין a-yēn' (n.) eye; look, appearance, sight, face, surface; fountain, spring

See Eye

Primitive Root: פָּנָה/pä-nä': to turn or to face

# pä-nä' (v.) to turn (oneself), turn to or from; to go, look, regard; to drive away, clear

8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and curse their king and their God, and **look** upward.

- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man **turn** to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the wilderness, **Prepare** ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the desert a highway for our God
- 45:22 Look unto me, and be ye saved, all the ends of the earth; for I am God, and there is none else.
- 53:6 All we like sheep have gone astray; we have **turned** every one to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on him the iniquity of us all.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never have enough, and they are shepherds that cannot understand; they all **look** to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.
- 57:14 And shall say, Cast ye up, cast ye up, prepare the way, take up the stumbling block out of the way of my people.
- 62:10 Go through, go through the gates; **prepare** ye the way of the people; cast up, cast up the highway; gather out the stones; lift up a standard for the people.

Primitive Root: קוָה/kä-vä': to bind together

# קוַה kä-vä' (v.) to be strong, be robust, be confident, trust; to wait, expect, hope

See Wait

Primitive Root: רֵאַה/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

Primitive Root: אָשָׁגַח/shä-gäḥ': to peep or glance sharply at

# שְגַח shä-gäḥ' (v.) to behold, look at, view, gaze at

14:16 They that see thee shall **narrowly look** upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to tremble, that did shake kingdoms;

Primitive Root: שַׁעָה /shä-ä': to gaze at or about (for help)

#### שׁעה shä-ä' (v.) to look, look about, look around; to observe, reserve; to look away from

- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have respect to the Holy One of Israel.
- 17:8 And he shall not **look** to the altars, the work of his hands, neither shall respect that which his fingers have made, either the groves, or the images.
- 22:4 Therefore said I, **Look away** from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to comfort me, because of the spoiling of the daughter of my people.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they **look** not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that see shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not **dismayed**; for I am thy God; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my righteousness.
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be **dismayed**, and behold it together.

#### Lord

Primitive Root: אַדוֹן/ä-dōn': an unused root meaning to rule

# אָדוֹן|ä-dōn' (n.) lord, master [note: אֲדֹנְיְ" dō-näy means my Lord]

- 1:24 Therefore saith the **Lord**, the Lord of hosts, the Mighty One of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 3:1 For, behold, the **Lord**, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 10:16 Therefore shall the **Lord**, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be humbled.

- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel **lord**; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the **Lord**, the Lord of hosts.
- 22:18 He will surely violently turn and toss thee like a ball into a large country; there shalt thou die, and there the chariots of thy glory shall be the shame of thy **lord's** house.
- 24:2 And it shall be, as with the people, so with the priest; as with the servant, so with his **master**; as with the maid, so with her mistress; as with the buyer, so with the seller; as with the lender, so with the borrower; as with the taker of usury, so with the giver of usury to him.
- 26:13 O Lord our God, other lords besides thee have had dominion over us; but by thee only will we make mention of thy name.
- 36:8 Now therefore give pledges, I pray thee, to my **master** the king of Assyria, and I will give thee two thousand horses, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of one captain of the least of my **master's** servants, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 37:4 It may be the **Lord** thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his **master** hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the **Lord** thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left
- 37:6 And Isaiah said unto them, Thus shall ye say unto your **master**, Thus saith the Lord, Be not afraid of the words that thou hast heard, wherewith the servants of the king of Assyria have blasphemed me.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy **Lord** the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his people, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;

# אַדֹנִי a-dō-näy (n.) my Lord (an emphatic form of אֲדוֹנָן a-dōn' used as a proper name for God alone)

- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 3:17 Therefore the **Lord** will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of Zion, and the **Lord** will discover their secret parts.
- 3:18 In that day the Lord will take away the bravery of tinkling ornaments, and cauls, and round tires like the moon,
- 4:3 [4:4] When the **Lord** shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 6:8 Also I heard the voice of the Lord, saying, Whom shall I send, and who will go for us? Then said I, Here am I; send me.
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 7:7 Thus saith the **Lord** God, It shall not stand, neither shall it come to pass.
- 7:14 Therefore the **Lord** himself shall give you a sign; Behold, a virgin shall conceive, and shall bear a son, and shall call his name Immanuel.
- 7:20 In the same day shall the **Lord** shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the river, by the king of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the **Lord** bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, strong and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 9:8 The Lord sent his word unto Jacob, and it hath lighted upon Israel.
- 9:17 Therefore the **Lord** shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the **Lord** hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:16 Therefore shall the **Lord**, the Lord of hosts, send among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 10:23 For the Lord God of hosts shall make a consumption, even determined, in all the land.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the **Lord** God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the **Lord** shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 21:6 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Go, set a watchman, let him declare what he seeth.
- 21:8 And he cried, A lion; My lord, I stand continually upon the watchtower in the daytime, and I am set in my ward whole nights;
- 21:16 For thus hath the **Lord** said unto me, Within a year, according to the years of a hireling, and all the glory of Kedar shall fail;

- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the **Lord** God of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.
- 22:12 And in that day did the Lord God of hosts call to weeping, and to mourning, and to baldness, and to girding with sackcloth;
- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the **Lord** God of hosts.
- 22:15 Thus saith the Lord God of hosts, Go, get thee unto this treasurer, even unto Shebna, which is over the house, and say,
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the **Lord** God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 28:2 Behold, the **Lord** hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the **Lord** God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made strong; for I have heard from the **Lord** God of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 29:13 Wherefore the **Lord** said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 30:15 For thus saith the **Lord** God, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 30:20 And though the **Lord** give you the bread of adversity, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy teachers;
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the **Lord**, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 38:16 Oh **Lord**, thou who art the life of my spirit, in whom I live; so wilt thou recover me, and make me to live; and in all these things I will praise thee.
- 40:10 Behold, the **Lord** God will come with strong hand, and his arm shall rule for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the **Lord** God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 49:14 But Zion said, The Lord hath forsaken me, and my Lord hath forgotten me.
- 49:22 Thus saith the **Lord** God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 50:4 The **Lord** God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to hear as the learned.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The **Lord** God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the **Lord** God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the **Lord** is near and he justifieth me.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the **Lord** God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 52:4 For thus saith the **Lord** God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 56:8 The **Lord** God which gathereth the outcasts of Israel saith, Yet will I gather others to him, besides those that are gathered unto him.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the **Lord** God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the **Lord** God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the **Lord** God, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.
- 65:15 And ye shall leave your name for a curse unto my chosen; for the **Lord** God shall slay thee, and call his servants by another name;

Primitive Root: בַּעֵל bä'-äl: to be master of

## בּעַל|bä'-äl (n.) master, lord; possessor, owner, husband; Baal

See Master

Primitive Root: הֵיַה/hä-yä': to be or exist

# יהוֹה' y<sup>ε</sup>-hō'-vä (prop. n.) Jehovah, meaning the Existing One

See Jehovah

#### LOVE

Primitive Root: אֲהַבּן/ä-häv': to have affection for

# אָהָב |ä-häv' (v.) to love, desire, like, desire; (part.) lover, friend

- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone **loveth** gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my sight, thou hast been honorable, and I have **loved** thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and people for thy life.
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath **loved** him; he will do his pleasure on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to **love** the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 56:10 His watchmen are blind; they are all ignorant, they are all dumb dogs, they cannot bark; sleeping, lying down, loving to slumber.
- 57:8 Behind the doors also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou **lovedst** their bed where thou sawest it.
- 61:8 For I the Lord **love** judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;

## אַחַבַּה |ä-h<sup>ä</sup>-vä' (n.) love, affection, tender friendship

63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his **love** and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.

Primitive Root: חַסְּד/ḥä-säd': to bow (the neck only)

#### TOD|he'-sed (n.) zeal, love, kindness, benevolence, good-will, favor, benefit, mercy, grace, piety

See Kind

Primitive Root: חָשֵׁק/ḥä-shäk': to cling

# קְּשִׁקּ hä-shäk' (v.) to adhere, be joined; to cleave; to like, love, delight in, pleasure

38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in **love** to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy back.

#### Low

Primitive Root: ענה': to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

#### "מנה "ä-nä' (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

See Answer

Primitive Root: שָׁחַח /shä-ḥäḥ': to sink or depress

## מַחַתּ shä-ḥāḥ' (v.) to sink down, crouch; to be bowed down, be depressed; to be cast down

See Bon

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּל/shä-fāl': to depress or sink

# אָשְׁמֵל (v.) to sink, be felled; to become low, humbled, or subdued; to fell, overthrow; to depress, humble, cast down

- 2:9 And the mean man boweth not down, and the great man humbleth himself not; therefore forgive them not.
- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be **humbled**, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.

- 2:12 For the day of the Lord of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the proud and lofty, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be **brought low**.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of men shall be **made low**; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 10:33 Behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, shall lop the bough with terror; and the high ones of stature shall be hewn down, and the haughty shall be **humbled**.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will **lay low** the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 25:11 And he shall spread forth his hands in the midst of them, as he that swimmeth spreadeth forth his hands to swim; and he shall **bring down** their pride together with the spoils of their hands.
- 25:12 And the fortress of the high fort of thy walls shall he bring down, lay low, and bring to the ground, even to the dust.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty city he **layeth it low**; he **layeth it low**, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be **brought down**, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy speech shall be low out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the ground, and thy speech shall whisper out of the dust.
- 32:19 When it shall hail, coming down on the forest; and the city shall be low in a low place.
- 40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be **made low**; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst send thy messengers far off, and didst **debase** thyself even unto hell.

## אַפְלַה shēf-lä' (n.) lowness, low state

32:19 When it shall hail, coming down on the forest; and the city shall be low in a low place.

Primitive Word: תּוֹחַ tō-äḥ': from an unused root meaning to depress

## מְחָתוֹן täḥ-tōn' (adj.) lower, lowest

22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.

# לתחתי täḥ-tē' (adj.) lower, lowest; lowest part, nether world

44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye **lower parts** of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.

# WORD-LINKS "M"

## **MAGNIFY**

Primitive Root: גַּדַל/gä-däl': to twist

gä-däl' (v.) to become great, grow up; to be mighty, important; to cause to grow

See Nourish

## MAJESTY

Primitive Root: צֵּאַה /gä-ä': to mount up

אָמוֹן |gä-ōn' (n.) highness, excellency, majesty (of God); splendor, glory; pride, arrogance

See Pride

אַאוּת [אָאוּת]gā-üth' (n.) something lifted up; majesty; glory, splendor; pride, arrogance

See Pride

#### MAN

Primitive Root: אַדָם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face), blush

## a-däm' (n.) man, human beaning, mankind

- 2:9 And the mean man boweth not down, and the great man humbleth himself not; therefore forgive them not.
- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of **man** shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of man shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of **men** shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:20 In that day a man shall cast his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which he hath made for himself to worship, to the moles and to the bats;
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 2:22 Cease ye from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without inhabitant, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 6:12 And the Lord have removed men far away, for there shall be a great forsaking in the midst of the land.
- 13:12 I will make a man more precious than fine gold; even a man than the golden wedge of Ophir.
- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have respect to the Holy One of Israel.
- 22:6 And Elam bare the quiver with chariots of men and horsemen, and Kir uncovered the shield.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 29:21 That make a **man** an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the gate, and turn aside the just for a thing of nought.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a **mean man**, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the work of **men's** hands, wood and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the living; I shall behold **man** no more with the inhabitants of the world.
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my sight, thou hast been honorable, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give **men** for thee, and people for thy life.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be ashamed; and the workmen, they are of **men**; let them all be gathered together, let them stand up; yet they shall fear, and they shall be ashamed together.
- 44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.

- 44:15 Then shall it be for a **man** to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created **man** upon it; I, even my hands, have stretched out the heavens, and all their hosts have I commanded.
- 47:3 Thy nakedness shall be uncovered, yea, thy shame shall be seen; I will take vengeance, and I will not meet thee as a man.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a man that shall die, and of the son of **man** which shall be made as grass;
- 52:14 As many were astonished at thee; his visage was so marred more than any man, and his form more than the sons of men;
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of **man** that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?

Primitive Root: אַנִעׁ/ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

# אַלשׁן esh (n.) man; human, mankind; follower, companion; anyone, someone

- 2:9 And the mean man boweth not down, and the great man humbleth himself not; therefore forgive them not.
- 3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,
- 3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, **everyone** by **another**, and **everyone** by his neighbor; the child shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.
- 3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our ruler, and let not this ruin come under thy hand;
- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the **men** of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judg**men**t, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:15 And the mean man shall be brought down, and the mighty man shall be humbled, and the eyes of the lofty shall be humbled;
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a **man** of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and two sheep.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of hosts is the land darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no **man** shall spare his brother.
- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat **every man** the flesh of his own arm;
- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed **one** at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall **every man** turn to his own people, and flee **everyone** into his own land.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the **man** that made the earth to tremble, that did shake kingdoms;
- 14:18 All the kings of the nations, yea all of them, lie in glory, every one of them in his own house.
- 19:2 And I will set the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall fight **everyone** against his brother, and **everyone** against his neighbor; city against city, and kingdom against kingdom.
- 21:9 And, behold, here cometh a chariot of **men**, with a couple of horsemen. And he answered and said, Babylon is fallen, is fallen; and all the graven images of her gods he hath broken unto the ground.
- 31:7 For in that day **every man** shall cast away his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the sword, not of a **mighty man**; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a **man** lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath **any** of the gods of the nations delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?

- 40:13 Who hath directed the Spirit of the Lord, or being his counselor hath taught him?
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not **one** faileth.
- 41:6 They helped everyone his neighbor; and everyone said to his brother, Be of good courage.
- 41:28 For I beheld, and there was no man; even among men, and there was no counselor, that, when I asked of them, could answer a word.
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a **man** of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.
- 46:8 Remember this, and **show yourselves men**; bring it again to mind, O ye transgressors.
- 46:11 Calling a ravenous bird from the east, the **man** that executeth my counsel from a far country; yea, I have spoken it, I will also bring it to pass; I have purposed it, I will also do it.
- 47:15 Thus shall they be unto thee with whom thou hast labored, even thy merchants, from thy youth; they shall wander **everyone** to his quarter; none shall save thee.
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 52:14 As many were astonished at thee; his visage was so marred more than any man, and his form more than the sons of men;
- 53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with grief; and we hid as it were our faces from him; he was despised, and we esteemed him not.
- 53:6 All we like sheep have gone astray; we have turned **every one** to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on him the iniquity of us all.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never have enough, and they are shepherds that cannot understand; they all look to their own way, **everyone** for his gain, from his quarter.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no **man** layeth it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it sustained him.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was **none** with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a **man**; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.
- 66:13 As one whom his mother comforteth, so will I comfort you; and ye shall be comforted in Jerusalem.

# אַנוֹשׁ [ɛn-nōsh' (n.) man; mankind

- 2:11 And it shall come to pass that the lofty looks of man shall be humbled, and the haughtiness of **man** shall be bowed down, and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 2:17 And the loftiness of man shall be bowed down, and the haughtiness of **men** shall be made low; and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day.
- 5:22 Who unto the mighty to drink wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;
- 7:13 And he said, Hear ye now, O house of David; Is it a small thing for you to weary men, but will ye weary my God also?
- 8:1 Moreover the word of the Lord said unto me, Take thee a great roll, and write in it with a **man's** pen concerning Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 13:7 Therefore shall all hands be faint, and every man's heart shall melt;
- 13:12 I will make a man more precious than fine gold; even a man than the golden wedge of Ophir.
- 24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the earth, and they that dwell therein are desolate; therefore the inhabitants of the earth are burned, and few **men** left.
- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of **men**:
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath broken the covenant, he hath despised the cities, he regardeth no man.

- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the **men** that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the prophet unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from Babylon.
- 41:11 Behold, all they that were incensed against thee shall be ashamed and confounded; they shall be as nothing; and they that strive with thee shall perish.
- 41:12 Thou shalt seek them, and shalt not find **them**, even them that contended with thee; they that war against thee shall be as nothing, and as a thing of naught.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, **men** of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of **men**, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a **man** that shall die, and of the son of man which shall be made as grass;
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful **men** are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the **men** that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

Primitive Root: אָצֵל/ä-tsäl': to join

# אַצִּיל |ä-tsēl' (n.) extremity, remote corner; (adj.) noble, chief

41:9 Thou whom I have taken from the ends of the earth, and called thee from the **chief men** thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my servant; I have chosen thee, and not cast thee away.

Primitive Root: בְּחֵר/bä-ḥär': to try

## בחור bä-hür' (n.) young man, youth; adult fit to bear arms, young warrior

- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their **young men**, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up **young men**, nor bring up virgins.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the sword, not of a mighty man; and the sword, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the sword, and his **young men** shall be discomfited.
- 40:30 Even the youths shall faint and be weary, and the young men shall utterly fall;
- 62:5 For as a **young man** marrieth a virgin, so shall thy God marry thee; and as the bridegroom rejoiceth over the bride, so shall thy God rejoice over thee.

Primitive Root: גָּבַר|gä'-vär: to be strong

#### אבור (adj.) strong, mighty, impetuous

See Mighty

Primitive Root: בְּלֵכֵל /zä-ḥär': to mark

# זָבֶּר (n.) man; (adj.) male (of man or animal)

66:7 Before she travailed, she brought forth; before her pain came, she was delivered of a man-child.

Primitive Root: וְקֵן/zä-kān': to be old

# זְקֵנְ zä-kān' (adj.) old, aged

See Ancient

Primitive Word: מְתֵּל /mä-thäē': from an unused root meaning to extend

#### מְתִּים |m<sup>ε</sup>-thēm' (n.) (pl. only) men, males

3:25 Thy men shall fall by the sword, and thy mighty in the war.

- 5:13 Therefore my people are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable **men** are famished, and their multitude dried up with thirst.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.

Primitive Root: נָעֵר/nä-är': meaning to growl or tumble about

# נֵעֵר |nä'-är (n.) child, boy, youth (male); servant

See Child

Primitive Root: נָבַּשׁ nä'-fäsh: to breathe

# וֹבְּטֵשׁ ne'-fesh (n.) breath, respiration, life; soul, spirit, mind

See Soul

Primitive Root: פְּנֵה /pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

# pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (with prefixes) before, etc.

See Face

Primitive Root: אָקבֶץ/kä-väts': to grasp

# אָבֶּב kä-väts' (v.) to grasp, gather, assemble; to seize, take with the hand, receive

See Gather

#### Marrow

Primitive Root: מֲחַה/mä-ḥä': to stroke or rub

# מְחַמּה mä-ḥä' (v.) to wipe, wipe off or away, blot out; to strike upon; to be full of marrow

See Blot Out

#### MARRY

Primitive Root: בַּעֵל/bä-äl': to be master

## |בֿעַל|bä-äl' (v.) to be master, rule; to marry, take a wife; to loath, reject

- 26:13 O Lord our God, other lords besides thee have had dominion over us; but by thee only will we make mention of thy name.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the **married wife**, saith the Lord.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine **husband**; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy Redeemer the Holy One of Israel; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 62:4 Thou shalt no more be termed Forsaken; neither shall thy land any more be termed Desolate; but thou shall be called Delightful, and thy land Union; for the Lord delighteth in thee, and thy land shall be **married**.
- 62:5 For as a young man marrieth a virgin, so shall thy God marry thee; and as the bridegroom rejoiceth over the bride, so shall thy God rejoice over thee.

# MARVELOUS

Primitive Root: מֵלֵא /pä-lä': possibly to separate

# pä-lä' (v.) to be distinguished, be singular; to be wonderful, be miraculous, be extraordinary

See Wonder

#### Master

Primitive Root: אַדוֹן/ä-dōn': an unused root meaning to rule

# אָדוֹן |ä-dōn' (n.) lord, master [note: אֲדֹנֵי|a-dō-näy means my Lord]

See Lord

Primitive Root: בַּעֵל |bä'-äl: to be master of

## בּעַל|bä'-äl (n.) master, lord; possessor, owner, husband; Baal

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the **lords** of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing **instrument** having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt make the hills as chaff.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine **adversary**? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.

## MEDAI/MEDES

Primitive Root: מֲדֵי /mä-däē': of foreign derivation

# מדי mä-däē' (prop. n.) Media or Medai; the Medes

- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O **Media**; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.

## **MEETING**

Primitive Root: עַצֵּר/ä-tsär': to enclose

# אַצְרָה assembly, festival assembly, festival

See Assembly

## **MELT**

Primitive Word: הָּמָס/hä-mäs': from an unused root probably meaning to crackle

# הַמְּסִים |h<sup>a</sup>-ma-sēm' (n.) (pl. only) brushwood, a dry twig

64:2 As when the **melting** fire burneth, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may tremble at thy presence!

Primitive Root: מָּטֵס /mä-säs': to liquify

# מְשַׁסְּשׁ mä-säs' (v.) to waste away, perish; to melt, dissolve; to despond, despair, faint

- 10:18 And shall consume the glory of his forest, and of his fruitful field, both soul and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 13:7 Therefore shall all hands be faint, and every man's heart shall melt;
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be cast out, and their stink shall come up out of their carcasses, and the mountains shall be **melted** with their blood.

Primitive Root: נָּסֶךְ/nä-säḥ': to pour out

# וְלֵּסְן nä-säḥ' (v.) to pour out, make libation; to cast (of metal); to anoint, consecrate, appoint

- 29:10 For the LORD hath **poured out** upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that **cover** with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;
- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 44:10 Who hath formed a god, or molten a graven image that is profitable for nothing?

#### **MERCY**

Primitive Root: חֲסַדְ/ḥä-säd': to bow (the neck only)

## Kindness/Mercy/Goodness (วัตถุ | คุ้ะ - sɛd: derived from วัตถุ | คุ้ะ - säd')

See Kind

Primitive Root: רָחַם/rä-ḥäm': to fondle

# רְּמִם |rä-häm' (v.) to love; to have compassion, pity, tenderness, or love; to have mercy

- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have **mercy** on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no **pity** on the fruit of the womb; their eye shall not spare children.
- 14:1 For the Lord will have **mercy** on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have **mercy** on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have **mercy** upon you; for the Lord is a God of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath **mercy** on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have **mercy** upon his afflicted.
- 49:15 Can a woman forget her sucking child, that she should not have **compassion** on the son of her womb? yea, they may forget, yet will I not forget thee.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have **mercy** on thee, saith the Lord thy Redeemer.
- 54:10 For the mountains shall depart, and the hills be removed; but my kindness shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the Lord that hath **mercy** on thee.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have **mercy** upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had **mercy** on thee.

## רְחַם | rä'-ḥäm (n.) womb; (pl.) bowels; (pl.) compassion, mercy sympathy, tenderness, pity

- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the remnant of the house of Israel, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the **womb**;
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no **mercy**; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 54:7 For a small moment have I forsaken thee; but with great mercies will I gather thee.
- 63:7 I will mention the lovingkindnesses of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?

# MERRYHEARTED

Primitive Root: שֵׁמֵח/sä-mäh: to brighten up

# שְׁמֵחַ |sä-mā'-äḥ (adj.) rejoicing, joyful, glad, cheerful

See Heart

## MESSENGER

Primitive Word: מֵלְאָדְ /mäl-äḥ': from an unused root meaning to dispatch as a deputy

# מְלְאָדְ |mäl-äk' (n.) messenger, herald; angel; prophet, priest

- 14:32 What shall then answer the **messengers** of the nation? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift **messengers**, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 30:4 For his princes were at Zoan, and his ambassadors came to Hanes.
- 33:7 Behold, their valiant ones shall cry without; the ambassadors of peace shall weep bitterly.
- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah king of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 37:14 And Hezekiah received the letter from the hand of the **messengers**, and read it; and Hezekiah went up unto the house of the Lord, and spread it before the Lord.
- 37:36 Then the **angel** of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 42:19 For I will send my servant unto you who are blind; yea, a **messenger** to open the eyes of the blind, and unstop the ears of the deaf:
- 42:20 [42:19] And they shall be made perfect notwithstanding their blindness, if they will hearken unto the **messenger**, the Lord's servant.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his **messengers**; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the **angel** of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.

Primitive Root: צוֹר/tsür: to cramp

# ציר (n.) hinge; pains, labor in childbirth; messenger

See Ambassador

# METE OUT

Primitive Root: קוָה/kä-vä': to bind together

# אָלקר (n.) line, measuring, line; rope, cord, string; rule, norm, order

- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation **meted out** and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation **meted out** and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.

Primitive Root: תַּבֶּן/tä-ḥän': to balance

## [tä-ḥän' (v.) to make even, level; to poise, weigh, prove; to try, examine; to set up, fix

See Direct

#### MIGHTY

Primitive Root: אַבַר/ä-vär': to soar

# אַבִּיר |a-vēr' (adj.) mighty, strong, powerful

- 1:24 Therefore saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts, the **Mighty One** of Israel, Ah, I will ease me of mine adversaries, and avenge me of mine enemies.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the **Mighty One** of Jacob.

60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the **Mighty One** of Jacob.

Primitive Root: אָדַר/ä-där': to expand

# אַדִּילר ad-der' (adj.) magnificent, illustrious, glorious, distinguished, noble

- 10:34 And he shall cut down the thickets of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.
- 33:21 But there the **glorious** Lord will be unto us a place of broad rivers and streams; wherein shall go no galley with oars, neither shall **gallant** ship pass thereby.

Primitive Root: גַּבַר|gä'-vär: to be strong

# גבור ˈgēb-bōr' (adj.) strong, mighty, impetuous

- 3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,
- 5:22 Who unto the **mighty** to drink wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 10:21 The remnant shall return, yea even the remnant of Jacob, unto the mighty God.
- 13:3 I have commanded my sanctified ones, I have also called my **mighty ones**, for mine anger is not upon them that rejoice in my highness.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the **mighty men** of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a **mighty man**, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 49:24 Shall the prey be taken from the mighty, or the lawful captive delivered?
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the **mighty** shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the **mighty** God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.

# גבורָה |g<sup>e</sup>-vü-rä' (n.) strength; fortitude, courage, valor; power

See Strong

## אָבֶּר (n.) valiant man, warrior

22:17 Behold, the Lord will carry thee away with a mighty captivity, and will surely cover thee.

Primitive Root: תְּזַקְ/ḥִמֹ-zäk': to fasten upon

# חְיָּדֶּק |ḥä-zäk' (adj.) firm, hardened, sound, powerful, violent; strong, mighty, valiant

See Strong

Primitive Root: פָּבַר/kä-vär': to braid together

# בְּבִּיר (n.) great, large, mighty; much

- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a **valiant man**.
- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the remnant shall be very small and **feeble**.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of **mighty** waters!
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a **mighty** and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of **mighty** waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.

Primitive Root: עַנוֹץ/ä-zäz': to be stout

## [עַד (adj.) strong, vehement, violent; strong, fortified, powerful, firm; harsh cruel, hard

- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a **fierce** king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the **strong** people glorify thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 43:16 Thus saith the Lord, which maketh a way in the sea, and a path in the mighty waters;

56:11 Yea, they are **greedy** dogs, which can never have enough, and they are shepherds that cannot understand; they all look to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.

Primitive Word: עֵנִם/ä-yäm': from an uncertain root

# אָנָם a-yäm' (n.) probably meaning strength

11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his **mighty** wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.

Primitive Root: צור /tsür: to cramp

# וצור (n.) stone, pebble; rock, refuge, protection; edge, sharpness; form, shape

See Rock

#### **MILLSTONE**

Primitive Word: רחים: from an unused root meaning to pulverize

# rā-ḥɛʾ (n.) millstone

47:2 Take the millstones, and grind meal; uncover thy locks, make bare the leg, uncover the thigh, pass over the rivers.

#### MINGLE

Primitive Root: מְּסַךְ /mä-säḥ': to mix, especially wine

# מְסַדְ mä-säḥ' (v.) to mix, migle

5:22 Who unto the mighty to drink wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;

19:14 The Lord hath **mingled** a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every work thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his vomit.

## MINISTER

Primitive Root: שַׁרַת/shä-räth': to attend as a menial or worshipper

# אַרַת |shä-räth' (v.) to attend, wait upon, serve, minister; to do services (as a priest); (part.) minister, servant

- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to **serve** him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall **minister** unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall **minister** unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the **Ministers** of our God; ye shall eat the riches of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.

# Mirth

Primitive Root: שׁוּשׁ/süs: to be bright

#### משוש mä-sōs (n.) joy, gladness; object of joy

See Joy

# Моав

Primitive Word: מב a meaning from and מ root word meaning father

# מוֹאַב mō-äv' (prop. n.) Moab

11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and **Moab**; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.

- 15:1 The burden of **Moab**. Because in the night Ar of **Moab** is laid waste, and brought to silence; because in the night Kir of **Moab** is laid waste, and brought to silence;
- 15:2 He is gone up to Bajith, and to Dibon, the high places, to weep; **Moab** shall howl over Nebo, and over Medeba; on all their heads shall be baldness, and every beard cut off.
- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of **Moab** shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for **Moab**; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of three years old; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of destruction.
- 15:8 For the cry is gone round about the borders of Moab; the howling thereof unto Eglaim, and the howling thereof unto Beer-elim.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of **Moab**, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 16:2 For it shall be, that, as a wandering bird cast out of the nest, so the daughters of Moab shall be at the fords of Arnon.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, **Moab**; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 16:6 We have heard of the pride of **Moab**; of his haughtiness and his pride, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.
- 16:7 Therefore shall **Moab** howl for **Moab**, everyone shall howl; for the foundations of Kir-hareseth shall ye mourn; surely they are stricken.
- 16:11 Wherefore my bowels shall sound like a harp for Moab, and mine inward parts for Kir-haresh.
- 16:12 And it shall come to pass, when it is seen that **Moab** is weary on the high place, that he shall come to his sanctuary to pray; but he shall not prevail.
- 16:13 This is the word that the Lord hath spoken concerning **Moab** since that time.
- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of **Moab** shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the remnant shall be very small and feeble.
- 25:10 For in this mountain shall the hand of the Lord rest, and **Moab** shall be trodden down under him, even as straw is trodden down for the dunghill.

## Mocker

Primitive Word: לוּצ'/lüts: to make mouths at

לצון lä-tsōn' (v.) to speak barbarously, stammer; to deride, mock, scorn; to interpret, mediate

See Scorn

#### **MOLLIFY**

Primitive Root: רְבַקּן/rä-ḥäḥ': to soften

רְבָּדְ 'rä-ḥāḥ' (v.) to be tender, be soft; to be thin, be weak, be delicate; to be softened

See Faint

## MONTHLY

Primitive Root: חַדַשׁ/hä-däsh': to be new

תֹדֶשׁ |ḥō-dɛsh' (n.) new moon, day of the new moon; lunar month, month

See New Moon

#### Moon

Primitive Root: חָדֵשׁ/ḥä-däsh': to be new

חֹדֶשׁ | ḥō-desh' (n.) new moon, day of the new moon; lunar month, month

See New Moon

Primitive Word: יֵרֵח/yɛ'-räḥ: from a root of uncertain meaning

# יברת /ye'-räḥ' (n.) month, lunar month

60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy **moon** withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.

# yä-rā'-äḥ (n.) moon

- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the **moon** shall not cause her light to shine.
- 60:19 The sun shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the **moon** give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy glory.

Primitive Root: לֶבֶן/lä-vän': to be white

# וֹלְבְנָה [lɛ-vä-nä' (n.) the white, the pale; (poetically) moon

- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the **moon** shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.

Primitive Word: סְהַר/sä-här': from an unused root meaning to be round

# שְׁהֵּרֹנִים |sä-h<sup>ä</sup>-rō-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) little moon, crescent; neck ornament

3:18 In that day the Lord will take away the bravery of tinkling ornaments, and cauls, and round tires like the moon,

#### Morning

Primitive Root: בְּקֵר/bä-kär': to plough

## בקר |bō'-kɛr (n.) morning, daybreak, morning time, dawn

- 5:11 Woe unto them that rise up early in the **morning**, that they may follow strong drink, and that continue until night, and wine inflame them!
- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the **morning** shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.
- 17:14 And behold at eveningtide trouble; and before the **morning** he is not. This is the portion of them that spoil us, and the lot of them that rob us.
- 21:12 The watchman said, The morning cometh, and also the night; if ye will inquire, inquire ye; return, come.
- 28:19 From the time that it goeth forth it shall take you; for **morning** by **morning** shall it pass over, by day and by night; and it shall be a vexation only to understand the report.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every **morning**, their salvation also in the time of trouble.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the **morning**, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 38:13 I reckoned till morning, that, as a lion, so will be break all my bones; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the tongue of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh **morning** by **morning**, he waketh mine ear to hear as the learned.

Primitive Root: שָׁחַר/shä-ḥär': to dawn

# שַׁחֵר shä-ḥär' (n.) dawn, daybreak, early light; son of the dawn, the morning star

See Light

#### Moses

Primitive Root: מַשָּׁה/mä-shä': to pull out (literally or figuratively)

#### משׁה mō-shɛ' (prop. n.) Moses

63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, **Moses**, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?

63:12 That led them by the right hand of **Moses** with his glorious arm, dividing the water before them, to make himself an everlasting name?

#### MOUNTAIN

Primitive Root: תְּרֶר /hä-rär': an unused root meaning to loom up

## אָר (n.) mountain; range of hills

- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the **mountain** of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the **mountains**, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all nations shall flow unto it;
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the **mountain** of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem:
- 2:14 And upon all the high mountains, and upon all the hills, and upon all the nations which are lifted up;
- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of **mount** Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the **hills** did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 7:25 And on all **hills** that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in **mount** Zion.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon **Mount** Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy **mountain**; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the **mountains**, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the **mount** of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my **mountains** tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the **mountains** before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the **mountains**; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 18:6 They shall be left together unto the fowls of the **mountains**, and to the beasts of the earth; and the fowls shall summer upon them, and all the beasts of the earth shall winter upon them.
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the **mount** Zion.
- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the **mountains**.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in **mount** Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 25:6 And in this **mountain** shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 25:10 For in this **mountain** shall the hand of the Lord rest, and Moab shall be trodden down under him, even as straw is trodden down for the dunghill.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy **mount** at Jerusalem.

- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in **mount** Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against **mount** Zion.
- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a **mountain**, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high **mountain**, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the **mountain** of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for **mount** Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be cast out, and their stink shall come up out of their carcasses, and the **mountains** shall be melted with their blood.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the **mountains**, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a remnant; and they that escape out of Jerusalem shall come up upon **mount** Zion; the zeal of the Lord of hosts shall do this.
- 40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every **mountain** and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high **mountain**; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the **mountains** in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the **mountains**, and beat them small, and shalt make the hills as chaff.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the **mountains**.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 49:11 And I will make all my mountains a way, and my highways shall be exalted.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the **mountains** are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 54:10 For the **mountains** shall depart, and the hills be removed; but my kindness shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the Lord that hath mercy on thee.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the **mountains** and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy **mountain**, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.
- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy **mountain**;
- 64:1 Oh that thou wouldest rend the heavens, that thou wouldest come down, that the mountains might flow down at thy presence,
- 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains flowed down at thy presence.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the **mountains**, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of Jacob, and out of Judah an inheritor of my **mountains**; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall dwell there.
- 65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my holy **mountain**, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that number.

- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy **mountain**, saith the Lord.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy **mountain** Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

#### Mourn

Primitive Root: אַבַל/ä-väl': to bewail

# אַבַל|ä-väl' (v.) to lament, mourn

- 3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.
- 19:8 The fishers also shall mourn, and all they that cast angle into the brooks shall **lament**, and they that spread nets upon the waters shall languish.
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 24:7 The new wine mourneth, the vine languisheth, all the merryhearted do sigh.
- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is ashamed and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;

# אָבֵל|ä-vāl' (adj.) mourning, desolate

- 57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy **mourning** shall be ended.
- 61:2 To proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that **mourn** in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for **mourning**, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

Primitive Root: אָנָה/ä-nä': to groan

## אַנַה' |ä-nä' (n.) sorrow, mourning, lamentation

See Lament

Primitive Root: אַנֵח/ä-näḥ': to sigh

# אַנְחָה |a-nä-ḥä' (n.) lament, sigh, groan

See Sigh

Primitive Root: הָגָה/hä-gä': to murmur

## הַאָּמֹה (v.) to murmur, mutter, growl; to sigh, moan; to speak, utter; to meditate, muse

- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that **mutter**; should not a people seek unto their God? for the living to hear from the dead?
- 16:7 Therefore shall Moab howl for Moab, everyone shall howl; for the foundations of Kir-hareseth shall ye **mourn**; surely they are stricken.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion **roaring** on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 33:18 Thine heart shall meditate in terror. Where is the scribe? Where is the receiver? where is he that counted the towers?
- 38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did **mourn** as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken lies, your tongue hath **muttered** perverseness.
- 59:11 We roar all like bears, and **mourn sore** like doves; we look for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and **uttering** from the heart words of falsehood.

Primitive Root: קַבְּרַ/sä-fäd': to tear the hair and beat the breasts

# מְּסְבֵּר mēs-pād' (n.) lamentation, wailing, mourning

22:12 And in that day did the Lord God of hosts call to weeping, and to mourning, and to baldness, and to girding with sackcloth;

#### Mouth

Primitive Root: פָּאָה/pä-ä': to puff, as in blow

# ן pε (n.) mouth, bill; opening, entrance; edge, border, size; part, mouthful

- 1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her **mouth** without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open **mouth**. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every **mouth** speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the **mouth**, or peeped.
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his **mouth**, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 19:7 The paper reeds by the brooks, by the **mouth** of the brooks, and everything sown by the brooks, shall wither, be driven away, and be no more.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their **mouth**, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my **mouth**; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of Egypt!
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my **mouth** it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be revealed, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 45:23 I have sworn by myself, the word is gone out of my **mouth** in righteousness, and shall not return, That unto me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall swear.
- 48:3 I have declared the former things from the beginning; and they went forth out of my **mouth**, and I showed them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.
- 49:2 And he hath made my **mouth** like a sharp sword; in the shadow of his hand hath he hid me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my **mouth**; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy **mouth**, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall shut their **mouths** at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.
- 53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his **mouth**; he is brought as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his **mouth**.
- 53:9 And he made his grave with the wicked, and with the rich in his death; because he had done no violence, neither was any deceit in his **mouth**.
- 55:11 So shall my word be that goeth forth out of my **mouth**; it shall not return unto me void, but it shall accomplish that which I please, and it shall prosper in the thing whereto I sent it.
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide **mouth**, and draw out the tongue? are ye not children of transgression, a seed of falsehood.
- 58:14 Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father; for the **mouth** of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy **mouth**, shall not depart out of thy **mouth**, nor out of the **mouth** of thy seed, nor out of the **mouth** of thy seed's seed, saith the Lord, from henceforth and forever.

62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy righteousness, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the **mouth** of the Lord shall name.

## MOVE

Primitive Root: מוֹט mōt: to waver

# מוֹט mōt (v.) to totter, waver, quake, shake; to tremble, stumble, fall

- 24:19 The earth is utterly broken down, the earth is clean dissolved, the earth is moved exceedingly.
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a tree that will not rot; he seeketh unto him a cunning workman to prepare a graven image, that shall not be **moved**.
- 41:7 So the carpenter encouraged the goldsmith, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be **moved**.
- 54:10 For the mountains shall depart, and the hills be **removed**; but my kindness shall not depart from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be **removed**, saith the Lord that hath mercy on thee.

Primitive Root: מֵרָד /nä-däd': to wave to and fro

# nä-däd' (v.) to move about; to flap wings; to wander; to flee (away), escape, fly away; to be cast out

See Flee

Primitive Root: גוע 'nü'-ä: to waver

# nü-äḥ' (v.) to move to and fro, tremble; to totter, quake, reel; to wander, rove; to cause to stagger

- 6:4 And the posts of the door **moved** at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.
- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was **moved**, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are **moved** with the wind.
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a swift cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be **moved** at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 24:20 The earth shall **reel to** and **fro** like a drunkard, and shall be re**moved** like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath **shaken** her head at thee.

Primitive Root: רְגַיֹּן/rä-gäz': to quiver

## מָצֵי (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

See Tremble

#### MULTITUDE

Primitive Root: הַמָּה/hä-mä': to make a loud sound

#### hä-mōn' (n.) sound, noise, bustle, tumult; multitude (of people), crowd; agrigation

- 5:13 Therefore my people are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable men are famished, and their **multitude** dried up with thirst.
- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their **multitude**, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 13:4 The noise of the **multitude** in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great **multitude**; and the remnant shall be very small and feeble.
- 17:12 Woe to the **multitude** of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 29:5 Moreover the **multitude** of thy strangers shall be like small dust, and the **multitude** of the terrible ones shall be as chaff that passeth away: yea, it shall be at an instant suddenly.
- 29:7 And the **multitude** of all the nations that fight against Ariel, even all that fight against her and her munition, and that distress her, shall be as a dream of a night vision.

- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the **multitude** of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a **multitude** of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people fled; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the **abundance** of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the **sounding** of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?

Primitive Root: מֵלֵא/mä-lā': to fill or be full of

# מְלֹא |me-lō' (n.) fulness, that which fills up; multitude, crowd

See Fill

Primitive Root: רֲבַב/rä-väv: to cast together

# רב |rov (adj.) multitude, abundance, number; greatness, largeness, fulness, totality

- 1:11 To what purpose is the **multitude** of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 7:22 And it shall come to pass, for the **abundance** of milk that they shall give, he shall eat butter; for butter and honey shall everyone eat that is left in the land.
- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are gathered in the pit, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the **multitude** of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the **multitude** of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.
- 47:12 Stand now with thine enchantments, and with the **multitude** of thy sorceries, wherein thou has labored from thy youth; if so be thou shalt be able to profit, if so be thou mayest prevail.
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the **multitude** of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the monthly prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the **greatness** of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 57:10 Thou art wearied in the **greatness** of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast found the life of thine hand; therefore thou wast not grieved.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the **greatness** of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.
- 63:7 I will mention the loving kindnesses of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the **multitude** of his loving-kindnesses.

Primitive Word: שֶׁבַעְ/shɛ-fä': from an unused root meaning to abound

# שְׁפְעָה |shēf-ä' (n.) great multitude

60:6 The **multitude** of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the praises of the Lord.

# MUSTER

Primitive Root: מְשַׁקְדְּ /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

## pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

# MUTTER

Primitive Root: הָגָה/hä-gä': to murmur

# הְבָּה |hä-gä' (v.) to murmur, mutter, growl; to sigh, moan; to speak, utter; to meditate, muse

See Mourn

# MYRTLE

Primitive Word: הֲדַס/hä-däs: of uncertain derivation

# קְּדַּדְּס |h<sup>a</sup>-däs (n.) myrtle

- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 55:13 Instead of the thorn shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the brier shall come up the **myrtle tree**; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be cut off.

# WORD-LINKS "N"

# Naked

Primitive Root: עָרָה/ä-rä': to be or make bare

# צרוה (n.) nakedness, bareness; pudenda; shame, filthiness

See Shame

Primitive Root: ערם/ä-räm': to be or make bare

# שרוֹם |ä-rōm' (n.) naked, bared, half-dressed, ragged

- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking **naked** and barefoot.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, **naked** and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the shame of Egypt.
- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the **naked**, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?

## NARROW

Primitive Root: צַרַר/tsä-rär': to cramp

# tsä-rär' (v.) to bind up, bind together, to press in, to wrap up; to lay hold; to address, vex צְבַּר

See Vex

Primitive Root: שַּׁגַח/shä-gäḥ': to peep or glance sharply at

# שְגַח |shä-gäḥ' (v.) to behold, look at, view, gaze at

See Look

## NATION

Primitive Root: אַרך '-rets: an unused root probably meaning to be firm

# אָרֶץ ε'-rets (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See Country

Primitive Root: גָּאָה/gä-ä': to mount up or rise

# אוֹל |gō'-ē (n.) a people, tribe, nation; Gentile, heathen people (non-Israelite)

- 1:4 Ah sinful **nation**, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 2:2 And it shall come to pass in the last days when the mountain of the Lord's house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the hills, and all **nations** shall flow unto it;
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the **nations**, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; **nation** shall not lift up sword against **nation**, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the **nations** from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations
- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the **nation**, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical **nation**, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 10:7 Howbeit he meaneth not so, neither doth his heart think so; but in his heart it is to destroy and cut off nations not a few.

- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the people; to it shall the **Gentiles** seek; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the **nations**, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of **nations** gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the **nations**.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 14:18 All the kings of the nations, yea all of them, lie in glory, every one of them in his own house.
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is purposed upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the **nation**? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the **heathen** have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a **nation** scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a **nation** meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a **nation** meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 23:3 And by great waters the seed of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong people glorify thee, the city of the terrible **nations** shall fear thee.
- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 26:2 Open ye the gates, that the righteous nation which keepeth the truth may enter in.
- 26:15 Thou hast increased the **nation**, O Lord, thou hast increased the **nation**; thou art glorified; thou hadst removed it far unto all the ends of the earth.
- 29:7 And the multitude of all the **nations** that fight against Ariel, even all that fight against her and her munition, and that distress her, shall be as a dream of a night vision.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the **nations** be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the **nations** with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people fled; at the lifting up of thyself the **nations** were scattered.
- 34:1 Come near, ye **nations**, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the earth hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the slaughter.
- 36:18 Beware lest Hezekiah persuade you, saying, The Lord will deliver us. Hath any of the gods of the **nations** delivered his land out of the hand of the king of Assyria?
- 37:12 Have the gods of the **nations** delivered them which my fathers have destroyed, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the children of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 40:15 Behold, the **nations** are as a drop of a bucket, and are counted as the small dust of the balance; behold, he taketh up the isles as a very little thing.
- 40:17 All nations before him are as nothing; and they are counted to him less than nothing, and vanity.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the **nations** before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 42:1 Behold my servant, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my soul delighteth; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the **Gentiles**.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the **Gentiles**;
- 43:9 Let all the **nations** be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.

- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue **nations** before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the **nations**; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the **Gentiles**, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the **nation** abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the **Gentiles**, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the **nations**; and all the ends of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 52:15 So shall he gather many **nations**; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the **Gentiles**, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.
- 55:5 Behold, thou shalt call a **nation** that thou knowest not, and **nations** that knew not thee shall run unto thee, because of the Lord thy God, and for the Holy One of Israel; for he hath glorified thee.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a **nation** that did righteousness, and forsook not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 60:3 And the Gentiles shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the **Gentiles** shall come unto thee.
- 60:11 Therefore thy gates shall be open continually; they shall not be shut day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the forces of the **Gentiles**, and that their kings maybe brought.
- 60:12 For the **nation** and kingdom that will not serve thee shall perish; yea, those **nations** shall be utterly wasted.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the **Gentiles**, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 60:22 A little one shall become a thousand, and a small one a strong nation; I the Lord will hasten it in my time.
- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall eat the riches of the **Gentiles**, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.
- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the **Gentiles**, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the **nations**.
- 62:2 And the **Gentiles** shall see thy righteousness, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.
- 64:2 As when the melting fire burneth, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the **nations** may tremble at thy presence!
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a **nation** that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a people who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they walk after their own thoughts.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a **nation** be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her children.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the **Gentiles** like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their thoughts; it shall come, that I will gather all **nations** and tongues; and they shall come, and see my glory.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the **nations**, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the **Gentiles**.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all **nations** upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

Primitive Word: לָּאֹם  $|l^{\varepsilon}$ -ōm': from an unused root meaning to gather

# לאם |l<sup>ε</sup>-ōm' (n.) people, nation

- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the rushing of **nations**, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 17:13 The **nations** shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye **people**; let the earth hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O islands; and let the **people** renew their strength; let them come near; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my sight, thou hast been honorable, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and **people** for thy life.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the **people** be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 49:1 Listen, O isles, unto me; and hearken, ye **people**, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my **nation**; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a light of the people.
- 55:4 Behold, I have given him for a witness to the **people**, a leader and commander to the **people**.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the **people**; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.

## Naught

Primitive Root: אפס /ä-fäs'; to disappear

# אבס |ä-fäs' (v.) to cease, fail, come to an end; to disappear

See End

## אַבֶּס (n.) end, extremity; (adv.) nothing, not, without, at an end

See Nothing

Primitive Word: אֱפֵע '-fä: from an unused root probably meaning to breathe

## אֲפַע|ε'-fä (adj.) breath; nothingness

41:24 Behold, ye are of nothing, and your work of **naught**; an abomination is he that chooseth you.

Primitive Root: אחנן/hä-nän': to bend or stoop in kindness to an inferior

# וְתַּנְּם h̄ēn-näm' (adv.) gratis, gratuitously, for nothing; in vain; rashly, undeserved

- 52:3 For thus saith the Lord, Ye have sold yourselves for naught; and ye shall be redeemed without money.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the Lord, that my people is taken away for **naught**? they that rule over them make them to howl, saith the Lord; and my name continually every day is blasphemed.

Primitive Root: אַפַרף /pä-rär': to break up

# pä-rär' (v.) to break in pieces, crush; to shake; to dissolve, violate; to make void, annihilate

See Break

 $Primitive\ Root$ : לתֹהוּ '-hü: from an unused root meaning to lie waste

#### ותה' in' vain (n.) wasteness, desolateness, desolation, desert; emptiness, vain; (adv.) in vain

See Vain

Primitive Root: גַּנִשׁ/nä-gäsh': to be or come near

## nä-gäsh' (v.) to draw near; approach; to touch; to recede, draw back

- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this people **draw near** me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O islands; and let the people renew their strength; let them **come near**; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; **draw near** together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and **bring them near**; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 49:20 The children which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine ears, The place is too strait for me; give place to me that I may dwell.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him **come near** me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, **come not near** to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a smoke in my nose, a fire that burneth all the day.

Primitive Root: קרב/kä-räv': to approach

# |kä-räv' (v.) to approach, draw near; to come near, advance; to bring near; to offer, present

- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that **lay** field to field, till there can be no place, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his work, that we may see it; and let the counsel of the Holy One of Israel **draw nigh** and come, that we may know it!
- 8:3 And I went unto the prophetess; and she conceived, and bare a son. Then said the Lord to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that **draweth near** the time of her delivery, is in pain, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 34:1 **Come near**, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the earth hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O islands; and let the people renew their strength; let them **come near**; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 41:21 **Produce** your cause, saith the Lord; bring forth your strong reasons, saith the King of Jacob.
- 46:13 I **bring near** my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 54:14 In righteousness shalt thou be established; thou shalt be far from oppression; for thou shalt not fear; and from terror; for it shall not **come near** thee.
- 57:3 But **draw near** hither, ye sons of the sorceress, the seed of the adulterer and the whore.
- 65:5 Which say, **Stand** by thyself, come not near to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a smoke in my nose, a fire that burneth all the day.

## קרוֹב |kä-rōv' (adj.) near, nigh, at hand, lately; near relation, kinsman, neighbor; short, soon, presently

- 13:6 Howl ye; for the day of the Lord is at hand; it shall come as a destruction from the Almighty.
- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her time is **near** to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is **near** and he justifieth me.

- 51:5 My righteousness is **near**; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 55:6 Seek ye the Lord while he may be found, call ye upon him while he is near;
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.

## NEEDY

Primitive Root: אֲבָה/ä-vä': to breathe after

# אָבִיוֹן [ɛv-yōn' (adj.) needy, poor, miserable, wretched

- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the **needy** shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the **needy** in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the **poor** among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the **needy** speaketh right.
- 41:17 When the poor and **needy** seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.

Primitive Root: דָּלֵל',/dä-läl': to slacken or be feeble

# לל däl (adj.) hanging, swinging, tottering; weak, humble, poor, wretched

See Poor

## **NEIGHBOR**

Primitive Root: רֵעָה/rä-ä: to tend a flock

## רַע rā-ä' (n.) companion, friend, fellow, associate, neighbor

- 3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his **neighbor**; the child shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.
- 19:2 And I will set the Egyptians against the Egyptians; and they shall fight everyone against his brother, and everyone against his neighbor; city against city, and kingdom against kingdom.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his **fellow**; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.
- 41:6 They helped everyone his **neighbor**; and everyone said to his brother, Be of good courage.

#### **NEW MOON**

Primitive Root: חַדַשׁ/ḥä-däsh': to be new

## לְדֵּשׁ |hō-dɛsh' (n.) new moon, day of the new moon; lunar month, month

- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the **new moons** and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the multitude of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the **monthly** prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one **new moon** to **another**, and from one sabbath to another, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the Lord.

# Noah

Primitive Root: מוֹם 'nü'-äḥ: to rest

# וֹחַ nō-äḥ' (prop. n.) Noah; rest

54:9 For this is as the waters of **Noah** unto me; for as I have sworn that the waters of **Noah** should no more go over the earth; so have I sworn that I would not be wroth with thee, nor rebuke thee.

## Noble

Primitive Root: בְּרַח /bä-räḥ': to bolt

# |בְּרָתַ |bä-rē'-äḥ (adj.) fugitive; the serpent (as fleeing)

- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the **piercing** serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their **nobles**, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.

Primitive Root: חַרֶר/ḥä-rär': to glow

# חרים |hō-rēm' (n.) the free, nobles

34:12 They shall call the **nobles** thereof to the kingdom, but none shall be there, and all her princes shall be nothing.

Primitive Root: בָּדֶב/nä-däv': to impel

# בְּיִּכֹּ |nä-dēv' (n.) willing, voluntary, ready; generous, liberal; (subst.) noble, prince, tyrant

See Liberal

#### Noise

Primitive Root: הַמֵּה/hä-mä': to make a loud sound, like a hum

## תְּמַה |hä-mä' (v.) to hum (like bees); to sound (noise of an animal); to be agitated, noisy

See Sound

## המיה |hem-yä' (n.) sound (of a harp)

14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.

## manilitude (of people), crowd; agrigation (n.) sound, noise, bustle, tumult; multitude (of people), crowd; agrigation

See Multitude

Primitive Word: קוֹל kōl: derived from an unused root meaning to call out

# קוֹל (n.) voice; rumor; sound, noise, thunder, call, cry

See Voice

Primitive Root: רַעִשׁ/rä-äsh': to undulate

# רֻעִּעשׁ|rä-äsh' (v.) to tremble, quake, wave; to be agitated; to be moved, be shaken

- 9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with **confused noise**, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with **earthquake**, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.

Primitive Root: שָׁאָה/shä-ä': to rush

#### שאון|shä-ōn' (n.) noise, tumult, rush, roar; desolation, destruction, devastation

- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their **pomp**, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a **tumultuous** noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the **rushing** of nations, that make a **rushing** like the **rushing** of mighty waters!
- 17:13 The nations shall **rush** like the **rushing** of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 24:8 The mirth of tabrets ceaseth, the noise of them that rejoice endeth, the joy of the harp ceaseth.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the **noise** of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.

66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.

#### North

Primitive Root: צְבַּן/tsä-fän': to hide

## tsä-fōn' (n.) the north, the north quarter, the norther region, north wind, northern heaven

- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the **north** a smoke, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 41:25 I have raised up one from the **north**, and he shall come; from the rising of the sun shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon princes as upon mortar, and as the potter treadeth clay.
- 43:6 I will say to the **north**, Give up; and to the south, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the ends of the earth;
- 49:12 Behold, these shall come from far, and, lo, these from the **north** and from the west; and these from the land of Sinim.

#### Nothing

Primitive Root: אַנֵשׁ/ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

# אֵנוֹשׁ [ɛn-nōsh' (n.) man; mankind

See Man

Primitive Root: אַפַּס /ä-fäs'; to disappear

# אבס $|\epsilon'$ -fes (n.) end, extremity; (adv.) nothing, not, without, at an end

- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that lay field to field, till there can be **no** place, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 34:12 They shall call the nobles thereof to the kingdom, but none shall be there, and all her princes shall be **nothing**.
- 40:17 All nations before him are as **nothing**; and they are counted to him less than **nothing**, and vanity.
- 41:12 Thou shalt seek them, and shalt not find them, even them that contended with thee; they that war against thee shall **be as nothing, and as a thing of naught**.
- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 45:6 That they may know from the rising of the sun, and from the west, that there is **none** besides me. I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 45:22 Look unto me, and be ye saved, all the ends of the earth; for I am God, and there is none else.
- 46:9 Remember the former things of old; for I am God, and there is none else; I am God, and there is none like me.
- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and **none else** besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;
- 47:10 For thou hast trusted in thy wickedness; thou hast said, None seeth me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath perverted thee; and thou hast said in thine heart, I am, and **none else** besides me.
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the **ends** of the earth shall see the salvation of our God.
- 54:15 Behold, they shall surely gather together against thee, but **not** by me; whosoever shall gather together against thee shall fall for thy sake.

Primitive Root: בָּלָה/bä-lä': to fail

## בלתי |bēl-tē' (adv.) without, besides, except;

- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 44:10 Who hath formed a god, or molten a graven image that is profitable for nothing?

Primitive Root: דְּבֶר/dä-vär': to arrange (figurative, to speak)

# לבר (n.) word, speech, saying; thing done, affair, occurrence; anything, nothing

[Only partially listed due to the vast quantity of occurrences]

- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was **nothing** in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 39:4 Then said he, What have they seen in thine house? And Hezekiah answered, All that is in mine house have they seen; there is **nothing** among my treasures that I have not showed them.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have laid up in store until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; **nothing** shall be left, saith the Lord.

## Nourish

Primitive Root: צַּדַל/gä-däl': to twist

## לְיַמְשׁ gä-däl' (v.) to become great, grow up; to be mighty, important; to cause to grow

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have **nourished** and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and **increased** the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw **magnify** itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I **nourish up** young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.
- 42:22 [42:21] The Lord is not well pleased with such a people, but for his righteousness' sake he will **magnify** the law and make it honorable.
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth **nourish** it.
- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath **brought up** these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?
- 51:18 And there is none to guide her among all the sons whom she hath brought forth; neither is there any that taketh her by the hand of all the sons that she hath **brought up**.

Primitive Root: חָיָה/ḥä-yä': to live

# ְחְיָּה 'hä-yä' (v.) to live, exist; to live anew, revive; to recover health, be healed

See Live

# Number

Primitive Root: מֶנָה/mä-nä': to weight out

# mä-nä' (v.) to divide, separate; to allot, assign; to number, count; to prepare

- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was **numbered** with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.
- 65:12 Therefore will I **number** you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.

# מְנִי [m<sup>ε</sup>-nē' (n.) fate, fortune; Babylonian goddess

65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my holy mountain, that prepare a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that **number**.

Primitive Root: סְבַּר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

## ְּצַפְּר (v.) to write, inscribe; to number, count, measure; to tell; (part.) writer, scribe

See Scribe

# מְּסְפָּר mēs-pär' (n.) narration; number

- 10:19 And the rest of the trees of his forest shall be **few**, that a child may write them.
- 21:17 And the residue of the **number** of archers, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by **number**; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.

# Nurse

Primitive Root: אָבֶּמְן/ä-män': to build up or support

אָמֵן ä-män' (v.) to be firm, support, nurse; to lean upon, hold fast

See Believe

Primitive Root: יָבֵק/yä-näk': to suck

yä-näk' (v.) to suck, enjoy; to give suck, suckle; (part.) suckling babe; (part.) wet-nurse

See Suck

# WORD-LINKS "O"

## OAK

Primitive Word: אוּל/ül: from an unused root meaning to twist

## אַיִל a'-ēl (n.) ram, strong tree, oak, pilaster (pl.) mighty men, nobles

See Ram

# אֶלָה [ā-lä' (n.) strong hardy tree, oak, terebinth

- 1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.
- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a **teil tree**, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.

## אלון |äl-lōn' (n.) oak, terebinth

- 2:13 Yea, and the day of the Lord shall come upon all the cedars of Lebanon, for they are high and lifted up; and upon all the oaks of Bashan:
- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an **oak**, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the **oak**, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

#### **OBEY**

Primitive Root: שָׁמַע/shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

# שׁמֵע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

# מְשְׁמֵעְת mēsh-mä-äth' (n.) admission, audience; obedience; subject

11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall **obey** them.

#### **OBLATION**

Primitive Word: מְנְחָה mēn-ḥä': from an unused root meaning to apportion or bestow

## מְנְחָה men-ḥa' (n.) gift, present; tribute; meat or grain sacrifice, offering

- 1:13 Bring no more vain **oblations**; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 19:21 And the Lord shall be known to Egypt, and the Egyptians shall know the Lord in that day, and shall do sacrifice and **oblation**; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the Lord, and perform it.
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a **present** to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an **offering**, nor wearied thee with incense.
- 57:6 Among the smooth stones of the stream is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou poured a drink offering, thou hast offered a **meat offering**. Should I receive comfort in these?
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an **oblation**, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a **offering** unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an **offering** in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

## **OBSCURITY**

Primitive Word: אָפֵל'ä-fāl': from an unused root meaning to set as the sun

## ס'-fɛl (n.) thick darkness, concealment; misery, misfortune

29:18 And in that day shall the deaf hear the words of the book, and the eyes of the blind shall see out of **obscurity**, and out of darkness.

Primitive Root: חָשׁׁךְ /ḥä-shäḥ': to be dark, as in withholding light

# חשׁר | ḥō-shɛk' (n.) darkness; misery, ignorance, falsehood

See Dark

#### **OBSERVE**

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

# אָשְׁמֵּר shä-mär' (v.) to keep watch, guard, keep safe, preserve, retain; to observe, attend; to keep; to worship, honor

See Watchman

## **OFFERING**

Primitive Root: אַשִׁם/ä-shäm': to be guilty

# אַשְׁם shäm (n.) fault, guilt, trespass; guilt offering, trespass offering

53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an **offering for sin**, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.

Primitive Word: מנחה mēn-hä': from an unused root meaning to apportion or bestow

# מְנְחָה men-ḥa' (n.) gift, present; tribute; meat or grain sacrifice, offering

See Oblations

Primitive Root: מְסֶךּ/mä-säḥ': to mix, especially wine

## מְמְסֶדְ mem-säḥ' (n.) mixed wine, spiced wine

See Drink

Primitive Root: נְּסֶדְ/nä-säḥ': to pour out

## נסד | ne'-seh (n.) libation, drink offering; molten image

- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 48:5 I have even from the beginning declared it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath commanded them.
- 57:6 Among the smooth stones of the stream is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou poured a **drink offering**, thou hast offered a meat offering. Should I receive comfort in these?

Primitive Root: עַלָה'/ä-lä': to ascend

## עֹלֵה |ō-lä' (n.) burnt offering; ascent, step

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the **burnt offerings** of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 40:16 And Lebanon is not sufficient to burn, nor the beasts thereof sufficient for a burnt offering.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy **burnt offerings**; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor wearied thee with incense.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their **burnt offerings** and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for **burnt offering**; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.

## **OFFICE**

Primitive Root: מְלַכְּקִי /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

# |pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

## OIL

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּעְ shä '-män: to shine

# שֶׁמֶן|she'-men (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

See Anoint

## **OINTMENT**

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּען shä'-män: to shine

## שְׁמֵן she'-men (n.) fat, fatness, fat food; fertility, strength; oil, spiced oil, ointment

See Anoint

#### OLD

Primitive root: אָנָה/ä-nä': to approach

# אָתְמוֹל (adv.) yesterday; formerly, of old

30:33 For Topheth is ordained **of old**; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.

Primitive Root: בָּלָה/bä-lä': to fail

## בְּלָה |bä-lä' (v.) to be worn out, wasted, rotten; to consume, waste away, wear out

- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us stand together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall **wax old** like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall **long enjoy** the work of their hands.

Primitive Root: לֵקוֹ /zä-kān': to be old

# זְקֵן zä-kān' (adj.) old, aged

See Ancient

## זְּקְנַה zēk-nä' (n.) old age

46:4 And even to your **old age** I am he; and even to hoar hairs will I carry you; I have made, and I will bear; even I will carry, and will deliver you.

Primitive Root: ישׁן/yä-shän': to be slack or languid

## יַשָּׁן /yä-shän' (adj.) old, of the last year

22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the water of the **old** pool; but ye have not looked unto the maker thereof, neither had respect unto him that fashioned it long ago.

Primitive Root: עַלִם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

# פועולם o-läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

Primitive Root: קַּדָם/kä-däm': to project

# קדַמני |käd-mō-nē' (adj.) in front, anterior; oriental, east; old, ancient, former

43:18 Remember ye not the former things, neither consider the things of old.

Primitive Root: רַחַק/rä-ḥäk': to widen

# רְחוּק |rä-ḥōk' (adj.) far, distant; remote (place); unattainable; (subst.) distance, future, past

See Fat

Primitive Word: שַׁלוֹשׁ/shä-lōsh': a primitive number meaning three

## שׁלישׁי |sh²-lē-shē' (adj.) third; third part, third day

See Third

## OLIVE

Primitive Word: \(\mathbf{N}\) |z\(\bar{e}v\): probably from an unused root meaning to be prominent

## zä'-yēth (n.) Olive, olive tree; olive branch, olive leaf, olive oil

- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an **olive tree**, two or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 24:13 When thus it shall be in the midst of the land among the people, there shall be as the shaking of an **olive tree**, and as the gleaning grapes when the vintage is done.

# ONE

Primitive Root: אָחַד/ä-ḥäd': to unify

# בּחָל (adv.) one, first; (with prep ב) once; (with prep ב) jointly, together, as one

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of **one** man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 5:10 Yea, ten acres of vineyard shall yield one bath, and the seed of a homer shall yield an ephah.
- 6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each **one** had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 6:6 Then flew one of the seraphim unto me, having a live coal in his hand, which he had taken with the tongs from off the altar;
- 9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy one for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his thorns and his briers in one day;
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and swear to the Lord of hosts; **one** shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of **one** king; after the end of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a harlot.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered **one** by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 30:17 **one** thousand shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no **one** of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of **one** captain of the least of my master's servants, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in **one** day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed **together**, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in **one** day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her children.

66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind **one** tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

#### **OPERATION**

Primitive Root: אָשָׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

## מְעֵשֶׂת [mä-ä-sɛˀ (n.) doing, executing; activity, action; work, deed, production, fabric

See Work

## **OPPRESS**

Primitive Root: מְמֶץ/ḥä-mɛts': to be pungent

## וְחַמוֹץ hä-mōts' (n.) oppressor, violent man, robber; (adj.) violent

1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the **oppressed**, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.

Primitive Root: ינה'/yä-nä': to rage or be violent

## אָבוֹק |yä-nä' (v.) to act violently, oppress; to maltreat, overreach, drive away

49:26 And I will feed them that **oppress** thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.

Primitive Root: לֶחֵץ/lä-ḥäts': to press

# לְחַץ lä-ḥäts' (v.) to press, squeeze, crush; to oppress

19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the **oppressors**, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.

Primitive Root: נָגָשׁ/nä-gäs': to drive (an animal, person, army, etc.)

# וֹגֵשׁ nä-gäs' (v.) to impel, urge, press, exact; to rule, reign; to demand; to be oppressed, be harrassed

- 3:5 And the people shall be **oppressed**, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the child shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.
- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their **oppressors**, and women rule over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.
- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their **oppressors**.
- 14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this proverb against the king of Babylon, and say, How hath the **oppressor** ceased! the golden city ceased!
- 53:7 He was **oppressed**, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and **exact** all your labors.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine **exactors** righteousness.

Primitive Root: กุอฺง/sä-fäḥ': to scrape out

## משפת mēs-päḥ' (n.) slaughter, bloodshed, murder

5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold **oppression**; for righteousness, but behold a cry.

Primitive Root: צְשַׁק/ä-shäk': to press upon

#### אשׁן ä-shän' (v.) to oppress, maltreat, subjugate; to defraud, extort, cheat; to overflow

23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more rejoice, O thou **oppressed** virgin, daughter of Zidon; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.

52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian **oppressed** them without cause.

# מְעֲשֵׁקָה |mä-ä-shäk-kä' (n.) oppression, exaction

33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of **oppressions**, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;

## לְעִּשְׁק Jō-shek' (n.) violence, injury, oppression; extortion, fraud; anguish, grief

- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the Holy One of Israel, Because ye despise this word, and trust in **oppression** and perverseness, and stay thereon;
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian **oppressed** them without cause.
- 54:14 In righteousness shalt thou be established; thou shalt be far from **oppression**; for thou shalt not fear; and from terror; for it shall not come near thee.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking **oppression** and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.

# אָשְׁקָה | äsh-kä' (n.) oppression; anguish, distress

38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am **oppressed**; undertake for me.

Primitive Root: צוּק/tsük: to compress

# tsük (v.) to straighten, press upon, press hard, confine; to urge; to oppress, besiege

See Distress

Primitive Root: רַצֹץ/rä-tsäts': to crack in pieces

# רְצַץ rä-tsäts' (v.) to break, crack, crush; to bruise; to be broken, be feeble; to oppress

See Break

Primitive Root: רֲמֵס /rä-mäs': to tread upon

## רַמְּס |rä-mäs' (v.) to tread, tread down, trample; to profane

See Tread/Trod

## Ordain

Primitive Root: ערף/ä-räh': to set in a row

## קרף a-räḥ' (v.) to set in order, prepare, arrange; to draw together, muster; to estimate, compare

See Prepare

Primitive Root: שַׁבַּת/shä-fäth': to locate

# שְׁפַת |shä-fäth' (v.) to place, put, set; to give

26:12 Lord, thou wilt ordain peace for us; for thou also hast wrought all our works in us.

#### Order

Primitive Root: אָבֹוּן/kün: to be erect or to stand

## אָבֹוּן (v.) to stand upright; to be established; to be firm, steadfast, faithful, sure; to be ready

See Establish

Primitive Root: עָרף/ä-räḥ': to set in a row

# ערָד |ä-räḥ' (v.) to set in order, prepare, arrange; to draw together, muster; to estimate, compare

See Prepare

#### **ORNAMENT**

Primitive Word: אֲפוֹד /ä-fōd': probably of foreign derivation meaning a girdle

## מבּדָּת (n.) putting on, binding on, girding round; covering, overlay

30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven images of silver, and the **ornament** of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.

Primitive Root: עַדָה/ä-dä': to advance

## עָדָי |ä-de' (n.) ornament, covering; trappings, harness (of horse)

49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and behold; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an **ornament**, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.

Primitive Root: עֲבֶּס/ä-ḥäs': to tie

## עֶבֶּס (n.) anklet; fetter, ankle band

See Tinkling

Primitive Root: מְשֵׁר /pä-är': to gleam

# בְּאֵר pɛ-ār' (n.) headdress, turban, chaplet, tiara

See Beauty

Primitive Word: צְנוֹר !tsēn-nōr': from an unused root perhaps meaning to be hollow

# צְעָדָה (n.) step, pace, march; stepping chains (foot ornament for women)

3:20 The bonnets, and the ornaments of the legs, and the headbands, and the tablets, and the earnings,

# OUTCAST

Primitive Root: ทูกู่/dä-ḥä': to push down

#### לחה dä-hä' (v.) to push or thrust (down), overthrow; to be driven away

- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the **outcasts** of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 56:8 The Lord God which gathereth the **outcasts** of Israel saith, Yet will I gather others to him, besides those that are gathered unto him

Primitive Root: מָרָתֹח': to push off

#### חלד | nä-däh (v.) to thrust out, expel; to be driven out, banished; (part.) fugitive, outcast

- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the **chased** roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the **outcasts**; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 16:4 Let mine **outcasts** dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the **outcasts** in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.

## **OVERFLOW**

Primitive Root: งุงงุ่/shä-täf': to gush

#### שטף shä-täf' (v.) to gush out, flow out abundantly; to inundate, overwhelm; to rush swiftly

- 8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall **overflow** and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 10:22 For though thy people Israel be as the sand of the sea, yet a remnant of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall **overflow** with righteousness.

- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters **overflowing**, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the **overflowing** scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall **overflow** the hiding place.
- 28:18 And your covenant with death shall be disannulled, and your agreement with hell shall not stand; when the **overflowing** scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an **overflowing** stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not **overflow** thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a **flowing** stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

## **OVERTHROW**

Primitive Root: הְפַרְן/hä-fäḥ': to turn about or over

## mä-pā-ḥä' or מָּהַפֶּכָת mä-pā-ḥäth' (n.) overturning, overthrow; destruction, ruin

- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are burned with fire; your land, strangers devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as **overthrown** by strangers.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God **overthrew** Sodom and Gomorrah.

## OWL

Primitive Root: בָּנָה/bä-nä': to build

# bäth (n.) daughter, female descendant; maiden; owl, female offspring

See Daughter

Primitive Word: לוּל/lül: from an unused root meaning to fold back

# לילית |lē-lēth' (n.) night spectre, night spirit, ghost

34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the **screech owl** also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.

Primitive Root: נָשֶׁר/nä-shäf': to breeze

# יְנְשׁוּף/yän-shüf' (n.) unclean bird (e.g., heron, owl, ibis, crate, etc.)

34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the **owl** also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.

Primitive Root: אָּקְפּוֹץ /kē-pōz': from an unused root meaning to contract or spring forward

#### אָלפּרוֹא kē-pōz'(n.) arrow-snake

34:15 There shall the **great owl** make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be gathered, everyone with her mate.

### OWNER

Primitive Root: קנה/kä-nä': to erect

## אָלְנָּה kä-nä' (v.) to acquire, procure, gain; to buy, purchase; to create, possess, redeem; (part.) owner

See Buy

## Ox

Primitive Root: אָלַף ä'-läf: to association with

## אַלָּף'-lɛf (n.) (pl. only) oxen, cows, cattle, domesticated beasts

30:24 The **oxen** likewise and the young asses that ear the ground shall eat clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.

Primitive Root: בְּקַר/bä-kär': to plow or break forth

# bä-kär' (n.) oxen, plough-cattle, horned cattle, cows, herd

- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and two sheep.
- 11:7 And the cow and the bear shall feed; their young ones shall lie down together; and the lion shall eat straw like the ox.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying **oxen**, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of flocks, and the valley of Achor a place for the **herds** to lie down in, for my people that have sought me.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the **bullock**; and dust shall be the serpent's meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: שׁוּר /shür: to turn or travel about

## שׁוֹר (n.) head of cattle, ox, bull, cow, calf

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the sending forth of **oxen**, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the **ox** and the ass.
- 66:3 He that killeth an **ox** is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

# **WORD-LINKS "P"**

## PAIN

Primitive Root: חֲבַל/ḥä-väl': to wind tightly (like a rope)

# אָבֶל ייבּל ייבּל [ḥɛʾ-vɛl (n.) cord, rope, noose or snare; destruction; pang, pain

See Pang

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

# hül (v.) to twist, twirl; to writhe; to be in labor; to be afraid, tremble; to wait, hope

- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in **pain** as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 23:5 As at the report concerning Egypt, so shall they be **sorely pained** at the report of Tyre.
- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in **pain**, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in **pain**, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 45:10 Woe unto him that saith unto his father, What begettest thou? or to the woman, What hast thou brought forth?
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not **travail** with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 66:7 Before she travailed, she brought forth; before her pain came, she was delivered of a man-child.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to **bring forth** in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion **travailed**, she brought forth her children.

## חַלְחַלָּת (n.) pain; trembling, terror, anguish

21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.

# **PALACE**

Primitive Word: אַרְמוֹן/är-mōn': from an unused root meaning to elevate

## אָרָמוֹן är-mōn' (n.) fortress, palace, castle, citadel

- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the **palaces** thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 32:14 Because the **palaces** shall be forsaken; the houses of the city shall be left desolate; the forts and towers shall be for dens forever, a joy of wild asses, a pasture of flocks;
- 34:13 And thorns shall come up in her **palaces**, nettles and brambles in the fortresses thereof; and it shall be a habitation of dragons, and a court for owls.

Primitive Root: יָבׂל/yä-ḥ̄ōl': to be able

## hā-ḥāl' (n.) temple, tabernacle, sanctuary; large and magnificent building, palace, citadel

See Temple

# Pang

Primitive Root: חֲבַל/hä-väl': to wind tightly (like a rope)

#### חבל |ha'-vel or חבל '-vel (n.) cord, rope, noose or snare; destruction; pang, pain

13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and **sorrows** shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.

- 26:17 Like as a woman with child, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in pain, and crieth out in her **pangs**; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the **cords** thereof be broken.
- 33:23 Thy **tacklings** are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame take the prey.
- 66:7 Before she travailed, she brought forth; before her pain came, she was delivered of a man-child.

Primitive Root: צוֹר/tsür: to cramp

## ציר (n.) hinge; pains, labor in childbirth; messenger

See Ambassador

## PANT

Primitive Root: תַּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

לְּעָה (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

See Err

#### PARDON

Primitive Root: סֶלַח/sä-läḥ': to forgive

## שלח sä-läh' (v.) to pardon, forgive

55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly **pardon**.

Primitive Root: רְצָה /rä-tsä': to be pleased with

רְצְּה (v.) to take pleasure in, be pleased, delight; to like, be kind, be gracious; to satisfy, pay off

See Delight

# PEACE

Primitive Root: חַרֵשׁ/hä-räsh': to scratch

חַבְּשׁ |hä-räsh' (v.) to engrave, inscribe; to plow; to be deaf, be silent; to entangle, devise; to forge

See Plon

Primitive Root: חָשָׁה/ḥä-shä': to hush or keep quiet

# ְחָשְׁה |ḥä-shä' (v.) to be quiet, rest, be silent

- 42:14 I have long time **holden my peace**; I have been still, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and devour at once.
- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or feared, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor laid it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou fearest me not?
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not **hold my peace**, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.
- 62:6 I have set watchmen upon thy walls, O Jerusalem, which shall never **hold their peace** day nor night; ye that make mention of the Lord, keep not silence,
- 64:12 Wilt thou refrain thyself for these things, O Lord? wilt thou hold thy peace, and afflict us very sore?
- 65:6 Behold, it is written before me; I will not keep silence, but will recompense, even recompense into their bosom,

Primitive Root: שָׁלַם/shä-läm': to be safe

# שְׁלוֹם shä-lōm' (n.) health, welfare, success, comfort; peace, salvation; (adj.) well, peaceful, secure, whole

9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of **Peace**.

- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and **peace** there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 26:3 Thou wilt keep him in perfect peace, whose mind is stayed on thee; because he trusteth in thee.
- 26:12 Lord, thou wilt ordain peace for us; for thou also hast wrought all our works in us.
- 27:5 Or let him take hold of my strength, that he may make peace with me; and he shall make peace with me.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 33:7 Behold, their valiant ones shall cry without; the ambassadors of **peace** shall weep bitterly.
- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of **peace**, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy back.
- 39:8 Then said Hezekiah to Isaiah, Good is the word of the Lord which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and truth in my days.
- 41:3 He pursued them, and passed safely; even by the way that he had not gone with his feet.
- 45:7 I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create evil; I the Lord do all these things.
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy **peace** been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea:
- 48:22 There is no peace, saith the Lord, unto the wicked.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth **peace**; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 53:5 But he was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our **peace** was upon him; and with his stripes we are healed.
- 54:13 And all thy children shall be taught of the Lord; and great shall be the peace of thy children.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with **peace**; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.
- 57:2 He shall enter into peace; they shall rest in their beds, each one walking in his uprightness.
- 57:19 I create the fruit of the lips; Peace, peace to him that is far off, and to him that is near, saith the Lord; and I will heal him.
- 57:21 There is no **peace**, saith my God, to the wicked.
- 59:8 The way of **peace** they know not; and there is no judgment in their goings; they have made them crooked paths; whosoever goeth therein shall not know **peace**.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers **peace**, and thine exactors righteousness.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend **peace** to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

## PEOPLE

 $Primitive\ Word$ : לְּאֹם  $l^{\epsilon}$ -ōm': from an unused root meaning to gather

# לאם |l²-ōm' (n.) people, nation

See Nation

Primitive Root: עַמַם/ä-mäm': to associate

## | äm (n.) people, nation, tribe, community; kindred, race, family; populace

- 1:3 The ox knoweth his owner, and the ass his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people doth not consider.
- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a **people** laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 2:3 And many **people** shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many **people**; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy **people** the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.

- 3:5 And the **people** shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the child shall behave himself proudly against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.
- 3:7 In that day shall he swear, saying, I will not be a healer; for in my house there is neither bread nor clothing; make me not a ruler of the **people**.
- 3:12 And as for my **people**, children are their oppressors, and women rule over them. O my **people**, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 3:13 The Lord standeth up to plead, and standeth to judge the **people**.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his **people**, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my **people** to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 5:13 Therefore my **people** are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable men are famished, and their multitude dried up with thirst.
- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his **people**, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a **people** of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 6:9 And he said, Go, and tell this people, Hear ye indeed, but they understood not; and see ye indeed, but they perceived not.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this **people** fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his **people**, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 7:8 For the head of Syria is Damascus, and the head of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall Ephraim be broken, that it be not a **people**.
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy **people**, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim departed from Judah; even the king of Assyria.
- 8:6 Forasmuch as this people refuseth the waters of Shiloah that go softly and rejoice in Rezin and Remaliah's son;
- 8:9 Associate yourselves, O ye **people**, and ye shall be broken in pieces; and give ear, all ye of far countries; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces; gird yourselves, and ye shall be broken in pieces.
- 8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and instructed me that I should not walk in the way of this **people**, saying,
- 8:12 Say ye not, A confederacy, to all them to whom this people shall say, A confederacy; neither fear ye their fear, nor be afraid.
- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, Seek unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a **people** seek unto their God? for the living to hear from the dead?
- 9:2 The **people** that walked in darkness have seen a great light; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 9:9 And all the people shall know, even Ephraim and the inhabitant of Samaria, that say in the pride and stoutness of heart,
- 9:13 For the **people** turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 9:16 For the leaders of this people cause them to err; and they that are led of them are destroyed.
- 9:19 Through the wrath of the Lord of hosts is the land darkened, and the **people** shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my **people**, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the **people** of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the **people**, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the **people**; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 10:22 For though thy **people** Israel be as the sand of the sea, yet a remnant of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall overflow with righteousness.
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the **people**; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his **people**, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the remnant of his **people**, which shall be left from Assyria; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the land of Egypt.

- 12:4 And in that day shall ye say, Praise the Lord, call upon his name, declare his doings among the **people**, make mention that his name is exalted.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my **people** that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great **people**; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a sheep that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own **people**, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 14:2 And the **people** shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy **people**; the seed of evildoers shall never be renowned.
- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the poor of his **people** shall trust in it.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many **people**, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a **people** terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a **people** scattered and peeled, and from a **people** terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my **people**, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 22:4 Therefore said I, Look away from me; I will weep bitterly, labor not to comfort me, because of the spoiling of the daughter of my **people**.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this **people** was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 24:2 And it shall be, as with the **people**, so with the priest; as with the servant, so with his master; as with the maid, so with her mistress; as with the buyer, so with the seller; as with the lender, so with the borrower; as with the taker of usury, so with the giver of usury to him.
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 24:13 When thus it shall be in the midst of the land among the **people**, there shall be as the shaking of an olive tree, and as the gleaning grapes when the vintage is done.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong **people** glorify thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all **people** a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.
- 25:7 And he will destroy in this mountain the face of the covering cast over all people, and the veil that is spread over all nations.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his **people** shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not see; but they shall see, and be ashamed for their envy at the **people**; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 26:20 Come, my **people**, enter thou into thy chambers, and shut thy doors about thee; hide thyself as it were for a little moment, until the indignation be overpast.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a **people** of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,
- 28:11 For with stammering lips and another tongue will he speak to this **people**.
- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 29:13 Wherefore the Lord said, Forasmuch as this **people** draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honour me, but have removed their heart far from me, and their fear toward me is taught by the precept of men:
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this **people**, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be hid.
- 30:5 They were all ashamed of a people that could not profit them, nor be a help nor profit, but a shame, and also a reproach.

- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a **people** that shall not profit them.
- 30:9 That this is a rebellious **people**, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;
- 30:19 For the **people** shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his **people**, and healeth the stroke of their wound.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the **people**, causing them to err.
- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and briers; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the **people** fled; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.
- 33:12 And the **people** shall be as the burnings of lime; as thorns cut up shall they be burned in the fire.
- 33:19 Thou shalt not see a fierce **people**, a **people** of a deeper speech than thou canst perceive; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.
- 33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the **people** that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the **people** of my curse, to judgment.
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the **people** that are on the wall.
- 40:1 Comfort ye, comfort ye my **people**, saith your God.
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the **people** is grass.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the **people** upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the **people**, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a **people** robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.
- 43:8 Bring forth the blind **people** that have eyes, and the deaf that have ears.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my **people**, my chosen.
- 43:21 This **people** have I formed for myself; they shall show forth my praise.
- 44:7 And who, as I, shall call, and shall declare it, and set it in order for me, since I appointed the ancient **people**? and the things that are coming, and shall come, let them show unto them.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my **people**, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy voke.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the **people**, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his **people**, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the **people**; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my **people**; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to rest for a light of the **people**.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the **people**; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the **people** in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my **people**.
- 51:22 Thus saith thy Lord the Lord, and thy God that pleadeth the cause of his **people**, Behold, I have taken out of thine hand the cup of trembling, even the dregs of the cup of my fury; thou shalt no more drink it again;
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My **people** went down aforetime into Egypt to sojourn there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the Lord, that my **people** is taken away for naught? they that rule over them make them to howl, saith the Lord; and my name continually every day is blasphemed.

- 52:6 Therefore, my people shall know my name; yea, in that day they shall know that I am he that doth speak; behold, it is I.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath comforted his **people**, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my **people** was he stricken.
- 56:3 Neither let the son of the stranger, that hath joined himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his **people**; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry tree.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all **people**.
- 57:14 And shall say, Cast ye up, cast ye up, prepare the way, take up the stumbling block out of the way of my people.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my **people** their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.
- 60:21 Thy **people** also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the **people**; all that see them shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed.
- 62:10 Go through, go through the gates; prepare ye the way of the **people**; cast up, cast up the highway; gather out the stones; lift up a standard for the **people**.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the **people** there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.
- 63:6 And I will tread down the **people** in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the earth.
- 63:8 For he said, Surely they are my people, children that will not lie; so he was their Savior.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his **people**, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy **people**, to make thyself a glorious name.
- 63:18 The people of thy holiness have possessed it but a little while; our adversaries have trodden down thy sanctuary.
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember iniquity forever; behold, see, we beseech thee, we are all thy **people**.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a **people** who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they walk after their own thoughts.
- 65:3 A **people** that provoketh me to anger continually to my face; that sacrificeth in gardens, and burneth incense upon altars of brick:
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of flocks, and the valley of Achor a place for the herds to lie down in, for my **people** that have sought me.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in Jerusalem, and joy in my **people**; and the voice of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the voice of crying.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my **people**, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their hands.

#### PERFECT

Primitive Root: שָׁלֶם/shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

שְׁלוֹם shä-lōm' (n.) health, welfare, success, comfort; peace, salvation; (adj.) well, peaceful, secure, whole

See Peace

# שׁלם shä-lām' (adj.) whole, perfect; safe, sound, uninjured, unhewn; completed, finished

38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in truth and with a **perfect** heart, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.

Primitive Root: תַּמָם/tä-mäm': to complete

# דמב |tä-mäm' (v.) to complete, finish; to consume, spend, be gone, perish; to complete, perfect

See Consume

## לם (n.) fulness, wholeness, completeness, perfection, soundness

47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their **perfection** for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.

# Perform

Primitive Root: בַּצַע/bä-tsä': to break off

# [Eä-tsä' (v.) to break, cut in pieces; to tear in pieces, spoil; to perfect, complete, finish

See Cut

Primitive Root: עֲשָׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

# צְשִׁה 'sa' (v.) to work, labor, toil; to make, create; to acquire; to prepare; to keep; to appoint

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Accomplish, Bear, Prepare

9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will **perform** this.

Primitive Root: שָׁלַם /shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

## Perish

Primitive Root: אַבֶּר/ä-väd': to wander away

# קבּד (causative) to perish, destroy, annihilate

- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou visited and destroyed them, and made all their memory to **perish**.
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to **perish** in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall worship the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall **perish**, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be hid.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the work of men's hands, wood and stone; therefore they have **destroyed** them.
- 41:11 Behold, all they that were incensed against thee shall be ashamed and confounded; they shall be as nothing; and they that strive with thee shall **perish**.
- 57:1 The righteous **perisheth**, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 60:12 For the nation and kingdom that will not serve thee shall perish; yea, those nations shall be utterly wasted

# PERVERT

Primitive Root: שׁוּב shüv: to turn back or away

## shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

## **PIECE**

Primitive Root: אָדָּכָא/dä-ḥä': to crumble

# לְּבָּא ˈdä-ḥä' (v.) to be oppressed, be broken; to break in pieces, crush; to be bruised, be smitten

See Bruise

Primitive Root: חֲתַת/ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

# מתח hä-thäth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

Primitive Root: רָטָשׁ /rä-täsh': to dash down

# רְטָשׁ |rä-täsh' (v.) to dash to pieces, kill; to prostrate

See Dash

Primitive Root: חַתַת/ḥä-thäth': to prostrate

# מתת hä-thäth' (v.) to be dismayed; to be broken, be crushed; to break to pieces; to be frightened

See Break

## **PIERCE**

Primitive Root: בַּרָח/bä-räḥ': to bolt

# בְּרָתֵּ |bä-rē'-äḥ (adj.) fugitive; the serpent (as fleeing)

See Noble

Primitive Root: גָּקב/nä-käv': to puncture

## ובקב nä-käv' (v.) to bore, perforate, hollow out; to separate, mark, call by name, distinguish

- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and **pierce** it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy righteousness, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be **called by** a new **name**, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.

## PINE

Primitive Root: דָּהַר/dä-här': to curvet or move irregularly

## תְּדְהַל (n.) a firm enduring tree (oak, elm, yew, etc.)

- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the **pine**, and the box tree together;
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the **pine tree**, and the box together, to beautify the place of my sanctuary; and I will make the place of my feet glorious.

# PIT

Primitive Root: בוּר /bür: to bore

## לוֹב |bor (n.) pit, hole; cistern, well; dungeon, grave

- 14:15 Yet thou shalt be brought down to hell, to the sides of the pit.
- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the **pit**; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are gathered in the **pit**, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own **cistern**;
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.

51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the **pit** from whence ye are digged.

Primitive Word: אֶבֶא/gɛ'vɛ: from an unused root meaning probably to collect

## וֹבֶּא ˈgɛ'vɛ (n.) reservoir of water, cistern; marsh, pool

30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the **pit**.

Primitive Word: בְּחַת '-ḥäth: probably from an unused root apparently meaning to dig

# אַםְּחַת / pä'-ḥäth (n.) pit, fissure; destruction

24:17 Fear, and the pit, and the snare, are upon thee, O inhabitant of the earth.

24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall fall into the **pit**; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the **pit** shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.

Primitive Root: שׁוּחַ/shü-äḥ': to sink

# שְׁחַתּ |shä'-ḥäth (n.) pit, pitfall; water pit, cistern; grave

38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the **pit** of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy back.

51:14 The captive exile hasteneth that he may be loosed, and that he should not die in the pit, nor that his bread should fail.

## PITY

Primitive Root: חְמֵל: ḥä-mäl': to commiserate

# חֲמְלַה |ḥɛm-lä' (n.) mercy, gentleness

63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his **pity** he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.

Primitive Root: רָחַם/rä-ḥäm': to fondle

# רַתְּם |rä-ḥäm' (v.) to love; to have compassion, pity, tenderness, or love; to have mercy

See Mercy

#### PLACE

Primitive Word: בַּמָה/bä-mä': from an unused root meaning to be high

# |בְּמָה |bä-mä' (n.) height, high place; stronghold, fortress, castle

See High

Primitive Root: בְּקֵר/bä-kär': to plow or break forth

# |בְּקֵר |bä-kär' (n.) oxen, plough-cattle, horned cattle, cows, herd

See Ox

Primitive Root: גַבַל/gä-väl': to twist as a rope

## גבולה (n.) border, margin, territory

28:25 When he hath made plain the face thereof, doth he not cast abroad the fitches, and scatter the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the appointed barley and the rye in their **place**?

10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the **borders** of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.

Primitive root: הָדַר/hä-där': to swell up

# הַּדְּר (v.) to be large, be swollen; to adorn, honor; to boast, act proudly

See Glory

Primitive Root: חֲבֵא/hä-vä': to secret

# מַתְבָּה mä-ḥ<sup>ä</sup>-vā' (n.) hiding place

See Hide

Primitive Root: חַסָה/ḥä-sä': to flee for protection

# מְתֶּשֶׁה mä-ḥª-sɛ' (n.) refuge, shelter

See Refuge

Primitive Root: חָרֵב /ḥä-räv': to parch

# תְרָבָּה |h̄or-ba' (n.) dryness, dry places, desert; a desolation, a place laid waste, ruins

See Waste

Primitive Root: אָיַן/yäd: the open one, used in many applications both literally and figuratively

## ץיַן yäd (n.) hand; power, strength

See Hand

Primitive Root: ינֵת /yä-näh: to deposit

## רְיַצִין yä-näḥ (v.) to rest, settle down; to set down, deposit, place; to let remain, leave, abondon

See Leave/Left

Primitive Root: יַשָּׁב'/yä-shäv': to sit down

# יַשְׁבּ lyä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

See Sit

Primitive Root: אבון/kün: to be erect or stand

## מְבֹוֹן mä-ḥōn (n.) dwelling place, site; foundation, basis

4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every **dwelling place** of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.

18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my rest, and I will consider in my **dwelling place** like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.

Primitive Root: กุม กน '-äh: to rest

# mä-nō-aḥ' (n.) rest, repose, resting place; settlement

34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a **place of rest**.

# $|m^{\epsilon}$ -nü-ḥä' (n.) rest, repose, condition of rest, peace, ease; habitation, place of rest

See Rest

Primitive Root: נָתֵן/nä-thän': to give

# nä-thän' (v.) to give, hand over, yield; to set, place, put; to allow, permit; to make, render

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] see also Deliver, Direct

46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will **place** salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.

Primitive Root: סְתַר/sä-thär': to hid (by covering)

# |sā-ther' or סְתְּרָה |sēth-rä' (n.) a covering, veil; shelter, hiding place, protection; a secret

See Secret

Primitive Root: צוּר/tsür: to cramp

# mä-tsōr' or מְצוֹר |mä-tsūr' (n.) distress, embarrassment; siege; wall, bulwark, fortress

See Besiege

Primitive Word: צֵיַה tsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

# צְּיָה (n.) dryness, aridity, drought; desert, steppe

See Dr

#### נְצִילון (n.) dryness, desert, arid land

- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a **dry place**; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a **dry place**, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.

Primitive Root: קְּדֵשׁ /kä-däsh': to be or make clean (ceremonially or morally)

# קדושׁ kä-dōsh' (n.) the holy one (e.g., God, angel, etc.); (adj.) holy, sacred, consecrated, pious

See Holy

Primitive Root: קוֹם/küm: to rise

# מְקּוֹם |mä-kōm' (n.) place, spot, location; dwelling place, abode; town, village

- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that lay field to field, till there can be no **place**, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every **place** shall be, where there were a thousand vines at a thousand silverlings, which shall even be for briers and thorns.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her **place**, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their **place**; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the **place** of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure **place** be removed, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his **place** to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 28:8 For all tables are full of vomit and filthiness, so that there is no place clean.
- 33:21 But there the glorious Lord will be unto us a **place** of broad rivers and streams; wherein shall go no galley with oars, neither shall gallant ship pass thereby.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark **place** of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his **place** shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 49:20 The children which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine ears, The **place** is too strait for me; give **place** to me that I may dwell.
- 54:2 Enlarge the **place** of thy tent, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine habitations; spare not, lengthen thy cords, and strengthen thy stakes;
- 60:13 The glory of Lebanon shall come unto thee, the fir tree, the pine tree, and the box together, to beautify the **place** of my sanctuary; and I will make the **place** of my feet glorious.
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?

Primitive Root: רֶבֶּס /rä-käs': to tie

# רְבַּסִים |rɛ-ḥä-sēm' (n.) (pl. only) rough or rugged places; mountain ridge (difficult to pass)

40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;

Primitive Root: שַׂגֶב /sä-gäv': to be lofty

## מְשְׁגַּב mes-gav' (n.) height, high place, rock; fortress, protection, refuge

See High

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵּם/shä-mām': to stun

# שְׁמֵשׁ shä-mām' (v.) to be astonished, be confounded; to be laid waste or destroyed

See Desolate

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּץ shä'-män: to shine

# אַשְׁמְנִּים |äsh-män-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) fat or fertile fields; darkness, desolate place

See Desolate

Primitive Root: שָׁבָּה/shä-fä': to abrade

# אָפִי (n.) baldness, bareness, bare place

See High

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּל/shä-fāl': to depress or sink

# שְׁפְלָה |shēf-lä' (n.) lowness, low state

See Low

### PLANT

Primitive Root: יָנֵק/yä-näk': to suck

## יוֹנֶק |yō-nāk' (n.) sucker, young twig, shoot; sucking child

53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a **tender plant**, and as a root out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.

Primitive Root: גַטָע/nä-tä': to strike in

# מַטָּע|mät-tä' (n.) plantation, planting, garden

60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my **planting**, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.

## נָטַע |nä-tä' (v.) to plant; to be planted; to fix, fasten in, establish; to pitch a tent, set up

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and **planted** it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou **plant** pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and **plant** vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be **planted**; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he **planteth** an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may **plant** the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not **plant**, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their hands.

## נטע |ne'-tä (n.) plant; the planting; plantation

- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant **plants**, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy **plant** to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.

Primitive Root: נַתַּן/nä-thän': to give

# nä-thän' (v.) to give, hand over, yield; to set, place, put; to allow, permit; to make, render

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] see also Deliver, Direct, Place

- 41:19 I will **plant** in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the **planting** of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

Primitive Root: שַׁרַק/shä-räk': to be shrill

# שְׂרֹק |sä-rōk' (n.) (pl.) tendrils (of the vine), vines with red grapes

16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the **principal plants** thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.

# PLAY

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵע /shä-ä': to look upon (with complacency)

## שׁעש |shä-ä' (v.) to besmeared (on eyes), blind; to delight, make glad; to caress; to play

See Cry

#### PLEAD

Primitive Root: רִיב|rēv: to toss

#### רב |rev (v.) to contend, strive, plead; to quarrel, strive, contend

See Contend

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵּט/shä-fat': to judge

# שְׁבַּט |shä-fät' (v.) to judge, decide, condemn, vindicate, punish; to defend; to rule, govern; (part.) judge

See Judge(ment)

# PLEASANT

Primitive Root: תְּמֵד /ḥä-mäd': to boil up

## אָרְמֵּד '-mɛd (n.) beauty, desirableness, pleasantness, loveliness

See Wine

## המְנְּהַתְּ (n.) desire, wish, longing; delight, desired thing; pleasantness, loveliness

2:16 And upon all the ships of the sea, and upon all the ships of Tarshish, and upon all pleasant pictures.

## mäḥ-mäd' (n.) desire, object of desire; grace, beauty; something precious

64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our **pleasant things** are laid waste.

Primitive Root: מְבֵּץ/ḥä-fāts': to incline to

# אָבֶּן hā'-fɛts (n.) delight; desire; something precious; pursuit, ardor

See Pleasure

Primitive Root: נֵעֶם/nä-ām': to be agreeable

# אַמַן nä-ä-män' (n.) pleasantness, loveliness, delight; (adj.) pleasant, lovely

17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant **pleasant** plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;

Primitive Root: עַנֻג'ä-näg': to be soft or pliable

# ענגג|ō-nɛg' (n.) delights, delicate life, luxury

See Delight

Primitive Root: שַׁצְעִע/shä-ä': to look upon (with complacency)

# שׁעשׁועים |shä-ä-shü'-ēm (n.) (pl. only) delight, pleasure, enjoyment

5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his **pleasant** plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.

# **PLEASE**

Primitive Root: מְחֵבֵּץ/ḥä-fāts': to incline to

# אָבּן hä-fāts' (v.) to bend, curve; to bow, incline, be favorable; to find pleasure, delight, desire

See Delight

Primitive Root: סְבַּק/sä-fäk': to clap the hands

# פְבַּק |sä-fäk' (v.) to strike, thrust, slap; to clap (hands); to punish, chastise; to overflow, vomit

2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they **please** themselves in the children of strangers.

# PLEASURE

Primitive Root: מָבֶּין/ḥä-fāts': to incline to

#### אָם | hā'-fɛts (n.) delight; desire; something precious; pursuit, ardor

- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my shepherd, and shall perform all my **pleasure**; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 46:10 Declaring the end from the beginning, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall stand, and I will do all my **pleasure**;
- 48:14 All ye, assemble yourselves, and hear; which among them hath declared these things? The Lord hath loved him; he will do his **pleasure** on Babylon, and his arm shall be on the Chaldeans.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the **pleasure** of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find **pleasure**, and exact all your labors.
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy **pleasure** on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own **pleasure**, nor speaking thine own words;

Primitive Root: חַשֵּׁק/hä-shäk': to cling

## חַשֵּׁק |hā'-shɛk (n.) desire, delight

21:4 My heart panted, fearfulness affrighted me; the night of my pleasure hath he turned into fear unto me.

Primitive Root: עַדַן/ä-dän': to be soft or pleasant

# אָדָין |ä-dēn' (n.) soft, delicate, voluptuous, luxurious

47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to **pleasures**, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;

## PLEDGE

Primitive Root: עַרֶב/ä-räv': to braid

# ä-räv' (v.) to mix; to exchange; to warrant; to pledge or give in pledge; to intermingle

- 36:8 Now therefore give **pledges**, I pray thee, to my master the king of Assyria, and I will give thee two thousand horses, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 38:14 Like a crane or swallow, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.

#### **PLOW**

Primitive Word: אָכָּר|ēk-kär': from an unused root meaning to dig

# אָבַר ek-kär' (n.) plowman, tiller

61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your plowmen and your vinedressers.

Primitive Word: אַת |āth: of uncertain derivation

## אָת āth (n.) agricultural tool (plowshare, hoe, mattock)

2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into **plowshares**, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.

Primitive Root: חֲרֵשׁ/ḥä-räsh': to scratch

# חַרֵשׁ hä-räsh' (v.) to engrave, inscribe; to plow; to be deaf, be silent; to entangle, devise; to forge

- 28:24 Doth the plowman plow all day to sow? doth he open and break the clods of his ground?
- 36:21 But they held their peace, and answered him not a word; for the king's commandment was, saying, Answer him not.
- 41:1 **Keep silence** before me, O islands; and let the people renew their strength; let them come near; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have **been still**, and refrained myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and devour at once.

# POLLUTE

Primitive Root: חָלֵל, ḥä-läl': to bore

# חַלֵל (v.) to pierce through, be perforated, be wounded; to defile, pollute, profane

- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have **polluted** mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 48:11 For mine own sake, even for mine own sake, will I do it; for how should my name be **polluted?** and I will not give my glory unto another.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on strength, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and **wounded** the dragon?
- 53:5 But he was **wounded** for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his stripes we are healed.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from **polluting** it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from **polluting** it, and taketh hold of my covenant;

## Pomp

Primitive Root: גָּאָה/gä-ä': to mount up

# אַמוֹן [gä-ōn' (n.) highness, excellency, majesty (of God); splendor, glory; pride, arrogance

See Pride

Primitive Root: שָׁאַה'/shä-ä': to rush

## שָׁאוֹן|shä-ōn' (n.) noise, tumult, rush, roar; desolation, destruction, devastation

See Noise

#### POOL

Primitive Word: אַנֶם|ä-gäm': from an unused root meaning to bind

## אַגם agäm' (n.) pool, marsh, rush

- 14:23 I will also make it a possession for the bittern, and **pools** of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a **pool**, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a **pool** of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.

Primitive Root: בַּרָדְ/bä-räḥ': to kneel

# בְּרֶכָּה |bɛ-rā-ḥä' (n.) pond, pool

- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper **pool**, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the water of the old **pool**; but ye have not looked unto the maker thereof, neither had respect unto him that fashioned it long ago.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper **pool** in the highway of the fuller's field.

#### **POOR**

Primitive Root: אֲבַה/ä-vä': to breathe after

#### צבילון (adj.) needy, poor, miserable, wretched

See Needy

Primitive Root: דָּלֵל'/dä-läl': to slacken or be feeble

## לל däl (adj.) hanging, swinging, tottering; weak, humble, poor, wretched

- 10:2 To turn aside the **needy** from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the **poor**, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the **poor** shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the **poor**, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 26:6 The foot shall tread it down, even the feet of the poor, and the steps of the needy.

Primitive Root: עֵנה/ä-nä': to depress

# אָנִי |ä-nē' (adj.) oppressed, afflicted; poor, retched, miserable, helpless; humble, meek

- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the **poor** is in your houses.
- 3:15 What mean ye? ye beat my people to pieces, and grind the faces of the poor, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the **poor** of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 10:30 Lift up thy voice, O daughter of Gallim; cause it to be heard unto Laish, O poor Anathoth.
- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the **poor** of his people shall trust in it.
- 26:6 The foot shall tread it down, even the feet of the **poor**, and the steps of the needy.
- 32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the **poor** with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 41:17 When the **poor** and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his **afflicted**.
- 51:21 Therefore hear now this, thou afflicted, and drunken, but not with wine;
- 54:11 O thou **afflicted**, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy stones with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.
- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the **poor** that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?
- 66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I look, even to him that is **poor** and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.

## Possess

Primitive Root: יֵרָשׁ/yä-räsh': to occupy

### יֵלְשׁ!/yä-räsh' (v.) to seize, occupy; to possess, inherit; to drive away, take away, dispossess

- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor **possess** the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall **possess** it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.
- 34:17 And I have cast the lot for them, and I have divided it unto them by line; they shall **possess** it forever; from generation to generation they shall dwell therein.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall **inherit** the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall **inherit** my holy mountain;
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall **inherit** the land forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; everlasting joy shall be unto them.
- 63:18 The people of thy holiness have **possessed** it but a little while; our adversaries have trodden down thy sanctuary.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of Jacob, and out of Judah an **inheritor** of my mountains; and mine elect shall **inherit** it, and my servants shall dwell there.

## מוֹרַשׁ mō-räsh' (n.) possession

14:23 I will also make it a **possession** for the bittern, and pools of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the Lord of hosts.

Primitive Root: נָחַל/nä-häl': to inherit

## nä-häl' (v.) to seize, take possession; to get, inherit

- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall **possess** them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to **inherit** the desolate heritages;
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall **possess** the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

## Pour

Primitive Root: יָצֵק/yä-tsäk': to pour out

# יַצַק |yä-tsäk' (v.) to pour (out); to cast (metal), melt; to harden; to flow out

44:3 For I will **pour** water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground; I will **pour** my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;

Primitive Root: נוֹל/nä-zäl': to drip or shed by trickling

# nä-zäl' (v.) to flow down, run down; to overflow, spread; to descend

- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and **floods** upon the dry ground; I will pour my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies **pour down** righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he led them through the deserts; he caused the waters to **flow** out of the rock for them; he clave the rock also, and the waters gushed out.

Primitive Root: נָסָדְ/nä-säḥ': to pour out

## קרַען nä-säḥ' (v.) to pour out, make libation; to cast (of metal); to anoint, consecrate, appoint

See Melt

Primitive Root: אָרָה/ä-rä': to be or make bare

## ערה |ä-rä' (v.) to be poured out; to make naked, uncover; to empty, pour out

- 3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of Zion, and the Lord will **discover** their secret parts.
- 22:6 And Elam bare the quiver with chariots of men and horsemen, and Kir uncovered the shield.
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be **poured** upon us from on high, and the wilderness be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be counted for a forest.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath **poured out** his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

Primitive Root: צוּק/tsük: to pour out

### צוּק tsük (v.) to pour; to set, place

26:16 Lord, in trouble have they visited thee; they poured out a prayer when thy chastening was upon them.

Primitive Root: שָׁבַּף/shä-fäḥ': to spill forth

# שְׁבַּךְּ shä-fäḥ' (v.) to pour, pour out; to shed, spill; to cast up, cast down

- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor **cast** a bank against it.
- 42:25 [42:24-25] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath **poured** upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.

- 57:6 Among the smooth stones of the stream is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou **poured** a drink offering, thou hast offered a meat offering. Should I receive comfort in these?
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to **shed** innocent blood; their thoughts are thoughts of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.

#### POWER

Primitive Root: אַן/yäd: the open one, used in many applications both literally and figuratively

## ייַן yäd (n.) hand; power, strength

See Hand

Primitive Root: กุ๋วิ|kō'-äḥ: from an unused root meaning to be firm

# מַל kō'-äḥ (n.) strength, power, might; ability; violence; substance, wealth, riches

See Strong

Primitive Root: עווא /ä-zäz': to be stout

# עְאַוּזּ |ē-züz' (adj.) strong, powerful, mighty

43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the army and the **power**; they shall lie down together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are quenched as tow.

## PRAISE

Primitive Root: הָלֵל/hä-läl': to be clear (of sound or color)

# hä-läl' (v.) to be clear, be brilliant or shine; to praise, glorify, celebrate; to be insolent, foolish, mad

See Glory

# תְּהְלָה |tɨ-hēl-lä' (n.) praise, song of praise, hymn, psalm

- 42:8 I am the Lord; that is my name; and my glory will I not give to another, neither my praise to graven images.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his **praise** from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 42:12 Let them give glory unto the Lord, and declare his **praise** in the islands.
- 43:21 This people have I formed for myself; they shall show forth my praise.
- 48:9 For my name's sake will I defer mine anger, and for my praise will I refrain for thee, that I cut thee not off.
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall show forth the **praises** of the Lord.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls Salvation, and thy gates Praise.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of **praise** for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and **praise** to spring forth before all the nations.
- 62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a **praise** in the earth.
- 63:7 I will mention the lovingkindnesses of the Lord, and the **praises** of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath bestowed on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath bestowed on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.

Primitive Root: יְדָה'/yä-dä': to use (hold out) the hand

## מק" yä-dä' (v.) to throw, cast; to profess, confess; to praise, give thanks, glorify, celebrate, sing

- 12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O Lord, I will **praise** thee; though thou wast angry with me, thine anger is turned away, and thou comfortedst me.
- 12:4 And in that day shall ye say, **Praise** the Lord, call upon his name, declare his doings among the people, make mention that his name is exalted.

- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will **praise** thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 38:19 The living, the living, he shall **praise** thee, as I do this day; the father to the children shall make known thy truth.

## **PRAY**

Primitive Root: לַחַשׁ/lä-ḥäsh': to whisper

## לחשׁ|a-häsh' (n.) whisper, murmur, whispered prayer; incantation, charm, spell; amulet

3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.

26:16 Lord, in trouble have they visited thee; they poured out a prayer when thy chastening was upon them.

Primitive Root: פָלל/pä-läl': to judge

# |pä-läl' (v.) to judge, decide, punish; to think, propose; to supplicate, pray; to intercede

- 16:12 And it shall come to pass, when it is seen that Moab is weary on the high place, that he shall come to his sanctuary to pray; but he shall not prevail.
- 37:15 And Hezekiah prayed unto the Lord, saying,
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast **prayed** to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 38:2 Then Hezekiah turned his face toward the wall, and prayed unto the Lord,
- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a god, even his graven image; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and **prayeth** unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my god.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make **supplication** unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and **pray** unto a god that cannot save.

# תְּבְּלָת (n.) intercession; entreaty, supplication, prayer; hymn, song, psalm

- 1:15 And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide mine eyes from you; yea, when ye make many **prayers**, I will not hear; your hands are full of blood.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy **prayer** for the remnant that is left.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy **prayer**, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of **prayer**; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of **prayer** for all people.

#### **PRECEPT**

Primitive Root: צְוַה/tsä-vä': to constitute or enjoin

## מצוַה mēts-vä' (n.) command, precept, law; prohibition

See Command

# אָן tsäv or צו tsäv (n.) statute, law, precept

- 28:10 For precept must be upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little;
- 28:13 But the word of the Lord was unto them **precept** upon **precept**, **precept** upon **precept**; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and fall backward, and be broken, and snared, and taken.

#### **PRECIOUS**

Primitive Root: טוֹב|tōv: to be good

## טוב (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

See Good

Primitive Root: יָקר/yä- kär': to be heavy

# אָבְיּלְשָׁר kär' (v.) to be heavy, be honored; to be precious, be dear; to be costly, be esteemed

13:12 I will make a man more precious than fine gold; even a man than the golden wedge of Ophir.

43:4 Since thou wast **precious** in my sight, thou hast been honorable, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and people for thy life.

## yä- kär' (adj.) precious, dear; heavy, honored; magnificent, splendid; rare, costly, esteemed

28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a **precious** cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.

### **PREPARE**

Primitive Root: אוֹבוּן/kün: to be erect or to stand

## אוֹבֹּוּן kün (v.) to stand upright; to be established; to be firm, steadfast, faithful, sure; to be ready

See Establish

Primitive Root: עָרֶךְ/ä-räḥ': to set in a row

## [ערף] ä-räḥ' (v.) to set in order, prepare, arrange; to draw together, muster; to estimate, compare

21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.

30:33 For Topheth is **ordained** of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.

40:18 To whom then will ye liken God? or what likeness will ye compare unto him?

44:7 And who, as I, shall call, and shall declare it, and set it in **order** for me, since I appointed the ancient people? and the things that are coming, and shall come, let them show unto them.

65:11 But ye are they that forsake the Lord, that forget my holy mountain, that **prepare** a table for that troop, and that furnish the drink offering unto that number.

Primitive Root: אָשָׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

# אָשָּׂה a-sa' (v.) to work, labor, toil; to make, create; to acquire; to prepare; to keep; to appoint

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Accomplish, Bear, Perform

64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath **prepared** for him that waiteth for him.

Primitive Root: פַּנֵה/pä-nä': to turn or to face

## pä-nä' (v.) to turn (oneself), turn to or from; to go, look, regard; to drive away, clear

See Look

#### Presence

Primitive Root: פְּנָה /pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

# pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (with prefixes) before, etc.

See Face

## Present

Primitive Root: בָּרַדְ/bä-räḥ': to kneel

# בּרַכַּה |bɛ-rä-ḥä' (n.) blessing, benediction; gift, present

See Bless

Primitive Word: מְנְחֵה mēn-ḥä': from an unused root meaning to apportion or bestow

# מְנְחָה men-ḥä' (n.) gift, present; tribute; meat or grain sacrifice, offering

See Oblation

Primitive Root: שַׁלֵה /shä-vä': to level

# שִׁי shä'-ē (n.) gift, present, tribute

18:7 In that time shall the **present** be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.

#### **Preserve**

Primitive Root: מֵלֵט/mä-lät': to be smooth

# מְלַט|mä-lät' (v.) to escape; to be delivered, be saved, be freed; to let slip, to lay (eggs); to emit (sparks)

See Deliver

Primitive Root: נָצַר/nä-tsär': to guard

nä-tsär' (v.) to watch, guard, protect; to inspect, keep, preserve; to observe; to besiege; to hide

See Keep

#### PREY

Primitive Root: ١١٤/bä-zäz': to plunder

# bäz (n.) prey, spoil

- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the **prey**, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the **prey** of a great spoil divided; the lame take the **prey**.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a **prey**, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.

Primitive Root: אָרַף/tä-räf': to pluck off or pull to pieces

# างูเ/te'-ref (n.) a leaf newly plucked; an animal torn in pieces, prey of a wild beast; food

5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.

31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his **prey**, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount Zion, and for the hill thereof.

Primitive Root: לְקַח/lä-käḥ': to take

# mäl-kō'-äḥ (n.) jaws, upper and lower plate; spoil

- 49:24 Shall the prey be taken from the mighty, or the lawful captive delivered?
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the **prey** of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵל shä-läl': to drop or strip

## אַלַל shä-läl' (v.) to draw out, plunder, rob; to strip off, spoil

- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to **take** the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil **maketh** himself **a prey**; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.

# אַלָל shä-läl' (n.) booty, spoil, prey; gain

See Spoil

#### Pride

Primitive Root: אָאַה'/gä-ä': to mount up

## หมู่|gā (adj.) proud, haughty, arrogant

16:6 We have heard of the pride of Moab; of his haughtiness and his pride, for he is very **proud**; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works

# אַמה [gā-ɛ' (adj.) lifted up, high, exalted; proud, arrogant, presumptuous

2:12 For the day of the Lord of hosts soon cometh upon all nations; yea, upon everyone; yea, upon the **proud** and lofty, and upon everyone who is lifted up, and he shall be brought low.

# gä-a-vä' (n.) elevation, magnificence, majesty (of God); pride, arrogancy, insolence

- 9:9 And all the people shall know, even Ephraim and the inhabitant of Samaria, that say in the pride and stoutness of heart,
- 13:3 I have commanded my sanctified ones, I have also called my mighty ones, for mine anger is not upon them that rejoice in my **highness**.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the **haughtiness** of the terrible.
- 16:6 We have heard of the pride of Moab; of his **haughtiness** and his pride, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.
- 25:11 And he shall spread forth his hands in the midst of them, as he that swimmeth spreadeth forth his hands to swim; and he shall bring down their **pride** together with the spoils of their hands.

# נָאוֹן gä-ōn' (n.) highness, excellency, majesty (of God); splendor, glory; pride, arrogance

- 2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his **majesty** shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 4:1 [4:2] In that day shall the branch of the Lord be beautiful and glorious, and the fruit of the earth shall be **excellent** and comely to them that are escaped of Israel.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the **arrogancy** of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' **excellency**, shall be as when God overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah.
- 14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.
- 16:6 We have heard of the **pride** of Moab; of his haughtiness and his **pride**, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.
- 23:9 The Lord of hosts hath purposed it, to stain the pride of all glory, and to bring into contempt all the honorable of the earth.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will make thee an eternal **excellency**, a joy of many generations.

## מאמת ā-üth' (n.) something lifted up; majesty; glory, splendor; pride, arrogance

- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like **the lifting up** of smoke.
- 12:5 Sing unto the Lord; for he hath done excellent things; this is known in all the earth.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of **pride**, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:3 The crown of pride, the drunkards of Ephraim, shall be trodden under feet;

Primitive Root: TN/züd: to seethe

# לְּלֵּוֹ zād (adj.) proud; insolent, wanton, arrogant

13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the **proud** to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.

Primitive Root: רָהַב /rä-häv': to urge severely

## רְהַבּ |rä-häv' (v.) to rage, press on, urge on, importune; to tremble, fear

3:5 And the people shall be oppressed, everyone by another, and everyone by his neighbor; the child shall **behave himself proudly** against the ancient, and the base against the honorable.

#### Prince

Primitive Word: אֶסֶלֵן sä-gän': from an unused root meaning to supervise

# קּגְנִים |sɛ-gä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) prefect, governor, nobleman

41:25 I have raised up one from the north, and he shall come; from the rising of the sun shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon **princes** as upon mortar, and as the potter treadeth clay.

Primitive Root: רְזוֹן/rä-zän': to be heavy

# רְאַן rä-zän' (v.) to be weighty; (part.) prince, ruler

40:23 That bringeth the princes to nothing; he maketh the judges of the earth as vanity.

Primitive Root: שַׂרֵר /sä-rär': to have dominion

## אַל sär (n.) leader, commander, chief, master, perfect; prince, ruler, noble

- 1:23 Thy **prince**s are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 3:3 The captain of fifty, and the honorable man, and the counselor, and the cunning artificer, and the eloquent orator.
- 3:4 And I will give children unto them to be their princes, and babes shall rule over them.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the **prince**s thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The **Prince** of Peace.
- 10:8 For he saith, Are not my **prince**s altogether kings?
- 19:11 Surely the **prince**s of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient kings?
- 19:13 The **prince**s of Zoan are become fools, the **prince**s of Noph are deceived; they have also seduced Egypt, even they that are the stay of the tribes thereof.
- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 23:8 Who hath taken this counsel against Tyre, the crowning city, whose merchants are **prince**s, whose traffickers are the honorable of the earth?
- 30:4 For his princes were at Zoan, and his ambassadors came to Hanes.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his **prince**s shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 32:1 Behold, a King shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.
- 34:12 They shall call the nobles thereof to the kingdom, but none shall be there, and all her **prince**s shall be nothing.
- 43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, **prince**s also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.

## Prison

Primitive Root: אָסֶר/ä-sär': to yoke or hitch

## אַסָר (v.) to bind (up), fetter, seize, imprison; to yoke, fasten; to join (in battle)

See Bind (Up)

# אָסְיר |ä-sēr' (n.) captive, prisoner, exile

14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his **prisoners**?

# אַפִּיר äs-sēr' (n.) prisoner

- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the **prisoners**, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as **prisoners** are gathered in the pit, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the **prisoners** from the prison, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.

Primitive Root: בָּלָא/kä-lä': to restrict

# גְּלֶא (n.) prison, confinement ⊈¢ (kε'-lε (n.)

- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the prisoners from the prison, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in **prison** houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.

Primitive Root: סָגֵר/sä-gär': to shut up

# מְּקְנֵּר |mäs-gār' (n.) locksmith, smith; prison

- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are gathered in the pit, and shall be shut up in the **prison**, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the prisoners from the **prison**, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.

Primitive Word: עצר/ä-tsär': to enclose

## עצר (n.) restraint; oppression, vexation, constraint

53:8 He was taken from **prison** and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he stricken.

Primitive Root: מְשֵׁקח /pä-käḥ': to open

## pä-käḥ-kō'-äḥ (n.) opening, liberation, loosening, deliverance

61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the **opening of the prison** to them that are bound;

Primitive Word: אָשָׁבוֹ/sh<sup>ɛ</sup>-vō': from an unused root meaning to flame

# שְׁבִי |sh-eve' (n.) captivity, exile, leading away; captives

See Captive

## **PRODUCE**

Primitive Root: קרב/kä-räv': to approach

# קרב (v.) to approach, draw near; to come near, advance; to bring near; to offer, present

See Near

## **PROLONG**

Primitive Root: אָרַךְּ /ä-räḥ': to be long

# אַרָדּ |ä-räḥ' (v.) to stretch out, be long; to lengthen, prolong, extend, delay

48:9 For my name's sake will I defer mine anger, and for my praise will I refrain for thee, that I cut thee not off.

- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall **prolong** his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 54:2 Enlarge the place of thy tent, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine habitations; spare not, **lengthen** thy cords, and strengthen thy stakes;
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and **draw out** the tongue? are ye not children of transgression, a seed of falsehood.

Primitive Root: מֵשֶׁךְ /mä-shäḥ': to draw

## מְשַׁדְּ mä-shäḥ' (v.) to draw, pull; to extend, prolong; to sow; to wander, go; to cherish, preserve

See Dran

#### Prophet

Primitive Root: חַלֵּה 'hä-zä': to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

## חָלָהָ (v.) to see in vision; to look up, contemplate; to see, look, gaze, behold

See See

Primitive Root: גָבָא/nä-vä': to prophesy

## nä-vē' (n.) prophet, speaker of oracles

- 3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,
- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the **prophet** have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the **prophets** and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the **prophet** the son of Amoz.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the **prophet** the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 39:3 Then came Isaiah the **prophet** unto king Hezekiah, and said unto him, What said these men? And from whence came they unto thee? And Hezekiah said, They are come from a far country unto me, even from Babylon.

#### וֹבְּלִּאַה nä-vē-yä' (n.) prophetess; wife of prophet

8:3 And I went unto the **prophetess**; and she conceived, and bare a son. Then said the Lord to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.

#### **PROVERB**

Primitive Root: מֲשֵׁל/mä-shäl': to liken

## שַּטְל|mä-shäl' (n.) similitude, parable, comparison; opinion; proverb, saying; song, poem

14:4 And it shall come to pass in that day that thou shalt take up this **proverb** against the king of Babylon, and say, How hath the oppressor ceased! the golden city ceased!

#### PROVOKE

Primitive Root: בַּעִס/kä-äs': to trouble

## בְּעֵס |kä-äs' (v.) to irritate, provoke; to be angry; to vex, grieve, excite

See Anger

Primitive Root: מֵרָה / mä-rä': to be or make bitter

#### מֵּבֶּה mä-rä' (v.) to stroke, strike; to rebel, resist, despise; to quarrel, dispute; to offend

See Rebel

Primitive Root: צָאַן/nä-äts': to scorn

## וְאַץ|nä-äts' (v.) to deride, despise, revile, scorn; to reject

See Despise

#### Prudent

Primitive Root: בְּץ|bēn: to separate mentally, to distinguish

## לבין bēn (v.) to discern, perceive, understand; to be prudent, be intelligent; to consider

See Consider

Primitive Root: קַּסֶם/kä-säm': to distribute

## קלַם kä-säm' (v.) to cut, divide; to draw lots; to divine, prophesy, conjure up

3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,

44:25 That frustrateth the tokens of the liars, and maketh **diviners** mad; that turneth wise men backward, and maketh their knowledge foolish;

Primitive Root: שַׂבֶּל/sä-ḥäl': to be, make or act circumspect

## אַכַל |sä-ḥäl' (v.) to look at, behold; to have insight, be prudent, act prudent; to have understanding

See Understand

#### Prune

Primitive Root: מָמֶר/zä-mär': to trim

## zä-mär' (v.) to prune, cut off, pinch off

5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be **pruned**, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.

## Pruninghook

Primitive Root: וְמַר /zä-mär': to trim

#### מְזְמֵרָה mäz-mā-rä' (n.) pruninghook, vine knife

- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into **pruning hooks**; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with **pruning hooks**, and take away and cut down the branches.

#### **PUBLISH**

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵע/shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## אָמַע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

#### **PUNISH**

Primitive Root: אָפֶקּד /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

#### pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

#### PURGE

Primitive Root: ทำา |dü'-äḥ: to thrust away

## לולין dü'-äḥ (v.) to thrust, expel, cast away or out; to wash off, purge, cleanse

4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have **purged** the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.

Primitive Root: בַּבַּר/kä-fär': to cover

## |בפר kä-fär' (v.) to cover over, overspread; to be harry; to pardon, forgive, expiate

6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.

- 22:14 And it was revealed in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be **purged** from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be **purged**; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 28:18 And your covenant with death shall be **disannulled**, and your agreement with hell shall not stand; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.
- 47:11 Therefore shall evil come upon thee; thou shalt now know from whence it riseth; and mischief shall fall upon thee; thou shalt not be able to **put** it **off**; and desolation shall come upon thee suddenly, which thou shalt not know.

Primitive Root: אָרַן/tsä-räf': to fuse (metal)

## אַבֵּרף (v.) to melt, smelt, refine; to prove, test, examine; to be purified

See Gold

#### **PURIFY**

Primitive Root: טָהֵר/tä-hār': to be bright

## טהר |tä-hār' (v.) to shine; to become clean or pure, to be innocent, be righteous

66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and **purify** themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

## **PURSUE**

Primitive Root: רַדָּק/rä-däk: to run after

## רְדָּק |rä-däk (v.) to follow, pursue, run after; to chase, drive away, put to flight

See Follon

#### PUT

Primitive Root: בַּטָח/bä-täḥ': to hide for refuge

#### מש bä-täh' (v.) to trust, confide in; to attach oneself; to be secure, be careless

See Trust

Primitive Root: הָּדָה/hä-dä': to stretch forth the hand

## |hä-dä' (v.) to stretch out or direct (the hand)

11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.

Primitive Root: חַלָּה/hä-lä': to be rubbed or worn

#### חַלַה |hä-lä' (v.) to wear down, be infirm; to be sick, be weak; to be pained, suffer

See Sick

Primitive Root: חָלַץ/ḥä-läts': to pull off

## אָלַץ |hä-läts' (v.) to draw off, pull off (shoes); to withdraw, depart; to equip, arm; (part.) warrior

See Fat

Primitive Root: חַסֶּה/hä-sä': to flee for protection

## חָסָה|חָסָה|hä-sä' (v.) to flee, take refuge; to trust

See Trust

Primitive Root: תְּפֵר/ḥä-fār': to blush

## חבר hä-fār' (v.) to turn red, be ashamed; to be disappointed

See Confounded

Primitive Root: יְרֵד/yä-räd': to descend

## לקצ'yä-räd' (v.) to descend, go down; to fall down, be cast down; to throw down, subdue

See Down

Primitive Root: בְּבַר/kä-fär': to cover

## |בפר kä-fär' (v.) to cover over, overspread; to be harry; to pardon, forgive, expiate

See Purge

Primitive Root: לֶבֵּשׁ/lä-väsh': to wrap around

## lä-väsh' (v.) to wrap up, cover, put on; to dress or clothe oneself

See Clothe

Primitive Root: שׁוּם/süm: to put

## שוּם |süm (v.) to put, set, place, dispose, set in array; to plant, beget; constitute, erect; to lay down; to appoint

- 3:7 In that day shall he swear, saying, I will not be a healer; for in my house there is neither bread nor clothing; **make** me not a ruler of the people.
- 5:20 Woe unto them that call evil good, and good evil; that **put** darkness for light, and light for darkness; that **put** bitter for sweet, and sweet for bitter!
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to **tread them down** like the mire of the streets.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his prisoners?
- 14:23 I will also **make** it a possession for the bittern, and pools of water; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 21:4 My heart panted, fearfulness affrighted me; the night of my pleasure hath he turned into fear unto me.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he **brought** it to ruin.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he **maketh** all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have **made** lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 28:17 Judgment also will I **lay** to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.
- 28:25 When he hath made plain the face thereof, doth he not **cast** abroad the fitches, and scatter the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the appointed barley and the rye in their place?
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I **put** my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.

- 41:15 Behold, I will make thee a new sharp threshing instrument having teeth; thou shalt thresh the mountains, and beat them small, and shalt **make** the hills as chaff.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will **set** in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 41:20 That they may see and know, and **consider**, and understand together, that the hand of the Lord hath done this, and the Holy One of Israel hath created it.
- 41:22 Let them bring them forth, and show us what shall happen; let them show the former things, what they be, that we may **consider** them, and know the latter end of them; or declare us things for to come.
- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 42:12 Let them give glory unto the Lord, and declare his praise in the islands.
- 42:25 [42:24-25] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 43:19 Behold, I will do a new thing; now it shall spring forth; shall ye not know it? I will even **make** a way in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert.
- 44:7 And who, as I, shall call, and shall declare it, and set it in order for me, since I **appointed** the ancient people? and the things that are coming, and shall come, let them show unto them.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst **show** them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 47:7 And thou saidst, I shall be a lady forever; so that thou didst not **lay** these things to thy heart, neither didst remember the latter end of it.
- 49:2 And he hath **made** my mouth like a sharp sword; in the shadow of his hand hath he hid me, and **made** me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;
- 49:11 And I will make all my mountains a way, and my highways shall be exalted.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I **make** their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I **make** sackcloth their covering.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will **make** her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the sea, the waters of the great deep that hath **made** the depths of the sea a way for the ransomed to pass over?
- 51:16 And I have **put** my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.
- 51:23 But I will **put** it into the hand of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy soul, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast **laid** thy body as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt **make** his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the **pleasure** of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.
- 57:1 The righteous perisheth, and no man **layeth** it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the righteous is taken away from the evil to come.
- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.
- 57:8 Behind the doors also and the posts hast thou **set** up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou sawest it.
- 57:11 And of whom hast thou been afraid or feared, that thou hast lied, and hast not remembered me, nor **laid** it to thy heart? have not I held my peace even of old, and thou fearest me not?
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have **put** in thy mouth, shall not depart out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy seed, nor out of the mouth of thy seed's seed, saith the Lord, from henceforth and forever.
- 60:15 Whereas thou hast been forsaken and hated, so that no man went through thee, I will **make** thee an eternal excellency, a joy of many generations.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also **make** thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.
- 61:3 To **appoint** unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

- 62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a praise in the earth.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that **put** his Holy Spirit within him?
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

## שְׁלֵח shä-läḥ' (v.) to send out, stretch out, extend; to dismiss, let go, send away; to send word

See Send

## **PUTRID**

Primitive Word: טָרָי/tä-rē': from an unused root meaning to be moist

## טָרִי (adj.) fresh, moist

1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and **putrifying** sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.

## WORD-LINKS "Q"

## QUARTER

Primitive Root: עַבַר/ä-vär': to cross over

## אַבֶּר (n.) what is beyond, region or land beyond; opposite side, flank

See Beyond

Primitive Root: קצה/kä-tsä': to cut off

## קצה |kä-tse' (n.) end, extremity; the whole, sun

See End

## Queen

Primitive Root: שֵׁרֶר /sä-rär': to have dominion

## אַרָה |sä-rä' (prop. n.) Sarah; princess, noble lady, queen

See Sarah

## **QUENCH**

Primitive Root: בָּבָה/kä-vä': to expire or extinguish

## |kä-vä' (v.) to be quenched, go out; to extinguish, put out, quench

- 1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.
- 34:10 It shall not be **quenched** night nor day; the smoke thereof shall go up forever; from generation to generation it shall lie waste; none shall pass through it forever and ever.
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the army and the power; they shall lie down together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are **quenched** as tow.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be **quenched**; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

## Quiet

Primitive Root: שָׁאַן/shä-än': to loll

## שֹׁאֵנְן shä-ä-nän' (adj.) quiet, peaceful, easy, secure, tranquil; living at ease, careless, proud

- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 32:11 Tremble, ye women that are at ease; be troubled, ye careless ones; strip you, and make you bare, and gird sackcloth upon your loins
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a **quiet** habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy **tumult**, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.

Primitive Root: שָׁקט/shä-kät': to repose

# שְׁקֵט shä-kät' (v.) to rest, lie down, li quiet; to be undisturbed, be unmolested, be inactive; to give rest, calm; to keep quiet

- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be **quiet**; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 14:7 The whole earth is at rest, and is quiet; they break forth into singing.
- 18:4 For so the Lord said unto me, I will take my **rest**, and I will consider in my dwelling place like a clear heat upon herbs, and like a cloud of dew in the heat of harvest.

- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in **quietness** and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 57:20 But the wicked are like the troubled sea, when it cannot **rest**, whose waters cast up mire and dirt.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not **rest**, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.

## WORD-LINKS "R"

## RABSHAKEH

Primitive Word: עָּקְהַיּשְׁקָה /räv-shä-kā': derived from a combination of בן (many) and שָׁקָה (to quaff or irrigate)

## רַבִּישָׁקָה |räv-shä-kā' (prop. n.) Rabshekeh; chief of the cup-bearers

- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent **Rabshakeh** from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:4 And **Rabshakeh** said unto them, Say ye now to Hezekiah, Thus saith the great king, the king of Assyria, What confidence is this wherein thou trustest?
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto **Rabshakeh**, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 36:12 But **Rabshakeh** said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 36:13 Then **Rabshakeh** stood, and cried with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and told him the words of **Rabshakeh**.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of **Rabshakeh**, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:8 So **Rabshakeh** returned, and found the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.

## RAGE

Primitive Root: אָרֵעוֹן/rä-gäz': to quiver

## וְרַגַּי? (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

See Tremble

## RAIMENT

Primitive Root: לֶבַשׁ/lä-väsh': to wrap around

## לְבֹּוּשׁ|lɛ-vüsh' (n.) garment, clothing; spouse, wife

See Apparel

## mäl-büsh' (n.) garment, clothes

63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my **raiment**.

## RAIN

Primitive Root: אָשָׁם/gä-shäm': to shower violently

#### גשׁם |ge'-shem (n.) rain, heavy shower, violent rain

- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the **rain** doth nourish it.
- 55:10 For as the **rain** cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;

Primitive Root: מֲטֵר/mä-tär': to rain

#### מְטֵר mä-tär' (v.) to be rained upon; to rain, to pour down rain

5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.

## מְטָר mä-tär' (n.) rain

- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a shadow in the daytime from the heat, and for a place of refuge, and for a covert from storm and from rain.
- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up briers and thorns; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.
- 30:23 Then shall he give the **rain** of thy seed, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.

#### RAM

Primitive Word: אוֹל: from an unused root meaning to twist

## ä'-ēl (n.) ram, strong tree, oak, pilaster (pl.) mighty men, nobles

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of **rams**, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 1:29 For they shall be ashamed of the oaks which ye have desired, and ye shall be confounded for the gardens that ye have chosen.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of **rams**; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 60:7 All the flocks of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the **rams** of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called **trees** of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.

#### RANSOM

Primitive Root: אָאַל/gä-äl': to redeem (according to the law of kinship)

## gä-äl' (v.) to redeem, buy back, ransom, deliver; (part.) Redeemer

See Redeem

Primitive Root: מַבּוֹן/kä-fär': to cover

#### בבר (n.) village, hamlet; Cypress flower; ransom, price of expiation or redemption

43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.

Primitive Root: פְּדָה/pä-dä': to sever

## קבָּן pä-dä' (v.) to redeem, ransom, let go, free; to dismiss, rescue

See Redeem

## RAVEN

Primitive Root: ערב/ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

#### עֹרֶב |ō-rēv' (n.) raven, crow

34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the **raven** shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.

## REACH

Primitive Root: חֲצַה/ḥä-tsä': to cut or split in two

## חָצָה |ḥä-tsä' (v.) to divide, split, half

30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall **reach to the midst** of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.

Primitive Root: גַגע/nä-gä': to touch

## pä-gä' (v.) to touch, reach unto; to come to, arrive at; to smite, strike; to punish

See Touch

#### REAP

Primitive Root: קְצֵר/kä-tsär': to dock off

## קצר (v.) to reap, harvest, cut, mow; to cut off, be shorten; to shorten, abbreviate

- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the corn, and **reapeth** the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the valley of Rephaim.
- 28:20 For the bed is **shorter** than that a man can stretch himself on it; and the covering narrower than that he can wrap himself in it.
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and **reap**, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand **shortened** at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;

#### REASON

Primitive Root: יְבַרוֹ/yä-ḥäḥ': to be right

## חַבַּין yä-ḥäḥ' (v.) to argue, dispute; to correct, reprove, chide; to show, prove, arbitrate

See Reprove

Primitive Root: יַשָּׁב/yä-shäv': to sit down

## לשׁב"yä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

See Sit

#### REBEL

Primitive Root: מֲרָה mä-rä': to be or make bitter

#### mä-rä' (v.) to stroke, strike; to rebel, resist, despise; to quarrel, dispute; to offend

- 1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to **provoke** the eyes of his glory.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not **rebellious**, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.

#### מְרֵי [mɛ-rē' (n.) contumacy, refractoriness, rebellion, perverseness; bitterness

30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying children, children that will not hear the law of the Lord;

Primitive Root: סְרֵר/sä-rär': to turn away

## אַרֵר |sä-rär' (v.) to be stubborn, be rebellious; to be evil; to apostatize

- 1:23 Thy princes are **rebellious**, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.
- 30:1 Woe to the **rebellious** children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;

Primitive Root: פָּשׁׁע/pä-shä': to break away

## שְשׁע |pä-shä' (v.) to fall away, break away; to sin, transgress, rebel; to be offended

See Transgress

#### REBUKE

Primitive Root: גָּעֵר/gä-är': to chide

## gä-är' (v.) to address harshly, scold; to rebuke, reprove

- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall **rebuke** them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 54:9 For this is as the waters of Noah unto me; for as I have sworn that the waters of Noah should no more go over the earth; so have I sworn that I would not be wroth with thee, nor **rebuke** thee.

## אָעָרָה' [ɛ̞-ä-rä' (n.) rebuke, reproof, scolding, threatening

- 30:17 One thousand shall flee at the **rebuke** of one; at the **rebuke** of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my **rebuke** I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the **rebuke** of thy God.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to render his anger with fury, and his **rebuke** with flames of fire.

Primary Root: חֲרַף/ḥä-räf': to pull off

## הרְפַּה |her-pä' (n.) reproach, scorn, contempt; something despised; pedunda

See Reproach

Primitive Root: אָבֶרוֹ/yä-ḥäḥ': to be right

## אָבְיּכִּת yä-ḥäḥ' (v.) to argue, dispute; to correct, reprove, chide; to show, prove, arbitrate

See Reprove

## ותוכמה tō-ḥā-ḥā' (n.) arguing, contradicting; rebuke, correction; punishment, chastening

37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of trouble, and of **rebuke**, and of blasphemy; for the children are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.

## RECOMPENSE

Primitive Root: אָמֵל /gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

#### אָמוּל [gɛ-mül' (n.) action, work, deed, benefit; recompense, retribution

- 3:11 Woe unto the wicked! for they shall perish; for the **reward** of their hands shall be upon them.
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful heart, Be strong, fear not; behold, your God will come with vengeance, even God with a **recompense**; he will come and save you.
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will repay, fury to his adversaries, **recompense** to his enemies; to the islands he will repay **recompense**.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth **recompense** to his enemies.

Primitive Root: שָׁלַם/shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

- 19:21 And the Lord shall be known to Egypt, and the Egyptians shall know the Lord in that day, and shall do sacrifice and oblation; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the Lord, and **perform** it.
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou **make an end** of me.
- 38:13 I reckoned till morning, that, as a lion, so will he break all my bones; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 42:20 [42:19] And they shall be made **perfect** notwithstanding their blindness, if they will hearken unto the messenger, the Lord's servant.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and **performeth** the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;

- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my shepherd, and shall **perform** all my pleasure; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the temple, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.
- 59:18 According to their deeds, accordingly he will **repay**, fury to his adversaries, recompense to his enemies; to the islands he will **repay** recompense.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be **ended**.
- 65:6 Behold, it is written before me; I will not keep silence, but will recompense, even recompense into their bosom,
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.

## אלום |shēl-lüm' (n.) requital, retribution

34:8 For it is the day of the Lord's vengeance, and the year of recompenses for the controversy of Zion.

#### RECOVER

Primitive Root: אָחַלְּי: to seize (often with the idea of holding in possession)

## אָחַז |ä-ḥäz' (v.) to seize, take hold, lay hold of; to join, fasten

See Take Hold

Primitive Root: חַיֵּה/hä-yä': to live

## חָיָה 'ḥä-yä' (v.) to live, exist; to live anew, revive; to recover health, be healed

See Live

Primitive Root: קָנָה/kä-nä': to erect

## קּבָּה' (v.) to acquire, procure, gain; to buy, purchase; to create, possess, redeem; (part.) owner

See Buy

#### RED

Primitive Root: אַדַם/ä-däm': to show blood (in the face), blush

#### אַדָּם |ä-däm' (v.) to be red, dyed red

1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they **be red** like crimson, they shall be as wool.

#### אַדֹם |ä-dōm' (n.) red, redness

63:2 Wherefore art thou red in thine apparel, and thy garments like him that treadeth in the winefat?

Primitive Root: חָמֵד/ḥä-mäd': to boil up

## אָרְמֵּדְי ˈmɛd (n.) beauty, desirableness, pleasantness, loveliness

See Wine

#### REDEEM

Primitive Root: אָאַל/gä-äl': to redeem (according to the law of kinship)

## gä-äl' (v.) to redeem, buy back, ransom, deliver; (part.) Redeemer

- 35:9 No lion shall be there, nor any ravenous beast shall go up thereon, it shall not be found there; but the **redeemed** shall walk there;
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy **Redeemer**, the Holy One of Israel.
- 43:1 But now thus saith the Lord that created thee, O Jacob, and he that formed thee, O Israel, Fear not; for I have **redeemed** thee, I have called thee by thy name; thou art mine.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your **Redeemer**, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 44:6 Thus saith the Lord the King of Israel, and his **Redeemer** the Lord of hosts; I am the first, and I am the last; and besides me there is no God.
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.

- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath **redeemed** Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 44:24 Thus saith the Lord, thy **Redeemer**, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the Lord that maketh all things; that stretcheth forth the heavens alone; that spreadeth abroad the earth by myself.
- 47:4 As for our **Redeemer**, the Lord of hosts is his name, the Holy One of Israel.
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy **Redeemer**, the Holy One of Israel; I am the Lord thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath **redeemed** his servant Jacob.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the **Redeemer** of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy **Redeemer**, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the sea, the waters of the great deep that hath made the depths of the sea a way for the **ransomed** to pass over?
- 52:3 For thus saith the Lord, Ye have sold yourselves for naught; and ye shall be **redeemed** without money.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath comforted his people, he hath **redeemed** Jerusalem.
- 54:5 For thy Maker is thine husband; The Lord of hosts is his name; and thy **Redeemer** the Holy One of Israel; The God of the whole earth shall he be called.
- 54:8 In a little wrath I hid my face from thee for a moment; but with everlasting kindness will I have mercy on thee, saith the Lord thy **Redeemer**.
- 59:20 And the Redeemer shall come to Zion, and unto them that turn from transgression in Jacob, saith the Lord.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy **Redeemer**, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The **redeemed** of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, Sought out, A city not forsaken.
- 63:4 For the day of vengeance is in mine heart, and the year of my redeemed is come.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he **redeemed** them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.
- 63:16 Doubtless thou art our Father, tough Abraham be ignorant of us, and Israel acknowledge us not; thou, O Lord, art our Father, our **Redeemer**; thy name is from everlasting.

Primitive Root: מְלַבָּר /pä-dä': to sever

#### מָדמ pä-dä' (v.) to redeem, ransom, let go, free; to dismiss, rescue

- 1:27 Zion shall be **redeemed** with judgment, and her converts with righteousness.
- 29:22 Therefore thus saith the LORD, who **redeemed** Abraham, concerning the house of Jacob, Jacob shall not now be ashamed, neither shall his face now wax pale.
- 35:10 And the **ransomed** of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 51:11 Therefore the **redeemed** of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.

## pε-düth' (n.) division, distinction, separation, interval; liberation, redemption, deliverance

50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot **redeem**; or have I no power to deliver?

## Reed

Primitive Root: אָרָה/ä-rä': to be or make bare

## אַרָה' ä-rä' (n.) naked or bare place, cleared place, meadow

19:7 The **paper reeds** by the brooks, by the mouth of the brooks, and everything sown by the brooks, shall wither, be driven away, and be no more.

Primitive Root: קָנָה/kä-nä': to erect

## קנֵה (n.) cane, reed, stalk, sweet cane, calamus; balance, balance beam; measuring, reed

- 19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with **reeds** and rushes.
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken **reed**, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no **sweet cane** with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the **balance**, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.

#### REEL

Primitive Root: מוֹע '-ä: to waver

## ווע |nü-äḥ' (v.) to move to and fro, tremble; to totter, quake, reel; to wander, rove; to cause to stagger

See Move

#### REFINE

Primitive Root: לַקַק/zä-käk': to strain

## zä-käk' (v.) to tie fast, bind; to strain, refine; to pour out

25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well **refined**.

Primitive Root: צָרַף/tsä-räf': to fuse (metal)

## אַבר (v.) to melt, smelt, refine; to prove, test, examine; to be purified

See Gold

#### Refrain

Primitive Root: אַפַק/ä-fäk': to contain

#### קצבק |ä-fäk' (v.) to hold oneself fast, restrain from giving away; to control oneself, refrain

- 42:14 I have long time holden my peace; I have been still, and **refrained** myself; now will I cry like a travailing woman; I will destroy and devour at once.
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they **restrained**?
- 64:12 Wilt thou refrain thyself for these things, O Lord? wilt thou hold thy peace, and afflict us very sore?

Primitive Root: חָטֵם/ḥä-täm': to stop

## חָטָם |ḥä-täm' (v.) to muzzle, limit, restrain

48:9 For my name's sake will I defer mine anger, and for my praise will I refrain for thee, that I cut thee not off.

## REFUGE

Primitive Root: חָסֶה/ḥä-sä': to flee for protection

## מְחַסֶּה mä-ḥª-sɛ' (n.) refuge, shelter

- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a shadow in the daytime from the heat, and for a **place of refuge**, and for a covert from storm and from rain.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a **refuge** from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.

- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at agreement; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our **refuge**, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the **refuge** of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.

#### REFUSE

Primitive Root: מָאֵן/mä-ān': to refuse

## מאן mä-än' (v.) to refuse, be unwilling

1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.

Primitive Root: מָאַס/mä-äs': to spurn

## מאס mä-äs' (v.) to reject, refuse; to despise, contemn, repudiate; to melt away, dissolve

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have **cast away** the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to **refuse** the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of both her kings.
- 8:6 Forasmuch as this people refuseth the waters of Shiloah that go softly and rejoice in Rezin and Remaliah's son;
- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the Holy One of Israel, Because ye **despise** this word, and trust in oppression and perverseness, and stay thereon;
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall **cast away** his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.
- 33:8 The highways lie waste, the wayfaring man ceaseth; he hath broken the covenant, he hath **despised** the cities, he regardeth no man
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that **despiseth** the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 41:9 Thou whom I have taken from the ends of the earth, and called thee from the chief men thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my servant; I have chosen thee, and not **cast** thee **away**.
- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a woman forsaken and grieved in spirit, and a wife of youth, when thou wast **refused**, saith thy God.

#### REGARD

Primitive Root: חֲשֵׁב/ḥä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

#### אמשב hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

See Esteem

Primitive Root: גַבָּט/nä-vät': to scan, look intently at

## וֹבַט |nä-vät' (v.) to look; to behold, regard, see, respect

See Look

#### REIGN

Primitive Root: מֵלָן /mä-läḥ': to reign

## מלף mä-läḥ' (v.) to reign, rule; to be or become king; to make or constitute as king

- 7:6 Let us go up against Judah, and vex it, and let us make a breach therein for us, and **set** a king in the midst of it, yea, even the son of Tabeal;
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall **reign** in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 32:1 Behold, a King shall **reign** in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the sword; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son **reigned** in his stead.

52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!

#### REJOICE

Primitive Root: גִּיל gēl: to spin around

## gēl (v.) to turn oneself around; to leap (for joy), rejoice, exult; tremble, shake for fear

- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have waited for him, and he will save us; this is the Lord; we have waited for him, we will be **glad** and rejoice in his salvation.
- 29:19 The meek also shall increase their joy in the LORD, and the poor among men shall rejoice in the Holy One of Israel.
- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and **rejoice** even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt **rejoice** in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be **joyful** in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.
- 65:19 And I will **rejoice** in Jerusalem, and joy in my people; and the voice of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the voice of crying.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;

## גילָה ˈgē-lä' (n.) exultation, rejoicing

See Joy

Primitive Root: עָלַא'ä-läz': to jump for joy

## עָלַזי |ä-läz' (v.) to exalt, rejoice

23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more **rejoice**, O thou oppressed virgin, daughter of Zidon; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.

#### עלָז |ä-lāz' (adj.) exulting, rejoicing

5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged herself, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that **rejoiceth**, shall descend into it.

## אַלִּייז |al-lez (adj.) exulting, joyful; exulting, insolent; noisy, proud

See Joy

Primitive Root: רֵען/rä-nän': to creak

## וְרַבֶּן rä-nän' (v.) to emit tremulous sound; to cry aloud, shout for joy, rejoice; to lament; to sing praise

See Sing

Primitive Root: שׁוּשׁ/süs: to be bright

## שושי |süs (v.) to leap, rejoice, exult, be glad

- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be **glad** for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 61:10 I will **greatly rejoice** in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 62:5 For as a young man marrieth a virgin, so shall thy God marry thee; and as the bridegroom **rejoiceth** over the bride, so shall thy God rejoice over thee.

- 64:5 Thou meetest him that worketh righteousness, and **rejoiceth** him that remembereth thee in thy ways; in righteousness there is continuance, and such shall be saved.
- 65:18 But be ye glad and rejoice forever in that which I create; for, behold, I create Jerusalem a rejoicing, and her people a joy.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in Jerusalem, and joy in my people; and the voice of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the voice of crying.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall **rejoice**, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.

## שְשׁוּן sä-sōn' (n.) joy, gladness

See Jo

Primitive Root: שָּׁמַח/sä-mäḥ': possibly meaning to brighten up

## אַמח sä-mäḥ' (v.) to be glad, be cheerful, be joyful or merry, rejoice; to gladden, cheer

- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the **joy**; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the spoil.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 14:8 Yea, the fir trees rejoice at thee, and also the cedars of Lebanon, saying, Since thou art laid down, no feller is come up against us.
- 14:29 **Rejoice** not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have waited for him, and he will save us; this is the Lord; we have waited for him, we will be glad and **rejoice** in his salvation.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was **glad** of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and **make** them **joyful** in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall **rejoice**, but ye shall be ashamed.
- 66:10 Rejoice ye with Jerusalem, and be glad with her, all ye that love her; rejoice for joy with her, all ye that mourn for her;

#### RELIEVE

Primitive Root: אַשִּׁר/ä-shär': to be straight

אַשׁר (v.) to be straight, be right; to guide, lead straight, direct rightly; (part.) leader

See Lead

#### REMAIN

Primitive Root: יַשְׁב'/yä-shäv': to sit down

ישׁב |yä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

See Sit

Primitive Root: יְתֵר/yä-thär': to jut over or exceed

יָתִּר' yä-thär' (v.) to be left, to let remain; to excel, be superior; to spare, leave

See Leave/Left

Primitive Root: עמד/ä-mäd': to stand

ä-mäd' (v.) to stand, wait, serve on; to place oneself; to stand still, cease, stop; to stand up, arise

See Stand

#### REMNANT

Primitive Root: שָׁאַר/shä-är': to swell up

## שְאַר shä-är' (v.) to be left, to remain; to be left over; to survive

See Leave/Left

#### שׁאֵר |sh<sup>ε</sup>-är' (n.) rest, residue, remnant, remainder

- 10:19 And the **rest** of the trees of his forest shall be few, that a child may write them.
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the **remnant** of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 10:21 The **remnant** shall return, yea even the **remnant** of Jacob, unto the mighty God.
- 10:22 For though thy people Israel be as the sand of the sea, yet a **remnant** of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall overflow with righteousness.
- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the **remnant** of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:16 And there shall be a highway for the **remnant** of his people, which shall be left from Assyria; like as it was to Israel in the day that he came up out of the land of Egypt.
- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the **remnant** of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 14:22 For I will rise up against them, saith the Lord of hosts, and cut off from Babylon the name, and **remnant**, and son, and nephew, saith the Lord.
- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within three years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the **remnant** shall be very small and feeble.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the **remnant** of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 21:17 And the **residue** of the number of archers, the mighty men of the children of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 28:5 In that day shall the Lord of hosts be for a crown of glory, and for a diadem of beauty unto the residue of his people,

#### שְׁאַרִית sh--ā-rēth' (n.) remaining part, remainder, remnant, residue survivors

- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy **remnant**.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the **remnant** of the land.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the **remnant** that is left
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a **remnant**; and they that escape out of Jerusalem shall come up upon mount Zion; the zeal of the Lord of hosts shall do this.
- 44:17 And the **residue** thereof he maketh a god, even his graven image; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my god.
- 46:3 Hearken unto me, O house of Jacob, and all the **remnant** of the house of Israel, which are borne by me from the belly, which are carried from the womb;

Primitive Root: שַׂרָד/sä-räd': to puncture

#### שַׁרִיד |sä-rēd' (n.) survivor, one escaped, fugitive, remnant

1:9 Except the Lord of hosts had left unto us a very small **remnant**, we should have been as Sodom, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.

#### REMOVE

Primitive Root: גָּלָה /gä-lä': to denude

## אָלָה' [gä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

Primitive Root: אָבַן/kä-näf': to project laterally

## אַבַּנְף kä-näf' (v.) to cover over oneself, to hide oneself away

30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be **removed into a corner** anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy teachers;

Primitive Root: מוֹט mōt: to waver

## מוֹט|mot (v.) to totter, waver, quake, shake; to tremble, stuble, fall

See Move

Primitive Root: מוֹשׁ/müsh: to withdraw

## mush (v.) to yield, give way, depart; to remove, take away

- 22:25 In that day saith the Lord of hosts, shall the nail that is fastened in the sure place be **removed**, and be cut down, and fall; and the burden that was upon it shall be cut off; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not **remove**; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 54:10 For the mountains shall **depart**, and the hills be removed; but my kindness shall not **depart** from thee, neither shall the covenant of my people be removed, saith the Lord that hath mercy on thee.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy mouth, shall not **depart** out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy seed, nor out of the mouth of thy seed's seed, saith the Lord, from henceforth and forever.

Primitive Root: אָרָד /nä-däd': to wave to and fro

## יבָּדְי |nä-däd' (v.) to move about; to flap wings; to wander; to flee (away), escape, fly away; to be cast out

See Flee

Primitive Root: נוּד /nüd: to nod

## רוֹשׁן (v.) to move to and fro, shake; to wander, flee; to pity, commiserate, comfort; to lament, deplore

- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be **removed** like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not rise again.
- 51:19 These two sons are come unto thee; they shall be **sorry** for thee, thy desolation, and destruction, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I comfort thee?

Primitive Root: נַסַע/nä-sä': to pull up

# וְלְסַע |nä-sä' (v.) to pull up, pluck out; to tear out, remove camp, break up (tent); to remove, depart, migrate

See Depart

Primitive Root: סור sür: to turn off

אוין sür (v.) to turn aside, go away, depart, apostatize; to forsake, to pass away, cease; to take away

See Take Away

Primitive Root: רחק/rä-häk': to widen

## רְּמָק |rä-ḥäk' (v.) to be far, be distant, be remote; to remove far away, move far off

See Far

Primitive Root: רַעִשׁ/rä-äsh': to undulate

## רֵעֵשׁ rä-äsh' (v.) to tremble, quake, wave; to be agitated; to be moved or shaken

See Shake

## RENDER

Primitive Root: שׁוּב shüv: to turn back or away

אוב shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵם/shä-läm': to be safe

אָלֵם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

#### REPAIR

Primitive Root: אַדַר/gä-där': to wall in or around

## מָדָל |gä-där' (v.) to enclose, wall up, hedge in; (part.) mason

58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The **repairer** of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.

Primitive Root: חֲדֵשׁ/ḥä-däsh': to be new

## חַדָּשׁ | ḥä-däsh' (v.) to renew, restore

61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall **repair** the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.

#### REPAY

Primitive Root: שָׁלֶם/shä-läm': to be safe

אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

## REPLENISH

Primitive Root: מָלַא/mä-lā': to fill or be full of

מַלַא |mä-lä' (v.) to be or become full; to overflow, be filled; to fill; to be completed; to fulfil, satisfy

See Fill

## REPROACH

Primitive Root: ዓ፲ᢩ৯/gä-däf': to hack (with words)

## ๆ ารุง ged-düf' (n.) reproaches

43:28 Therefore I have profaned the princes of the sanctuary, and have given Jacob to the curse, and Israel to reproaches.

51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their **revilings**.

Primary Root: חָרֶף/ḥä-räf': to pull off

#### ַחְלֵּחְ (v.) to winter; to scorn, reproach, insult

- 18:6 They shall be left together unto the fowls of the mountains, and to the beasts of the earth; and the fowls shall summer upon them, and all the beasts of the earth shall **winter** upon them.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to **reproach** the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.

- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to **reproach** the living God.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou **reproached** and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy voice, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 37:24 By thy servants hast thou **reproached** the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and **blasphemed** me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former work into their bosom.

## הַרְפַּה |her-pä' (n.) reproach, scorn, contempt; something despised; pedunda

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our **reproach**.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the **rebuke** of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 30:5 They were all ashamed of a people that could not profit them, nor be a help nor profit, but a shame, and also a reproach.
- 47:3 Thy nakedness shall be uncovered, yea, thy **shame** shall be seen; I will take vengeance, and I will not meet thee as a man.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the **reproach** of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be ashamed; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be put to shame; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the **reproach** of thy widowhood anymore.

#### REPROVE

Primitive Root: אָלֵכָּח/yä-ḥäḥ': to be right

## מבין yä-häh' (v.) to argue, dispute; to correct, reprove, chide; to show, prove, arbitrate

- 1:18 Come now, and let us **reason together**, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall **rebuke** many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 11:3 And shall make him of quick understanding in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither **reprove** after the hearing of his ears;
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and **reprove** with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 29:21 That make a man an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that **reproveth** in the gate, and turn aside the just for a thing of nought.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath sent to reproach the living God, and will **reprove** the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.

## REQUIRE

Primitive Root: בָּקשׁ/bä-käsh': to search out, with particular emphasis of worship or prayer

## בָּקשׁ|bä-käsh' (v.) to seek for, search for, investigate; to require, demand; to ask, inquire

See Seek

## RESIDUE

Primitive Root: יְתַר/yä-thär': to jut over or exceed

## ye'-ther (n.) cord, rope, thread; remainder, rest, residue, remnant; abundance, preference

- 38:10 I said in the cutting off of my days, I shall go to the gates of the grave; I am deprived of the residue of my years.
- 56:12 Come ye, say they, I will fetch wine, and we will fill ourselves with strong drink; and tomorrow shall be as this day, and **much more** abundant.
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the **residue** thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?

Primitive Root: שָׁאַר/shä-är': to swell up

## שְׁאֵר |sh<sup>ε</sup>-är' (n.) rest, residue, remnant, remainder

See Remnant

## שַׁאַרִית sh--ā-rēth' (n.) remaining part, remainder, remnant, residue survivors

See Remnant

#### RESPECT

Primitive Root: רַאַה'/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָה' rä-ä' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

#### REST

Primitive Root: דְּמֵה /dä-mä': to be dumb or silent

## לְּמִי (n.) quiet, rest, stillness

38:10 I said in the cutting off of my days, I shall go to the gates of the grave; I am deprived of the residue of my years.

62:6 I have set watchmen upon thy walls, O Jerusalem, which shall never hold their peace day nor night; ye that make mention of the Lord, keep not silence,

62:7 And give him no rest, till he establish, and till he make Jerusalem a praise in the earth.

Primitive Root: เกม กน '-äḥ: to rest

## וּנוּמַ /nü'-äḥ (v.) to rest, settle down, lie down; to reside, dwell; to be silent; to permit

- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is **confederate** with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 7:19 And they shall come, and shall **rest** all of them in the desolate valleys, and in the holes of the rocks, and upon all thorns, and upon all bushes.
- 11:2 And the Spirit of the Lord shall **rest** upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord;
- 14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and **set** them in their own land; and the strangers shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.
- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee **rest** from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the hard bondage wherein thou wast made to serve.
- 14:7 The whole earth is at **rest**, and is quiet; they break forth into singing.
- 23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more rejoice, O thou oppressed virgin, daughter of Zidon; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no **rest**.
- 25:10 For in this mountain shall the hand of the Lord **rest**, and Moab shall be trodden down under him, even as straw is trodden down for the dunghill.
- 28:12 To whom he said, This is the rest wherewith ye may cause the weary to rest; and this is the refreshing; yet they would not hear.
- 30:32 And in every place where the grounded staff shall pass, which the Lord shall **lay** upon him, it shall be with tabrets and harps; and in battles of shaking will he fight with it.
- 57:2 He shall enter into peace; they shall **rest** in their beds, each one walking in his uprightness.
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to **rest**; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.

#### mä-nō-aḥ' (n.) rest, repose, resting place; settlement

See Place

#### מנוסה |m<sup>e</sup>-nü-hä' (n.) rest, repose, condition of rest, peace, ease; habitation, place of rest

- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the people; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his **rest** shall be glorious.
- 28:12 To whom he said, This is the **rest** wherewith ye may cause the weary to **rest**; and this is the refreshing; yet they would not hear.

- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my **rest**?

Primitive Root: גַחַת/nä-ḥäth': to sink

## וְנַחָּת nä-ḥäth (n.) descending, a letting down; rest repose, ease

- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and **rest** shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the **lighting down** of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.

Primitive Root: רְבַּץ/rä-väts': to crouch (on all four legs folded)

## רבץ rä-väts' (v.) to lie down, lie with; to recline, repose, rest; to make to lie down (flock), to lay stones

See Lay/Lie

Primitive Root: רֵגע/rä-gä': to toss violently and suddenly

## רגע |rä-gä' (v.) to rest; to tremble; to be afraid, be terrified; to shrink in fear

- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the satyr shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall **rest** there, and find for herself a place of rest.
- 51:4 Hearken unto me, my people; and give ear unto me, O my nation; for a law shall proceed from me, and I will make my judgment to **rest** for a light of the people.
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.

Primitive Root: שָׁקָט/shä-kät': to repose

## אָקט shä-kät' (v.) to rest, lie down, li quiet; to be undisturbed, be unmolested, be inactive; to give rest, calm; to keep quiet

See Quiet

#### RESTORE

Primitive Root: שוב/shüv: to turn back or away

#### אוש shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵם/shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלַם shä-läm' (v) to be whole, be uninjured, be safe; to complete, finish; to recompense, reward; to be peaceful, be friendly

See Recompense

## RESTRAIN

Primitive Root: אָפַק'ä-fäk': to contain

## |ä-fäk' (v.) to hold oneself fast, restrain from giving away; to control oneself, refrain

See Refrain

## RETURN

Primitive Root: שׁוּב/shüv: to turn back or away

## shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

- 1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;
- 1:26 And I will **restore** thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 1:27 Zion shall be redeemed with judgment, and her converts with righteousness.

- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not **turned away**, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and **convert**, and be healed.
- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall **return**, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not **turned away**, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:13 For the people turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not **turned away**, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:21 Manasseh, Ephraim; and Ephraim, Manasseh; and they together shall be against Judah. For all this his anger is not **turned away**, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not **turned** away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 10:21 The remnant shall return, yea even the remnant of Jacob, unto the mighty God.
- 10:22 For though thy people Israel be as the sand of the sea, yet a remnant of them shall **return**; the consumption decreed shall overflow with righteousness.
- 12:1 And in that day thou shalt say, O Lord, I will praise thee; though thou wast angry with me, thine anger is **turned away**, and thou comfortedst me.
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 19:22 And the Lord shall smite Egypt; he shall smite and heal it; and they shall **return** even to the Lord, and he shall be entreated of them, and shall heal them.
- 21:12 The watchman said, The morning cometh, and also the night; if ye will inquire, inquire ye; return, come.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shall **turn** to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 29:17 Is it not yet a very little while, and Lebanon shall be **turned** into a fruitful field, and the fruitful field shall be esteemed as a forest?
- 31:6 Turn ye unto him from whom the children of Israel have deeply revolted.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall **return**, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou **turn away** the face of one captain of the least of my master's servants, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a blast upon him, and he shall hear a rumor, and **return** to his own land; and I will cause him to fall by the sword in his own land.
- 37:8 So Rabshakeh **returned**, and found the king of Assyria warring against Libnah; for he had heard that he was departed from Lachish.
- 37:29 Because thy rage against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will **turn** thee **back** by the way by which thou camest.
- 37:34 By the way that he came, by the same shall he return, and shall not come into this city, saith the Lord.
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.
- 38:8 Behold, I will **bring again** the shadow of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of Ahaz, ten degrees backward. So the sun **returned** ten degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.
- 41:28 For I beheld, and there was no man; even among men, and there was no counselor, that, when I asked of them, could **answer** a word.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, **Restore**.
- 43:13 Yea, before the day was I am he; and there is none that can deliver out of my hand; I will work, and who shall let it?
- 44:19 And none **considereth** in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.
- 44:25 That frustrateth the tokens of the liars, and maketh diviners mad; that **turneth** wise men backward, and maketh their knowledge foolish;

- 45:23 I have sworn by myself, the word is gone out of my mouth in righteousness, and shall not **return**, That unto me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall swear.
- 46:8 Remember this, and show yourselves men; bring it again to mind, O ye transgressors.
- 47:10 For thou hast trusted in thy wickedness; thou hast said, None seeth me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath **perverted** thee; and thou hast said in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to **bring** Jacob **again** to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to **restore** the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall **return**, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him **return** unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and **returneth** not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 55:11 So shall my word be that goeth forth out of my mouth; it shall not **return** unto me void, but it shall accomplish that which I please, and it shall prosper in the thing whereto I sent it.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The **restorer** of paths to dwell in.
- 58:13 If thou **turn away** thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words;
- 59:20 And the Redeemer shall come to Zion, and unto them that turn from transgression in Jacob, saith the Lord.
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? **Return** for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a whirlwind, to **render** his anger with fury, and his rebuke with flames of fire.

#### שובה shü-vä (n.) return; converstion

30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of Israel; In **returning** and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.

#### REVEAL

Primitive Root: גָּלָה/gä-lä': to denude

## אֵלָה ˈgä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

- 5:13 Therefore my people are gone into **captivity**, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable men are famished, and their multitude dried up with thirst.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; make thy shadow as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; **bewray** not him that wandereth.
- 22:8 And he discovered the covering of Judah, and thou didst look in that day to the armor of the house of the forest.
- 22:14 And it was **revealed** in mine ears by the Lord of hosts, Surely this iniquity shall not be purged from you till ye die, saith the Lord God of hosts.
- 23:1 The burden of Tyre. Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is **revealed** to them.
- 24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is **gone**.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall **disclose** her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is **removed** from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be **revealed**, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 47:2 Take the millstones, and grind meal; uncover thy locks, make bare the leg, uncover the thigh, pass over the rivers.
- 47:3 Thy nakedness shall be uncovered, yea, thy shame shall be seen; I will take vengeance, and I will not meet thee as a man.
- 49:9 That thou mayest say to the prisoners, Go forth; to them that are in darkness, **Show** yourselves. They shall feed in the ways, and their pastures shall be in all high places.

- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am desolate, a **captive**, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?
- 53:1 Who hath believed our report? and to whom is the arm of the Lord revealed?
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 57:8 Behind the doors also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast **discovered** thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou sawest it.

## REVENUE

Primitive Root: בּוֹא bō: to go or come

## תבואָה|t<sup>ε</sup>-vü'-ä (n.) produce; gain, profit; fruit, result

See Increase

#### REVILINGS

Primitive Root: אַדַא/gä-däf': to hack (with words)

## างาง ged-düf' (n.) reproaches

See Reproach

#### REVIVE

Primitive Root: חֵיֵה/hä-yä': to live

## ְּחֵלֵה (v.) to live, exist; to live anew, revive; to recover health, be healed

See Live

#### REVOLT

Primitive Root: סוּר/sür: to turn off

## קרָה sä-rä' (n.) violation, offense, turning away, apostasy; cessation, remission

- 1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 31:6 Turn ye unto him from whom the children of Israel have deeply revolted.
- 59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and **revolt**, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.

## REWARD

Primitive Root: אָמַל/gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

## gä-mäl' (v.) to do, perform, accomplish; to repay; to wean; to ripen

- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have **rewarded** evil unto themselves.
- 11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is **ripening** in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and take away and cut down the branches.
- 28:9 Whom shall he teach knowledge? and whom shall he make to understand doctrine? them that are **weaned** from the milk, and drawn from the breasts.
- 63:7 I will mention the loving kindnesses of the Lord, and the praises of the Lord, according to all that the Lord hath **bestowed** on us, and the great goodness toward the house of Israel, which he hath **bestowed** on them according to his mercies, and according to the multitude of his loving-kindnesses.

#### $|g^{\varepsilon}$ -mül' (n.) action, work, deed, benefit; recompense, retribution

See Recompense

Primitive Root: שֶׁחֵד/shä-ḥäd': to donate

## שׁחַד |shō'-ḥäd (n.) present, gift; bribe

See Gift

Primitive Root: שֶׁכֵר/sä-ḥär': to hire

## שְׁבָּר sä-ḥär' (n.) wages, reward, payment, hire, fare

- 40:10 Behold, the Lord God will come with strong hand, and his arm shall rule for him; behold, his **reward** is with him, and his work before him.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his **reward** is with him, and his work before him.

Primitive Root: שָׁלַם /shä-läm': to be safe

## שַׁלְמנִים shäl-mō-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) gifts, bribes

1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after **rewards**; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the widow come unto them.

#### **RICH**

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

## יַּלְּלְּאֹ (n.) strength, power, might, valor; ability, wealth, riches; forces, host, army

- 5:22 Who unto the mighty to drink wine, and men of **strength** to mingle strong drink;
- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the **riches** of Damascus and the spoil of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the **riches** of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their **riches** upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the **army** and the power; they shall lie down together, they shall not rise; they are extinct, they are quenched as tow.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the **forces** of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.
- 60:11 Therefore thy gates shall be open continually; they shall not be shut day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the **forces** of the Gentiles, and that their kings maybe brought.
- 61:6 But ye shall be named the Priests of the Lord; men shall call you the Ministers of our God; ye shall eat the **riches** of the Gentiles, and in their glory shall ye boast yourselves.

Primitive Root: טמן/tä-män': to hide

## $|m\ddot{a}-t^\epsilon-m\bar{o}n'|$ (n.) underground storehouse, hidden place; treasure, hidden treasure, hidden store

See Hide

Primitive Root: עָשִׁר/ä-shär': to accumulate

## אָשִייר a-shēr' (adj.) rich, wealthy; honorable, noble; distinguished; haughty, impious, proud

53:9 And he made his grave with the wicked, and with the **rich** in his death; because he had done no violence, neither was any deceit in his mouth.

## RIGHT

Primitive Root: יָמֵץ/yä-män': to be right (physically)

#### אַמֵּן ä-män' (v.) to turn to the right

30:21 And thine ears shall hear a word behind thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.

## יַמִּינן yä-mēn' (n.) right hand, right side; south, southern part; prosperity

- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the **right hand**, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be satisfied; they shall eat every man the flesh of his own arm;
- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy God; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the **right hand** of my righteousness.
- 41:13 For I the Lord thy God will hold thy right hand, saying unto thee, Fear not; I will help thee.
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived heart hath turned him aside, that he cannot deliver his soul, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose **right hand** I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;
- 48:13 Mine hand also hath laid the foundation of the earth, and my **right hand** hath spanned the heavens; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the **right hand** and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his **right hand**, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 63:12 That led them by the **right hand** of Moses with his glorious arm, dividing the water before them, to make himself an everlasting name?

Primitive Word: תוֹנכת/nā-häh': from an unused root meaning to be straightforward

## וְבֹלַחָּה or יְּחַלְּכֹּחָה /lnä-ḥō-ḥā' (adj.) straight, lying ahead; right, righteous, upright, just

See Upright

Primitive Root: שַׁבַּט/shä-fat': to judge

## שְׁבַּט shä-fät' (v.) to judge, decide, condemn, vindicate, punish; to defend; to rule, govern; (part.) judge

See Judgment

#### RIGHTEOUS(NESS)

Primitive Root: צַרָק/tsä-däk': to be or make right

#### tse'-dek (n.) straightness, justice, justness, right, rectitude, honesty; liberation, welfare, felicity

- 1:21 How is the faithful city become a harlot! it was full of judgment; righteousness lodged in it; but now murderers.
- 1:26 And I will restore thy judges as at the first, and thy counselors as at the beginning; afterward thou shalt be called, The city of righteousness the faithful city.
- 11:4 But with **righteousness** shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 11:5 And righteousness shall be the girdle of his loins, and faithfulness the girdle of his reins.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting **righteousness**.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn **righteousness**.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn **righteousness**; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 32:1 Behold, a King shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.
- 41:2 Who raised up the **righteous** man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy God; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my **righteousness**.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in **righteousness**, and will hold thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 42:22 [42:21] The Lord is not well pleased with such a people, but for his **righteousness**' sake he will magnify the law and make it honorable.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down **righteousness**; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.

- 45:13 I have raised him up in **righteousness**, and I will direct all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak **righteousness**, I declare things that are right.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after **righteousness**; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.
- 51:5 My **righteousness** is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 51:7 Hearken unto me, ye that know **righteousness**, the people in whose heart I have written my law; fear ye not the reproach of men, neither be ye afraid of their revilings.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and forsook not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of **justice**; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy **righteousness** shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rearward.
- 59:4 None calleth for **justice**, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of **righteousness**, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the **righteousness** thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall see thy **righteousness**, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.
- 64:5 Thou meetest him that worketh **righteousness**, and rejoiceth him that remembereth thee in thy ways; in righteousness there is continuance, and such shall be saved.

## אַדָּקָּה'ts²-dä-kä' (n.) rectitude, right; justice, faithfulness, mildness; righteousness, virtue, piety, mercy

- 1:27 Zion shall be redeemed with judgment, and her converts with righteousness.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for **righteousness**, but behold a cry.
- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in **righteousness**.
- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the throne of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 10:22 For though thy people Israel be as the sand of the sea, yet a remnant of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall overflow with **righteousness**.
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and **righteousness** to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 33:15 He that walketh **righteously**, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let **righteousness** spring up together; I the Lord have created it.
- 45:23 I have sworn by myself, the word is gone out of my mouth in **righteousness**, and shall not return, That unto me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall swear.
- 45:24 Surely shall one say, In the Lord have I **righteousness** and strength; even to him shall men come; and all that are incensed against him shall be ashamed.
- 46:12 Hearken unto me, ye stouthearted, that are far from righteousness;
- 46:13 I bring near my **righteousness**; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in Zion for Israel my glory.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in **righteousness**.
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy **righteousness** as the waves of the sea;

- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the worm shall eat them like wool; but my **righteousness** shall be forever, and my salvation from generation to generation.
- 54:14 In **righteousness** shalt thou be established; thou shalt be far from oppression; for thou shalt not fear; and from terror; for it shall not come near thee.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord, and their **righteousness** is of me, saith the Lord.
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 57:12 I will declare thy **righteousness**, and thy works; for they shall not profit thee.
- 58:2 Yet they seek me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did **righteousness**, and forsook not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth **justice** overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his **righteousness**, it sustained him.
- 59:17 For he put on **righteousness** as a breastplate, and a helmet of salvation upon his head; and he put on the garments of vengeance for clothing, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors **righteousness**.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of **righteousness**, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause **righteousness** and praise to spring forth before all the nations.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in **righteousness**, mighty to save.
- 64:6 But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our **righteousnesses** are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.

#### נדיקים tsäd-dē-kēm' (adj.) (pl. only) just, righteous, honest right

- 3:10 Say unto the righteous, that it is well with them; for they shall eat the fruit of their doings.
- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we heard songs, even glory to the **righteous**. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.
- 26:2 Open ye the gates, that the **righteous** nation which keepeth the truth may enter in.
- 26:7 The way of the **just** is uprightness; thou, most upright, dost weigh the path of the **just**.
- 29:21 That make a man an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the gate, and turn aside the **just** for a thing of nought.
- 41:26 Who hath declared from the beginning, that we may know; and beforetime, that we may say, He is **righteous**? yea, there is none that showeth, yea, there is none that heareth your words.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a **just** God, and a Savior; there is none beside me.
- 49:24 Shall the prey be taken from the mighty, or the lawful captive delivered?
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my **righteous** servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 57:1 The **righteous** perisheth, and no man layeth it to heart; and merciful men are taken away, none considering that the **righteous** is taken away from the evil to come.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all **righteous**; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my planting, the work of my hands, that I may be glorified.

#### RIPE

Primitive Root: אָמֵל/gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

## gä-mäl' (v.) to do, perform, accomplish; to repay; to wean; to ripen

See Reward

## RISE (UP)

Primitive Root: וְלֵבֹת zä-räh': to irradiate

## מָרָת zä-räḥ' (v.) to rise (as in the sun); to flash up, shine forth; to break out, bloom

- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy light **rise** in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the Lord is risen upon thee.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.

Primitive Root: עוֹר: to wake

## ייי (v.) to awake, wake, be astir; to rouse, stir up; to raise up; to stir up, arouse

See Awake

Primitive Root: עַרר/ä-rär': to bare

## ערר (v.) to be naked, make bare; to be helpless; to lay bare, demolish

- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they **raised up** the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 32:11 Tremble, ye women that are at ease; be troubled, ye careless ones; strip you, and make you bare, and gird sackcloth upon your loins.

Primitive Root: קום:küm: to rise

#### אָלם küm (v.) to arise, stand up, appear, rise against; to exist, subsist, endure; to erect, raise up

- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the rocks, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he **ariseth** to shake terribly the earth.
- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the rocks, and into the tops of the ragged rocks, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he **ariseth** to shake terribly the earth.
- 7:7 Thus saith the Lord God, It shall not **stand**, neither shall it come to pass.
- 8:10 Take counsel together, and it shall come to naught; speak the word, and it shall not stand; for God is with us.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath **raised up** from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not **rise**, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 14:22 For I will **rise up** against them, saith the Lord of hosts, and cut off from Babylon the name, and remnant, and son, and nephew, saith the Lord.
- 14:24 The Lord of hosts hath sworn, saying, Surely as I have thought, so shall it come to pass; and as I have purposed, so shall it stand:
- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more rejoice, O thou oppressed virgin, daughter of Zidon; **arise**, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to ruin.
- 24:20 The earth shall reel to and fro like a drunkard, and shall be removed like a cottage; and the transgression thereof shall be heavy upon it; and it shall fall, and not **rise** again.
- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not **rise**; therefore hast thou visited and destroyed them, and made all their memory to perish.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they **arise**. Awake and sing, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.

- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not **stand up**.
- 28:18 And your covenant with death shall be disannulled, and your agreement with hell shall not **stand**; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall **rise up** as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 29:3 And I will camp against thee round about, and will lay siege against thee with a mount, and I will raise forts against thee.
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not call back his words; but will **arise** against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that work iniquity,
- 32:8 But the liberal deviseth liberal things; and by liberal things shall he stand.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 33:10 Now will I rise, saith the Lord; now will I be exalted; now will I lift up myself.
- 40:8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our God shall **stand** forever.
- 43:17 Which bringeth forth the chariot and horse, the army and the power; they shall lie down together, they shall not **rise**; they are extinct, they are quenched as tow.
- 44:26 That **confirmeth** the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will **raise up** the decayed places thereof;
- 46:10 Declaring the end from the beginning, and from ancient times the things that are not yet done, saying, My counsel shall **stand**, and I will do all my pleasure;
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to **raise up** the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and **arise**, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to **establish** the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 51:17 Awake, awake, stand up, O Jerusalem, which hast drunk at the hand of the Lord the cup of his fury; thou hast drunken the dregs of the cup of trembling, and wrung them out.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; **arise**, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall **rise** against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt **raise up** the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.
- 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the Lord is risen upon thee.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall **raise up** the former desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.

Primitive Root: אָחַר/shä-här': to dawn

## שׁחֵר (n.) dawn, daybreak, early light; son of the dawn, the morning star

See Light

Primitive Root: שַׁכֵּם/shä-ḥäm': to incline

## אַבַם shä-ḥäm' (v.) to rise early in the morning; to do urgently, do earnestly

- 5:11 Woe unto them that **rise up early** in the morning, that they may follow strong drink, and that continue until night, and wine inflame them!
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left **arose**, **early** in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.

#### RIVER

Primitive Root: אָר'/yɛ-ōr': of Egyptian origin

#### יאֹר (n.) river, channel; Nile, Tigris

- 7:18 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall hiss for the fly that is in the uttermost part of the rivers of Egypt, and for the bee that is in the land of Assyria.
- 19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.

- 19:7 The paper reeds by the **brooks**, by the mouth of the **brooks**, and everything sown by the **brooks**, shall wither, be driven away, and be no more.
- 19:8 The fishers also shall mourn, and all they that cast angle into the **brooks** shall lament, and they that spread nets upon the waters shall languish.
- 23:3 And by great waters the seed of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.
- 23:10 Pass through thy land as a river, O daughter of Tarshish; there is no more strength in thee.
- 33:21 But there the glorious Lord will be unto us a place of broad rivers and **streams**; wherein shall go no galley with oars, neither shall gallant ship pass thereby.
- 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.

Primitive Root: מָהַר/nä-här': to sparkle

## וְמַהֹר nä-här' (n.) stream, river, current; Euphrates, Nile

- 7:20 In the same day shall the Lord shave with a razor that is hired, namely, by them beyond the **river**, by the king of Assyria, the head, and the hair of the feet; and it shall also consume the beard.
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the **river**, strong and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the **river**, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 18:1 Woe to the land shadowing with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the **rivers** have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the **river** unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 33:21 But there the glorious Lord will be unto us a place of broad **rivers** and streams; wherein shall go no galley with oars, neither shall gallant ship pass thereby.
- 41:18 I will open **rivers** in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the **rivers**, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.
- 43:19 Behold, I will do a new thing; now it shall spring forth; shall ye not know it? I will even make a way in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and **rivers** in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 44:27 That saith to the deep, Be dry, and I will dry up thy rivers;
- 47:2 Take the millstones, and grind meal; uncover thy locks, make bare the leg, uncover the thigh, pass over the rivers.
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a **river**, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea;
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their **rivers** a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a **flood**, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a **river**, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

Primitive Root: פָּלַג/pä-läg': to split

## pe'-lɛg (n.) stream, river, brook

30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, **rivers** and streams of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.

32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as **rivers** of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.

#### Roar

Primitive Root: הֵגָה/hä-gä': to murmur

## הְגָּה |hä-gä' (v.) to murmur, mutter, growl; to sigh, moan; to speak, utter; to meditate, muse

See Mourn

Primitive Root: הָּמָה/hä-mä': to make a loud sound, like a hum

## תְּמַה |hä-mä' (v.) to hum (like bees); to sound (noise of an animal); to be agitated, noisy

See Sound

Primitive Root: נַהַם/nä-häm': to growl

## וְהַם nä-häm' (v.) to grow, gnarl; to roar

- 5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.
- 5:30 And in that day they shall **roar** against them like the roaring of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.

## וְנְהַמֵּה |n<sup>ε</sup>-hä-mä' (n.) roaring, growling

5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the **roaring** of the sea; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.

Primitive Root: צָרַרוֹ/tsä-räḥ': to be clear (in tone)

## אַרַח (v.) to cry, shriek; to shout, raise a war cry

42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, **roar**; he shall prevail against his enemies.

Primitive Root: שָׁאַגֹּן/shä-äg': to rumble or moan

## שַׁאַג shä-äg' (v.) to roar, groan

5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.

#### שאגה sh<sup>ε</sup>-ä-gä' (n.) roaring, groaning

5:28 [5:28-29] Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their **roaring** shall be like a lion.

#### Rов

Primitive Root: זְבַּן/bä-zäz': to plunder

## לבָּיִן bä-zäz' (v.) to spoil, plunder, rob; to get as booty

- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may **rob** the fatherless!
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall **spoil** them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 17:14 And behold at eveningtide trouble; and before the morning he is not. This is the portion of them that spoil us, and the lot of them that **rob** us.
- 24:3 The land shall be utterly emptied, and utterly spoiled; for the Lord hath spoken this word.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame **take** the prey.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people **robbed** and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the **robbers**? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?

Primitive Root: אַנֵל /gä-zäl': to pluck off

## gä-zāl' (n.) plunder, spoil; rapine, robbery

61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate **robbery** for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.

Primitive Root: שַׁׁׁקֶרה/shä-sä': to plunder

## שְׁלֵּה shä-sä' (v.) to plunder, rob, spoil

See Spoil

#### Rock

Primitive Word: קלֵע/sɛ-lä': from an unused root meaning to be lofty

## שֶׁלֵע |sɛ-lä' (n.) rock, cliff; Sela, chief city of Edom

- 2:21 To go into the clefts of the **rocks**, and into the tops of the **ragged rocks**, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the majesty of the Lord shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 7:19 And they shall come, and shall rest all of them in the desolate valleys, and in the holes of the **rocks**, and upon all thorns, and upon all bushes.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 22:16 What hast thou here, and whom hast thou here, that thou hast hewed thee out a sepulcher here, as he that heweth him out a sepulcher on high, and that graveth a habitation for himself in a **rock**?
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his **stronghold** for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in Zion, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great **rock** in a weary land.
- 33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the **rock** sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

Primitive Root: צוּר/tsür: to cramp

## tsür (n.) stone, pebble; rock, refuge, protection; edge, sharpness; form, shape

- 2:10 O ye wicked ones, enter into the rock, and hide ye in the dust; for the fear of the Lord and his majesty shall smite thee.
- 2:19 And they shall go into the holes of the **rocks**, and into the caves of the earth, for the fear of the Lord shall come upon them, and the glory of his majesty shall smite them, when he ariseth to shake terribly the earth.
- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a stone of stumbling and for a **rock** of offense to both the houses of Israel, for a gin and for a snare to the inhabitants of Jerusalem.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the **rock** of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the **Rock** of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 26:4 Trust ye in the Lord forever; for in the Lord JEHOVAH is everlasting strength.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the **Mighty One** of Israel.
- 44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no **God**; I know not any.
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he led them through the deserts; he caused the waters to flow out of the **rock** for them; he clave the **rock** also, and the waters gushed out.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that seek the Lord, look unto the **rock** from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.

#### Rod

Primitive Word: חֹטֵר/ḥō'-tɛr: from an unused root of uncertain signification

## חֹטֶר /ḥō'-tɛr (n.) branch, sucker, shoot, twig, rod

11:1 And there shall come forth a rod out of the stem of Jesse, and a Branch shall grow out of his roots;

Primitive Root: נֵטָה/nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

## מְטֶּה mät-tɛ' (n.) branch, twig; rod, staff, stick, scepter, spear; tribe stem

See Staf

Primitive Word: שֶׁבֵט |shā'-vɛt: from an unused root probably meaning to branch off

# שֶׁבֵּט shā'-vɛt (n.) staff, stick, rod, crook, thrashing-rod; scepter; tribe, stem; lance, spear

9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.

- 10:5 O Assyrian, the **rod** of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a **rod**, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the **rod** of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 14:5 The Lord hath broken the staff of the wicked and the **scepters** of the rulers.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the **rod** of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 19:13 The princes of Zoan are become fools, the princes of Noph are deceived; they have also seduced Egypt, even they that are the stay of the **tribes** thereof.
- 28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a threshing instrument, neither is a cartwheel turned about upon the cummin; but the fitches are beaten out with a staff, and the cummin with a **rod**.
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the **tribes** of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the **tribes** of thine inheritance.

#### ROE

Primitive Root: צַבָּה/tsä-vä': to amass

#### |tse-ve' (n.) splendor, glory, beauty, ornament; gazelle, antelope, roe(buck)

See Glory

#### ROLL

Primitive Root: אֵלֶה'/gä-lä': to denude

# גְּלֵינוֹ |gēl-lä-yōn' (n.) tablet, polished plate, mirror

- 3:23 The glasses, and the fine linen, and the hoods, and the veils.
- 8:1 Moreover the word of the Lord said unto me, Take thee a great **roll**, and write in it with a man's pen concerning Maher-shalal-hash-baz.

Primitive Root: אֵלֵל /gä-läl': to roll (literally or figuratively)

# וְגַּלְגַל (n.) wheel, waterwheel; whirlwind, whirling dust; straw, chaff, husk

See Wheel

## [gä-läl' (v.) to whirl, roll, turn, drive away; to be rolled together; to be rolled (in blood)

9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire.

34:4 And all the host of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be **rolled** together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the vine, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.

#### ROOT

Primitive Root: שַׁרֵשׁ /shä-räsh': to root

# שׁרַשׁ shä-räsh' (v.) to root out, eradicate, extirpate; to take root; to thrive

27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.

40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not **take root** in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.

# שֶׁרֶשׁ |she'-resh or שֹׁרֶשׁ |she'-resh (n.) root, basis, bottom, race, abode, origin; shoot, sprout; descendant

- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the flame consumeth the chaff, so their **root** shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 11:1 And there shall come forth a rod out of the stem of Jesse, and a Branch shall grow out of his roots;
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a **root** of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the people; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's **root** shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy **root** with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a **root** out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.

#### ROUGH

Primitive Root: קַשָּׁה/kä-shä': meaning to be dense

# קשָׁת kä-shɛʾ (adj.) hard, difficult, cruel, severe, unfeeling; firm, fast, hardened, inflexible

See Grieve

Primitive Root: רֲכַּסי/rä-käs': to tie

# רְּכַּסִים |rɛ-ḥä-sēm' (n.) (pl. only) rough or rugged places; mountain ridge (difficult to pass)

See Place

# Ruin

Primitive Root: בְּשֵׁל/kä-shäl': to totter or waver

# |kä-shäl' (v.) to totter, stumble, fail; to fall, faint; to become weak; to cause to fall, overthrow

See Stumble

### מְבְּשֶׁלָה mäḥ-shā-lä' (n.) ruin; incitement for sin, offense

3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our ruler, and let not this **ruin** come under thy hand;

Primitive Root: נְפַל/nä-fäl': to fall

# מַפְּלָה mä-pä-lä' (n.) fallen building, ruin, heap, rubble

- 17:1 The burden of Damascus. Behold, Damascus is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.
- 23:13 Behold the land of the Chaldeans; this people was not, till the Assyrian founded it for them that dwell in the wilderness; they set up the towers thereof, they raised up the palaces thereof; and he brought it to **ruin**.
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.

Primitive Root: נַצָּה/nä-tsä': to go forth

# וְצַאַה /nä-tsä' (v.) to flee; to be wasted, be destroyed; to quarrel, strive, contend

37:26 Hast thou not heard long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed cities into **ruinous** heaps.

### RULE

Primitive Root: מֲשֵׁל/mä-shäl': to rule

## mä-shäl' (v.) to rule, reign, govern; to rule over, manage; to give dominion

3:4 And I will give children unto them to be their princes, and babes shall rule over them.

- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their oppressors, and women **rule** over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 14:5 The Lord hath broken the staff of the wicked and the scepters of the rulers.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 19:4 And the Egyptians will I give over into the hand of a cruel lord; and a fierce king shall rule over them, saith the Lord, the Lord of hosts.
- 28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.
- 40:10 Behold, the Lord God will come with strong hand, and his arm shall **rule** for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of **rulers**, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 52:5 Now therefore, what have I here, saith the Lord, that my people is taken away for naught? they that **rule** over them make them to howl, saith the Lord; and my name continually every day is blasphemed.
- 63:19 We are thine; thou never barest rule over them; they were not called by thy name.

Primitive Root: קוָה/kä-vä': to bind together

#### אלן käv or אלן käv (n.) line, measuring, line; rope, cord, string; rule, norm, order

See Line

Primitive Root: קְצָה/kä-tsä': to cut off

# קצין |kä-tsēn' (n.) judge, magistrate; leader (military), commander, general; prince

- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 3:6 When a man shall take hold of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our **ruler**, and let not this ruin come under thy hand;
- 3:7 In that day shall he swear, saying, I will not be a healer; for in my house there is neither bread nor clothing; make me not a **ruler** of the people.
- 22:3 All thy **rulers** are fled together, they are bound by the archers; all that are found in thee are bound together, which have fled from far.

Primitive Word: רֹאשׁ |rōsh: from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

# רֹאשׁ|rōsh (n.) head; chief, highest, supreme, leader; point, top, summit; first foremost

See Head

Primitive Root: רָדָה/rä-dä': to tread down

# רָדָה" (v.) to tread down, subdue, rule over, oppress; to rule, sway; to take possession of

- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for servants and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall **rule** over their oppressors.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him **rule** over kings? He gave them as the dust to his sword, and as driven stubble to his bow.

Primitive Root: שַׁרֵר /sä-rär': to have dominion

# שרֵר |sä-rär' (v.) to be prince, hold dominion, rule, govern; to make oneself ruler

32:1 Behold, a King shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment.

### Rush

Primitive Word: אַגַם/ä-gäm': from an unused root meaning to bind

# אַגמון äg-mōn' (n.) rush, reed, bulrush

9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.

19:15 Neither shall there be any work for Egypt, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.

58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his head as a **bulrush**, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?

Primitive Root: אָמָא/gä-mä': to absorb

# אֹמֵא |gō'-mɛ (n.) marsh rush, papyrus plant, papyrus reed

- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of **bulrushes** upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and **rushes**.

Primitive Root: שַׁאַה'shä-ä': to rush

# שָׁאוֹן shä-ōn' (n.) noise, tumult, rush, roar; desolation, destruction, devastation

See Noise

# **WORD-LINKS "S"**

### Sabbath

Primitive Root: שַׁבַת /shä-väth': to repose

# שְׁבַּתֹ |shäb-bäth' (n.) Sabbath; week

- 1:13 Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and **sabbaths**, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the **sabbath** from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 56:4 For thus saith the Lord unto the eunuchs that keep my **sabbaths**, and choose the things that please me, and take hold of my covenant;
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the **sabbath** from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 58:13 If thou turn away thy foot from the **sabbath**, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the **sabbath** a delight, the holy of the Lord, honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words;
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one new moon to another, and from one **sabbath** to **another**, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the Lord.

## SACRIFICE

Primitive Root: וְבַּם /zä-väḥ': to slaughter an animal (usually by sacrifice)

# זבת zä-väḥ'(v.) to slaughter or kill animals; to sacrifice

- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.
- 65:3 A people that provoketh me to anger continually to my face; that **sacrificeth** in gardens, and burneth incense upon altars of brick:
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that **sacrificeth** a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

### זבר 'ze'-väḥ (n.) sacrifice, offering; slaying, flesh of a slain animal

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your **sacrifices** unto me? Saith the Lord; I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 19:21 And the Lord shall be known to Egypt, and the Egyptians shall know the Lord in that day, and shall do **sacrifice** and oblation; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the Lord, and perform it.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a **sacrifice** in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy **sacrifices**. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor wearied thee with incense.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy **sacrifices**; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 56:7 Even them will I bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices shall be accepted upon mine altar; for mine house shall be called a house of prayer for all people.
- 57:7 Upon a lofty and high mountain hast thou set thy bed; even thither wentest thou up to offer sacrifice.

Primitive Root: מָנֵג,/ḥä-gäg': to move in article, a sacred procession

# אָהְוֹאָם (n.) festival, feast; festival sacrifice, victim

- 29:1 Woe to Ariel, to Ariel, the city where David dwelt! Add ye year to year; let them kill sacrifices.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy **solemnity** is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.

### SAFE

Primitive Root: בְּטֵח/bä-täḥ': to hide for refuge

## בּטָח |bɛ'-täḥ (n.) confidence; security; (adv.) safety

- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in **safety**; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest **carelessly**, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;

Primitive Root: פַלט/pä-lät': to slip out

# pä-lät' (v.) to slip away, escape; to deliver, save, rescue; to bring forth

See Carry

Primitive Root: שַׁלֶם/shä-läm': to be safe

# אָלוֹם shä-lōm' (n.) health, welfare, success, comfort; peace, salvation; (adj.) well, peaceful, secure, whole

See Peace

#### SALVATION

Primitive Root: יַשִּׁע /yä-shä': to be open

# יַשְׁע yä-shä' (v.) to be freed, be preserved, be delivered; to be helped, be saved; to aid, succor, save

See Save

#### ישועה |yº-shü'-ä (n.) help, deliverance, salvation; victory; welfare

- 12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will trust, and not be afraid; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my strength and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 12:3 Therefore with joy shall ye draw water out of the wells of salvation.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have waited for him, and he will save us; this is the Lord; we have waited for him, we will be glad and rejoice in his **salvation**.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any **deliverance** in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their **salvation** also in the time of trouble.
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my **salvation** unto the end of the earth.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable time have I heard thee, and in a day of **salvation** have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my **salvation** shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the worm shall eat them like wool; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my **salvation** from generation to generation.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth **salvation**; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall see the **salvation** of our God.
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 59:11 We roar all like bears, and mourn sore like doves; we look for judgment, but there is none; for **salvation**, but it is far off from

- 59:17 For he put on righteousness as a breastplate, and a helmet of **salvation** upon his head; and he put on the garments of vengeance for clothing, and was clad with zeal as a cloak.
- 60:18 Violence shall no more be heard in thy land, wasting nor destruction within thy borders; but thou shalt call thy walls **Salvation**, and thy gates Praise.
- 62:1 For Zion's sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the **salvation** thereof as a lamp that burneth.

## יֵשְׁע |yā-shä' (n.) deliverance, help, aid, salvation; safety, welfare, freedom

- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy **salvation**, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my **salvation** is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of **salvation**, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy **salvation** cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.

Primitive Root: שׁוַע/shä-vä': to be free

# תְּשׁוּעָה |tɨ-shü-ä' (n.) deliverance, help, welfare; victory

- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my **salvation** shall not tarry; and I will place **salvation** in Zion for Israel my glory.

#### SANCTIFY

Primitive Root: קַדָשׁ/ kä-däsh': to be or make clean (ceremonially or morally)

## אָקְדָשׁ kä-däsh' (v.) to be holy, be sacred, be consecrated; to declare holy; to keep holy

- 5:16 But the Lord of hosts shall be exalted in judgment, and God that is holy shall be sanctified in righteousness.
- 8:13 Sanctify the Lord of hosts himself; and let him be your fear, and let him be your dread.
- 13:3 I have commanded my sanctified ones, I have also called my mighty ones, for mine anger is not upon them that rejoice in my highness.
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall **sanctify** my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a **holy** solemnity is **kept**; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, come not near to me; for I am **holier** than thou. These are a smoke in my nose, a fire that burneth all the day.
- 66:17 They that **sanctify** themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating swine's flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

#### SAPPHIRE

Primitive Root: סְבַר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

### קּפִיר säp-pēr' (n.) sapphire

54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy stones with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with **sapphires**.

#### SARAH

Primitive Root: שָׂרַר/sä-rär': to have dominion

# שְׁרָה' sä-rä' (prop. n.) Sarah; princess, noble lady, queen

- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their **queens** thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.
- 51:2 Look unto Abraham your father, and unto Sarah that bare you; for I called him alone, and blessed him, and increased him.

## SATISFY

Primitive Root: שַׂבַע/sä-vä': to sate or fill to satisfaction

# אַבע |sä-vä' (v.) to become satisfied, satiated, or full; to have abundance; to be weary, be tired; to satisfy, satiate

- 1:11 To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto me? Saith the Lord; I am **full** of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats.
- 9:20 And he shall snatch on the right hand, and be hungry; and he shall eat on the left hand, and they shall not be **satisfied**; they shall eat every man the flesh of his own arm;
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is **satisfied**; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the fire;
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be **satisfied**; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and **satisfy** the afflicted soul; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and **satisfy** thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.
- 66:11 That ye may suck, and be **satisfied** with the breasts of her consolations; that ye may milk out, and be delighted with the abundance of her glory.

## שַּׁבְעַה |sōv-ä' (n.) satiety, fulness

- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to eat **sufficiently**, and for durable clothing.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which **satisfieth** not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.
- 56:11 Yea, they are greedy dogs, which can never **have enough**, and they are shepherds that cannot understand; they all look to their own way, everyone for his gain, from his quarter.

# SATYR

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵר/sä-är': to storm

#### שַׁעִיר sä-ēr' (n.) he-goat, buck; wood demon, satyr

- 13:21 But wild beasts of the desert shall lie there; and their houses shall be full of doleful creatures; and owls shall dwell there, and satyrs shall dance there.
- 34:14 The wild beasts of the desert shall also meet with the wild beasts of the island, and the **satyr** shall cry to his fellow; the screech owl also shall rest there, and find for herself a place of rest.

## SAVE

Primitive Root: יָשׁע/yä-shä': to be open

# yä-shä' (v.) to be freed, be preserved, be delivered; to be helped, be saved; to aid, succor, save

- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a **savior**, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have waited for him, and he will **save** us; this is the Lord; we have waited for him, we will be glad and rejoice in his salvation.

- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be **saved**; in quietness and in confidence shall be your strength; and ye would not.
- 33:22 For the Lord is our judge, the Lord is our lawgiver, the Lord is our King; he will save us.
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful heart, Be strong, fear not; behold, your God will come with vengeance, even God with a recompense; he will come and **save** you.
- 37:20 Now therefore, O Lord our God, **save** us from his hand, that all the kingdoms of the earth may know that thou art the Lord, even thou only.
- 37:35 For I will defend this city to save it for mine own sake, and for my servant David's sake.
- 38:20 The Lord was ready to **save** me; therefore we will sing my songs to the stringed instruments all the days of our life in the house of the Lord.
- 43:3 For I am the Lord thy God, the Holy One of Israel, thy Savior; I gave Egypt for thy ransom, Ethiopia and Seba for thee.
- 43:11 I, even I, am the Lord; and beside me there is no savior.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have **saved**, and I have showed, when there was no strange god among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, that I am God.
- 45:15 Verily thou art a God that hidest thyself, O God of Israel, the Savior.
- 45:17 But Israel shall be saved in the Lord with an everlasting salvation; ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the wood of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot **save**.
- 45:21 Tell ye, and bring them near; yea, let them take counsel together; who hath declared this from ancient time? who hath told it from that time? have not I the Lord? And there is no god else beside me; a just God, and a **Savior**; there is none beside me.
- 45:22 Look unto me, and be ye saved, all the ends of the earth; for I am God, and there is none else.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the multitude of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the monthly prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.
- 47:15 Thus shall they be unto thee with whom thou hast labored, even thy merchants, from thy youth; they shall wander everyone to his quarter; none shall **save** thee.
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.
- 49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with sweet wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy **Savior** and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 59:1 Behold, the Lord's hand is not shortened, that it cannot save; neither his ear heavy, that it cannot hear;
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it sustained him.
- 60:16 Thou shalt also suck the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt suck the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy **Savior** and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his strength? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to **save**.
- 63:5 And I looked, and there was none to help; and I wondered that there was none to uphold; therefore mine own arm brought salvation unto me; and my fury, it upheld me.
- 63:8 For he said, Surely they are my people, children that will not lie; so he was their Savior.
- 63:9 In all their affliction he was afflicted, and the angel of his presence **saved** them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.
- 64:5 Thou meetest him that worketh righteousness, and rejoiceth him that remembereth thee in thy ways; in righteousness there is continuance, and such shall be **saved**.

# SAVIOR

Primitive Root: יָשׁע'/yä-shä': to be open

יָשַׁע yä-shä' (v.) to be freed, be preserved, be delivered; to be helped, be saved; to aid, succor, save

See Save

### SAW

Primitive Word: מְשׁוֹר /mäs-sōr': from an unused root meaning to rasp

## משור mäs-sōr' (n.) saw

10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the **saw** magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.

Primitive Root: רַאַה'/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' |rä-ä' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

#### SCARLET

Primitive Word: שָׁנִי /shä-nē': of uncertain derivation

## אָבְיי shä-nē' (n.) coccus, crimson color, deep scarlet

1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as **scarlet**, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.

# SCATTER

Primitive Root: זֶרֶק/zä-räk': to sprinkle

# zä-räk' (v.) to scatter, strew, sprinkle

28:25 When he hath made plain the face thereof, doth he not cast abroad the fitches, and **scatter** the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the appointed barley and the rye in their place?

Primitive Root: מְשַׁךְ/mä-shäḥ': to draw

# קְּעֵים mä-shäḥ' (v.) to draw, pull; to extend, prolong; to sow; to wander, go; to cherish, preserve

See Draw

Primitive Root: מְלַבֵּץ/nä-fäts': to dash to pieces or scatter

## מבץ nä-fäts' (v.) to be dispersed; to scatter, smash, dash to pieces

- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the **dispersed** of Judah from the four corners of the earth.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are **beaten in sunder**, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people fled; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.

## וְבֶּצְן ne'-fets (n.) show of rain, inundation; tempest

30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with **scattering**, and tempest, and hailstones.

Primitive Root: פוֹשׁן/püts: to dash in pieces

# אום|puts (v.) to scatter, disperse; to overflow; to spread out

- 24:1 Behold, the Lord maketh the earth empty, and maketh it waste, and turneth it upside down, and **scattereth abroad** the inhabitants thereof.
- 28:25 When he hath made plain the face thereof, doth he not **cast abroad** the fitches, and scatter the cummin, and cast in the principal wheat and the appointed barley and the rye in their place?
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall **scatter** them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.

#### SCEPTER

Primitive Word: שַׁבֵּט shā'-vɛt: from an unused root probably meaning to branch off

# אַבּט |shā'-vɛt (n.) staff, stick, rod, crook, thrashing-rod; scepter; tribe, stem; lance, spear

See Rod

#### **SCORN**

Primitive Word: לוּצ' lüts: to make mouths at

## לְצֹּעוֹ [lä-tsōn' (v.) to speak barbarously, stammer; to deride, mock, scorn; to interpret, mediate

- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not **mockers**, lest your bands be made strong; for I have heard from the Lord God of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.

# לְצוֹן lä-tsōn' (n.) mocker, derision

28:14 Wherefore hear the word of the Lord, ye scornful men, that rule this people which is in Jerusalem.

Primitive Root: לָעֵג/lä-äg': to deride

# |lä-äg' (v.) to mock, deride; to stammer, speak unintelligibly; to speak a foreign language

See Teach

#### **SCRIBE**

Primitive Root: סְפַר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

## סבר |sä-fär' (v.) to write, inscribe; to number, count, measure; to tell; (part.) writer, scribe

- 22:10 And ye have numbered the houses of Jerusalem, and the houses have ye broken down to fortify the wall.
- 33:18 Thine heart shall meditate in terror. Where is the scribe? Where is the receiver? where is he that counted the towers?
- 36:3 Then came forth unto him Eliakim, Hilkiah's son, which was over the house, and Shebna the **scribe**, and Joah, Asaph's son, the recorder.
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the **scribe**, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the **scribe**, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.
- 43:21 This people have I formed for myself; they shall show forth my praise.
- 43:26 Put me in remembrance; let us plead together; declare thou, that thou mayest be justified.
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been **told** them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.

### SEA

Primitive Word: מְיַן/yäm: from an unused root meaning to roar

## טְשׁישׁ (n.) sea, lake; great river [Nile, Euphrates]; west, western quarter

- 5:30 And in that day they shall roar against them like the roaring of the **sea**; and if they look unto the land, behold darkness and sorrow; and the light is darkened in the heavens thereof.
- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 10:22 For though thy people Israel be as the sand of the **sea**, yet a remnant of them shall return; the consumption decreed shall overflow with righteousness.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the **sea**, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.

- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the second time to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the **west**; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the **sea**.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the **seas**; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the **sea**, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 21:1 The burden of the desert of the **sea**. As whirlwinds in the south pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the terrible land
- 23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of Zidon, that pass over the sea, have replenished.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the **sea** hath spoken, even the strength of the **sea**, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the **sea**, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 24:15 Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel in the isles of the sea.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the **sea**.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the **sea**, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.
- 43:16 Thus saith the Lord, which maketh a way in the sea, and a path in the mighty waters;
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the **sea**;
- 49:12 Behold, these shall come from far; and, lo, these from the north and from the west; and these from the land of Sinim.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the **sea**, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the **sea**, the waters of the great deep that hath made the depths of the **sea** a way for the ransomed to pass over?
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 57:20 But the wicked are like the troubled sea, when it cannot rest, whose waters cast up mire and dirt.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the **sea** shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the **sea** with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?

# SECOND

Primitive Root: שָׁנָה/shä-nä': to fold

# שֶׁנִי shä-nē' (adj.) second, the other; (adv.) again

- 11:11 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall set his hand again the **second time** to recover the remnant of his people, which shall be left, from Assyria, and from Egypt, and from Pathros, and from Cush, and from Elam, and from Shinar, and from Hamath, and from the islands of the sea.
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the **second** year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.

#### SECRET

Primitive Root: סֶתַר/sä-thär': to hid (by covering)

# מְסְתָּר |mēs-tär' (n.) hiding place; hidden place

45:3 And I will give thee the treasures of darkness, and hidden riches of **secret places**, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the God of Israel.

# |sā-ther' or סְתִּרָה |sēth-rä' (n.) a covering, veil; shelter, hiding place, protection; a secret

- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a **covert** to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the **hiding place**.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a **covert** from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in **secret**, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in **secret** from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.

Primitive Root: ภุษิ|pōth: from an unused root meaning to open

## pōth (n.) opening; hole in which a door hinge moves; female pudenda

3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of Zion, and the Lord will discover their **secret** parts.

### **SEDUCE**

Primitive Root: תַּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

# תַּעָה (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

See Err

#### SEE

Primitive Root: חָרָה, 'ḥä-zä': to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

### מָּנְהָּ hä-zä' (v.) to see in vision; to look up, contemplate; to see, look, gaze, behold

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he **saw** concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 2:1 The word that Isaiah the son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 26:11 Lord, when thy hand is lifted up, they will not **see**; but they shall **see**, and be ashamed for their envy at the people; yea, the fire of thine enemies shall devour them.
- 30:10 Which say to the seers, see not; and to the prophets, **Prophesy** not unto us right things, speak unto us smooth things, **prophesy** deceits;
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall **see** the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 33:20 **Look** upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 48:6 Thou hast heard, **see** all this; and will not ye declare it? I have showed thee new things from this time, even hidden things, and thou didst not know them.
- 57:8 Behind the doors also and the posts hast thou set up thy remembrance; for thou hast discovered thyself to another than me, and art gone up; thou hast enlarged thy bed, and made thee a covenant with them; thou lovedst their bed where thou **sawest** it.

Primitive Root: גַבָט/nä-vät': to scan, look intently at

# nä-vät' (v.) to look; to behold, regard, see, respect

See Look

Primitive Root: רָאָה/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' |rä-ä' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

- 1:12 When ye come to appear before me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread my courts?
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his work, that we may **see** it; and let the counsel of the Holy One of Israel draw nigh and come, that we may know it!
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have **seen** the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 6:9 And he said, Go, and tell this people, Hear ye indeed, but they understood not; and see ye indeed, but they perceived not.
- 6:10 Make the heart of this people fat, and make their ears heavy, and shut their eyes; lest they **see** with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and convert, and be healed.
- 9:2 The people that walked in darkness have **seen** a great light; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 14:16 They that **see** thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to tremble, that did shake kingdoms;
- 16:12 And it shall come to pass, when it is **seen** that Moab is weary on the high place, that he shall come to his sanctuary to pray; but he shall not prevail.
- 17:7 At that day shall a man look to his Maker, his eyes shall have **respect** to the Holy One of Israel.
- 17:8 And he shall not look to the altars, the work of his hands, neither shall **respect** that which his fingers have made, either the groves, or the images.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the world and dwellers on the earth, **see** ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have taken hold upon me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the **seeing** of it.
- 21:6 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Go, set a watchman, let him declare what he seeth.
- 21:7 And he saw a chariot with a couple of horsemen, a chariot of asses, and a chariot of camels; and he hearkened diligently with much heed;
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the water of the old pool; but ye have not looked unto the maker thereof, neither had **respect** unto him that fashioned it long ago.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not **behold** the majesty of the Lord.
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that **looketh** upon it **seeth**, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to hide their counsel from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 29:18 And in that day shall the deaf hear the words of the book, and the eyes of the blind shall **see** out of obscurity, and out of darkness.
- 29:23 But when he **seeth** his children, the work of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 30:10 Which say to the **seers**, See not; and to the prophets, Prophesy not unto us right things, speak unto us smooth things, prophesy deceits;
- 30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall **see** thy teachers;
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall **show** the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 32:3 And the eyes of them that **see** shall not be dim, and the ears of them that hear shall hearken.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from **seeing** evil;
- 33:17 Thine eyes shall see the King in his beauty; they shall behold the land that is very far off.
- 33:19 Thou shalt not **see** a fierce people, a people of a deeper speech than thou canst perceive; of a stammering tongue, that thou canst not understand.

- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall **see** Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and singing; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall **see** the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and **see**; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy tears; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not **see** the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the living; I shall behold man no more with the inhabitants of the world.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and **showed** them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 39:4 Then said he, What have they **seen** in thine house? And Hezekiah answered, All that is in mine house have they **seen**; there is nothing among my treasures that I have not **showed** them.
- 40:5 And the glory of the Lord shall be revealed, and all flesh shall see it together; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and **behold** who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.
- 41:5 The isles saw it, and feared; the ends of the earth were afraid, drew near, and came.
- 41:20 That they may **see** and know, and consider, and understand together, that the hand of the Lord hath done this, and the Holy One of Israel hath created it.
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, do good or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and **behold** it together.
- 41:28 For I beheld, and there was no man; even among men, and there was no counselor, that, when I asked of them, could answer a word.
- 42:18 Hear, ye deaf, and look, ye blind, that ye may see.
- 42:21 [42:20] Thou art a people, seeing many things, but thou observest not; opening the ears to hear, but thou hearest not.
- 44:9 They that make a graven image are all of them vanity; and their delectable things shall not profit; and they are their own witnesses; they **see** not, nor know; that they may be ashamed.
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have **seen** the fire;
- 44:18 They have not known nor understood; for he hath shut their eyes, that they cannot **see**; and their hearts, that they cannot understand.
- 47:3 Thy nakedness shall be uncovered, yea, thy shame shall be seen; I will take vengeance, and I will not meet thee as a man.
- 47:10 For thou hast trusted in thy wickedness; thou hast said, None **seeth** me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath perverted thee; and thou hast said in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall **see** and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:18 Lift up thine eyes round about, and **behold**; all these gather themselves together, and come to thee. As I live, saith the Lord, thou shalt surely clothe thee with them all, as with an ornament, and bind them on thee, as a bride doeth.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall **see** eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 52:10 The Lord hath made bare his holy arm in the eyes of all the nations; and all the ends of the earth shall **see** the salvation of our God.
- 52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.
- 53:2 For he shall grow up before him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry ground; he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall **see** him, there is no beauty that we should desire him.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 53:11 He shall **see** of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 57:18 I have seen his ways, and will heal him; I will lead him also, and restore comforts unto him and to his mourners.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou **seest** not? Wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and exact all your labors.

- 58:7 Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord **saw** it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.
- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it sustained him.
- 60:2 For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people; but the Lord shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be **seen** upon thee.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and **see**; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy sons shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt **see**, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be converted unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.
- 61:9 And their seed shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that **see** them shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed.
- 62:2 And the Gentiles shall **see** thy righteousness, and all kings thy glory; and thou shalt be called by a new name, which the mouth of the Lord shall name.
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and **behold** from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy strength, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye **seen**, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that waiteth for him.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that tremble at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath **seen** such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her children.
- 66:14 And when ye **see** this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his servants, and his indignation toward his enemies.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their thoughts; it shall come, that I will gather all nations and tongues; and they shall come, and **see** my glory.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have **seen** my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and **look** upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

#### SEED

Primitive Root: וְרֵע /zä-rä': to sow

## יַרְע ze'-rä (n.) seed, corn, crop; semen, progeny, posterity

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a **seed** of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 5:10 Yea, ten acres of vineyard shall yield one bath, and the **seed** of a homer shall yield an ephah.
- 6:13 But yet in it there shall be a tenth, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy **seed** shall be the substance thereof.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and slain thy people; the **seed** of evildoers shall never be renowned.
- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy **seed** to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate sorrow.
- 23:3 And by great waters the **seed** of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.
- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy **seed**, that thou shalt sow the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 43:5 Fear not; for I am with thee; I will bring thy seed from the east, and gather thee from the west;
- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground; I will pour my Spirit upon thy **seed**, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the **seed** of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 45:25 In the Lord shall all the seed of Israel be justified, and shall glory.

- 48:19 Thy **seed** also had been as the sand, and the offspring of thy bowels like the gravel thereof; his name should not have been cut off nor destroyed from before me.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his **seed**, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy **seed** shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be inhabited.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give **seed** to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 57:3 But draw near hither, ye sons of the sorceress, the **seed** of the adulterer and the whore.
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and draw out the tongue? are ye not children of transgression, a **seed** of falsehood.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my Spirit that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy mouth, shall not depart out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy **seed**, nor out of the mouth of thy **seed**'s **seed**, saith the Lord, from henceforth and forever.
- 61:9 And their **seed** shall be known among the Gentiles, and their offspring among the people; all that see them shall acknowledge them, that they are the **seed** which the Lord hath blessed.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a **seed** out of Jacob, and out of Judah an inheritor of my mountains; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall dwell there.
- 65:23 They shall not labor in vain, nor bring forth for trouble; for they are the **seed** of the blessed of the Lord, and their offspring with them.
- 66:22 For as the new heavens and the new earth, which I will make, shall remain before me, saith the Lord, so shall your **seed** and your name remain.

### **SEEK**

Primitive Root: אָבַקשׁ bä-käsh': to search out, with particular emphasis of worship or prayer

# בֹּקשׁ|bä-käsh' (v.) to seek for, search for, investigate; to require, demand; to ask, inquire

- 1:12 When ye come to appear before me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread my courts?
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a tree that will not rot; he **seeketh** unto him a cunning workman to prepare a graven image, that shall not be moved.
- 41:12 Thou shalt **seek** them, and shalt not find them, even them that contended with thee; they that war against thee shall be as nothing, and as a thing of naught.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy **seek** water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, **seek** ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 51:1 Hearken unto me, ye that follow after righteousness; ye that **seek** the Lord, look unto the rock from whence ye were hewn, and to the hole of the pit from whence ye are digged.
- 65:1 I am found of them who **seek** after me, I give unto all them that ask of me; I am not found of them that sought me not, or that inquireth not after me.

Primitive Root: דְּרַשׁ/dä-räsh': to tread or frequent

#### דרשׁ|dä-räsh' (v.) to visit; to seek, search after, inquire, investigate; to ask, demand; to study, practice

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 8:19 And when they shall say unto you, **seek** unto them that have familiar spirits, and unto wizards that peep and that mutter; should not a people **seek** unto their God? for the living to hear from the dead?
- 9:13 For the people turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall stand for an ensign of the people; to it shall the Gentiles **seek**; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and **seeking** judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 19:3 And the spirit of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall **seek** to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither **seek** the Lord.

- 34:16 **seek** ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 55:6 Seek ye the Lord while he may be found, call ye upon him while he is near;
- 58:2 Yet they **seek** me daily, and delight to know my ways, as a nation that did righteousness, and forsook not the ordinance of their God; they ask of me the ordinances of justice; they take delight in approaching to God.
- 62:12 And they shall call them, The holy people, The redeemed of the Lord; and thou shalt be called, **Sought out**, A city not forsaken.
- 65:1 I am found of them who **seek** after me, I give unto all them that ask of me; I am not found of them that **sought** me not, or that inquireth not after me.
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of flocks, and the valley of Achor a place for the herds to lie down in, for my people that have **sought** me.

Primitive Root: עַמֵּק /ä-mäk': to be or make deep

# אָמֵק |ä-mäk' (v.) to be deep, be unsearchable, be unfathomable; to deepen

See Deep

Primitive Root: שֶׁחַר/shä-här': to dawn

# שָׁתַר |shä-ḥär' (v.) to be black; to seek early; to strive after, desire; to charm away

26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I **seek thee early**; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.

#### SEER

Primitive Root: חַזָּה/hä-zä': to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

# חֹזֶה |h̄ō-zɛ' (n.) seer, prophet, astrologer; covenant

- 28:15 Because ye have said, We have made a covenant with death, and with hell are we at **agreement**; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, it shall not come unto us; for we have made lies our refuge, and under falsehood have we hid ourselves;
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 30:10 Which say to the **seers**, See not; and to the prophets, Prophesy not unto us right things, speak unto us smooth things, prophesy deceits;
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the multitude of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the **stargazers**, the monthly prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.

Primitive Root: רַאַר /rä-ä': to see

# רְאָּה' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

# **SELA**

Primitive Word: מֶלֵע/sɛ-lä': from an unused root meaning to be lofty

# שֶׁלַע |sɛ-lä' (n.) rock, cliff; Sela, chief city of Edom

See Rock

## SEND

Primitive Root: שָׁלַח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

# שְׁלַתְּ shä-läḥ' (v.) to send out, stretch out, extend; to dismiss, let go, send away; to send word

6:8 Also I heard the voice of the Lord, saying, Whom shall I send, and who will go for us? Then said I, Here am I; send me.

9:8 The Lord sent his word unto Jacob, and it hath lighted upon Israel.

10:6 I will **send** him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.

- 10:16 Therefore shall the Lord, the Lord of hosts, **send** among his fat ones leanness; and under his glory he shall kindle a burning like the burning of a fire.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 16:2 For it shall be, that, as a wandering bird cast out of the nest, so the daughters of Moab shall be at the fords of Arnon.
- 18:2 That **sendeth** ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall **send** them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 20:1 In the year that Tartan came unto Ashdod, (when Sargon the king of Assyria sent him,) and fought against Ashdod, and took it;
- 27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation **forsaken**, and left like a wilderness; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he stood by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 37:2 And he **sent** Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.
- 37:4 It may be the Lord thy God will hear the words of Rabshakeh, whom the king of Assyria his master hath **sent** to reproach the living God, and will reprove the words which the Lord thy God hath heard; wherefore lift up thy prayer for the remnant that is left.
- 37:9 And he heard say concerning Tirhakah king of Ethiopia, He is come forth to make war with thee. And when he heard it, he sent messengers to Hezekiah, saying,
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz **sent** unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, **sent** letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 42:19 For I will **send** my servant unto you who are blind; yea, a messenger to open the eyes of the blind, and unstop the ears of the deaf:
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have **sent** to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose cry is in the ships.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath **sent** me.
- 50:1 [50:1] Yea, for thus saith the Lord, Have I put thee away, or have I cast thee off forever? For thus saith the Lord, Where is the bill of your mother's divorcement? To whom have I put thee away, or to which of my creditors have I sold you; yea, to whom have I sold you?
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother **put away**; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no power to deliver?
- 55:11 So shall my word be that goeth forth out of my mouth; it shall not return unto me void, but it shall accomplish that which I please, and it shall prosper in the thing whereto I sent it.
- 57:9 And thou wentest to the king with ointment, and didst increase thy perfumes, and didst **send** thy messengers far off, and didst debase thyself even unto hell.
- 58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed **go** free, and that ye break every yoke?
- 58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the yoke, the **putting forth** of the finger, and speaking vanity;
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath **sent** me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will **send** those that escape of them unto the nations, to Tarshish, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

# מְשְׁלוּתַ mēsh-lō'-äḥ (n.) a sending; seizure, possession; prey, booty

- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of briers and thorns; but it shall be for the **sending** forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.

# SENNACHERIB

Primitive Word: סֵּנְחֵרִיב /sän-ḥā-rēv': of a foreign origin

## |סְּנְתֵּרִיב|sän-ḥā-rēv' (prop. n.) Sennacherib

- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the **Sennacherib** king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and took them.
- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of **Sennacherib**, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the son of Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against **Sennacherib** king of Assyria;
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.

### SEPULCHER

Primitive Root: קבר/kä-vär': to inter

# קבר (n.) sepulcher, grave

See Grave

#### SERAPHIM

Primitive Root: שְׂרֵף/sä-räf': to be on fire

# שְׁרַף|sä-räf (n.) poisonous serpent; winged angels

- 6:2 Above it stood the **seraphim**; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 6:6 Then flew one of the seraphim unto me, having a live coal in his hand, which he had taken with the tongs from off the altar;
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a **fiery flying serpent**.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and **fiery flying serpent**, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.

# SERPENT

Primitive Root: נָחַשׁ/nä-ḥäsh': to hiss

# וְנָחָשׁ nä-ḥäsh' (n.) serpent; constellation of the dragon

- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that smote thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing **serpent**, even leviathan that crooked **serpent**; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 65:25 The wolf and the lamb shall feed together, and the lion shall eat straw like the bullock; and dust shall be the **serpent's** meat. They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: שָׂרַף/sä-räf': to be on fire

## שְׁרַף|sä-räf (n.) poisonous serpent; winged angels

See Seraphim

#### SERVANT

Primitive Root: נָעָר/nä-är': meaning to growl or tumble about

## נֵעֶר |nä'-är (n.) child, boy, youth (male); servant

See Child

Primitive Root: עבר/ä-väd': to work

# צבד (n.) servant, slave, laborer, bondsman, subject; worshiper

- 14:2 And the people shall take them, and bring them to their place; yea, from far, unto the end of the earth, and they shall return to their land of promise, and the house of Israel shall possess them in the land of the Lord for **servants** and handmaids; and they shall take them captives, whose captives they were; and they shall rule over their oppressors.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my **servant** Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 22:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that I will call my servant Eliakim the son of Hilkiah;
- 24:2 And it shall be, as with the people, so with the priest; as with the **servant**, so with his master; as with the maid, so with her mistress; as with the buyer, so with the seller; as with the lender, so with the borrower; as with the taker of usury, so with the giver of usury to him.
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of one captain of the least of my master's **servants**, and put thy trust on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and Shebna and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy **servants** in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 37:5 So the servants of King Hezekiah came to Isaiah.
- 37:24 By thy **servants** hast thou reproached the Lord, and hast said, By the multitude of my chariots am I come up to the height of the mountains, to the sides of Lebanon; and I will cut down the tall cedars thereof, and the choice fir trees thereof; and I will enter into the height of his border, and the forest of his Carmel.
- 37:35 For I will defend this city to save it for mine own sake, and for my servant David's sake.
- 41:8 But, thou, Israel, art my servant, Jacob whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham my friend.
- 41:9 Thou whom I have taken from the ends of the earth, and called thee from the chief men thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my **servant**; I have chosen thee, and not cast thee away.
- 42:1 Behold my **servant**, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my soul delighteth; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the Gentiles.
- 42:19 For I will send my **servant** unto you who are blind; yea, a messenger to open the eyes of the blind, and unstop the ears of the deaf;
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my **servant** whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 44:1 Yet now hear, O Jacob my servant; and Israel, whom I have chosen;
- 44:2 Thus saith the Lord that made thee, and formed thee from the womb, which will help thee; Fear not, O Jacob, my **servant**; and thou, Jeshurun, whom I have chosen.
- 44:21 Remember these, O Jacob and Israel; or thou art my **servant**; I have formed thee; thou art my **servant**; O Israel, thou shalt not be forgotten of me.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his **servant**, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 45:4 For Jacob my **servant**'s sake, and Israel mine elect, I have even called thee by thy name; I have surnamed thee, though thou hast not known me.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his **servant** Jacob.
- 49:3 And said unto me, Thou art my servant, O Israel, in whom I will be glorified.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his **servant**, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:6 And he said, It is a light thing that thou shouldest be my **servant** to raise up the tribes of Jacob, and to restore the preserved of Israel; I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou mayest be my salvation unto the end of the earth.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a **servant** of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his **servant**, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.

- 52:13 Behold, my servant shall deal prudently, he shall be exalted and extolled, and be very high.
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous **servant** justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the **servants** of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his **servants**, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 63:17 O Lord, why hast thou suffered us to err from thy ways, and to harden our heart from thy fear? Return for thy servants' sake, the tribes of thine inheritance.
- 65:8 Thus saith the Lord, As the new wine is found in the cluster, and one saith, Destroy it not; for a blessing is in it; so will I do for my **servants**' sake, that I may not destroy them all.
- 65:9 And I will bring forth a seed out of Jacob, and out of Judah an inheritor of my mountains; and mine elect shall inherit it, and my servants shall dwell there.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my **servants** shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my **servants** shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my **servants** shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.
- 65:15 And ye shall leave your name for a curse unto my chosen; for the Lord God shall slay thee, and call his **servants** by another name:
- 66:14 And when ye see this, your heart shall rejoice, and your bones shall flourish like an herb; and the hand of the Lord shall be known toward his **servants**, and his indignation toward his enemies.

#### **SERVE**

Primitive Root: עֲבַד/ä-väd': to work

# ביד (v.) to labor, work, toil, till, plough; to serve, work as a slave; to worship

- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the hard bondage wherein thou wast made to **serve**.
- 19:9 Moreover they that work in fine flax, and they that weave networks, shall be confounded.
- 19:21 And the Lord shall be known to Egypt, and the Egyptians shall know the Lord in that day, and shall **do** sacrifice and oblation; yea, they shall vow a vow unto the Lord, and perform it.
- 19:23 In that day shall there be a highway out of Egypt to Assyria, and the Assyrian shall come into Egypt, and the Egyptian into Assyria, and the Egyptians shall **serve** with the Assyrians.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and **bring to pass** his act, his strange act.
- 30:24 The oxen likewise and the young asses that **ear** the ground shall eat clean provender, which hath been winnowed with the shovel and with the fan.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to **serve** with an offering, nor wearied thee with incense.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to **serve** with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 60:12 For the nation and kingdom that will not serve thee shall perish; yea, those nations shall be utterly wasted.

Primitive Root: שַׁרַת/shä-räth': to attend as a menial or worshipper

# אַרִת shä-räth' (v.) to attend, wait upon, serve, minister; to do services (as a priest); (part.) minister, servant

See Minister

# SEVEN

Primitive Root: שָׁבַע/shä-vä': to be complete

## שֶׁבַע |shɛˀ-vä (n.) seven; (adv.) seven times, seven-fold

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day **seven** women shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the **seven** streams, and make men go over dry-shod.

30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.

# שְׁבְעָתִיִּם |shēv-ä-thä'-yēm (n.) seven-fold, seven times

30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be **sevenfold**, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.

# **SEVENTY**

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵע/shä-vä': to be complete

# שְׁבְעִים |shēv-ēm' (n.) (pl. only) seventy

- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten **seventy** years, according to the days of one king; after the end of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a harlot.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of **seventy** years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.

# SHADOW

Primitive Roots: combination of צֶלָ (shadow, derived from צֶלֶל) and מוּת (to die)

## צְלְמֵוֶת (n.) shadow of death

See Death

Primitive Root: צַלַל/tsä-läl': to shade

# tsāl (n.) shadow; protection, shelter; transitoriness

- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a **shadow** in the daytime from the heat, and for a place of refuge, and for a covert from storm and from rain.
- 16:3 Take counsel, execute judgment; make thy **shadow** as the night in the midst of the noonday; hide the outcasts; bewray not him that wandereth.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a **shadow** from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the **shadow** of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to trust in the **shadow** of Egypt!
- 30:3 Therefore shall the strength of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the **shadow** of a great rock in a weary land.
- 34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her **shadow**; there shall the vultures also be gathered, everyone with her mate.
- 38:8 Behold, I will bring again the **shadow** of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of Ahaz, ten degrees backward. So the sun returned ten degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.
- 49:2 And he hath made my mouth like a sharp sword; in the **shadow** of his hand hath he hid me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the **shadow** of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto Zion, Behold, thou art my people.

### אַלְצַל (n.) whirring; whirring insect, cricket, grasshopper; cymbal; fishing spear, harpoon

18:1 Woe to the land **shadowing** with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;

#### SHAKE

Primitive Root: נוּעְ 'nü'-ä: to waver

# וויאַ nü-äḥ' (v.) to move to and fro, tremble; to totter, quake, reel; to wander, rove; to cause to stagger

See Move

Primitive Root: מוֹיוֹתוֹל: to quiver

# אוֹן (v.) to beckon, threaten; to shake the hand; to scatter; to sprinkle

- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that **shaketh** it? as if the rod should **shake** itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he **shake** his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the voice unto them, **shake** the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto women; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of hosts, which he **shaketh** over it.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to **sift** the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.

Primitive Root: נְעֵר/nä-är': to growl or tumble about

# וְנַעַר |nä-är' (v.) to roar, growl; to shake, stir; to shake out, shake off

- 33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is ashamed and hewn down; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel **shake off** their fruits.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that **shaketh** his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 52:2 **Shake thyself** from the dust; arise, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.

Primitive Root: עַרַץ/ä-räts': to awe or to dread

# ערץ ä-räts' (v.) to be afraid, fear; to frighten, terrify

See Afraid

Primitive Root: רְגַז/rä-gäz': to quiver

### רְצָּלֵץ (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

See Tremble

Primitive Root: רַעִשׁ/rä-äsh': to undulate

# רַעשׁ|rä-äsh' (v.) to tremble, quake, wave; to be agitated; to be moved or shaken

- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall **remove** out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to tremble, that did **shake** kingdoms;
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do **shake**.

## SHAME

Primitive Root: בוּשׁ/büsh: to pale

# בּשֶּׁת |bō'-sheth (n.) shame, disgrace; ignominy

- 30:3 Therefore shall the strength of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.
- 30:5 They were all ashamed of a people that could not profit them, nor be a help nor profit, but a shame, and also a reproach.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall be **greatly** ashamed, that trust in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be a**shamed**; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be put to **shame**; for thou shalt forget the **shame** of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy widowhood anymore.
- 61:7 For your **shame** ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall rejoice in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; everlasting joy shall be unto them.

Primitive Root: חֲמֵר/ḥä-fār': to blush

# ְּחָבֵּר hä-fār' (v.) to turn red, be ashamed; to be disappointed

See Confounded

Primary Root: אָחֶרף/hä-räf': to pull off

# הַרְפַּה |her-pa' (n.) reproach, scorn, contempt; something despised; pedunda

See Reproach

Primitive Root: בֶּלֶם/kä-läm': to wound

# בְּלְמַּה |k<sup>ε</sup>-lēm-mä' (n.) shame, reproach

See Confuse

Primitive Root: עָרָה/ä-rä': to be or make bare

# צרוה 'er-vä' (n.) nakedness, bareness; pudenda; shame, filthiness

20:4 So shall the king of Assyria lead away the Egyptians prisoners, and the Ethiopians captives, young and old, naked and barefoot, even with their buttocks uncovered, to the **shame** of Egypt.

47:3 Thy nakedness shall be uncovered, yea, thy shame shall be seen; I will take vengeance, and I will not meet thee as a man.

Primitive Root: קלה' kä-lä': to be light

# אָלוֹן kä-lōn' (n.) contempt, shame, ignominy; shameful deed; pudenda

22:18 He will surely violently turn and toss thee like a ball into a large country; there shalt thou die, and there the chariots of thy glory shall be the **shame** of thy lord's house.

#### Shebna

Primitive Word: שֵׁבְנָא /shɛv-nä': from an unused root meaning to grow

# שֶׁבְנָא shɛv-nä' (prop. n.) Shebna

- 22:15 Thus saith the Lord God of hosts, Go, get thee unto this treasurer, even unto Shebna, which is over the house, and say,
- 36:3 Then came forth unto him Eliakim, Hilkiah's son, which was over the house, and **Shebna** the scribe, and Joah, Asaph's son, the recorder.
- 36:11 Then said Eliakim and **Shebna** and Joah unto Rabshakeh, Speak, I pray thee, unto thy servants in the Syrian language; for we understand it; and speak not to us in the Jews' language, in the ears of the people that are on the wall.
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and **Shebna** the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and **Shebna** the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz.

## SHED

Primitive Root: שֶׁבֶּךְ/shä-fäh': to spill forth

# שְׁבַּךְּ shä-fäḥ' (v.) to pour, pour out; to shed, spill; to cast up, cast down

See Pour

# SHEEP

Primitive Word: צֹאן tsōn: from an unused root meaning to migrate

#### צאן tson (n.) flock; small cattle (usually sheep or goats); troop

- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and two sheep.
- 13:14 And it shall be as the chased roe, and as a **sheep** that no man taketh up; they shall every man turn to his own people, and flee everyone into his own land.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing **sheep**, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.

- 53:6 All we like **sheep** have gone astray; we have turned every one to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on him the iniquity of us all.
- 60:7 All the **flocks** of Kedar shall be gathered together unto thee, the rams of Nebaioth shall minister unto thee; they shall come up with acceptance on mine altar, and I will glorify the house of my glory.
- 61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your ploughmen and your vinedressers.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his **flock**? where is he that put his Holy Spirit within him?
- 65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of **flocks**, and the valley of Achor a place for the herds to lie down in, for my people that have sought me.

Primitive Word: רֲחֵל/rä-ḥāl': from an unused root meaning to journey

# רְחֵל rä-ḥāl' (n.) ewe, female lamb, sheep

53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a lamb to the slaughter, and as a **sheep** before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.

### **SHEPHERD**

Primitive Root: רְעָה /rä-ä': to tend a flock

# רְצַלּה' (v.) to feed a flock, pasture, tend; to lead to pasture, guide, protect; (part.) shepherd

See Feed

# רֹעִי |rō-ē' (n.) shepherd

38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a **shepherd's** tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.

# SHIELD

Primitive Root: צַנַן/gä-nän': to hedge about

# מְגֵּנְ mä-gān' (n.) shield; protection, protector

- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 22:6 And Elam bare the quiver with chariots of men and horsemen, and Kir uncovered the shield.
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor shoot an arrow there, nor come before it with **shields**, nor cast a bank against it.

### SHINE

Primitive Root: אוֹר |ōr: to be luminous (literally or metaphorically)

## סוֹל (v.) to shine, become light, enlighten

See Light

Primitive Root: נָגָה/nä-gä': to glitter

# nä-gä' (v.) to shine, glitter; to be bright; to illuminate

- 9:2 The people that walked in darkness have seen a great light; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light **shined**.
- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to **shine**.

#### גהה (n.) brightness, splendor

See Brightness

#### SHITTAH

Primitive Root: שָׁטֵט/shä-tät': to pierce

### שְׁטָּה shēt-tä' (n.) acacia tree

41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the **shittah tree**, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;

#### SHOE

Primitive Root: גַעֵל/nä-äl': to fasten up

# וַנעַל nä'-äl (n.) shoe, sandal

- 5:27 None shall be weary nor stumble among them; none shall slumber nor sleep; neither shall the girdle of their loins be loosed, nor the latchet of their **shoes** be broken;
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over **dry-shod**.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy **shoe** from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.

#### SHOOT

Primitive Root: יֵרֵע'/yä-rä': to flow as water

יבֶּע yä-rä' (v.) to throw, cast; to shoot arrows; to point out, show; to direct, teach, instruct

See Teach

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵח/shä-läḥ': to send away, for, or out

שלח shä-läh' (v.) to send out, stretch out, extend; to dismiss, let go, send away; to send word

See Send

#### SHORT

Primitive Root: קְצֵר/kä-tsär': to dock off

אָבַּר kä-tsär' (v.) to reap, harvest, cut, mow; to cut off, be shorten; to shorten, abbreviate

See Reap

#### SHOULDER

Primitive Word: בְּתֵף/kä-thāf': from an unused root meaning to clothe

## מתף kä-thāf' (n.) shoulder, shoulder blade, side, flank; border

- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the **shoulders** of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the children of Ammon shall obey them.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the **shoulders** of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the **shoulder**, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy sons in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their **shoulders**.

Primitive Root: שֶׁבֶם/shä-ḥäm': to incline

### שבם |sh-hem' (n.) back, neck, shoulder; tract of land, shoulder of a mountain

9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.

9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his **shoulder**; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.

- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be taken away from off thy **shoulder**, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed because of the anointing.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their **shoulders**.
- 22:22 And the key of the house of David will I lay upon his **shoulder**; so he shall open, and none shall shut; and he shall shut, and none shall open.

#### **SHOUT**

Primitive Word: הֵינְדַד |hā-däd': from an unused root meaning to shout

# הַלְּדָד |hā-däd' (n.) joyful acclamation, shout for joy (in the vintage)

- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the **shouting** for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage **shouting** to cease.

Primitive Root: צַוֹח/tsä-väḥ': to screech (exultantly)

# צוח |tsä-väh' (v.) to cry out, exclaim, shout with joy

42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them **shout** from the top of the mountains.

Primitive Root: רוּע/rü-ä': to mar

## rü-ä' (v.) to be evil; to shout with joy; to raise a cry, be noise; to sound a trump or alarm

- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be **shouting**; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall **cry**, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; **shout**, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.

Primitive Root: רְנֵן/rä-nän': to creak

# רְבַּן rä-nän' (v.) to emit tremulous sound; to cry aloud, shout for joy, rejoice; to lament; to sing praise See Sing

# SHOW

Primitive Root: אַנַשׁ/ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

# אַלשׁ|ēsh (n.) man; human, mankind; follower, companion; anyone, someone

See Man

Primitive Root: בַּשֵׂר/bä-sär': to be fresh

#### בשׁר bä-sär' (v.) to announce, bear glad tidings, bring good news

See Tidings

Primitive Root: יָדַע/yä-dä': to know

## יַלְע yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Acknowledge; Declare, Learn, Teach, Tell

40:14 With whom took he counsel, and who instructed him, and taught him in the path of judgment, and taught him knowledge, and **showed** to him the way of understanding?

Primitive Root: חַנֵּעְ/ḥä-nän': to bend or stoop in kindness to an inferior

# וְחַנֵּן hä-nän' (v.) to favor, be gracious or kind; to pity, have mercy; to give graciously

See Gracious

Primitive Root: נְגַד/nä-gäd': to front, as in stand boldly in front

# וְגַּגִּד |nä-gäd' (v.) to show, tell, declare, confess, explain; to proclaim, announce; to make known, betray

See Declare

Primitive Root: נָבֵר/nä-ḥär': to scrutinize

# häk-kä-rä' (n.) sight, appearance הַּבְּרָה

3:9 The **show** of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.

Primitive Root: רָאָה/rä-ä': to see

# רְאָה' rä-ä' (v.) to see; to look, view, inspect; to feel, perceive, sense, understand; to show oneself, appear

See See

Primitive Root: שַׁמַע /shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

# שַׁמַע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

#### SHUT

Primitive Root: บาง |tü'-äḥ: to smear

# บาง | tü'-äh (v.) to smear, daub, plaster, whitewash, spread over

44:18 They have not known nor understood; for he hath **shut** their eyes, that they cannot see; and their hearts, that they cannot understand.

Primitive Root: סָגֵר/sä-gär': to shut up

#### סגר sä-gär' (v.) to surround, enclose; to shut, close

- 22:22 And the key of the house of David will I lay upon his shoulder; so he shall open, and none shall **shut**; and he shall **shut**, and none shall open.
- 24:10 The city of confusion is broken down; every house is **shut up**, that no man may come in.
- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are gathered in the pit, and shall be **shut up** in the prison, and after many days shall they be visited.
- 26:20 Come, my people, enter thou into thy chambers, and **shut** thy doors about thee; hide thyself as it were for a little moment, until the indignation be overpast.
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have holden, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be **shut**;
- 60:11 Therefore thy gates shall be open continually; they shall not be **shut** day nor night; that men may bring unto thee the forces of the Gentiles, and that their kings maybe brought.

Primitive Root: עָצֵם/ä-tsäm': to bind fast

# אַצִּם a-tsäm' (v.) to bind, bind fast, tie up; to shut, close; to be firm, be strong, be powerful

See Strong

Primitive Root: עָצָר/ä-tsär': to enclose

# אַצֵּר (v.) to shut, close; to restrain, stop, hold back; to retain, withhold

66:9 Shall I bring to the birth, and not cause to bring forth? saith the Lord; shall I cause to bring forth, and **shut** the womb? saith thy God.

Primitive Root: אָקְבַּץ/kä-fäts': to draw together

# קבּץ (v.) to shut (mouth); to shut up (compassion); to be gathered, be drawn together

52:15 So shall he gather many nations; the kings shall **shut** their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.

Primitive Root: שַׁעֵע /shä-ä': to look upon (with complacency)

## שׁעע shä-ä' (v.) to besmeared (on eyes), blind; to delight, make glad; to caress; to play

See Cry

#### **SICK**

Primitive Root: דַלה'/dä-lä': to dangle

## לַלת (n.) slender thread; hair, locks; slenderness, poverty

38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's tent; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with **pining sickness**; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.

Primitive Root: חַלָּה/ְhְä-lä': to be rubbed or worn

# ְחְלָּה |hä-lä' (v.) to wear down, be infirm; to be sick, be weak; to be pained, suffer

14:10 All they shall speak and say unto thee, Art thou also become weak as we? art thou become like unto us?

- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of **grief** and of desperate sorrow.
- 33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the people that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah **sick** unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the son of Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been **sick**, and was recovered.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath **put** him **to grief**; when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 57:10 Thou art wearied in the greatness of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast found the life of thine hand; therefore thou wast not **grieved**.

## וְחַלִּי (n.) disease, sickness, illness; affliction, sadness, suffering

- 1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.
- 38:9 The writing of Hezekiah king of Judah, when he had been sick, and was recovered of his sickness;
- 53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and acquainted with **grief**; and we hid as it were our faces from him; he was despised, and we esteemed him not.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.

#### SIEGE

Primitive Root: צור /tsür: to cramp

## וצור (v.) to bind together, straighten, compress; to besiege, assail; to instigate, urge

See Besiege

#### SIFT

Primitive Root: מולנוף nüf: to quiver

## אוֹן (v.) to beckon, threaten; to shake the hand; to scatter; to sprinkle

See Shake

### Sigh

Primitive Root: אָנַח/ä-näḥ': to sigh

# אְנַח |ä-näḥ' (v.) to groan, sigh, lament, mourn

24:7 The new wine mourneth, the vine languisheth, all the merryhearted do sigh.

# אַנַחַה |a-na-ha' (n.) lament, sigh, groan

- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the **sighing** thereof have I made to cease.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and **sighing** shall flee away.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and **mourning** shall flee away.

#### SIGHT

Primitive Word: עֵיץ ä'-yēn: an eye

# ּוְעֵינְן "-yēn' (n.) eye; look, appearance, sight, face, surface; fountain, spring

See Eye

Primitive Root: פְּנָה /pä-nä': to turn (by implication, the face)

# pä-nēm' (n.) (pl. only) face, countenance; surface; appearance, person; (with prefixes) before, etc.

See Face

Primitive Root: רַאַה/rä-ä': to see

# מראה mär-e' (n.) appearance, look, aspect; vision, sight; form appearance

See Beauty

# SILENT

Primitive Root: דָּמָה/da-ma': to be dumb or silent

# קְּמָה (v.) to be like, resemble; to make or become like; to intend, purpose, meditate; to remember

See also Liken

- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 15:1 The burden of Moab. Because in the night Ar of Moab is laid waste, and brought to **silence**; because in the night Kir of Moab is laid waste, and **brought to silence**;

# לְּמִי dɛ-mē' (n.) quiet, rest, stillness

See Rest

Primitive Root: ๒๒๔/dä-mäm: to be dumb

## לומָם dü-mäm' (n.) silence; (adv.) silently, still

47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.

Primitive Root: חָרֵשׁ/ḥä-räsh': to scratch

# חַרֵשׁ hä-räsh' (v.) to engrave, inscribe; to plow; to be deaf, be silent; to entangle, devise; to forge

See Plow

Primitive Root: חַשְׁה/ḥä-shä': to hush or keep quiet

# חַשָּׁה |hä-shä' (v.) to be quiet, rest, be silent

See Peace

#### SILVER

Primitive Root: נְּסֵף/kä-säf': to become pale

# אבען ke'-sef (n.) silver; money

- 1:22 Thy silver is become dross, thy wine mixed with water;
- 2:7 Their land also is full of **silver** and gold, neither is there any end of their treasures; their land is also full of horses, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 2:20 In that day a man shall cast his idols of **silver**, and his idols of gold, which he hath made for himself to worship, to the moles and to the bats:
- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every place shall be, where there were a thousand vines at a thousand silverlings, which shall even be for briers and thorns.
- 13:17 Behold, I will stir up the Medes against them, which shall not regard silver; and as for gold, they shall not delight in it.
- 30:22 Ye shall defile also the covering of thy graven images of **silver**, and the ornament of thy molten images of gold; thou shalt cast them away as a menstruous cloth; thou shalt say unto it, Get thee hence.
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall cast away his idols of **silver**, and his idols of gold, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the **silver**, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with **money**, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh **silver** in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 48:10 Behold, I have refined thee, but not with silver; I have chosen thee in the furnace of affliction.
- 52:3 For thus saith the Lord, Ye have sold yourselves for naught; and ye shall be redeemed without money.
- 55:1 Ho, everyone that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no **money**; come ye, buy, and eat; yea, come, buy wine and milk without **money** and without price.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend **money** for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their **silver** and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

# SIN

Primitive Root: אָשִׁם/ä-shäm': to be guilty

# אַשָּׁם ä-shäm (n.) fault, guilt, trespass; guilt offering, trespass offering

See Offering

Primitive Root: חֲטָא /hä-tä' hä-tä': to miss

## מָטָא hä-tä' (v.) to miss, fail; to sin, forfeit; to endanger; to miss the mark; to atone, cleanse from sin

- 1:4 Ah **sinful** nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 29:21 That make a man an **offender** for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the gate, and turn aside the just for a thing of nought.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a spoil, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have **sinned**?
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.

- 64:6 [64:5-6] But we have **sinned**; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the child shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the **sinner**, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.

## אָלְּחָטָא (n.) sin, transgression, fault

- 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your **sins** be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.
- 31:7 For in that day every man shall cast away his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which your own hands have made unto you for a sin.
- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my soul, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my **sins** behind thy back.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the **sin** of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

# מְטָא |hät-tä' (n.) sinner; one who bears blame, culpable

- 1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with wrath and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the **sinners** thereof out of it.
- 33:14 The **sinners** in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?

# הָטָאַה lḥä-tä-ä' or אָרָטָאָה lḥä-tä-ä' (n.) sin, guilt, punishment; sacrifice for sin

- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their **sin** to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 5:18 Woe unto them that draw iniquity with cords of vanity, and sin as it were with a cart rope;
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his **sin**; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;
- 40:2 Speak ye comfortably to Jerusalem, and cry unto her, that her warfare is accomplished, that her iniquity is pardoned; for she hath received of the Lord's hand double for all her sins.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy **sins**, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 43:25 I, even I, am he that blotteth out thy transgressions for mine own sake, and will not remember thy sins.
- 44:22 I have blotted out, as a thick cloud, thy transgressions, and, as a cloud, thy sins; return unto me; for I have redeemed thee.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.
- 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.
- 59:12 For our transgressions are multiplied before thee, and our **sins** testify against us; for our transgressions are with us; and as for our iniquities, we know them;

# SING

Primitive Root: זְמֵר /zä-mär': to touch the strings or parts of a musical instrument

# zä-mär' (v.) to sing, praise; to play an instrument; to dance, celebrate

12:5 Sing unto the Lord; for he hath done excellent things; this is known in all the earth.

Primitive Root: גַגן/nä-gän': to thrum

# נְגְינַה n-gē-nä' (n.) music of a stringed instrument; song, psalm, satire

38:20 The Lord was ready to save me; therefore we will **sing** my **songs** to the stringed instruments all the days of our life in the house of the Lord.

Primitive Root: עֵנֵה/ä-nä': to depress

# "גְּבָּה jä-nä' (v.) to be bowed down, be depressed, be miserable; to oppress, afflict; to toil, labor

See Afflict

Primitive Root: רְבָּה'/rä-vä': to increase

# rä-vä' (v.) to become many, increase, multiply; to become great, large, or mighty

See Increase

Primitive Root: רָנֵן/rä-nän': to creak

# רנן rä-nän' (v.) to emit tremulous sound; to cry aloud, shout for joy, rejoice; to lament; to sing praise

- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no **singing**, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 26:19 Thy dead men shall live, together with my dead body shall they arise. Awake and **sing**, ye that dwell in dust; for thy dew is as the dew of herbs, and the earth shall cast out the dead.
- 35:2 It shall blossom abundantly, and rejoice even with joy and **singing**; the glory of Lebanon shall be given unto it, the excellency of Carmel and Sharon; they shall see the glory of the Lord, and the excellency of our God.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb **sing**; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and streams in the desert.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into singing, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they **sing**; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, **sing** together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath comforted his people, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 61:7 For your shame ye shall have double; and for confusion they shall **rejoice** in their portion; therefore in their land they shall possess the double; everlasting joy shall be unto them.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

# רְנַהֹּ |rēn-nä' (n.) shouting for joy, rejoicing, exultation

- 14:7 The whole earth is at rest, and is quiet; they break forth into **singing**.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with **songs** and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 43:14 Thus saith the Lord, your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; For your sake I have sent to Babylon, and have brought down all their nobles, and the Chaldeans, whose **cry** is in the ships.
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into **singing**, ye mountains, O forest, and every tree therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a voice of **singing** declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 49:13 Sing, O heavens; and be joyful, O earth; and break forth into **singing**, O mountains; for the Lord hath comforted his people, and will have mercy upon his afflicted.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with **singing** unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into **singing**, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with child; for more are the children of the desolate than the children of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into **singing**, and all the trees of the field shall clap their hands.

Primitive Root: שִׁיר shēr: to sing

# איר shēr (v.) to sing, praise, celebrate; (part.) singer

- 5:1 And then will I **sing** to my well-beloved a song of my beloved touching his vineyard. My well beloved hath a vineyard in a very fruitful hill;
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 42:10 **Sing** unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.

#### Sit

Primitive Root: יַשָּׁב'/yä-shäv': to sit down

# יַשְׁב yä-shäv' (v.) to sit, sit down; to remain, stay, abide; to dwell, inhabit; to place; to marry

- 3:26 And her gates shall lament and mourn; and she shall be desolate, and shall sit upon the ground.
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 5:8 Woe unto them that join house to house, that lay field to field, till there can be no place, that they may be **placed** alone in the midst of the earth!
- 5:9 In mine ears said the Lord of hosts, Of a truth many houses shall be desolate, and great and fair cities without inhabitant.
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips, and I **dwell** in the midst of a people of unclean lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 6:11 Then said I, Lord, how long? And he said, Until the cities be wasted without **inhabitant**, and the houses without man, and the land be utterly desolate.
- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a stone of stumbling and for a rock of offense to both the houses of Israel, for a gin and for a snare to the **inhabitants** of Jerusalem.
- 9:2 The people that walked in darkness have seen a great light; they that **dwell** in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 9:9 And all the people shall know, even Ephraim and the inhabitant of Samaria, that say in the pride and stoutness of heart,
- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the **inhabitants** like a valiant man.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that **dwellest** in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:31 Madmenah is removed; the inhabitants of Gebim gather themselves to flee.
- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 13:20 It shall never be **inhabited**, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian pitch tent there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall **sit** upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 18:3 All ye **inhabitants** of the world and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 20:6 And the **inhabitant** of this isle shall say in that day, Behold, such is our expectation, whither we flee for help to be delivered from the king of Assyria; and how shall we escape?
- 21:14 The inhabitants of the land of Tema brought water to him that was thirsty, they prevented with their bread him that fled.
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and strengthen him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a father to the **inhabitants** of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of Zidon, that pass over the sea, have replenished.
- 23:6 Pass ye over to Tarshish; howl, ye inhabitants of the isle.
- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that **dwell** before the Lord, to eat sufficiently, and for durable clothing.
- 24:1 Behold, the Lord maketh the earth empty, and maketh it waste, and turneth it upside down, and scattereth abroad the inhabitants thereof.
- 24:5 The earth also is defiled under the **inhabitants** thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, broken the everlasting covenant.

- 24:6 Therefore hath the curse devoured the earth, and they that **dwell** therein are desolate; therefore the **inhabitants** of the earth are burned, and few men left.
- 24:17 Fear, and the pit, and the snare, are upon thee, O inhabitant of the earth.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that **dwell** on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the **inhabitants** of the world will learn righteousness.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the **inhabitants** of the world fallen.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the **inhabitants** of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 30:19 For the people shall **dwell** in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.
- 32:18 And my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in sure dwellings, and in quiet resting places;
- 33:24 And the inhabitant shall not say, I am sick; the people that dwell therein shall be forgiven their iniquity.
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that **sit** upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own piss with you?
- 37:16 O Lord of hosts, God of Israel, that **dwellest** between the cherubim, thou art the God, even thou alone, of all the kingdoms of the earth; thou hast made heaven and earth.
- 37:27 Therefore their **inhabitants** were of small power, they were dismayed and confounded; they were as the grass of the field, and as the green herb, as the grass on the housetops, and as corn blasted before it be grown up.
- 37:28 But I know thy **abode**, and thy going out, and thy coming in, and thy rage against me.
- 37:37 So Sennacherib king of Assyria departed, and went and returned, and dwelt at Nineveh.
- 38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the living; I shall behold man no more with the **inhabitants** of the world.
- 40:22 It is he that **sitteth** upon the circle of the earth, and the **inhabitants** thereof are as grasshoppers? that stretcheth out the heavens as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a tent to **dwell** in;
- 42:7 To open the blind eyes, to bring out the prisoners from the prison, and them that sit in darkness out of the prison house.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new song, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the **inhabitants** thereof.
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth **inhabit**; let the **inhabitants** of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 44:13 The carpenter stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may **remain** in the house.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be **inhabited**; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the decayed places thereof;
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the heavens; God himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in vain, he formed it to be **inhabited**; I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 47:1 Come down, and **sit** in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, **sit** on the ground; there is no throne, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 47:5 Sit thou silent, and get thee into darkness, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called, The lady of kingdoms.
- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that **dwellest** carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not **sit** as a widow, neither shall I know the loss of children;
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.
- 49:19 For thy waste and thy desolate places, and the land of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the **inhabitants**, and they that swallowed thee up shall be far away.
- 49:20 The children which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine ears, The place is too strait for me; give place to me that I may **dwell**.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like smoke, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that **dwell** therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; arise, and **sit down**, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of Zion.

- 54:3 For thou shalt break forth on the right hand and on the left; and thy seed shall inherit the Gentiles, and make the desolate cities to be **inhabited**.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to **dwell** in.
- 65:4 Which **remain** among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;
- 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another **inhabit**; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their hands.

Primitive Root: שַׁבַת/shä-väth': to repose

# אֶׁבֶּת |shɛ'-vɛth (n.) (m.) cessation, rest, inactivity; interruption (of work); (f.) dwelling, seat, place, a sitting

30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.

#### Six

Primitive Number: שֵׁשׁ /shāsh: a primitive number

#### שׁשׁ shāsh (n.) six

6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each one had **six** wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.

#### SLAUGHTER

Primitive Root: הַרֵג/hä-räg': to smite with deadly intent

## הרג he'reg (n.) killing, slaughter, murder

27:7 Hath he smitten him, as he smote those that smote him? or is he slain according to the **slaughter** of them that are slain by him? 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of waters in the day of the great **slaughter**, when the towers fall.

Primitive Root: טְבַחְ/tä-väḥ': to slaughter

# שְבַּח |te'-väḥ (n.) slaying, slaughter, killing; slain beast, banquet, meal of meat

- 34:2 For the indignation of the Lord is upon all nations, and his fury upon all their armies; he hath utterly destroyed them, he hath delivered them to the **slaughter**.
- 34:6 The sword of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great **slaughter** in the land of Idumea.
- 53:7 He was oppressed, and he was afflicted, yet he opened not his mouth; he is brought as a lamb to the **slaughter**, and as a sheep before her shearers is dumb, so he openeth not his mouth.
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the sword, and ye shall all bow down to the **slaughter**; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.

## מְּטְבֵּחַ mät-bā'-äḥ (n.) slaying, slaughter, massacre

14:21 Prepare **slaughter** for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.

Primitive Root: גָּבָה/nä-ḥä': to strike

# מְבָּה mäk-kä' or מְבָּת mäk-käth' (n.) smiting, striking, blow, beating, defeat; wound

See Sore

#### SLAY

Primitive Root: הָרֵג/hä-räg': to smite with deadly intent

#### להָרג hä-räg' (v.) to kill, murder, slay

- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are **slain**, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 14:20 Thou shalt not be joined with them in burial, because thou hast destroyed thy land, and **slain** thy people; the seed of evildoers shall never be renowned.
- 14:30 And the first-born of the poor shall feed, and the needy shall lie down in safety; and I will kill thy root with famine, and he shall slay thy remnant.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, **slaying** oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking wine; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to punish the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her **slain**.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall **slay** the dragon that is in the sea.
- 27:7 Hath he smitten him, as he smote those that smote him? or is he slain according to the slaughter of them that are slain by him?

Primitive Root: חֲלֵל /ḥä-läl': to bore

# חָלַל (n.) pierced through; profane

- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 34:3 Their slain also shall be cast out, and their stink shall come up out of their carcasses, and the mountains shall be melted with their blood.
- 66:16 For by fire and by his sword will the Lord plead with all flesh; and the slain of the Lord shall be many.

Primitive Root: מות müth': to die

#### müth' (v.) to die, wither, decay; to perish; to slay, kill

See Die

Primitive Root: שָׁחֵט/shä-ḥät': to slaughter

#### שׁחַט shä-ḥät' (v.) to slay, kill, slaughter, massacre, murder; to hammer out, beat thin, sharpen

See Kill

## SLEEP

Primitive Root: הָּזָה/hä-zä': to dream

#### הְזָה |hä-zä' (v.) to dream, be sleepy

56:10 His watchmen are blind; they are all ignorant, they are all dumb dogs, they cannot bark; **sleeping**, lying down, loving to slumber.

Primitive Root: יָשׁן/yä-shän': to be slack or languid

# אָישִׁן yä-shän' (v.) to fall asleep, to sleep; to be flaccid, be dried, be old; to cause to sleep, lull

5:27 None shall be weary nor stumble among them; none shall slumber nor **sleep**; neither shall the girdle of their loins be loosed, nor the latchet of their shoes be broken;

Primitive Root: רְדָם/rä-däm': to stun

#### תרדמה tär-dā-mä' (n.) deep sleep; sleeping, lethargy

See Deep

#### **SMELL**

Primitive Root: בָּשָׂם/bä-säm': from an unused root meaning to be fragrant

#### בּשִׁם |be'-sem (n.) sweet scent, fragrance, balsam-scent; aromatic spice

See Spice

#### **SMITE**

Primitive Root: הַלֶם/hä-läm': to strike down

### |hä-läm' (v.) to beat, smite, strike, stamp; to smite to pieces, break; to be broken up, scattered

See Break

Primitive Root: בְּתַת /kä-thäth': to bruise or strike violently

## בֹתַת (v.) to beat, hammer, forge; to break, break to pieces; to rout

See Break

Primitive Root: נגף/nä-gäf: to push

## מוֹבְעַף nä-gäf' (v.) to smite, push, thrust, punish; to be defeated, routed, smitten

19:22 And the Lord shall **smite** Egypt; he shall **smite** and heal it; and they shall return even to the Lord, and he shall be entreated of them, and shall heal them.

Primitive Root: גָּבָה/nä-ḥä': to strike

#### חֲבַּבַּה nä-ḥä' (v.) to be smitten, be beaten; to be slain; to kill, slay; to smite, strike, beat

1:5 Why should ye be stricken anymore? ye will revolt more and more; the whole head is sick, and the whole heart faint.

- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 9:13 For the people turneth not unto him that smiteth them, neither do they seek the Lord of hosts.
- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that **smote** them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall **smite** thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall **smite** the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall **smite** it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 14:29 Rejoice not thou, whole Palestina, because the rod of him that **smote** thee is broken; for out of the serpent's root shall come forth a cockatrice, and his fruit shall be a fiery flying serpent.
- 27:7 Hath he smitten him, as he smote those that smote him? or is he slain according to the slaughter of them that are slain by him?
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and **smote** in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five thousand, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons **smote** him with the sword; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun **smite** them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither turned away back. I gave my back to the **smiters**, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.
- 57:17 For the iniquity of his covetousness was I wroth, and **smote** him; I hid me and was wroth, and he went on frowardly in the way of his heart.

- 58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to **smite** with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high.
- 60:10 And the sons of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I **smote** thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he **slew** a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

## mäk-kä' or מְּבָּת mäk-käth' (n.) smiting, striking, blow, beating, defeat; wound

See Sore

Primitive Root: סְבַּר/sä-fäḥ': to scrape out

## אַפַּר |sä-fäḥ' (v.) to be added, to join oneself; to pour out; to be gathered together, assembled

See Cleave

#### **SMITH**

Primitive Word: חַרֵשׁ/ḥä-räsh': to scratch

# חָרֶשׁ |ḥä-räsh' (n.) an engraver, a cutter in wood, metal, or stone; a smith, workman, artistan, artificer,

- 40:19 The workman melteth a graven image, and the goldsmith spreadeth it over with gold, and casteth silver chains.
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a tree that will not rot; he seeketh unto him a cunning **workman** to prepare a graven image, that shall not be moved.
- 41:7 So the **carpenter** encouraged the goldsmith, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he fastened it with nails, that it should not be moved.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be ashamed; and the **workmen**, they are of men; let them all be gathered together, let them stand up; yet they shall fear, and they shall be ashamed together.
- 44:12 The [iron] **smith** with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint. [See also Iron]
- 44:13 The **carpenter** stretcheth out his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.
- 45:16 They shall be ashamed, and also confounded, all of them; they shall go to confusion together, that are makers of idols.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the **smith** that bloweth the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his work; and I have created the waster to destroy.

#### **SMOKE**

Primitive Root: עָשֵׁן'ä-shān': to smoke

#### עשׁן ä-shän' (n.) smoke

- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount Zion, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and **smoke** by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of Zion shall be a defense.
- 6:4 And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of **smoke**.
- 14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a **smoke**, and none shall be alone in his appointed times.
- 34:10 It shall not be quenched night nor day; the **smoke** thereof shall go up forever; from generation to generation it shall lie waste; none shall pass through it forever and ever.
- 51:6 Lift up your eyes to the heavens, and look upon the earth beneath; for the heavens shall vanish away like **smoke**, and the earth shall wax old like a garment, and they that dwell therein shall die in like manner; but my salvation shall be forever, and my righteousness shall not be abolished.
- 65:5 Which say, Stand by thyself, come not near to me; for I am holier than thou. These are a **smoke** in my nose, a fire that burneth all the day.

#### SMOOTH

Primitive Root: חָלַק, /ḥä-läk': to be smooth

# אָבְקּ |ḥä-läk' (v.) to be smooth, hypocritical; to divide, distribute; to despoil, plunder

See Divide

## חַלָּק |hä-läk' (n.) smooth, bald, bare; hypocritical, lying

57:6 Among the **smooth** stones of the stream is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou poured a drink offering, thou hast offered a meat offering. Should I receive comfort in these?

#### חלקה |hel-kä' (n.) smoothness; portion, part

30:10 Which say to the seers, See not; and to the prophets, Prophesy not unto us right things, speak unto us **smooth things**, prophesy deceits;

#### **SNATCH**

Primitive Root: אָזַר/gä-zär': to cut down or off

## אָזַר (v.) to cut, divide; to fell; to devour, consume; to decree

See Cut

#### Snow

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵג /shä-läg': to be snow white

## שלג |she'-leg (n.) snow

- 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as **snow**; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the **snow** from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;

#### SODOM

Primitive Root: סְדֹם /s $\varepsilon$ -dōm': an unused root meaning to scorch

## סְדֹם |sɛ-dōm' (prop. n.) Sodom

- 1:9 Except the Lord of hosts had left unto us a very small remnant, we should have been as **Sodom**, and we should have been like unto Gomorrah.
- 1:10 Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah.
- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as **Sodom**, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their souls! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 13:19 And Babylon, the glory of kingdoms, the beauty of the Chaldees' excellency, shall be as when God overthrew **Sodom** and Gomorrah.

## SOLE

Primitive Root: אָבֶּב/kä-fäf': to curve

#### אָבְר (n.) hand, palm, paw; sole; hollow vessel, bowl, pan, dish

See Hand

#### SOLEMN

Primitive Root: חָלֵגֹג, /ḥä-gäg': to move in article, a sacred procession

## אָם häg (n.) festival, feast; festival sacrifice, victim

See Sacrifice

Primitive Root: יַעֵּד/yä-äd': to fix upon

## מועד mō-ād' (n.) fixed or appointed time, season, or festival; assembly, meeting, festive gathering

See Feast

Primitive Root: עצר/ä-tsär': to enclose

# אַצְרָה' assembly, festival assembly, festival

See Assembly

#### SON

Primitive Root: בָּנָה/bä-nä': to build

## שבו (n.) son, male descendant; children (male and female)

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up **children**, and they have rebelled against me.
- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, **children** that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are gone away backward.
- 7:3 Then said the Lord unto Isaiah, Go forth now to meet Ahaz, thou, and Shear-jashub thy son, at the end of the conduit of the upper pool, in the highway of the fuller's field;
- 7:14 Therefore the Lord himself shall give you a sign; Behold, a virgin shall conceive, and shall bear a son, and shall call his name Immanuel.
- 8:3 And I went unto the prophetess; and she conceived, and bare a son. Then said the Lord to me, Call his name Maher-shalal-hash-baz.
- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a **son** is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 11:14 But they shall fly upon the shoulders of the Philistines toward the west; they shall spoil them of the east together; they shall lay their hand upon Edom and Moab; and the **children** of Ammon shall obey them.
- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the womb; their eye shall not spare **children**.
- 14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations!
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his **children** for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the world with cities.
- 19:11 Surely the princes of Zoan are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the **son** of the wise, the **son** of ancient kings?
- 21:10 O my threshing, and the **corn** of my floor; that which I have heard of the Lord of hosts, the God of Israel, have I declared unto you.
- 21:17 And the residue of the number of archers, the mighty men of the **children** of Kedar, shall be diminished; for the Lord God of Israel hath spoken it.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious **children**, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my Spirit, that they may add sin to sin;
- 30:9 That this is a rebellious people, lying **children**, **children** that will not hear the law of the Lord;
- 37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of trouble, and of rebuke, and of blasphemy; for the **children** are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.
- 37:12 Have the gods of the nations delivered them which my fathers have destroyed, as Gozan, and Haran, and Rezeph, and the **children** of Eden which were in Telassar?
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his **sons** smote him with the sword; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his **son** reigned in his stead.
- 38:19 The living, the living, he shall praise thee, as I do this day; the father to the children shall make known thy truth.
- 39:7 And of thy **sons** that shall issue from thee, which thou shalt beget, shall they take away; and they shall be eunuchs in the palace of the king of Babylon.
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my **sons**, and concerning the work of my hands command ye me.
- 49:15 Can a woman forget her sucking **child**, that she should not have compassion on the son of her womb? yea, they may forget, yet will I not forget thee.
- 49:17 Thy children shall make haste; thy destroyers and they that made thee waste shall go forth of thee.

- 49:20 The **children** which thou shalt have, after thou hast lost the other, shall say again in thine ears, The place is too strait for me; give place to me that I may dwell.
- 49:22 Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I will lift up mine hand to the Gentiles, and set up my standard to the people; and they shall bring thy **sons** in their arms, and thy daughters shall be carried upon their shoulders.
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the terrible shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy **children**.
- 51:12 I am he, yea, I am he that comforteth you; behold, who art thou, that thou shouldest be afraid of a man that shall die, and of the son of man which shall be made as grass;
- 51:18 And there is none to guide her among all the **sons** whom she hath brought forth; neither is there any that taketh her by the hand of all the **sons** that she hath brought up.
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these two they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.
- 52:14 As many were astonished at thee; his visage was so marred more than any man, and his form more than the sons of men;
- 54:1 Sing, O barren, thou that didst not bear; break forth into singing, and cry aloud, thou that didst not travail with **child**; for more are the **children** of the desolate than the **children** of the married wife, saith the Lord.
- 54:13 And all thy children shall be taught of the Lord; and great shall be the peace of thy children.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the **son** of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil.
- 56:3 Neither let the **son** of the stranger, that hath joined himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry tree.
- 56:5 Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name better than of **sons** and of daughters; I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be cut off.
- 56:6 Also the **sons** of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 57:3 But draw near hither, ye sons of the sorceress, the seed of the adulterer and the whore.
- 60:4 Lift up thine eyes round about, and see; all they gather themselves together, they come to thee; thy **sons** shall come from far, and thy daughters shall be nursed at thy side.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy **sons** from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 60:10 And the **sons** of strangers shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 60:14 The **sons** also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your ploughmen and your vinedressers.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the **sons** of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 63:8 For he said, Surely they are my people, **children** that will not lie; so he was their Savior.
- 65:20 In those days there shall be no more thence an infant of days, nor an old man that hath not filled his days; for the **child** shall not die, but shall live to be an hundred years old; but the sinner, living to be an hundred years old, shall be accursed.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as Zion travailed, she brought forth her **children**.

#### - שבוֹן |ben- (n.) son of (place, person, God)

[Separated for convenience]

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the **son of** Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 2:1 The word that Isaiah the son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the **son of** Jotham, the **son of** Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the **son of** Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the **son of** Remaliah.
- 7:5 Because Syria, Ephraim, and the son of Remaliah, have taken evil counsel against thee, saying,
- 7:6 Let us go up against Judah, and vex it, and let us make a breach therein for us, and set a king in the midst of it, yea, even the **son** of Tabeal;
- 7:9 And the head of Ephraim is Samaria, and the head of Samaria is Remaliah's son. If ye will not believe, surely ye shall not be established.

- 8:2 And I took unto me faithful witnesses to record, Uriah the priest, and Zechariah the son of Jeberechiah.
- 8:6 Forasmuch as this people refuseth the waters of Shiloah that go softly and rejoice in Rezin and Remaliah's son;
- 13:1 The burden of Babylon, which Isaiah the son of Amoz did see.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the **son of** Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 22:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that I will call my servant Eliakim the son of Hilkiah;
- 36:3 Then came forth unto him Eliakim, Hilkiah's son, which was over the house, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, Asaph's son, the recorder.
- 36:22 Then came Eliakim, the son of Hilkiah, that was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and Joah, the son of Asaph, the recorder, to Hezekiah with their clothes rent, and told him the words of Rabshakeh.
- 37:2 And he sent Eliakim, who was over the household, and Shebna the scribe, and the elders of the priests, covered with sackcloth, unto Isaiah the prophet the **son of** Amoz.
- 37:21 Then Isaiah the **son of** Amoz sent unto Hezekiah, saying, Thus saith the Lord God of Israel, whereas thou hast prayed to me against Sennacherib king of Assyria;
- 38:1 In those days was Hezekiah sick unto death. And Isaiah the prophet the **son of** Amoz came unto him, and said unto him, Thus saith the Lord, Set thine house in order; for thou shalt die, and not live.
- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the **son of** Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.

#### בְּנִי-יִשְׂרַאֵל|bɛ-nē yēs-rä-āl' (n.) sons of Israel

[Separated for convenience]

- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of Syria; they shall be as the glory of the **children of Israel**, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 17:9 In that day shall his strong cities be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the **children of Israel**; and there shall be desolation.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the stream of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 31:6 Turn ye unto him from whom the children of Israel have deeply revolted.
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the **children of Israel** bring an offering in a clean vessel into the house of the Lord.

Primitive Root: יֵלֶד /yä-läd': to bear young, beget

## יבֶּלד' (n.) one born, a child (male); young one; (pl.) children

See Child

Primitive Root: נָער |nä'-är: to tumble about, through the idea of a rustling mane

## נֵעֵר |nä'-är (n.) child, boy, youth (male); servant

See Child

## Song

Primitive Root: מֵבֶר/zä-mär': to touch the strings or parts of a musical instrument

## זְמִיר $|z^{\epsilon}$ -mēr' (n.) song, hymn, song of praise, song of triumph

24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we heard **songs**, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto mel the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.

## ימְרַת zēm-räth' or זְּמְרָה zēm-rä' (n.) song, music, praise; object of praise, choice thing

12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will trust, and not be afraid; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my strength and my **song**; he also is become my salvation.

Primitive Root: נָגַן/nä-gän': to thrum

## נְגְינַה |n<sup>e</sup>-gē-nä' (n.) music of a stringed instrument; song, psalm, satire

See Sing

Primitive Root: רֵעַ/rä-nän': to creak

## רְבַּה |rēn-nä' (n.) shouting for joy, rejoicing, exultation

See Sing

Primitive Root: שִׁיר shēr: to sing

# שִׁיר (n.) song, singing

- 5:1 And then will I sing to my well-beloved a **song** of my beloved touching his vineyard. My well beloved hath a vineyard in a very fruitful hill;
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that Tyre shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of one king; after the end of seventy years shall Tyre sing as a harlot.
- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the city, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make sweet melody, sing many **songs**, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 24:9 They shall not drink wine with a song; strong drink shall be bitter to them that drink it.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city, salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 30:29 Ye shall have a **song**, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come unto the mountain of the Lord, to the Mighty One of Israel.
- 42:10 Sing unto the Lord a new **song**, and his praise from the end of the earth, ye that go down to the sea, and all that is therein; the isles, and the inhabitants thereof.

#### SORCERY

Primitive Root: בְּשֵׁף/kä-shäf': to whisper a spell

## לְשֵׁר ke'-shef (n.) incantation; scorcery

- 47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy **sorceries**, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.
- 47:12 Stand now with thine enchantments, and with the multitude of thy **sorceries**, wherein thou has labored from thy youth; if so be thou shalt be able to profit, if so be thou mayest prevail.

Primitive Root: עָבֵן/ä-nän': to cover or cloud over

## אַנַן -nän' (v.) to gather clouds; to use hidden arts, practice magic, soothsay, divine; (part.) sorcerer

- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the **soothsayers** like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of strangers.
- 57:3 But draw near hither, ye sons of the **sorceress**, the seed of the adulterer and the whore.

#### SORE

Primitive Root: הַגָּה/hä-gä': to murmur

#### הַאַה hä-gä' (v.) to murmur, mutter, growl; to sigh, moan; to speak, utter; to meditate, muse

See Mourn

Primitive Root: חוּל/חוּל: to twist or whirl

## hְּשׁׁן (v.) to twist, twirl; to writhe; to be in labor; to be afraid, tremble; to wait, hope

See Pain

Primitive Root: נָּכָּה/nä-ḥä': to strike

## mäk-kä' or מְּבָּת mäk-käth' (n.) smiting, striking, blow, beating, defeat; wound

- 1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying **sores**; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the **slaughter** of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his rod was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 27:7 Hath he smitten him, as he smote those that **smote** him? or is he slain according to the slaughter of them that are slain by him?

30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their **wound**.

Primitive Root: קַשָּׁה/kä-shä': meaning to be dense

## קשֶׁת kä-shɛ' (adj.) hard, difficult, cruel, severe, unfeeling; firm, fast, hardened, inflexible

See Grieve

#### Sorrow

Primitive Root: אֵנָה/ä-nä': to groan

## אַניַה a-nē-ya' (n.) sorrow, mourning, lamentation

29:2 Yet I will distress Ariel, and there shall be heaviness and sorrow: and it shall be unto me as Ariel.

Primitive Root: חֲבַל/hä-väl': to wind tightly (like a rope)

## וְחֲבַל יvel (n.) cord, rope, noose or snare; destruction; pang, pain

See Pang

Primitive Root: אָלֵגָה'/yä-gä': to grieve

# יָגוֹן yä-gōn' (n.) grief, sorrow

- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to Zion with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and **sorrow** and sighing shall flee away.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto Zion; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and **sorrow** and mourning shall flee away.

Primitive Root: בַּאַב/kä-äv': to feel pain

## בְאֵב |k<sup>ε</sup>-āv' (n.) pain, sorrow, grief

- 17:11 In the day shalt thou make thy plant to grow, and in the morning shalt thou make thy seed to flourish; but the harvest shall be a heap in the day of grief and of desperate **sorrow**.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

## mäḥ-ōv' (n.) pain, sorrow, suffering, disease, wound

- 53:3 He is despised and rejected of men; a man of **sorrows**, and acquainted with grief; and we hid as it were our faces from him; he was despised, and we esteemed him not.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.

Primitive Root: עָצַב|ä-tsäv': to carve

# מַעצֵבָה |mä-ä-sā-vä' (n.) pain, affliction, sorrow

50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; walk in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in **sorrow**.

# עצב (n.) idol, image of an idol; sorrow, pain, affliction, labor

- 14:3 And it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall give thee rest from thy sorrow and from thy fear, and from the hard bondage wherein thou wast made to serve.
- 48:5 I have even from the beginning declared it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath commanded them.

Primitive Root: צַרֶר/tsä-rär': to cramp

#### נאבי (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

See Enemy

#### Sorry

Primitive Root: רוּד /nüd: to nod

# רוֹשׁ (v.) to move to and fro, shake; to wander, flee; to pity, commiserate, comfort; to lament, deplore

See Remove

#### Soul

Primitive Root: נָפֵשׁ '-fäsh: to breathe

# וֹבֶּטֵשׁ |ne'-fesh (n.) breath, respiration, life; soul, spirit, mind

- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 3:9 The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and doth declare their sin to be even as Sodom, they cannot hide it. Woe unto their **souls**! for they have rewarded evil unto themselves.
- 3:20 The bonnets, and the ornaments of the legs, and the headbands, and the tablets, and the earnings,
- 5:14 Therefore hell hath enlarged **herself**, and opened her mouth without measure; and their glory, and their multitude, and their pomp, and he that rejoiceth, shall descend into it.
- 10:18 And shall consume the glory of his forest, and of his fruitful field, both **soul** and body; and they shall be as when a standard-bearer fainteth.
- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his **life** shall be grievous unto him.
- 19:10 And they shall be broken in the purposes thereof, all that make sluices and ponds for fish.
- 26:8 Yea, in the way of thy judgments, O Lord, have we waited for thee; the desire of our **soul** is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee.
- 26:9 With my **soul** have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his **soul** is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his **soul** hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the **soul** of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the thirsty to fail.
- 38:15 What shall I say? he hath both spoken unto me, and himself hath healed me. I shall go softly all my years, that I may not walk in the bitterness of my soul.
- 38:17 Behold, I had great bitterness instead of peace, but thou hast in love to my **soul**, saved me from the pit of corruption, for thou hast cast all my sins behind thy back.
- 42:1 Behold my servant, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my **soul** delighteth; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the Gentiles.
- 43:4 Since thou wast precious in my sight, thou hast been honorable, and I have loved thee; therefore will I give men for thee, and people for thy life.
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived heart hath turned him aside, that he cannot deliver his **soul**, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 46:2 They stoop, they bow down together; they could not deliver the burden, but themselves are gone into captivity.
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver **themselves** from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to warm at, nor fire to sit before it.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall worship, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 51:23 But I will put it into the hand of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy **soul**, Bow down, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy body as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.
- 53:10 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief; when thou shalt make his **soul** an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand.
- 53:11 He shall see of the travail of his **soul**, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his **soul** unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

- 55:2 Wherefore do ye spend money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your **soul** delight itself in fatness.
- 55:3 Incline your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your **soul** shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 58:3 Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and thou seest not? Wherefore have we afflicted our **soul**, and thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and exact all your labors.
- 58:5 Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his **soul**? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord?
- 58:10 And if thou draw out thy **soul** to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted **soul**; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday;
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy **soul** in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my **soul** shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her jewels.
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered swine's blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.

Primitive Root: נֵשָׁם/nä-shäm': to blow away

# נְשְׁמֵה |rɛ-shä-mä' (n.) breath, breathing, pant; living soul, animal

See Breath

#### SOUND

Primitive Root: הַמָּה /hä-mä': to make a loud sound, like a hum

## המה |hä-mä' (v.) to hum (like bees); to sound (noise of an animal); to be agitated, noisy

- 16:11 Wherefore my bowels shall sound like a harp for Moab, and mine inward parts for Kir-haresh.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a **noise** like the **noise** of the seas; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty waters!
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.
- 59:11 We **roar** all like bears, and mourn sore like doves; we look for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from us.

#### militude (of people), crowd; agrigation מוֹלוֹן hä-mōn' (n.) sound, noise, bustle, tumult; multitude (of people), crowd; agrigation

See Multitude

Primitive Root: מַמְם/tä-mäm': to complete, in a good or bad sense

## מְּתֹם $|m^{\epsilon}$ -thōm' (n.) integrity, soundness, wholeness, completeness; thing uninjured

1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no **soundness** in it; but wounds, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.

#### South

Primitive Root: יְמֵן/yä-män': to be right (physically)

#### |tāy-män' (n.) south, southern quarter, south side, south wind; district of Edom

43:6 I will say to the north, Give up; and to the **south**, Keep not back; bring my sons from far, and my daughters from the ends of the earth;

Primitive Word: נֵגֶב/ne'-gev: from an unused root meaning to be parched

## וְגֵגב |ne'-gev (n.) south, southern quarter, southern region

21:1 The burden of the desert of the sea. As whirlwinds in the **south** pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the terrible land.

30:6 The burden of the beasts of the **south**; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.

#### Sow

Primitive Root: בָּרֵע/zä-rä': to sow

## zä-rä' (v.) to scatter, disperse; to sow, plant; to conceive seed; to bear see, yield seed!

- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt **set** it with strange slips;
- 28:24 Doth the ploughman plough all day to sow? doth he open and break the clods of his ground?
- 30:23 Then shall he give the rain of thy seed, that thou shalt **sow** the ground withal; and bread of the increase of the earth, and it shall be fat and plenteous; in that day shall thy cattle feed in large pastures.
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that **sow** beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year **sow** ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be **sown**; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the **sower**, and bread to the eater;

#### זֶרוּעְ zā-rü'-ä (n.) thing sown, garden herb

61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are **sown** in it to spring forth; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to spring forth before all the nations.

## מְאָרֶע mēz-rä' (n.) field, sown field, place which is sown

19:7 The paper reeds by the brooks, by the mouth of the brooks, and **everything sown** by the brooks, shall wither, be driven away, and be no more.

## Spark

Primitive Root: וְנֵק /zä-näk': to draw together the feet, as in an animal about to spring

## זִּיקוֹת zē-kōth' (n.) fetters, chains; burning darts, fiery arrows

- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in **chains** they shall come over, and they shall fall down unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with **sparks**; walk in the light of your fire, and in the **sparks** which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.

Primitive Root: צֵצַן/nä-tsäts': to glare, as in be brightly colored

## ניצוץ |nē-tsōts' (n.) spark

1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.

## Speech

Primitive Root: אָמֵר/ä-mär': to say

#### אָמְרַה em-rä' (n.) word, speech

- 28:23 Give ye ear, and hear my voice; hearken, and hear my speech.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy **speech** shall be low out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the ground, and thy **speech** shall whisper out of the dust.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.

Primitive Root: either from סְבֶּרֹ (to scrape) or שָׁבָּה sä-fä' (to scrape) or שָׁבָּה (to abrade)

## שְׁבָּה ˈsä-fä' (n.) lip, mouth, speech, language; lip, edge, border

See Lips

#### SPEND

Primitive Root: בָּלָה'/kä-lä': to end

## kä-lä' (v.) to complete, finish, be ready; to cease; to consume, spend, destroy

See Fail

Primitive Root: שָׁקֵל/shä-käl': to suspend or poise

## אַקל|shä-käl' (v.) to poise, weigh; estimate; to be weighed out

See Weigh

## **SPICE**

Primitive Root: בַּשְׂם/bä-säm': from an unused root meaning to be fragrant

## שבׁשִׂם |bɛ'-sɛm (n.) sweet scent, fragrance, balsam-scent; aromatic spice

- 3:24 And it shall come to pass, instead of **sweet smell** there shall be stink; and instead of a girdle a rent; and instead of well-set hair, baldness; and instead of a stomacher a girding of sackcloth, burning instead of beauty.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.

#### **SPIRIT**

Primitive Word: אָב'/äv: father

#### סואונ (n.) mumble, soothsayer, conjuring ghost

See Familiar Spirit

Primitive Root: רוֹח 'rü'-äh: to blow

## ראס (n.) breeze, wind, breath, air, blowing; mind, soul, intellect, passion; spirit, ghost

- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the **spirit** of judgment, and by the **spirit** of burning.
- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the **wind**.
- 11:2 And the **Spirit** of the Lord shall rest upon him, the **spirit** of wisdom and understanding, the **spirit** of counsel and might, the **spirit** of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord;
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the **breath** of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty **wind** shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the **wind**, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 19:3 And the **spirit** of Egypt shall fail in the midst thereof; and I will destroy the counsel thereof; and they shall seek to the idols, and to the charmers, and to them that have familiar spirits, and to the wizards.
- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse **spirit** in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every work thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his vomit.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the **blast** of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my **spirit** within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth **wind**; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the world fallen.
- 27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the **spirit** of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.

- 29:24 They also that erred in spirit shall come to understanding, and they that murmured shall learn doctrine.
- 30:1 Woe to the rebellious children, saith the Lord, that take counsel, but not of me; and that cover with a covering, but not of my **Spirit**, that they may add sin to sin;
- 30:28 And his **breath**, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not **spirit**. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the **wind**, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.
- 32:15 Until the **Spirit** be poured upon us from on high, and the wilderness be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be counted for a forest.
- 33:11 Ye shall conceive chaff, ye shall bring forth stubble; your breath, as fire, shall devour you.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my **Spirit** it hath gathered them.
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a **blast** upon him, and he shall hear a rumor, and return to his own land; and I will cause him to fall by the sword in his own land.
- 38:16 Oh Lord, thou who art the life of my **spirit**, in whom I live; so wilt thou recover me, and make me to live; and in all these things I will praise thee.
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the **Spirit** of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:13 Who hath directed the **Spirit** of the Lord, or being his counselor hath taught him?
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the **wind** shall carry them away, and the whirlwind shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.
- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 42:1 Behold my servant, whom I uphold; mine elect, in whom my soul delighteth; I have put my **Spirit** upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the Gentiles.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and **spirit** to them that walk therein;
- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground; I will pour my **Spirit** upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the time that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his **Spirit**, hath sent me.
- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a woman forsaken and grieved in **spirit**, and a wife of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy God.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the **wind** shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;
- 57:15 For thus saith the high and lofty One that inhabiteth eternity, whose name is Holy; I dwell in the high and holy place, with him also that is of a contrite and humble **spirit**, to revive the **spirit** of the humble, and to revive the heart of the contrite ones.
- 57:16 For I will not contend forever, neither will I be always wroth; for the **spirit** should fail before me, and the souls which I have made.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the **Spirit** of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 59:21 As for me, this is my covenant with them, saith the Lord; my **Spirit** that is upon thee, and my words which I have put in thy mouth, shall not depart out of thy mouth, nor out of the mouth of thy seed, nor out of the mouth of thy seed's seed, saith the Lord, from henceforth and forever.
- 61:1 The **Spirit** of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in Zion; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the **spirit** of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.
- 63:11 Then he remembered the days of old, Moses, and his people, saying, Where is he that brought them up out of the sea with the shepherd of his flock? where is he that put his Holy **Spirit** within him?
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the valley, the **Spirit** of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.
- 64:6 But we have sinned; we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the **wind**, have taken us away.
- 65:14 Behold, my servants shall sing for joy of heart, but ye shall cry for sorrow of heart, and shall howl for vexation of spirit.

66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite **spirit**, and trembleth at my word.

#### **SPOIL**

Primitive Root: אַרֶב/ä-räv': to lurk

## אַרַבַּה |o-rō-vä' (n.) intrigue, plot; ambush

25:11 And he shall spread forth his hands in the midst of them, as he that swimmeth spreadeth forth his hands to swim; and he shall bring down their pride together with the **spoils** of their hands.

Primitive Root: בְּוָא/bä-zä': probably to cleave

## אָלבּוֹשׁ bä-zä' (v.) to despise, contemn

- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers **have spoiled**, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.

Primitive Root: ١١٤/bä-zäz': to plunder

# የ፻ቯ|bä-zäz' (v.) to spoil, plunder, rob; to get as booty

See Rob

Primitive Root: אַנֵל 'gä-zäl': to pluck off

#### אָזֶלָה [ɛ̞²-zā-lä' (n.) goods taken away from the poor, robbery

3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the vineyard; and the **spoil** of the poor is in your houses.

Primitive Root: שַׁדַד /shä-däd': to be burly

## אַלַדַל shä-däd' (v.) to act violently; to lay waste; to oppress, rob, ravage, plunder

- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the **spoiler**; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 15:1 The burden of Moab. Because in the night Ar of Moab is **laid waste**, and brought to silence; because in the night Kir of Moab is **laid waste**, and brought to silence;
- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the **spoiler spoileth**. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 23:1 The burden of Tyre. Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is **laid waste**, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 23:14 Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for your strength is laid waste.
- 33:1 Woe to thee that **spoilest**, and thou wast not **spoiled**; and dealest treacherously, and they dealt not treacherously with thee! when thou shalt cease to **spoil**, thou shalt be **spoiled**; and when thou shalt make an end to deal treacherously, they shall deal treacherously with thee.

Primitive Root: שׁוּד/shūd: to swell up

#### אושׁד shod (n.) violence, oppression; desolation, destruction, ruin

See Destroy

Primitive Root: שָׁלֵל shä-läl': to drop or strip

## אַלל shä-läl' (n.) booty, spoil, prey; gain

- 8:4 For behold, the child shall not have knowledge to cry, My father, and my mother, before the riches of Damascus and the **spoil** of Samaria shall be taken away before the king of Assyria.
- 9:3 Thou hast multiplied the nation, and increased the joy; and they joy before thee, according to the joy in harvest, and as men rejoice when they divide the **spoil**.

- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their **prey**, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the **spoil**, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 33:4 And your spoil shall be gathered like the gathering of the caterpillar; as the running to and fro of locusts shall he run upon them.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well strengthen their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame take the prey.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the **spoil** with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.

Primitive Root: שַׁׁסֶה/shä-sä': to plunder

# אַשָּׁלֶּה shä-sä' (v.) to plunder, rob, spoil

- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have **robbed** their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 17:14 And behold at eveningtide trouble; and before the morning he is not. This is the portion of them that **spoil** us, and the lot of them that rob us.
- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and **spoiled**; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a spoil, and none saith, Restore.

Primitive Root: שָׁׁלֻשׁלּא/shä-säs': to plunder

# שְׁלֵּסׁ |shä-säs'(v.) to plunder, rob

13:16 Their children also shall be dashed to pieces before their eyes; their houses shall be **spoiled**, and their wives ravished.

## מְשִּׁפְּה |mº-shēs-sä' (n.) spoil, prey; plunder, booty

- 42:23 [42:22] Thou art a people robbed and spoiled; thine enemies, all of them, have snared thee in holes, and they have hid thee in prison houses; they have taken thee for a prey, and none delivereth; for a **spoil**, and none saith, Restore.
- 42:24 [42:23] Who among them will give ear unto thee, or hearken and hear thee for the time to come? and who gave Jacob for a **spoil**, and Israel to the robbers? did not the Lord, he against whom they have sinned?

#### **SPORT**

Primitive Root: אָנֵג\/ä-näg': to be soft or pliable

#### אָנֵג |ä-näg' (v.) to be soft, be delicate; to be luxurious; to deride, mock

See Delight

## Spring

Primitive Root: צָצא'/yä-tsä': to go or bring forth

#### מוצא mō-tsä' (n.) egress; rise (of the sun); gate, fountain, spring, mine, vein

- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land **springs** of water.
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a **spring** of water, whose waters fail not.

Primitive Root: נְבַע/nä-vä': to gush forth

# מְבּוּעַ mä-bü'-ä (n.) fountain, spring

- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land **springs** of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the **springs** of water shall he guide them.

Primitive Root: צְׁמַח/tsä-mäḥ': to sprout

#### נבתח (v.) to spring up or forth, to grow; to turn out; to sprout

42:9 Behold, the former things are come to pass, and new things do I declare; before they spring forth I tell you of them.

- 43:19 Behold, I will do a new thing; now it shall **spring forth**; shall ye not know it? I will even make a way in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert.
- 44:4 And they shall **spring up** as among the grass, as willows by the watercourses.
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, from above, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness **spring up** together; I the Lord have created it.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but watereth the earth, and maketh it bring forth and **bud**, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;
- 58:8 Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall **spring forth** speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rearward.
- 61:11 For as the earth bringeth forth her bud, and as the garden causeth the things that are sown in it to **spring forth**; so the Lord God will cause righteousness and praise to **spring forth** before all the nations.

Primitive Word: שַׁרִיס /shä-ḥēs': from an unused root apparently meaning to sprout

## שָׁחִיס |shä-ḥēs' (n.) after-growth

37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year **that which springeth of the same**; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.

## **SPRINKLE**

Primitive Root: מַלַּחֹה/nä-zä': to spurt

## וְנַיָּה nä-zä' (v.) to spurt, sprinkle, spatter; to exult

- 52:15 So shall he **gather** many nations; the kings shall shut their mouths at him; for that which had not been told them shall they see; and that which they had not heard shall they consider.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be **sprinkled** upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.

#### **STAFF**

Primitive Root: נָטָה/nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

## מְטָה mät-te' (n.) branch, twig; rod, staff, stick, scepter, spear; tribe stem

- 9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.
- 10:5 O Assyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the **staff** in their hand is mine indignation.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the **staff** should lift up itself, as if it were no wood.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in Zion, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his **staff** against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:26 And the Lord of hosts shall stir up a scourge for him according to the slaughter of Midian at the rock of Oreb; and as his **rod** was upon the sea, so shall he lift it up after the manner of Egypt.
- 14:5 The Lord hath broken the **staff** of the wicked and the scepters of the rulers.
- 28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a threshing instrument, neither is a cartwheel turned about upon the cummin; but the fitches are beaten out with a **staff**, and the cummin with a rod.
- 30:32 And in every place where the grounded **staff** shall pass, which the Lord shall lay upon him, it shall be with tabrets and harps; and in battles of shaking will be fight with it.

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵן/shä-än': to support one's self

## מְשְׁעֲנֵה |mäsh-ā-nä' (n.) support, stay, staff

- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the **staff**, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the **staff** of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.

#### STAGGER

Primitive Root: מוֹע '-ä: to waver

### וויש, nü-äḥ' (v.) to move to and fro, tremble; to totter, quake, reel; to wander, rove; to cause to stagger

See Move

Primitive Root: תַּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

#### תַּעָה |tä-ä' (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

See Err

#### STAIN

Primitive Root: אַאַל/gä-äl': to soil or desecrate

## gä-äl' (v.) to be polluted, be defined, be stained; to pollute, stain, make unclean

- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken lies, your tongue hath muttered perverseness.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will **stain** all my raiment.

Primitive Root: חֲלֵל' /ḥä-läl': to bore

## hä-läl' (v.) to pierce through, be perforated, be wounded; to defile, pollute, profane

See Pollute

#### **STAND**

Primitive Root: עמד/ä-mäd': to stand

## שמד' a-mäd' (v.) to stand, wait, serve on; to place oneself; to stand still, cease, stop; to stand up, arise

- 3:13 The Lord standeth up to plead, and standeth to judge the people.
- 6:2 Above it **stood** the seraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of Zion, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 11:10 And in that day there shall be a root of Jesse, which shall **stand** for an ensign of the people; to it shall the Gentiles seek; and his rest shall be glorious.
- 21:6 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Go, set a watchman, let him declare what he seeth.
- 21:8 And he cried, A lion; My lord, I stand continually upon the watchtower in the daytime, and I am set in my ward whole nights;
- 36:2 And the king of Assyria sent Rabshakeh from Lachish to Jerusalem unto king Hezekiah with a great army. And he **stood** by the conduit of the upper pool in the highway of the fuller's field.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh **stood**, and cried with a loud voice in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.
- 44:11 Behold, all his fellows shall be ashamed; and the workmen, they are of men; let them all be gathered together, let them **stand up**; yet they shall fear, and they shall be ashamed together.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he **standeth**; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his trouble.
- 47:12 **Stand** now with thine enchantments, and with the multitude of thy sorceries, wherein thou has labored from thy youth; if so be thou shalt be able to profit, if so be thou mayest prevail.
- 47:13 Thou art wearied in the multitude of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the monthly prognosticators, **stand** up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.
- 48:13 Mine hand also hath laid the foundation of the earth, and my right hand hath spanned the heavens; when I call unto them, they stand up together.
- 50:6 [50:8-9] Who will contend with me? let us **stand** together. Who is mine adversary? let him come near me, and I will smite him with the strength of my mouth; for the Lord God will help me; and all they which shall condemn me, behold all they shall wax old as a garment, and the moth shall eat them up.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.
- 61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your ploughmen and your vinedressers.

66:22 For as the new heavens and the new earth, which I will make, shall **remain** before me, saith the Lord, so shall your seed and your name **remain**.

Primitive Root: קוֹם:küm: to rise

## אנים (v.) to arise, stand up, appear, rise against; to exist, subsist, endure; to erect, raise up

See Rise (Up)

Primitive Root: קרב/kä-räv': to approach

#### קרב (v.) to approach, draw near; to come near, advance; to bring near; to offer, present

See Near

## Standard

Primitive Root: נוּס/nüs: to flit

## nüs (v.) to flee, move quickly; to hasten; to escape; to chase, drive; to impel

See Flee

Primitive Root: נַסָּט/nä-säs': to gleam from afar

## nās (n.) signal, banner, ensign; standard, flag

See Ensign

#### **STAR**

Primitive Root: חָלָהְוֹה 'to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

#### חֹזה |hō-ze' (n.) seer, prophet, astrologer; covenant

See See

Primitive Root: בּוֹכֶב kō-ḥāv': probably from an unused root meaning to heap up

# בּוֹכַב |kō-ḥäv' (n.) star; a great prince

- 13:10 For the **stars** of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the sun shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to shine.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the **stars** of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;

#### STAY

Primitive Root: הָגָה/hä-gä': to remove

## הְגָּה |hä-gä' (v.) to be removed, take away, separate, divide, remove

27:8 In measure, when it shooteth forth, thou wilt debate with it; he stayeth his rough wind in the day of the east wind.

Primitive Particle: מָה /mä: interrogative pronoun

#### מְהַה mä-häh' (v.) to tarry, delay, hesitate, linger

29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.

Primitive Root: קַמַן/sä-mäḥ': to prop

# אָמַדְּ |sä-mäḥ' (v.) to rest upon, support, press; to uphold, sustain, aid; to approach, draw near

26:3 Thou wilt keep him in perfect peace, whose mind is stayed on thee; because he trusteth in thee.

36:6 Lo, thou trustest in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that trust in him.

48:2 For they call themselves of the holy city, and stay themselves upon the God of Israel; The Lord of hosts is his name.

- 59:16 And he saw that there was no man, and wondered that there was no intercessor; therefore his arm brought salvation unto him; and his righteousness, it **sustained** him.
- 63:5 And I looked, and there was none to help; and I wondered that there was none to **uphold**; therefore mine own arm brought salvation unto me; and my fury, it **upheld** me.

Primitive Word: יוֹם pān: from an unused root meaning to turn

## pēn-nä' (n.) corner, cornerstone; pinnacle; prince, chief, pillar

See Stone

Primitive Root: שָׁעֵן/shä-än': to support one's self

## שׁען|shä-än' (v.) to lean upon, rest upon, support oneself, lean against; to recline; to adjoin, lie near

- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again **stay** upon him that smote them; but shall **stay** upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in truth.
- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the Holy One of Israel, Because ye despise this word, and trust in oppression and perverseness, and stay thereon;
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and **stay** on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and **stay** upon his God.

## מְשְׁעֵן mäsh-ān' (n.) support, stay, staff

3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the **stay** and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole **stay** of water,

#### STILL

Primitive Root: דָּמָם/dä-mäm': to be dumb

# לְּמְם dä-mäm' (v.) to be silent, be still; to be astonished, be confounded

23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of Zidon, that pass over the sea, have replenished.

Primitive Root: חַרָשׁ/hä-räsh': to scratch

#### חַרַשׁ hä-räsh' (v.) to engrave, inscribe; to plow; to be deaf, be silent; to entangle, devise; to forge

See Plan

Primitive Root: שָׁבַת/shä-väth': to repose

# אֶבֶּת |shɛʾ-vɛth (n.) (m.) cessation, rest, inactivity; interruption (of work); (f.) dwelling, seat, place, a sitting

See Sit

# STIR (UP)

Primitive Root: עוֹר /ür: to wake

#### שור (v.) to awake, wake, be astir; to rouse, stir up; to raise up; to stir up, arouse

See Awake

Primitive Word: שׁוֹא shō: from an unused root meaning to rush over

#### תשאות |t<sup>ε</sup>-shü-ōth' (n.) (pl. only) noise, tumult, shout, crashing

22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.

#### STONE

Primitive Root: בָנה /bä-nä': to build

#### אבן ε'-ven (n.) stone, rock; ore

- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a **stone** of stumbling and for a rock of offense to both the houses of Israel, for a gin and for a snare to the inhabitants of Jerusalem.
- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the **stones** of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to take away his sin; when he maketh all the **stones** of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a **stone**, a tried **stone**, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the **stones** of emptiness.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the work of men's hands, wood and **stone**; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with tempest, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy **stones** with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.
- 54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for **stones** iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

Primitive Root: מֵלֵמֹם 'gä-zä': to cut off

## מָלְיִת gä-zēth' (n.) hewn stones

9:10 The bricks are fallen down, but we will build with **hewn stones**; the sycamores are cut down, but we will change them into cedars.

Primitive Word: אֶפֶר ˈgō-fɛr': from an unused root probably meaning to house in

## מֶבְרִית gäf-rēth' (n.) brimstone, pitch, sulphur

See Brimstone

Primitive Root: פוּר /kür: from an unused root meaning properly to dig through

#### אָל gēr (n.) lime

See Chalkstone

Primitive Root: סָקל/sä-käl': to be weighty

# אַקל |sä-käl' (v.) to stone; to cover with stones; to clear from stones, remove stones from

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and **gathered out the stones** thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 62:10 Go through, go through the gates; prepare ye the way of the people; cast up, cast up the highway; **gather out the stones**; lift up a standard for the people.

Primitive Word: וְפֵּן pān: from an unused root meaning to turn

# pēn-nä' (n.) corner, cornerstone; pinnacle; prince, chief, pillar

- 19:13 The princes of Zoan are become fools, the princes of Noph are deceived; they have also seduced Egypt, even they that are the **stay** of the tribes thereof.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious **cornerstone**, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.

Primitive Word: רחים: from an unused root meaning to pulverize

## rā-ḥɛ' (n.) millstone

See Millstone

#### **STORM**

Primitive Root: יֵרֶם/zä-räm': to gush

## ברֶם |ze'-rem (n.) shower (of rain), storm, hailstorm, flood

See Tempest

Primitive Root: จาง/süf: to snatch away

# אובָה |sü-fä' (n.) whirlwind, tempest

See Whirlwind

Primitive Root: שֵׁעֵר/sä-är': to storm

## שׁעֵר (n.) horror, shuddering; storm, tempest

28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying **storm**, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.

#### **STRAIGHT**

Primitive Root: ישׁר/yä-shär': to be straight or even

#### yä-shär' (v.) to be or go straight; to be level, be right; to make straight; to declare right, approve

- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make **straight** in the desert a highway for our God.
- 45:2 I will go before thee, and **make** the crooked places **straight**; I will break in pieces the gates of brass, and cut in sunder the bars of iron;
- 45:13 I have raised him up in righteousness, and I will **direct** all his ways; he shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives, not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.

## mē-shōr' (n.) uprightness, justice, honesty, equity, righteousness; plain, level country

- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with **equity** for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the wicked.
- 40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made **straight**, and the rough places plain;
- 42:16 And I will bring the blind by a way that they knew not; I will lead them in paths that they have not known; I will make darkness light before them, and crooked things **straight**. These things will I do unto them, and not forsake them.

#### STRANGER

Primitive Root: גוּר /gür: to turn aside from the road

#### אור (v.) to tarry, sojourn, dwell (as strangers), to lodge

- 5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.
- 11:6 The wolf also shall **dwell** with the lamb, and the leopard shall lie down with the kid; and the calf and the young lion and the fatling together; and a little child shall lead them.
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts **dwell** with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the oppressors are consumed out of the land.
- 23:7 Is this your joyous city, whose antiquity is of ancient days? Her own feet shall carry her afar off to sojourn.
- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall **dwell** with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?
- 52:4 For thus saith the Lord God, My people went down aforetime into Egypt to **sojourn** there; and the Assyrian oppressed them without cause.

54:15 Behold, they shall surely **gather together** against thee, but not by me; whosoever shall gather together against thee shall fall for thy sake.

# gär (n.) sojourner; stranger, foreigner

14:1 For the Lord will have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose Israel, and set them in their own land; and the **strangers** shall be joined with them, and they shall cleave to the house of Jacob.

Primitive Root: אור turn aside

#### אוז | zür (v.) to turn aside, depart; to turn away from, recede, retreat; (part.) stranger, foreigner

- 1:4 Ah sinful nation, a people laden with iniquity, a seed of evildoers, children that are corrupters; they have forsaken the Lord, they have provoked the Holy One of Israel unto anger, they are **gone away** backward.
- 1:7 Your country is desolate, your cities are burned with fire; your land, **strangers** devour it in your presence, and it is desolate, as overthrown by **strangers**.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy strength, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with **strange** slips;
- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of **strangers**, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the terrible ones shall be brought low.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his **strange** work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 29:5 Moreover the multitude of thy **strangers** shall be like small dust, and the multitude of the terrible ones shall be as chaff that passeth away: yea, it shall be at an instant suddenly.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no **strange** god among you; therefore ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, that I am God.
- 61:5 And strangers shall stand and feed your flocks, and the sons of the alien shall be your ploughmen and your vinedressers.

Primitive Root: גַבֶּר/nä-här': to scrutinize

## וּלַכְּרִי (adj.) strange, foreign, alien; new, unknown

- 2:6 Therefore, O Lord, thou hast forsaken thy people the house of Jacob, because they be replenished from the east, and hearken unto the soothsayers like the Philistines, and they please themselves in the children of **strangers**.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his **strange** act.
- 56:3 Neither let the son of the **stranger**, that hath joined himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry tree.
- 56:6 Also the sons of the **stranger**, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 60:10 And the sons of **strangers** shall build up thy walls, and their kings shall minister unto thee; for in my wrath I smote thee, but in my favor have I had mercy on thee.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the **stranger** shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;

#### **STREAM**

Primitive Root: אָראֹר/yɛ-ōr': of Egyptian origin

## יאר' |y<sup>ε</sup>-ōr' (n.) river, channel; Nile, Tigris

See River

Primitive Root: יַבֶּל/yä-väl': to flow

#### יַבְל|yä-väl' (n.) river, stream

- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and **streams** of waters in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.
- 44:4 And they shall spring up as among the grass, as willows by the water courses.

Primitive Root: נָחַל/nä-häl': to inherit

## nä-häl' (n.) river, stream, brook, torrent; valley, ravine, gorge; mine

- 7:19 And they shall come, and shall rest all of them in the desolate **valleys**, and in the holes of the rocks, and upon all thorns, and upon all bushes.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven **streams**, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 15:7 Therefore the abundance they have gotten, and that which they have laid up, shall they carry away to the brook of the willows.
- 27:12 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall beat off from the channel of the river unto the **stream** of Egypt, and ye shall be gathered one by one, O ye children of Israel.
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing **stream**, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of vanity; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a **stream** of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 34:9 And the **streams** thereof shall be turned into pitch, and the dust thereof into brimstone, and the land thereof shall become burning pitch.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb sing; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and **streams** in the desert.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?
- 57:6 Among the smooth stones of the **stream** is thy portion; they, they are thy lot; even to them hast thou poured a drink offering, thou hast offered a meat offering. Should I receive comfort in these?
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing **stream**; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

## STRETCH

Primitive Root: נֵטָה/nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

## וְנְטָה |nä-tä' (v.) to stretch out, extend, spread out; to unfold; to bend, decline; to turn, turn aside

- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with **stretched forth** necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath **stretched forth** his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did tremble, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is **stretched out** still.
- 10:2 To **turn aside** the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 9:12 The Syrians before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is **stretched out** still.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall all have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is **stretched out** still.
- 9:21 Manasseh, Ephraim; and Ephraim, Manasseh; and they together shall be against Judah. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is **stretched out** still.
- 10:4 Without me they shall bow down under the prisoners, and they shall fall under the slain. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is **stretched out** still.
- 14:26 This is the purpose that is purposed upon the whole earth; and this is the hand that is stretched out upon all the nations.
- 14:27 For the Lord of hosts hath purposed, and who shall disannual it? and his hand is stretched out, and who shall turn it back?
- 23:11 He **stretched out** his hand over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 29:21 That make a man an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the gate, and **turn aside** the just for a thing of nought.
- 30:11 Get you out of the way, turn aside out of the path, cause the Holy One of Israel to cease from before us.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall fall, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of confusion, and the stones of emptiness.

- 37:17 Incline thine ear, O Lord, and hear; open thine eyes, O Lord, and see; and hear all the words of Sennacherib, which he hath sent to reproach the living God.
- 40:22 It is he that sitteth upon the circle of the earth, and the inhabitants thereof are as grasshoppers? that **stretcheth out** the heavens as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a tent to dwell in;
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and **stretched** them **out**, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that walk therein;
- 44:13 The carpenter **stretcheth out** his rule; he marketh it out with a line; he fitteth it with planes, and he marketh it out with the compass, and maketh it after the figure of a man; according to the beauty of a man; that it may remain in the house.
- 44:20 He feedeth on ashes; a deceived heart hath **turned** him **aside**, that he cannot deliver his soul, nor say, Is there not a lie in my right hand?
- 44:24 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the Lord that maketh all things; that **stretcheth forth** the heavens alone; that spreadeth abroad the earth by myself.
- 45:12 I have made the earth, and created man upon it; I, even my hands, have **stretched out** the heavens, and all their hosts have I commanded.
- 51:13 And forgettest the Lord thy Maker, that hath **stretched forth** the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth; and hast feared continually every day because of the fury of the oppressor, as if he were ready to destroy? and where is the fury of the oppressor?
- 54:2 Enlarge the place of thy tent, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine habitations; spare not, lengthen thy cords, and strengthen thy stakes;
- 55:3 **Incline** your ear, and come unto me; hear, and your soul shall live; and I will make an everlasting covenant with you, even the sure mercies of David.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will **extend** peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye suck, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

## מְטֶּה |müt-tɛ' (n.) extension, expansion; turning aside, wresting judgment

8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall overflow and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the **stretching** out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.

Primitive Root: נָטָשׁ/nä-täsh': to pound

# יְטֵשׁ|nä-täsh' (v.) to stretch, extend, spread; to scatter, disperse; to draw (sword), brandish; to be forsaken

See Forsake

Primitive Root: שָׂרֵע/sä-rä': to prolong

#### שֵׁרֵע |sä-rä' (v.) to extend, stretch out; to have a lengthened limb

28:20 For the bed is shorter than that a man can stretch himself on it; and the covering narrower than that he can wrap himself in it.

#### STRIKE

Primitive Root: מֵחֵץ/mä-ḥäts': to dash asunder

#### מְתָץ mä-häts' (n.) wound, contusion

30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the sun, and the light of the sun shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the **stroke** of their wound.

Primitive Root: גָגַע/nä-gä': to touch

# nä-gä' (v.) to touch, reach unto; to come to, arrive at; to smite, strike; to punish

See Touch

#### ne'-gä (n.) stroke, blow, punishment; mark, spot, plague spot, pestilence

53:8 He was taken from prison and from judgment; and who shall declare his generation? for he was cut off out of the land of the living; for the transgression of my people was he **stricken**.

Primitive Root: נְּכָה /nä-ḥä': to strike

## nä-ḥä' (v.) to be smitten, be beaten; to be slain; to kill, slay; to smite, strike, beat

See Smite

#### mäk-kä' or מְּבָּת mäk-käth' (n.) smiting, striking, blow, beating, defeat; wound

See Sore

#### STRIVE

Primitive Root: ריב rēv: to toss

# ריב |rev (v.) to contend, strive, plead; to quarrel, strive, contend

See Contend

#### rēv (n.) strife, quarrel, contention, feud, dispute

58:4 Behold, ye fast for **strife** and debate, and to smite with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high.

#### STRONG

Primitive Root: אָבֵעְ /ä-mäts': to be alert, physically or mentally

## אַמַץ |ä-mäts' (v.) to be alert, be strong; to make strong, strengthen

35:3 Strengthen ye the weak hands, and **confirm** the feeble knees.

- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy God; I will **strengthen** thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my righteousness.
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he **strengtheneth** for himself among the trees of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.

## אַמִּיץ äm-mēts' (adj.) firm, strong, valient

- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and **strong one**, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is **strong** in power; not one faileth.

Primitive Root: גבר gä'-vär: to be strong

## גבוּרָה' |g<sup>ε</sup>-vü-rä' (n.) strength; fortitude, courage, valor; power

- 3:25 Thy men shall fall by the sword, and thy mighty in the war.
- 11:2 And the Spirit of the Lord shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and **might**, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord;
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 30:15 For thus saith the Lord God, the Holy One of Israel; In returning and rest shall ye be saved; in quietness and in confidence shall be your **strength**; and ye would not.
- 33:13 Hear, ye that are far off, what I have done; and ye that are near, acknowledge my might.
- 36:5 I say, thy words are but vain when thou sayest, I have counsel and **strength** for war. Now, on whom dost thou trust that thou rebellest against me?
- 63:15 Look down from heaven, and behold from the habitation of thy holiness and of thy glory; where is thy zeal and thy **strength**, the sounding of thy bowels and of thy mercies toward me? are they restrained?

Primitive Root: יְחַחַן/zä-ḥäḥ': to move or displace

## מְזִיּתְ m<sup>ε</sup>-zē'-äḥ (n.) girdle

23:10 Pass through thy land as a river, O daughter of Tarshish; there is no more strength in thee.

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

## לְיֵלְיל '-yel (n.) strength, power, might, valor; ability, wealth, riches; forces, host, army

See Rich

Primitive Root: חַלָּק/hä-zäk': to fasten upon

#### קּיַּמָּן hä-zäk' (v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

See Take Hold

## חָלָּק hä-zäk' (adj.) firm, hardened, sound, powerful, violent; strong, mighty, valiant

- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and **strong** sword shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a **mighty** and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 40:10 Behold, the Lord God will come with **strong hand**, and his arm shall rule for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.

#### חַלָּקָה (n.) strength, the growing strong, the overcoming

8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and instructed me that I should not walk in the way of this people, saying,

Primitive Root: מְּלֵחֶ /ḥä-sän': to compact or be compact

#### אחסן hä-sōn' or אחסן hä-sōn' (n.) strong, mighty, powerful

1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.

# אֹסֶל (n.) riches, treasure, abundance, wealth, might

33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.

Primitive Root: מַבּוֹ kō'-äḥ: from an unused root meaning to be firm

## חֹבוּ kō'-äh (n.) strength, power, might; ability; violence; substance, wealth, riches

- 10:13 For he saith, By the **strength** of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of trouble, and of rebuke, and of blasphemy; for the children are come to the birth, and there is not **strength** to bring forth.
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with **strength**; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number; he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in **power**; not one faileth.
- 40:29 He giveth **power** to the faint; and to them that have no might he increaseth strength.
- 40:31 But they that wait upon the Lord shall renew their **strength**; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 41:1 Keep silence before me, O islands; and let the people renew their **strength**; let them come near; then let them speak; let us come near together to judgment.
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the **strength** of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his **strength** faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my **strength** for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 50:2 [50:1-2] Behold, for your iniquities have ye sold yourselves, and for your transgressions is your mother put away; wherefore, when I came there was no man; when I called there was none to answer. O house of Israel, is my hand shortened at all, that it cannot redeem; or have I no **power** to deliver?
- 63:1 Who is this that cometh from Edom, with dyed garments from Bozrah? this that is glorious in his apparel, traveling in the greatness of his **strength**? I that speak in righteousness, mighty to save.

Primitive Root: נְצֵח '-tsäḥ: to glitter from afar

## וְצֵּבְח (n.) juice (of the grape), liquor; blood, gore

See Blood

Primitive Word: מֶּלֵע/sɛ-lä': from an unused root meaning to be lofty

# קלַע |sε-lä' (n.) rock, cliff

See Rock

Primitive Root: עַלַּזַא'/ä-zäz': to be stout

## | ä-zäz' (v.) to make secure; to strengthen one's countenance; to make hard, be bold

30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to **strengthen** themselves in the **strength** of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of Egypt!

#### מֵעְלוֹץ mä-ōz' (n.) strong or fortified place, defense, fortress, protection, refuge

- 17:9 In that day shall his **strong** cities be as a forsaken bough, and an uppermost branch, which they left because of the children of Israel; and there shall be desolation.
- 17:10 Because thou hast forgotten the God of thy salvation, and hast not been mindful of the Rock of thy **strength**, therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips;
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O Zidon; for the sea hath spoken, even the **strength** of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he shook the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the **strongholds** thereof.
- 23:14 Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for your strength is laid waste.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a **strength** to the poor, a **strength** to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall.
- 27:5 Or let him take hold of my strength, that he may make peace with me; and he shall make peace with me.
- 30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the **strength** of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of Egypt!
- 30:3 Therefore shall the **strength** of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.

## אָל (adj.) strong, vehement, violent; strong, fortified, powerful, firm; harsh cruel, hard

See Mighty

## [vioz (n.) strength, power, might; firmness; violence, boldness; protection, refuge; splendor, glory

- 12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will trust, and not be afraid; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my **strength** and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 26:1 In that day shall this song be sung in the land of Judah; We have a strong city; salvation will God appoint for walls and bulwarks.
- 45:24 Surely shall one say, In the Lord have I righteousness and **strength**; even to him shall men come; and all that are incensed against him shall be ashamed.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the womb to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my **strength**.
- 51:9 Awake, awake, put on **strength**, O arm of the Lord; awake, as in the ancient days, in the generations of old. Art thou not it that hath cut Rahab, and wounded the dragon?
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy **strength**, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his **strength**, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;

#### עזויז (n.) might, power, strength

42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the **strength** of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.

Primitive Root: עָצַם/ä-tsäm': to bind fast

#### אנצם |ä-tsäm' (v.) to bind, bind fast, tie up; to shut, close; to be firm, be strong, be powerful

- 29:10 For the LORD hath poured out upon you the spirit of deep sleep, and hath **closed** your eyes: the prophets and your rulers, the seers hath he covered.
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and trust in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very **strong**; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and **shutteth** his eyes from seeing evil;

## שצום |a-tsüm' (adj.) strong, powerful, mighty; numerous; (pl.) strong limbs, fangs

- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the waters of the river, **strong** and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the **strong**; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the transgressors; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the transgressors.
- 60:22 A little one shall become a thousand, and a small one a strong nation; I the Lord will hasten it in my time.

## עצמה a-tsü-mä' or עצמות |ä-tsü-mōth' (n.) arguments, reasons, proofs

41:21 Produce your cause, saith the Lord; bring forth your strong reasons, saith the King of Jacob.

#### עצמה äts-mä' (n.) strength, multitude

See Abundant

Primitive Root: צוּר /tsür: to cramp

## וצור (n.) stone, pebble; rock, refuge, protection; edge, sharpness; form, shape

See Rock

Primitive Root: רָהַב/rä-häv': to urge severely

#### rä-häv' (n.) fierceness, insolence, pride, boasting

30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.

Primitive Root: שֶׁכֵר/shä-ḥär': to become tipsy

## אַבָּר shā-ḥär' (n.) strong drink, intoxicating

See Drink

#### STUMBLE

Primitive Root: בָּשֵׁל/kä-shäl': to totter or waver

## kä-shäl' (v.) to totter, stumble, fail; to fall, faint; to become weak; to cause to fall, overthrow

- 3:8 For Jerusalem is **ruined**, and Judah is fallen; because their tongues and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 5:27 None shall be weary nor **stumble** among them; none shall slumber nor sleep; neither shall the girdle of their loins be loosed, nor the latchet of their shoes be broken;
- 8:15 And many among them shall stumble, and fall, and be broken, and be snared, and be taken.
- 28:13 But the word of the Lord was unto them precept upon precept, precept upon precept; line upon line, line upon line; here a little, and there a little; that they might go, and **fall** backward, and be broken, and snared, and taken.
- 31:3 Now the Egyptians are men, and not God; and their horses flesh, and not spirit. When the Lord shall stretch out his hand, both he that helpeth shall **fall**, and he that is holpen shall fall down, and they all shall fail together.
- 35:3 Strengthen ye the weak hands, and confirm the feeble knees.
- 40:30 Even the youths shall faint and be weary, and the young men shall utterly fall;
- 59:10 We grope for the wall like the blind, and we grope as if we had no eyes; we **stumble** at noonday as in the night; we are in desolate places as dead men.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.
- 63:13 That led them through the deep, as a horse in the wilderness, that they should not **stumble**?

Primitive Root: pi@/pük: to waver

#### pük (v.) to waver, totter; to move to and fro; to be unstead

28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.

#### Suck

Primitive Root: יָנֵק/yä-näk': to suck

# yä-näk' (v.) to suck, enjoy; to give suck, suckle; (part.) suckling babe; (part.) wet-nurse

- 11:8 And the sucking child shall play on the hole of the asp, and the weaned child shall put his hand on the cockatrice' den.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy **nursing** mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me.

- 60:16 Thou shalt also **suck** the milk of the Gentiles, and shalt **suck** the breast of kings; and thou shalt know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.
- 66:11 That ye may **suck**, and be satisfied with the breasts of her consolations; that ye may milk out, and be delighted with the abundance of her glory.
- 66:12 For thus saith the Lord, Behold, I will extend peace to her like a river, and the glory of the Gentiles like a flowing stream; then shall ye **suck**, ye shall be borne upon her sides, and be dandled upon her knees.

Primitive Root: עול to suckle (giving milk)

## עול (v.) to suckle, give milk

See Child

#### SUFFICIENT

Primitive Word: adāe: from an unused root of uncertain derivation

# אַל (n.) requisite, sufficient, plenty; (adj.) enough; (with prep. בְּ) as often as

- 28:19 From the time that it goeth forth it shall take you; for morning by morning shall it pass over, by day and by night; and it shall be a vexation only to understand the report.
- 40:16 And Lebanon is not sufficient to burn, nor the beasts thereof sufficient for a burnt offering.
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that **from** one new moon to another, and **from** one sabbath to another, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the Lord.

Primitive Root: שַׂבֵע/sä-vä': to sate or fill to satisfaction

## שַׂבְעָה |sōv-ä' (n.) satiety, fulness

See Satisfy

#### Summer

Primitive Root: אָקוּץ/küts: to clip off

#### אָלאָן küts (v.) to cut, cut up, cut off; to pass the summer

18:6 They shall be left together unto the fowls of the mountains, and to the beasts of the earth; and the fowls shall **summer** upon them, and all the beasts of the earth shall winter upon them.

## እንደ kä'-yēts (n.) harvest of fruits, summer, harvest summer fruits (figs); summer, warm season

- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy **summer fruits** and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat valley, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the **summer**; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.

#### Sun

Primitive Root: חַמֵּם/ḥä-mäm': to be hot

#### חְמֵּה häm-mä' (n.) heat, warmth; sun

- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the **sun** ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 30:26 Moreover the light of the moon shall be as the light of the **sun**, and the light of the **sun** shall be sevenfold, as the light of seven days, in the day that the Lord bindeth up the breach of his people, and healeth the stroke of their wound.

Primitive Word: שַׁמֵשׁ /shɛ'-mɛsh: from an unused root meaning to be brilliant

#### שׁמֵשׁ she'-mesh (n.) sun, sunlight, daylight; battlements, pinnacle

- 13:10 For the stars of heaven and the constellations thereof shall not give their light; the **sun** shall be darkened in his going forth, and the moon shall not cause her light to shine.
- 38:8 Behold, I will bring again the shadow of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of Ahaz, ten degrees backward. So the sun returned ten degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.
- 41:25 I have raised up one from the north, and he shall come; from the rising of the **sun** shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon princes as upon mortar, and as the potter treadeth clay.

- 45:6 That they may know from the rising of the **sun**, and from the west, that there is none besides me. I am the Lord, and there is none else.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor **sun** smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 54:12 And I will make thy windows of agates, and thy gates of carbuncles, and all thy borders of pleasant stones.
- 59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the west, and his glory from the rising of the **sun**. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.
- 60:19 The **sun** shall be no more thy light by day; neither for brightness shall the moon give light unto thee; but the Lord shall be unto thee an everlasting light, and thy God thy glory.
- 60:20 Thy sun shall no more go down; neither shall thy moon withdraw itself; for the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended.

## SURPRISE

Primitive Root: אָאַחָא'/ä-ḥäz': to seize (often with the idea of holding in possession)

## אָחַז |ä-ḥäz' (v.) to seize, take hold, lay hold of; to join, fasten

See Take Hold

#### Sustain

Primitive Root: סֶבּן/sä-mäḥ': to prop

קמַן sä-mäḥ' (v.) to rest upon, support, press; to uphold, sustain, aid; to approach, draw near

See Stay

#### **SWALLOW**

Primitive Word: עגוּר /ä-gür': from an unused root meaning to twitter

## עגור |ä-gür' (n.) swallow, crane

38:14 Like a crane or **swallow**, so did I chatter; I did mourn as a dove; mine eyes fail with looking upward; O Lord, I am oppressed; undertake for me.

#### SWALLOW UP

Primitive Root: בֶּלַע/bä-lä': to make away with (by swallowing)

שבלע |bä-lä' (v.) to swallow up, devour, eat up; to consume, destroy

See Destroy

#### **SWEAR**

Primitive Root: נָשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

נְשֵׂא |nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: שָׁבַע/shä-vä': to be complete

# אַבע shä-vä' (v.) to swear; to swear to, confirm with an oath; to bind by oath; to adjure, charge solemnly

- 14:24 The Lord of hosts hath **sworn**, saying, Surely as I have thought, so shall it come to pass; and as I have purposed, so shall it stand;
- 19:18 In that day shall five cities in the land of Egypt speak the language of Canaan, and **swear** to the Lord of hosts; one shall be called, The city of destruction.
- 45:23 I have **sworn** by myself, the word is gone out of my mouth in righteousness, and shall not return, That unto me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall **swear**.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which **swear** by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.

- 54:9 For this is as the waters of Noah unto me; for as I have **sworn** that the waters of Noah should no more go over the earth; so have I **sworn** that I would not be wroth with thee, nor rebuke thee.
- 62:8 The Lord hath **sworn** by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast labored;
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that **sweareth** in the earth shall **swear** by the God of truth; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.

#### **SWEET**

Primitive Root: בַּשָּׁם/bä-säm': from an unused root meaning to be fragrant

#### שְׁבֶּשִׁם bɛ'-sɛm (n.) sweet scent, fragrance, balsam-scent; aromatic spice

See Spice

Primitive Root: יָטֵב/yä-täv': to be or make well

## yä-täv' (v.) to do good, do well; to be beautiful, be pleasant, be lovely; to be glad, be cheerful

See Well

Primitive Root: מֲתַק/mä-thäk': to suck

## מְתוֹק mä-thōk' (adj.) sweet; lovely, pleasant

5:20 Woe unto them that call evil good, and good evil; that put darkness for light, and light for darkness; that put bitter for **sweet**, and **sweet** for bitter!

Primitive Root: עַסֶּט /ä-säs': to squeeze out juice

## עסיס |ä-sēs' (n.) new wine, must

See Wine

Primitive Root: קנה/kä-nä': to erect

## קְנֵּה (n.) cane, reed, stalk, sweet cane, calamus; balance, balance beam; measuring, reed

See Reed

#### **SWIFT**

Primitive Root: בְּרֵר/kä-rär': to dance

## בְּרַכַּרָה kär-kä-rä' (n.) dromedary, swift or fleet camel

See Beast

Primitive Root: קלל/kä-läl': to be or make light

## קלל |kä-läl' (v.) to be small, be light; to be swift; to esteem lightly; to revile, curse

See Afflict

# קל (adj.) light, swift, fleet; (adv.) quickly, swiftly

- 5:26 And he will lift up an ensign to the nations from far, and will hiss unto them from the end of the earth; and, behold, they shall come with speed swiftly;
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye **swift** messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 19:1 The burden of Egypt. Behold, the Lord rideth upon a **swift** cloud, and shall come into Egypt; and the idols of Egypt shall be moved at his presence and the heart of Egypt shall melt in the midst of it.
- 30:16 But ye said, No; for we will flee upon horses; therefore shall ye flee; and, We will ride upon the swift; therefore shall they that pursue you **be swift**.

#### **SWINE**

Primitive Word: וְחַזִּיר /ḥä-zēr': from an unused root probably meaning to enclose

## ְחֵזְּיִר |hā-zēr' (n.) swine, boar, hog

- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which eat **swine's** flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their vessels;
- 66:3 He that killeth an ox is as if he slew a man; he that sacrificeth a lamb, as if he cut off a dog's neck; he that offereth an oblation, as if he offered **swine's** blood; he that burneth incense, as if he blessed an idol. Yea, they have chosen their own ways, and their soul delighteth in their abominations.
- 66:17 They that sanctify themselves, and purify themselves in the gardens behind one tree in the midst, eating **swine's** flesh, and the abomination, and the mouse, shall be consumed together, saith the Lord.

#### **SWORD**

Primitive Root: חֲרֶב /ḥä-räv': to parch, through drought

#### אָרֶבּב |he'-rev (n.) sword, knife, cutting instrument; draught

- 1:20 But if ye refuse and rebel, ye shall be devoured with the sword; for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.
- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their **swords** into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up **sword** against nation, neither shall they learn war anymore.
- 3:25 Thy men shall fall by the **sword**, and thy mighty in the war.
- 13:15 Everyone that is proud shall be thrust through; and everyone that is joined to the wicked shall fall by the sword.
- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a **sword**, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass trodden under feet.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong **sword** shall punish leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 31:8 Then shall the Assyrian fall with the **sword**, not of a mighty man; and the **sword**, not of a mean man, shall devour him; but he shall flee from the **sword**, and his young men shall be discomfited.
- 34:5 For my **sword** shall be bathed in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.
- 34:6 The **sword** of the Lord is filled with blood, it is made fat with fatness, and with the blood of lambs and goats, with the fat of the kidneys of rams; for the Lord hath a sacrifice in Bozrah, and a great slaughter in the land of Idumea.
- 37:7 Behold, I will send a blast upon him, and he shall hear a rumor, and return to his own land; and I will cause him to fall by the **sword** in his own land.
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was worshiping in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the **sword**; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 41:2 Who raised up the righteous man from the east, called him to his foot, gave the nations before him, and made him rule over kings? He gave them as the dust to his **sword**, and as driven stubble to his bow.
- 49:2 And he hath made my mouth like a sharp **sword**; in the shadow of his hand hath he hid me, and made me a polished shaft; in his quiver hath he hid me;
- 51:19 These two sons are come unto thee; they shall be sorry for thee, thy desolation, and destruction, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I comfort thee?
- 65:12 Therefore will I number you to the **sword**, and ye shall all bow down to the slaughter; because when I called, ye did not answer; when I spake, ye did not hear; but did evil before mine eyes, and did choose that wherein I delighted not.
- 66:16 For by fire and by his **sword** will the Lord plead with all flesh; and the slain of the Lord shall be many.

## **SYCAMORE**

Primitive Word: אָלְמַה shēk-mä': of uncertain derivation

#### שלמה shēk-mä' (n.) sycamore tree

9:10 The bricks are fallen down, but we will build with hewn stones; the **sycamores** are cut down, but we will change them into cedars.

## **SYRIA**

Primitive Word: אַרְמוֹן/är-mōn': from an unused root meaning to elevate

# אַרְם a-räm' (n.) Armenia, Syria; Syrian people

- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of **Syria**, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, **Syria** is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the tress of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 7:5 Because Syria, Ephraim, and the son of Remaliah, have taken evil counsel against thee, saying,
- 7:8 For the head of **Syria** is Damascus, and the head of Damascus is Rezin; and within threescore and five years shall Ephraim be broken, that it be not a people.
- 9:12 The **Syrians** before, and the Philistines behind; and they shall devour Israel with open mouth. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 17:3 The fortress also shall cease from Ephraim, and the kingdom from Damascus, and the remnant of **Syria**; they shall be as the glory of the children of Israel, saith the Lord of hosts.

## אַרַמִּית <sup>ä</sup>-rä-mēth' (adv.) Armenian, Syrian language

See Language

# WORD-LINKS "T"

## TABERNACLE

Primitive Root: אָהַל/ä-häl': to be clear

## אֹהֵל [ō-hɛl' (n.) tent, tabernacle

See Tent

Primitive Root: סֶבֶן/sä-ḥäḥ': to entwine as a screen

## סבָּה |sük-kä' (n.) booth, hut, arbor, tent, house, covert; lair

See Cottage

#### TAIL

Primitive Root: לָנָב /zä-näv': a primitive root meaning to wag

## zä-näv' (n.) tail, end, stump; something mean

7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two **tails** of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.

9:14 Therefore the Lord will cut off from Israel head and tail, branch and rush, in one day.

9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.

19:15 Neither shall there be any work for Egypt, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.

## TAKE AWAY

Primitive Root: אַסְלּ/ä-säf: to gather for any purpose

# אָשַׁף (v.) gather, assemble (people), collect (harvest); to close a march or bring up the rear, protect

See Gather

Primitive Root: אַזַל/gä-zäl': to pluck off

## gä-zäl' (v.) to strip off, flay, tear; to take away, rob, despoil

10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to **take away** the right from the poor of my people, that widows may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!

Primitive Root: נְשָׂא/nä-sä': to lift

# וְנְשְׂא]nä-sä' (v.) to take up, lift up, raise; to bear, carry; to take, receive; to be elevated, be exalted

See Lift Up

Primitive Root: סוּר/sür: to turn off

## |sür (v.) to turn aside, go away, depart, apostatize; to forsake, to pass away, cease; to take away

- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth **take away** from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 3:18 In that day the Lord will take away the bravery of tinkling ornaments, and cauls, and round tires like the moon,
- 5:5 And now go to; I will tell you what I will do to my vineyard; I will take away the hedge thereof, and it shall be eaten up; and I will break down the wall thereof, and it shall be trodden down;
- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.
- 7:17 The Lord shall bring upon thee, and upon thy people, and upon thy father's house, days that have not come, from the day that Ephraim **departed** from Judah; even the king of Assyria.

- 10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have **moved** the borders of the people, and have robbed their treasures, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.
- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be **taken away** from off thy shoulder, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed because of the anointing.
- 11:13 The envy also of Ephraim shall **depart**, and the adversaries of Judah shall be cut off; Ephraim shall not envy Judah, and Judah shall not vex Ephraim.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his yoke **depart** from off them, and his burden **depart** from off their shoulders.
- 17:1 The burden of Damascus. Behold, Damascus is taken away from being a city, and it shall be a ruinous heap.
- 18:5 For afore the harvest, when the bud is perfect, and the sour grape is ripening in the flower, he shall both cut off the sprigs with pruning hooks, and **take away** and cut down the branches.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away tears from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he **take away** from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 27:9 By this therefore shall the iniquity of Jacob be purged; and this is all the fruit to **take away** his sin; when he maketh all the stones of the altar as chalkstones that are beaten in sunder, the groves and images shall not stand up.
- 30:11 Get you out of the way, turn aside out of the path, cause the Holy One of Israel to cease from before us.
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not **call back** his words; but will arise against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that work iniquity,
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath **taken away**, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 49:21 Then shalt thou say in thine heart, Who hath begotten me these, seeing I have lost my children, and am desolate, a captive, and removing to and fro? and who hath brought up these? Behold, I was left alone; these, where had they been?
- 52:11 **Depart** ye, **depart** ye, go ye out from thence, touch no unclean thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye clean, that bear the vessels of the Lord.
- 58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou **take away** from the midst of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity;
- 59:15 Yea, truth faileth; and he that **departeth** from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.

#### Take Hold

Primitive Root: אָחַא/ä-ḥäz': to seize (often with the idea of holding in possession)

## אָמָז |ä-ḥäz' (v.) to seize, take hold, lay hold of; to join, fasten

- 5:29 They shall roar like young lions; yea, they shall roar, and lay hold of the prey, and shall carry away safe, and none shall deliver.
- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall **take hold of** them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 21:3 Therefore are my loins filled with pain; pangs have **taken hold upon** me, as the pangs of a woman that travaileth; I was bowed down at the hearing of it; I was dismayed at the seeing of it.
- 33:14 The sinners in Zion are afraid; fearfulness hath **surprised** the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?

Primitive Root: חָזַק/ḥä-zäk': to fasten upon

## ְּלַזְּכֶּל (v.) to bind; to hold fast, conquer; to make firm, support, preserve; to be firm, strong

- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven women shall **take hold** of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 27:5 Or let him take hold of my strength, that he may make peace with me; and he shall make peace with me.
- 22:21 And I will clothe him with thy robe, and **strengthen** him with thy girdle, and I will commit thy government into his hand; and he shall be a father to the inhabitants of Jerusalem, and to the house of Judah.
- 28:22 Now therefore be ye not mockers, lest your bands be made **strong**; for I have heard from the Lord God of hosts a consumption, even determined upon the whole earth.
- 33:23 Thy tacklings are loosed; they could not well **strengthen** their mast; they could not spread the sail; then is the prey of a great spoil divided; the lame take the prey.
- 35:3 **Strengthen** ye the weak hands, and confirm the feeble knees.
- 35:4 Say to them that are of a fearful heart, Be **strong**, fear not; behold, your God will come with vengeance, even God with a recompense; he will come and save you.

- 39:1 At that time Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was **recovered**.
- 41:6 They helped everyone his neighbor; and everyone said to his brother, Be of good courage.
- 41:7 So the carpenter **encouraged** the goldsmith, and he that smootheth with the hammer him that smote the anvil, saying, It is ready for the soldering; and he **fastened** it with nails, that it should not be moved.
- 41:9 Thou whom I have **taken** from the ends of the earth, and called thee from the chief men thereof, and said unto thee, Thou art my servant; I have chosen thee, and not cast thee away.
- 41:13 For I the Lord thy God will **hold** thy right hand, saying unto thee, Fear not; I will help thee.
- 42:6 I the Lord have called thee in righteousness, and will **hold** thine hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, for a light of the Gentiles;
- 45:1 Thus saith the Lord to his anointed, to Cyrus, whose right hand I have **holden**, to subdue nations before him; and I will loose the loins of kings, to open before him the two-leaved gates; and the gates shall not be shut;
- 51:18 And there is none to guide her among all the sons whom she hath brought forth; neither is there any that **taketh** her by the hand of all the sons that she hath brought up.
- 54:2 Enlarge the place of thy tent, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine habitations; spare not, lengthen thy cords, and **strengthen** thy stakes;
- 56.2 lay hold
- 56:4 For thus saith the Lord unto the eunuchs that keep my sabbaths, and choose the things that please me, and **take hold** of my covenant;
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 64:7 And there is none that calleth upon thy name, that stirreth up himself to **take hold** of thee; for thou hast hid thy face from us, and hast consumed us, because of our iniquities.

Primitive Root: תַּבְּטִי/tä-fäsh': to manipulate

## תַּבְשׁ |tä-fäsh' (v.) to seize, lay hold of, catch, hold fast; to be taken, be seized, be captured

- 3:6 When a man shall **take hold** of his brother of the house of his father, and shall say, Thou hast clothing, be thou our ruler, and let not this ruin come under thy hand;
- 36:1 Now it came to pass in the fourteenth year of king Hezekiah, the Sennacherib king of Assyria came up against all the defensed cities of Judah, and **took** them.

#### Tarshish

Primitive Word: תַּרְשִׁישׁ/tär-shēsh': probably from a foreign derivation

#### tär-shēsh' (prop. n.) Tarshish, city in Spain; precious stone, chrysolite or topaz

- 2:16 And upon all the ships of the sea, and upon all the ships of Tarshish, and upon all pleasant pictures.
- 23:1 The burden of Tyre. Howl, ye ships of **Tarshish**; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 23:6 Pass ye over to Tarshish; howl, ye inhabitants of the isle.
- 23:10 Pass through thy land as a river, O daughter of Tarshish; there is no more strength in thee.
- 23:14 Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for your strength is laid waste.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of **Tarshish** first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 66:19 And I will set a sign among them, and I will send those that escape of them unto the nations, to **Tarshish**, Pul, and Lud, that draw the bow, to Tubal and Javan, to the isles afar off, that have not heard my fame, neither have seen my glory; and they shall declare my glory among the Gentiles.

## ТЕАСН

Primitive Root: יָדַע/yä-dä': to know

## ידע 'yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Acknowledge; Declare, Learn, Show, Tell

40:13 Who hath directed the Spirit of the Lord, or being his counselor hath taught him?

Primitive Root: יֵרֵע/yä-rä': to flow as water

## יברע yä-rä' (v.) to throw, cast; to shoot arrows; to point out, show; to direct, teach, instruct

- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will **teach** us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 9:15 The ancient and honorable, he is the head; and the prophet that teacheth lies, he is the tail.
- 28:9 Whom shall he **teach** knowledge? and whom shall he make to understand doctrine? them that are weaned from the milk, and drawn from the breasts.
- 28:26 For his God doth instruct him to discretion, and doth teach him.
- 30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the water of affliction, yet shall not thy **teachers** be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy **teachers**;
- 37:33 Therefore thus saith the Lord concerning the king of Assyria, He shall not come into this city, nor **shoot** an arrow there, nor come before it with shields, nor cast a bank against it.

Primitive Word: לוּצ' lüts: to make mouths at

## לְצוֹן |lä-tsōn' (v.) to speak barbarously, stammer; to deride, mock, scorn; to interpret, mediate

See Scorn

Primitive Root: לַמִּד/lä-mäd': to goad

## lä-mäd' (v.) to learn, study, be accustomed to; to train, practice; to teach, instruct

See Learn

## לְמֵּוּד |lēm-müd' (adj.) taught, trained, skilled, accustomed; (n.) disciple

See Learn

Primitive Root: לָעֵג/lä-äg': to deride

# |lä-äg' (v.) to mock, deride; to stammer, speak unintelligibly; to speak a foreign language

- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of Zion, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to **scorn**; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.

#### TEAR

Primitive Root: דָּמֵע/dä-mä': to weep

## דְּמְעָה |dēm-ä' (n.) tear, tears

- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my **tears**, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 25:8 He will swallow up death in victory; and the Lord God will wipe away **tears** from off all faces; and the rebuke of his people shall he take away from off all the earth; for the Lord hath spoken it.
- 38:5 Go, and say to Hezekiah, Thus saith the Lord, the God of David thy father, I have heard thy prayer, I have seen thy **tears**; behold, I will add unto thy days fifteen years.

#### Teil

Primitive Word: אול from an unused root meaning to twist

## אַלָּה [ā-lä' (n.) strong hardy tree, oak, terebinth

See Oak

#### TELL

Primitive Root: אָמַר/ä-mär': to say

[only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete]

## אמר ä-mär' (v.) to say, call, admonish; to command; to promise

6:9 And he said, Go, and tell this people, Hear ye indeed, but they understood not; and see ye indeed, but they perceived not.

Primitive Root: אַיַרע/yä-dä': to know

## יַדַע |yä-dä' (v.) to know, perceive, understand; to discover; to foresee; to make known, reveal

[Only individually listed due to vast quantity; list is incomplete] See also Acknowledge; Declare, Learn, Show, Teach

5:5 And now go to; I will **tell** you what I will do to my vineyard; I will take away the hedge thereof, and it shall be eaten up; and I will break down the wall thereof, and it shall be trodden down;

Primitive Root: גַּבְר /nä-gäd': to front, as in stand boldly in front

# nä-gäd' (v.) to show, tell, declare, confess, explain; to proclaim, announce; to make known, betray

See Declare

Primitive Root: סְפַר/sä-fär': to score with a mark as a tally or record

## אַפַר sä-fär' (v.) to write, inscribe; to number, count, measure; to tell; (part.) writer, scribe

See Scribe

Primitive Root: שַׁבְּעִע/shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## שׁמַע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

## TEMPEST

Primitive Root: מַלֵּלֵב 'zä-räm': to gush

## נבם ze'-rem (n.) shower (of rain), storm, hailstorm, flood

- 4:5 [4:6] And there shall be a tabernacle for a shadow in the daytime from the heat, and for a place of refuge, and for a covert from **storm** and from rain.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the **storm**, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones is as a **storm** against the wall.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a **tempest** of hail and a destroying storm, as a **flood** of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious voice to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the **tempest**; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.

Primitive Root: סָעַר/sä-är': to rush upon

#### שְׁעֵר (v.) to storm, rage, be agitated; to be violently shaken, be tossed; to rush upon

54:11 O thou afflicted, tossed with **tempest**, and not comforted, behold, I will lay thy stones with fair colors, and lay thy foundations with sapphires.

# סְעַר |sä-är' (n.) storm, tempest, hurricane

See Whirlwind

#### TEMPLE

Primitive Root: יָכֹל/yä-ḥōl': to be able

# הֵיכְל|hā-ḥäl' (n.) temple, tabernacle, sanctuary; large and magnificent building, palace, citadel

- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant **palaces**; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 39:7 And of thy sons that shall issue from thee, which thou shalt beget, shall they take away; and they shall be eunuchs in the **palace** of the king of Babylon.
- 44:28 That saith of Cyrus, He is my shepherd, and shall perform all my pleasure; even saying to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be built; and to the **temple**, Thy foundation shall be laid.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.

#### TEN

Primitive Root: עַשִּׁר/ä-shär': to accumulate

# עֲשִׂירִי (n.) tenth; (f.) tenth part

6:13 But yet in it there shall be a **tenth**, and they shall return, and shall be eaten; as a teil tree, and as an oak, whose substance is in them, when they cast their leaves; so the holy seed shall be the substance thereof.

## אַשֵּׂר (n.) ten; (pl.) tens, decades, twenty

- 5:10 Yea, ten acres of vineyard shall yield one bath, and the seed of a homer shall yield an ephah.
- 38:8 Behold, I will bring again the shadow of the degrees, which is gone down in the sundial of Ahaz, **ten** degrees backward. So the sun returned **ten** degrees, by which degrees it was gone down.

#### TENT

Primitive Root: אָהַל/ä-häl': to be clear

#### ä-häl' (v.) to pitch or remove a tent, to wander

13:20 It shall never be inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from generation to generation; neither shall the Arabian **pitch tent** there; neither shall the shepherds make their fold there.

#### אֹהֵל |ō-hɛl' (n.) tent, tabernacle

- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the **tabernacle** of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 33:20 Look upon Zion, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a **tabernacle** that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 38:12 Mine age is departed, and is removed from me as a shepherd's **tent**; I have cut off like a weaver my life; he will cut me off with pining sickness; from day even to night wilt thou make an end of me.
- 40:22 It is he that sitteth upon the circle of the earth, and the inhabitants thereof are as grasshoppers? that stretcheth out the heavens as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a **tent** to dwell in;
- 54:2 Enlarge the place of thy **tent**, and let them stretch forth the curtains of thine habitations; spare not, lengthen thy cords, and strengthen thy stakes;

#### TERRIBLE

Primitive Root: אָיַרָא'/yä-rā': to fear; morally to revere

## ירא |yä-rā' (v.) to fear, be afraid; to fear, reverence; to tremble (for joy); to terrify, make afraid

See Fear

Primitive Root: אָרֵץ/ä-räts': to awe or to dread

#### אַרַץ |ä-räts' (v.) to be afraid, fear; to frighten, terrify

See Afraid

## עָרָיץ |ä-rēts' (adj.) terrifying, causing fear; violent, fierce

- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the **terrible**.
- 25:3 Therefore shall the strong people glorify thee, the city of the terrible nations shall fear thee.
- 25:4 For thou hast been a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the **terrible ones** is as a storm against the wall.
- 25:5 Thou shalt bring down the noise of strangers, as the heat in a dry place; even the heat with the shadow of a cloud; the branch of the **terrible ones** shall be brought low.
- 29:5 Moreover the multitude of thy strangers shall be like small dust, and the multitude of the **terrible** ones shall be as chaff that passeth away: yea, it shall be at an instant suddenly.
- 29:20 For the terrible one is brought to nought, and the scorner is consumed, and all that watch for iniquity are cut off:
- 49:25 But thus saith the Lord; even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away, and the prey of the **terrible** shall be delivered; for the mighty God shall deliver his covenant people. For thus saith the Lord, I will contend with them that contend with thee, and I will save thy children.

## TESTIFY

Primitive Root: ענה /ä-nä': to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

## "מוענה" (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

See Answer

#### THICKET

Primitive Root: סְבַף/sä-väḥ': to entwine

# קבֹן |s²-väḥ' (n.) interwoven branches, thicket, shrubbery

9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the **thickets** of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.

10:34 And he shall cut down the **thickets** of the forest with iron, and Lebanon shall fall by a mighty one.

#### Third

Primitive Word: שָׁלוֹשׁ/shä-lōsh': a primitive number meaning three

## שְׁלִישִׁי |shɛ-lē-shē' (adj.) third; third part, third day

- 15:5 My heart shall cry out for Moab; his fugitives shall flee unto Zoar, a heifer of **three years old**; for by the mounting up of Luhith with weeping shall they go it up; for in the way of Horonaim they shall raise up a cry of destruction.
- 19:24 In that day shall Israel be the **third** with Egypt and with Assyria, even a blessing in the midst of the land;
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the **third** year sow ye, and reap, and plant vineyards, and eat the fruit thereof.

#### THIRST

Primitive Root: צַמֵא /tsä-mā': to thirst

#### צמא (v.) to be thirsty; to desire eagerly, gape

- 48:21 And they **thirsted** not when he led them through the deserts; he caused the waters to flow out of the rock for them; he clave the rock also, and the waters gushed out.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor **thirst**; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 65:13 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, my servants shall eat, but ye shall be hungry; behold, my servants shall drink, but ye shall be thirsty; behold, my servants shall rejoice, but ye shall be ashamed.

#### צמֵא (adj.) thirsty, dry

- 21:14 The inhabitants of the land of Tema brought water to him that was thirsty, they prevented with their bread him that fled.
- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a **thirsty** man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.

- 32:6 For the vile person will speak villany, and his heart will work iniquity, to practice hypocrisy, and to utter error against the Lord, to make empty the soul of the hungry; and he will cause the drink of the **thirsty** to fail.
- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is **thirsty**, and floods upon the dry ground; I will pour my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 55:1 Ho, everyone that **thirsteth**, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, buy, and eat; yea, come, buy wine and milk without money and without price.

## צְמַא |tsä-mä' (n.) thirst

- 5:13 Therefore my people are gone into captivity, because they have no knowledge; and their honorable men are famished, and their multitude dried up with **thirst**.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for **thirst**, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of **thirst**. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.

## אַמָּאוֹן tsēm-mä-ōn' (n.) thirsty, parched; arid region

See Land

#### THORN

Primitive Word: נֵעְצוֹץ/nä-ä-tsüts': from an unused root meaning to prick

## נעצוץ |nä-ä-tsüts' (n.) thorn hedge, thorn bush, a place of thorns

- 7:19 And they shall come, and shall rest all of them in the desolate valleys, and in the holes of the rocks, and upon all **thorns**, and upon all bushes.
- 55:13 Instead of the **thorn** shall come up the fir tree, and instead of the brier shall come up the myrtle tree; and it shall be to the Lord for a name, for an everlasting sign that shall not be cut off.

Primitive Word: סִיר sēr: from a primitive root meaning to boil up

## סִיל sēr (n.) pot, vessel, bowl, kettle; thorns, briers, fishing hook

34:13 And **thorns** shall come up in her palaces, nettles and brambles in the fortresses thereof; and it shall be a habitation of dragons, and a court for owls.

Primitive Root: אָקרּץ/küts: to clip off

## אָלוֹץ kōts (n.) thorn, thornbush

- 32:13 Upon the land of my people shall come up thorns and brier; yea, upon all the houses of joy in the joyous city.
- 33:12 And the people shall be as the burnings of lime; as thorns cut up shall they be burned in the fire.

Primitive Root: שִׁית |shēth: to place

## שית shä'-yēth (n.) thorn, thorn hedge

- 5:6 And I will lay it waste; it shall not be pruned, nor digged; but there shall come up brier and **thorns**; I will also command the clouds that they rain no rain upon it.
- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every place shall be, where there were a thousand vines at a thousand silverlings, which shall even be for brier and **thorns**.
- 7:24 With arrows and with bows shall men come thither; because all the land shall become brier and thorns.
- 7:25 And on all hills that shall be digged with the mattock, there shall not come thither the fear of brier and **thorns**; but it shall be for the sending forth of oxen, and for the treading of lesser cattle.
- 9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the **brier** and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.
- 10:17 And the light of Israel shall be for a fire, and his Holy One for a flame; and it shall burn and devour his **thorns** and his brier in one day;
- 27:4 Fury is not in me; who would set the brier and **thorns** against me in battle; I would go through them, I would burn them together.

## THOUGHT

Primitive Root: דָּמָה/da-ma': to be dumb or silent

# קמה (v.) to be like, resemble; to make or become like; to intend, purpose, meditate; to remember

See Liken

Primitive Root: חֲשֵׁב /ḥä-shäv': to plait or interpenetrate

## בּשְׁבּ |hä-shäv' (v.) to think, meditate; to devise, invent; to esteem, prize; to impute

See Esteem

## mä-ḥ<sup>ä</sup>-shä-vä' (n.) thought, intention, purpose, meditation, plan, plot, counsel

- 55:7 Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his **thoughts**; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 55:8 For my thoughts are not your thoughts, neither are your ways my ways, saith the Lord.
- 55:9 For as the heavens are higher than the earth, so are my ways higher than your ways, and my thoughts than your thoughts.
- 59:7 Their feet run to evil, and they make haste to shed innocent blood; their **thoughts** are **thoughts** of iniquity; wasting and destruction are in their paths.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a people who walketh not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they walk after their own **thoughts**.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their **thoughts**; it shall come, that I will gather all nations and tongues; and they shall come, and see my glory.

#### **THOUSAND**

Primitive Root: אָלַף 'ä'-läf: to association with

#### אֵלֶף'-lɛf (n.) thousand

- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every place shall be, where there were a **thousand** vines at a **thousand** silverlings, which shall even be for briers and thorns.
- 30:17 One **thousand** shall flee at the rebuke of one; at the rebuke of five shall ye flee; till ye be left as a beacon upon the top of a mountain, and as an ensign on a hill.
- 36:8 Now therefore give pledges, I pray thee, to my master the king of Assyria, and I will give thee two **thousand** horses, if thou be able on thy part to set riders upon them.
- 37:36 Then the angel of the Lord went forth, and smote in the camp of the Assyrians a hundred and fourscore and five **thousand**, and when they who were left arose, early in the morning, behold, they were all dead corpses.
- 60:22 A little one shall become a thousand, and a small one a strong nation; I the Lord will hasten it in my time.

#### THREE

Primitive Word: שָׁלוֹשׁ/shä-lōsh': a primitive number meaning three

## שָׁלוּשׁ shä-lōsh' (n.) three, third; thrice

- 16:14 But now the Lord hath spoken, saying, Within **three** years, as the years of a hireling, and the glory of Moab shall be contemned, with all that great multitude; and the remnant shall be very small and feeble.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, two or **three** berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;

#### שָׁלִישִׁי |sh-te-she' (adj.) third; third part, third day

See Third

#### THRONE

Primitive Root: בְּּטָה/kä-sä': to plump

## |לְּסֵא| kēs-sā' (n.) royal throne, high seat, chair

- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 9:7 Of the increase of his government and peace there is no end, upon the **throne** of David, and upon his kingdom, to order it, and to establish it with judgment and with justice from henceforth even forever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will perform this.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is moved for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their **throne**s all the kings of the nations.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my **throne** above the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the **throne** be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 22:23 And I will fasten him as a nail in a sure place; and he shall be for a glorious throne to his father's house.
- 47:1 Come down, and sit in the dust, O virgin daughter of Babylon, sit on the ground; there is no **throne**, O daughter of the Chaldeans; for thou shalt no more be called tender and delicate.
- 66:1 Thus saith the Lord, The heaven is my **throne**, and the earth is my footstool; where is the house that ye build unto me; and where is the place of my rest?

## **TIDINGS**

Primitive Root: בָּשֵׂר/bä-sär': to be fresh

## בשר bä-sär' (v.) to announce, bear glad tidings, bring good news

- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest **good tidings**, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest **good tidings**, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 41:27 The first shall say to Zion, Behold, behold them; and I will give to Jerusalem one that bringeth good tidings.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth **good tidings** unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth **good tidings** unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!
- 60:6 The multitude of camels shall cover thee, the dromedaries of Midian and Ephah; all they from Sheba shall come; they shall bring gold and incense; and they shall **show forth** the praises of the Lord.
- 61:1 The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach **good tidings** unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound;

#### TIME

Demonstrative Adverb: אַלּוֹג

## אָן az (adv.) then, at that time, therefore; (with prep מ) formerly, therefore

- 16:13 This is the word that the Lord hath spoken concerning Moab since that time.
- 44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee **from that time**, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.
- 48:3 I have declared the former things from the **beginning**; and they went forth out of my mouth, and I showed them; I did them suddenly, and they came to pass.
- 48:5 I have even from the **beginning** declared it to thee; before it came to pass I showed it thee; lest thou shouldest say, Mine idol hath done them; and my graven image, and my molten image, hath commanded them.

 $Primitive\ Word:\ derived\ from$ אֲחְלָרְע "a-hē-rä": Achira (an Israelite name meaning "brother of wrong"). Combination of primitive roots: אָח (brother) and אך (bad or evil)

## אַחוֹר |ä-ḥor' (n.) back, backside; west, westward; (adv.) backward, behind

See Back(ward)

Primitive Root: לֵלִד/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

#### ילד'|vä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: יַעִד'/yä-äd': to fix upon

## מועד mō-äd' (n.) an assembly; a troop (of soldiers)

14:31 Howl, O gate; cry, O city; thou, whole Palestina, art dissolved; for there shall come from the north a smoke, and none shall be alone in his **appointed times**.

Primitive Root: עָדָה/ä-dä: to advance

# אַת (n.) time, season; right time, opportunity; (בְּלִעֵת) at every time, every season; (לְעֵת עֶבֶּר) at evening

- 9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her vexation, **when** at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.
- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their desolate houses, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her **time** is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 17:14 And behold at **eveningtide** trouble; and before the morning he is not. This is the portion of them that spoil us, and the lot of them that rob us.
- 18:7 In that **time** shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 20:2 At the same **time** spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, walking naked and barefoot.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their salvation also in the **time** of trouble.
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 39:1 At that **time** Merodach-baladan, the son of Baladan, king of Babylon, sent letters and a present to Hezekiah; for he had heard that he had been sick, and was recovered.
- 48:16 Come ye near unto me, hear ye this; I have not spoken in secret from the beginning; from the **time** that it was, there am I; and now the Lord God, and his Spirit, hath sent me.
- 49:8 Thus saith the Lord, In an acceptable **time** have I heard thee, and in a day of salvation have I helped thee; and I will preserve thee, and give thee for a covenant of the people, to establish the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages;
- 60:22 A little one shall become a thousand, and a small one a strong nation; I the Lord will hasten it in my time.

#### שְׁבָּה (adv.) now, at present, at this time, already; then, presently, soon, in a short time

48:6 Thou hast heard, see all this; and will not ye declare it? I have showed thee new things **from this time**, even hidden things, and thou didst not know them.

Primitive Root: עֲלֵם /ä-läm': to veil from sight

# עוֹלָם |ō-läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

Primitive Root: קַּדָם/kä-däm': to project

#### קדם |ke'-dem (n.) what is in front; east, eastern lands; ancient times, things of old

See Ancient

 $Primitive\ Word$ : ראשׁי $|rar{o}sh|$  from an unused root possibly meaning to shake

# רְאשׁוֹן rē-shōn' or יֵראשׁיִר. rā-shēth' (n.) beginning, commencement, origin; former time; first, first fruit, firstling

See Former

#### TIN

Primitive Root: בְּדֵל/bä-däl': to divide

# $|b^{\epsilon}-d\bar{e}|'$ (n.) alloy, lead-alloy (mixed with silver); tin

1:25 And I will turn my hand upon thee; and purely purge away thy dross, and take away all thy tin;

#### TINKLING

Primitive Root: עָבַס/ä-ḥäs': to tie

## אָבַס |ä-ḥäs' (v.) to adorn oneself with anklets, wear anklets

3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a **tinkling** with their feet;

## עֵבֶּס (n.) anklet; fetter, ankle band

3:18 In that day the Lord will take away the bravery of tinkling ornaments, and cauls, and round tires like the moon,

#### TONGUE

Primitive Root: לָשֵׁן/lä-shän': to lick

## ָלְשׁוֹן lä-shōn' (n.) tongue; speech, language; flame

- 3:8 For Jerusalem is ruined, and Judah is fallen; because their **tongues** and their doings have been against the Lord, to provoke the eyes of his glory.
- 5:24 Therefore as the fire devoureth the stubble, and the **flame** consumeth the chaff, so their root shall be as rottenness, and their blossom shall go up as dust; because they have cast away the law of the Lord of hosts, and despised the word of the Holy One of Israel.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the **tongue** of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men go over dry-shod.
- 28:11 For with stammering lips and another tongue will he speak to this people.
- 30:27 Behold, the name of the Lord cometh from far, burning with his anger, and the burden thereof is heavy; his lips are full of indignation and his **tongue** as a devouring fire;
- 32:4 The heart also of the rash shall understand knowledge, and the tongue of the stammerers shall be ready to speak plainly.
- 33:19 Thou shalt not see a fierce people, a people of a deeper speech than thou canst perceive; of a stammering **tongue**, that thou canst not understand.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the **tongue** of the dumb sing; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and streams in the desert.
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their **tongue** faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 45:23 I have sworn by myself, the word is gone out of my mouth in righteousness, and shall not return, That unto me every knee shall bow, every **tongue** shall swear.
- 50:4 The Lord God hath given me the **tongue** of the learned, that I should know how to speak a word in season unto thee, O house of Israel, when ye are weary. He waketh morning by morning, he waketh mine ear to hear as the learned.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every **tongue** that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 57:4 Against whom do ye sport yourselves? against whom make ye a wide mouth, and draw out the **tongue**? are ye not children of transgression, a seed of falsehood.
- 59:3 For your hands are defiled with blood, and your fingers with iniquity; your lips have spoken lies, your **tongue** hath muttered perverseness.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their thoughts; it shall come, that I will gather all nations and **tongues**; and they shall come, and see my glory.

#### Touch

Primitive Word: בֵּרֶם/kɛ'-rɛm: from an unused root of uncertain meaning

#### |בּרָם ke'-rem (n.) vineyard, garden, orchard, plantation

See Vineyard

Primitive Root: גָגע/nä-gä': to touch

## |nä-gä' (v.) to touch, reach unto; to come to, arrive at; to smite, strike; to punish

- 5:8 Woe unto them that **join** house to house, that lay field to field, till there can be no place, that they may be placed alone in the midst of the earth!
- 6:7 And he laid it upon my mouth, and said, Lo, this has touched thy lips; and thine iniquity is taken away, and thy sin purged.

- 8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall overflow and go over, he shall **reach** even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are **come** even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 26:5 For he bringeth down them that dwell on high; the lofty city he layeth it low; he layeth it low, even to the ground; he bringeth it even to the dust.
- 30:4 For his princes were at Zoan, and his ambassadors came to Hanes.
- 52:11 Depart ye, depart ye, go ye out from thence, **touch** no unclean thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye clean, that bear the vessels of the Lord.
- 53:4 Surely he hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted.

#### Tow

Primitive Root: נֵעָר/nä-är': to growl or tumble about

## נְעֹרֵת (n.) tow (shaken out), refuse

1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.

Primitive Word: พ่อ/päsh: probably from an unused root meaning to disintegrate

# |pēsh-tɛ' (n.) flax, tow; wick

See Flax

#### Transgress

Primitive Root: פַשַּׁע|pä-shä': to break away

## pä-shä' (v.) to fall away, break away; to sin, transgress, rebel; to be offended

- 1:2 Hear, O heavens, and give ear, O earth; for the Lord hath spoken; I have nourished and brought up children, and they have rebelled against me.
- 1:28 And the destruction of the transgressors and of the sinners shall be together, and they that forsake the Lord shall be consumed.
- 43:27 Thy first father hath sinned, and thy teachers have transgressed against me.
- 46:8 Remember this, and show yourselves men; bring it again to mind, O ye transgressors.
- 48:8 Yea, thou heardest not; yea, thou knewest not; yea, from that time that thine ear was not opened; for I knew that thou wouldest deal very treacherously, and wast called a **transgressor** from the womb.
- 53:12 Therefore will I divide him a portion with the great, and he shall divide the spoil with the strong; because he hath poured out his soul unto death; and he was numbered with the **transgressors**; and he bare the sin of many, and made intercession for the **transgressors**.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.
- 59:13 In **transgressing** and lying against the Lord, and departing away from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have **transgressed** against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

## Travail

Primitive Root: חול to twist or whirl

## חול (v.) to twist, twirl; to writhe; to be in labor; to be afraid, tremble; to wait, hope

See Pain

Primitive Root: יֵלֶד'/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

# יְלֵדִי |yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: עַמֵּל/ä-mäl': to toil

## |ä-mäl' (n.) heavy labor, toil; weariness, trouble, vexation, distress, misery, sorrow, suffering

- 10:1 Woe unto them that decree unrighteous decrees, and that write greivousness which they have prescribed;
- 53:11 He shall see of the **travail** of his soul, and shall be satisfied; by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive **mischief**, and bring forth iniquity.

#### Travel

Primitive Root: אֲרָה /ä-räḥ': to travel

# אַרְחָה (n.) band of travelers, traveling company, caravan

21:13 The burden upon Arabia. In the forest in Arabia shall ye lodge, O ye traveling companies of Dedanim.

Primitive Root: צְּעָה /tsä-ä': to tip over

## נצמה (v.) to bend downward, incline; to be bent (by fetters); to lie down; to walk proudly

See Captive

## Treacherous

Primitive Root: בְּגַד/bä-gäd': to cover (with garment)

## לאָם |bä-gäd' (v.) to act secretly or covertly; to deceive, cheat, betray

- 21:2 A grievous vision is declared unto me; The **treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously**, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 24:16 From the uttermost part of the earth have we heard songs, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto mel the **treacherous dealers** have **dealt treacherously**; yea, the **treacherous dealers** have **dealt** very **treacherously**.
- 33:1 Woe to thee that spoilest, and thou wast not spoiled; and dealest treacherously, and they dealt not treacherously with thee! when thou shalt cease to spoil, thou shalt be spoiled; and when thou shalt make an end to deal treacherously, they shall deal treacherously with thee.
- 48:8 Yea, thou heardest not; yea, thou knewest not; yea, from that time that thine ear was not opened; for I knew that thou wouldest **deal very treacherously**, and wast called a transgressor from the womb.

# Tread/Trod

Primitive Root: שנוס/büs: to trample

## שניס |büs (v.) to tread down, crush; to trample upon, tread with feet

- 14:19 But thou art cast out of thy grave like an abominable branch, and the remnant of those that are slain, thrust through with a sword, that go down to the stones of the pit; as a carcass **trodden under feet**.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains **tread** him **underfoot**; then shall his yoke depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 63:6 And I will **tread down** the people in mine anger, and make them drunk in my fury, and I will bring down their strength to the earth.
- 63:18 The people of thy holiness have possessed it but a little while; our adversaries have trodden down thy sanctuary.

# מבוּסָה|me-vü-sä (n.) a treading, trampling down; a subduing

- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and **trodden down**, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and **trodden underfoot**, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount Zion.
- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of **treading down**, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.

Primitive Root: דְּרַדְּ /dä-räḥ': to tread

## קברן dä-räḥ' (v.) to tread, walk, go; to wander; to tread down or trample on; to bend (a bow)

- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows **bent**, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 11:15 And the Lord shall utterly destroy the tongue of the Egyptian sea; and with his mighty wind shall he shake his hand over the river, and shall smite it in the seven streams, and make men **go over** dry-shod.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the **treaders** shall **tread out** no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 42:16 And I will bring the blind by a way that they knew not; I will **lead** them in paths that they have not known; I will make darkness light before them, and crooked things straight. These things will I do unto them, and not forsake them.
- 48:17 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; I am the Lord thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which **leadeth** thee by the way that thou shouldest go.
- 59:8 The way of peace they know not; and there is no judgment in their goings; they have made them crooked paths; whosoever **goeth** therein shall not know peace.
- 63:2 Wherefore art thou red in thine apparel, and thy garments like him that treadeth in the winefat?
- 63:3 I have **trodden** the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will **tread** them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.

Primitive Root: רְמֵּס /rä-mäs': to tread upon

## rä-mäs' (v.) to tread, tread down, trample; to profane

- 1:12 When ye come to appear before me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread my courts?
- 16:4 Let mine outcasts dwell with thee, Moab; be thou a covert to them from the face of the spoiler; for the extortioner is at an end, the spoiler ceaseth, the **oppressors** are consumed out of the land.
- 26:6 The foot shall **tread** it **down**, even the feet of the poor, and the steps of the needy.
- 28:3 The crown of pride, the drunkards of Ephraim, shall be trodden under feet;
- 41:25 I have raised up one from the north, and he shall come; from the rising of the sun shall he call upon my name; and he shall come upon princes as upon mortar, and as the potter **treadeth** clay.
- 63:3 I have trodden the winepress alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and **trample** them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.

## TREASURE

Primitive Root: אָצַר/ä-tsär': to store up

#### אָצֵר |ä-tsär' (v.) to lay up, store, treasure up

- 23:18 And her merchandise and her hire shall be holiness to the Lord; it shall not be treasured nor laid up; for her merchandise shall be for them that dwell before the Lord, to eat sufficiently, and for durable clothing.
- 39:6 Behold, the days come, that all that is in thine house, and that which thy fathers have **laid up in store** until this day, shall be carried to Babylon; nothing shall be left, saith the Lord.

#### אוצר (n.) treasure, store, stock, provision, supply

- 2:7 Their land also is full of silver and gold, neither is there any end of their **treasures**; their land is also full of horses, neither is there any end of their chariots;
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their **treasures** upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 33:6 And wisdom and knowledge shall be the stability of thy times, and strength of salvation; the fear of the Lord is his treasure.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his armor, and all that was found in his **treasures**; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 39:4 Then said he, What have they seen in thine house? And Hezekiah answered, All that is in mine house have they seen; there is nothing among my **treasures** that I have not showed them.
- 45:3 And I will give thee the **treasures** of darkness, and hidden riches of secret places, that thou mayest know that I, the Lord, which call thee by thy name, am the God of Israel.

Primitive Root: סֶבֶן/sä-ḥän': to be familiar with

# |sä-ḥän' (v.) to be familiar, manage, perform; to be poor, be needy; to do useful service, do kindness

22:15 Thus saith the Lord God of hosts, Go, get thee unto this treasurer, even unto Shebna, which is over the house, and say,

Primitive Root: עתד/ä-täd': to prepare

## אתוד |ä-thūd' or עתיד |ä-thēd' (n.) ready, prepared, skillful; (pl.) treasures

10:13 For he saith, By the strength of my hand, and by my wisdom I have done these things; for I am prudent, and I have moved the borders of the people, and have robbed their **treasures**, and I have put down the inhabitants like a valiant man.

#### TREE

Primitive Word: אוּל! from an unused root meaning to twist

## ä'-ēl (n.) ram, strong tree, oak, pilaster (pl.) mighty men, nobles

See Ram

Primitive Root: עַצַה/ä-tsä': to fasten

## מָצי ats (n.) tree, wood, timber; stake, pole, log, wooden work

- 7:2 And it was told the house of David, saying, Syria is confederate with Ephraim. And his heart was moved, and the heart of his people, as the **trees** of the wood are moved with the wind.
- 10:15 Shall the axe boast itself against him that heweth therewith? or shall the saw magnify itself against him that shaketh it? as if the rod should shake itself against them that lift it up, or as if the staff should lift up itself, as if it were no **wood**.
- 10:19 And the rest of the **trees** of his forest shall be few, that a child may write them.
- 30:33 For Topheth is ordained of old; yea, for the king it is prepared; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire and much wood; the breath of the Lord, like a stream of brimstone, doth kindle it.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the work of men's hands, **wood** and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 40:20 He that is so impoverished that he hath no oblation chooseth a **tree** that will not rot; he seeketh unto him a cunning workman to prepare a graven image, that shall not be moved.
- 41:19 I will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil **tree**; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 44:14 He heweth him down cedars, and taketh the cypress and the oak, which he strengtheneth for himself among the **trees** of the forest; he planteth an ash, and the rain doth nourish it.
- 44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor understanding to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a **tree**?
- 44:23 Sing, O ye heavens; for the Lord hath done it; shout, ye lower parts of the earth; break forth into singing, ye mountains, O forest, and every **tree** therein; for the Lord hath redeemed Jacob, and glorified himself in Israel.
- 45:20 Assemble yourselves and come; draw near together, ye that are escaped of the nations; they have no knowledge that set up the **wood** of their graven image, and pray unto a god that cannot save.
- 55:12 For ye shall go out with joy, and be led forth with peace; the mountains and the hills shall break forth before you into singing, and all the **trees** of the field shall clap their hands.
- 56:3 Neither let the son of the stranger, that hath joined himself to the Lord, speak, saying, The Lord hath utterly separated me from his people; neither let the eunuch say, Behold, I am a dry **tree**.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy officers peace, and thine exactors righteousness.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a **tree** are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the work of their hands.

#### Tremble

Primitive Root: חֶרֶר, /ḥä-rād': to shudder with terror

## חָרֵד |hä-rād' (v.) to tremble, be afraid, be anxious; to fear for someone

See Afraid

## אָרָדּל |ḥä-rād' (n.) trembling, fearful, afraid, anxious; reverent

- 66:2 For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the Lord; but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and **trembleth** at my word.
- 66:5 Hear the word of the Lord, ye that **tremble** at his word; Your brethren that hated you, that cast you out for my name's sake, said, Let the Lord be glorified; but he shall appear to your joy, and they shall be ashamed.

Primitive Root: רְגוֹן/rä-gäz': to quiver

# רְגַּז |rä-gäz' (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

- 5:25 Therefore is the anger of the Lord kindled against his people, and he hath stretched forth his hand against them, and hath smitten them; and the hills did **tremble**, and their carcasses were torn in the midst of the streets. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:9 Hell from beneath is **moved** for thee to meet thee at thy coming; it stirreth up the dead for thee, even all the chief ones of the earth; it hath raised up from their thrones all the kings of the nations.
- 14:16 They that see thee shall narrowly look upon thee, and shall consider thee, and shall say, Is this the man that made the earth to **tremble**, that did shake kingdoms;
- 22:5 For it is a day of **trouble**, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the valley of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.
- 23:11 He stretched out his hand over the sea, he **shook** the kingdoms; the Lord hath given a commandment against the merchant city, to destroy the strongholds thereof.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be **wroth** as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 37:28 But I know thy abode, and thy going out, and thy coming in, and thy rage against me.
- 37:29 Because thy **rage** against me, and thy tumult, is come up into mine ears, therefore will I put my hook in thy nose, and my bridle in thy lips, and I will turn thee back by the way by which thou camest.
- 32:10 Many days and years shall ye be troubled, ye careless women; for the vintage shall fail, the gathering shall not come.
- 32:11 Tremble, ye women that are at ease; be **troubled**, ye careless ones; strip you, and make you bare, and gird sackcloth upon your loins.
- 64:2 As when the melting fire burneth, the fire causeth the waters to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may **tremble** at thy presence!

#### Tribe

Primitive Word: שֶׁבֶּט shā'-vɛt: from an unused root probably meaning to branch off

#### שבט shā'-vet (n.) staff, stick, rod, crook, thrashing-rod; scepter; tribe, stem; lance, spear

See Rod

#### Trouble

Primitive Root: בְּחֵל/bä-häl': to tremble inwardly

#### שבהלה |bε-hä-lä' (n.) terror, fear, fright

65:23 They shall not labor in vain, nor bring forth for **trouble**; for they are the seed of the blessed of the Lord, and their offspring with them.

Primitive Root: בַּלָה /bä-läh': to palpitate

## |bäl-lä-hä' (n.) terror, sudden terror, fright; sudden destruction, death

17:14 And behold at eveningtide **trouble**; and before the morning he is not. This is the portion of them that spoil us, and the lot of them that rob us.

Primitive Root: גֵרָשׁ/gä-räsh': to drive out from a possession

## בְּלֵשׁ gä-räsh' (v.) to expel, drive away; to be driven, be agitated

57:20 But the wicked are like the troubled sea, when it cannot rest, whose waters cast up mire and dirt. '

Primitive Root: אָרַרח/tä-räḥ': to oberburden

## שׁרַח |tō'-räḥ (n.) burden, trouble, hardship, encumbrance

1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.

Primitive Root: צַרַר/tsä-rär': to cramp

## לצמר (n.) oppressor, persecutor, adversary, enemy; distress, embarrassment; danger, trouble

See Enemy

# צְרָה (n.) a female adversary, enemy or rival; distress, anguish

- 8:22 And they shall look unto the earth; and behold trouble and darkness, dimness of anguish; and they shall be driven to darkness.
- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of **trouble** and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the viper and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have waited for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their salvation also in the time of **trouble**.
- 37:3 And they said unto him, Thus said Hezekiah, This day is a day of **trouble**, and of rebuke, and of blasphemy; for the children are come to the birth, and there is not strength to bring forth.
- 46:7 They bear him upon the shoulder, they carry him, and set him in his place, and he standeth; from his place shall he not remove; yea, one shall cry unto him, yet can he not answer, nor save him out of his **trouble**.
- 63:9 In all their **affliction** he was **afflicted**, and the angel of his presence saved them; in his love and in his pity he redeemed them; and he bare them, and carried them all the days of old.
- 65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of truth; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of truth; because the former **troubles** are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.

Primitive Root: רְגַז/rä-gäz': to quiver

## מָצָן rä-gäz' (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

See Tremble

## Trust

Primitive Root: בַּטָח/bä-täḥ': to hide for refuge

# שְׁבֶּטֶת bä-täḥ' (v.) to trust, confide in; to attach oneself; to be secure, be careless

- 12:2 Behold, God is my salvation; I will **trust**, and not be afraid; for the Lord JEHOVAH is my strength and my song; he also is become my salvation.
- 26:3 Thou wilt keep him in perfect peace, whose mind is stayed on thee; because he trusteth in thee.
- 26:4 Trust ye in the Lord forever; for in the Lord JEHOVAH is everlasting strength.
- 30:12 Wherefore thus saith the Holy One of Israel, Because ye despise this word, and **trust** in oppression and perverseness, and stay thereon;
- 31:1 Woe to them that go down to Egypt for help; and stay on horses, and **trust** in chariots, because they are many; and in horsemen, because they are very strong; but they look not unto the Holy One of Israel, neither seek the Lord.
- 32:10 Many days and years shall ye be troubled, ye careless women; for the vintage shall fail, the gathering shall not come.
- 32:11 Tremble, ye women that are at ease; be troubled, ye **careless ones**; strip you, and make you bare, and gird sackcloth upon your loins
- 36:4 And Rabshakeh said unto them, Say ye now to Hezekiah, Thus saith the great king, the king of Assyria, What confidence is this wherein thou trustest?

- 36:5 I say, thy words are but vain when thou sayest, I have counsel and strength for war. Now, on whom dost thou **trust** that thou rebellest against me?
- 36:6 Lo, thou **trustest** in the staff of this broken reed, on Egypt; whereon if a man lean, it will go into his hand, and pierce it; so is Pharaoh king of Egypt to all that **trust** in him.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We **trust** in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall worship before this altar?
- 36:9 How then wilt thou turn away the face of one captain of the least of my master's servants, and **put** thy **trust** on Egypt for chariots and for horsemen?
- 36:15 Neither let Hezekiah make you **trust** in the Lord, saying, The Lord will surely deliver us; this city shall not be delivered into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 37:10 Thus shall ye speak to Hezekiah king of Judah, saying, Let not thy God, in whom thou **trustest**, deceive thee, saying, Jerusalem shall not be given into the hand of the king of Assyria.
- 42:17 They shall be turned back, they shall be greatly ashamed, that **trust** in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 47:10 For thou hast **trust**ed in thy wickedness; thou hast said, None seeth me. Thy wisdom and thy knowledge, it hath perverted thee; and thou hast said in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him **trust** in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they **trust** in vanity, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.

Primitive Root: חָסָה/ḥä-sä': to flee for protection

## ּחְּסְה |hä-sä' (v.) to flee, take refuge; to trust

- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath founded Zion, and the poor of his people shall **trust** in it.
- 30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to **trust** in the shadow of Egypt!
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; vanity shall take them; but he that **putteth** his **trust** in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

## חָסוּת |hä-süth' (n.) refuge; refuge-seeking

30:3 Therefore shall the strength of Pharaoh be your shame, and the trust in the shadow of Egypt your confusion.

Primitive Root: יָחֵל/yä-ḥäl':

#### vä-ḥäl' (v.) to wait; to cause to hope, expect; to wait for, tarry

See Wait

# Truth

Primitive Root: אַמַן/ä-män': to build up or support

#### אֲמַוּן ā-mün' (n.) faithfulness, fastened; (pl.) fidelity, trustiness

26:2 Open ye the gates, that the righteous nation which keepeth the truth may enter in.

#### אַמוּנָה -mü-nä' (n.) firmness, security; faithfulness, fidelity, honesty

See Faithful

#### אַמֵּן ä-mān' (n.) firm, true, faithful

65:16 That he who blesseth himself in the earth shall bless himself in the God of **truth**; and he that sweareth in the earth shall swear by the God of **truth**; because the former troubles are forgotten, and because they are hid from mine eyes.

## אֹמֵן (n.) faithfulness, truth, fidelity

25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and **truth**.

#### אַמְנֵם | äm-näm' (adv.) in truth, truly, indeed

37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,

## במת (n.) truth; faithfulness, fidelity, faith; uprightness, integrity of mind, honesty

- 10:20 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the remnant of Israel, and such as are escaped of the house of Jacob, shall no more again stay upon him that smote them; but shall stay upon the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, in **truth**.
- 16:5 And in mercy shall the throne be established; and he shall sit upon it in truth in the tabernacle of David, judging, and seeking judgment, and hasting righteousness.
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have walked before thee in **truth** and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 38:18 For the grave cannot praise thee, death cannot celebrate thee; they that go down into the pit cannot hope for thy truth.
- 38:19 The living, the living, he shall praise thee, as I do this day; the father to the children shall make known thy truth.
- 39:8 Then said Hezekiah to Isaiah, Good is the word of the Lord which thou hast spoken. He said moreover, For there shall be peace and **truth** in my days.
- 42:3 A bruised reed shall he not break, and the smoking flax shall he not quench; he shall bring forth judgment unto truth.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their witnesses, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is **truth**.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in **truth**, nor in righteousness.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.
- 59:15 Yea, **truth** faileth; and he that departeth from evil maketh himself a prey; and the Lord saw it, and it displeased him that there was no judgment.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their work in **truth**, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.

## TUMULT

Primitive Root: המה/hä-mä': to make a loud sound, like a hum

hä-mä' (v.) to hum (like bees); to sound (noise of an animal); to be agitated, noisy

See Sound

militude (of people), crowd; agrigation (n.) sound, noise, bustle, tumult; multitude (of people), crowd; agrigation

See Multitude

Primitive Root: שַׁאַה/shä-ä': to rush

שָׁאוֹן shä-ōn' (n.) noise, tumult, rush, roar; desolation, destruction, devastation

See Noise

Primitive Root: שָׁאַן/shä-än': to loll

שְׁאֲנָן shä-ä-nän' (adj.) quiet, peaceful, easy, secure, tranquil; living at ease, careless, proud

See Quiet

## Turn

Primitive Root: הַבּף/hä-fäḥ': to turn about or over

#### קבּפְּן hä-fäḥ' (v.) to turn or turn back, convert, change; to pervert; to overrun, overthrow

- 34:9 And the streams thereof shall be **turned** into pitch, and the dust thereof into brimstone, and the land thereof shall become burning pitch.
- 60:5 Then thou shalt see, and flow together, and thine heart shall fear, and be enlarged; because the abundance of the sea shall be **converted** unto thee, the forces of the Gentiles shall come unto thee.
- 63:10 But they rebelled, and vexed his Holy Spirit; therefore he was turned to be their enemy, and he fought against them.

# הבד |hō'-fɛḥ (n.) perverseness, perversity, folly

29:16 Surely your turning of things upside down shall be esteemed as the potter's clay: for shall the work say of him that made it, He made me not? or shall the thing framed say of him that framed it, He had no understanding?

Primitive Root: אַנַרוֹ /zä-näḥ': to push aside

## בוֹלְצִמ zä-näḥ' (v.) to reject, profane; to be abominable; to be dried up (as a river)

See Far

Primitive Root: יְבֵעְן/yä-män': to be right (physically)

# יָמִינן yä-mēn' (n.) right hand, right side; south, southern part; prosperity

See Right

Primitive Root: נֵטָה/nä-tä': to stretch or spread out

# nä-tä' (v.) to stretch out, extend, spread out; to unfold; to bend, decline; to turn, turn aside

See Stretch

Primitive Root: נָסֵג/nä-säg': to retreat

## אַבּסָג |nä-säg' (v.) to draw back, depart; to remove, take away; to displace

59:13 In transgressing and lying against the Lord, and **departing away** from our God, speaking oppression and revolt, conceiving and uttering from the heart words of falsehood.

59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.

Primitive Root: סֶבֶב :sä-väv': to revolve, surround or border

# sä-väv' (v.) to go or turn about; to go round, to surround, encompass, besiege; to bring about

- 23:16 Take a harp, **go about** the city, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make sweet melody, sing many songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a threshing instrument, neither is a cartwheel **turned about** upon the cummin; but the fitches are beaten out with a staff, and the cummin with a rod.
- 38:2 Then Hezekiah turned his face toward the wall, and prayed unto the Lord,

Primitive Root: סוגן/süg: to flinch

#### |süg (v.) to go away from, depart, go back; to hedge in; to draw back, retreat; to turn apostate

- 42:17 They shall be **turned** back, they shall be greatly ashamed, that trust in graven images, that say to the molten images, Ye are our gods.
- 50:5 [50:5-8] The Lord God hath appointed mine ears, and I was not rebellious, neither **turned away** back. I gave my back to the smiters, and my cheeks to them that plucked off the hair. I hid not my face from shame and spitting, for the Lord God will help me; therefore shall I not be confounded; therefore have I set my face like a flint, and I know that I shall not be ashamed, and the Lord is near and he justifieth me.

Primitive Root: מֵלֵה /pä-nä': to turn or to face

# pä-nä' (v.) to turn (oneself), turn to or from; to go, look, regard; to drive away, clear

See Look

Primitive Root: עַנה/ä-vä': to crook, or make crooked

## "מוּמָה (v.) to act perversely, sin; to be bent, write, be distorted; to pervert, overturn

See Bon

Primitive Root: צֵבְף/tsä-näf': to wrap

## נצר (v.) to wrap, roll around or together; to roll up, wind up

22:18 He will surely **violently turn** and toss thee like a ball into a large country; there shalt thou die, and there the chariots of thy glory shall be the shame of thy lord's house.

Primitive Root: שׁוֹב/shüv: to turn back or away

#### אשׁוֹצוֹב shüv (v.) to turn about or around, to return; to convert; to restore, renew; to repeat

See Return

Primitive Root: שׁוּם/süm: to put

# שוּם |süm (v.) to put, set, place, dispose, set in array; to plant, beget; constitute, erect; to lay down; to appoint

See Put

Primitive Root: שַׂמַאל/sä-mäl': to use the left hand or go in that direction

## שמאל |sä-mäl' (v.) to turn oneself to the left; to use the left hand

See Left (Hand/Side)

#### Two

Primitive Root: שַׁנֵה/shä-nä': to fold

# שׁנַיִּם |sh--nä'-ēm (n.) (always dual) two, both, a pair; twofold

- 1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.
- 6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each one had six wings; with **twain** he covered his face, and with **twain** he covered his feet, and with **twain** he did fly.
- 7:4 And say unto him, Take heed, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the **two** tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou abhorrest shall be forsaken of **both** her kings.
- 7:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that a man shall nourish a young cow and **two** sheep.
- 8:14 And he shall be for a sanctuary; but for a stone of stumbling and for a rock of offense to **both** the houses of Israel, for a gin and for a snare to the inhabitants of Jerusalem.
- 17:6 Yet gleaning grapes shall be left in it, as the shaking of an olive tree, **two** or three berries in the top of the uppermost bough, four or five in the outmost fruitful branches thereof, saith the Lord God of Israel.
- 47:9 But these **two** things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.
- 51:19 These **two** sons are come unto thee; they shall be sorry for thee, thy desolation, and destruction, and the famine, and the sword; and by whom shall I comfort thee?
- 51:20 Thy sons have fainted save these **two** they lie at the head of all the streets, as a wild bull in a net; they are full of the fury of the Lord, the rebuke of thy God.

## **Tyre**

Primitive root: צוּר/tsür: to cramp

# צר (prop. n.) Tyre; stone, rock, sharp flint

- 23:1 The burden of **Tyre**. Howl, ye ships of Tarshish; for it is laid waste, so that there is no house, no entering in; from the land of Chittim it is revealed to them.
- 23:5 As at the report concerning Egypt, so shall they be sorely pained at the report of Tyre.
- 23:8 Who hath taken this counsel against **Tyre**, the crowning city, whose merchants are princes, whose traffickers are the honorable of the earth?
- 23:15 And it shall come to pass in that day, that **Tyre** shall be forgotten seventy years, according to the days of one king; after the end of seventy years shall **Tyre** sing as a harlot.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit **Tyre**, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.

# WORD-LINKS "U"

## Unclean

Primitive Root: טֶמֵא /tä-mā': to be foul

## שְׁמֵא |tä-mā' (adj.) impure, unclean (morally or ritually)

- 6:5 Then said I, Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of **unclean** lips, and I dwell in the midst of a people of **unclean** lips; for mine eyes have seen the King, the Lord of hosts.
- 35:8 And a highway shall be there; for a way shall be cast up, and it shall be called the way of holiness. The **unclean** shall not pass over upon it; but it shall be cast up for those who are **clean**, and the wayfaring men, though they are accounted fools, shall not err therein.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O Zion; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the **unclean**.
- 52:11 Depart ye, depart ye, go ye out from thence, touch no **unclean** thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye **clean**, that bear the vessels of the Lord.
- 64:6 [64:5-6] But we have sinned; we are all as an **unclean** thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.

#### Uncover

Primitive Root: גַּלָה/gä-lä': to denude

## gä-lä' (v.) to denude, strip; to disclose, reveal, uncover; to emigrate, evacuate, go into exile

See Reveal

Primitive Root: חַשִּׁף/hä-säf': to strip off

# חָשֵּׁף |ḥä-säf' (v.) to strip off, bare, uncover, defoliate; to draw or take off (water)

See Bare

Primitive Root: עָרָה/ä-rä': to be or make bare

#### שְׁרַה (v.) to be poured out; to make naked, uncover; to empty, pour out

See Pour

## Understand

Primitive Root: בְּץ|bēn: to separate mentally, to distinguish

#### בין ben (v.) to discern, perceive, understand; to be prudent, be intelligent; to consider

See Consider

#### בינה |bē-nä' (n.) understanding, intelligence, prudence

- 11:2 And the Spirit of the Lord shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and **understanding**, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord;
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no **understanding**; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the **understanding** of their prudent men shall be hid.
- 29:24 They also that erred in spirit shall come to understanding, and they that murmured shall learn doctrine.

## tä-vün' (n.) intelligence, understanding, insight, prudence

- 40:14 With whom took he counsel, and who instructed him, and taught him in the path of judgment, and taught him knowledge, and showed to him the way of **understanding**?
- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his **understanding**.

44:19 And none considereth in his heart, neither is there knowledge nor **understanding** to say, I have burned part of it in the fire; yea, also I have baked bread upon the coals thereof; I have roasted flesh, and eaten it; and shall I make the residue thereof an abomination? shall I fall down to the stock of a tree?

Primitive Root: רוּחַ 'rü'-äḥ: to blow

## רוּתַ /rü'-äḥ (v.) to smell; to scent, enjoy the odor

11:3 And shall make him of **quick understanding** in the fear of the Lord; and he shall not judge after the sight of his eyes, neither reprove after the hearing of his ears;

Primitive Root: שַׁבַל/sä-ḥäl': to be, make or act circumspect

## ֶּצְכַּל (v.) to look at, behold; to have insight, be prudent, act prudent; to have understanding

- 41:20 That they may see and know, and consider, and **understand** together, that the hand of the Lord hath done this, and the Holy One of Israel hath created it.
- 44:18 They have not known nor understood; for he hath shut their eyes, that they cannot see; and their hearts, that they cannot understand.
- 52:13 Behold, my servant shall deal prudently, he shall be exalted and extolled, and be very high.

Primitive Root: שַׁבַּמִע/shä-mä': to hear intelligently, implying with attention or obediently

## אימע shä-mä' (v.) to hear, listen, attend; to understand (what is heard), obey; to announce, tell

See Hear

#### Undertake

Primitive Root: ערב/ä-räv': to braid

#### ä-räv' (v.) to mix; to exchange; to warrant; to pledge or give in pledge; to intermingle

See Pledge

#### Unjust

Primitive Root: עַוַל/ä-väl': to distort

## אַול |ä-väl' (v.) to act wickedly, do wrong

26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal **unjustly**, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.

#### Unrighteous

Primitive Word: אָנֵוְן/ä-vɛn': from an unused root perhaps meaning to pant

#### | ä-ven' (n.) emptiness, vanity, nothingness; wickedness, sin, iniquity; falsehood idolatry

See Iniquity

#### **UPHOLD**

Primitive Root: סֶׁמֶּן/sä-mäḥ': to prop

## าวังเรื่อส-mäḥ' (v.) to rest upon, support, press; to uphold, sustain, aid; to approach, draw near

See Stay

Primitive Root: תְּמֵךְ /tä-mäḥ': to sustain

# קמק |tä-mäḥ' (v.) to take hold of; to obtain, acquire; to hold fast; to uphold, support, maintain

- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from **holding** of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 41:10 Fear thou not; for I am with thee; be not dismayed; for I am thy God; I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of my righteousness.

42:1 Behold my servant, whom I **uphold**; mine elect, in whom my soul delighteth; I have put my Spirit upon him; he shall bring forth judgment to the Gentiles.

#### **UPRIGHT**

Primitive Root: ישֵׁר/yä-shär': to be straight or even

## מֵישִׁר mā-shär' (n.) straightness, happiness; peace, friendship

- 26:7 The way of the just is **uprightness**; thou, most upright, dost weigh the path of the just.
- 33:15 He that walketh righteously, and speaketh **uprightly**; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are **right**.

## יַשְׁר (adj.) straight, even, level; right, upright, just, righteous; pleasant, agreeable

26:7 The way of the just is uprightness; thou, most upright, dost weigh the path of the just.

Primitive Word: וְנֵבֶח /nā-ḥäḥ': from an unused root meaning to be straightforward

## ְּחֲבֹתְּ nä-ḥō'-äḥ or וְּבֹלַתְּה'-ḥō-ḥā' (adj.) straight, lying ahead; right, righteous, upright, just

- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 30:10 Which say to the seers, See not; and to the prophets, Prophesy not unto us **right things**, speak unto us smooth things, prophesy deceits;
- 57:2 He shall enter into peace; they shall rest in their beds, each one walking in his uprightness.
- 59:14 And judgment is turned away backward, and justice standeth afar off; for truth is fallen in the street, and equity cannot enter.

#### Upward

Primitive Root: עַלָה'/ä-lä': to ascend

## שְׁעֵּל mä'-äl (n.) faithlessness, treachery, perfidy; the upper part, the higher part, higher

- 6:2 **Above** it stood the seraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 7:11 Ask thee a sign of the Lord thy God; ask it either in the depth, or in the height above.
- 8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and curse their king and their God, and look **upward**.
- 14:13 For thou hast said in thine heart, I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne **above** the stars of God; I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north;
- 37:31 And the remnant that is escaped of the house of Judah shall again take root downward, and bear fruit upward;
- 45:8 Drop down, ye heavens, **from above**, and let the skies pour down righteousness; let the earth open, and let them bring forth salvation, and let righteousness spring up together; I the Lord have created it.

Primitive Root: רוֹם/rüm: to be high, to rise or raise

#### mä-rōm' (n.) height, high, lofty, sublime; loftiness of mind, pride

See High

## Uzziah (Strength of God)

Primitive Root: combination of על (strength); and דוֹ (Jah, the sacred name of Jehovah, a contraction from יְרוֹנָה)

#### עְיָּיֵה (prop. n.) Uzziah

- 1:1 The vision of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of **Uzziah**, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 6:1 In the year that king Uzziah died I saw also the Lord sitting upon a throne, high and lifted up, and his train filled the temple.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of **Uzziah**, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.

# WORD-LINKS "V"

#### Vain

Primitive Word: אָוֵן ä-vɛn': from an unused root perhaps meaning to pant

## בּוֹלָ -vɛn' (n.) emptiness, vanity, nothingness; wickedness, sin, iniquity; falsehood idolatry

See Iniquity

Primitive Root: הַבֶּל/hä-väl': to be vain in act, word or expectation

# הָבֶּל (n.) breath, exhalation; nothingness, vanity, show; vapor, mist; (adv.) in vain, uselessly

- 30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 57:13 When thou criest, let thy companies deliver thee; but the wind shall carry them all away; **vanity** shall take them; but he that putteth his trust in me shall possess the land, and shall inherit my holy mountain;

Primitive Root: either from שָׁבָּה (to scrape) or שָׁבָּה/shä-fä': (to abrade)

## שְׁבָּה' (n.) lip, mouth, speech, language; lip, edge, border

See Lips

Primitive Root: רוּק/rük: to pour out

# רֵיק rēk (adj.) empty, vain; (adv.) in vain, to no purpose

- 30:7 For the Egyptians shall help in vain, and to no purpose; therefore have I cried concerning this, Their strength is to sit still.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 65:23 They shall not labor **in vain**, nor bring forth for trouble; for they are the seed of the blessed of the Lord, and their offspring with them.

Primitive Word: שׁוֹא shō: an unused root meaning to rush over

#### אוֹשִׁ shä'-v<sup>ε</sup> (n.) wickedness, iniquity, sin; falsehood, lie; emptiness, vanity, nothingness

- 1:13 Bring no more **vain** oblations; incense is an abomination unto me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I cannot away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting.
- 5:18 Woe unto them that draw iniquity with cords of vanity, and sin as it were with a cart rope;
- 30:28 And his breath, as an overflowing stream, shall reach to the midst of the neck, to sift the nations with the sieve of **vanity**; and there shall be a bridle in the jaws of the people, causing them to err.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in vanity, and speak **lies**; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.

Primitive Root: לוֹהוֹ '-hü: from an unused root meaning to lie waste

#### וֹתֹּה' hü (n.) wasteness, desolateness, desolation, desert; emptiness, vain; (adv.) in vain

- 24:10 The city of confusion is broken down; every house is shut up, that no man may come in.
- 29:21 That make a man an offender for a word, and lay a snare for him that reproveth in the gate, and turn aside the just for a thing of **nought**.
- 34:11 But the cormorant and the bittern shall possess it; the owl also and the raven shall dwell in it; and he shall stretch out upon it the line of **confusion**, and the stones of emptiness.
- 40:17 All nations before him are as nothing; and they are counted to him less than nothing, and vanity.
- 40:23 That bringeth the princes to nothing; he maketh the judges of the earth as vanity.
- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 44:9 They that make a graven image are all of them **vanity**; and their delectable things shall not profit; and they are their own witnesses; they see not, nor know; that they may be ashamed.
- 45:18 For thus saith the Lord that created the heavens; God himself that formed the earth and made it; he hath established it, he created it not in **vain**, he formed it to be inhabited; I am the Lord, and there is none else.

- 45:19 I have not spoken in secret, in a dark place of the earth; I said not unto the seed of Jacob, Seek ye me in vain; I the Lord speak righteousness, I declare things that are right.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for **naught**, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 59:4 None calleth for justice, nor any pleadeth for truth; they trust in **vanity**, and speak lies; they conceive mischief, and bring forth iniquity.

## VALIANT

 $Primitive\ Root:\ probably\ a\ combination\ of$ אַרְמֹּן (derived from אָרָה meaning to pluck) and אַנְּמֹן (derived from אוּל from an unused root meaning to twist)

## אראל | er-āl' (n.) lion of God, hero

33:7 Behold, their valiant ones shall cry without; the ambassadors of peace shall weep bitterly.

Primitive Root: פָּבַר/kä-vär': to braid together

## בּבּיר käb-bēr' (n.) great, large, mighty; much

See Mighty

#### VALLEY

Primitive Root: בַּקע/bä-kä': to cleave

## בּקעַה |bēk-ä' (n.) wide valley, plain, fissure

- 40:4 Every valley shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places **plain**;
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the **valleys**; I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 63:14 As a beast goeth down into the **valley**, the Spirit of the Lord caused him to rest; so didst thou lead thy people, to make thyself a glorious name.

Primitive Root: אָאַקֹּמֹ-ä': to mount up

## אָיָא |gä'-ē (n.) valley, depression, lowland

- 22:1 The burden of the valley of vision. What aileth thee now, that thou art wholly gone up to the housetops?
- 22:5 For it is a day of trouble, and of treading down, and of perplexity by the Lord God of hosts in the **valley** of vision, breaking down the walls, and of crying to the mountains.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat **valleys** of them that are overcome with wine!
- 28:4 And the glorious beauty, which is on the head of the fat **valley**, shall be a fading flower, and as the hasty fruit before the summer; which when he that looketh upon it seeth, while it is yet in his hand he eateth it up.
- 40:4 Every **valley** shall be exalted, and every mountain and hill shall be made low; and the crooked shall be made straight, and the rough places plain;

Primitive Root: גַחַל/nä-häl': to inherit

#### וֹמָל |nä-häl' (n.) river, stream, brook, torrent; valley, ravine, gorge; mine

See Stream

Primitive Root: עַמַק /ä-mäk': to be or make deep

# וְעֵמֶּק ā-mɛk (n.) depth, deep, plain, valley

- 17:5 And it shall be as when the harvestman gathereth the corn, and reapeth the ears with his arm; and it shall be as he that gathereth ears in the **valley** of Rephaim.
- 22:7 And it shall come to pass, that thy choicest **valleys** shall be full of chariots, and the horsemen shall set themselves in array at the gate.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the **valley** of Gibeon, that he may do his work, his strange work; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.

65:10 And Sharon shall be a fold of flocks, and the **valley** of Achor a place for the herds to lie down in, for my people that have sought me.

#### Veil

Primitive Root: נְּסֶדְ /nä-säḥ': to pour out

## מַסְכָּה mä-sā-ḥä' (n.) foundation, fusion, cast; molten or cast image

See Cover

Primitive Root: רַדַד/rä-däd': to tread in pieces

## רְדֵילי rä-dēd' (n.) wide and thin female garment, cloak

3:23 The glasses, and the fine linen, and the hoods, and the veils.

#### Vessel

Primitive Root: בְּלָה /kä-lä': to end

## וְבְּלִי (n.) utinsel, vessel (of gold or silver); clothing; implement, tool; arms, weapon

10:28 He is come to Aiath, he is passed to Migron; at Michmash he hath laid up his carriages;

- 13:5 They come from a far country, from the end of heaven, yea, the Lord, and the **weapons** of his indignation, to destroy the whole land.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in **vessels** of bulrushes upon the waters, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 22:24 And they shall hang upon him all the glory of his father's house, the offspring and the issue, all **vessels** of small quantity, from the **vessels** of cups, even to all the **vessels** of flagons.
- 32:7 The **instruments** also of the churl are evil; he deviseth wicked devices to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.
- 39:2 And Hezekiah was glad of them, and showed them the house of his precious things, the silver, and the gold, and the spices, and the precious ointment, and all the house of his **armor**, and all that was found in his treasures; there was nothing in his house, nor in all his dominion, that Hezekiah showed him not.
- 52:11 Depart ye, depart ye, go ye out from thence, touch no unclean thing; go ye out of the midst of her; be ye clean, that bear the vessels of the Lord.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an **instrument** for his work; and I have created the waster to destroy.
- 54:17 No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn. This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord, and their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord.
- 61:10 I will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God; for he hath clothed me with the garments of salvation, he hath covered me with the robe of righteousness, as a bridegroom decketh himself with ornaments, and as a bride adorneth herself with her **jewels**.
- 65:4 Which remain among the graves, and lodge in the monuments; which eat swine's flesh, and broth of abominable beasts, and pollute their **vessels**;
- 66:20 And they shall bring all your brethren for a offering unto the Lord out of all nations upon horses, and in chariots, and in litters, and upon mules, and upon swift beasts, to my holy mountain Jerusalem, saith the Lord, as the children of Israel bring an offering in a clean **vessel** into the house of the Lord.

Primitive Root: גָבַל/nä-väl': to wilt

## וְבֵבֶל ne'-vɛl (n.) skin bottle, leather bag; vessel, pitcher, flask; harp, lyre

- 5:12 And the harp and the **viol**, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.
- 22:24 And they shall hang upon him all the glory of his father's house, the offspring and the issue, all vessels of small quantity, from the vessels of cups, even to all the vessels of **flagons**.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' **vessel** that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take water withal out of the pit.

#### Vex

Primitive Root: אַן 'zü'-ä: to shake off

## אָנְעָה z-vä-ä' (n.) agitation, trouble; terror, vexation

28:19 From the time that it goeth forth it shall take you; for morning by morning shall it pass over, by day and by night; and it shall be a **vexation** only to understand the report.

Primitive Root: יַצַק/yä-tsäk': to pour out

## מוּצֵק mü-tsäk' (n.) narrowness; affliction, distress

9:1 Nevertheless the dimness shall not be such as was in her **vexation**, when at the first he lightly afflicted the land of Zebulun, and the land of Naphtali, and afterward did more grievously afflict her by the way of the Red sea, beyond Jordan, in Galilee of the nations.

Primitive Root: עֲצֵב /ä-tsäv': to carve

## שצב |ä-tsäv' (v.) to toil with pain, suffer, be grieved; to afflict, grieve

See Grieve

Primitive Root: צַרר/tsä-rär': to cramp

## לברי (v.) to bind up, bind together, to press in, to wrap up; to lay hold; to address, vex

- 8:16 Bind up the testimony, seal the law among my disciples.
- 11:13 The envy also of Ephraim shall depart, and the **adversaries** of Judah shall be cut off; Ephraim shall not envy Judah, and Judah shall not vex Ephraim.
- 28:20 For the bed is shorter than that a man can stretch himself on it; and the covering narrower than that he can wrap himself in it.

Primitive Root: אָקוּן/küts: to be (or make) disgusted or anxious

## אָלן (v.) to loathe, have disgust; to feel displeasure, horror, or fear; to terrify, alarm

- 7:6 Let us go up against Judah, and **vex** it, and let us make a breach therein for us, and set a king in the midst of it, yea, even the son of Tabeal;
- 7:16 For before the child shall know to refuse the evil, and choose the good, the land that thou **abhorrest** shall be forsaken of both her kings.

Primitive Root: שָׁבֵר/shä-vär': to burst

## שֶׁבֵּר she'-ver (n.) a breach, fracture; destruction, misfortune, injury

See Destroy

## **V**INE

Primitive Word: גְּבֶּן/gɛ'-fɛn: from an unused root meaning to bend

# אָבֵן |ge'-fɛn (n.) vine; tendril, shoot, twig

- 7:23 And it shall come to pass in that day that every place shall be, where there were a thousand vines at a thousand silverlings, which shall even be for briers and thorns.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the **vine** of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the wilderness; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the **vine** of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 24:7 The new wine mourneth, the vine languisheth, all the merryhearted do sigh.
- 32:12 They shall lament for the teats, for the pleasant fields, for the fruitful vine.
- 34:4 And all the host of heaven shall be dissolved, and the heavens shall be rolled together as a scroll; and all their host shall fall down, as the leaf falleth off from the **vine**, and as a falling fig from the fig tree.
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the waters of his own cistern;

Primitive Root: שַׁרַק/shä-räk': to be shrill

## שֹרֵק |sō-rāk' (n.) a superior kind of vine producing red wine; noble shoot or tendril

5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the **choicest vine**, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.

#### Vineyard

Primitive Word: בֵּרֶם/kɛ'-rɛm: from an unused root of uncertain meaning

## |בּרֶם ke'-rem (n.) vineyard, garden, orchard, plantation

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 3:14 The Lord will enter into judgment with the ancients of his people, and the princes thereof; for ye have eaten up the **vineyard**; and the spoil of the poor is in your houses.
- 5:1 And then will I sing to my wellbeloved a song of my beloved **touching his vineyard**. My well beloved hath a **vineyard** in a very fruitful hill;
- 5:3 And now, O inhabitants of Jerusalem, and men of Judah, judge, I pray you, betwixt me and my vineyard.
- 5:4 What could have been done more to my **vineyard**, that I have not done in it? wherefore, when I looked that it should bring forth grapes, it brought forth wild grapes.
- 5:5 And now go to; I will tell you what I will do to my **vineyard**; I will take away the hedge thereof, and it shall be eaten up; and I will break down the wall thereof, and it shall be trodden down;
- 5:7 For the **vineyard** of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he looked for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 5:10 Yea, ten acres of vineyard shall yield one bath, and the seed of a homer shall yield an ephah.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the **vineyards** there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 27:2 In that day sing ye unto her, A vineyard of red wine.
- 36:17 Until I come and take you away to a land like your own land, a land of corn and wine, a land of bread and vineyards.
- 37:30 And this shall be a sign unto thee, Ye shall eat this year such as groweth of itself; and the second year that which springeth of the same; and in the third year sow ye, and reap, and plant **vineyards**, and eat the fruit thereof.
- 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.

# **V**IPER

 $Primitive\ Word$ : אֱפַע '-fä: from an unused root probably meaning to breathe

## אָפְעֵה [εf-ε' (n.) adder, viper, basilisk

- 30:6 The burden of the beasts of the south; into the land of trouble and anguish, from whence come the young and old lion, the **viper** and fiery flying serpent, they will carry their riches upon the shoulders of young asses, and their treasures upon the bunches of camels, to a people that shall not profit them.
- 59:5 They hatch cockatrice eggs, and weave the spider's web; he that eateth of their eggs dieth, and that which is crushed breaketh out into a **viper**.

## Vision

Primitive Root: חָזָה/ḥä-zä': to gaze at or perceive, contemplate

## וְחָאוֹן hä-zōn' (n.) a divine vision or revelation; oracle or prophecy

- 1:1 The **vision** of Isaiah the son of Amoz, which he saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem in the days of Uzziah, Jotham, Ahaz, and Hezekiah, kings of Judah.
- 29:7 And the multitude of all the nations that fight against Ariel, even all that fight against her and her munition, and that distress her, shall be as a dream of a night **vision**.

#### אַזוּק hä-züth' (n.) appearance, aspect; a vision (prophetic); a revelation, law, covenant

- 21:2 A grievous **vision** is declared unto me; The treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media; all the sighing thereof have I made to cease.
- 28:18 And your covenant with death shall be disannulled, and your **agreement** with hell shall not stand; when the overflowing scourge shall pass through, then ye shall be trodden down by it.

29:11 And the **vision** of all is become unto you as the words of a book that is sealed, which men deliver to one that is learned, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I cannot; for it is sealed:

Primitive Root: רָאָה/rä-ä': to see

## ראָה |rō-ɛ' (n.) seer, prophet; vision, oracle

28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in **vision**, they stumble in judgment.

#### Visit

Primitive Root: אָפֶקף /pä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

## pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will **punish** the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:28 He is come to Aiath, he is passed to Migron; at Michmash he hath laid up his carriages;
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts **mustereth** the hosts of the battle.
- 13:11 And I will **punish** the world for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will **visit** Tyre, and she shallturn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the world upon the face of the earth.
- 24:21 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the Lord shall **punish** the host of the high ones that are on high, and the kings of the earth upon the earth.
- 24:22 And they shall be gathered together, as prisoners are gathered in the pit, and shall be shut up in the prison, and after many days shall they be **visited**.
- 26:14 They are dead, they shall not live; they are deceased, they shall not rise; therefore hast thou **visited** and destroyed them, and made all their memory to perish.
- 26:16 Lord, in trouble have they visited thee; they poured out a prayer when thy chastening was upon them.
- 26:21 For, behold, the Lord cometh out of his place to **punish** the inhabitants of the earth for their iniquity; the earth also shall disclose her blood, and shall no more cover her slain.
- 27:1 In that day the Lord with his sore and great and strong sword shall **punish** leviathan the piercing serpent, even leviathan that crooked serpent; and he shall slay the dragon that is in the sea.
- 27:3 I the Lord do keep it; I will water it every moment; lest any hurt it, I will keep it night and day.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be **visited** of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; none shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 38:10 I said in the cutting off of my days, I shall go to the gates of the grave; I am deprived of the residue of my years.

# $|p^{\epsilon}$ -küd-dä' (n.) muster, enumeration, review; visitation, punishment; care, custody; charge, watch

- 10:3 And what will ye do in the day of **visitation**, and in the desolation which shall come from far? To whom will ye flee for help? And where will ye leave your glory?
- 15:7 Therefore the abundance they have gotten, and that which they have laid up, shall they carry away to the brook of the willows.
- 60:17 For brass I will bring gold, and for iron I will bring silver, and for wood brass, and for stones iron; I will also make thy **officers** peace, and thine exactors righteousness.

#### VOICE

Primitive Word: קוֹל kōl: derived from an unused root meaning to call out

#### |קוֹל|kol (n.) voice; rumor; sound, noise, thunder, call, cry

- 6:4 And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.
- 6:8 Also I heard the voice of the Lord, saying, Whom shall I send, and who will go for us? Then said I, Here am I; send me.
- 10:30 Lift up thy voice, O daughter of Gallim; cause it to be heard unto Laish, O poor Anathoth.

- 13:2 Lift ye up my banner upon the high mountain, exalt the **voice** unto them, shake the hand, that they may go into the gates of the nobles.
- 13:4 The **noise** of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous **noise** of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the battle.
- 15:4 And Heshbon shall cry, and Elealeh; their voice shall be heard even unto Jahaz; therefore the armed soldiers of Moab shall cry out; his life shall be grievous unto him.
- 24:14 They shall lift up their voice, they shall sing for the majesty of the Lord, they shall cry aloud from the sea.
- 24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the **noise** of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the windows from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.
- 28:23 Give ye ear, and hear my voice; hearken, and hear my speech.
- 29:4 And thou shalt be brought down, and shalt speak out of the ground, and thy speech shall be low out of the dust, and thy voice shall be, as of one that hath a familiar spirit, out of the ground, and thy speech shall whisper out of the dust.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great **noise**, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in Zion at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the **voice** of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.
- 30:30 And the Lord shall cause his glorious **voice** to be heard, and shall show the lighting down of his arm, with the indignation of his anger, and with the flame of a devouring fire, with scattering, and tempest, and hailstones.
- 30:31 For through the voice of the Lord shall the Assyrian be beaten down, which smote with a rod.
- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their **voice**, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 33:3 At the noise of the tumult the people fled; at the lifting up of thyself the nations were scattered.
- 36:13 Then Rabshakeh stood, and cried with a loud **voice** in the Jews' language, and said, Hear ye the words of the great king, the king of Assyria.
- 37:23 Whom hast thou reproached and blasphemed? and against whom hast thou exalted thy **voice**, and lifted up thine eyes on high? Even against the Holy One of Israel.
- 40:3 The **voice** of him that crieth in the wilderness, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the desert a highway for our God.
- 40:6 The voice said, Cry. And he said, What shall I cry? All flesh is grass, and all the goodliness thereof is as the flower of the field;
- 40:9 O Zion, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 42:2 He shall not cry, nor lift up, nor cause his voice to be heard in the street.
- 48:20 Go ye forth of Babylon, flee ye from the Chaldeans, with a **voice** of singing declare ye, tell this, utter it even to the end of the earth; say ye, The Lord hath redeemed his servant Jacob.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the **voice** of his servant, that walketh in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the **voice** of melody.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the **voice**; with the **voice** together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 58:1 Cry aloud, spare not, lift up thy voice like a trumpet, and show my people their transgression, and the house of Jacob their sins.
- 58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to smite with the fist of wickedness; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high.
- 65:19 And I will rejoice in Jerusalem, and joy in my people; and the **voice** of weeping shall be no more heard in her, nor the **voice** of crying.
- 66:6 A voice of noise from the city, a voice from the temple, a voice of the Lord that rendereth recompense to his enemies.

## Vomit

Primitive Root: קיא |kē or קוּא/קוּא; to vomit

## אָקא |kā (n.) vomit

- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every work thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his **vomit**.
- 28:8 For all tables are full of vomit and filthiness, so that there is no place clean.

#### Vulture

Primitive Root: דָּאָה'/dä-ä': to dart

# דּיָּה däy-yä' (n.) bird of prey; vulture, kite

34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her shadow; there shall the **vultures** also be gathered, everyone with her mate.

# WORD-LINKS "W"

## WAIT

Primitive Root: חֲבָה/hä-ḥä': to adhere to

# ֹחְכָּה |ḥä-ḥä' (v.) to wait, hope

8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.

- 30:18 And therefore will the Lord wait, that he may be gracious unto you, and therefore will he be exalted, that he may have mercy upon you; for the Lord is a God of judgment; blessed are all they that wait for him.
- 64:4 For since the beginning of the world men have not heard, nor perceived by the ear, neither hath the eye seen, O God, besides thee, what he hath prepared for him that **waiteth** for him.

Primitive Root: יָחַל/yä-ḥäl':

## יְחֵל (v.) to wait; to cause to hope, expect; to wait for, tarry

- 42:4 He shall not fail nor be discouraged, till he have set judgment in the earth; and the isles shall wait for his law.
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the isles shall wait upon me, and on mine arm shall they **trust**.

Primitive Root: קוָה/kä-vä': to bind together

## קוָה kä-vä' (v.) to be strong, be robust, be confident, trust; to wait, expect, hope

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a winepress therein; and he **looked** that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 5:4 What could have been done more to my vineyard, that I have not done in it? wherefore, when I **looked** that it should bring forth grapes, it brought forth wild grapes.
- 5:7 For the vineyard of the Lord of hosts is the house of Israel, and the men of Judah his pleasant plant; and he **looked** for judgment, but behold oppression; for righteousness, but behold a cry.
- 8:17 And I will wait upon the Lord, that hideth his face from the house of Jacob, and I will look for him.
- 25:9 And it shall be said in that day, Lo, this is our God; we have **waited** for him, and he will save us; this is the Lord; we have **waited** for him, we will be glad and rejoice in his salvation.
- 26:8 Yea, in the way of thy judgments, O Lord, have we **waited** for thee; the desire of our soul is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee.
- 33:2 O Lord, be gracious unto us; we have **waited** for thee; be thou their arm every morning, their salvation also in the time of trouble.
- 40:31 But they that **wait** upon the Lord shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall bow down to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me
- 51:5 My righteousness is near; my salvation is gone forth, and mine arms shall judge the people; the isles shall **wait** upon me, and on mine arm shall they trust.
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 59:11 We roar all like bears, and mourn sore like doves; we **look** for judgment, but there is none; for salvation, but it is far off from us.
- 60:9 Surely the isles shall wait for me, and the ships of Tarshish first, to bring thy sons from far, their silver and their gold with them, unto the name of the Lord thy God, and to the Holy One of Israel, because he hath glorified thee.
- 64:3 When thou didst terrible things which we looked not for, thou camest down, the mountains flowed down at thy presence.

# WAKE

Primitive Root: עוֹר: to wake

#### "עור (v.) to awake, wake, be astir; to rouse, stir up; to raise up; to stir up, arouse

See Awake

#### WALK

Primitive Root: הָלַף/hä-läḥ': to walk

# ּהְלַדְּ |hä-läḥ' (v.) to walk, go, come, wander, travel;

[Note: "Go" and "Come" are not included in the list below]

- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 9:2 The people that **walked** in darkness have seen a great light; they that dwell in the land of the shadow of death, upon them hath the light shined.
- 20:2 At the same time spake the Lord by Isaiah the son of Amoz, saying, Go and loose the sackcloth from off thy loins, and put off thy shoe from thy foot. And he did so, **walking** naked and barefoot.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath **walked** naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;
- 30:2 That walk to go down into Egypt, and have not asked at my mouth; to strengthen themselves in the strength of Pharaoh, and to trust in the shadow of Egypt!
- 33:15 He that **walketh** righteously, and speaketh uprightly; he that despiseth the gain of oppressions, that shaketh his hands from holding of bribes, that stoppeth his ears from hearing of blood, and shutteth his eyes from seeing evil;
- 35:9 No lion shall be there, nor any ravenous beast shall go up thereon, it shall not be found there; but the redeemed shall walk there;
- 38:3 And said, Remember now, O Lord, I beseech thee, how I have **walked** before thee in truth and with a perfect heart, and have done that which is good in thy sight. And Hezekiah wept sore.
- 42:5 Thus saith God the Lord, he that created the heavens, and stretched them out, he that spread forth the earth, and that which cometh out of it; he that giveth breath unto the people upon it, and spirit to them that **walk** therein;
- 42:25 [42:24-25] For they would not **walk** in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of battle; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.
- 50:7 [50:10] Who is among you that feareth the Lord, that obeyeth the voice of his servant, that **walketh** in darkness, and hath no light? Let him trust in the name of the Lord, and stay upon his God.
- 57:2 He shall enter into peace; they shall rest in their beds, each one walking in his uprightness.
- 59:9 Therefore is judgment far from us, neither doth justice overtake us; we wait for light, but behold obscurity; for brightness, but we walk in darkness.
- 65:2 I said unto my servant, Behold me, look upon me; I will send you unto a nation that is not called after my name, for I have spread out my hands all the day to a people who **walketh** not in my ways, and their works are evil and not good, and they **walk** after their own thoughts.

Primitive Root: יֵלֶן/yä-läḥ': to walk

#### יַלִּדְי |yä-läḥ' (v.) to go, walk

(Note: "Go" and "Come" are not included in the list below)

- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will **walk** in his paths; for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 2:5 O house of Jacob, come ye, and let us **walk** in the light of the Lord; yea, come, for ye have all gone astray, everyone to his wicked ways.
- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of Zion are haughty, and **walk** with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 8:11 For the Lord spake thus to me with a strong hand, and instructed me that I should not walk in the way of this people, saying,
- 30:21 And thine ears shall hear a word behind thee, saying, This is the way, walk ye in it, when ye turn to the right hand, and when ye turn to the left.
- 40:31 But they that wait upon the Lord shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 42:16 And I will **bring** the blind by a way that they knew not; I will lead them in paths that they have not known; I will make darkness light before them, and crooked things straight. These things will I do unto them, and not forsake them.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the waters, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou **walkest** through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he **led** them through the deserts; he caused the waters to flow out of the rock for them; he clave the rock also, and the waters gushed out.

- 50:8 [50:11] Behold all ye that kindleth fire, that compass yourselves about with sparks; **walk** in the light of your fire, and in the sparks which ye have kindled; this shall ye have of mine hand, ye shall lie down in sorrow.
- 63:12 That **led** them by the right hand of Moses with his glorious arm, dividing the water before them, to make himself an everlasting name?
- 63:13 That led them through the deep, as a horse in the wilderness, that they should not stumble?

#### Wander

Primitive Root: מָרָבוֹן/nä-däd': to wave to and fro

## nä-däd' (v.) to move about; to flap wings; to wander; to flee (away), escape, fly away; to be cast out

See Flee

Primitive Root: תַּעָה/tä-ä': to vacillate

תְּעָה (v.) to err, wander, go astray; to reel, be giddy; to be deceived, err

See Err

#### WANT

Primitive Root: אָפֶקָר / rä-käd': to visit (with friendly or hostile intent)

pä-käd' (v.) to visit, inspect, review, muster; to care for, to chastise, punish

See Visit

#### WAR

Primitive Root: לָחַם /lä-ḥām': to feed on

## |לַחָם |lä-ḥäm (v.) to eat, consume; to fight, make war, compress

See Fight

#### מְלְחַמְה mēl-ḥä-mä' (n.) war, fight, battle; weapons, victory

- 2:4 And he shall judge among the nations, and shall rebuke many people; and they shall beat their swords into ploughshares, and their spears into pruning hooks; nation shall not lift up sword against nation, neither shall they learn **war** anymore.
- 3:2 The mighty man, and the man of war, the judge, and the prophet, and the prudent, and the ancient,
- 3:25 Thy men shall fall by the sword, and thy mighty in the war.
- 7:1 And it came to pass in the days of Ahaz the son of Jotham, the son of Uzziah, king of Judah, that Rezin the king of Syria, and Pekah the son of Remaliah, king of Israel, went up toward Jerusalem to war against it, but could not prevail against it.
- 13:4 The noise of the multitude in the mountains, like as of a great people; a tumultuous noise of the kingdoms of nations gathered together; the Lord of hosts mustereth the hosts of the **battle**.
- 21:15 For they fled from the swords, from the drawn sword, and from the bent bow, and from the grievousness of war.
- 22:2 Thou that art full of stirs, a tumultuous city, a joyous city; thy slain men are not slain with the sword, nor dead in battle.
- 27:4 Fury is not in me; who would set the briers and thorns against me in **battle**; I would go through them, I would burn them together.
- 28:6 And for a spirit of judgment to him that sitteth in judgment, and for strength to them that turn the battle to the gate.
- 30:32 And in every place where the grounded staff shall pass, which the Lord shall lay upon him, it shall be with tabrets and harps; and in **battles** of shaking will he fight with it.
- 36:5 I say, thy words are but vain when thou sayest, I have counsel and strength for war. Now, on whom dost thou trust that thou rebellest against me?
- 41:12 Thou shalt seek them, and shalt not find them, even them that contended with thee; they that war against thee shall be as nothing, and as a thing of naught.
- 42:13 The Lord shall go forth as a mighty man, he shall stir up jealousy like a man of war; he shall cry, yea, roar; he shall prevail against his enemies.
- 42:25 [42:24] For they would not walk in his ways, neither were they obedient unto his law; therefore he hath poured upon them the fury of his anger, and the strength of **battle**; and they have set them on fire round about, yet they know not, and it burned them, yet they laid it not to heart.

#### WARM

Primitive Root: חֲמֵם/ḥä-mäm': to be hot

#### קמַם hä-mäm' (v.) to be or become warm; to burn, glow; to be made hot, be burning

- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and **warm** himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.
- 44:16 He burneth part thereof in the fire; with part thereof he eateth flesh; he roasteth roast, and is satisfied; yea, he warmeth himself, and saith, Aha, I am warm, I have seen the fire;
- 47:14 Behold, they shall be as stubble; the fire shall burn them; they shall not deliver themselves from the power of the flame; there shall not be a coal to **warm** at, nor fire to sit before it.
- 57:5 Inflaming yourselves with idols under every green tree, slaying the children in the valleys under the clefts of the rocks?

#### Warrior

Primitive Root: מֻאַן/sä-än': to shoe, with implication of a shod soldier

#### שאון sä-än' (v.) to put on (shoes), be shod; to equip oneself; (part.) shod soldier

9:5 For every battle of the warrior is with confused noise, and garments rolled in blood; but this shall be with burning and fuel of fire.

### Wash

Primitive Root: רָחַץ/rä-ḥäts': to lave

#### רָחַץ rä-ḥäts' (v.) to wash, rinse; to wash oneself, be washed, be bathed

- 1:16 Wash ye, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before mine eyes; cease to do evil;
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have **washed** away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.

#### WASTE

Primitive Root: חַרֶב /ḥä-räv': to parch

#### מְרֵב |hä-räv' (v.) to dry up; to be desolate, be laid waste; to be amazed, be astonished

- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.
- 34:10 It shall not be quenched night nor day; the smoke thereof shall go up forever; from generation to generation it shall **lie waste**; none shall pass through it forever and ever.
- 37:18 Of a truth, Lord, the kings of Assyria have laid waste all the nations, and their countries,
- 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.
- 42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and dry up all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools.
- 44:27 That saith to the deep, Be dry, and I will dry up thy rivers;
- 49:17 Thy children shall make haste; thy destroyers and they that made thee waste shall go forth of thee.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I **dry up** the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath **dried** the sea, the waters of the great deep that hath made the depths of the sea a way for the ransomed to pass over?
- 60:12 For the nation and kingdom that will not serve thee shall perish; yea, those nations shall be utterly wasted.

#### חרֵב |ho'-rev (n.) dryness, drought; desolation, laying waste

See Heat

#### חַרְבַּה (n.) dryness, dry places, desert; a desolation, a place laid waste, ruins

- 5:17 Then shall the lambs feed after their manner, and the waste places of the fat ones shall strangers eat.
- 44:26 That confirmeth the word of his servant, and performeth the counsel of his messengers; that saith to Jerusalem, Thou shalt be inhabited; and to the cities of Judah, Ye shall be built, and I will raise up the **decayed places** thereof;
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he led them through the **deserts**; he caused the waters to flow out of the rock for them; he clave the rock also, and the waters gushed out.

- 49:19 For thy **waste** and thy desolate places, and the land of thy destruction, shall even now be too narrow by reason of the inhabitants, and they that swallowed thee up shall be far away.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her **waste places**; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 52:9 Break forth into joy, sing together, ye waste places of Jerusalem; for the Lord hath comforted his people, he hath redeemed Jerusalem.
- 58:12 And they that shall be of thee shall build the old **waste places**; thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.
- 61:4 And they shall build the old wastes, they shall raise up the former desolations, and they shall repair the waste cities, the desolations of many generations.
- 64:11 Our holy and our beautiful house, where our fathers praised thee, is burned up with fire; and all our pleasant things are laid waste.

Primitive Root: שָׁאַה'/shä-ä': to rush

## אַאַה shä-ä' (v.) to become desolate; to make a noise; to be laid waste

See Desolate

Primitive Root: שָׁדַד/shä-däd': to be burly

## שְׁדֵּד |shä-däd' (v.) to act violently; to lay waste; to oppress, rob, ravage, plunder

See Spoil

Primitive Root: שׁוּד/shüd: to swell up

## אלין shod (n.) violence, oppression; desolation, destruction, ruin

See Destroy

Primitive Root: שֶׁחֵת/shä-ḥäth': to decay

## אָּחַת |shä-ḥäth' (v.) to be spoiled, be corrupted, be marred; to be laid waste; to destroy, kill, corrupt, mar

See Destroy

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵם/shä-mām': to stun

### שְׁמֵשׁ shä-mām' (v.) to be astonished, be confounded; to be laid waste or destroyed

See Desolate

#### WATCHMAN

Primitive Root: צֶּפָה/tsä-fä': to lean forward

### tsä-fä' (v.) to look, view, regard, watch, look out sharply; to expect, select; to watch, observe

- 21:5 Prepare the table, watch in the watchtower, eat, drink; arise, ye princes, and anoint the shield.
- 21:6 For thus hath the Lord said unto me, Go, set a watchman, let him declare what he seeth.
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again Zion.
- 56:10 His watchmen are blind; they are all ignorant, they are all dumb dogs, they cannot bark; sleeping, lying down, loving to slumber.

Primitive Root: שָׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

# אָׁמֵר shä-mär' (v.) to keep watch, guard, keep safe, preserve, retain; to observe, attend; to keep; to worship, honor

- 7:4 And say unto him, **Take heed**, and be quiet; fear not, neither be fainthearted for the two tails of these smoking firebrands, for the fierce anger of Rezin with Syria, and of the son of Remaliah.
- 21:11 The burden of Dumah. He calleth to me out of Seir, Watchman, what of the night? Watchman, what of the night?
- 21:12 The watchman said, The morning cometh, and also the night; if ye will inquire, inquire ye; return, come.
- 26:2 Open ye the gates, that the righteous nation which keepeth the truth may enter in.

- 42:21 [42:20] Thou art a people, seeing many things, but thou observest not; opening the ears to hear, but thou hearest not.
- 56:1 Thus saith the Lord, Keep ye judgment, and do justice; for my salvation is near to come, and my righteousness to be revealed.
- 56:2 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that **keepeth** the sabbath from polluting it, and **keepeth** his hand from doing any evil.
- 56:4 For thus saith the Lord unto the eunuchs that **keep** my sabbaths, and choose the things that please me, and take hold of my covenant;
- 56:6 Also the sons of the stranger, that join themselves to the Lord, to serve him, and to love the name of the Lord, to be his servants, everyone that **keepeth** the sabbath from polluting it, and taketh hold of my covenant;
- 62:6 I have set **watchmen** upon thy walls, O Jerusalem, which shall never hold their peace day nor night; ye that make mention of the Lord, keep not silence,

#### WATER

Primitive Word: מֵים mä'-ēm: from an unused root derived from a primitive noun meaning water

## mä'-ēm (n.) water; juice, liquid; urine, semen

- 1:22 Thy silver is become dross, thy wine mixed with water;
- 1:30 For ye shall be as an oak whose leaf fadeth, and as a garden that hath no water.
- 3:1 For, behold, the Lord, the Lord of hosts, doth take away from Jerusalem and from Judah the stay and the staff, the whole staff of bread, and the whole stay of water,
- 8:6 Forasmuch as this people refuseth the waters of Shiloah that go softly and rejoice in Rezin and Remaliah's son;
- 8:7 Now therefore, behold, the Lord bringeth up upon them the **waters** of the river, strong and many, even the king of Assyria, and all his glory; and he shall come up over all his channels, and go over all his banks;
- 11:9 They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain; for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the Lord, as the waters cover the sea.
- 12:3 Therefore with joy shall ye draw water out of the wells of salvation.
- 14:23 I will also make it a possession for the bittern, and pools of **water**; and I will sweep it with the besom of destruction, saith the Lord of hosts.
- 15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.
- 15:9 For the waters of Dimon shall be full of blood; for I will bring more upon Dimon, lions upon him that escapeth of Moab, and upon the remnant of the land.
- 17:12 Woe to the multitude of many people, which make a noise like the noise of the seas; and to the rushing of nations, that make a rushing like the rushing of mighty **waters**!
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 18:2 That sendeth ambassadors by the sea, even in vessels of bulrushes upon the **waters**, saying, Go, ye swift messengers, to a nation scattered and peeled, to a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden down, whose land the rivers have spoiled!
- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 19:8 The fishers also shall mourn, and all they that cast angle into the brooks shall lament, and they that spread nets upon the waters shall languish.
- 21:14 The inhabitants of the land of Tema brought water to him that was thirsty, they prevented with their bread him that fled.
- 22:9 Ye have seen also the breaches of the city of David, that they are many; and ye gathered together the waters of the lower pool.
- 22:11 Ye made also a ditch between the two walls for the **water** of the old pool; but ye have not looked unto the maker thereof, neither had respect unto him that fashioned it long ago.
- 23:3 And by great waters the seed of Sihor, the harvest of the river, is her revenue; and she is a mart of nations.
- 28:2 Behold, the Lord hath a mighty and strong one, which as a tempest of hail and a destroying storm, as a flood of mighty waters overflowing, shall cast down to the earth with the hand.
- 28:17 Judgment also will I lay to the line, and righteousness to the plummet; and the hail shall sweep away the refuge of lies, and the water shall overflow the hiding place.
- 30:14 And he shall break it as the breaking of the potters' vessel that is broken in pieces; he shall not spare; so that there shall not be found in the bursting of it a sherd to take fire from the hearth, or to take **water** withal out of the pit.
- 30:20 And though the Lord give you the bread of adversity, and the **water** of affliction, yet shall not thy teachers be removed into a corner anymore, but thine eyes shall see thy teachers;
- 30:25 And there shall be upon every high mountain, and upon every high hill, rivers and streams of **waters** in the day of the great slaughter, when the towers fall.

- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.
- 32:20 Blessed are ye that sow beside all waters, that send forth thither the feet of the ox and the ass.
- 33:16 He shall dwell on high; his place of defense shall be the munitions of rocks; bread shall be given him; his waters shall be sure.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb sing; for in the wilderness shall waters break out, and streams in the desert.
- 35:7 And the parched ground shall become a pool, and the thirsty land springs of water; in the habitation of dragons, where each lay, shall be grass with reeds and rushes.
- 36:12 But Rabshakeh said, Hath my master sent me to thy master and to thee to speak these words? hath he not sent me to the men that sit upon the wall, that they may eat their own dung, and drink their own **piss** with you?
- 36:16 Hearken not to Hezekiah; for thus saith the king of Assyria, Make an agreement with me by a present, and come out to me; and eat ye everyone of his vine, and everyone of his fig tree, and drink ye everyone the **waters** of his own cistern;
- 37:25 I have digged, and drunk water; and with the sole of my feet have I dried up all the rivers of the besieged places.
- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and weighed the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 41:17 When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them.
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the wilderness a pool of **water**, and the dry land springs of **water**.
- 43:2 When thou passest through the **waters**, I will be with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burned; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee.
- 43:16 Thus saith the Lord, which maketh a way in the sea, and a path in the mighty waters;
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give **waters** in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground; I will pour my Spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring;
- 44:4 And they shall spring up as among the grass, as willows by the water courses.
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both worketh in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and worketh it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint.
- 48:1 Hear ye this, O house of Jacob, which are called by the name of Israel, and are come forth out of the waters of Judah, which swear by the name of the Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness.
- 48:21 And they thirsted not when he led them through the deserts; he caused the waters to flow out of the rock for them; he clave the rock also, and the waters gushed out.
- 49:10 They shall not hunger nor thirst; neither shall the heat nor sun smite them; for he that hath mercy on them shall lead them, even by the springs of water shall he guide them.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a wilderness; and their fish to stink, because the **waters** are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.
- 51:10 Art thou not it which hath dried the sea, the waters of the great deep that hath made the depths of the sea a way for the ransomed to pass over?
- 54:9 For this is as the **waters** of Noah unto me; for as I have sworn that the **waters** of Noah should no more go over the earth; so have I sworn that I would not be wroth with thee, nor rebuke thee.
- 55:1 Ho, everyone that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, buy, and eat; yea, come, buy wine and milk without money and without price.
- 57:20 But the wicked are like the troubled sea, when it cannot rest, whose waters cast up mire and dirt.
- 58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.
- 63:12 That led them by the right hand of Moses with his glorious arm, dividing the **water** before them, to make himself an everlasting name?
- 64:2 As when the melting fire burneth, the fire causeth the **waters** to boil, to make thy name known to thine adversaries, that the nations may tremble at thy presence!

Primitive Root: רְנְה /rä-vä': to quench thirst

## rä-vä' (v.) to overflow, drink copiously; to be debauched; to enjoy; to water, refresh, satiate

- 16:9 Therefore I will bewail with the weeping of Jazer the vine of Sibmah; I will water thee with my tears, O Heshbon, and Elealeh; for the shouting for thy summer fruits and for thy harvest is fallen.
- 34:5 For my sword shall be **bathed** in heaven; behold, it shall come down upon Idumea, and upon the people of my curse, to judgment.

- 34:7 And the reem shall come down with them, and the bullocks with the bulls; and their land shall be **soaked** with blood, and their dust made fat with fatness.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou **filled** me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities.
- 55:10 For as the rain cometh down, and the snow from heaven, and returneth not thither, but **watereth** the earth, and maketh it bring forth and bud, that it may give seed to the sower, and bread to the eater;

#### רְוֵה rä-vε (adj.) watered, satiated with drink

58:11 And the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones; and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.

Primitive Root: שָׁקַה/shä-kä': to gulp down

## שְׁקֵּה shä-kä' (v.) to be watered, be moistened; to give drink; to water (cattle or land), irrigate

27:3 I the Lord do keep it; I will water it every moment; lest any hurt it, I will keep it night and day.

43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give **drink** to my people, my chosen.

## WAVES

Primitive Root: גַלל/gä-läl': to roll (literally or figuratively)

## gäl (n.) heap of stones, ruins; fountain, spring, wave

- 25:2 For thou hast made of a city a heap; of a defensed city a ruin; a palace of strangers to be no city; it shall never be built.
- 37:26 Hast thou not heard long ago, how I have done it; and of ancient times, that I have formed it? Now have I brought to pass, that thou shouldest be to lay waste defensed cities into ruinous **heaps**.
- 48:18 Oh that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the **waves** of the sea;
- 51:15 But I am the Lord thy God, that divided the sea, whose waves roared; The Lord of hosts is his name.

#### Weak

Primitive Root: חַלָה/hä-lä': to be rubbed or worn

## ְחְלָּה |ḥä-lä' (v.) to wear down, be infirm; to be sick, be weak; to be pained, suffer

See Sick

Primitive Root: חָלֵשׁ/ḥä-läsh': to prostrate

#### חַבְּשׁ |hä-läsh' (v.) to prostrate, vanquish, overthrow; to be weak, be frail, waste away

14:12 How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! How art thou cut down to the ground, which didst **weaken** the nations!

Primitive Root: רְבָּה/rä-fä': to slacken

#### רְבֵּה |rä-fɛ' (n.) slack, remiss; infirm, feeble, fainthearted

35:3 Strengthen ye the weak hands, and confirm the feeble knees.

## Weaned

Primitive Root: גְּמֵל/gä-mäl': to treat a person (good or bad)

#### gä-mäl' (v.) to do, perform, accomplish; to repay; to wean; to ripen

See Reward

#### WEAPON

Primitive Root: בָּלָה'/kä-lä': to end

## לְלִי (n.) utinsel, vessel (of gold or silver); clothing; implement, tool; arms, weapon

See Vessel

#### **WEAR**

Primitive Root: לֶבַשׁ/lä-väsh': to wrap around

## lä-väsh' (v.) to wrap up, cover, put on; to dress or clothe oneself

See Clothe

#### **WEARY**

Primitive Root: יָגַע'/yä-gä': to gasp

### יגַע |yä-gä' (v.) to labor, toil, exert oneself; to be fatigued, be wearied

- 40:28 Hast thou not known? hast thou not heard, that the everlasting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is **weary**? there is no searching of his understanding.
- 40:30 Even the youths shall faint and be weary, and the young men shall utterly fall;
- 40:31 But they that wait upon the Lord shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.
- 43:22 But thou hast not called upon me, O Jacob; but thou hast been weary of me, O Israel.
- 43:23 Thou hast not brought me the small cattle of thy burnt offerings; neither hast thou honored me with thy sacrifices. I have not caused thee to serve with an offering, nor **wearied** thee with incense.
- 43:24 Thou hast bought me no sweet cane with money, neither hast thou filled me with the fat of thy sacrifices; but thou hast made me to serve with thy sins, thou hast **wearied** me with thine iniquities.
- 47:12 Stand now with thine enchantments, and with the multitude of thy sorceries, wherein thou has **labored** from thy youth; if so be thou shalt be able to profit, if so be thou mayest prevail.
- 47:15 Thus shall they be unto thee with whom thou hast **labored**, even thy merchants, from thy youth; they shall wander everyone to his quarter; none shall save thee.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have **labored** in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 57:10 Thou art **wearied** in the greatness of thy way; yet sadist thou not. There is no hope; thou hast found the life of thine hand; therefore thou wast not grieved.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy wine, for the which thou hast **labored**;
- 65:23 They shall not **labor** in vain, nor bring forth for trouble; for they are the seed of the blessed of the Lord, and their offspring with them.

Primitive Root: יְצֵף/yä-äf': to tire (as if from flight)

## אָצָעף yä-äf' (v.) to go swiftly, run; to be fatigued, be wearied or exhausted, be faint

See Faint

Primitive Root: לֵאֵה /lä-ä': to tire

#### לְאַה | lä-ä' (v.) to labor, toil; to be wearied, be exhausted, be tired; to be offended

- 1:14 Your new moons and your appointed feasts my soul hateth; they are a trouble unto me; I am weary to bear them.
- 7:13 And he said, Hear ye now, O house of David; Is it a small thing for you to weary men, but will ye weary my God also?
- 16:12 And it shall come to pass, when it is seen that Moab is **weary** on the high place, that he shall come to his sanctuary to pray; but he shall not prevail.
- 47:13 Thou art **wearied** in the multitude of thy counsels. Let now the astrologers, the stargazers, the monthly prognosticators, stand up, and save thee from these things that shall come upon thee.

Primitive Root: עָיֵף/ä-yāf': to languish

## אָיֵף|ä-yāf' (adj.) weary, exhausted, languid, faint

- 5:27 None shall be **weary** nor stumble among them; none shall slumber nor sleep; neither shall the girdle of their loins be loosed, nor the latchet of their shoes be broken;
- 28:12 To whom he said, This is the rest wherewith ye may cause the weary to rest; and this is the refreshing; yet they would not hear.

- 29:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is **faint**, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount Zion.
- 32:2 And a man shall be as a hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a **weary** land.
- 46:1 Bel boweth down, Nebo stoopeth; their idols were upon the beasts, and upon the cattle; your carriages were heavy laden; they are a burden to the **weary** beast.

#### WEIGH

Primitive Root: פַלס/pä-läs': to roll flat

## pä-läs' (v.) to make level, make even, prepare; to weigh, weigh out

26:7 The way of the just is uprightness; thou, most upright, dost weigh the path of the just.

Primitive Root: שָׁקֵל/shä-käl': to suspend or poise

#### אָקל shä-käl' (v.) to poise, weigh; estimate; to be weighed out

33:18 Thine heart shall meditate in terror. Where is the scribe? Where is the receiver? where is he that counted the towers?

- 40:12 Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with the span, and comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, and **weighed** the mountains in scales, and the hills in a balance?
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 55:2 Wherefore do ye **spend** money for that which is not bread? And your labor for that which satisfieth not? hearken diligently unto me, and eat ye that which is good, and let your soul delight itself in fatness.

#### WELL

Primitive Root: טוֹב tōv: to be good

#### 210/tov (n.) good, kind, upright; pleasant, agreeable; fair, beautiful, lovely; cheerful, happy

See Good

Primitive Root: יָטָב/yä-täv': to be or make well

## אָפָעב'|yä-täv' (v.) to do good, do well; to be beautiful, be pleasant, be lovely; to be glad, be cheerful

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 23:16 Take a harp, go about the city, thou harlot that hast been forgotten; make **sweet** melody, sing many songs, that thou mayest be remembered.
- 41:23 Show the things that are to come hereafter, that we may know that ye are gods; yea, **do good** or do evil, that we may be dismayed, and behold it together.

Primitive Word: עין ä'-yēn: an eye

## מְעֵיַן mä-yän' (n.) place of fountains; fountain, spring

See Fountain

## WEST

Primitive Word: מְיִן /yäm: from an unused root meaning to roar

## יָם |yäm (n.) sea, lake; great river [Nile, Euphrates]; west, western quarter

See Sea

Primitive Root: ערב/ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

## מערב mä-ä-räv' (n.) west, westward

- 43:5 Fear not; for I am with thee; I will bring thy seed from the east, and gather thee from the west;
- 45:6 That they may know from the rising of the sun, and from the **west**, that there is none besides me. I am the Lord, and there is none else.

59:19 So shall they fear the name of the Lord from the **west**, and his glory from the rising of the sun. When the enemy shall come in like a flood, the Spirit of the Lord shall lift up a standard against him.

#### WHEEL

Primitive Word: אוֹפֵן |ō-fän': from an unused root meaning to revolve

#### אוֹפַן (n.) wheel (of a chariot or cart)

28:27 For the fitches are not threshed with a threshing instrument, neither is a **cartwheel** turned about upon the cummin; but the fitches are beaten out with a staff, and the cummin with a rod.

Primitive Root: אֵלֵל /gä-läl': to roll (literally or figuratively)

#### |kgäl-gäl' (n.) wheel, waterwheel; whirlwind, whirling dust; straw, chaff, husk

- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their **wheels** like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a **rolling** thing before the whirlwind.

#### גְּלְגָּל |gēl-gäl' (n.) wheel

28:28 Bread corn is bruised; because he will not ever be threshing it, nor break it with the **wheel** of his cart, nor bruise it with his horsemen.

#### Whirlwind

Primitive Root: จาง/süf: to snatch away

#### אובה sü-fä' (n.) whirlwind, tempest

- 5:28 Whose arrows shall be sharp, and all their bows bent, and their horses' hooves shall be counted like flint, and their wheels like a whirlwind; their roaring shall be like a lion.
- 17:13 The nations shall rush like the rushing of many waters; but God shall rebuke them, and they shall flee far off, and shall be chased as the chaff of the mountains before the wind, and like a rolling thing before the whirlwind.
- 21:1 The burden of the desert of the sea. As **whirlwind**s in the south pass through; so it cometh from the desert, from the terrible land.
- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with **storm** and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 66:15 For, behold, the Lord will come with fire, and with his chariots like a **whirlwind**, to render his anger with fury, and his rebuke with flames of fire.

Primitive Root: סָעַר/sä-är': to rush upon

## קער sä-är' (n.) storm, tempest, hurricane

- 29:6 Thou shalt be visited of the LORD of hosts with thunder, and with earthquake, and great noise, with storm and tempest, and the flame of devouring fire.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the **whirlwind** shall take them away as stubble.
- 41:16 Thou shalt fan them, and the wind shall carry them away, and the **whirlwind** shall scatter them; and thou shalt rejoice in the Lord, and shalt glory in the Holy One of Israel.

#### WHITE

Primitive Root: לֶבֶן/lä-vän': to be white

## |לבֹנן lä-vän' (v.) to be white; to purge, cleanse, purify; to make bricks

1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall **be** as **white** as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.

#### Wicked

Primitive Room: מָמֵם/zä-mäm': to plan

#### zēm-mä' (n.) counsel, plan; wickedness, a wicked deed, evil deed, lewdness, incest, apostasy

32:7 The instruments also of the churl are evil; he deviseth **wicked devices** to destroy the poor with lying words, even when the needy speaketh right.

Primitive Root: רַעַע/rä-ä': to spoil

#### רצעע |rä-ä' (v.) to be bad, be evil; to do evil, act badly or wickedly; to break to pieces, destroy

See Evil

Primitive Root: רָשַׁע /rä-shä': to be, do, or declare wrong

#### רְשַׁע |rä-shä' (adj.) wicked, unrighteous, sinful, lawless

- 3:11 Woe unto the wicked! for they shall perish; for the reward of their hands shall be upon them.
- 5:23 Which justify the wicked for reward, and take away the righteousness of the righteous from him!
- 11:4 But with righteousness shall he judge the poor, and reprove with equity for the meek of the earth; and he shall smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips shall he slay the **wicked**.
- 13:11 And I will punish the world for their evil, and the **wicked** for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.
- 14:5 The Lord hath broken the staff of the wicked and the scepters of the rulers.
- 26:10 Let favor be showed to the wicked, yet will he not learn righteousness; in the land of uprightness will he deal unjustly, and will not behold the majesty of the Lord.
- 48:22 There is no peace, saith the Lord, unto the wicked.
- 53:9 And he made his grave with the **wicked**, and with the rich in his death; because he had done no violence, neither was any deceit in his mouth.
- 55:7 Let the **wicked** forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts; and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon.
- 57:20 But the wicked are like the troubled sea, when it cannot rest, whose waters cast up mire and dirt.
- 57:21 There is no peace, saith my God, to the wicked.

#### ישׁע [re'-shä (n.) wickedness, unrighteousness, lawlessness; fraud, falsehood

- 58:4 Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to smite with the fist of **wickedness**; ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high.
- 58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of **wickedness**, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye break every yoke?

## רְשִּׁעְה |rēsh-ä' (n.) wickedness, unrighteousness; wicked deed

9:18 For wickedness burneth as the fire; it shall devour the briers and thorns, and shall kindle in the thickets of the forest, and they shall mount up like the lifting up of smoke.

#### WIDOW

Primitive Root: אֵלֶם /ä-läm': to tie fast

#### אַלמן |äl-mōn' (n.) widowhood

47:9 But these two things shall come to thee in a moment in one day, the loss of children, and widowhood; they shall come upon thee in their perfection for the multitude of thy sorceries, and for the great abundance of thine enchantments.

## אַלְמָנָה |äl-mä-nä' (n.) widow, desolate place (without a ruler)

- 1:17 Learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow.
- 1:23 Thy princes are rebellious, and companions of thieves; everyone loveth gifts, and followeth after rewards; they judge not the fatherless, neither doth the cause of the **widow** come unto them.
- 9:17 Therefore the Lord shall have no joy in their young men, neither shall have mercy on their fatherless and widows; for every one of them is a hypocrite and an evildoer, and every mouth speaketh folly. For all this his anger is not turned away, but his hand is stretched out still.

- 10:2 To turn aside the needy from judgment, and to take away the right from the poor of my people, that **widows** may be their prey, and that they may rob the fatherless!
- 13:22 And the wild beasts of the islands shall cry in their **desolate houses**, and dragons in their pleasant palaces; and her time is near to come, and her days shall not be prolonged; for I will destroy her speedily; yea, for I will be merciful unto my people, but the wicked shall perish.
- 47:8 Therefore hear now this, thou that art given to pleasures, that dwellest carelessly, that sayest in thine heart, I am, and none else besides me; I shall not sit as a **widow**, neither shall I know the loss of children;

#### אַלְמְנוּת |äl-mä-nūth' (n.) widowhood; destitution (exile)

54:4 Fear not; for thou shalt not be ashamed; neither be thou confounded; for thou shalt not be put to shame; for thou shalt forget the shame of thy youth, and shalt not remember the reproach of thy **widowhood** anymore.

#### **WIFE**

Primitive Root: אָצַנִשׁ/ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

#### אשה esh-shä' (n.) woman; wife; timid one; anyone, whoever

See Woman

Primitive Root: בַּעֵל/bä-äl': to be master

## bä-äl' (v.) to be master, rule; to marry, take a wife; to loath, reject

See Marry

## WILDERNESS

Primitive Root: דָבר/dä-vär': to arrange (figurative, to speak)

## מַדְבַּר med-bar' (n.) pasture, grassland; sterile or sandy country, wilderness, desert

- 14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his prisoners?
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 16:8 For the fields of Heshbon languish, and the vine of Sibmah; the lords of the heathen have broken down the principal plants thereof, they are come even unto Jazer, they wandered through the **wilderness**; her branches are stretched out, they are gone over the sea.
- 21:1 The burden of the **desert** of the sea. As whirlwinds in the south pass through; so it cometh from the **desert**, from the terrible
- 27:10 Yet the defensed city shall be desolate, and the habitation forsaken, and left like a **wilderness**; there shall the calf feed, and there shall he lie down, and consume the branches thereof.
- 32:15 Until the Spirit be poured upon us from on high, and the **wilderness** be a fruitful field, and the fruitful field be counted for a forest.
- 32:16 Then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and righteousness remain in the fruitful field.
- 35:1 The wilderness and the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall rejoice, and blossom as the rose.
- 35:6 Then shall the lame man leap as a hart, and the tongue of the dumb sing; for in the **wilderness** shall waters break out, and streams in the desert.
- 40:3 The voice of him that crieth in the **wilderness**, Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight in the desert a highway for our God.
- 41:18 I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys; I will make the **wilderness** a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water.
- 41:19 I will plant in the **wilderness** the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together;
- 42:11 Let the wilderness and the cities thereof lift up their voice, the villages that Kedar doth inhabit; let the inhabitants of the rock sing, let them shout from the top of the mountains.
- 43:19 Behold, I will do a new thing; now it shall spring forth; shall ye not know it? I will even make a way in the **wilderness**, and rivers in the desert.
- 43:20 The beast of the field shall honor me, the dragons and the owls; because I give waters in the wilderness, and rivers in the desert, to give drink to my people, my chosen.
- 50:3 [50:2-3] Behold, at my rebuke I dry up the sea, I make their rivers a **wilderness**; and their fish to stink, because the waters are dried up, and they die because of thirst. I clothe the heavens with blackness, and I make sackcloth their covering.

- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort Zion; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 63:13 That led them through the deep, as a horse in the wilderness, that they should not stumble?
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, Zion a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.

Primitive Root: ערב /ä-räv': to grow dusky at sundown

## יבְּהַ "-rä-vä' (n.) arid land, sterile region, desert, wilderness, plain

See Desert

Primitive Word: צְיֵה itsēy-yä': an unused root meaning to parch

### יניי (n.) dweller of the desert, nomad; Jackal, ostrich, wild beast or bird

See Beast

#### WILLOW

Primitive Root: אָרַב/ä-räv': to braid

## אַרַבַּה|<sup>ä</sup>-rä-vä' (n.) willow

15:7 Therefore the abundance they have gotten, and that which they have laid up, shall they carry away to the brook of the **willows**. 44:4 And they shall spring up as among the grass, as **willows** by the watercourses.

## WIND

Primitive Root: רוֹח 'rü'-äh: to blow

#### רוּמִ '-äḥ (n.) breeze, wind, breath, air, blowing; mind, soul, intellect, passion; spirit, ghost

See Spirit

#### Window

Primitive Root: אַרֶב/ä-räv': to lurk

#### אַרְבַּה |ä-rüb-bä' (n.) window, lattice

24:18 And it shall come to pass, that he who fleeth from the noise of the fear shall fall into the pit; and he that cometh up out of the midst of the pit shall be taken in the snare; for the **windows** from on high are open, and the foundations of the earth do shake.

60:8 Who are these that fly as a cloud, and as the doves to their windows?

Primitive Word: שָׁמֵשׁ /she'-mesh: from an unused root meaning to be brilliant

#### אַמֵשׁ she'-mesh (n.) sun, sunlight, daylight; battlements, pinnacle

See Sun

#### **WINE**

Primitive Root: חָמֵד /ḥä-mäd': to boil up

## אָבְּלִי -mɛd (n.) beauty, desirableness, pleasantness, loveliness

[Note: Isaiah 27:2 uses the Hebrew word תֶּמֶל ḥɛ'-med meaning beauty or pleasantness but may actually be תֶּמֶל ḥɛ'-mer meaning red wine.] 27:2 In that day sing ye unto her, A vineyard of **red wine**.

32:12 They shall lament for the teats, for the pleasant fields, for the fruitful vine.

Primitive Word: יָיִן 'yä'-yēn: from an unused root meaning to effervesce

## )?2|yä'-yēn (n.) wine; intoxication

- 5:11 Woe unto them that rise up early in the morning, that they may follow strong drink, and that continue until night, and wine inflame them!
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.

- 5:22 Who unto the mighty to drink wine, and men of strength to mingle strong drink;
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no **wine** in their presses; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.
- 22:13 And behold joy and gladness, slaying oxen, and killing sheep, eating flesh, and drinking **wine**; let us eat and drink; for tomorrow we shall die.
- 24:9 They shall not drink wine with a song; strong drink shall be bitter to them that drink it.
- 24:11 There is a crying for wine in the streets; all joy is darkened, the mirth of the land is gone.
- 28:1 Woe to the crown of pride, to the drunkards of Ephraim, whose glorious beauty is a fading flower, which are on the head of the fat valleys of them that are overcome with **wine**!
- 28:7 But they also have erred through wine, and through strong drink are out of the way; the priest and the prophet have erred through strong drink, they are swallowed up of wine, they are out of the way through strong drink; they err in vision, they stumble in judgment.
- 29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.
- 51:21 Therefore hear now this, thou afflicted, and drunken, but not with wine;
- 55:1 Ho, everyone that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, buy, and eat; yea, come, buy **wine** and milk without money and without price.
- 56:12 Come ye, say they, I will fetch **wine**, and we will fill ourselves with strong drink; and tomorrow shall be as this day, and much more abundant.

Primitive Word: יֵקב'/yɛ'-kɛv: from an unused root meaning to excavate

## יַקב'|ye'-kev (n.) vat of the winepress; winepress

- 5:2 And he fenced it, and gathered out the stones thereof, and planted it with the choicest vine, and built a tower in the midst of it, and also made a **winepress** therein; and he looked that it should bring forth grapes, and it brought forth wild grapes.
- 16:10 And gladness is taken away, and joy out of the plentiful field; and in the vineyards there shall be no singing, neither shall there be shouting; the treaders shall tread out no wine in their **presses**; I have made their vintage shouting to cease.

Primitive Root: יָרֵשׁ/yä-räsh': to occupy (in the sense of expulsion)

## תֹּירוֹשׁ|tē-rōsh' (n.) must, new wine, unfermented wine, juice from the grape

24:7 The new wine mourneth, the vine languisheth, all the merryhearted do sigh.

- 36:17 Until I come and take you away to a land like your own land, a land of corn and wine, a land of bread and vineyards.
- 62:8 The Lord hath sworn by his right hand, and by the arm of his strength, Surely I will no more give thy corn to be meat for thine enemies; and the sons of the stranger shall not drink thy **wine**, for the which thou hast labored;
- 65:8 Thus saith the Lord, As the **new wine** is found in the cluster, and one saith, Destroy it not; for a blessing is in it; so will I do for my servants' sake, that I may not destroy them all.

Primitive Root: גַּגַן/nä-gän': to thrum

#### gäth (v.) winepress

63:2 Wherefore art thou red in thine apparel, and thy garments like him that treadeth in the winefat?

Primitive Root: סֶבָא/sä-vä': to guzzle to satiety

#### שׁבֵא |sō'-vɛ (n.) wine, drink; carousal

1:22 Thy silver is become dross, thy wine mixed with water;

Primitive Root: עַסֶּסן/ä-säs': to squeeze out juice

#### עָסִיּס |ä-sēs' (n.) new wine, must

49:26 And I will feed them that oppress thee with their own flesh; and they shall be drunken with their own blood, as with **sweet** wine; and all flesh shall know that I the Lord am thy Savior and thy Redeemer, the Mighty One of Jacob.

Primitive Root: הופר to crush

#### מוֹבְרֹב |pü-rä' (n.) winepress; a measure of liquids

63:3 I have trodden the **winepress** alone; and of the people there was none with me; for I will tread them in mine anger, and trample them in my fury; and their blood shall be sprinkled upon my garments, and I will stain all my raiment.

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵר/shä-mär': to hedge about

## שמרים sh<sup>ε</sup>-mä'-rēm (n.) (pl. only) dregs, wine kept on the lees, lees; old wine

25:6 And in this mountain shall the Lord of hosts make unto all people a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined.

#### Wing

Primitive Root: אַבַר/ä-vär': to soar

## אֶבֶּר (n.) wing feather

40:31 But they that wait upon the Lord shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with **wings** as eagles; they shall run, and not be weary; and they shall walk, and not faint.

Primitive Root: בַּנְף/kä-näf': to project laterally

#### אָבָּן/kä-näf' (n.) wing; (dual) pair of wings

- 6:2 Above it stood the seraphim; each one had six wings; with twain he covered his face, and with twain he covered his feet, and with twain he did fly.
- 8:8 And he shall pass through Judah; he shall overflow and go over, he shall reach even to the neck; and the stretching out of his wings shall fill the breadth of thy land, O Immanuel.
- 10:14 And my hand hath found as a nest the riches of the people; and as one gathereth eggs that are left, have I gathered all the earth; and there was none that moved the wing, or opened the mouth, or peeped.
- 11:12 And he shall set up an ensign for the nations, and shall assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four **corners** of the earth.
- 18:1 Woe to the land shadowing with wings, which is beyond the rivers of Ethiopia;
- 24:16 From the **uttermost part** of the earth have we heard songs, even glory to the righteous. But I said, My leanness, my leanness, woe unto me! the treacherous dealers have dealt treacherously; yea, the treacherous dealers have dealt very treacherously.

## WINNOW

Primitive Root: וְרָה/zä-rä': to toss about

## זָרָה' zä-rä' (v.) to scatter, disperse; to winnow; to spread out

See Cast

#### WIPE

Primitive Root: מֶּחָה/mä-ḥä': to stroke or rub

## מְחַה mä-ḥä' (v.) to wipe, wipe off or away, blot out; to strike upon; to be full of marrow

See Blot Out

## WITHER

Primitive Root: יְבֵשׁ/yä-vāsh': to be ashamed, confused or disappointed

## יֶבֶשׁ |yä-vāsh' (v.) to be or become dry, dry up, be parched, wither; to be drained

- 15:6 For the waters of Nimrim shall be desolate; for the hay is withered away, the grass faileth, there is no green thing.
- 19:5 And the waters shall fail from the sea, and the river shall be wasted and dried up.
- 19:7 The paper reeds by the brooks, by the mouth of the brooks, and everything sown by the brooks, shall **wither**, be driven away, and be no more.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are **withered**, they shall be broken off; the women come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 30:5 They were all ashamed of a people that could not profit them, nor be a help nor profit, but a shame, and also a reproach.
- 40:7 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; because the Spirit of the Lord bloweth upon it; surely the people is grass.
- 40:8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth; but the word of our God shall stand forever.
- 40:24 Yea, they shall not be planted; yea, they shall not be sown; yea, their stock shall not take root in the earth; and he shall also blow upon them, and they shall wither, and the whirlwind shall take them away as stubble.

42:15 I will make waste mountains and hills, and **dry up** all their herbs; and I will make the rivers islands, and I will dry up the pools. 44:27 That saith to the deep, Be dry, and I will **dry up** thy rivers;

Primitive Root: קַמֵּל/kä-mäl': to wither

## |קְמַל|kä-mäl' (v.) to wither away, pine away, die

19:6 And they shall turn the rivers far away; and the brooks of defense shall be emptied and dried up; the reeds and flags shall wither.

33:9 The earth mourneth and languisheth; Lebanon is ashamed and **hewn down**; Sharon is like a wilderness; and Bashan and Carmel shake off their fruits.

#### **WITNESS**

Primitive Root: עוּד /üd: to duplicate or repeat

## אַל ad (n.) witness; testimony, proof

8:2 And I took unto me faithful witnesses to record, Uriah the priest, and Zechariah the son of Jeberechiah.

- 19:20 And it shall be for a sign and for a **witness** unto the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt; for they shall cry unto the Lord because of the oppressors, and he shall send them a savior, and a great one, and he shall deliver them.
- 43:9 Let all the nations be gathered together, and let the people be assembled; who among them can declare this, and show us former things? let them bring forth their **witnesses**, that they may be justified; or let them hear, and say, It is truth.
- 43:10 Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen; that ye may know and believe me, and understand that I am he; before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me.
- 43:12 I have declared, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no strange god among you; therefore ye are my **witnesses**, saith the Lord, that I am God.
- 44:8 Fear ye not, neither be afraid; have not I told thee from that time, and have declared it? yea are even my witnesses. Is there a God besides me? yea, there is no God; I know not any.
- 44:9 They that make a graven image are all of them vanity; and their delectable things shall not profit; and they are their own **witnesses**; they see not, nor know; that they may be ashamed.
- 55:4 Behold, I have given him for a witness to the people, a leader and commander to the people.

Primitive Root: אָנָה'ä-nä': to eye (pay attention to) or to heed generally

#### קוצָם "ä-nä' (v.) to reply, answer; to bear witness, vindicate oneself; to declare, announce

See Answer

#### Woman

Primitive Root: אֵנֵשׁ/ä-näsh': to be frail or feeble

#### אָשַׁה |ēsh-shä' (n.) woman; wife; timid one; anyone, whoever

- 3:12 And as for my people, children are their oppressors, and **women** rule over them. O my people, they who lead thee cause thee to err, and destroy the way of thy paths.
- 3:27 [4:1] And in that day seven **women** shall take hold of one man, saying, We will eat our own bread, and wear our own apparel; only let us be called by thy name, to take away our reproach.
- 13:16 Their children also shall be dashed to pieces before their eyes; their houses shall be spoiled, and their wives ravished.
- 19:16 In that day shall Egypt be like unto **women**; and it shall be afraid and fear because of the shaking of the hand of the Lord of hosts, which he shaketh over it.
- 27:11 When the boughs thereof are withered, they shall be broken off; the **women** come, and set them on fire; for it is a people of no understanding; therefore he that made them will not have mercy on them, and he that formed them will show them no favor.
- 32:9 Rise up, ye women that are at ease; hear my voice, ye careless daughters; give ear unto my speech.
- 34:15 There shall the great owl make her nest, and lay, and hatch, and gather under her shadow; there shall the vultures also be gathered, **everyone** with her mate.
- 34:16 Seek ye out of the book of the Lord, and read the names written therein; no one of these shall fail; **none** shall want their mate; for my mouth it hath commanded, and my Spirit it hath gathered them.
- 45:10 Woe unto him that saith unto his father, What begettest thou? or to the woman, What hast thou brought forth?
- 49:15 Can a **woman** forget her sucking child, that she should not have compassion on the son of her womb? yea, they may forget, yet will I not forget thee.
- 54:6 For the Lord hath called thee as a **woman** forsaken and grieved in spirit, and a **wife** of youth, when thou wast refused, saith thy God.

Primitive Root: בַּטָח/bä-täḥ': to hide for refuge

### שְׁטֵּם bä-täḥ' (v.) to trust, confide in; to attach oneself; to be secure, be careless

See Trust

Primitive Root: הָרָה/hä-rä': to be or become pregnant

## קֹבֵה hä-re' (n.) pregnant

- 7:14 Therefore the Lord himself shall give you a sign; Behold, a virgin shall **conceive**, and shall bear a son, and shall call his name Immanuel.
- 26:17 Like as a **woman with child**, that draweth near the time of her delivery, is in pain, and crieth out in her pangs; so have we been in thy sight, O Lord.

Primitive Root: אָיַלִד'/yä-läd': to bear young, beget

## yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Child

Primitive Root: לֵלֶד /yä-läd': to bear young, beget

#### יללי |yä-läd' (v.) to bring forth, bear; to beget; to be born

See Quiet

## WOMB

Primitive Root: בֶּטֵן/bɛ'-tɛn: from an unused root probably meaning to be hollow

#### שבטן |be'-ten (n.) belly, abdomen; womb

- 13:18 Their bows also shall dash the young men to pieces; and they shall have no pity on the fruit of the **womb**; their eye shall not spare children.
- 44:2 Thus saith the Lord that made thee, and formed thee from the **womb**, which will help thee; Fear not, O Jacob, my servant; and thou, Jeshurun, whom I have chosen.
- 44:24 Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, and he that formed thee from the womb, I am the Lord that maketh all things; that stretcheth forth the heavens alone; that spreadeth abroad the earth by myself.
- 48:8 Yea, thou heardest not; yea, thou knewest not; yea, from that time that thine ear was not opened; for I knew that thou wouldest deal very treacherously, and wast called a transgressor from the **womb**.
- 49:1 Listen, O isles, unto me; and hearken, ye people, from far; The Lord hath called me from the womb; from the bowels of my mother hath he made mention of my name.
- 49:5 And now, saith the Lord that formed me from the **womb** to be his servant, to bring Jacob again to him, Though Israel be not gathered, yet shall I be glorious in the eyes of the Lord, and my God shall be my strength.
- 49:15 Can a woman forget her sucking child, that she should not have compassion on the son of her **womb**? yea, they may forget, yet will I not forget thee.

Primitive Root: רָחַם/rä-ḥäm': to fondle

#### מחלן rä-häm' (v.) to love; to have compassion, pity, tenderness, or love; to have mercy

See Mercy

## Wonder

Primitive Root: יַבֶּה'/yä-fä': to be bright

#### מופת mō-fāth' (n.) miracle, prodigy; proof, sign; portent

- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for **wonders** in Israel from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in mount Zion.
- 20:3 And the Lord said, Like as my servant Isaiah hath walked naked and barefoot three years for a sign and wonder upon Egypt and upon Ethiopia;

Primitive Root: פֵלַא/pä-lä': possibly to separate

## pä-lä' (v.) to be distinguished, be singular; to be wonderful, be miraculous, be extraordinary

28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.

29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a wonder: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be hid.

#### אב'e|pe'-le (n.) wonder, miracle, wonderful or admirable thing or deed

- 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given; and the government shall be upon his shoulder; and his name shall be called **Wonderful**, Counselor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.
- 25:1 O Lord, thou art my God; I will exalt thee, I will praise thy name; for thou hast done wonderful things; thy counsels of old are faithfulness and truth.
- 29:14 Therefore, behold, I will proceed to do a marvellous work among this people, even a marvelous work and a **wonder**: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent men shall be hid.

Primitive Root: שַׁמֵם/shä-mām': to stun

## שְׁמֵּם shä-mām' (v.) to be astonished, be confounded; to be laid waste or destroyed

See Desolate

Primitive Root: תַּמָה/tä-mä: to be in consternation

## דְּמָה (v.) to be astonished, be amazed, be terrified; to marvel, wonder

- 13:8 And they shall be afraid; pangs and sorrows shall take hold of them; they shall be in pain as a woman that travaileth; they shall be amazed one at another; their faces shall be as flames.
- 29:9 Stay yourselves, and wonder; cry ye out, and cry: they are drunken, but not with wine; they stagger, but not with strong drink.

## WOOD

Primitive Root: יְצֵעְר '-är: from an unused root probably meaning to thicken with verdure

## יַעַר'|yä'-är (n.) thicket, wood, forest; wild honey, honeycomb

See Forest

Primitive Root: עָצָה/ä-tsä': to fasten

#### אָץ ats (n.) tree, wood, timber; stake, pole, log, wooden work

See Tree

#### WOOL

Primitive Word: צְמֵר /tsɛ'-mɛr: from an unused root probably meaning to be shaggy

#### צמֵר (n.) wool

- 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as **wool**.
- 51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the worm shall eat them like **wool**; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my salvation from generation to generation.

#### Work

Primitive Root: עבר/ä-väd': to work

## אָבַד' |ä-väd' (v.) to labor, work, toil, till, plough; to serve, work as a slave; to worship

See Serve

Primitive Root: עָשָׂה/ä-sä': to do or make

## מעשה mä-ä-se' (n.) doing, executing; activity, action; work, deed, production, fabric

2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.

- 3:24 And it shall come to pass, instead of sweet smell there shall be stink; and instead of a girdle a rent; and instead of well-set hair, baldness; and instead of a stomacher a girding of sackcloth, burning instead of beauty.
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the work of the Lord, neither consider the **operation** of his hands.
- 5:19 That say, Let him make speed, and hasten his **work**, that we may see it; and let the counsel of the Holy One of Israel draw nigh and come, that we may know it!
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole **work** upon Mount Zion and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 17:8 And he shall not look to the altars, the **work** of his hands, neither shall respect that which his fingers have made, either the groves, or the images.
- 19:14 The Lord hath mingled a perverse spirit in the midst thereof; and they have caused Egypt to err in every **work** thereof, as a drunken man staggereth in his vomit.
- 19:15 Neither shall there be any work for Egypt, which the head or tail, branch or rush, may do.
- 19:25 Whom the Lord of hosts shall bless, saying, Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the **work** of my hands, and Israel mine inheritance.
- 26:12 Lord, thou wilt ordain peace for us; for thou also hast wrought all our works in us.
- 28:21 For the Lord shall rise up as in mount Perazim, he shall be wroth as in the valley of Gibeon, that he may do his **work**, his strange **work**; and bring to pass his act, his strange act.
- 29:15 Woe unto them that seek deep to hide their counsel from the LORD, and their works are in the dark, and they say, Who seeth us? and who knoweth us?
- 29:16 Surely your turning of things upside down shall be esteemed as the potter's clay: for shall the **work** say of him that made it, He made me not? or shall the thing framed say of him that framed it, He had no understanding?
- 29:23 But when he seeth his children, the **work** of mine hands, in the midst of him, they shall sanctify my name, and sanctify the Holy One of Jacob, and shall fear the God of Israel.
- 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness, quietness and assurance forever.
- 37:19 And have cast their gods into the fire; for they were no gods, but the **work** of men's hands, wood and stone; therefore they have destroyed them.
- 41:29 Behold, they are all vanity; their works are nothing; their molten images are wind and confusion.
- 54:16 Behold, I have created the smith that bloweth the coals in the fire, and that bringeth forth an instrument for his **work**; and I have created the waster to destroy.
- 57:12 I will declare thy righteousness, and thy works; for they shall not profit thee.
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become garments, neither shall they cover themselves with their works; their works are works of iniquity, and the act of violence is in their hands.
- 60:21 Thy people also shall be all righteous; they shall inherit the land forever, the branch of my planting, the **work** of my hands, that I may be glorified.
- 64:8 But now, O Lord, thou art our Father; we are the clay, and thou our potter; and we all are the work of thy hand.
- 65:22 They shall not build, and another inhabit; they shall not plant, and another eat; for as the days of a tree are the days of my people, and mine elect shall long enjoy the **work** of their hands.
- 66:18 For I know their works and their thoughts; it shall come, that I will gather all nations and tongues; and they shall come, and see my glory.

Primitive Root: אָלְאַ/pä-lä': possibly to separate

## pä-lä' (v.) to be distinguished, be singular; to be wonderful, be miraculous, be extraordinary

See Wonder

Primitive Root: פֵעֵל /fä-äl': to do or make

#### לפעל [fä-äl' (v.) to make, do, accomplish; to fabricate, produce, create, form; to prepare

- 26:12 Lord, thou wilt ordain peace for us; for thou also hast wrought all our works in us.
- 31:2 Yet he also is wise, and will bring evil, and will not call back his words; but will arise against the house of the evildoers, and against the help of them that **work** iniquity,
- 41:4 Who hath wrought and done it, calling the generations from the beginning? I the Lord, the first, and with the last; I am he.
- 43:13 Yea, before the day was I am he; and there is none that can deliver out of my hand; I will work, and who shall let it?
- 44:12 The smith with the tongs both **worketh** in the coals, and fashioneth it with hammers, and **worketh** it with the strength of his arms; yea, he is hungry, and his strength faileth; he drinketh no water, and is faint.
- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.

#### pō-äl (n.) deed, action, business, work; product, achievement; wages, gain reward

- 1:31 And the strong shall be as tow, and the maker of it as a spark, and they shall both burn together, and none shall quench them.
- 5:12 And the harp and the viol, the tabret and pipe, and wine, are in their feasts; but they regard not the **work** of the Lord, neither consider the operation of his hands.
- 41:24 Behold, ye are of nothing, and your work of naught; an abomination is he that chooseth you.
- 45:9 Woe unto him that striveth with his Maker! Let the potsherd strive with the potsherds of the earth. Shall the clay say to him that fashioneth it, What makest thou? Or thy **work**, He hath no hands?
- 45:11 Thus saith the Lord, the Holy One of Israel, and his Maker, Ask me of things to come concerning my sons, and concerning the **work** of my hands command ye me.
- 59:6 Their webs shall not become garments, neither shall they cover themselves with their works; their works are works of iniquity, and the act of violence is in their hands.

#### קּצְּיִּבֶּוֹף (n.) what anyone does, occupation, doing, performing; wages, reward

- 40:10 Behold, the Lord God will come with strong hand, and his arm shall rule for him; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 49:4 Then I said, I have labored in vain, I have spent my strength for naught, and in vain; yet surely my judgment is with the Lord, and my work with my God.
- 61:8 For I the Lord love judgment, I hate robbery for burnt offering; and I will direct their **work** in truth, and I will make an everlasting covenant with them.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his **work** before him.
- 65:7 Your iniquities, and the iniquities of your fathers together, saith the Lord, which have burned incense upon the mountains, and blasphemed me upon the hills; therefore will I measure their former **work** into their bosom.

Unused Word: תּוּשִׁיָה/tü-shēy-yä': from an unused root probably meaning to substantiate

## תּוּשְיֵה (n.) aid, help, support, salvation; counsel, insight, wisdom, understanding

28:29 This also cometh forth from the Lord of hosts, which is wonderful in counsel, and excellent in working.

#### WORKMAN

Primitive Word: חֲרֵשׁ/hä-räsh': to scratch

## אָרָשׁ|ḥä-räsh' (n.) an engraver, a cutter in wood, metal, or stone; a smith, workman, artisan, artificer, artist

See Smith

#### World

 $Primitive\ Root$ : אֶבֶּרְיְ |arepsilon' - rarepsilon t: מוֹשְׁבֶּרְי |arepsilon' - rarepsilon t an unused root probably meaning to be firm

## אָבֵץ (n.) earth, land, country, region; ground, soil

See also Country, Earth, Ground, Land, (separated for convenience)

- 23:17 And it shall come to pass after the end of seventy years, that the Lord will visit Tyre, and she shall turn to her hire, and shall commit fornication with all the kingdoms of the **world** upon the face of the earth.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the **world**, Say ye to the daughter of Zion, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.

Primitive Root: חָדֵל/ḥä-däl': to be flabby

## אָדֶל ˈḥɛʾ-dɛl (n.) resting place of the dead, grave, Hades

38:11 I said, I shall not see the Lord, even the Lord, in the land of the living; I shall behold man no more with the inhabitants of the world.

Primitive Root: יבל /yä-bäl': to flow

#### tā-vāl' (n.) the earth, the (whole) world; fertile and inhabited earth

13:11 And I will punish the **world** for their evil, and the wicked for their iniquity; and I will cause the arrogancy of the proud to cease, and will lay low the haughtiness of the terrible.

- 14:17 And made the world as a wilderness, and destroyed the cities thereof; and opened not the house of his prisoners?
- 14:21 Prepare slaughter for his children for the iniquities of their fathers; that they do not rise, nor possess the land, nor fill the face of the **world** with cities.
- 18:3 All ye inhabitants of the **world** and dwellers on the earth, see ye, when he lifteth up an ensign on the mountains; and when he bloweth a trumpet, hear ye.
- 24:4 The earth mourneth and fadeth away, the world languisheth and fadeth away, the haughty people of the earth do languish.
- 26:9 With my soul have I desired thee in the night; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early; for when thy judgments are in the earth, the inhabitants of the world will learn righteousness.
- 26:18 We have been with child, we have been in pain, we have as it were brought forth wind; we have not wrought any deliverance in the earth; neither have the inhabitants of the **world** fallen.
- 27:6 He shall cause them that come of Jacob to take root; Israel shall blossom and bud, and fill the face of the world with fruit.
- 34:1 Come near, ye nations, to hear; and hearken, ye people; let the earth hear, and all that is therein; the world, and all things that come forth of it.

Primitive Root: עַלֶם/ä-läm': to veil from sight

## עוֹלְם -läm' (n.) time past, of old; eternity, distant future, duration, everlasting time; (pl.) ages

See Everlasting

## WORM

Primitive Root: יָלֵע/yä-lä': to blurt or utter without consideration

#### וּתּוֹבְע (n.) worm, insect, vermin, coccus worm; scarlet, scarlet color

- 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord; though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like **crimson**, they shall be as wool.
- 14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.
- 41:14 Fear not, thou worm Jacob, and ye men of Israel; I will help thee, saith the Lord, and thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel.
- 66:24 And they shall go forth, and look upon the carcasses of the men that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not die, neither shall their fire be quenched; and they shall be an abhorring unto all flesh.

Primitive word: מוֹס /sus: from an unused root meaning to skip (for joy)

## säs (n.) moth

51:8 For the moth shall eat them up like a garment, and the **worm** shall eat them like wool; but my righteousness shall be forever, and my salvation from generation to generation.

Primitive Root: רַמִם/rä-mäm': to rise

## רַמַּה' rēm-mä' (n.) worm, maggot; wormhole, rottenness

14:11 Thy pomp is brought down to the grave, and the noise of thy viols; the worm is spread under thee, and the worms cover thee.

#### WORSHIP

Primitive Root: שַׁחָה/shä-ḥä': to depress

#### אחה shä-hä' (v.) to bow down; to sink down, be depressed; to worship, adore; to prostrate oneself

- 2:8 Their land also is full of idols; they worship the work of their own hands, that which their own fingers have made.
- 2:20 In that day a man shall cast his idols of silver, and his idols of gold, which he hath made for himself to **worship**, to the moles and to the bats;
- 27:13 And it shall come to pass in that day, that the great trumpet shall be blown, and they shall come which were ready to perish in the land of Assyria, and the outcasts in the land of Egypt, and shall **worship** the Lord in the holy mount at Jerusalem.
- 36:7 But if thou say to me, We trust in the Lord our God; is it not he, whose high places and whose altars Hezekiah hath taken away, and said to Judah and to Jerusalem, Ye shall **worship** before this altar?
- 37:38 And it came to pass, as he was **worshiping** in the house of Nisroch his god, that Adrammelech and Sharezer his sons smote him with the sword; and they escaped into the land of Armenia; and Esarhaddon his son reigned in his stead.
- 44:15 Then shall it be for a man to burn; for he will take thereof, and warm himself; yea, he kindleth it, and baketh bread; yea, he maketh a god, and worshipeth it; he maketh it a graven image, and falleth down thereto.

- 44:17 And the residue thereof he maketh a god, even his graven image; he falleth down unto it, and worshipeth it, and prayeth unto it, and saith, Deliver me; for thou art my god.
- 45:14 Thus saith the Lord, The labor of Egypt, and merchandise of Ethiopia and of the Sabeans, men of stature, shall come over unto thee, and they shall be thine; they shall come after thee; in chains they shall come over, and they shall **fall down** unto thee, they shall make supplication unto thee, saying, Surely God is in thee; and there is none else, there is no God.
- 46:6 They lavish gold out of the bag, and weigh silver in the balance, and hire a goldsmith; and he maketh it a god; they fall down, yea, they worship.
- 49:7 Thus saith the Lord, the Redeemer of Israel, and his Holy One, to him whom man despiseth, to him whom the nation abhorreth, to a servant of rulers, Kings shall see and arise, princes also shall **worship**, because of the Lord that is faithful, and the Holy One of Israel, and he shall choose thee.
- 49:23 And kings shall be thy nursing fathers, and their queens thy nursing mothers; they shall **bow down** to thee with their faces toward the earth, and lick up the dust of thy feet; and thou shalt know that I am the Lord; for they shall not be ashamed that wait for me
- 51:23 But I will put it into the hand of them that afflict thee; which have said to thy soul, **Bow down**, that we may go over; and thou hast laid thy body as the ground, and as the street, to them that went over.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall **bow** themselves **down** at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The Zion of the Holy One of Israel.
- 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one new moon to another, and from one sabbath to another, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the Lord.

#### WOUND

Primitive Root: חֲלֵל /ḥä-läl': to bore

## אָהְלַל (v.) to pierce through, be perforated, be wounded; to defile, pollute, profane

See Pollute

Primitive Root: נָּכָה/nä-ḥä': to strike

## mäk-kä' or מְּבֶּת mäk-käth' (n.) smiting, striking, blow, beating, defeat; wound

See Sore

Primary Root: פָצע/pä-tsä': to split

#### שְצַע |pɛ'-tsä (n.) wound

1:6 From the sole of the foot even unto the head there is no soundness in it; but **wounds**, and bruises, and putrifying sores; they have not been closed; neither bound up, neither mollified with ointment.

## Wrath

Primitive Root: עַבַר/ä-vär': to cross over

## צברה (n.) outpouring or outburst (of wrath), fury; an overflowing; pride, haughtiness

- 9:19 Through the **wrath** of the Lord of hosts is the land darkened, and the people shall be as the fuel of the fire; no man shall spare his brother.
- 10:6 I will send him against a hypocritical nation, and against the people of my wrath will I give him a charge, to take the spoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets.
- 13:9 Behold, the day of the Lord cometh, cruel both with **wrath** and fierce anger, to lay the land desolate; and he shall destroy the sinners thereof out of it.
- 13:13 Therefore I will shake the heavens, and the earth shall remove out of her place, in the wrath of the Lord of hosts, and in the day of his fierce anger.
- 14:6 He who smote the people in wrath with a continual stroke, he that ruled the nations in anger, is persecuted, and none hindereth.
- 16:6 We have heard of the pride of Moab; of his haughtiness and his pride, for he is very proud; and his wrath, his lies, and all his evil works.

Primitive Root: קַצַף/kä-tsäf': to crack off

## אָקְצוֹף kä-tsäf' (v.) to break out (in anger), fly into passion; to be angry, be indignant; to provoke to anger

- 8:21 And they shall pass through it, hardly bestead and hungry; and it shall come to pass, that when they shall be hungry, they shall fret themselves, and curse their king and their God, and look upward.
- 47:6 I was **wroth** with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy yoke.
- 54:9 For this is as the waters of Noah unto me; for as I have sworn that the waters of Noah should no more go over the earth; so have I sworn that I would not be **wroth** with thee, nor rebuke thee.
- 57:16 For I will not contend forever, neither will I be always **wroth**; for the spirit should fail before me, and the souls which I have
- 57:17 For the iniquity of his covetousness was I wroth, and smote him; I hid me and was wroth, and he went on frowardly in the way of his heart
- 64:9 Be not wroth very sore, O Lord, neither remember iniquity forever; behold, see, we beseech thee, we are all thy people.

## קצֶף (n.) twig, splinter, chip, fragment of wood; anger, altercation, strife, wrath, furry, quarrel

See Indignation

Primitive Root: רְבֵּי /rä-gäz': to quiver

רָצָז (v.) to be angry, be stirred; to be moved (with grief); to tremble, quake

See Tremble

## WORD-LINKS "Y"

#### Yoke

Primitive Root: מוֹט mōt: to waver

## מוֹטָה mō-tä' (n.) bar, staff; yoke

58:6 Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the **heavy** burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye break every **yoke**?

58:9 Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst of thee the **yoke**, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity;

Primitive Root: אַלֵל' it o effect thoroughly, to glean

## על (n.) yoke; servitude

9:4 For thou hast broken the yoke of his burden, and the staff of his shoulder, the rod of his oppressor, as in the day of Midian.

- 10:27 And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and his **yoke** from off thy neck, and the **yoke** shall be destroyed because of the anointing.
- 14:25 That I will break the Assyrian in my land, and upon my mountains tread him underfoot; then shall his **yoke** depart from off them, and his burden depart from off their shoulders.
- 47:6 I was wroth with my people, I have polluted mine inheritance, and given them into thine hand; thou didst show them no mercy; upon the ancient hast thou very heavily laid thy **yoke**.

## WORD-LINKS "Z"

#### ZIDON

Primitive Root: צוּד /tsüd: to lie alongside in wait

#### צידון (tsē-dōn' (prop. n.) Zidon

- 23:2 Be still, ye inhabitants of the isle; thou whom the merchants of **Zidon**, that pass over the sea, have replenished.
- 23:4 Be thou ashamed, O **Zidon**; for the sea hath spoken, even the strength of the sea, saying, I travail not, nor bring forth children, neither do I nourish up young men, nor bring up virgins.
- 23:12 And he said, Thou shalt no more rejoice, O thou oppressed virgin, daughter of **Zidon**; arise, pass over to Chittim; there also shalt thou have no rest.

#### ZION

Primitive Root: צְיֵה tsēy-yä: a monumental or guiding pillar

## נְצְיּוֹן (prop. n.) Zion; the holy mountain of God

- 1:8 And the daughter of Zion is left as a cottage in a vineyard, as a lodge in a garden of cucumbers, as a besieged city.
- 1:27 **Zion** shall be redeemed with judgment, and her converts with righteousness.
- 2:3 And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of Jacob; and he will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his paths; for out of **Zion** shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem;
- 3:16 Moreover the Lord saith, Because the daughters of **Zion** are haughty, and walk with stretchedforth necks and wanton eyes, walking and mincing as they go, and making a tinkling with their feet;
- 3:17 Therefore the Lord will smite with a scab the crown of the head of the daughters of **Zion**, and the Lord will discover their secret parts.
- 4:2 [4:3] And it shall come to pass, they that are left in **Zion**, and he that remaineth in Jerusalem, shall be called holy, even everyone that is written among the living in Jerusalem;
- 4:3 [4:4] When the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of **Zion**, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem from the midst thereof by the spirit of judgment, and by the spirit of burning.
- 4:4 [4:5] And the Lord will create upon every dwelling place of mount **Zion**, and upon her assemblies, a cloud and smoke by day, and the shinning of a flaming fire by night; for upon all the glory of **Zion** shall be a defense.
- 8:18 Behold, I and the children whom the Lord hath given me are for signs and for wonders in Israel from the Lord of hosts, which dwelleth in mount **Zion**.
- 10:12 Wherefore it shall come to pass, that, when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon Mount **Zion** and upon Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Assyria, and the glory of his high looks.
- 10:24 Therefore thus saith the Lord God of Hosts, O my people that dwellest in **Zion**, be not afraid of the Assyrian; he shall smite thee with a rod, and shall lift up his staff against thee, after the manner of Egypt.
- 10:32 As yet shall he remain at Nob that day; he shall shake his hand against the mount of the daughter of **Zion**, the hill of Jerusalem.
- 12:6 Cry out and shout, thou inhabitant of Zion; for great is the Holy One of Israel in the midst of thee.
- 14:32 What shall then answer the messengers of the nation? That the Lord hath founded **Zion**, and the poor of his people shall trust in it.
- 16:1 Send ye the lamb to the ruler of the land from Sela to the wilderness, unto the mount of the daughter of Zion.
- 18:7 In that time shall the present be brought unto the Lord of hosts of a people scattered and peeled, and from a people terrible from their beginning hitherto; a nation meted out and trodden underfoot, whose land the rivers have spoiled, to the place of the name of the Lord of hosts, the mount **Zion**.
- 24:23 Then the moon shall be confounded, and the sun ashamed, when the Lord of hosts shall reign in mount **Zion** and in Jerusalem, and before his ancients gloriously.
- 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in **Zion** for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation; he that believeth shall not make haste.
- 19:8 It shall even be as when an hungry man dreameth, and, behold, he eateth; but he awaketh, and his soul is empty: or as when a thirsty man dreameth, and, behold, he drinketh; but he awaketh, and, behold, he is faint, and his soul hath appetite: so shall the multitude of all the nations be, that fight against mount **Zion**.
- 30:19 For the people shall dwell in **Zion** at Jerusalem; thou shalt weep no more; he will be very gracious unto thee at the voice of thy cry; when he shall hear it, he will answer thee.

- 31:4 For thus hath the Lord spoken unto me, Like as the lion and the young lion roaring on his prey, when a multitude of shepherds is called forth against him, he will not be afraid of their voice, nor abase himself for the noise of them; so shall the Lord of hosts come down to fight for mount **Zion**, and for the hill thereof.
- 31:9 And he shall pass over to his stronghold for fear, and his princes shall be afraid of the ensign, saith the Lord, whose fire is in **Zion**, and his furnace in Jerusalem.
- 33:5 The Lord is exalted; for he dwelleth on high; he hath filled Zion with judgment and righteousness.
- 33:14 The sinners in **Zion** are afraid; fearfulness hath surprised the hypocrites. Who among us shall dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us shall dwell with everlasting burnings?
- 33:20 Look upon **Zion**, the city of our solemnities; thine eyes shall see Jerusalem a quiet habitation, a tabernacle that shall not be taken down; not one of the stakes thereof shall ever be removed, neither shall any of the cords thereof be broken.
- 34:8 For it is the day of the Lord's vengeance, and the year of recompenses for the controversy of Zion.
- 35:10 And the ransomed of the Lord shall return, and come to **Zion** with songs and everlasting joy upon their heads; they shall obtain joy and gladness, and sorrow and sighing shall flee away.
- 37:22 This is the word which the Lord hath spoken concerning him; The virgin, the daughter of **Zion**, hath despised thee, and laughed thee to scorn; the daughter of Jerusalem hath shaken her head at thee.
- 37:32 For out of Jerusalem shall go forth a remnant; and they that escape out of Jerusalem shall come up upon mount **Zion**; the zeal of the Lord of hosts shall do this.
- 40:9 O **Zion**, that bringest good tidings, get thee up into the high mountain; O Jerusalem, that bringest good tidings, lift up thy voice with strength; lift it up, be not afraid; say unto the cities of Judah, Behold your God!
- 41:27 The first shall say to Zion, Behold, behold them; and I will give to Jerusalem one that bringeth good tidings.
- 46:13 I bring near my righteousness; it shall not be far off, and my salvation shall not tarry; and I will place salvation in **Zion** for Israel my glory.
- 49:14 But **Zion** said, The Lord hath forsaken me, and my Lord hath forgotten me.
- 51:3 For the Lord shall comfort **Zion**; he will comfort all her waste places; and he will make her wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of the Lord; joy and gladness shall be found therein, thanksgiving, and the voice of melody.
- 51:11 Therefore the redeemed of the Lord shall return, and come with singing unto **Zion**; and everlasting joy and holiness shall be upon their heads; they shall obtain gladness and joy; and sorrow and mourning shall flee away.
- 51:16 And I have put my words in thy mouth, and I have covered thee in the shadow of mine hand, that I may plant the heavens, and lay the foundations of the earth, and say unto **Zion**, Behold, thou art my people.
- 52:1 Awake, awake, put on thy strength, O **Zion**; put on thy beautiful garments, O Jerusalem, the holy city; for henceforth there shall no more come into thee the uncircumcised and the unclean.
- 52:2 Shake thyself from the dust; arise, and sit down, O Jerusalem; loose thyself from the bands of thy neck, O captive daughter of **Zion**.
- 52:7 And then shall they say, How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good tidings unto them, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings unto them of good, that publisheth salvation; that saith unto **Zion**, Thy God reigneth!
- 52:8 Thy watchmen shall lift up the voice; with the voice together shall they sing; for they shall see eye to eye, when the Lord shall bring again **Zion**.
- 59:20 And the Redeemer shall come to Zion, and unto them that turn from transgression in Jacob, saith the Lord.
- 60:14 The sons also of them that afflicted thee shall come bending unto thee; and all they that despised thee shall bow themselves down at the soles of thy feet; and they shall call thee, The city of the Lord, The **Zion** of the Holy One of Israel.
- 61:3 To appoint unto them that mourn in **Zion**; to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness; that they might be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that he might be glorified.
- 62:1 For **Zion**'s sake will I not hold my peace, and for Jerusalem's sake I will not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth.
- 62:11 Behold, the Lord hath proclaimed unto the end of the world, Say ye to the daughter of **Zion**, Behold, thy salvation cometh; behold, his reward is with him, and his work before him.
- 64:10 Thy holy cities are a wilderness, **Zion** a wilderness, Jerusalem a desolation.
- 66:8 Who hath heard such a thing? who hath seen such things? Shall the earth be made to bring forth in one day? or shall a nation be born at once? for as soon as **Zion** travailed, she brought forth her children.

#### Zoan

Primitive Word: צֹעֵן tsō'-än: a word of Egyptian derivation

## צעַן tsō'-än (prop. n.) Zoan

19:11 Surely the princes of **Zoan** are fools, the counsel of the wise counselors of Pharaoh is become brutish; how say ye unto Pharaoh, I am the son of the wise, the son of ancient kings?

19:13 The princes of **Zoan** are become fools, the princes of Noph are deceived; they have also seduced Egypt, even they that are the stay of the tribes thereof.

30:4 For his princes were at **Zoan**, and his ambassadors came to Hanes.

#### **INDEX** Abhor.....5 Archer ...... 17 Bewray ...... 33 Bud......47 Abominable......5 Arise ......17 Bull(ock) ......48 Beyond......33 Above..... 5 Arm ......17 Bind (Up)......33 Bulrush......48 Abraham ..... 6 Army ...... 18 Bittern ..... 34 Bulwark......48 Abundant.....6 Black......34 Burden ..... 48 Arrogance......18 Accept......7 Arrow.....19 Blaspheme ...... 34 Burn.....49 Accomplish ......7 Ash ......19 Blast......35 Buy......51 Accounted ......7 Ashamed......19 Bless ......35 Calf ...... 53 Acknowledge ......7 Camel ...... 53 Asp ......20 Blood......36 Act......8 Ass......20 Blossom......36 Camp......53 Add......8 Assemble ......20 Blot Out......37 Captive......53 Adorn.....8 Assembly ...... 21 Blow......37 Carbuncle ..... 54 Adversary.....8 Assyria(n).....21 Boast ......37 Carcass ..... 54 Afar...... 8 Astray......22 Body......38 Carpenter..... 54 Afflict......9 Awake ......22 Bondage......38 Carriage......55 Aforetime ......10 Axe ......23 Border ...... 38 Carry......55 Afraid ...... 10 Babylon.....25 Bough......38 Cast......55 Agate .....11 Back(ward) ......25 Bountiful.....39 Cease ..... 57 Age ......11 Banner......26 Bow ...... 39 Cedar.....58 Chaff ......58 Agreement.....11 Bare ......26 Box ...... 40 Ahaz ......11 Battle ...... 27 Chain.....58 Bozrah.....40 Alone.....12 Branch......40 Chaldea ...... 59 Bear ......27 Amazed......12 Beast......28 Brass.....41 Chalkstone.....59 Ambassador ..... 12 Beat.....28 Bravery......42 Channel......59 Amoz.....12 Beauty ......29 Breach ...... 42 Charge......59 Ancient......12 Beginning......30 Chase......59 Angel......13 Behind......31 Breath......45 Child......60 Anger.....13 Believe......32 Brier.....45 City ..... 62 Anoint......15 Beloved ...... 32 Brightness.....46 Clean ......63 Answer......15 Bend ..... 32 Brimstone......46 Cleave.....64 Apparel ..... 16 Besiege ......33 Bring Up......46 Cloth.....64 Appear ..... 16 Bestow ...... 33 Brook ......46 Clothe......65 Appoint......16 Better.....33 Bruise ...... 47 Cloud......65 Arabia(n)......17

Coal66	Cry78	Dig100	Early116
Cockatrice66	Curse80	Diligent101	Earth116
Comfort66	Cush80	Dim101	Earthquake119
Command67	Cut80	Direct101	Ease119
Companion67	Cypress82	Disannul102	East119
Compare68	Cyrus82	Disciple102	Eat120
Compassion68	Damascus83	Disclose102	Edom122
Conceive68	Dandle83	Discourage102	Effect122
Confirm68	Dark83	Discover102	Egypt122
Confounded68	Dash84	Dismay102	Eliakim123
Confuse69	Daughter84	Disperse103	Empty124
Congregation 69	David85	Displease103	Encourage124
Consider69	Day of the Lord86	Dissolve103	End124
Consume70	Dead86	Distress103	Enemy126
Contend71	Death86	Divide104	Enough127
Contrite71	Debate86	Doings104	Ensign127
Convert72	Deceased87	Dominion104	Ephraim127
Cormorant72	Declare87	Door105	Equity128
Corn72	Deep88	Dove105	Err128
Corner72	Defend89	Down105	Escape129
Corpse73	Defer89	Dragon107	Establish129
Corrupt73	Defile89	Draw108	Esteem130
Cottage73	Delight90	Dread108	Ethiopia130
Counsel73	Deliver91	Dream109	Everlasting131
Count74	Depart92	Drink109	Evil132
Countenance75	Deprive93	Drive110	Exact134
Country75	Depth93	Dromedary111	Exalt134
Courage75	Descend93	Dross111	Excellent135
Court75	Desert93	Dry111	Extend135
Cover75	Desire94	Dumah112	Extol135
Covert77	Desolate94	Dumb112	Eye136
Crane77	Despise96	Dust112	Face139
Crib77	Destroy96	Dwell113	Fade140
Crimson77	Devour99	Dye114	Fail140
Cruel77	Die99	Ear115	Faint141

Fair142	Flood162	Government185	Hide209
Faithful143	Flourish162	Gracious185	High211
Fall143	Flow162	Grass186	Hill212
Falsehood144	Flower163	Grape186	Hiss213
Familiar Spirit 144	Fold163	Grave187	Holy213
Fan144	Follow163	Greatness187	Honor215
Far145	Foot/Feet163	Green187	Horse216
Fasten146	Forces165	Grieve187	Horseman216
Fat146	Forest165	Ground188	Host217
Father148	Forever165	Grow189	Howl219
Fatherless148	Forgive166	Guide189	Humble219
Favor149	Former166	Habitation191	Hundred220
Fear149	Forsake167	Hailstone191	Hurt220
Feast151	Fortify168	Hand191	Husband220
Feeble151	Fountain168	Harlot195	Idol221
Feed152	Four168	Harvest195	Idumea221
Feller152	Fruit(ful)168	Hatch196	Image221
Fellow152	Frustrate169	Hate196	Incense222
Fence153	Furnace169	Haughty196	Incensed223
Field153	Furnish170	Hay197	Incline223
Fierce153	Fury170	Head197	Increase223
Fig154	Garden171	Heal198	Indignation224
Fight154	Garment171	Heap198	Inhabit225
Fill154	Gate172	Hear199	Inherit225
Find156	Gather173	Heart202	Iniquity226
Fir157	Generation175	Heat204	Instruct227
Fire157	Gift175	Heaven204	Instrument227
First158	Glad175	Heavy205	Iron228
Fish159	Glasses176	Heed206	Isaiah228
Five159	Glory176	Heifer206	Island228
Flame159	Goat179	Height206	Israel229
Flax160	God179	Hell207	Jacob233
Flee160	Gold183	Herb207	Jehovah234
Flesh161	Gomorrah184	Hew207	Jerusalem247
Flock161	Good184	Hezekiah208	Join248

Jotham249	Line278	Moon297	Ointment319
Joy249	Lion278	Morning298	Old319
Judah251	Lips279	Moses298	Olive320
Judge(ment)252	Listen279	Mountain299	One320
Just(ice)254	Live279	Mourn301	Operation321
Kedar255	Lodge280	Mouth302	Oppress321
Keep255	Lofty280	Move303	Ordain322
Kill256	Long (Ago)281	Multitude303	Order322
Kind256	Look281	Muster304	Ornament323
Kindle256	Lord282	Mutter305	Outcast323
King257	Love285	Myrtle305	Overflow323
Kingdom259	Low285	Naked307	Overthrow324
Labor261	Magnify287	Narrow307	Owl324
Lamb261	Majesty287	Nation307	Owner324
Lament262	Man287	Naught310	Ox325
Land262	Marrow291	Near311	Pain327
Language265	Marry291	Needy312	Palace327
Law265	Marvelous291	Neighbor312	Pang327
Lay/Lie266	Master291	New Moon312	Pant328
Lead268	Medai/Medes292	Noah312	Pardon328
Leaf269	Meeting292	Noble313	Peace328
Lean269	Melt292	Noise313	People329
Learn269	Mercy293	North314	Perfect333
Leave/Left270	Merryhearted293	Nothing314	Perform334
Lebanon271	Messenger294	Nourish315	Perish334
Left (Hand/Side).271	Mete Out294	Number315	Pervert334
Leg272	Mighty294	Nurse316	Piece335
Lend272	Millstone296	Oak317	Pierce335
Lengthen272	Mingle296	Obey317	Pine335
Liberal272	Minister296	Oblation317	Pit335
Lie/Lying272	Mirth296	Obscurity318	Pity336
Life273	Moab296	Observe318	Place336
Lift Up274	Mocker297	Offering318	Plant339
Light276	Mollify297	Office319	Play340
Liken277	Monthly297	Oil319	Plead340

Pleasant340	Purify355	Remnant371	Ruin390
Please341	Pursue355	Remove371	Rule391
Pleasure341	Put355	Render373	Rush392
Pledge342	Putrid358	Repair373	Sabbath393
Plow342	Quarter359	Repay373	Sacrifice393
Pollute342	Queen359	Replenish373	Safe394
Pomp343	Quench359	Reproach373	Salvation394
Pool343	Quiet359	Reprove374	Sanctify395
Poor343	Rabshakeh361	Require374	Sapphire395
Possess344	Rage361	Residue374	Sarah396
Pour345	Raiment361	Respect375	Satisfy396
Power346	Rain361	Rest375	Satyr396
Praise346	Ram362	Restore376	Save396
Pray347	Ransom362	Restrain376	Savior397
Precept347	Raven362	Return376	Saw398
Precious347	Reach362	Reveal378	Scarlet398
Prepare348	Reap363	Revenue379	Scatter398
Presence348	Reason363	Revilings379	Scepter399
Present348	Rebel363	Revive379	Scorn399
Preserve349	Rebuke364	Revolt379	Scribe399
Prey349	Recompense364	Reward379	Sea399
Pride350	Recover365	Rich380	Second400
Prince351	Red365	Right380	Secret401
Prison352	Redeem365	Righteous(ness) 381	Seduce401
Produce352	Reed366	Ripe384	See401
Prolong352	Reel367	Rise (Up)384	Seed404
Prophet353	Refine367	River385	Seek405
Proverb353	Refrain367	Roar387	Seer406
Provoke353	Refuge367	Rob387	Sela406
Prudent354	Refuse368	Rock388	Send406
Prune354	Regard368	Rod389	Sennacherib408
Pruninghook354	Reign368	Roe389	Sepulcher408
Publish354	Rejoice369	Roll389	Seraphim408
Punish354	Relieve370	Root390	Serpent408
Purge355	Remain370	Rough390	Servant409

Serve410	Smite427	Still445	Tell465
Seven410	Smith428	Stir (Up)445	Tempest465
Seventy411	Smoke428	Stone446	Temple466
Shadow411	Smooth429	Storm447	Ten466
Shake411	Snatch429	Straight447	Tent466
Shame412	Snow429	Stranger447	Terrible466
Shebna413	Sodom429	Stream448	Testify467
Shed413	Sole429	Stretch449	Thicket467
Sheep413	Solemn429	Strike450	Third467
Shepherd414	Son430	Strive451	Thirst467
Shield414	Song432	Strong451	Thorn468
Shine414	Sorcery433	Stumble454	Thought469
Shittah415	Sore433	Suck454	Thousand469
Shoe415	Sorrow434	Sufficient455	Three469
Shoot415	Sorry435	Summer455	Throne470
Short415	Soul435	Sun455	Tidings470
Shoulder415	Sound436	Surprise456	Time470
Shout416	South436	Sustain456	Tin471
Show416	Sow437	Swallow456	Tinkling472
Shut417	Spark437	Swallow Up456	Tongue472
Sick418	Speech437	Swear456	Touch472
Siege418	Spend438	Sweet457	Tow473
Sift418	Spice438	Swift457	Transgress473
Sigh419	Spirit438	Swine458	Travail473
Sight419	Spoil440	Sword458	Travel474
Silent419	Sport441	Sycamore458	Treacherous474
Silver420	Spring441	Syria459	Tread/Trod474
Sin420	Sprinkle442	Tabernacle461	Treasure475
Sing421	Staff442	Tail461	Tree476
Sit423	Stagger443	Take Away461	Tremble477
Six425	Stain443	Take Hold462	Tribe477
Slaughter425	Stand443	Tarshish463	Trouble477
Slay426	Standard444	Teach463	Trust478
Sleep426	Star444	Tear464	Truth479
Smell427	Stay444	Teil464	Tumult480

## Index

Turn480	Vision491	Weary503	Wonder512
Two482	Visit492	Weigh504	Wood513
Tyre482	Voice492	Well504	Wool513
Unclean483	Vomit493	West504	Work513
Uncover483	Vulture494	Wheel505	Workman515
Understand483	Wait495	Whirlwind505	World515
Undertake484	Wake495	White505	Worm516
Unjust484	Walk496	Wicked506	Worship516
Unrighteous484	Wander497	Widow506	Wound517
Uphold484	Want497	Wife507	Wrath517
Upright485	War497	Wilderness507	Yoke519
Upward485	Warm498	Willow508	Zidon521
Uzziah485	Warrior498	Wind508	Zion521
Vain487	Wash498	Window508	Zoan522
Valiant488	Waste498	Wine508	
Valley488	Watchman499	Wing510	
Veil489	Water500	Winnow510	
Vessel489	Waves502	Wipe510	
Vex490	Weak502	Wither510	
Vine490	Weaned502	Witness511	
Vineyard491	Weapon502	Woman511	
Viper491	Wear503	Womb512	